JMIR Formative Research

Impact Factor (2023): 2.0 Volume 5 (2021), Issue 7 ISSN 2561-326X Editor in Chief: Amaryllis Mavragani, PhDc

Contents

Original Papers

XSL•F⊖ RenderX

Executive Function After Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in Children in a South African Population: Cross-sectional Study (e20658)	
Jacobus Louw, Alastair van Heerden, Leana Olivier, Tersius Lambrechts, Mandi Broodryk, Liska Bunge, Martlé Vosloo, Mark Tomlinson 5	
A Web-Based Social Network Tool (GENIE) for Supporting Self-management Among High Users of the Health Care System: Feasibility and Usability Study (e25285)	
Ruta Valaitis, Laura Cleghorn, Ivaylo Vassilev, Anne Rogers, Jenny Ploeg, Anita Kothari, Cathy Risdon, James Gillett, Dale Guenter, Lisa Dolovich	15
Designing Asynchronous Remote Support for Behavioral Activation in Teenagers With Depression: Formative Study (e20969)	
Arpita Bhattacharya, Ria Nagar, Jessica Jenness, Sean Munson, Julie Kientz.	33
Medication Adherence Reminder System for Virtual Home Assistants: Mixed Methods Evaluation Study (e27327)	
Cynthia Corbett, Elizabeth Combs, Peyton Chandarana, Isabel Stringfellow, Karen Worthy, Thien Nguyen, Pamela Wright, Jason O'Kane 3	
Promoting Collaborative Goal Setting for Cancer Prevention Among Primary Care Patients Through mHealth: Mixed Methods Evaluation of a New App (e22510)	
Daniel Resnick, Marilyn Schapira, Jazmine Smith, Allison Bautista, Chang Xu, Liz Jones, Jaya Aysola.	63
User Engagement and Usability of Suicide Prevention Apps: Systematic Search in App Stores and Content Analysis (e27018)	
Chelsey Wilks, Carol Chu, DongGun Sim, Josh Lovell, Peter Gutierrez, Thomas Joiner, Ronald Kessler, Matthew Nock.	79
Barriers to the Use of Web-Based Mental Health Programs for Preventing Depression: Qualitative Study (e16949)	
Heidi Eccles, Molly Nannarone, Bonnie Lashewicz, Mark Attridge, Alain Marchand, Alice Aiken, Kendall Ho, JianLi Wang	90
Using Social Media for the Prevention of Pediatric Burn Injuries: Pilot Design and Usability Study (e23242) Nikita Batra, Cindy Colson, Emily Alberto, Randall Burd.	100
Evaluating Simplified Web Interfaces of Risk Models for Clinical Use: Pilot Survey Study (e22110) Louis Beaubien, Colin Conrad, Janet Music, Sandra Toze.	110

Decision Making When Cancer Becomes Chronic: Needs Assessment for a Web-Based Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma Patient Decision Aid (e27484)	
Danielle Shojaie, Aubri Hoffman, Ruth Amaku, Maria Cabanillas, Julie Sosa, Steven Waguespack, Mark Zafereo, Mimi Hu, Elizabeth Grubbs. 1 6	
Design, Development, and Evaluation of a Telemedicine Platform for Patients With Sleep Apnea (Ognomy): Design Science Research Approach (e26059)	
Pavankumar Mulgund, Raj Sharman, Daniel Rifkin, Sam Marrazzo	142
Mobile Ecological Momentary Assessment and Intervention and Health Behavior Change Among Adults in Rakai, Uganda: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e22693)	
Laura Beres, Ismail Mbabali, Aggrey Anok, Charles Katabalwa, Jeremiah Mulamba, Alvin Thomas, Eva Bugos, Gertrude Nakigozi, Mary Grabowski, Larry Chang. 1	157
Exploring the Constituent Elements of a Successful Mobile Health Intervention for Prediabetic Patients in King Saud University Medical City Hospitals in Saudi Arabia: Cross-sectional Study (e22968)	
Fayz Alshehri, Fahdah Alshaikh	169
Associations Between Methods of Meeting Sexual Partners and Sexual Practices Among Heterosexuals: Cross-sectional Study in Melbourne, Australia (e26202)	
Heidi Constantinou, Christopher Fairley, Jane Hocking, Catriona Bradshaw, Edmond Choi, Kate Maddaford, Tiffany Phillips, Eric Chow 1	190
Pregnant Women's Attitudes Toward and Experiences With a Tablet Intervention to Promote Safety Behaviors in a Randomized Controlled Trial: Qualitative Study (e28680)	
Bente Walter, Hege Indreboe, Mirjam Lukasse, Lena Henriksen, Lisa Garnweidner-Holme. 2	203
Studying How Individuals Who Express the Feeling of Loneliness in an Online Loneliness Forum Communicate in a Nonloneliness Forum: Observational Study (e28738)	213
Associations Between Physiological Signals Captured Using Wearable Sensors and Self-reported Outcomes Among Adults in Alcohol Use Disorder Recovery: Development and Usability Study (e27891)	210
Parastoo Alinia, Ramesh San, Michael McDonell, Patricia Pendry, Sara Parent, Hassan Ghasemzaden, Michael Cleveland	219
Health Care Professionals' Experiences With the Use of Video Consultation: Qualitative Study (e27094) Nina Primholdt Christensen, Karen Skou, Dorthe Boe Danbjørg. 2	231
Internet-Administered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Common Mental Health Difficulties in Parents of	
Joanne Woodford, Paul Farrand, Josefin Hagström, Li Hedenmalm, Louise von Essen. 2	241
Experience of Peer Bloggers Using a Social Media Website for Adolescents With Depression or Anxiety: Proof-of-Concept Study (e26183)	
Sana Karim, Kimberly Hsiung, Maria Symonds, Ana Radovic. 2	258
Experiences of an Online Treatment for Adolescents With Nonsuicidal Self-injury and Their Caregivers: Qualitative Study (e17910)	
Olivia Simonsson, Hedvig Engberg, Johan Bjureberg, Brjánn Ljótsson, Julia Stensils, Hanna Sahlin, Clara Hellner. 2	274
Mobile Delivery of Mindfulness-Based Smoking Cessation Treatment Among Low-Income Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e25926)	
Josephine Mhende, Sharrill Bell, Cherell Cottrell-Daniels, Jackie Luong, Micah Streiff, Mark Dannenfelser, Matthew Hayat, Claire Spears 2 9	

XSL•FO RenderX

Acceptability and Feasibility of the Transfer of Face-to-Face Group Therapy to Online Group Chats in a Psychiatric Outpatient Setting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Longitudinal Observational Study (e27865) Julia Scholl, Elisabeth Kohls, Frauke Görges, Marc Steinbrecher, Sabrina Baldofski, Markus Moessner, Christine Rummel-Kluge	303
Development of a Mobile App for Ecological Momentary Assessment of Circadian Data: Design Considerations and Usability Testing (e26297)	
Thomas Woolf, Attia Goheer, Katherine Holzhauer, Jonathan Martinez, Janelle Coughlin, Lindsay Martin, Di Zhao, Shanshan Song, Yanif Ahmad, Kostiantyn Sokolinskyi, Tetyana Remayeva, Jeanne Clark, Wendy Bennett, Harold Lehmann.	313
Feasibility, Efficacy, and Efficiency of eHealth-Supported Pediatric Asthma Care: Six-Month Quasi-Experimental Single-Arm Pretest-Posttest Study (e24634)	
Mattienne van der Kamp, Pamela Reimering Hartgerink, Jean Driessen, Bernard Thio, Hermie Hermens, Monique Tabak.	326
Conceptualizing Usability for the eHealth Context: Content Analysis of Usability Problems of eHealth Applications (e18198)	
Marijke Broekhuis, Lex van Velsen, Linda Peute, Meilani Halim, Hermie Hermens.	352
Development of a Video-Observed Therapy System to Improve Monitoring of Tuberculosis Treatment in Thailand: Mixed-Methods Study (e29463)	
Ponlagrit Kumwichar, Virasakdi Chongsuvivatwong, Tagoon Prappre.	365
A Biofeedback App for Migraine: Development and Usability Study (e23229)	
Sigrid Ingvaldsen, Erling Tronvik, Eiliv Brenner, Ingunn Winnberg, Alexander Olsen, Gøril Gravdahl, Anker Stubberud.	374
Clinical Utility and Functionality of an Artificial Intelligence–Based App to Predict Mortality in COVID-19: Mixed Methods Analysis (e27992)	
Ahmed Abdulaal, Aatish Patel, Ahmed Al-Hindawi, Esmita Charani, Saleh Alqahtani, Gary Davies, Nabeela Mughal, Luke Moore	385
Determining Acceptance of e-Mental Health Interventions in Digital Psychodiabetology Using a Quantitative Web-Based Survey: Cross-sectional Study (e27436)	
Mirjam Damerau, Martin Teufel, Venja Musche, Hannah Dinse, Adam Schweda, Jil Beckord, Jasmin Steinbach, Kira Schmidt, Eva-Maria Skoda, Alexander Bäuerle	398
Prioritization of Features for Mobile Apps for Families in a Federal Nutrition Program for Low-Income Women, Infants, and Children: User-Centered Design Approach (e30450)	
Summer Weber, Elyse Shearer, Shelagh Mulvaney, Douglas Schmidt, Chris Thompson, Jessica Jones, Haseeb Ahmad, Martina Coe, Pamela Hull.	411
An Avatar-Led Digital Smoking Cessation Program for Sexual and Gender Minority Young Adults: Intervention Development and Results of a Single-Arm Pilot Trial (e30241)	
Jaimee Heffner, Noreen Watson, Edit Serfozo, Megan Kelly, Erin Reilly, Daniella Kim, Kelsey Baker, N Scout, Maria Karekla.	427
Improving Diabetes Self-management by Providing Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Treatment to Patients With Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Type 2 Diabetes: Qualitative Exploratory Interview Study	
(e27062) Ditte Laursen, Gitte Rom, Anne Banghøj, Lise Tarnow, Lone Schou.	439
and Cost Analysis (e28656) Heidi Green, Ritin Fernandez, Catherine MacPhail.	449
Measuring the Impact of COV/ID 40 on Siven Mentel Health Definite Heins the Enclosed Device Device Income	
Inventory: Survey Study (e29952)	
Anish Shah, Michele Darling, Olivia Arstein-Kerslake, Tiffany Morgan, Aubreen Vance Tovrea, James Young, Helen Laines.	458

Protocol

Development of Automated Reinforcement Management System (ARMS): Protocol for a Phase I Feasibility and Usability Study (e25796)	
Andre Miguel, Crystal Smith, Nicole Perea, Kim Johnson, Michael McDonell, Sterling McPherson.	133
Review	
Use of Telemedicine in Depression Care by Physicians: Scoping Review (e29159)	
Jean-François Echelard.	339

Corrigenda and Addenda

Authorship Correction: A Clinician-Controlled Just-in-time Adaptive Intervention System (CBT+) Designed	
to Promote Acquisition and Utilization of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Skills in Bulimia Nervosa:	
Development and Preliminary Evaluation Study (e31964)	
Adrienne Juarascio, Paakhi Srivastava, Emily Presseller, Kelsey Clark, Stephanie Manasse, Evan Forman.	470

XSL•FO RenderX **Original Paper**

Executive Function After Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in Children in a South African Population: Cross-sectional Study

Jacobus Gidion Louw^{1,2,3*}, MA; Alastair van Heerden^{4,5*}, PhD; Leana Olivier^{1*}, PhD; Tersius Lambrechts^{2*}, BA; Mandi Broodryk^{1*}, MA; Liska Bunge^{1*}, BA; Martlé Vosloo^{1*}, BA; Mark Tomlinson^{3,6*}, PhD

¹Foundation for Alcohol Related Research, Cape Town, South Africa

²Department of Psychology, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, South Africa

⁶School of Nursing and Midwifery, Queens University, Belfast, United Kingdom

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jacobus Gidion Louw, MA Foundation for Alcohol Related Research 42 Bloemhof Street Bellville Cape Town, 7535 South Africa Phone: 27 216862646 Email: jl@farrsa.org.za

Abstract

Background: Alcohol is a teratogen; its consumption during pregnancy can lead to negative birth outcomes, collectively referred to as fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Neurodevelopmental delays in higher-order cognitive functions that affect development of executive functions are a common feature. Studies on executive function in children have focused on children diagnosed with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, and there is a lack of information on the impact on children not diagnosed with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder but who had been exposed to alcohol.

Objective: The aim of this study was to compare the development of executive function in children between 4 and 6 years of age with and without prenatal exposure to alcohol.

Methods: Children both exposed and not exposed to alcohol were recruited as part of a feasibility RCT evaluating a computer-based cognitive training program for improving executive function development. The study was conducted in a low–socioeconomic status community in South Africa with a high prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Neurodevelopment was assessed in participating children; NEPSY-II standardized scores for executive function domains were compared using a multivariate analysis of variance with group membership as the predictor variable.

Results: No significant differences in executive functions assessments (P=.39) were found between children in the alcohol-exposed group (n=76) and those in the nonexposed group (n=40). Both groups showed moderate to severe delays in domains. In all but one subtest, the average score for both groups was below the 25th percentile of expected norms.

Conclusions: We expected that alcohol exposure would have a measurable impact on executive function development. The lack of differences highlights the prevalence of developmental delays in low–socioeconomic status communities in South Africa and suggests that children are exposed to various threats to cognitive development.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/14489

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e20658) doi:10.2196/20658



³Institute for Life Course Health Research, Department of Global Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa

⁴Centre for Community Based Research, Human Sciences Research Council, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa

⁵Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, Department of Paediatrics, Faculty of Health Science, University of the Witwatersrand/Medical Research Council, Johannesburg, South Africa

KEYWORDS

fetal alcohol spectrum disorders; FASD; cognitive; executive function; experimental games; brain drug effects; child development; serious games; games; alcohol; training

Introduction

Prenatal Alcohol Exposure

Alcohol is a known teratogen when consumed during pregnancy and can lead to a number of negative outcomes including a characteristic pattern of dysmorphic facial features, growth retardation, deficient brain growth, and neurodevelopmental delays in the newborn child [1,2]. These outcomes vary in their presentation and severity and are grouped as fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Diagnostic labels are assigned based on the number and pattern of associated characteristics of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder that are present. There are 4 diagnostic categories: fetal alcohol syndrome, partial fetal alcohol syndrome, alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder, and alcohol-related birth defects [1,3]. Apart from alcohol-related birth defects, neurodevelopmental delays are a common feature of all diagnoses [1].

The most common form of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder is alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder, for which physical features are not evident. As such, it is also the most difficult of the fetal alcohol spectrum disorders to diagnose [4]. The lack of observable physical features does not mean that the neurodevelopmental delays are less pronounced or serious than those in children with fetal alcohol syndrome. Affected individuals can have the full range of cognitive impairments associated with the other diagnoses [1,5,6]. It is important, therefore, to bear in mind that even if a person exposed to alcohol in utero does not meet fetal alcohol spectrum disorder criteria, there can still be negative developmental sequelae.

Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder and Executive Function

Elementary and higher-order intellectual functions can be affected in individuals with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, and dysfunction can be present regardless of whether the physical features of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder are present [7]. Some areas of particular concern include general intellectual ability [7-10], memory and learning [8,11,12], adaptive living skills [10], and executive functions [10,13,14].

Deficits in executive function are hallmarks of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, with far-reaching consequences for affected individuals [7,8,13]. The term *executive functions* refers to a group of cognitive domains involved in guiding thoughts and goal-directed behavior [15]. The 3 main executive functions are inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and working memory [16,17], which are required for, among others, inhibiting inappropriate responses, task planning, and emotional regulation. These areas are also required for self-monitoring performance to identify and self-correct errors. Dysfunction in these areas is, therefore, associated with poor academic outcomes, behavioral problems, mental disorders, and difficulties in daily functioning [7,13,16,18].

RenderX

Cognitive Training of Executive Function

Executive function in children is amenable to intervention [19-21]. There is considerable evidence that, when specific executive function processes are trained, improvements from training are also evident in similar domains [16,21,22], such as structurally similar cognitive training tasks, which is referred to as near transfer [23]. There is also limited evidence for far transfer, which is the transfer of improvements between structurally different tasks or fluid intelligence that depends on executive function [21,22]. Improvements are more pronounced in children with delays in executive function, which has been found in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder [16]. Because far transfer is not guaranteed, it is important to target the most significant areas of deficit for training through the intervention. A distinct profile of attention deficits may exist in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, which could highlight where efforts need to be focused [24]. Studies in this field have focused on children who have already been diagnosed with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder [14,20,25]; however, a number of children affected by prenatal alcohol exposure may not meet the criteria for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder diagnosis and may be overlooked in epidemiological studies [26].

Study Aim and Hypothesis

If a diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder is required for inclusion in studies on prenatal alcohol exposure's effect on executive function, the picture of alcohol's impact in utero will be incomplete. The aim of this paper was to compare executive function in children who had been exposed with those who had not been exposed to alcohol during prenatal development. Data for the analyses were obtained as part of a feasibility RCT of a computer-based cognitive training game. Assessments of executive function were conducted on children both exposed and nonexposed to alcohol. The primary hypothesis for this paper was that children in the alcohol-exposed group would perform poorer than those in the nonexposed group on standardized measures of executive function.

Methods

Design

This paper reports the findings of baseline assessments from a feasibility RCT of a computer-based cognitive training game (International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial Number; ISRTCN17244156). The trial protocol has been published [27]. Assessments were conducted at baseline before the start of the RCT intervention. The RCT comprised 3 arms. Children were recruited from local early childhood development (ECD) centers and assigned to groups based on in utero alcohol exposure, which was identified by interviewing children's biological mothers (Figure 1). Children exposed to alcohol were randomly assigned 1:1 to either the control or intervention group using block randomization. Once the intervention and control groups had been finalized, 40 unexposed children were individually selected for the third arm using random number tables [28] in

order to provide normative data. Baseline assessments were completed for all 3 groups. In line with the sample sizes of

previous studies [12,29,30] on fetal alcohol spectrum disorder and cognitive function, a target of 120 participants was set.

Figure 1. CONSORT diagram.



Setting

Saldanha Bay municipality largely comprises Saldanha Bay, a harbor city with a population of 113,239 as of 2017 and main industries of agriculture, forestry, fishing, and manufacturing [31]. There is a high unemployment rate (17%) and significant income inequality (Gini coefficient 0.59 [31]). The prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder in the municipality is 64 per 1000 individuals [32].

Participants

Because we were interested in a population of children between the ages of 4 and 6 years, we approached an organization called Saldanha Bay ECD forum that serves ECD centers in low–socioeconomic status areas of the Saldanha Bay municipality. After giving an overview of the RCT, meetings were set up with the individual ECD center principals. At these meetings, the project was discussed in more depth, and the principals were asked if they would be willing to facilitate access to the parents of the children in their schools (ie, inform parents of the study and ask if they would like to participate).

We obtained the contact details of parents willing to allow their children to participate in the study, and community workers contacted these parents, obtained informed consent, and conducted interviews with biological mothers. The order in

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20658

which parents from participating ECD centers were contacted was determined by randomly allocated numbers using Microsoft Excel. All consenting mothers identified by a particular ECD center were contacted for interviews before we moved on to mothers from another ECD. If, however, there were consenting mothers who were unavailable for interviews, we still moved on to a new ECD center. We followed up to see if they became available for interview at a later stage. New ECD centers were included until 80 participants exposed to alcohol had been identified, following which the 40 unexposed participants were selected.

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approval was obtained from the Health Research Ethics Committee at Stellenbosch University (N16/05/063). Data were deidentified after participants were allocated study IDs, and test administrators were blinded to alcohol exposure status during assessments.

Procedure

The structured interview used with the children's mothers has been used extensively in fetal alcohol spectrum disorder epidemiological studies in South Africa [32-34]. During the interview, a questionnaire was completed which included questions on sociodemographic information, pregnancy

XSL•FO RenderX

behavior, and alcohol use during pregnancy. The interviews were conducted and questionnaires were completed by community workers trained in conducting this interview. Training was provided by one of the authors (JL) and included roleplay and recorded practice interviews. The interviews were conducted at the mothers' homes.

Children who were exposed to more than 3 standard drinks in 1 drinking session during pregnancy were defined as having had prenatal alcohol exposure.

Measures

Neurodevelopmental assessments of the children were conducted by trained psychometrists using NEPSY-II, a battery of individually administered tests that has been shown to reliably diagnose a range of childhood disorders [35]. Subtests can be selected based on the domains to be assessed [36]. NEPSY-II has been used in studies on fetal alcohol spectrum disorder and executive function [14,37] and has been extensively used globally, including in low- and middle-income countries [30]. Although no validation study for NEPSY-II has been successfully used in South Africa, NEPSY-II has been successfully used in South African contexts [38,39]. We selected subtests that assessed attention and executive function; language; and memory and learning (Table 1).

Table 1. NEPSY-II domains and subtests.

Domain	Subtest		
Attention and executive function	• Statue		
Language	Comprehension of instructions		
Memory and learning	 Memory for designs content Memory for designs spatial Memory for designs Narrative memory free and cued Narrative memory and recognition contrasted Sentence repetition 		

Data Analysis

Data were collected using REDCap [40] (Vanderbilt University) and analyzed using SPSS statistical software (version 25; IBM Corp). Since RCT group membership was not the variable of interest, to evaluate the impact of alcohol exposure, NEPSY-II scores for children in the alcohol group (RCT intervention and control groups) were compared to those from children in the nonexposed group. Before combining the RCT intervention and control groups, the demographic variables of the 3 groups were compared using 1-way analysis of variance and chi-square tests. The mean and median alcohol exposure for the alcohol-exposed group were also calculated. The mean and median scaled scores for subtests were calculated and compared to norms [35]. The scores were interpreted using the NEPSY II–suggested classification labels [41].

To evaluate whether alcohol exposure predicted test performance, multivariate analysis of variance with group membership as the predictor variable was conducted to test the scaled scores of the 8 subtests. A Box M test for homogeneity of covariance was not significant (P=.59). The absence of multicollinearity was assumed for this analysis. Due to possible violation of some of the assumptions for multivariate analysis

of variance, we used Pillai trace as the test statistic with a conservative level of α =.01.

Results

After engaging with the ECD forum, 27 ECD centers agreed to participate. To obtain 80 children with prenatal alcohol exposure, 235 interviews were completed in 14 ECD centers. Upon review of the assessment data, 4 children were excluded for being too young, and their data were excluded from analysis. The final sample (n=116) included 76 children in the alcohol-exposed group and 40 children in the nonexposed group (Figure 1).

There was a significant difference in age ($F_{2,113}$ =6.90, P=.001,

 ω^2 =.09) when comparing the 3 groups. A posthoc Tukey honestly significant difference test showed a significant difference (*P*=.001) between the RCT intervention and normative groups (mean difference 0.41) (Table 2). The intervention and control groups were combined as the alcohol-exposed group for subsequent analyses. The children in the alcohol-exposed group (n=76) had been, on average, exposed to 5.51 standard units of alcohol (SE 0.67) on at least 1 occasion during gestation (median 7.5 units).



Characteristic	Alcohol exposure (n=76)		No alcohol exposure (n=40)	P value
	RCT ^a intervention (n=39)	RCT control (n=37)		
Children				
Age (years), mean (SD)	4.72 (0.50)	4.83 (0.54)	5.14 (0.44)	.001
Gender, n				.92
Female	17	16	19	
Male	22	21	21	
Mother				
Age (years), mean (SD)	28.15 (5.32)	30.41 (5.85)	31.17 (6.18)	.08
Number of living children, mean (SD)	1.87 (0.95)	2.35 (1.27)	2.15 (1.21)	.19
Years of schooling, mean (SD) ^b	10.67 (1.69)	11.03 (1.78)	10.71 (2.07)	.66
Gravidity, mean (SD)	2.21 (1.10)	2.51 (1.40)	2.45(1.47)	.57
Monthly household income (ZAR) ^c , mean (SD) ^d	4953.24 (4619.59)	4610.56 (3375.28)	5474.86 (6233.52)	.75
Pregnancy with participant planned, n (%)				.27
Yes	11 (28)	12 (32)	18 (45)	
No	28 (72)	25 (68)	22 (55)	
Received South African Social Security Agency g	cants, n (%)			.22
Yes	30 (76)	29 (78)	25 (62)	
No	9 (24)	8 (22)	15 (38)	
Currently employed ^e , n (%)				.59
Yes	26 (68)	26 (70)	24 (60)	
No	12 (32)	11 (30)	16 (40)	

^aRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^bMissing data: n=1, n=4, and n=2 in the intervention, control, and no exposure groups, respectively.

^cZAR: South African Rand; an approximate exchange rate of ZAR 1 to US \$0.07 is applicable at the time of publication.

^dMissing data: n=3, n=4, and n=3 in the intervention, control, and no exposure groups, respectively.

^eMissing data: n=2 and n=3 in the intervention and control groups, respectively.

There was no significant difference in monthly household income (mean difference ZAR 690.62, 95% CI –1259.95 to 2641.18, t_{108} =0.702, P=.48), South African Social Security Agency grant receipt (alcohol-exposed: 59/76, 78%; nonexposed: 25/40, 62%; χ_1^2 =3.00, P=.08), or caregiver unemployment (alcohol-exposed: 24/76, 30%; nonexposed: 16/40, 40%; χ_1^2 =1.01, P=.32) between the groups.

Alcohol-exposed (combined intervention and control groups) and nonexposed group mean scaled scores for all NEPSY-II subtests (except statue) fell into the borderline performance category (between the 11th and 25th percentiles) or lower. Children in the alcohol exposed group and the nonexposed group performed below the expected level (at or below the tenth percentile) for comprehension of instructions (means 4.97 and

5.37, respectively), narrative memory recall (means 5.10 and 5.14, respectively), and sentence repetition (means 6.24 and 5.46, respectively) subtests. Performance on the statue subtest was at the expected level for both the alcohol exposed (mean 10.68) and nonexposed (mean 10.26) groups.

Some participants were unable to successfully complete all subtests in the chosen battery (based on the NEPSY-II guidelines for discontinuation [35]). The multivariate analysis of variance included data from 107 children. The relationship between alcohol exposure and NEPSY-II subtest scores was not significant (V=0.081, $F_{8,98}$ =1.073, P=.39). Posthoc univariate analyses on the subtest scores by group membership also revealed no significant differences (Table 3). The greatest variability in scores was found in the memory for designs (spatial) subtest (partial eta squared 0.033).



Table 3. Between-participant effects with alcohol exposure as the predictor variable.

Dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	F test (df1)	Partial eta squared	P value
Language				
Comprehension of instructions	3.753	0.560(1)	0.005	.46
Memory and learning				
Memory for designs content	3.263	0.482 (1)	0.005	.49
Memory for designs spatial	20.849	3.566 (1)	0.033	.06
Memory for designs	6.172	2.076 (1)	0.019	.15
Narrative memory free and cued	0.049	0.008 (1)	0.000	.93
Narrative memory and recognition contrasted	4.636	0.427 (1)	0.004	.52
Sentence repetition	14.291	2.625 (1)	0.024	.11
Attention and executive function				
Statue	4.222	0.518 (1)	0.005	.47

Discussion

General

Performance on the NEPSY-II was poor, regardless of alcohol exposure. The data did not show any significant differences between the alcohol-exposed and nonexposed groups (P=.39).

Group Comparison

The differences in demographic characteristics of the mothers of children in the RCT intervention, RCT control, and nonexposed groups were not significant (age: P=.08; living children: P=.19; years of schooling: P=.66; gravidity: P=57), which decreases the possibility that there is a significant environmental variable other than alcohol exposure that can explain any observed differences. The difference in the age between the children in the RCT intervention group and the nonexposed group was significant, with a medium effect size of 0.09; the nonexposed group was an average of 5 months (mean difference 0.41 years) older than the intervention group. The impact of this is minimized by using the scaled scores from the NEPSY-II, therefore although significant, this difference was not concerning.

NEPSY-II Outcomes

The lack of difference between the alcohol-exposed and nonexposed groups was surprising given the strong associations that have been shown between alcohol use and deficits in executive function [10,42,43]. The average number of standard units of alcohol to which children were exposed exceeded the level defined as binge drinking (4 units of alcohol in 1 sitting [44]), and overall exposure to alcohol during pregnancy is based on a minimum estimate of exposure during pregnancy. The majority of women in the alcohol-exposed group used alcohol in a pattern associated with the highest risk of harm to pregnancy (average consumption was 5.51 units on one occasion).

NEPSY-II performance was similar for the exposed and nonexposed children. The finding of borderline scores on the NEPSY-II subtests for the entire group is unexpected and concerning. We hypothesized that the alcohol-exposed group would generally perform below expectation, and this was indeed the case. The nonexposed group, barring other causes of poor development, were expected to perform at age-appropriate levels. This did not prove to be the case, with no differences found between children in the alcohol-exposed group and nonexposed group.

It is possible that development of children in the alcohol-exposed group has not been impacted, with development occurring at the same rate as their peers. This does not imply that development of children in the alcohol-exposed groups will remain on par with that of their peers. It has been shown that the developmental trajectory of children with prenatal alcohol-exposure diverges from expected norms as they become older, which makes diagnosis and identification easier as time passes [45]. The young age of this cohort may therefore be a confounding factor.

As participants were recruited from underresourced and low–socioeconomic status areas, overall low performance may be linked to exposure to adverse childhood experiences. Adverse childhood experiences have a detrimental impact on cognitive development, social development, and mental health [46,47]. The impact on cognitive development overlaps with the impact on areas of development that we would expect from prenatal alcohol exposure [48]. It is important to note that, although adverse childhood experience measures frequently focus on abuse, neglect, parental separation, and exposure to criminality [49-51], this list is not exhaustive [49]. It is well established that poverty has a negative impact on cognitive assessments [52,53].

With 84 out of 116 (72%) households relying upon social grants, which amounts to only ZAR 410.00 (approximately US \$27) each month per child for child support, these data indicate there are high levels of poverty and adversity. There is little that differentiates the alcohol exposed and unexposed groups, except for mothers' reported alcohol use. The Saldanha Bay municipal area also experiences problems with violence and crime [31], and because adversity can be defined as exposure to a combination of deprivation and threat [54], it is likely that a significant number of participants in both groups would fit the definition of having had exposure to childhood adversity.

XSL•FO RenderX

It is also possible that NEPSY-II cannot detect differences between groups. It may be that the NEPSY-II is not sensitive enough to detect the difference in executive function between alcohol-exposed and nonexposed groups. There are, however, no other assessments used in research on executive function or fetal alcohol spectrum disorder that have more suitable norms or that are more culturally appropriate for a South African context. Measuring executive function in these age groups is complicated by the way in which executive function develops; different aspects of executive function develop at different times and at different rates. Attention control, for example, develops and matures before cognitive flexibility (which is related to working memory and inhibition). This development is consistent with spurts of growth and development in the frontal lobe [55]. Major developmental periods continue until approximately 13 years of age, but further improvements in executive function continue due to myelination of prefrontal connections into adolescence [55]. In the NEPSY-II, more subtests are available to test executive function from 6 years of age [35], and the combination of fewer subtests and the variable nature of executive function development can also mask potential developmental differences. This would, however, hold true for other available assessments as well.

We must also acknowledge that there may be children exposed to alcohol in the normative group. Although selection was based on a confirmation of prenatal alcohol exposure, some mothers may have been reluctant to admit drinking or they may have misreported the amount that they drank during pregnancy because alcohol use during pregnancy is heavily stigmatized [56].

Limitations

One of the study limitations is the lack of local norms for the NEPSY-II. The lack of local norms for neurodevelopmental assessments is an acknowledged problem in South Africa [38]. Language and culture bias may lead to a misrepresentation of actual cognitive abilities. These limitations were considered during the design phase of the study.

Another limitation is that we relied upon self-reporting of alcohol use. Underreporting of alcohol use was a concern due to possible reluctance on the part of the mother to admit to alcohol use. Mothers may also have found it difficult to recall alcohol use 5 years earlier. Some of the children in the nonexposed group may in fact have been exposed to alcohol. Inclusion due to alcohol use was based on recall of an average drinking session during pregnancy. Participants in the nonexposed group may, therefore, have been exposed to alcohol over a longer period of time but their reported alcohol use placed them in the nonexposed category because the level of exposure did not meet the threshold indicated in the fetal alcohol spectrum disorder diagnostic criteria [1].

Due to the size of the ECD centers, it was not possible to reach the total sample size in a single area or ECD center. Although the ECD centers were located in similar communities, there were still differences between centers that could have impacted on the performance of the children on the psychometric assessments. Some of these factors could include the number of children per ECD practitioner or the availability of toys and equipment for stimulation. It is well established that poverty has a negative impact on cognitive assessments [52,53].

Conclusions

We compared the performance of children exposed and not exposed to alcohol in utero on measures of executive function. We expected that alcohol exposure would have a measurable negative impact, but in our sample, there was none. This highlights that developmental delays are widely prevalent in resource poor and low–socioeconomic status communities in South Africa. As developmental delays form part of the diagnostic criteria of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, this study also shows that caution should be used when interpreting normed scores. It is possible that a borderline or below average score may not necessarily support a diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder as there are clearly other possible causes of poor development that must be excluded.

This paper also identified important avenues for further research. The lack of difference between alcohol-exposed and nonexposed groups needs to be further explored. Does this lack of difference remain as participants age? What is the prevalence of adverse childhood experiences and to what extent do adverse childhood experiences explain the lack of difference between the groups? Overall, this paper adds to the understanding that alcohol exposure in utero and its sequelae are only part of the possible developmental challenges faced by children in South African communities.

Acknowledgments

This study received funding from the Association for Alcohol Responsibility and Education (AWARE). We would also like to acknowledge the dedication of our community workers who conducted the interviews and the willingness of the participants and caregivers to participate in the study. We would also like to thank the Saldanha Bay ECD forum and the ECD centers in the Saldanha Bay municipality for their support.

Conflicts of Interest

JGL, LO, MB, LB, and MV are employed by the Foundation for Alcohol Related Research, which designed and developed the game used in the intervention. The other authors have no conflicts to declare.

References



- Hoyme HE, Kalberg WO, Elliott AJ, Blankenship J, Buckley D, Marais A, et al. Updated clinical guidelines for diagnosing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Pediatrics 2016 Aug 27;138(2):e20154256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-4256] [Medline: 27464676]
- 2. Moore KL, Persaud TVN, Torchia MG. Before We Are Born: Essentials of Embryology and Birth Defects. Ninth edition. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2016.
- 3. Stratton K, Howe C, Battaglia F, editors. Fetal Alcohol Syndrome: Diagnosis, Epidemiology, Prevention, and Treatment. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 1996.
- 4. Chudley AE. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: counting the invisible mission impossible? Arch Dis Child 2008 Sep 01;93(9):721-722. [doi: 10.1136/adc.2008.137109] [Medline: 18719155]
- Chudley AE, Conry J, Cook JL, Loock C, Rosales T, LeBlanc N, Public Health Agency of Canada's National Advisory Committee on Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Canadian guidelines for diagnosis. CMAJ 2005 Mar 01;172(5 Suppl):S1-S21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.1040302] [Medline: 15738468]
- 6. McLachlan K, Paolozza A, Kully-Martens K, Portales-Casamar E, Pavlidis P, Andrew G, et al. Unpacking the heterogeneity of cognitive functioning in children and adolescents with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: determining the role of moderators and strengths. Adv Neurodev Disord 2017 Sep 6;1(4):271-282. [doi: 10.1007/s41252-017-0034-4]
- Kodituwakku P. Defining the behavioral phenotype in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: a review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2007 Jan;31(2):192-201. [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.020] [Medline: 16930704]
- Rasmussen C, Horne K, Witol A. Neurobehavioral functioning in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Child Neuropsychol 2006 Dec;12(6):453-468. [doi: 10.1080/09297040600646854] [Medline: 16952890]
- 9. Davis K, Desrocher M, Moore T. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: a review of neurodevelopmental findings and interventions. J Dev Phys Disabil 2010 May 18;23(2):143-167. [doi: 10.1007/s10882-010-9204-2]
- 10. Chasnoff IJ, Wells AM, Telford E, Schmidt C, Messer G. Neurodevelopmental functioning in children with FAS, pFAS, and ARND. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2010 Apr;31(3):192-201. [doi: 10.1097/DBP.0b013e3181d5a4e2] [Medline: 20375733]
- 11. Roebuck-Spencer TM, Mattson SN. Implicit strategy affects learning in children with heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2004 Sep;28(9):1424-1431. [doi: 10.1097/01.alc.0000139826.25247.5b] [Medline: 15365316]
- 12. Pei J, Job J, Kully-Martens K, Rasmussen C. Executive function and memory in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Child Neuropsychol 2011;17(3):290-309. [doi: <u>10.1080/09297049.2010.544650</u>] [Medline: <u>21718218</u>]
- 13. Kodituwakku PW, Kalberg W, May PA. The effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on executive functioning. Alcohol Res Health 2001;25(3):192-198 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11810957</u>]
- 14. Nash K, Stevens S, Greenbaum R, Weiner J, Koren G, Rovet J. Improving executive functioning in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Child Neuropsychol 2015 Jul 10;21(2):191-209. [doi: 10.1080/09297049.2014.889110] [Medline: 25010354]
- 15. Miller EK. The prefrontal cortex and cognitive control. Nat Rev Neurosci 2000 Oct;1(1):59-65. [doi: 10.1038/35036228] [Medline: 11252769]
- 16. Diamond A. Executive functions. Annu Rev Psychol 2013;64:135-168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750] [Medline: 23020641]
- 17. Zelazo PD. Executive function: Reflection, iterative reprocessing, complexity, and the developing brain. Dev Rev 2015 Dec;38:55-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2015.07.001]
- Fuglestad AJ, Whitley ML, Carlson SM, Boys CJ, Eckerle JK, Fink BA, et al. Executive functioning deficits in preschool children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Child Neuropsychol 2015 Jul 11;21(6):716-731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09297049.2014.933792] [Medline: 25011516]
- 19. Au J, Buschkuehl M, Duncan GJ, Jaeggi SM. There is no convincing evidence that working memory training is not effective: a reply to Melby-Lervåg and Hulme (2015). Psychon Bull Rev 2016 Feb 30;23(1):331-337. [doi: 10.3758/s13423-015-0967-4] [Medline: 26518308]
- 20. Peadon E, Rhys-Jones B, Bower C, Elliott EJ. Systematic review of interventions for children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. BMC Pediatr 2009 May 25;9(1):35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-9-35] [Medline: 19463198]
- Au J, Sheehan E, Tsai N, Duncan GJ, Buschkuehl M, Jaeggi SM. Improving fluid intelligence with training on working memory: a meta-analysis. Psychon Bull Rev 2015 Apr;22(2):366-377. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13423-014-0699-x</u>] [Medline: <u>25102926</u>]
- 22. Peñaloza-Salazar C, Gutiérrez-Maldonado J, Ferrer-García M, Caqueo-Urízar A, Reverter-Guimeso A, Macías-Cajal Y, et al. Cognitive mechanisms underlying Armoni: a computer-assisted cognitive training programme for individuals with intellectual disabilities. Anales de Psicología 2015 Dec 25;32(1):115. [doi: 10.6018/analesps.32.1.194511]
- 23. Karbach J, Kray J. How useful is executive control training? age differences in near and far transfer of task-switching training. Dev Sci 2009 Nov;12(6):978-990. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00846.x] [Medline: 19840052]
- 24. Kooistra L, Crawford S, Gibbard B, Ramage B, Kaplan B. Differentiating attention deficits in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder or attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder. Dev Med Child Neurol 2010 Feb;52(2):205-211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03352.x] [Medline: 19549201]
- 25. Pei J, Kerns K. Using games to improve functioning in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Games Health J 2012 Aug;1(4):308-311. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2012.0036] [Medline: 26191635]

RenderX

- 26. Viljoen D, Louw JG, Lombard C, Olivier L. Comparing diagnostic outcomes of children with fetal alcohol syndrome in South Africa with diagnostic outcomes when using the updated Institute of Medicine diagnostic guidelines. Birth Defects Res 2018 Oct 16;110(17):1335-1342. [doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1399] [Medline: 30347134]
- 27. Louw JG, Olivier L, Skeen S, van Heerden A, Tomlinson M. Evaluation of a custom-developed computer game to improve executive functioning in 4- to 6-year-old children exposed to alcohol in utero: protocol for a feasibility randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Oct 08;8(10):e14489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14489] [Medline: 31596247]
- 28. The Rand Corporation. A Million Random Digits with 100,000 Normal Deviates. Santa Monica, CA: The Rand Corporation; 1955.
- Pei J, Kerns K, Rasmussen C, Denys K. Executive functioning training in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Policy Wise. 2011. URL: <u>https://policywise.com/wp-content/uploads/resources/2016/07/</u> 184ExecutiveFunctioningExecSummarypdf.pdf [accessed 2021-06-15]
- 30. Mulenga K, Ahonen T, Aro M. Performance of Zambian children on the NEPSY: a pilot study. Dev Neuropsychol 2018 Mar 05;20(1):375-383. [doi: 10.1207/s15326942dn2001_4]
- 31. Socio-economic profile: Saldanha Bay municipality. Western Cape Government. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.westerncape.gov.za/</u> assets/departments/treasury/Documents/Socio-economic-profiles/2017/
- wc014 saldanhda bay 2017 socio-economic profile sep-lg 11 january 2018.pdf [accessed 2021-06-15]
 32. Urban MF, Olivier L, Louw JG, Lombard C, Viljoen DL, Scorgie F, et al. Changes in drinking patterns during and after pregnancy among mothers of children with fetal alcohol syndrome: a study in three districts of South Africa. Drug Alcohol Depend 2016 Nov 01;168:13-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.08.629] [Medline: 27610936]
- Urban M, Chersich MF, Fourie L, Chetty C, Olivier L, Viljoen D. Fetal alcohol syndrome among grade 1 schoolchildren in Northern Cape Province: prevalence and risk factors. S Afr Med J 2008 Nov;98(11):877-882. [Medline: <u>19177895</u>]
- Urban MF, Olivier L, Viljoen D, Lombard C, Louw JG, Drotsky L, et al. Prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome in a South African city with a predominantly Black African population. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2015 Jun 02;39(6):1016-1026. [doi: 10.1111/acer.12726] [Medline: 25941030]
- 35. Korkman M, Kirk U, Kemp S. NEPSY Second Edition. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessment; 2007.
- Davis JL, Matthews RN. NEPSY-II review. J Psychoeduc Assess 2010 Mar 21;28(2):175-182. [doi: 10.1177/0734282909346716]
- Rasmussen C, Tamana S, Baugh L, Andrew G, Tough S, Zwaigenbaum L. Neuropsychological impairments on the NEPSY-II among children with FASD. Child Neuropsychol 2013 Jul;19(4):337-349. [doi: <u>10.1080/09297049.2012.658768</u>] [Medline: <u>22384972</u>]
- 38. Dalen K, Jellestad F, Kamaloodien K. The translation of the NEPSY-II to Afrikaans, some ethical reflections. Cogn Brain Behav 2007;11(3):609-620.
- Rochat TJ, Houle B, Stein A, Mitchell J, Bland RM. Maternal alcohol use and children's emotional and cognitive outcomes in rural South Africa. S Afr Med J 2019 Jun 28;109(7):526-534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7196/SAMJ.2019.v109i7.13120] [Medline: 31266581]
- 40. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 41. Miller DC. How to report and interpret the NEPSY-II scores within a school neuropsychological framework. Texas Woman's University. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.txasp.org/assets/conference-materials/2015/nepsy2interpretguide3.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-21]
- 42. Green C, Mihic AM, Nikkel SM, Stade BC, Rasmussen C, Munoz DP, et al. Executive function deficits in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD) measured using the Cambridge Neuropsychological Tests Automated Battery (CANTAB). J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2009 Jun;50(6):688-697. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01990.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19175817</u>]
- 43. Rasmussen C. Executive functioning and working memory in fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2005 Aug;29(8):1359-1367. [doi: 10.1097/01.alc.0000175040.91007.d0] [Medline: 16131842]
- 44. Peltzer K, Davids A, Njuho P. Alcohol use and problem drinking in South Africa: findings from a national population-based survey. Afr J Psychiatry (Johannesbg) 2011 Mar 14;14(1):30-37. [doi: <u>10.4314/ajpsy.v14i1.65466</u>] [Medline: <u>21509408</u>]
- 45. Cook JL, Green CR, Lilley CM, Anderson SM, Baldwin ME, Chudley AE, Canada Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Research Network. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: a guideline for diagnosis across the lifespan. CMAJ 2016 Feb 16;188(3):191-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.141593] [Medline: 26668194]
- 46. Schilling EA, Aseltine RH, Gore S. Adverse childhood experiences and mental health in young adults: a longitudinal survey. BMC Public Health 2007 Mar 07;7(1):30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-30] [Medline: 17343754]
- 47. Kerker BD, Zhang J, Nadeem E, Stein RE, Hurlburt MS, Heneghan A, et al. Adverse childhood experiences and mental health, chronic medical conditions, and development in young children. Acad Pediatr 2015 Sep;15(5):510-517 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2015.05.005] [Medline: 26183001]
- 48. Escueta M, Whetten K, Ostermann J, O'Donnell K, Positive Outcomes for Orphans Research Team. Adverse childhood experiences, psychosocial well-being and cognitive development among orphans and abandoned children in five low income

RenderX

countries. BMC Int Health Hum Rights 2014 Mar 10;14(1):6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-698X-14-6] [Medline: 24606949]

- 49. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Sethi D, Butchart A, Mikton C, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health 2017 Aug;2(8):e356-e366. [doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4]
- Burke NJ, Hellman JL, Scott BG, Weems CF, Carrion VG. The impact of adverse childhood experiences on an urban pediatric population. Child Abuse Negl 2011 Jun;35(6):408-413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.02.006] [Medline: 21652073]
- 51. Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Bremner JD, Walker JD, Whitfield C, Perry BD, et al. The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. a convergence of evidence from neurobiology and epidemiology. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2006 Apr 29;256(3):174-186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4] [Medline: 16311898]
- 52. Hackman DA, Farah MJ. Socioeconomic status and the developing brain. Trends Cogn Sci 2009 Feb;13(2):65-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2008.11.003] [Medline: 19135405]
- 53. Hackman DA, Gallop R, Evans GW, Farah MJ. Socioeconomic status and executive function: developmental trajectories and mediation. Dev Sci 2015 Sep 09;18(5):686-702. [doi: <u>10.1111/desc.12246</u>] [Medline: <u>25659838</u>]
- 54. McLaughlin KA, Sheridan MA. Beyond cumulative risk: a dimensional approach to childhood adversity. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2016 Aug 10;25(4):239-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0963721416655883] [Medline: 27773969]
- 55. Anderson P. Assessment and development of executive function (EF) during childhood. Child Neuropsychol 2002 Jun 09;8(2):71-82. [doi: 10.1076/chin.8.2.71.8724] [Medline: 12638061]
- 56. Choate P, Badry D. Stigma as a dominant discourse in fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Adv Dual Diagn 2019 Feb 18;12(1/2):36-52. [doi: 10.1108/add-05-2018-0005]

Abbreviations

ECD: early childhood development **RCT:** randomized controlled trial **ZAR:** South African Rand

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.05.20; peer-reviewed by N Khalili-Mahani; comments to author 04.07.20; revised version received 27.07.20; accepted 16.03.21; published 02.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Louw JG, van Heerden A, Olivier L, Lambrechts T, Broodryk M, Bunge L, Vosloo M, Tomlinson M Executive Function After Prenatal Alcohol Exposure in Children in a South African Population: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e20658 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20658 doi:10.2196/20658 PMID:34255647

©Jacobus Gidion Louw, Alastair van Heerden, Leana Olivier, Tersius Lambrechts, Mandi Broodryk, Liska Bunge, Martlé Vosloo, Mark Tomlinson. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 02.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Web-Based Social Network Tool (GENIE) for Supporting Self-management Among High Users of the Health Care System: Feasibility and Usability Study

Ruta Valaitis¹, BScN, MSc, PhD; Laura Cleghorn², MA; Ivaylo Vassilev³, PhD; Anne Rogers³, SRN, PhD; Jenny Ploeg¹, BScN, MScN, PhD; Anita Kothari⁴, PhD; Cathy Risdon², MD, DMan, CCFP, FCFP; James Gillett⁵, PhD; Dale Guenter², MD, MPH, CCFP, FCFP; Lisa Dolovich², BScPhm, PharmD, MSc

¹School of Nursing, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

²Department of Family Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

³School of Health Sciences, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom

⁴School of Health Studies, Western University, London, ON, Canada

⁵Health Aging and Society, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Ruta Valaitis, BScN, MSc, PhD School of Nursing McMaster University 128 Main Street West Hamilton, ON, L8S 4K1 Canada Phone: 1 9055772022 Fax: 1 905 570 0667 Email: valaitis@mcmaster.ca

Abstract

Background: Primary care providers are well positioned to foster self-management through linking patients to community-based health and social services (HSSs). This study evaluated a web-based tool—GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement)—to support the self-management of adults. GENIE empowers patients to leverage their personal social networks and increase their access to HSSs. GENIE maps patients' personal social networks, elicits preferences, and filters local HSSs from a community service directory based on patient's interests. Trained volunteers (an extension of the primary care team) conducted home visits and conducted surveys related to life and health goals in the context of the Health TAPESTRY (Teams Advancing Patient Experience: Strengthening Quality) program, in which the GENIE tool was implemented. GENIE reports were uploaded to an electronic medical record for care planning by the team.

Objective: This study aims to explore patients', volunteers', and clinicians' perceptions of the feasibility, usability, and perceived outcomes of GENIE—a tool for community-dwelling adults who are high users of the health care system.

Methods: This study involved 2 primary care clinician focus groups and 1 clinician interview (n=15), 1 volunteer focus group (n=3), patient telephone interviews (n=8), field observations that captured goal-action sequences to complete GENIE, and GENIE utilization statistics. The patients were enrolled in a primary care program—Health TAPESTRY—and Ontario's Health Links Program, which coordinates care for the highest users of the health care system. NVivo 11 (QSR International) was used to support qualitative data analyses related to feasibility and perceived outcomes, and descriptive statistics were used for quantitative data.

Results: Most participants reported positive overall perceptions of GENIE. However, feasibility testing showed that participants had a partial understanding of the tool; volunteer facilitation was critical to support the implementation of GENIE; clinicians perceived their navigation ability as superior to that of GENIE supported by volunteers; and tool completion took 39 minutes, which made the home visit too long for some. Usability challenges included difficulties completing some sections of the tool related to medical terminology and unclear instructions, limitations in the quality and quantity of HSSs results, and minor technological challenges. Almost all patients identified a community program or activity of interest. Half of the patients (4/8,

RenderX

50%) followed up on HSSs and added new members to their network, whereas 1 participant lost a member. Clinicians' strengthened their understanding of patients' personal social networks and needs, and patients felt less social isolation.

Conclusions: This study demonstrated the potential of GENIE, when supported by volunteers, to expand patients' social networks and link them to relevant HSSs. Volunteers require training to implement GENIE for self-management support, which may help overcome the time limitations faced by primary care clinicians. Refining the filtering capability of GENIE to address adults' needs may improve primary care providers' confidence in using such tools.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e25285) doi:10.2196/25285

KEYWORDS

web-based tool; usability; feasibility; self-management; social network; primary care; health and social services; linkages; high systems users; volunteers

Introduction

Background

It has been reported that globally, 1 in 3 adults have multiple chronic conditions (MCCs) [1]. There was an increase from 45.7% in 1988 to 59.6% in 2018 with regard to adults in the United States with 2 or more MCCs, and the weighted prevalence of 2 or more MCCs was higher in those aged ≥ 65 years [2]. Fostering self-management support for health conditions is particularly important, given the rising numbers and projected rise in complex multimorbidity. Self-management support builds problem-solving skills to enhance self-efficacy to carry out behaviors toward a desired goal and can support positive health outcomes, reduce the burden of long-term conditions for the patient and the health system, and decrease health system costs [3,4]. A qualitative systematic review identified challenges that patients experienced with self-management, including dealing with physical and emotional symptoms; living with pain, depression, and fatigue; and having a lack of understanding of self-management strategies related to conflicting information from providers [5]. Kang et al [6] found that quality of life scores were higher among patients with good versus low self-management strategy scores regardless of the number of comorbidities.

Improving access to health and social services (HSSs) to address self-management can be supported through information, referrals, facilitation, and system navigation by primary care providers [7-9]. Results from a longitudinal study of 300 randomly selected patients with diabetes or chronic heart disease found that connecting people to social support resources, including a variety of people and groups, supported self-management and physical and mental health [10]. Patients with multiple and complex health and social conditions are likely to derive the maximum benefit from linkages to HSSs [11].

In recent years, researchers have established that social networks can influence positive health behaviors and practices, and this is also true in populations that are managing long-term conditions [12-15]. Social connectedness has been shown to be particularly beneficial for vulnerable groups, such as those living in poverty and with chronic illnesses [16]. Reeves et al [10] established associations between connections with and the use of local networks, resulting in improved physical and mental well-being and better coping with their conditions. Personal

and social networks and relationships in community settings can act as a conduit for accessing resources and provide support for managing long-term conditions, which can complement what is provided by formal service provision.

The implementation of a self-management support intervention in 31 primary care settings in England had poor uptake because of a perceived lack of relevance and fit to accessible sources of support and because primary care health care professionals did not prioritize self-management support [17]. Primary care providers in Canada have been tasked with fostering self-management through support and coaching, referral management, and linking to relevant community-based resources and services [4,18,19]. However, like their UK peers, they have struggled with limited time for coaching; a lack of knowledge of what community-based HSSs are available and how they can address health and social needs; and a lack of time to keep up with changing community services, including concerns about their quality [20,21]. Despite these challenges, it is argued that there is a need for primary care providers to implement effective self-management support interventions that incorporate connections to community resources for those living with long-term conditions [22] and, particularly, for those who are known to be isolated, requiring more encouragement to make connections [23-25].

The aim of the GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement) tool was to encourage the expansion of a patient's social networks to reduce the negative health impacts of long-term conditions and to reduce the concomitant social effects, such as social isolation and loneliness [23]. GENIE is a web-based tool that aims to support self-management by leveraging adults' engagement with their personal social network to facilitate the uptake of relevant community-based activities and HSSs. Studies have shown that when GENIE was delivered by trained facilitators to adults with chronic health and social conditions in the community settings, there was an increase in the diversity of participants' networks and greater engagement with community activities [26,27]. Given these positive results and the challenges faced by primary care providers in implementing self-management strategies [17], research is needed to understand the feasibility, usability, and perceived impacts of implementing GENIE within the primary context, with the use of trained facilitators as an extension of the primary care team. This knowledge will be useful to inform future implementation of the GENIE tool in primary care and can serve

XSL•FO

as a basis for the development of outcome measures to be used in future controlled studies.

Research Questions

This study examined the feasibility, usability, and perceived patient outcomes of the implementation of GENIE with adults enrolled in Ontario's Health Links Program. This program alerts health providers to individuals with high rates of health service utilization to target care and thereby reduce health care costs [28]. The research questions were as follows:

- 1. What is the usability and feasibility of implementing GENIE, facilitated by lay volunteers and primary care providers, with 55- to 69-year-old adults enrolled in the Health Links Program?
- 2. What are patients', providers', and volunteers' perceptions of the impact of the use of GENIE?

Methods

Social Network Tool (GENIE)

Overview

GENIE is a web-based tool designed by a team of researchers from the United Kingdom [29]. GENIE has been previously implemented by trained lay or health care workers in various contexts in the United Kingdom and Europe to link patients to community-based HSSs to support them in reaching their life and health goals [22,24,26]. The GENIE tool has 3 core functions: (1) mapping a patient's personal social network to better understand a patient's support network and identify possible network members who can assist them; (2) selecting topics of interest that relate to patients' interests under the categories of activities, health, learning, support, independent living, volunteering, and pets; and (3) geolocating local community programs, services, and resources related to the selected categories (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Depiction of the GENIE visit and tool. GENIE: Generating Engagement in Network Involvement.



The GENIE tool consists of 4 steps. First, patients enter an email address (or get help to obtain an email address) to log in and enable them to save their results, select from a list of common

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285

RenderX

health conditions (eg, heart problems, stroke, diabetes, arthritis, and cancer), and enter their age and postal code.

Second, the patients generate a personal network map that lists individuals, groups, or organizations (eg, son or daughter-in-law, friend, and social club) that the patients consider important to them in relation to being healthy and living at home. Network members who are deemed to be most important to them are placed closest to the center of the circle, where the patients are placed, with others moving out into the outer circles. Each member is categorized by type (eg, family, friend, neighbor, group, or organization), which determines the typology of that patient's network. Network typologies can consist of mostly friends and family members; mostly professionals; or a diverse mix of professionals, organizations, friends, and family (eg, My

Network–Diverse; Figure 2). Diverse networks are the most robust social networks in the GENIE typology containing family, friends, and *weak tie* relationships, whereas *very isolated* and *friend and family supported* networks have fewer members and less diversity of relationships. Research has shown that people with long-term health conditions and diverse networks are associated with enhanced self-management skills [30]. Patients also indicate the frequency at which they meet with each network member. This information can help identify network members who may be more available to support a patient's HSS use.

Figure 2. Example of network mapping and categories of interest in GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement).



Third, patients answer 12 questions about their interests organized under the following categories: (1) activities, (2) health, (3) learning, (4) support, (5) independent living, (6)

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285

RenderX

volunteering, and (7) pets. Some questions have subquestions, for example, if a patient is interested in *activities*, they are

prompted with subquestions to refine the topic (ie, reading and writing, drama and music, arts and crafts, or social clubs).

Fourth, once the patients complete the questionnaire, they move to a web page listing links to relevant community-based HSSs organized under the relevant categories. For example, if a patient indicates that they are interested in physical activity, they can find HSSs listed under the *health* tab related to this subactivity (Figure 3). HSSs are geomapped for selection based on the patient's preferred distance from their postal code (1 km, 2 km, 5 km, 10 km, or 50 km). Relevant HSSs, including a brief description of their programs or services, are populated from the region's community information database.

Patients review their results and mark their *favorites* (Figure 3), which can be saved, downloaded, and printed in a short report for easy access (Figure 4) [13]. Facilitators were to encourage patients to consider their social networks to help in overcoming barriers to access the desired HSSs.

Figure 3. Example of a user's favorited list of links geomapped for the health category. GENIE: Generating Engagement in Network Involvement.

	Health	Learning	Support	Independent living	Volunteerin
k on the catego your search	ories above if you would	like to L903.7			
Download Fa	vountes as PDF	Show Result	s Within: 1 km 🌒	2 km 🜒 5 km 🌒 10 km	n O 50 km O
Results	My Favourites	0	Contemport 1 1	0.02 · 1	843
ealth		and a		and 3	1
Hamilton. Co and Recreati - Arthritis	ommunity Services – Culture ion - Ancaster Aquatic Centr		1.00		
Remove from t	avourites 🚷 Read Mo		1113		
Caring Bears	- Diabetes	SH	I Y Y	1 ALAN	
Remove from f	avourites 🚷 Read M		3	Notes 1	
St Joseph's Foot Forward	Healthcare Hamilton - Best d - Diabetes	02.00	Webster Fr G at	2 E // P	1
Remove from t	avourites 🚷 Read Mi		servation Decide	Ser de	amr.
Ancaster Me Calisthenics	ns Fitness - Jogging And - Fitness and exercise	Dundas Va Conservation J	dery e	and the second s	are hilton
Classes Remove from f	avourites 🚷 Read Mi		· F	Motions ind in the	Y In
McMaster U	niversity - Physical Activity	A	11	and the standard of the production of the	A chee
MacWheeler and exercise	s Exercise Program - Fitnes classes	5 Jacobretta Rd	40	Charles had as	
Remove from t	avourites 🚷 Read Mi	xe		The Jos I	The set of
Lime Ridge -	Walking Program - Fitness classes	TO.	12: De	para palé	4.3
Remove from f	avourites ጰ 🛛 Read Mo		121 12		Ales -
Hamilton. Co and Recreati - Swimming	ommunity Services - Culture on - Dundas Community Po	or All	B John C. Munro Hi International	emilton •	and a
Remove from \$	avourities 🚷 🛛 Read Mi		SPE	· Jamman	- Car





Figure 4. An example of a printed report of favorites for users to follow up. GENIE: Generating Engagement in Network Involvement.

EU-GENIE



My EU-GENIE - The Services You Selected

You have selected the following services and supports that may be of interest to you, and are available in your local community.

Health

Hamilton. Community Services – Culture and Recreation - Ancaster Aquatic Centre 47 Meadowbrook Dr, Ancaster Mon, Wed, Fri 8 am-7 pm; Tue & Thu 6 am-9 pm 905-540-9358 recreation@hamilton.ca http://www.hamilton.ca/CultureandRecreation/Recreation/ CentresPoolsArenas/AncasterAquaticCentre/

Caring Bears

65 Mall Rd Community Room, Hamilton 905-388-3053 patsmith@bell.net

St Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton - Best Foot Forward 100 West 5th Street, Hamilton 8 am- 4 pm 905-522-1155 Ext 32045 * King St Campus http://www.stjoes.ca/hospital-services/outpatientservices/adult-diabetes-program

Ancaster Mens Fitness - Jogging And Calisthenics 118 Seneca Dr, Ancaster 905-648-1226

McMaster University - Physical Activity Centre of Excellence (PACE) MacWheelers Exercise Program 1280 Main St W E105, Hamilton Mon-Thu 1 pm-3:30 pm, Tue, Thu 5 pm-7:30 pm * Participants choose two time slots per week to work out 905-525-9140 ext 22576 macwheelers@mcmaster.ca http://pace.mcmaster.ca/programs/macwheelers

Lime Ridge - Walking Program 999 Upper Wentworth St, Hamilton Mon-Fri 7 am-10 am, Sat 7 am-9:30 am, Sun 9 am-11 am 905-387-4455 limguestservices@cadillacfairview.com http://www.limeridge.ca

Hamilton. Community Services – Culture and Recreation - Dundas Community Pool 39 Market St S, Dundas Call pool for program times, as they vary from season to season. Information available in Recreation Department Community Guide Brochure. 905-540-6694 recreation@hamilton.ca http://www.hamilton.ca/rec

Find more online: access your EU-GENIE profile at http://hamilton.myeugenie.ca

Adaptation of GENIE for Use in Canada

GENIE was adapted for use in Hamilton, Canada. The UK open-source tool required minor word modifications in the questionnaire to address the linguistic differences between Canadian and British audiences (eg, changing the word *befriending* to *friendly visiting*). A second significant adaptation was linking GENIE to a back-end database of community-based HSSs. In the United Kingdom, community information services

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285

RenderX

with databases, such as those in Canada, do not exist. The Hamilton database was maintained by the Region's Community Information Service—Information Hamilton. Most programs and services included in the database are run by not-for-profit organizations or government organizations. For-profit services were included if there were no not-for-profit agencies available that offered the same or similar service (eg, home oxygen providers). All database entries were tagged with keywords using the AIRS/211 LA Taxonomy of Human Services which

is the industry standard for the Alliance of Information and Referral Systems (AIRS) [31]. To link the database to GENIE, keywords related to all topics of interest listed in the GENIE questionnaire were identified. For example, if a patient had an interest in walking or outdoor activities, programs and services were tagged with the AIRS categories of walking programs, walking tours, and nature centers or walks. This enabled GENIE to filter information from the database to match the selected areas of interest. Information Hamilton staff pulled together a complete list of all database items with selected search terms for our review for relevance to this adult population and to mark services for exclusion, such as youth programs or programs outside of the city. The database was updated daily by Information Hamilton's staff, who regularly reach out and work with local service organizations to keep the database up to date.

Implementation of GENIE

GENIE facilitators were volunteers who attended a half-day training session to learn about the application of the GENIE tool during home visits. They visited with patients in 2 instances (the GENIE visit in Figure 1). At baseline, they would sign up patients and log on to GENIE, identify their social networks, and help patients to explore links to community support. The volunteers were trained to facilitate the use of the GENIE tool to engage in a discussion with the patients about their social networks, to discuss the access and use of community-based services, and to identify any additional services that they would like to access through the preparation of the GENIE report. The reports were sent to the patients' electronic medical records for review by the primary care huddle team (a component of the Health TAPESTRY [Teams Advancing Patient Experience: Strengthening Quality] program) for planning and care coordination. The team told patients about any critical information regarding their plan of care and consulted with the relevant family physician in the clinic when needed. The report was printed and left with the patient after the home visit. After 3 months, the volunteer would return to the patient's home, log on to GENIE, repeat the social network mapping, and revisit the GENIE report to determine if the patient had explored any HSSs. The volunteer role was intentionally limited to the role of a nonmedical volunteer facilitator. If any health care-based issues or concerns arose, patients would be encouraged to connect with their primary care provider [32].

Setting and Sample

The study was conducted between August 2017 and March 2018 at 2 sites of a family health team (composed of 2 interprofessional primary care team clinics) that serves 30,000 patients in Hamilton, Canada. It targeted patients who were enrolled in Ontario's Health Links Program [28]. Modeled after accountable care organizations in the United States, England, Australia, and New Zealand, the Health Links Program was launched in 2012 in Ontario, Canada, to improve care coordination for patients with complex needs who are the highest users of the health care system. The program connects them to primary care providers and engages them in their health care via active care planning [28]. These patients are considered high-cost, high-need users of the health care system—the top 5% of the population who use two-thirds of the health care

spending [33]. GENIE was implemented with a small sample of Health Links patients within the context of the Health TAPESTRY program. Health TAPESTRY provided a unique structure for GENIE's implementation within a primary care setting, as the program includes the use of trained volunteers as an extension of the primary care team, who visit patients in their homes. Health TAPESTRY is a multicomponent primary care intervention that centers on supporting older adults' life and health goals [34,35]. The Health TAPESTRY program components include (1) trained volunteers visiting in pairs to collect health information using web-based surveys related to health risks and life goals [36], (2) care coordination by an interprofessional primary care team, (3) the use of technology to share health information between volunteers and primary care providers, and (4) support for system navigation [37]. Trained community volunteers implemented the GENIE tool, in addition to the Health TAPESTRY surveys. GENIE results and survey data were compiled into a web-based report that was transmitted to the interprofessional primary care team to support the formulation of a patient care plan.

Ethics approval was received for this study from the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board Project number 13-366. All participants provided written informed consent before data collection.

Data Collection

GENIE was field tested for feasibility and usability with a small group of volunteers and patients who were also receiving the Health TAPESTRY program. Data collection methods included (1) use statistics, (2) field observation in the community with patients and volunteers, (3) field observation notes taken during primary care team meetings, (4) focus groups with clinicians and volunteers, and (5) patient interviews. A summary of the data collected is provided in Table 1, and the focus group guides are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Field observations focused on the usability captured via researcher observations during home visits with volunteers and patients at baseline. Field usability testing [38,39] was conducted via observation to assess the cognitive processes of users performing task completion of the GENIE tool, as trained volunteers facilitated the use of the web tool in a home visit. LC and RV observed volunteer and participant dyads to identify potential usability problems, with particular attention to goal-action sequences and interactions between volunteers and participants, dimensions of competencies (skills and knowledge required to complete the tool), barriers to the productive use of the tool, time to complete the tool, and ease of use for participants and volunteers [39]. Field observation notes captured procedures for each step or task to complete the tool (Multimedia Appendix 2). Tasks included setting up, completing the introductory and demographic page, completing network mapping and the questionnaire, discussing and tailoring the results, and printing the final results and the my network page that included the social network map. It also included comments and questions raised by the participants and volunteers as they worked through the task. Field notes were recorded by LC at interprofessional team meetings, in which patient GENIE reports were reviewed and discussed.

```
XSL•FO
```

Table 1. Data collection by participant type.

Participant type Usability		ability	Feasibility			Perceived outcomes	
Patients	•	Use statistics (baseline; 3 months) Field observation during patient home visits by a pair of volunteers (time 1)	•	Use statistics (time to complete the GENIE ^a tool) Interviews (3 months)	•	Interviews (3 months)	
Volunteers	•	Field observation during patient home visits by a pair of volunteers	•	N/A ^b	•	Focus group (3 months)	
Primary care providers	•	Monthly huddle (care coordination team meeting) notes Focus group (3 months)	•	Monthly huddle notes Focus group (3 months)	•	Focus group (3 months)	

^aGENIE: Generating Engagement in Network Involvement.

^bN/A: not applicable.

RV and LC conducted focus groups with volunteers and clinicians from 2 teams immediately following their huddle team meetings, which helped to gain participation in the research. Semistructured interviews were conducted by LC with study participants to explore the feasibility of GENIE using an interview guide that applied concepts from the Normalization Process Theory (NPT) [40] and perceived impacts. The NPT has been used for the feasibility study of a web-based program in primary care [41]. All focus groups and interviews with providers took place 6 months after the first use of GENIE by patients. The interview and focus group guide were tailored for each participant group (patients, volunteers, and the primary care huddle team) to explore the feasibility, usability, and perceived impacts of GENIE (refer to Multimedia Appendix 1 for the full guides).

The participants were recruited via convenience sampling. Lists of Health Links patients were distributed to their physicians from the 2 clinics that participated in the Health TAPESTRY program. A total of 25 Health Links Program patients were invited to participate in the study via a letter from their primary care physician. Physicians selected these patients based on age (55-69 years), enrollment in Health Links, and a clinical assessment indicating that they could benefit from improved care coordination offered by the GENIE and Health TAPESTRY. The target number of participants was 10, with diverse demographic characteristics (gender and age), which was deemed sufficient for usability testing [42,43]. A research coordinator received signed consent forms from 11 potential participants who were contacted by telephone to schedule the first of 2 home visits. One participant could not be contacted, another participant died before the first planned visit, and a third patient participated in the first home visit but withdrew from the study because of mental health distress. A total of 8 participants completed the study. All clinicians involved in the Health TAPESTRY program were invited to participate in the focus groups, which included questions about the GENIE tool. All huddle clinicians (a selected small interdisciplinary core team who met regularly to plan patient care) participated in a focus group held at each of the 2 sites (n=16). The remaining clinicians who worked in the clinic and were members of the huddle team were also invited to participate in one-on-one interviews. Of all the clinicians, 17% (7/41) agreed to participate. All clinic managers and volunteer coordinators

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285

RenderX

agreed to participate in the interviews (n=3). Three volunteers who were trained to facilitate the GENIE tool participated in the focus group.

Participants

We recruited 5 male and 3 female patients (4 patients from each clinic) with an average age of 63 years (SD 4.6; range 57-69 years). Half of the patients (4/8, 50%) had no computer access and had never used computers, whereas the other half (4/8, 50%) had used computers regularly. A total of 6 patients were married, 1 was divorced, and 1 had unknown marital status. Participants had a mean of 3.9 (SD 1.8) chronic diseases, ranging from 2 to 8 chronic diseases, including depression (n=6), anxiety (n=5), diabetes (n=5), cancer (n=4), arthritis (n=4), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (n=2), heart disease (n=2), and pancreatitis (n=1).

Of the 3 volunteers, 1 was a male university student and 2 were retired females. The primary care team participants were members of the interprofessional teams at 2 clinics. One team had 7 members and included a dietitian, an occupational therapist, a physiotherapist, a pharmacist, a system navigator, 2 physicians, and a registered practical nurse. The second team had 9 members and consisted of an occupational therapist, a physiotherapist, a pharmacist, a system navigator, a physician, a psychologist, a registered practical nurse, and 2 nurse practitioners.

Analysis

Qualitative data (interview, focus group, huddle notes, and field observation notes) were uploaded and organized using NVivo (QSR International) software, version 10 [44]. Two authors (LC and RV) reviewed all the data sources. Field observation notes were coded in NVivo according to their organizing criteria using a qualitative descriptive approach (Multimedia Appendix 2) by LC, and they were reviewed by RV. LC coded the interview and focus groups by inductively organizing the coding using the interview guide that was guided by NPT [40]. RV reviewed all the coding, and the research team reviewed the final coding structure with themes to increase rigor in the results.

Participants' network maps were categorized using criteria developed by the GENIE founders and coauthors AR and IV, to identify the network typologies (based on the size of the network and type of network members). All authors reviewed

and discussed the preliminary and final findings and interpretations.

Results

Areas of Interest and Services Chosen for Potential Follow-up in GENIE

All patients completed a network map and a questionnaire that asked about a person's interests in various types of activities. Table 2 shows the categories and areas of interest chosen by participants. Patients were most interested in getting more physically fit (8/8, 100%), managing their weight (6/8, 75%), and learning about their health condition (6/8, 75%). All other topics garnered some interest, except knowing more about

supports for a pet. Participants chose a range of 4-9 topics of interest, with an average of 6.

Patients favorited programs or services from the HSS database for potential follow-up that were related to the following: social clubs (5/8, 62%), home support (2/8, 25%), swimming (2/8, 25%), drama and music (1/8, 13%), and fitness and exercise (1/8, 13%). A total of 4 patients followed up with their favorited community services, including community or seniors' social clubs (n=3) and an aquafit class (n=1). One patient was disinterested in the community services. Patients could also find relevant HSSs to address the health conditions of interest. Patients selected diabetes (1/8, 13%), cancer (1/8, 13%), and other health conditions (1/8, 13%) but did not follow up on any of the relevant HSSs.

 Table 2. Patient responses to GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement) survey questions related to topics of interest.

Categories and GENIE survey questions and subquestions	Patients with an interest in the category, n (%)		
Activities			
I am interested in doing creative things (subquestions include reading and writing, drama and music, and arts and crafts).	5 (63)		
I would like to know more about social activities (social clubs).	4 (50)		
Health			
I would like to learn more about my health (draws from a checklist of health problems including heart problems, diabetes, arthritis, kidney problems, cancer, anxiety, depression, hypertension, and other).	6 (75)		
I would like to manage my weight better (subquestions include weight management and nutrition).	6 (75)		
I would like to get more physically fit (subquestions include fitness and exercise classes, walking or outdoor activities, and swimming).	8 (100)		
Learning			
I would like to know more about looking after someone (caregiving).	4 (50)		
I would like to learn new skills or take a course.	2 (25)		
Support			
I would like to see people more often (subquestions include friendly visiting, counselling, and caregiver support).	4 (50)		
Independent living			
I would like to know more about things that will help me remain independent (subquestions include transportation services and financial and benefits advice).	5 (63)		
Volunteering			
I would like to help other people (subquestion includes volunteering opportunities).	4 (50)		
New addition			
I would like to know more about supports for my pets.	0 (0)		

Feasibility and Usability

Overview

RenderX

Most patients and volunteers shared positive perceptions of the tool overall, such as the perception that the tool was easy to follow and understand. In addition, most patients noted that they would recommend it to others. However, several feasibility and usability issues were identified, as listed in Textbox 1 and described later. Quotations from participants are indicated by the participant type and ID number, such as patient 1, volunteer 3, and clinician 5. As we did not always capture the clinician's names in the huddle meeting notes, participant IDs are missing for some quotes.

Textbox 1. Feasibility and usability themes.

Feasibility: interview and focus group data, primary care provider huddle notes, and use statistics

- Partial understanding of the purpose of GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement)
- Need for facilitation to complete GENIE
- · Clinician's navigation ability superior to GENIE supported by volunteers
- Time to complete GENIE

Usability: field observation notes

- GENIE inputs
 - Challenges in completing sections of the tool related to terminology used and lack of clarity in instructions
 - Chronic disease terms not understood
 - Unclear questions in the questionnaire
 - Unclear instructions related to who to add to the network and labeling their relationship
- GENIE and database outputs
 - Limitations in the quality and quantity of health and social service results
 - Quality of data insufficient in relation to community resources to match a health and social services to a patient
 - Quantity of data creates information overload
 - Technological challenges
 - Email setup concerns
 - Challenges printing results

Feasibility

Partial Understanding of the Purpose of GENIE

Generally, clinicians, volunteers, and many patients had a partial understanding of the purpose of GENIE. Most understood that it was meant to assess if patients were connected to the community; to determine their social support, including family, friends, and community-based resources during times of stress; and to find community resources to support them that match the patient's goals and assist them with self-management. Patient 3 explained the following: "it's more or less so [...] who you can contact to help you with different things to achieve your goals." Furthermore, a provider explained:

My understanding was to sort of trial this tool to help people find individualized supports for them, so individualized, as in based on their needs and hopefully in their local neighbourhood, supports that they identify that they need to accomplish the goals that they outlined for themselves. [Clinician 2]

Some confusion was also evident. It was noted in an observation during patient 1's home visit that volunteers needed to be clearer about the purpose of GENIE when explaining it to the patient. In addition, clinical teams required the research coordinator to explain how to interpret the maps and network typologies. Most importantly, there was a gap in understanding the link between the social network component of GENIE and the use of the network to help mobilize the uptake of HSSs. The need to have someone to facilitate the patient's completion of GENIE was identified through many observational field notes. This was related to the lack of access to computers or the internet by some patients, as noted above. In addition, volunteers or the research coordinator needed to explain the purpose of the tool, including the network map and survey questions; read out the descriptions of the topics of interest; facilitate moving around in the network map; or support tailoring the selection of services for follow-up. Working through GENIE required assistance from the facilitator in all cases.

Need for Facilitation to Complete GENIE

Clinician's Navigation Ability Superior to GENIE Supported by Volunteers

This theme was raised by clinicians who believed that they were better able to tailor the service to their patients than what the volunteers could offer with GENIE. Clinician 4 noted the following: "The software is good, but it's not as good as a person who actually knows what's going on there." Clinicians explained that they could better match patients to services, given their knowledge of their patients and services. Clinician 2 explained:

...sometimes that layer of information and that layer of referral is based on a depth of understanding of community services, a depth of understanding of the patient, and a depth of understanding of how they form relationships. And, you know, you are never going to copy that from a database.

The relevance of some selected HSSs was questioned by their clinicians. One clinician explained that going with the most convenient service based on location was not the best approach to select a service and that other criteria may be more important. On the other hand, another clinician questioned why a service was chosen by the patient that was out of the local area of the patient's home. Furthermore, clinicians perceived that paper-based resources listing community services in the clinic, such as flyers, booklets, and posters, would be more popular for patients.

Time to Complete GENIE

GENIE was completed along with other screening surveys in the Health TAPESTRY program, adding time to the home visit. This created a challenge to completing GENIE, which took an average of 31.9 minutes (range 20-42). This time was in addition to the average of 57 minutes (SD 22) that the volunteers spent to complete the home visit. Volunteers also raised the challenge that, at times, completing GENIE broke the flow of the visit and took much longer than the numerous but short Health TAPESTRY surveys. Volunteer 2 noted:

...it delays things, they might lose interest while all this is still going on. It stops the flow of the visit.

This was noted as being less of a problem in completing the social network map than in completing the questionnaire.

Usability

GENIE Inputs—Challenges in Completing Sections of the Tool Related to Terminology Used and Lack of Clarity in Instructions

Two main usability challenges were apparent in completed GENIE. These included (1) the use of unclear terminology and (2) confusion related to the instructions about who was to be added to the network map and how to label them. The first screen on logging in asked patients to check their chronic health conditions from a list of common conditions. On the basis of observations, it was noted that one patient and some volunteers were confused about certain chronic disease terms, including hypertension and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, requiring simplification of these terms. Observation notes also indicated that one question in the questionnaire, "I would like help caring for other people" was misunderstood by one patient. One volunteer and patient also misunderstood the category of *finances and benefits*, as this item fell under the category in the questionnaire related to remaining independent.

Although network mapping was reported by most volunteers to be generally easy to use and visually helpful, clarification regarding the criteria used to determine who gets added to the network map and how to label the relationship was needed. Everyone struggled with the criteria needed to put someone into the network circles. The guiding question asks, "Who are the people close to you who help you with a long-term condition?" Some questioned whether this meant the people who could help or those who were most important to the patient but did not necessarily help. Clinician 6 commented:

And that could be geographically or that could be emotionally or support-wise. And I wonder if that were clarified a bit that might also help to find the purpose of the tool.

Furthermore, volunteers were unsure about how to label some network members, such as roommates, social groups, and nurse practitioners.

GENIE and Database Outputs: Limitations in the Quality and Quantity of HSS Results

Usability challenges, noted in field observations and clinician and volunteer focus groups, were identified. Some programs or services appeared to be missing or outdated regarding the quality of the community's HSS database. A huddle note indicated that a clinician asked, "Why didn't YMCA cancer support programs come up?" Further, patient 1 asked, "Why the Burlington Seniors Centre on New Street does not show up?" Another limitation was the lack of details for some services, such as costs to participate, which raised concerns about the limits of matching a patient's interests based solely on traveling distance. A note from both team meetings indicated that clinicians objected to having *just a list* of services in the output and explained that what needs to happen is *matching the patient to the service*, in other words, better tailoring of the service to the patient's needs and context.

The sheer quantity of results of HSSs produced by the GENIE report, particularly if there were many interests selected, was noted to be overwhelming by many volunteers and clinicians. Clinician 3 noted:

Sometimes providing the information is overload for patients and it doesn't really go anywhere. Many people will come with, you know, I was given four pamphlets about stuff and I don't know what to do with this and I don't know how to connect with them or I don't – which one am I supposed to choose for myself.

Furthermore, volunteer 1 explained:

When you give someone a huge list which often came up as this massive list, like, I can feel [the patients] getting discouraged. I would get discouraged.

Despite this challenge, the clinic teams appreciated the list of potential resources as a useful starting point. The paper-based list was also appreciated by some patients:

Sometimes it's nice to have something on paper. [Patient 3]

Technical Challenges

Some patients had no email address or had to use a family member's email address to create an account and log on to GENIE. They were worried that sharing an email address would open them up to spam and unwanted follow-up emails. The researcher assured them in the visit that their email would not be shared with anyone and that there would be no follow-up email. The researcher could also create a new email address to enable them only to use the GENIE tool.

Several participants also had technical challenges in printing reports because of the occasional problem of generating the PDF for the report, which was a function in the tool. In addition,

some general challenges associated with the printer included connecting the printer to the tablet because the researcher needed to use Wi-Fi or a hotspot to print from a portable printer that did not work in a few instances. Patients preferred to have a printed copy of the report.

Evaluation Impacts

Clinicians perceived that GENIE strengthened their understanding of their patients' social networks through social network maps, and in one case, it moved the team to work with a patient who was identified as being socially isolated. Furthermore, clinician 5 described:

There was one that we looked at just recently where caregiver strain was a major issue for the person and yet all their ties were people that they care for, and that highlighted, I think, the real dilemma in that situation.

In a few cases, the use of GENIE sparked patient action, including reviewing more GENIE results after the visit and actively connecting more with family. For example, patient 8 noted:

It's sort of a graphic that shows you how little you might have [been] involved with the people that are close to you. Maybe it's sort of like almost visual cues that maybe I haven't been as close as possible to my family. And I think that also sparked me to be more active phoning them.

Participants from all groups identified several potential impacts of using GENIE. There was a perception that GENIE provided the opportunity to reduce isolation by encouraging and enabling patients to become more involved in their community and establish connections. For example, volunteer 3 noted that GENIE could potentially help patients "be more involved in community and connections with other people rather than just be isolated in their homes, perhaps as an encouragement to develop or maintain those connections." Patient 8 explained how it could help clinicians gain a better understanding of the patient's needs:

I think it does help people identify what they need. And then for the doctors or practitioners or whoever is there that it's just one more thing that, [...] sometimes you don't have time to talk about everything when you go to your family doctor. So, I think it's a good thing because support is really important to your well-being. And you had quite a few different things; [...] it was your medical plus the activities or social life.

There were limited changes in network size, frequency, or makeup over time. Of 8 patients, 4 had network membership gains at time 2 (3 months later), with new members added to their network as they joined clubs or classes. However, 1 patient experienced a network loss of 1 member. Patients did not note any changes in the frequency of contact with their network members or groups in the 3 months' time frame (daily, monthly, weekly, or less). Finally, 25% (2/8) of patients showed no change in their network size or composition. Individual's network typologies indicated that 50% (4/8) of patients had *very*

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285

isolated networks and 50% (4/8) of patients had *friend and family supported* networks at time 1. None of the patients had diverse networks at any time point.

Factors Influencing Community Services Follow-up

Several barriers to the use of community services were identified. The most common barrier reported by patients and a volunteer was the distance to travel to the service or program. Patient 4 explained "I drive but I do not go downtown, and I do not like to drive downtown, and I do not like to rely on people for that." Transportation issues were also noted, indicating that proximity is an important factor influencing service use. A few patients also mentioned that they did not want to leave home because of feeling unwell from chronic headaches or fear of getting confused owing to an acquired brain injury.

Motivation was identified by the clinic teams as a barrier for patients to access community-based services. On the basis of an observation, a patient identified key areas of concern as weight gain, information about his health, walking and outdoor activities, and caregiver support; although he seemed interested in these areas, he was not interested in attending any services or programs. Volunteers spoke about the potential of GENIE to influence motivation:

It creates awareness for people of what is available out there. And if they are motivated to do it, you know, that just might be the final push, if you will, to go out and do that. [Volunteer 1]

Other barriers that were raised in a few instances were mobility issues, eligibility challenges (may not be eligible for transportation support because the patient can walk), and a lack of services in the area of interest.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study showed that GENIE—a web-based social network tool-was generally feasible and usable for patients, volunteers, and the primary care team, although a number of feasibility and usability challenges were identified. A key feasibility challenge was the gap in understanding the purpose of GENIE by clinicians, patients, and volunteers. NPT points out that sense-making work, that is, having a clear understanding of the purpose of the novel intervention, is important to support its normalization or uptake in practice [40]. In this study, volunteers indicated that the social network maps were useful to help patients reflect on their personal support, and providers found it valuable to better understand their patients' social contexts. However, there was a lack of understanding of how mobilizing the patient's social network could help patients to access their community HSSs of interest identified through GENIE. Research has shown that social support can influence chronic disease self-management [45,46]. In a GENIE study involving older adults with diabetes, facilitators used GENIE as "a positive disruption to self-management by prompting reconsideration of network members and how they impact on self-management as well as an avenue to connect to new activities and sources of support" [47]. Given the partial understanding of the purpose of GENIE, this study highlights the need to improve GENIE

XSL•FO RenderX

training to ensure that users have a clear understanding of its purpose and how the components are meant to work together.

Another key feasibility challenge was that primary care providers reported relying more on their personal knowledge of HSSs than on GENIE results. In addition, NPT suggests that individually and collectively, participants need to see the value, benefit, and importance of the innovation for it to be taken up in practice [40]. Our results indicated that clinicians had a somewhat limited belief in the benefits of GENIE. They explained that their long-standing knowledge of their patients increased their ability to suggest suitable HSSs compared with GENIE search results. Other research has shown that physicians rely on their health care team's knowledge of HSSs [20], use out-of-date resources to identify programs and services, and the HSS search strategies that are used are limited. Ploeg et al [48] also found making referrals to HSSs challenging. It has been shown that physicians understand the importance of social care needs; however, they do not have sufficient time to address them, necessitating assistance from others to fill this gap [49]. Physicians have relied on the interprofessional team to make community linkages for their patients [20], adding pressure on the team to be up to date on HSSs. This is a particular challenge in primary care practices that do not have interprofessional team support. Even when interprofessional teams are present, it takes time to identify the patient's needs, match them to relevant services, and assist them in making the necessary connections. Additional time is required to consider patients' personal social networks and mobilize them to assist in HSSs uptake.

It was not surprising that the time needed to complete GENIE was a feasibility challenge, given that it was used within the Health TAPESTRY program, which was time-intensive on its own. This is the first instance to our knowledge that GENIE was implemented in the context of another program—Health TAPESTRY. As such, it was not possible to determine the feasibility issues of GENIE, independent of the context of Health TAPESTRY. However, the Health TAPESTRY program provided the necessary infrastructure for GENIE to be implemented in a novel way by volunteers visiting patients at home within a primary care context, thereby adding new knowledge to the field.

Usability results showed that better GENIE filtering of HSS results was needed (eg, costs of services and eligibility criteria). Patients found the number of HSS results from GENIE overwhelming, particularly when the patient indicated interest in multiple activities. This generated numerous pages of results. Given this usability challenge, it is not surprising that facilitation was needed to support the use of GENIE to help prioritize the selections. Consistent with previous studies, there was an awareness of the need to focus on a narrower set of options. The key role of conversations with the facilitator was to understand acceptable options for new activities and training facilitators to understand and develop their role in helping the patient negotiate a focus on a small number of options acceptable to them [26,50]. Furthermore, improved facilitator training was needed to guide the participant to place themselves "at the centre of the circle and encourage them to think about why and how some people and resources might be more or less important to them" [50] to help HSSs uptake.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285
```

The accuracy and completeness of the database of community services that was feeding GENIE's output and GENIE's filtering capability also had some usability challenges. For example, a patient may have indicated an interest in a swimming program; however, the listing would not indicate its relevance to seniors. Future research is needed to better identify what patients want from an HSS database to help them further refine their results and identify relevant HSSs to meet their needs. Although it has been argued that there is a need for comprehensive and centralized community information systems [51], keeping information and referral database content up to date is challenging [52]. Community information and referral service databases in the United States and Canada tend to be managed by libraries or other community service agencies offering formal and structured community information services. Community capacity to maintain these databases requires consistent government funding. The research team worked closely with the regional community organization to notify them about missing or irrelevant information, which helped keep their databases up to date. Creating an ongoing feedback loop between primary care providers, volunteers, and community agencies who manage community service information databases could be a useful strategy to help increase their accuracy and increase the relevance of the data shared. Another potential solution would be to allow primary care providers to leave comments on HSS databases based on their knowledge and feedback from their patients on the HSS.

Usability results showed a need for modifications to the tool and more volunteer training to clarify the use of terms and phrases. For example, the use of the phrase *someone close to you* was a point of confusion between the volunteer and the patient in their interaction to map a patient's personal network. A second important usability finding was that a few patients had difficulties understanding medical terms for chronic conditions. This indicates a need to strengthen health literacy for some adults with chronic conditions particularly, as it has been shown to influence the appropriate use of health services [53]. Future research is needed to better address the gap between the use of professional terminology and the public's understanding when used in eHealth tools [54].

A systematic review by Stellefson et al [55] found that multidisciplinary teams (eg, diabetes care managers, nurses, primary care physicians, pharmacists, and social workers) can support patients' use of the web 2.0 interventions to assist in the management of chronic diseases. This review supported the need for facilitation in the use of digital tools for self-management among older adults, which may be particularly important for those who are managing multiple chronic health and social conditions and are high users of the health care system. Furthermore, studies have shown that community members prefer to receive information informally through everyday conversations rather than via databases and that having skilled people in the community helps to translate information for them [56]. Finally, obtaining information from web sources can be challenging for adults with sensory losses, language issues, or poor health literacy, requiring facilitation by others [51]. This study supported that trained volunteers were a valuable extension of the primary care setting that could support

XSL•FO RenderX

the use of GENIE by high users of the health system. However, improvements are needed to (1) the GENIE app and the HSSs database, (2) provide a stronger orientation of the benefits of GENIE to clinicians, and (3) deliver more comprehensive training for volunteers. NPT speaks of the importance of allocating the division of labor around skill sets to support operationalizing the innovation [40]. Ideally, volunteer training would expand the volunteer role from that of a basic facilitator to include skills in motivational interviewing and increasing their knowledge about HSSs. The primary care team would need to endorse this enhanced volunteer role. Overall, more research is needed to explore how to better engage primary care in mobilizing HSSs support for these vulnerable adults.

With regard to outcomes, the patient uptake of services that were identified by GENIE was variable. Half of the patients (4/8, 50%) attended a new club or social group as a result of the intervention, pointing to the need and interest in social connection. A 2017 systematic literature review of social prescribing in primary care indicated positive impacts, including the use of recommended community links among others [57]. However, their results should be considered with caution, as the included studies were shown to have a high risk of bias. This feasibility study involved high users of the health care system and therefore likely presented participants with significant barriers to HSS uptake. More research is needed to explore which populations can benefit the most from such interventions and whether the addition of social prescribing by primary care providers combined with the use of GENIE supported by volunteers as an extension of the team would result in the better uptake of HSSs. Finally, 2 perceived outcomes of GENIE were identified in our study that can inform outcomes in future research with GENIE-the reduction of social isolation and the increased awareness of patients' needs, interests, and social context among their primary care providers.

Finally, the most common topics of interest selected by patients were health related: weight management, physical activity, and health management. These topics mirrored those of the top 6 life and health goals identified by older adults in another study conducted in Ontario [32]. Furthermore, GENIE studies conducted in the United Kingdom also showed that most activities chosen in other related GENIE studies also tended to be health related [26,27]. This provides support that the topics in the GENIE tool are relevant to an adult population. However, it should be noted that patients were not offered the opportunity to nominate other topics of interest.

Strengths and Limitations

This study involved 8 patients who were high users of the health care system, a population that is not frequently studied. A strength of this study is that data were collected from multiple sources (observation, interviews, focus groups, and GENIE use statistics) and from the perspectives of patients, providers, and volunteers to assess the feasibility, usability, and perceived impacts of GENIE. There were challenges in recruiting and retaining patients, and as such, the study is limited by its small sample size. However, the size is adequate for usability testing [42]. Data were collected between 2017 and 2018. Although technology rapidly changes, GENIE's main functions remain relevant in addressing current challenges in primary care. In addition, the use of volunteers in primary care is a more recent innovation that continues to be tested [58], and we believe that this study is relevant today. Moreover, the implementation of GENIE occurred in the context of the Health TAPESTRY program. In this regard, the transferability of the study findings is low. Despite this, the study has contributed new knowledge about the feasibility and usability of using GENIE in a primary care context that involves trained volunteers as a unique extension of the team. Finally, as with most complex interventions, more research is needed to isolate and identify factors influencing the success and failure of its implementation and outcomes.

Conclusions

GENIE provides an opportunity for patients to identify a program or activity that could help expand their social network and to identify social support that can be leveraged to increase social participation. More volunteer training and experience were required to enhance the implementation of GENIE to its full potential. Over time, volunteers may develop more familiarity with the landscape of HSSs and play a more important role in navigating patients through the system. With well-trained and experienced volunteers, more active follow-up (by phone or in-person), and perhaps actual accompaniment to attend a new program or service, more success might be possible in matching patients to programs and services. However, some clinicians perceive that there can be a mismatch in the right services for patients through GENIE. Volunteers, or perhaps peer approaches, may be a viable solution to support social prescribing and the uptake of services for populations living with complex health and social conditions needing self-management support. This study informs potential measures of research outcomes and points to GENIE's potential. More research is needed to investigate the impact of one-on-one facilitation in primary care by volunteers and digital tools, preferably using comparative designs [56] that consider cost.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge support from the following McMaster undergraduate nursing students: Olana Lovell for assisting with conducting interviews and focus groups and Eric Park and Natalie Chan for assisting with data analysis. The authors would like to thank the patients, volunteers, and clinicians who participated in this study, Pauline Kajiura and Simon LeBrun from Information Hamilton for their constant support, and the developers of the GENIE tool—Anne Rogers, Anne Kennedy, and Ivo Vassilev of the University of Southampton. The authors gratefully acknowledge the funding support from Health Canada (grant 6817-06-2013/5570001) and the Government of Ontario (grant 06547 for INSPIRE-PHC [Innovations Strengthening Primary

XSL•FC

Health Care Through Research-Primary Health Care]; Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care), the additional financial support from the Labarge Optimal Aging Initiative, and the financial and in-kind support from the McMaster Family Health Organization and the McMaster University Department of Family Medicine.

Authors' Contributions

All authors were involved in the conceptualization of the study. RV and LC collected and analyzed the data and wrote the initial manuscript drafts. All authors were involved in the interpretation of results, provided feedback on drafts, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Interview guides for GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement). [DOCX File , 28 KB - formative v5i7e25285 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

GENIE (Generating Engagement in Network Involvement) observation field notes. [DOCX File , 16 KB - formative v5i7e25285 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Hajat C, Stein E. The global burden of multiple chronic conditions: a narrative review. Prev Med Rep 2018 Dec;12:284-293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.10.008] [Medline: 30406006]
- King DE, Xiang J, Pilkerton CS. Multimorbidity trends in United States adults, 1988-2014. J Am Board Fam Med 2018;31(4):503-513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2018.04.180008] [Medline: 29986975]
- 3. Kingston A, Robinson L, Booth H, Knapp M, Jagger C, MODEM project. Projections of multi-morbidity in the older population in England to 2035: estimates from the Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) model. Age Ageing 2018 May 1;47(3):374-380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afx201] [Medline: 29370339]
- 4. Bodenheimer T, Lorig K, Holman H, Grumbach K. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. J Am Med Assoc 2002 Nov 20;288(19):2469-2475. [doi: 10.1001/jama.288.19.2469] [Medline: 12435261]
- 5. Liddy C, Blazkho V, Mill K. Challenges of self-management when living with multiple chronic conditions: systematic review of the qualitative literature. Can Fam Physician 2014 Dec;60(12):1123-1133 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25642490]
- Kang E, Kim S, Rhee YE, Lee J, Yun YH. Self-management strategies and comorbidities in chronic disease patients: associations with quality of life and depression. Psychol Health Med 2020 Oct 23:1-13. [doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1838585] [Medline: 33095059]
- Carter N, Valaitis RK, Lam A, Feather J, Nicholl J, Cleghorn L. Navigation delivery models and roles of navigators in primary care: a scoping literature review. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Feb 8;18(1):96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-2889-0] [Medline: 29422057]
- 8. Mossabir R, Morris R, Kennedy A, Blickem C, Rogers A. A scoping review to understand the effectiveness of linking schemes from healthcare providers to community resources to improve the health and well-being of people with long-term conditions. Health Soc Care Community 2015 Sep;23(5):467-484. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.12176] [Medline: 25494621]
- Valaitis RK, Carter N, Lam A, Nicholl J, Feather J, Cleghorn L. Implementation and maintenance of patient navigation programs linking primary care with community-based health and social services: a scoping literature review. BMC Health Serv Res 2017 Feb 6;17(1):116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2046-1] [Medline: 28166776]
- Reeves D, Blickem C, Vassilev I, Brooks H, Kennedy A, Richardson G, et al. The contribution of social networks to the health and self-management of patients with long-term conditions: a longitudinal study. PLoS One 2014;9(6):e98340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098340] [Medline: 24887107]
- Coe K, Cox D. A model for patient navigation in the ACT for people with chronic and complex conditions. Australia: Health Care Consumers Association. 2018 Sep. URL: <u>https://www.hcca.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/</u> <u>HCCA-Report-Patient-Care-Navigation_ISBN.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-25]
- 12. McGowan P, Lorig K, Jadad A. Patient education self-management support. In: When People Live With Multiple Chronic Diseases: a Collaborative Approach to an Emerging Global Challenge. Granada, Spain: Andalusian School of Public Healthcuela Andaluza de Salud Pública; 2010.
- Rogers A, Brooks H, Vassilev I, Kennedy A, Blickem C, Reeves D. Why less may be more: a mixed methods study of the work and relatedness of 'weak ties' in supporting long-term condition self-management. Implement Sci 2014 Feb 13;9:19
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-9-19] [Medline: 24524253]

- 14. Sluzki CE. Personal social networks and health: conceptual and clinical implications of their reciprocal impact. Fam Syst Health 2010 Mar;28(1):1-18. [doi: 10.1037/a0019061] [Medline: 20438199]
- Vassilev I, Rogers A, Blickem C, Brooks H, Kapadia D, Kennedy A, et al. Social networks, the 'work' and work force of chronic illness self-management: a survey analysis of personal communities. PLoS One 2013;8(4):e59723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059723] [Medline: 23565162]
- 16. Koetsenruijter J, van Lieshout J, Vassilev I, Portillo M, Serrano M, Knutsen I, et al. Social support systems as determinants of self-management and quality of life of people with diabetes across Europe: study protocol for an observational study. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2014 Mar 4;12(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-12-29] [Medline: 24593668]
- 17. Kennedy A, Rogers A, Chew-Graham C, Blakeman T, Bowen R, Gardner C, et al. Implementation of a self-management support approach (WISE) across a health system: a process evaluation explaining what did and did not work for organisations, clinicians and patients. Implement Sci 2014 Oct 21;9:129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-014-0129-5] [Medline: 25331942]
- 18. Bodenheimer T, Sinsky C. From triple to quadruple aim: care of the patient requires care of the provider. Ann Fam Med 2014;12(6):573-576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1713] [Medline: 25384822]
- 19. Wagner EH, LeRoy L, Schaefer J, Bailit M, Coleman K, Zhan C, et al. How do innovative primary care practices achieve the quadruple aim? J Ambul Care Manage 2018;41(4):288-297. [doi: <u>10.1097/JAC.0000000000249</u>] [Medline: <u>29923845</u>]
- 20. Ploeg J, Denton M, Hutchison B, McAiney C, Moore A, Brazil K, et al. Primary care physicians' perspectives on facilitating older patients' access to community support services: Qualitative case study. Can Fam Physician 2017 Jan;63(1):e31-e42 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28115458]
- Valaitis R, Cleghorn L, Ploeg J, Risdon C, Mangin D, Dolovich L, et al. Disconnected relationships between primary care and community-based health and social services and system navigation for older adults: a qualitative descriptive study. BMC Fam Pract 2020 Apr 23;21(1):69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01143-8] [Medline: 32326880]
- 22. Blickem C, Kennedy A, Vassilev I, Morris R, Brooks H, Jariwala P, et al. Linking people with long-term health conditions to healthy community activities: development of Patient-Led Assessment for Network Support (PLANS). Health Expect 2013 Sep;16(3):e48-e59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12088] [Medline: 23731452]
- 23. Band R, Ewings S, Cheetham-Blake T, Ellis J, Breheny K, Vassilev I, et al. Study protocol for 'The Project About Loneliness and Social networks (PALS)': a pragmatic, randomised trial comparing a facilitated social network intervention (Genie) with a wait-list control for lonely and socially isolated people. BMJ Open 2019 Aug 18;9(8):e028718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028718] [Medline: 31427326]
- 24. Blakeman T, Blickem C, Kennedy A, Reeves D, Bower P, Gaffney H, et al. Effect of information and telephone-guided access to community support for people with chronic kidney disease: randomised controlled trial. PLoS One 2014;9(10):e109135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109135] [Medline: 25330169]
- 25. Niedzwiedz CL, Richardson EA, Tunstall H, Shortt NK, Mitchell RJ, Pearce JR. The relationship between wealth and loneliness among older people across Europe: Is social participation protective? Prev Med 2016 Oct;91:24-31. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.07.016] [Medline: 27471027]
- 26. Kennedy A, Vassilev I, James E, Rogers A. Implementing a social network intervention designed to enhance and diversify support for people with long-term conditions. A qualitative study. Implement Sci 2016 Feb 29;11:27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0384-8] [Medline: 26926837]
- Vassilev I, Rogers A, Kennedy A, Oatley C, James E. Identifying the processes of change and engagement from using a social network intervention for people with long-term conditions. A qualitative study. Health Expect 2019 Apr;22(2):173-182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12839] [Medline: 30318769]
- 28. Evans JM, Grudniewicz A, Wodchis WP, Baker GR. Leading the implementation of health links in Ontario. Healthc Pap 2014;14(2):21-5; discussion 58. [doi: 10.12927/hcpap.2015.24104] [Medline: 25880859]
- 29. Genie: Connecting People to Health and Wellbeing Activities in Their Community. University of Southampton. URL: <u>https://genie-net.org/</u> [accessed 2021-06-25]
- Vassilev I, Rogers A, Kennedy A, Wensing M, Koetsenruijter J, Orlando R, et al. Social network type and long-term condition management support: a cross-sectional study in six European countries. PLoS One 2016;11(8):e0161027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161027] [Medline: 27536988]
- 31. 211 LA County taxonomy of Human Services. Information and Referral Federation of Los Angeles County. 2021. URL: https://211taxonomy.org/ [accessed 2021-06-25]
- 32. Oliver D, Dolovich L, Lamarche L, Gaber J, Avilla E, Bhamani M, et al. A volunteer program to connect primary care and the home to support the health of older adults: a community case study. Front Med (Lausanne) 2018;5:48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00048] [Medline: 29536010]
- 33. Mondor L, Walker K, Bai YQ, Wodchis WP. Use of hospital-related health care among Health Links enrollees in the Central Ontario health region: a propensity-matched difference-in-differences study. CMAJ Open 2017 Oct 12;5(4):E753-E759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20170054] [Medline: 29025737]
- 34. Dolovich L, Oliver D, Lamarche L, Agarwal G, Carr T, Chan D, et al. A protocol for a pragmatic randomized controlled trial using the Health Teams Advancing Patient Experience: Strengthening Quality (Health TAPESTRY) platform approach

RenderX

to promote person-focused primary healthcare for older adults. Implement Sci 2016 Apr 5;11:49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0407-5] [Medline: 27044360]

- 35. Dolovich L, Oliver D, Lamarche L, Thabane L, Valaitis R, Agarwal G, et al. Combining volunteers and primary care teamwork to support health goals and needs of older adults: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Can Med Assoc J 2019 May 6;191(18):E491-E500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.181173] [Medline: 31061074]
- 36. Javadi D, Lamarche L, Avilla E, Siddiqui R, Gaber J, Bhamani M, et al. Feasibility study of goal setting discussions between older adults and volunteers facilitated by an eHealth application: development of the Health TAPESTRY approach. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2018;4:184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-018-0377-2] [Medline: 30564435]
- Valaitis R, Cleghorn L, Dolovich L, Agarwal G, Gaber J, Mangin D, et al. Examining Interprofessional teams structures and processes in the implementation of a primary care intervention (Health TAPESTRY) for older adults using normalization process theory. BMC Fam Pract 2020 Apr 15;21(1):63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01131-y] [Medline: 32295524]
- 38. Jaspers MW. A comparison of usability methods for testing interactive health technologies: methodological aspects and empirical evidence. Int J Med Inform 2009 May;78(5):340-353. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.10.002] [Medline: 19046928]
- Hartman D, Cottee PA, Savin KW, Bhave M, Presidente PJ, Fulton L, et al. Haemonchus contortus: molecular characterisation of a small heat shock protein. Exp Parasitol 2003;104(3-4):96-103. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0014-4894(03)00138-3</u>] [Medline: <u>14552856</u>]
- 40. May CR, Mair F, Finch T, MacFarlane A, Dowrick C, Treweek S, et al. Development of a theory of implementation and integration: normalization process theory. Implement Sci 2009 May 21;4:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-29] [Medline: 19460163]
- 41. Poduval S, Marston L, Hamilton F, Stevenson F, Murray E. Feasibility, acceptability, and impact of a web-based structured education program for type 2 diabetes: real-world study. JMIR Diabetes 2020 Jan 6;5(1):e15744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15744] [Medline: 31904580]
- 42. How Many Test Users in a Usability Study? Nielsen Norman Group. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nngroup.com/articles/</u> how-many-test-users/ [accessed 2021-06-25]
- 43. Virzi RA. Refining the test phase of usability evaluation: how many subjects is enough? Hum Factors 2016 Nov 23;34(4):457-468. [doi: 10.1177/001872089203400407]
- 44. NVivo. International. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/home/</u> [accessed 2021-06-25]
- 45. Gallant MP. The influence of social support on chronic illness self-management: a review and directions for research. Health Educ Behav 2003 Apr;30(2):170-195. [doi: 10.1177/1090198102251030] [Medline: 12693522]
- 46. Vest BM, Kahn LS, Danzo A, Tumiel-Berhalter L, Schuster RC, Karl R, et al. Diabetes self-management in a low-income population: impacts of social support and relationships with the health care system. Chronic Illn 2013 Jun;9(2):145-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1742395313475674] [Medline: 23585634]
- 47. Reidy C, Foster C, Rogers A. A novel exploration of the support needs of people initiating insulin pump therapy using a social network approach: a longitudinal mixed-methods study. Diabet Med 2020 Feb;37(2):298-310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dme.14155] [Medline: 31618464]
- 48. Ploeg J, Denton M, Hutchison B, McAiney C, Moore A, Brazil K, et al. Primary care physicians' perspectives on facilitating older patients' access to community support services: Qualitative case study. Can Fam Physician 2017 Jan;63(1):e31-e42 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28115458]
- 49. Fenton M. Health Care's Blind Side: the Overlooked Connection Between Social Needs and Good Health. Princeton: Robert Wood Johnston Foundation. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2011/12/health-care-s-blind-side.html</u> [accessed 2021-06-25]
- 50. James E, Kennedy A, Vassilev I, Ellis J, Rogers A. Mediating engagement in a social network intervention for people living with a long-term condition: a qualitative study of the role of facilitation. Health Expect 2020 Jun;23(3):681-690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.13048] [Medline: 32162435]
- 51. Supporting People as They Age in Community: Information and Service Access. Digital Commons. 2017. URL: <u>https://digitalcommons.ric.edu/facultypublications/384/</u> [accessed 2021-06-25]
- 52. Longstreth M, Slosser A, Barry R, Carrico C, McKibbin C. Information and referral needs for care partners of adults with Alzheimer's Disease in rural and remote communities. Innov Age 2018;2:317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geroni/igy023.1160]
- Dufour I, Lacasse A, Chouinard M, Chiu Y, Lafontaine S. Health literacy and use of healthcare services among community-dwelling older adults living with chronic conditions. Clin Nurs Stud 2019 Mar 25;7(2):79. [doi: <u>10.5430/cns.v7n2p79</u>]
- 54. He Z. Understanding and bridging the language and terminology gap between health professionals and consumers using social media. In: Social Web and Health Research: Benefits Limitations and Best Practices. Switzerland: Springer; 2019:103-121.

RenderX

- 55. Stellefson M, Chaney B, Barry AE, Chavarria E, Tennant B, Walsh-Childers K, et al. Web 2.0 chronic disease self-management for older adults: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2013 Feb 14;15(2):e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2439] [Medline: 23410671]
- 56. Gorichanaz T, Turner D. All the community's a stage: the public library's part in community information provision. The Library Quarterly 2017 Apr;87(2):99-116. [doi: 10.1086/690737]
- 57. Bickerdike L, Booth A, Wilson PM, Farley K, Wright K. Social prescribing: less rhetoric and more reality. A systematic review of the evidence. BMJ Open 2017 Apr 7;7(4):e013384. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013384] [Medline: 28389486]
- 58. Mangin D, Lamarche L, Oliver D, Bomze S, Borhan S, Browne T, et al. Health TAPESTRY Ontario: protocol for a randomized controlled trial to test reproducibility and implementation. Trials 2020 Aug 14;21(1):714 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04600-y] [Medline: 32795381]

Abbreviations

AIRS: Alliance of Information and Referral Systems GENIE: Generating Engagement in Network Involvement HSS: health and social service INSPIRE-PHC: Innovations Strengthening Primary Health Care Through Research-Primary Health Care MCC: multiple chronic condition NPT: Normalization Process Theory TAPESTRY: Teams Advancing Patient Experience: Strengthening Quality

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.10.20; peer-reviewed by G Boyle, V Stara, L Desveaux, P Cook; comments to author 08.01.21; revised version received 01.04.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 12.07.21.

Please cite as:

Valaitis R, Cleghorn L, Vassilev I, Rogers A, Ploeg J, Kothari A, Risdon C, Gillett J, Guenter D, Dolovich L A Web-Based Social Network Tool (GENIE) for Supporting Self-management Among High Users of the Health Care System: Feasibility and Usability Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e25285 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25285</u> doi:10.2196/25285 PMID:<u>34255654</u>

©Ruta Valaitis, Laura Cleghorn, Ivaylo Vassilev, Anne Rogers, Jenny Ploeg, Anita Kothari, Cathy Risdon, James Gillett, Dale Guenter, Lisa Dolovich. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 12.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Designing Asynchronous Remote Support for Behavioral Activation in Teenagers With Depression: Formative Study

Arpita Bhattacharya^{1*}, PhD; Ria Nagar^{2,3*}, BA; Jessica Jenness^{3*}, PhD; Sean A Munson^{4*}, PhD; Julie A Kientz^{4*}, PhD

¹Department of Informatics, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States

²Psychological Science, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, United Kingdom

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Arpita Bhattacharya, PhD Department of Informatics University of California, Irvine 6210 Donald Bren Hall Irvine, CA, 92697 United States Phone: 1 (949) 824 2901 Email: arpitab@uci.edu

Abstract

Background: Many teenagers in the United States experience challenges with symptoms of depression, and they lack adequate resources for accessing in-person mental health care. Involving teens and clinicians in designing technologies that use evidence-based practices that reduce barriers to accessing mental health care is crucial. Interventions based on behavioral activation (BA) help teens understand the relationship between mood and activity, help them practice goal-directed behaviors to improve mood, and may be particularly well-suited to delivery via internet-based platforms.

Objective: This study aims to understand the needs and challenges that teens and mental health clinicians face in depression management and involve them in the design process of a remote intervention that uses asynchronous remote communities. Our goal is to understand the benefits and challenges of adapting BA to an internet-based platform that supports the asynchronous remote community approach as a delivery tool for teen depression management.

Methods: We enrolled mental health clinicians (n=10) and teens (n=8) in separate, private, internet-based groups on Slack (Slack Technologies Inc). They participated in 20-minute design activities for 10 weeks and were then invited to interviews about their experiences in the study.

Results: Both teen and clinician participants wanted internet-based support for BA as a supplement to in-person therapy. Although participants perceived the asynchronous format as conducive to supporting accessible care, teens and clinicians raised concerns about safety, privacy, and the moderating of the internet-based group. Design decisions that address these concerns need to be balanced with the potential benefits of learning coping skills, increasing access to mental health care, and promoting asynchronous human connection to support teens.

Conclusions: We discuss considerations for balancing tensions in privacy and safety while designing and selecting internet-based platforms to support remote care and integrating evidence-based support when designing digital technologies for the treatment of teens with depression.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e20969) doi:10.2196/20969

KEYWORDS

RenderX

teens; mental health; behavioral activation; asynchronous remote communities

³Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

⁴Human Centered Design and Engineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Introduction

Background

Approximately 3.2 million teenagers are diagnosed with depression each year [1]. Depression in teens is a serious and debilitating disorder associated with lifelong negative outcomes, including increased risk of recurrence into adulthood, social difficulties, physical illness, and suicidality [1-5]. More than 60% of adolescents with depression do not receive in-person mental health care, and among those who do, treatment engagement is low [1,6]. Evidence-based psychosocial interventions (EBPIs) for individuals with depression typically require frequent interactions between patients and mental health providers throughout time, which can be a barrier for patients and costly to administer in person [1].

Technology-based tools may provide an opportunity to improve the usability and engagement of EBPIs, particularly among teens where daily technology use is nearly ubiquitous [7]. Asynchronous remote communities (ARCs) are technology-mediated groups that use private internet-based platforms to deliver weekly tasks to participants in a format that is lightweight, accessible, usable, and low burden [8]. ARCs capitalize on the reach of technology while also providing support, social interactions, and motivation to engage in care. In this study, we seek to engage teens and mental health clinicians in the design process to understand how to use an ARC platform to support an EBPI for depression.

Overview of Behavioral Activation Therapy

Behavioral activation (BA) is an EBPI for individuals with depression [9-11] and lends itself to a wide range of

Figure 1. Behavioral activation model of depression among teens.

implementation and training methods [12,13]. BA is based on a functional analytic model of depression that highlights the transactional associations among environmental stress, behavior, and mood (Figure 1) [10]. Specifically, BA approaches the treatment of depression through two primary targets: (1) increasing the experience of positive reinforcement (rewarding experiences) to help improve mood and (2) decreasing avoidance of reinforcing activities that may negatively reinforce depression symptoms. To address these treatment targets, BA emphasizes practicing goal-directed rather than mood-directed behavior. For example, if a teen is rejected by a friend and subsequently experiences a low mood, a mood-directed behavior would be to isolate from all peers to avoid further rejection. Isolation from a broader group of peers would likely lead to negative consequences, such as worsening friendships and a lack of social contact. These negative consequences feedback in the teen's environmental stress, low mood, and avoidant behaviors, ultimately resulting in a negative cycle of depression. Alternatively, goal-directed behavior refers to setting and following small steps toward a goal (instead of a mood) that aligns with the teen's core values and is likely to positively influence their mood. For example, despite the mood-directed inclination to avoid potential rejection, the teen may set a goal to see a movie with a friend and follow small steps toward this goal, such as calling the friend, setting a time and date, and selecting a movie to watch. Although BA holds promise as an effective treatment for depression [11,14], there is an opportunity to improve the usability of and engagement with BA via internet-based technologies, particularly among teens who are highly engaged with social and mobile technologies [7,15,16].



Designing for Teen Mental Health

Technology can be creatively designed to engage teens in EPBIs for emotional and mental health management. Researchers have used different modalities of engagement for preteens and teens, such as engaging parents and children with strategies for social and emotional skill learning through digital storytelling and dialogic inquiry [17] and designing a toy that provides real-time biofeedback to mitigate negative emotional responses [18]. Researchers have also designed a social robot (Ecological Momentary Assessment Robot) [19] with teens to assess their stress and support emotive and embodied interactions. In a pilot randomized controlled trial of a website delivering BA modules on planning activities to improve mood, Davidson et al [12] found that 96.2% of teen participants who had depression symptoms completed the module. They suggested tracking activities and moods and sending reminders using mobile technology to improve engagement [12]. Rohani et al [20] designed an app called MORIBUS based on BA for activity planning and rating and visualizing mood patterns for adults with depression. In their feasibility study, participants found personal visual insights into the relationship between their mood and activity most useful with an overall compliance rate of 71%. Researchers identified opportunities to support the need for

flexibility in logging activities instead of only in-the-moment logging, as participants had individual usage patterns. For example, some participants logged their activities at the end of the day when they had privacy, versus a few who logged it as they completed the activity. Flexibility in how and when individuals engage with internet-based mental health tools can be supported by an asynchronous format of logging and participating in activities.

The Need for an ARC Method

When working with teens, researchers have encountered challenges in using common design methods (eg, curt or not fully formed responses, power imbalance, and access constraints), suggesting a need for new and innovative ways to involve them in design [21]. ARCs are private internet-based groups in which researchers can deliver periodic research tasks to participants and gather information about their perceptions in a format that is lightweight, accessible, usable, and low burden. Researchers have used the ARC method to engage adults living with chronic and stigmatized illnesses and people who face challenges with access to care [8,22,23]. Asynchronous methods have also been used in conjunction with internet-based social networking tools to engage with youth in intervention research [24,25]. For example, researchers enrolled 79 young adults in private Facebook groups to deliver cognitive behavioral therapy interventions for smoking cessation for 90 days [25]. SharpTalk was an internet-based, moderated peer support discussion forum designed for youths aged 16-25 years who engage in self-harm [24]. For teens, ARCs on social networking platforms offer more convenient and lightweight access than visiting offline research sites, as teens may encounter barriers to in-person appointments, such as the need for transportation and parental support. ARCs also support engaging with and following teens' activities throughout time and teens who are geographically distributed. Our previous work highlighted ARCs as a promising approach for engaging teens in EBPIs for mental health that leverages technology's reach while understanding teens' challenges with mental health, needs for support and social interactions, and motivations [26]. In this study, we sought to expand the use of ARCs to understand the benefits and challenges of adapting BA to an internet-based platform that supports intervention delivery and engagement tools for teen depression management.

Study Overview

In this study, we aim to use and adapt the ARC method to involve teenagers and clinicians in the design process of adapting BA interventions. We built our group guidelines and protocols for moderating the group and handling internet-based disclosures of adverse events based on ethical considerations on balancing teens' safety, preference to remain anonymous, and potential distress by Sharkey et al [24] (Multimedia Appendices 1-3).

The following research aims guided the design of our internet-based activities, interviews, and analysis:

• Aim 1 (A1): using the ARC to understand perceptions, needs, and challenges of clinicians and teens in designing technologies for the treatment of teen depression

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20969
```

• Aim 2 (A2): understanding what clinicians and teenagers envision from the design and delivery of BA for the treatment of teen depression using internet-based technology platforms that support an ARC approach

To address these aims, we aim to use the ARC method with clinicians and teens in two separate, private, internet-based groups and post 20-minute-long design activities each week for 10 weeks. Each activity prompted clinicians and teens to provide feedback on adapting the BA to Slack (Slack Technologies Inc) and design implementation ideas. We seek to discover their needs, design constraints, and facilitators of and barriers to adapting BA for asynchronous delivery and analyzed their experiences with the ARC. This empirical work provides design recommendations for researchers and practitioners working with internet-based technologies to use EBPIs for teen depression management. On the basis of our analysis, both clinicians and teens highlighted (1) the need for technology to be a supplement to therapy and not a replacement, preserving the in-person interaction that therapy usually provides and (2) the importance of balancing human connection on the web while considering both privacy and safety.

Methods

Overview

We conducted two separate ARC studies on Slack with 10 mental health clinicians (C1-C10, including therapists, primary care, and school counselors), who worked with depressed teens, and 8 teen participants (T1-T8) aged between 15 and 19 years who experienced mild-to-moderate symptoms of depression. We aimed to understand clinicians' and teens' current perceptions, strategies, challenges, and technology use in managing depression (A1) and their design ideas for adapting BA to internet-based platforms that support an ARC approach to intervention (A2). We created separate groups for teens and clinicians to prevent power dynamics between teens and clinicians from influencing each other's answers, creating separate spaces where each group could prioritize their own needs and preferences; thus, each group could communicate comfortably. We started the teen groups 3 weeks after the clinician group so that we could make changes to the activities based on clinicians' feedback and use the teens' time efficiently. Clinicians were recruited through snowball sampling of a network of researchers. To recruit teens, we contacted participants from an earlier study [26] who agreed to be recontacted, posted flyers in clinician participants' clinics with their permission, and used snowball sampling. The study was approved by the Human Subjects Division of the University of Washington.

Participants

In total, 10 clinician participants started the study, with 8 completing all internet-based activities. All clinicians (n=10) were from urban or suburban areas in Seattle and Kent, Washington (Table 1), and 8 had previous experience using BA with teens. We started the study with 8 teenage participants, and 4 teenagers dropped out by week 9. All teen participants identified as female (Table 2) and were from rural, suburban, and urban regions across the United States. A clinician dropped

XSL•FO RenderX

out in week 4 (because of a family emergency) and another dropped out in week 7 (because of difficulties with using the Slack platform; Table 3). The client base and setting of the clinicians included teens and preteens with depression (11-18 years), including school counseling, community clinics, pediatrics, primary care, immigrants, and refugees. The client base and setting of the clinicians included teens and preteens with depression (11-18 years), including school counseling, community clinics, pediatrics, primary care, immigrants, and refugees.

Table 1. Summary of demographic details of clinician participants (n=10).

Demographics	Values
Age (years), mean (range)	39 (31-50)
Gender, n (%)	
Women	7 (70)
Men	3 (30)
Nonbinary	0 (0)
Education level, n (%)	
Graduate education	7 (70)
Professional degree	3 (30)
Race or ethnicity, n (%)	
White	8 (80)
Asian	1 (10)
Hispanic	1 (10)
Household income (US \$), n (%)	
50,000-75,000	4 (40)
100,000-150,000	2 (20)
150,000-200,000	1 (10)
≥200,000	3 (30)
Region, n (%)	
Urban	8 (80)
Suburban	2 (20)
Washington	10 (100)
Experience with evidence-based practice, n (%)	
Cognitive behavioral therapy	8 (80)
Behavioral activation	8 (80)
Mindfulness-based approaches	6 (60)
Dialectical behavior therapy	4 (40)
Interpersonal psychotherapy	3 (30)
Acceptance and commitment therapy	2 (20)
Other	3 (30)


Bhattacharya et al

Table 2. Summary of demographic details of teen participants in study 2 (n=8).

Demographics	Values	
Age (years), mean (range)	17.5 (15-19)	
Gender, n (%)		
Women	8 (100)	
Men	0 (0)	
Nonbinary	0 (0)	
Education level, n (%)		
College education with degree	1 (13)	
Some college education but no degree	2 (25)	
High school	2 (25)	
Less than high school	3 (38)	
Race or ethnicity, n (%)		
White	5 (63)	
Asian	1 (13)	
More than one race	1 (13)	
Did not disclose	1 (13)	
Household income (US \$), n (%)		
35,000-49,000	1 (13)	
75,000-100,000	1 (13)	
150,000-199,000	1 (13)	
≥200,000	2 (25)	
Did not disclose	3 (38)	
Region level, n (%)		
Rural	1 (13)	
Suburban	2 (25)	
Urban	5 (63)	
Washington	5 (63)	
Philadelphia	1 (13)	
Iowa	1 (13)	
New York	1 (13)	
Therapy experience, n (%)		
Received treatment for depression in the past	6 (75)	
In treatment during the study	5 (63)	



Bhattacharya et al

Table 3. Summary of activities on the private Slack group.

Week	Design activity	Purpose and activities	Clinician completion rate (n=10), n (%)	Teen completion rate (n=8), n (%)
1	Introductions	Learning how to use features of SlackGetting to know other participants	10 (100)	7 (88)
2	Technology to manage mood	• Sharing current strategies and technologies that participants have found helpful for their clients (clinicians) and themselves (teens and clinicians)	10 (100)	7 (88)
3	Internet-based mental health sup- port, part 1	 Learning about more features of Slack such as polls with example poll Ideating on benefits and challenges of using the internet-based platform of Slack 	10 (100)	7 (88)
4	Internet-based mental health sup- port, part 2	 Voting polls on preferred features of Slack for internet-based support with mood Voting polls for the format of the internet-based support (eg, group vs individual) and the length of internet-based support 	9 (90)	8 (100)
5	Adapting BA ^a to the web	Psychoeducational video explaining BA	9 (90)	7 (88)
		• Prototype: obtain feedback on a summary of BA activities for 6-week format (Multimedia Appendix 4)		
6	BA Model and ac- tivity monitoring	• Explaining BA model with a video and concepts through slides (Figure 2) and ask participants to give examples from their lives by uploading hand-drawings (Figure 3)	8 (80)	6 (75)
		• Prototype: mock-up of mood and activity monitoring in survey format		
7	Upward and down- ward spiraling of mood; introducing SMART ^b goals	 Providing feedback on upward and downward spiraling of mood and planning SMART goals Prototypes: Survey format for reflecting on upward and downward spirals in mood and action (Figure 4) Survey format for individually planning a SMART goal, ministeps, and setting reminders 	8 (80)	6 (75)
8	SMART goal plan- ning	 Providing feedback on technological adaptations of planning a SMART goal, mini-steps, and setting reminders Prototypes: Mock-up of chatbot format Direct messaging format in which participants pair up with a peer and a researcher moderator. Participants were asked to share SMART goals and provide feedback on each other's goals 	7 (70)	6 (75)
9	Overcoming barriers	 Providing feedback on overcoming barriers to mini-steps and SMART goals. Prototypes: Survey format Chatbot format with prompts to overcome barriers (Figure 5) Direct messaging format by pairing up with a peer from week 8, following up, and sharing barriers 	7 (70)	4 (50)
10	Teaching compo- nents	• Identifying how to deliver teaching components of BA in internet- based formats such as videos and chatbots	7 (70)	4 (50)
11-12	Exit interviews and surveys	• Providing feedback on the method and follow-up questions on depression management	9 (90)	5 (63)

^aBA: behavioral activation.

XSL•FO RenderX

^bSMART: specific, measurable, appealing, realistic, and timebound.

Figure 2. Example of a slide (PDF) of instructions presented to teens to explain the Downward and Upward Spiral Worksheet for behavioral activation.

Downward Spiral, Upward Spiral



Example of an Upward Spiral

- What Happened: I found out I failed my math test
- · How I felt: Ashamed, sad, stupid
- What I did: I asked to have lunch with a friend and talked to them about how I felt
- How I felt: I felt better- we ended up making plans to see a movie that weekend

Seattle Children's/University of Washington

Figure 3. "How behavioral activation (BA) works for me?" Hand-drawn picture from a teen participant explaining how BA would apply to their life circumstances. BA: behavioral activation.





Figure 4. Mock-up for the internet survey-based adaptation of the downward spiral module in behavioral activation.





Bhattacharya et al

Figure 5. Teen and clinician preferences for features of internet-based support. The figure contains the first author's name as an example to protect participants' privacy.



Survey Measures

At the beginning of the study, teens completed the Patient Health Questionnaire-8 (PHQ-8) adolescent scale [27]. Although some teens did not identify with having experienced clinical levels of depression (n=1), all teen participants had mood ratings on the PHQ-8 in the 5 (mild depression) to 14 (moderate depression) range (mean 8.87, SD 3.14). In the poststudy surveys, we asked all teen and clinician participants to complete the acceptability, intervention appropriateness, and feasibility

of intervention measures [28] and user burden scale [29] surveys to determine participant approval of and burden using BA delivered on an internet-based platform.

Internet-Based Group Activities

We conducted 10 weekly activities in the clinician group followed by 10 weekly activities in the teen groups (Table 3; Multimedia Appendix 4), each designed to take 20 minutes to complete. The groups were moderated, and all clinicians and

teen participants selected a pseudonym to use as their username on Slack to protect their privacy.

Poststudy Interviews

To learn about clinician and teen participants' experiences with depression treatment, the ARC method, and further explore ideas for implementing BA via an ARC platform, we conducted 30- to 40-minute exit interviews with 9 clinicians and 5 teens and surveys with participants between June and August 2019. All interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed professionally. The study protocol is provided in Multimedia Appendix 5.

Design of Prototypes of BA Activities

We created low-fidelity prototypes to show how some BA activities might be adapted to an interactive, asynchronous remote platform and showed them to our clinician and teen participants to obtain feedback. Prototypes included low-fidelity paper-based or survey-based mock-ups and screenshots, and the research team could easily incorporate feedback and iterate on the design before investing resources into building the tool (eg, Figures 2-5). For each module in weeks 6 to 10, we posted worksheets from the BA handbook [1] for take-home activities and low-fidelity prototypes of the technological adaptations of these take-home worksheets (Table 3). On the basis of feedback from clinicians, we presented each BA module to the teen groups by using examples on 2-3 slides (Figure 2) to briefly introduce and explain each activity along with the technology mock-ups of the survey or chatbots. All participants were asked to try and review adaptations in the form of surveys, voting polls, group and direct messages on Slack; upload photographs; and critique chatbot mock-ups. We asked participants to provide feedback on the content and format of these activities and their engagement and experiences with these activities.

In week 9, we posted a module to overcome barriers to SMART (specific, measurable, appealing, realistic, and timebound) goals that they planned in week 8. In the first part of this activity, participants were given examples of barriers and suggestions to overcome these barriers. These mock-ups also included survey prompts, a chatbot mock-up, and direct messaging with peers (Figure 4). In week 10, we presented mock-ups of possible teaching formats when delivering modules of BA. These remote teaching formats included animated videos to explain BA modules, teen peers explaining based on their lived experiences, and an interactive format using a chatbot where the respondent can use dialog and voting polls.

Analysis

We calculated the average scores of the PHQ-8 [27] and each question of the acceptability, intervention appropriateness, and feasibility of intervention measures [28] for the clinician group and teen groups, respectively. For the user burden scale [29], we computed the average scores of teens and clinician groups separately across each of the 6 constructs: physical, mental and emotional, time and social, financial, difficulty of use, and privacy. By "making and analyzing thematic connections" [30], 2 researchers inductively analyzed the qualitative data each week from the clinician and teen groups and the interview transcripts by developing codes. Both coders first independently

coded a subset of the data corresponding to the same weeks and discussed codes together to prepare a codebook (Multimedia Appendix 6). Coders then separately coded all the data based on the codebook, reviewed the codes together, discussed and resolved any discrepancies in coding, and wrote memos. We discussed the results with the entire team and used our research aims to guide an affinity diagramming process [31], through which our final two themes emerged.

Ethical Considerations

Important considerations for using ARC with minors include maintaining privacy and confidentiality, ethical handling of adverse event disclosures on the web (such as suicidality, abuse, or harassment), and the possibility of distress for others in a group setting. We obtained the emergency contact information of an adult from all teen participants and informed the teens that this person would be contacted if they disclosed medical emergencies or concerns of harm to self or another. With the consent forms, we asked the participants to review group guidelines and pinned them on the Slack group. We explicitly stated on the consent form, group guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 1), and the first day of activities that we were not professional counselors but were willing to listen to grievances and provide them with 24-7 helpline numbers such as Teen Link and the National Suicide Prevention helplines to reach out to professionals. We had protocols for internet-based disclosures of adverse events (Multimedia Appendix 2) and child abuse (Multimedia Appendix 3) in place for the research team. Teens were informed that they could expect a response within 1 business day if they contacted the moderator with questions or concerns. Both the clinician and teen groups were monitored by a moderator who could contact a licensed psychologist with doctoral-level training in child clinical psychology (Jessica Jenness, PhD) if any safety or emergency concerns arose. Moderators read all the posts, monitored for safety concerns and emotional distress, and reached via email or Slack private message in case of concern. No immediate risks of physical harm or abuse were disclosed during the study (Multimedia Appendices 1-3).

Results

Overview

At the beginning of the study, teens and clinicians were asked about their preference for a short (4-6 weeks) or long format (12 weeks) of BA. Most teens and clinicians voted for the short format, so we tailored our design activities to a short BA format. We observed that teen participants started dropping out around week 5. The 5 teens who completed 9-10 activities and were interviewed at the end of the study said they wanted the long format to familiarize themselves with, learn, and practice BA strategies. In the following sections, we explain three themes that emerged from our analysis of the needs of teens and clinicians for internet-based support in managing mood and depression (A1): (1) balancing the need to augment human connections and asynchronous BA support and (2) the need for boundaries around asynchronous internet-based support.

XSL•FO

Balancing Needs for Asynchronous BA Support and Augmenting Human Connection

When presented with the idea of including an automated chatbot application on the internet-based platform, both teen and clinician participants perceived the chatbot's role as an interactive platform for learning, self-reflection, supplementing resources when therapists are not available, and supporting treatment planning. Interactive asynchronous activities included engaging with psychoeducational videos, tracking mood and activity, self-reflection, planning, and check-ins.

Interactive Learning

We presented mock-ups of internet-based surveys and chatbots as self-help technological adaptations of homework activities for BA. Clinicians expressed the need to include interactive, culturally, and generationally relevant features (such as images in the graphics interchange format and emoticons) to increase engagement with teens. Both teen and clinician participants appreciated the use of chatbots and their potential for responsiveness and interactivity, step-by-step guidance, availability at all times, ability to store and post lists of relevant information, and added explanations and reinforced motivation. Clinicians also perceived that teens would find it engaging and "be into it" [C8, clinician]. Clinicians brainstormed how a chatbot could provide additional information to support teens that clinicians might miss or not have time to discuss during short appointments.

Support Self-reflection

Teens found the private internet-based survey format to be simple, clear, and helpful in illustrating BA concepts by applying written examples from their own context. They explained that the prompts in the activity on upward and downward spiraling of mood (*what happened, how did you feel, what did you do,* and *how did that make you feel*) helped structure their thoughts and helped them reflect. They also found it to be a good balance between journaling both positive and negative effects of an action on mood. Two teens also found it helpful that the BA prompts forced them to write about and focus on a specific situation:

I think sometimes I can get overwhelmed with emotion in situations, and it really helps to take a breath and think, what triggered me? How did I feel? And how can I avoid feeling this way in the future? Writing out "I felt sad, mad and overwhelmed" really helps me process the emotions I felt! [T4]

Clinicians highlighted that there should be some way for teens to record how they were feeling or their mood at a specific time and then get prompted to do something that could possibly *help them in-the-moment* to alleviate symptoms.

Planning Support

Planning and executing SMART goals are a crucial aspect of the BA. To learn about SMART goals and have an option where teens could interact with other teens, a moderator created four small chat groups with herself and 2 randomly paired teen peers on direct message. We asked each teen in the pair to share a SMART goal, provide feedback on the other's goal, share

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20969

mini-steps to attain that goal, and set reminders for mini-steps on Slack or their phones; 2 teen pairs completed this activity:

Thanks! My smart goal is to write five thank you cards to teachers by the end of next week. [T2]

Hi @T2! My smart goal is to clean up my room over the weekend. I think your goal is Very smart! It's specific (writing cards), measurable (5 cards), appealing, realistic and timebound (by the end of the week), good job :two_hearts: [T4]

That sounds good! And thanks so much!! I like ur goal but my one question is how will you know when you are done/how can you measure your progress? [T2]

Ooo that's a good question actually...I'll know I'm done when the entryway is cleared and everything in that area is sorted and put back! [T4]

Sweet! Very smart :)) [T2]

In the other two groups, a teen posted their SMART goals, and the other teen did not respond. When asked to post about barriers to attaining that goal in the next week's activity on direct message, only one pair of teens completed the activity. Although we sought to foster connection and accountability, such a lack of interaction can be counterproductive for this vulnerable population. During interviews, teens speculated that this problem might be addressed if we could add more activities in the beginning for teens to get to know each other. When asked if they would prefer smaller groups, teens preferred having 4-5 peers in each group so as not to be overwhelming and still enough social capital if some were not participating. During interviews, a teen explained that the SMART goals she and her partner selected were trivial, and it would be more beneficial if they could select more appropriate goals that would benefit their mood. As they could not tell if the partner accomplished the goal other than through self-report, she said it did not help hold herself accountable. Another teen explained that they liked to work independently. Therefore, it is important to preserve a space where teens can practice and learn on their own. A clinician suggested adding digital rewards in the self-help mode if they indicated completing the mini-steps:

I like the chatbot mockup -- I would have it programmed so that with each mini step completion they get some kind-of visual reward like fireworks or a giphy if they complete all of their steps. Even if they do not, there could be some kind of visual message like you got this! [C5]

Clinicians also thought that they might want to offload reminders to a chatbot, automating the process of reminding teens to complete assigned materials or activities.

Augmenting Human Connection

Most teen and clinician participants did not prefer an entirely remote-only format and wanted to increase access to human-human support for mental health. They critiqued the chatbot format, perceiving that it could be impersonal and increase isolation compared with formats that develop human connections. In addition, 3 teens mentioned that chatbots could get repetitive; thus, it would be easy to ignore notifications:

Being in the States I often feel isolated since people value independence and not bothering others. Yet, the way to make relationships is actually through asking for help. If the robot [chatbot] or on-line discussions are made available, it seems to be reinforcing the isolation. [C6]

In total, 5 clinicians and 6 teens wanted one-on-one internet-based support in addition to in-person therapy (Figure 6 and Figure 7). Teens explained that they wanted to preserve the face-to-face therapy format but felt the burden of time, transportation, cost, and frequency of weekly therapy visits. They said they would prefer internet-based video chats or phone calls to connect with therapists rather than replacing in-person therapy entirely with asynchronous chat:

I think my challenges would be feeling lonely with a lack of human connection (especially in talking to a chat bot). I would be willing to try it, but I believe I might begin to feel isolated if the only thing that I can talk to/will listen is a programmed robot. [T5]

A total of 6 teens preferred a group support format on the web in addition to one-on-one therapy. At the end of the study, teens mentioned that learning strategies from each other and building off each other's ideas were helpful for the Slack group. When asked what they were looking for in peer support, they elaborated—empathy, a platform to share struggles and be *heard* by a human, benefits in the ability to express themselves in writing or talking out loud, and relating to shared experiences of a peer who is going through similar difficulties: Social media shows the highlights and the best moments and it's hard to remember that nobody's life is perfect. Having a platform where you can discuss your problems and give advice is refreshing. [T6]

Clinicians also highlighted the need for an internet-based platform where their teen clients can interact with peers (who have similar struggles and cultural backgrounds) who may be difficult to access offline. A school counselor, who worked with teens that were primarily immigrants and not fluent in English, requested different languages to deliver the treatment and connect the minority population with similar peers on the web:

For example, if I'm seeing an Arabic speaking kid, if there is an Arabic speaking group online, I think it would be really helpful to have an additional group where he can connect with other people in their own native language. There's psychoeducation, there's a little learning, there's encouragement from his peers. I think it's great, because I think in a way it probably will help connect with people, he's not able to connect with in our school because there is not enough people in counseling, or open to counseling who also speak Arabic. [C6]

Thus, participants emphasized the need to augment human interactions by increasing therapist-teen interactions and peer interactions using an internet-based platform.

Figure 6. Preferences for the format of the internet-based delivery of behavioral activation (individuals could select more than 1). The values represent the number of teens and clinicians who voted for the respective formats. Trend lines connecting them illustrate the similarities in preferences of clinicians and teens.

Format preferred by clinicians (n=10)		For	Format preferred by teens (n=8)	
Online technology support, between weekly in-person group sessions	7 ———	6	Online technology support, between weekly in-person group sessions	
Online one-on-one between weekly in- person individual sessions	6	6	Online one-on-one between weekly in- person one-on-one therapy sessions with clinicians	
Group therapy mostly remotely (alternative to in-person therapy) moderated by a professional	2	— 1	Group therapy mostly remotely (alternative to in-person therapy) moderated by a professional	
One-on-one therapy mostly online (alternative to in-person therapy)	1	— 1	One-on-one therapy mostly online (alternative to in-person therapy)	



Figure 7. Teen and clinician preferences for features of internet-based support. The values represent the number of teens and clinicians who voted for the respective features. The lines facilitate the comparison of the rankings of preferences among clinicians and teens.

7

Features preferred by clinicians (n=10)



Posting psychoeducational and training modules using videos

Sending automated reminders for therapy homework and appointments

Tracking mood, questionnaire responses, and viewing mood over time

Tracking and personalized coaching support with sleep and other lifestyle changes (e.g., physical or social activity)

Always-available bot for in-the-moment coping strategies (including redirecting to crisis helplines) and problem solving

Using photos or videos for journaling or tracking mood or lifestyle for discussion at therapy sessions

Homework delivery on the platform such as a document plugin

Always-available bot for venting and validation (i.e., place to express feelings/thoughts without judgment)

Space for open-ended peer support and conversation (in group therapy format)

Need for Boundaries Around Asynchronous Internet-Based Support

The concerns of clinicians and teens using Slack during our study centered on the need for boundaries around privacy, safety during a crisis, and time burden on clinicians because of asynchronous access. They anticipated these concerns when using an internet-based platform for delivering mental health therapy.

Privacy

RenderX

In our study, teens wanted to remain anonymous in the group and did not want to share identifying information such as real names, email addresses, or phone numbers. We asked all participants at the start of this study to deidentify (such as removing names and blur pictures) or not share any identifiable information about themselves and to not share information about others outside the group, even if they knew the participant in person. During the interviews, all teens expressed that these guidelines helped reduce their concerns regarding sharing in the group. However, 2 teens expressed concerns about their data

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20969
```



Features preferred by teens (n=8)

- Tracking mood, questionnaire responses, and viewing mood over time
- Space for open-ended peer support and conversation (in group therapy format)
- Tracking and personalized coaching support with sleep and other lifestyle changes (e.g., physical or social activity)
- 5 Getting automated reminders for therapy homework and appointments
- Always-available bot for in-the-moment coping strategies (including redirecting to crisis helplines and problem solving)
- Always-available bot for venting and validation (i.e., place to express feelings/thoughts without judgment)

 Digital repository of Therapistrecommended apps and resources that can be updated

- Posting psychoeducational and training modules using videos
- Using photos or videos for journaling or tracking mood or lifestyle for discussion at therapy sessions
- Homework delivery on the platform such as a document plugin

being shared with people who were not a part of the group. These invisible audiences included a parent potentially finding and reading information on the group and the web company's policy around sharing data with a third party:

Some parents might be more intrusive—or I feel like that could be a problem for some people who might be concerned that their parents would go and—if it was text-based, go see what they've been saying and stuff like that. [T1]

Oh my God, yes, a thousand [privacy] concerns. I think that is really hard to trust online services to not sell your data. And I'm with therapy, sometimes it's super confidential. So I think that it's different from person to person—my concerns would be about tech companies sharing my data. [T2]

In contrast to this preference for *external* privacy, some teenagers felt a lack of reciprocal interactions between peers *within* the group. Teens attributed this to the inability to know other teens in the group on a *personal level*, that is, sharing their interests and values while remaining anonymous. Although it

was attributed to the lack of personal connection, Slack not being a part of the teens' regular social media use could have also contributed to this less frequent interaction.

Although participants took measures to remain anonymous, Slack did not offer end-to-end encryption or Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) protection for personal health data shared on the platform. Clinicians have brought this up as a major issue. They explained that if such a platform were to be adopted by their clinical institution in the future, it had to be HIPAA compliant.

Safety

The second major concern discussed by both teen and clinician participants was the physical and emotional safety of teens on the internet-based platform. As the discussion format is asynchronous, the current internet-based group is *available* or accessible by teens at all times. Clinician participants were concerned about unnoticed posts at nonworking hours that need urgent attention, such as indicating suicidality or self-harm. They were also concerned about secondary exposure to distress and sharing and learning unhealthy or maladaptive coping behaviors in a peer group format:

Issues around teens messaging a therapist when a therapist isn't available to respond—like if the teen posts at 2am that they are feeling suicidal and nobody sees it until the next day. [C3]

I would be concerned about how teens' interactions would be monitored/shaped in an anonymous group -I would want to think more about safety concerns (e.g., suicidality) and how to communicate about this in a timely, safe, and not overly reactive manner. [C4]

Some clinicians wanted the chatbot to be programmed to identify words related to crises such as suicidality and alert a human who can help or provide a list of resources to the teen.

Teens brought up similar concerns of being triggered by others' difficult experiences and not being able to share or minimize their struggles if they felt their experience was not as difficult as someone else's in the group:

The problems may be that hearing about others' problems more regularly thanks to the openness and limitless-ness of a chat format could have an effect on one's own mental health, especially if the chat ends up just being a place to rant and only has negative thoughts filling it up, instead of any productive or supportive conversation. [T1]

One challenge/problem is that people who have mood disorders/depression might exacerbate someone else's hardships if they're having a bad time. For instance, if John is really depressed and talks about his problems at home, Joe might not feel like he can talk about his own problems because they aren't as "bad" as John's. [T3]

Clinicians felt a need to always be available on the web for safety reasons, which would be prohibitive for their workload. They explained the concerns and needs for setting boundaries and expectations around receiving and responding to crisis messages and reviewing homework submitted on the web:

I would also be concerned that clients would be reliant on immediate responses from me. As they do with most social media. Would have to coach them on their expectations. [C2]

Clinicians expressed concerns about how they would be compensated for the time spent on the web and reviewing homework. Some clinicians believed that they would have difficulty teaching content on an internet-based platform in an effective manner. They also mentioned that more monitoring or moderating of the group might take more time, possibly with an extra cost. Clinicians acknowledged the potential benefits of the internet-based platform for delivering treatment via an ARC format, and they wanted the treatment to be as effective with less added burden on them:

A challenge that hasn't been discussed here is billing. I know it's a little unsavory to bring up, but if there are features of this system that require monitoring by a professional, then this seems like non-billable time, which in our current healthcare system is difficult to find. [C1]

Overall, participants indicated a low burden and high adaptability of the internet-based intervention. The poststudy survey was completed by 9 clinicians and 5 teenagers. On the user burden scale (1: not at all burdensome; 4: very burdensome) [29], participants scored an average of 1.36 (clinicians) and 0.7 (teens) on difficulty of using Slack, 0.4 (clinicians) and 0.5 (teens) on mental and emotional burden, 0.4 (both) on privacy burden, and 0-0.1 on all other types of burden. The interview data also reflected that the teens found no or less difficulty using Slack compared with clinicians. A teen expressed privacy concerns about how Slack shared her data. Other teens had no concerns about privacy, and all felt comfortable sharing in the group when anonymous. The clinicians talked about issues with privacy related to HIPAA, but their score on the privacy burden was low. The average scores on the acceptability, intervention appropriateness, and feasibility of intervention measures of the intervention (1: not at all; 5: very much) [28] averaged between 3.5 and 4.8, indicating high perceptions of adaptability.

Discussion

Summary of Results

The key findings of this study included the need for (1) augmenting human connection in therapy and (2) establishing boundaries around asynchronous communication for the safety and privacy of participants. Teens and clinicians both preferred the use of an internet-based platform for psychoeducation, homework activities, check-ins, reminders, and self-reflection between one-on-one therapy sessions. Both groups preferred that it not be a technology-only intervention and wanted the platform to connect teens with a therapist or peers.

Chatbots and Other Interactive Tools in Augmenting Mental Health Therapies

Clinicians recommended increasing the *human-like* conversation style of the chatbot to connect with and engage teens. However, teens did not want a chatbot to replace or emulate a human but envisioned its function as an interactive tool that scaffolded self-reflection. This is a promising approach. Research in other settings has shown that such people may prefer chatbots to questionnaires and that they may lead to greater engagement and more reliable and higher quality responses than questionnaires [32]. Conversational agents can also support reflection and self-learning in the workplace [33] or around physical activity goals [34].

However, their use is not challenging. Chatbots can fail to handle or escalate errors in the wild; people can perceive bots' human-like responses as irrelevant or eerie (also known as *the uncanny valley*), and not everyone prefers to interact with a system that emulates human behaviors [35-37].

Researchers and designers must also consider what expectations might be set by a human-like agent and whether the chatbot is up to meet those expectations before using it to offload or augment human labor. As personal safety of disclosure of suicidal content was a major concern for clinicians, they considered a task-focused bot [35] would be appropriate to flag crisis posts 24-7 and escalate it to a human clinical expert. However, any such bot would need to be extensively tested before being relied upon for such a role. It would need to be regularly re-evaluated to ensure it was staying ahead of any changes in the use of language throughout time. Such an evaluation would need to be robust across different demographic groups, with particular attention to historically marginalized groups, to mitigate bias in existing data sets. Both teens and clinicians preferred chatbots in the role of intelligent assistants [35] to send and receive reminders and check-ins. Some teens expressed concerns about potential exposure to their peers' distress, but neither teens nor clinicians wanted a chatbot to fulfill the roles of a virtual companion [35].

Considerations for Platforms to Deliver Technology Support in Interventions

Previous research has identified the feasibility of using internet-based platforms to support BA treatment with teens [12] alongside the need for mobile platforms to support varying usage times and patterns of tracking BA activity [20]. We addressed these needs by obtaining formative feedback from teens and clinicians on the design of an asynchronous, modular, and weekly approach to delivering multiple BA intervention components while enabling access and flexibility for teens in tracking, planning, and reflecting on their activities and mood in situ. On the basis of the lessons from this study, we reflected on the aspects of the internet-based platform, procedures used by researchers, and the format of integrating internet-based interventions with traditional therapy that needs to be considered future internet-based mental health when designing interventions.

Reflecting on our study procedures and the use of an internet-based platform that supports an ARC approach, changes to the structure and facilitation of the internet-based group may help balance the need for human connection with safety in a peer group format. These changes include limiting the time of access to the group, an always-visible and easy-to-reach helpline button, distributed moderation, good moderation policies and communication of those policies, and/or automated in-the-moment crisis support. When deciding on a platform for ARC to deliver mental health interventions, we list the requirements for consideration by administrators or moderators (Textbox 1). Although Slack was a helpful tool, researchers might consider alternatives such as Microsoft Teams (HIPAA compliant but not anonymous), Discord (supports anonymity) [38], Group Me, or a custom-built internet-based platform, which can still allow the option to be anonymous on the group while being intuitive, familiar to teens, and able to organize and present content. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the ARC method is a safe and accessible method for human-computer interaction and clinical research.



Bhattacharya et al

Textbox 1. Important requirements from internet-based platforms and moderators or admins for asynchronous remote mental health interventions.

Support and limitations of internet-based platforms

- Access
 - Users should be able to access the platform on both computers and mobile phones to be able to use it in their context (eg, at school, at home, or between work). Having both a browser option and an app option helped participants who did not want to install anything.
 - There is no additional cost for installation.
- Privacy: anonymity
 - Users should be able to use pseudonyms when signing up.
 - Administrators should have the option to hide emails and other personal identifiers on the internet-based platform.
- Privacy: health care
 - Trying to attain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) compliance would be the gold standard.
 - If HIPAA compliance is not possible, make sure that teens are anonymous, are not interacting with clinicians, and are in separate groups in a study.
 - Consider the scalability of using the platform in the real world with clinics
- Safety
 - Internet-based platforms should allow pinned posts with 24-hour helpline numbers for crisis support to be accessible at all times.
 - Participants should be able to access moderators via direct messaging. Need clear affordances for group participants to contact moderators and helplines
 - Set expectations about moderator hours and response times (eg, expect a response within 24 hours on weekdays)
 - Have access to clinician researchers or clinical support (eg, partnering with a local clinic) on a group and have adverse events protocols in place for crisis response
 - Moderators can be supported with Chatbots to help them filter adverse events and alert them on urgent issues.
- Group norms
 - The internet-based platform should have affordances such as pinned posts or sidebars with *always-accessible* group expectations, guidelines, and norms.
- Creating apps and bots
 - Internet-based platforms should have a public application programming interface (API) to create and add bots and apps.
- Exporting data
 - API of the internet-based platform should allow exporting data
- Content organization and navigation
 - For unfamiliar platforms, moderators need to add tutorial videos and organize content so that people who join in late or miss certain weeks can trace it back and respond. Potential workarounds include the following:
 - Each week's activity can be on a separate channel or group.
 - Screen record tutorial videos and talk through functionalities such as threads, channels, and formatting

The internet-based asynchronous group format introduces *a moderation burden*, both in terms of time and effort related to monitoring for crisis support and adverse events. This was a concern for most clinicians and was also prevalent in volunteer-moderated internet-based groups [39]. To support participants in reaching moderators efficiently, the platform must have clear, discoverable methods for teens to connect with individuals moderating a group. Chatbots can also be designed to assist moderators by flagging content that needs to be reviewed by moderators and respond urgently.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20969

Conclusions and Future Work

Our study supported gaining in-depth feedback from a small number of participants for 10 weeks, including feedback on low-fidelity prototypes. Our findings should be interpreted in this context, including its limitations. Specifically, we recruited teens with mild-to-moderate depression and who had experience with therapy. This may have biased our results toward a positive attitude toward therapy compared with teens who may have issues with accessing therapy or who prefer self-support. In total, 2 clinicians and 4 teens eventually dropped out of the

study by week 9; thus, we also do not know if those participants would have expressed different preferences in the activities they did not experience. Although participant perceptions about these mock-ups and their experiences indicate design needs and promising directions, future work should implement and evaluate these studies to assess whether and how they work in everyday practice and identify further opportunities to iterate on the design concepts presented here.

In our study, both teens and clinicians wanted to leverage the advantages of increased access to mental health care through an internet-based platform that supports an ARC approach to intervention delivery. The ARC model can act either as a supplement to face-to-face or telehealth-delivered therapy by allowing adolescents to stay engaged between visits or as a way of exclusively delivering therapeutic strategies, which can help increase the reach and access of EBPIs. We believe that the use of ARCs can be extended to other EBPIs beyond BA, although this remains to be evaluated in future work. Different care models may lend themselves particularly well to the integration of the ARC format for treatment delivery with traditional therapy, including stepped care [40], supplemented traditional

care, and after-treatment care. For example, supplemented traditional care could include conducting weekly internet-based modules on a platform such as Slack during traditional therapy to decrease the number of in-person treatment sessions and support teens in their therapy goals, help with homework completion, and answer questions between in-person sessions.

Through our work, we highlight the need to integrate and support human infrastructure and digital technologies for teenage mental health. By following a human-centered co-design process with adolescents and clinicians, we have designed a delivery approach to directly engage with stakeholders and ensure that the design is well-grounded in the needs and constraints of those who will benefit from its use. By involving teens and clinicians early in the design process and presenting an empirical understanding of their needs, we hope to reduce the gap in navigating design tensions in internet-based and accessible mental health care. With the increase in mental health difficulties and the need to adapt research methods to remote format during COVID-19 quarantine, the ARC method has been useful in reaching a population of interest with minimal burden to both researchers and participants.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all participants and are also grateful for constructive discussions with colleagues at the University of Washington. This work was funded by the University of Washington Advanced Laboratories for Accelerating the Reach and Impact of Treatments for Youth and Adults with Mental Illness (ALACRITY) Center under National Institute of Mental Health award number 1P50MH115837. This project was supported by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under award number UL1 TR002319. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of funding agencies.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Internet-based group guidelines. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 171 KB - formative v5i7e20969 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Adverse events protocol. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 276 KB - formative_v5i7e20969_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Protocol for reported child abuse. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 289 KB - formative_v5i7e20969_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Summary of behavioral activation sessions. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 135 KB - formative v5i7e20969 app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Study protocols. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 308 KB - formative_v5i7e20969_app5.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Codebook.

RenderX

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20969

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 110 KB - formative_v5i7e20969_app6.pdf]

References

- Results from the 2015 national survey on drug use and health: detailed tables. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHA). 2016. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/</u> NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015.pdf [accessed 2021-06-22]
- Avenevoli S, Swendsen J, He J, Burstein M, Merikangas KR. Major depression in the national comorbidity survey-adolescent supplement: prevalence, correlates, and treatment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2015 Jan;54(1):37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2014.10.010] [Medline: 25524788]
- 3. Keenan-Miller D, Hammen CL, Brennan PA. Health outcomes related to early adolescent depression. J Adolesc Health 2007 Sep;41(3):256-262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.03.015] [Medline: 17707295]
- 4. Lewinsohn PM, Pettit JW, Joiner TE, Seeley JR. The symptomatic expression of major depressive disorder in adolescents and young adults. J Abnorm Psychol 2003 May;112(2):244-252. [doi: 10.1037/0021-843x.112.2.244] [Medline: 12784834]
- 5. Thapar A, Collishaw S, Pine DS, Thapar AK. Depression in adolescence. Lancet 2012 Mar;379(9820):1056-1067. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60871-4]
- 6. Olfson M, Shaffer D, Marcus SC, Greenberg T. Relationship between antidepressant medication treatment and suicide in adolescents. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003 Oct 01;60(10):978-982. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpsyc.60.9.978</u>] [Medline: <u>14557142</u>]
- Madden M, Lenhart A, Duggan M, Cortesi S, Gasser U. Teens and technology 2013. Pew Internet & American Life Project. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/03/13/teens-and-technology-2013/</u> [accessed 2021-06-23]
- MacLeod H, Jelen B, Prabhakar A, Oehlberg L, Siek K, Connelly K. Asynchronous remote communities (ARC) for researching distributed populations. In: Proceedings of the 10th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2016 Presented at: 10th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; May 16–19, 2016; Cancun, Mexico. [doi: <u>10.4108/eai.16-5-2016.2263322</u>]
- 9. Dimidjian S, Hollon SD, Dobson KS, Schmaling KB, Kohlenberg RJ, Addis ME, et al. Randomized trial of behavioral activation, cognitive therapy, and antidepressant medication in the acute treatment of adults with major depression. J Consult Clin Psychol 2006;74(4):658-670. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.74.4.658]
- 10. McCauley E, Schloredt K, Gudmundsen G, Martell C, Dimidjian S. Behavioral Activation with Adolescents: A Clinician's Guide. New York, United States: Guilford Press; 2016:1-226.
- McCauley E, Gudmundsen G, Schloredt K, Martell C, Rhew I, Hubley S, et al. The adolescent behavioral activation program: adapting behavioral activation as a treatment for depression in adolescence. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2016 Jan 20;45(3):291-304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15374416.2014.979933] [Medline: 25602170]
- 12. Davidson TM, Yuen EK, Felton JW, McCauley J, Gros KS, Ruggiero KJ. Feasibility assessment of a brief, web-based behavioral activation intervention for adolescents with depressed mood. Int J Psychiatry Med 2014 Oct 29;48(1):69-82. [doi: 10.2190/pm.48.1.f]
- 13. Fitzpatrick KK, Darcy A, Vierhile M. Delivering cognitive behavior therapy to young adults with symptoms of depression and anxiety using a fully automated conversational agent (Woebot): a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Jun 06;4(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7785] [Medline: 28588005]
- Tindall L, Mikocka-Walus A, McMillan D, Wright B, Hewitt C, Gascoyne S. Is behavioural activation effective in the treatment of depression in young people? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychol Psychother 2017 Dec 16;90(4):770-796 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/papt.12121] [Medline: 28299896]
- 15. Boyd D. Why youth heart social network sites: the role of networked publics in teenage social life. In: Berkman Klein Center for Internet & Society at Harvard University Research Publication No. 2007-16. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2007.
- 16. Park BK, Calamaro C. A systematic review of social networking sites: innovative platforms for health research targeting adolescents and young adults. J Nurs Scholarsh 2013 Sep 15;45(3):256-264. [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12032] [Medline: 23676115]
- Slovák P, Rowan K, Frauenberger C, Gilad-Bachrach R, Doces M, Smith B, et al. Scaffolding the scaffolding: supporting children's social-emotional learning at home. In: Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing. 2016 Presented at: CSCW '16: Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing; February 27-March 2, 2016; San Francisco, California, USA p. 1751-1765. [doi: 10.1145/2818048.2820007]
- Slovák P, Theofanopoulou N, Cecchet A, Cottrell P, Bertran FA, Dagan E, et al. "I just let him cry...: Designing socio-technical interventions in families to prevent mental health disorders. In: Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction. 2018 Nov Presented at: ACM on Human-Computer Interaction; November 2018; Montreal QC, Canada p. 1-34. [doi: 10.1145/3274429]
- Rose E, Björling E. Designing for engagement: using participatory design to develop a social robot to measure teen stress. In: Proceedings of the 35th ACM International Conference on the Design of Communication. 2017 Presented at: SIGDOC '17: The 35th ACM International Conference on the Design of Communication; August 11-13, 2017; Halifax Nova Scotia Canada. [doi: <u>10.1145/3121113.3121212</u>]
- 20. Rohani D, Tuxen N, Lopategui A, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Kessing L, Bardram J. Personalizing mental health: a feasibility study of a mobile behavioral activation tool for depressed patients. In: Proceedings of the 13th EAI International Conference

on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2019 Presented at: PervasiveHealth'19: The 13th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; May 20-23, 2019; Trento Italy p. 282-291. [doi: 10.1145/3329189.3329214]

- 21. Poole E, Peyton T. Interaction design research with adolescents: methodological challenges and best practices. In: Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children. 2013 Presented at: IDC '13: Interaction Design and Children 2013; June 24-27, 2013; New York USA p. 211-217. [doi: 10.1145/2485760.2485766]
- 22. Maestre J, MacLeod H, Connelly C, Dunbar J, Beck J, Siek K, et al. Defining through expansion: conducting asynchronous remote communities (ARC) research with stigmatized groups. In: Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2018 Presented at: CHI '18: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 21-26, 2018; Montreal QC Canada p. 1-13. [doi: 10.1145/3173574.3174131]
- 23. Prabhakar A, Guerra-Reyes L, Kleinschmidt V, Jelen B, MacLeod H, Connelly K, et al. Investigating the suitability of the asynchronous, remote, community-based method for pregnant and new mothers. In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2017 Presented at: CHI '17: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 6-11, 2017; Denver Colorado USA p. 4924-4934. [doi: 10.1145/3025453.3025546]
- 24. Sharkey S, Jones R, Smithson J, Hewis E, Emmens T, Ford T, et al. Ethical practice in internet research involving vulnerable people: lessons from a self-harm discussion forum study (SharpTalk). J Med Ethics 2011 Dec 24;37(12):752-758. [doi: 10.1136/medethics-2011-100080] [Medline: 21947802]
- 25. Thrul J, Ramo DE. Cessation strategies young adult smokers use after participating in a Facebook intervention. Subst Use Misuse 2017 Jan 28;52(2):259-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10826084.2016.1223690] [Medline: 27759475]
- 26. Bhattacharya A, Liang C, Zeng E, Shukla K, Wong M, Munson S, et al. Engaging teenagers in asynchronous online groups to design for stress management. In: Proceedings of the 18th ACM International Conference on Interaction Design and Children. 2019 Presented at: IDC '19: Interaction Design and Children; June 12-15, 2019; Boise ID USA p. 26-37. [doi: 10.1145/3311927.3323140]
- 27. Richardson LP, McCauley E, Grossman DC, McCarty CA, Richards J, Russo JE, et al. Evaluation of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 Item for detecting major depression among adolescents. Pediatrics 2010 Dec 01;126(6):1117-1123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-0852] [Medline: 21041282]
- Weiner BJ, Lewis CC, Stanick C, Powell BJ, Dorsey CN, Clary AS, et al. Psychometric assessment of three newly developed implementation outcome measures. Implement Sci 2017 Aug 29;12(1):108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0635-3] [Medline: 28851459]
- 29. Suh H, Shahriaree N, Hekler E, Kientz J. Developing and validating the user burden scale: a tool for assessing user burden in computing systems. In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2016 Presented at: CHI'16: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 7-12, 2016; San Jose California USA p. 3988-3999. [doi: 10.1145/2858036.2858448]
- 30. Seidman I. Interviewing as Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in Education and the Social Sciences. New York, United States: Teachers' College Press; 2006:1-176.
- 31. Holtzblatt K, Wendell J, Wood S. Rapid contextual design: a how-to guide to key techniques for user-centered design. Ubiquity 2005 Mar;2005(March):3. [doi: 10.1145/1066348.1066325]
- 32. Celino I, Re Calegari G. Submitting surveys via a conversational interface: an evaluation of user acceptance and approach effectiveness. Int J Hum Comput 2020 Jul;139:102410. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2020.102410]
- 33. Kocielnik R, Avrahami D, Marlow J, Lu D, Hsieh G. Designing for workplace reflection: a chat and voice-based conversational agent. In: Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference. 2018 Presented at: DIS '18: Designing Interactive Systems Conference 2018; June 9-13, 2018; Hong Kong China p. 881-894. [doi: 10.1145/3196709.3196784]
- Kocielnik R, Xiao L, Avrahami D, Hsieh G. Reflection companion: a conversational system for engaging users in reflection on physical activity. In: Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies. 2018 Jul 05 Presented at: ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies; June 2018; New York, NY, USA p. 1-26. [doi: 10.1145/3214273]
- 35. Grudin J, Jacques R. Chatbots, humbots, and the quest for artificial general intelligence. In: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2019 Presented at: CHI '19: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 4-9, 2019; Glasgow Scotland UK p. 1-11. [doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300439]
- Jain M, Kumar P, Kota R, Patel S. Evaluating and informing the design of chatbots. In: Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference. 2018 Presented at: DIS '18: Designing Interactive Systems Conference 2018; June 9-3, 2018; Hong Kong China p. 895-906. [doi: 10.1145/3196709.3196735]
- Skjuve M, Haugstveit IM, Følstad A, Brandtzaeg PB. Help! Is my chatbot falling into the uncanny valley? An empirical study of user experience in human-chatbot interaction. Hum Technol 2019 Feb 28:30-54. [doi: 10.17011/ht/urn.201902201607]
- 38. Liang CA, Albertson K, Williams F, Inwards-Breland D, Munson SA, Kientz JA, et al. Designing an online sex education resource for gender-diverse youth. In: Proceedings of the Interaction Design and Children Conference. 2020 Presented at:

IDC '20: Interaction Design and Children; June 21-24, 2020; London United Kingdom p. 108-120. [doi: 10.1145/3392063.3394404]

- 39. Seering J, Wang T, Yoon J, Kaufman G. Moderator engagement and community development in the age of algorithms. New Media Soc 2019 Jan 11;21(7):1417-1443. [doi: 10.1177/1461444818821316]
- 40. van Straten A, Hill J, Richards DA, Cuijpers P. Stepped care treatment delivery for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2014 Mar 26;45(2):231-246. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291714000701]

Abbreviations

ARC: asynchronous remote community
BA: behavioral activation
EBPI: evidence-based psychosocial intervention
HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
PHQ-8: Patient Health Questionnaire-8
SMART: specific, measurable, appealing, realistic, and timebound

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.07.20; peer-reviewed by N Shen, X Huang; comments to author 27.11.20; revised version received 28.02.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 13.07.21. Please cite as:

Bhattacharya A, Nagar R, Jenness J, Munson SA, Kientz JA Designing Asynchronous Remote Support for Behavioral Activation in Teenagers With Depression: Formative Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e20969 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e20969 doi:10.2196/20969 PMID:34255665

©Arpita Bhattacharya, Ria Nagar, Jessica Jenness, Sean A Munson, Julie A Kientz. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 13.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Medication Adherence Reminder System for Virtual Home Assistants: Mixed Methods Evaluation Study

Cynthia F Corbett^{1,2}, PhD, RN, FAAN; Elizabeth M Combs^{1,2}, BA, MA; Peyton S Chandarana^{2,3}, BSE; Isabel Stringfellow^{2,4,5}; Karen Worthy¹, MPH, PhD, RN, CNE; Thien Nguyen^{1,2}, BSN; Pamela J Wright^{1,2}, MEd, MS, RN, CEN; Jason M O'Kane^{2,3}, PhD

¹College of Nursing, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

³College of Engineering and Computing, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

⁴Arnold School of Public Health, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

⁵South Carolina Honors College, Columbia, SC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Cynthia F Corbett, PhD, RN, FAAN College of Nursing University of South Carolina 1601 Greene St Columbia, SC, 29208 United States Phone: 1 8035766275 Email: corbett@sc.edu

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://formative.jmir.org/2022/1/e36381

Abstract

Background: Medication nonadherence is a global public health challenge that results in suboptimal health outcomes and increases health care costs. Forgetting to take medicines is one of the most common reasons for unintentional medication nonadherence. Research findings indicate that voice-activated virtual home assistants, such as Amazon Echo and Google Home devices, may be useful in promoting medication adherence.

Objective: This study aims to create a medication adherence app (skill), MedBuddy, for Amazon Echo devices and measure the use, usability, and usefulness of this medication-taking reminder skill.

Methods: A single-group, mixed methods, cohort feasibility study was conducted with women who took oral contraceptives (N=25). Participants were undergraduate students (age: mean 21.8 years, SD 6.2) at an urban university in the Southeast United States. Participants were given an Amazon Echo Dot with MedBuddy—a new medication reminder skill for Echo devices created by our team—attached to their study account, which they used for 60 days. Participants self-reported their baseline and poststudy medication adherence. MedBuddy use was objectively evaluated by tracking participants' interactions with MedBuddy through Amazon Alexa. The usability and usefulness of MedBuddy were evaluated through a poststudy interview in which participants responded to both quantitative and qualitative questions.

Results: Participants' interactions with MedBuddy, as tracked through Amazon Alexa, only occurred on half of the study days (mean 50.97, SD 29.5). At study end, participants reported missing their medication less in the past 1 and 6 months compared with baseline (χ^2_1 =0.9 and χ^2_1 =0.4, respectively; McNemar test: *P*<.001 for both). However, there was no significant difference in participants' reported adherence to consistently taking medication within the same 2-hour time frame every day in the past 1 or 6 months at the end of the study compared with baseline (χ^2_1 =3.5 and χ^2_1 =0.4, respectively; McNemar test: *P*=.63 and *P*=.07, respectively). Overall feedback about usability was positive, and participants provided constructive feedback about the skill's features that could be improved. Participants' evaluation of MedBuddy's usefulness was overwhelmingly positive—most (15/23,

²Center for Advancing Chronic Care Outcomes through Research and Innovation, College of Nursing, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

65%) said that they would continue using MedBuddy as a medication reminder if provided with the opportunity and that they would recommend it to others. MedBuddy features that participants enjoyed were an external prompt separate from their phone, the ability to hear the reminder prompt from a separate room, multiple reminders, and verbal responses to prompts.

Conclusions: The findings of this feasibility study indicate that the MedBuddy medication reminder skill may be useful in promoting medication adherence. However, the skill could benefit from further usability enhancements.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27327) doi:10.2196/27327

KEYWORDS

medication adherence; medication; virtual home assistants; virtual assistant; public health; health care costs; Echo device; device usability; digital health; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Medication adherence, defined as taking medicines according to agreed-upon decisions between prescribing health care professionals and patients [1,2], is a major public health challenge. Research findings indicate that 50% or fewer people adhere to agreed-upon medication regimens [1,3]. Medication nonadherence contributes to suboptimal health management and increases overall health care costs among patients with chronic conditions [4,5]. The reasons for medication nonadherence are multifactorial [6] but often divided into intentional (eg, believing that medication is not needed or effective and stopping because of side effects) and unintentional (eg, inability to pay for medication, lack of understanding of how to properly take medications, and forgetfulness) [7]. Among unintentional reasons for medication nonadherence, forgetting to take medicine is one of the most common reasons [8-10]. Findings from a meta-analysis of medication adherence interventions among adults demonstrated that linking medication taking with existing daily routines and using behavioral strategies (eg, prompts to take medication) are the most effective strategies to promote adherence [11].

Technological advances, such as smartphones and electronic pillboxes, have been increasingly used as medication reminders [12-15]. For example, there are several smartphone apps that target disease management, including medication adherence, for people with diabetes, HIV, cancer, and other chronic conditions [16-20]. Improved rates of medication adherence have been demonstrated while using smartphone apps [16-19]. Key features of effective technological interventions include early participant input in the process to improve usability, a direct line between the patient and the people developing the technology along with the health care provider, a clear and easy-to-use interface, and the use of preexisting screening tools to measure medication adherence [20,21].

Study Objective

Research findings indicate that voice-activated virtual home assistants (VHAs) such as Amazon Echo and Google Home devices may be useful in promoting medication adherence [22,23]. Amazon currently holds more than 70% of the market share of VHAs [24,25]. Software associated with Amazon Echo VHAs are commonly referred to as *skills*. Several medication adherence skills are available for use with Echo devices [26]. However, no study has specifically evaluated users' perceptions

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27327
```

of their effectiveness. Beaney et al [22] suggested that Amazon's medication reminder skill could benefit from more development. For example, it does not have a feature for *as-needed* medications, that is, those not taken on a regular schedule [22]. Furthermore, Amazon's general medication reminder skill provides only 1 reminder and does not allow the user to record whether the medicine was taken as prescribed. In this context, the primary purpose of this pilot project is to assess the usability and usefulness of a new medication-taking reminder skill, MedBuddy, developed by our team for use with Amazon Echo devices.

Methods

Study Design

A single-group mixed methods cohort study was conducted to evaluate the usability and usefulness of the MedBuddy medication reminder skill. Usability and usefulness are related properties of human-system interaction, which in combination determine human usage and satisfaction with the system [27], in this case, the MedBuddy skill for the Amazon Echo devices. Although a variety of properties have been associated with usability (eg, learnability, efficiency, and effectiveness), we defined it more broadly as participants' likes and dislikes and whether they used the medication reminder system. Our definition of usefulness was pragmatic in investigating whether participants perceived the skill to improve medication adherence and whether they would continue its use and recommend others to use it.

Skill Development and Design

MedBuddy is a skill developed by our team for use with Amazon Echo devices. MedBuddy alerts users to take their medicines at a consistent time every day. During the development process, two aspects of usability and usefulness were considered: conversational experience with the skill and medication adherence documentation. The skill was designed for user interactions with the Echo device to be intuitive and modeled on the process of a natural conversation between 2 people. For the MedBuddy skill, the person using it starts the conversation, and then the Echo device, referred to as Alexa, responds (Figure 1). The skill tracks whether participants reported taking or missing their medicine and, if the medication was reported as taken, documents the time. Documentation about self-reported medication adherence and time was recorded when the participant activated the MedBuddy skill and said phrases such as "I took my medication" or "I forgot my medication."

XSL•FO RenderX

The skill was designed for each participant to receive three separate alerts to take their medication each day. Three alerts were chosen because, during alpha testing among our research team, more than 3 alerts were deemed bothersome, which could negatively affect the user experience. The first alert was set to take place 15 minutes before the participant's desired

Figure 1. Example of participant dialogue with MedBuddy through Echo.

medication-taking time. After the first alert, if the participant told MedBuddy through Echo that they took their medication, no subsequent alerts would occur. If the participant did not respond, a second alert occurred at the participant's desired medication-taking time. If there was still no response from the participant, the third alert was provided 15 minutes later.



Recruitment and Enrollment

Our team envisioned MedBuddy to be particularly useful for adults who spend most of their time at home. However, we conducted the initial usability and usefulness tests of MedBuddy with women who were college students and took oral contraceptives. We selected this population because (1) younger adults are likely to have more technological literacy than middle-aged or older adults and therefore may provide higher quality feedback about the skill with minimal frustration if it does not work as expected, (2) nonadherence to oral contraceptives is common [28,29], and (3) oral contraceptives are most effective when taken at approximately the same time every day [30]. Following the receipt of an exempt determination by the institutional review board, potential participants were recruited from an urban public university campus in the Southeastern United States. Recruitment flyers were distributed through electronic billboards, an electronic learning management system, and social media. In addition, an announcement about the research opportunity was presented to approximately 100 students who attended a university program orientation. Snowball sampling also occurred by enrolling referrals from current participants or our team's social contacts. Potential participants were directed to contact the study coordinator by phone or email. When contacted, the study coordinator explained the study purpose, potential risks, and

RenderX

benefits and screened the participants for eligibility. Eligibility criteria included (1) currently taking an oral contraceptive but self-reporting difficulty remembering to take the medication some days or at about the same time each day, (2) living off-campus (because of internet inconsistency or internet overload in campus housing), and (3) owning a smartphone. Students meeting the eligibility requirements were invited to participate, and, for those interested, an enrollment appointment was scheduled.

In-person enrollment took place between February 1, 2020, and March 6, 2020, at a research center on a university campus. Volunteer participants provided verbal informed consent and then completed a baseline demographic and medication information questionnaire and a 4-item questionnaire about their adherence to their prescribed oral contraceptive medicine (Multimedia Appendix 1). Each participant received an Amazon Echo Dot device and a study account for the MedBuddy skill. Participants were then instructed on setting up and using the Amazon Echo Dot and subsequently the MedBuddy skill. Participants were first familiarized with activating the MedBuddy skill, using phrases such as "Alexa, open MedBuddy." Once participants were familiar with activating the skill, the phrases for informing MedBuddy the medication had been taken or forgotten were demonstrated to participants. These phrases included "Alexa, tell MedBuddy I took my medication at 2:00 PM today" and "Alexa, tell MedBuddy I

forgot my medication." Participants were then given the opportunity to interact with Alexa and MedBuddy. Participants were also given the option of connecting the Alexa app on their smartphone to the study account, which allowed them to interact with MedBuddy through either the Echo Dot or their smartphone. Participants received a US \$15 honorarium at the completion of the baseline visit.

Measures

Participants' demographic and medication-related information were collected using a baseline survey. Participants' responses to the prompts provided by MedBuddy were tracked by the research team. We tracked whether participants reported taking or missing their medicine or whether they failed to respond to the reminder. Participants also self-reported their perceived adherence to their oral contraceptives more globally by answering four questions at baseline and at the end of this study (Multimedia Appendix 1). The adherence perception questions were developed by the authors and not psychometrically tested before their use in this feasibility study. Additional usability and usefulness data were collected during structured exit interviews conducted by telephone after each participant used MedBuddy for at least 60 days (Figure 1). Participants' responses to the telephone interview questions were documented on an interview form. Notes taken by the research team in response to the open-ended questions were read back to each participant to confirm that the team member's documentation of their responses was accurate. Participants were sent a US \$25 honorarium following the completion of the poststudy interview.

Analyses

Participants' demographic characteristics and medication information about their oral contraceptives were summarized using descriptive statistics. Participants' verbal responses to the Echo device, as they used the MedBuddy skill, were summarized using frequencies based on 60 days of use. We also evaluated participants' responses to MedBuddy throughout the study time. Specifically, a paired two-tailed *t* test was conducted to evaluate whether there was a significant reduction in participants' responses to MedBuddy during the first 2 weeks of the study versus the last 2 weeks of the study. Participants' self-reported medication adherence between baseline and the study's conclusion was evaluated using the McNemar chi-square test. All statistical analyses were completed using the SPSS (version 27; IBM Corp) with an α value set at .05. Data from the open-ended structured interview questions were qualitatively categorized into evaluative topics to summarize participants' perceptions of the usability and usefulness of MedBuddy.

Results

Demographic and Medicine-Taking Characteristics

Among the participants, 92% (23/25) completed the full study. The COVID-19 pandemic necessitated campus closure during the study, which resulted in an inability to follow up with 2 participants. We did not detect differences in demographic characteristics between those who did and did not complete the study. The sample was characterized by heterosexual, White women who had a mean age of 21.8 (SD 6.2) years, and none were married, but all lived with one or more other people. Most participants (14/25, 56%) started their medication week on Sunday, which is important concerning adherence because most oral contraceptives are taken for 3 consecutive weeks followed by 1 week of a placebo each month. The participants' desired time to take the medication varied, but most women took their medicine at night before bed or in the morning. Interestingly, all the women identified at baseline that they currently used a medication reminder method, with most (18/25, 72%) stating that they used a smartphone in conjunction with a reminder app or setting a smartphone alarm. Thus, MedBuddy was an adjunct or replacement of the reminder strategy currently used. Participants' demographic and medication-related characteristics are summarized in Table 1.



Table 1. Participants' demographic and medicine-taking characteristics (N=25).

Baseline demographics	Participants, n (%)			
Race				
White	20 (80)			
Black	1 (4)			
Asian	2 (8)			
Mixed race	2 (8)			
Sexual orientation				
Heterosexual	23 (92)			
Bisexual	2 (8)			
Homosexual	0 (0)			
Medication time				
Morning	9 (36)			
Afternoon	1 (4)			
Evening	5 (20)			
Night	10 (40)			
Starting day				
Sunday	14 (56)			
Monday	3 (12)			
Tuesday	1 (4)			
Wednesday	5 (20)			
Friday	1 (4)			
It changes	1 (4)			
Current methods of medication adherence				
Significant other	3 (12)			
Parents or family	1 (4)			
Medication app	2 (8)			
Calendar or planner	2 (8)			
Phone alarms or reminders	17 (68)			

MedBuddy Use

During the study, we tracked the participants' verbal responses to MedBuddy prompts. Participants responded to MedBuddy prompts just a little more than half of the time (study days: mean 50.97, SD 29.5). The response rate ranged from 6.6% to 86.7%. MedBuddy use slightly declined from the first 2 weeks of the study (mean response 70.5%, SD 0.23) compared with the last 2 weeks of the study (mean response 59.2%, SD 0.27), (t_{23} =2.4; *P*=.03). Only 1 participant responded that she missed medication. All other responses noted that the medication had been administered. There were no discernable differences in participant characteristics for those who responded to MedBuddy more regularly than those who had limited responses.

MedBuddy Usability

After participants used MedBuddy for at least 60 days, we interviewed them to obtain information about their user experience. Most participants rated their overall experience with

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27327
```

RenderX

the Echo device as good or very good (18/23, 78%) and the remainder rated the experience as neutral (5/23, 22%). Participants rated their overall user experience with the MedBuddy skill less positively, with 56% (13/23) rating it as good or very good, 35% (8/23) rating it as neutral, and 9% (2/23) rating it as poor. However, nearly all participants (21/23, 91%) rated MedBuddy as effective (7/23, 30%) or very effective (14/23, 61%) as a medication reminder, and the remainder indicated it was mostly ineffective (1/23, 4%) or ineffective (1/23, 4%). Most participants (15/23, 65%) said they would continue to use MedBuddy as a medication reminder if provided with the opportunity. The primary reasons participants wanted to continue using MedBuddy were that (1) the external alert separated from their phone was beneficial, (2) they could hear the alert if they were in a room different from the room where the Echo Dot was located, (3) the verbal prompts from a human-sounding voice were motivating, and (4) more than 1 reminder helped prompt them to take their medicine. For instance, a participant noted:

I really liked that I got three reminders because I almost always ignored the first two, but it was enough reminders to force me to do it. [Participant 110]

Two other open-ended interview questions focused on the features and aspects of MedBuddy that participants liked or disliked. The features that participants liked aligned with the reasons why they would continue to use and recommend it: (1) receipt of multiple reminders 15 minutes apart, (2) the interface between their smartphone and the Echo Dot, and (3) verbal reminders with voice interaction. A typical participant response was "I like the verbal reminders, the vocal response and prompt" (Participant 112). Another participant stated:

My favorite was the verbal aspects, someone that I could hear, multiple reminders, the verbal aspect of responding was attractive. [Participant 107]

The ability to verbally report the medication action instead of the need to locate another technological device (such as a smartphone) was perceived as convenient and beneficial.

The MedBuddy features that participants disliked were consistently noted by many. These features included (1) speech recognition difficulty such that the Echo Dot or smartphone Alexa app did not open the MedBuddy skill or required several commands to open it; (2) the need to alert the Echo Dot or smartphone multiple times to stop future prompts, again because of speech recognition difficulties; (3) logging errors (eg, if the medication was taken late in the evening, MedBuddy may not have recorded the response on an intended day, but for the next day, canceling alerts for the next day); and (4) minimal ability for the user interface. Regarding the latter, some participants reported a desire to view and edit their medication history through their smartphones.

MedBuddy Usefulness

A large majority of participants (21/23, 91%) said they would recommend MedBuddy to someone who had difficulty with medication adherence. Participants stated that they would recommend MedBuddy to others because (1) it personally facilitated their own adherence; (2) helped them incorporate medication taking into their daily routine; and (3) the multiple reminders would benefit other people with trouble regarding medication adherence, including those who were older and may be at home more or those who take multiple medications. For example, a participant stated that she would have liked to have her grandmother use MedBuddy on an Echo device, stating:

I would recommend the MedBuddy skill because I live with some older people and they take multiple daily medications, and it would help them because it helped me. [Participant 109]

Participants also answered questions about their perceived medication adherence before and after using the MedBuddy skill (Textbox 1). The 4-item adherence questionnaire had a Cronbach α of .77 at baseline (n=25) and .70 at the end of the study (n=23). Participants reported missing their medication less in the past 1 and 6 months at the end of the study compared with baseline (χ^2_1 =0.9 and χ^2_1 =0.4, respectively; McNemar test: *P*<.001 for both). However, there was no significant difference in participants' reported adherence to consistently taking medication within the same 2-hour time frame every day during the past 1 or 6 months at the end of the study compared with baseline (χ^2_1 =3.5 and χ^2_1 =0.4, respectively; McNemar test: *P*=.63 and *P*=.07, respectively).

Textbox 1. Perceptions of medication adherence questions.

Questions

- 1. In the past month, how often have you missed taking your birth control pill (1=never, 2=once or twice, 3=a few times, 4=several times, 5=frequently)? Please circle the appropriate response:
- 2. In the past month, how often would you say you have taken your birth control pill within the same 2-hour framework (1=almost never, 2=infrequently, 3=sometimes, 4=usually, 5=always)? Please circle the appropriate response
- 3. In the past 6 months, how often have you missed taking your birth control pill (1=never, 2=once or twice, 3=a few times, 4=several times, 5=frequently)? Please circle the appropriate response:
- 4. In the past 6 months, how often would you say you have taken your birth control pill within the same 2-hour framework (1=almost never, 2=infrequently, 3=sometimes, 4=usually, 5=always)? Please circle the appropriate response:

Discussion

Study Context

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the use, usability, and usefulness of MedBuddy, a medication adherence skill designed for Amazon Echo devices. Participants' recorded responses indicated that their use of MedBuddy varied widely. Participants were enrolled in February and early March 2020; many of them left their residences to travel for a spring break. Unexpectedly, the university transitioned to web-based learning directly after spring break. As a result, many of the participants were separated from their Echo devices and could not use MedBuddy. Most participants subsequently returned to their residences or downloaded the Alexa app on their phones and could resume using MedBuddy. While MedBuddy was used more frequently in the last 2 weeks of the study compared with the last 2 weeks of the study, we do not attribute the lack of use to disinterest or dissatisfaction with the skill, especially given the participants' positive perspectives on usability and usefulness during the poststudy interviews.

Usability Findings

Most participants reported at least a *good* user experience with the skill. The primary dissatisfaction with the skill was when the participant asked Echo to either open the skill or tell (the

skill) their medicine was taken (or missed), Echo had difficulty interacting with MedBuddy because of speech recognition. For instance, when some participants instructed Echo to *open MedBuddy*, Echo would open a different skill with the word *buddy* in the title. Similarly, a voice response indicating the medicine was taken or missed, which should cancel future reminders for the day, was sometimes not recorded because Echo did not recognize and communicate with the right skill. In these instances, participants received one or two additional reminders from MedBuddy after having said they had taken their medication. A participant noted that she continued to use MedBuddy because it helped her remember to take her medicine, but she stopped even trying to communicate with MedBuddy through Echo because of these described speech recognition interface problems.

Despite the speech recognition errors with the skill, participants requested more ways to interface with MedBuddy both before and after the university enacted remote learning. Participants could communicate through MedBuddy on their phone if they activated the Alexa app on their phones, which some did when they enrolled in the study and others did later during the study. Consequently, participants could communicate with Echo and MedBuddy, even if they were not currently at home. Some participants requested to see their medication history, a feature that was not available. However, our team was presumptively considering adding this feature to the second-generation version of the skill.

Usefulness Findings

Nearly all participants perceived MedBuddy as useful for medication adherence, which was particularly encouraging because all participants reported using some other reminder at baseline, with most using mobile phones as reminders. MedBuddy was reported to be useful despite the existing reminder system. A MedBuddy feature frequently mentioned as helpful was the automatic receipt of three reminders, which made the reminder more difficult to ignore than, for instance, receiving one reminder or an alarm via their mobile phones. In addition, several participants stated that reminders sounding like a human voice made them more responsive and accountable to the system. This finding resonates with other research showing that some users personify voice-activated devices [23,31]. Furthermore, being able to respond to MedBuddy using a voice command appealed to some users. The participants found the hands-free use efficient, which has also been reported among people who use VHAs for other purposes [32,33]. More than 90% (21/23, 91%) of participants reported that MedBuddy helped them take their medicine as prescribed. In the self-reports of medication adherence, participants reported missing their medicine less in the last 1 and 6 months in the poststudy versus prestudy assessment. However, there was no baseline versus poststudy difference in the frequency by which they took their medicine within the desired 2-hour time frame. More than 65% (15/23) of participants stated that they would continue using MedBuddy if given the opportunity. Several of those who declined to continue MedBuddy use stated that MedBuddy helped them develop habits for a better medicine-taking routine, so they had no need for future use.

Finally, more than 90% (21/23, 91%) of participants stated that they would recommend MedBuddy to others because they thought it would help with medication adherence as it had helped them. Many participants thought MedBuddy would be ideal for older adults, people who require multiple medicines to manage health conditions, and those who spent most of the day at home. As participants were all students at the time of the study, they considered their schedules to be more hectic and less predictable than those who may be retired or at home when medications are due. These findings were especially salient because we envision adults and people who take multiple medicines as the primary target population of MedBuddy users.

Study Limitations

This feasibility study had several limitations. We tested it with a small convenience sample consisting entirely of women, primarily young adults, White, and non-Hispanic college students living off-campus. Except for being women, participants' demographic characteristics closely represented the larger university population. For example, the university population was 77% (24,049/31,232) White, whereas our sample was 80% (20/25) White. Furthermore, because of inconsistent internet service in campus housing, our participants all lived off-campus. Freshmen at the university are required to live on campus, but among nonfreshmen, 90% (22,484/24,982) live off-campus. We encountered an unexpected challenge in that some participants were separated from their Echo device because the university transitioned to all web-based classes in March 2020 because of the COVID-19 pandemic. The unexpected change highlighted the significance of the option to use the Alexa smartphone app as a communication tool between Echo and MedBuddy. Nevertheless, the findings about participants' MedBuddy use and its' use over time may not reflect use under normal circumstances. In addition, this study only tracked users for 60 days. Therefore, it is unknown whether people would continue to use and find the medication reminder system useful for a longer period. Self-reported measures for medication adherence were developed by the authors and did not have established psychometric properties. Furthermore, subjective measures of medication adherence are known to overestimate adherence [34]. Thus, the improved medication adherence found in this study must be interpreted cautiously.

Future Directions and Implications

On the basis of the study usability findings, several improvements to MedBuddy have been made or are in progress. The skill's name was changed to improve the speech recognition interface with Echo devices. We learned that there are several existing skills with the terms *med* or *buddy* as part of the skill name. Other skills' similar names sometimes made it difficult for the Echo device to differentiate commands for *MedBuddy* versus a command for a different skill. As it seemed to be a problem for some participants and not problematic at all for others, we believe communication success may have varied based on voice tones and diction—an issue noted by users of other voice-activated devices [35]. Thus, we deemed it necessary to change the skill's name. On the basis of naming tips for skills published on the web by Amazon, named skills and other software promoting medication adherence, and our interface

XSL•FO

tests between Echo and the skill, by using a short-list of potential names, MedBuddy was renamed as *Pill Minder*. Initial alpha tests have been positive with the new name, although excessive background noise may still interfere with device communication. To further evaluate the usefulness and accuracy of participants' communication with the renamed skill, Pill Minder, we plan to use pill bottles that electronically record cap removal. We will analyze the relationship between participants' responses to Pill Minder and pill bottle opening.

As recommended by participants, we are in the process of creating an interface that allows participants to view their personal medication history. In addition, users of our renamed skill, Pill Minder, will be able to authorize others, such as a support person, caregiver, or health professional, to see their medication use history. This change also aligns with the recommendations of participants from another study completed by our team involving dyads of older adults and their support persons [36], in which support persons indicated a desire for an Echo medication skill that enabled them to see whether their older adults had reported taking their medication. For research purposes, we will be able to view individual participants' data or aggregated data in a more user-friendly format than was the case with the original MedBuddy user data. Finally, the new version of the skill, Pill Minder, has a more streamlined user-setup process.

Another major advancement in Pill Minder is the capacity for users to receive medication reminders multiple times a day. Users can select reminder times for as many different dosing times as needed, whereas the original MedBuddy only had the capacity for 1 reminder per day. These enhancements are consistent with recommendations in the literature suggesting that medication reminder systems for Echo could benefit from further development [22].

Conclusions

Medication adherence continues to be a global public health challenge. It is a complex phenomenon, but research findings suggest that forgetting to take medicine is a factor that negatively impacts adherence for many people [8-10], including those who participated in this study. MedBuddy was designed as a medication reminder system that interfaces with Amazon Echo. The initial feasibility test was positive. Participant feedback on the MedBuddy skill usefulness was particularly positive. Overall, the most notable features were multiple verbal reminders, with the capacity for a verbal response, and receipt of reminders external to the mobile phone, but compatible with it through the Alexa app. Although most participants also positively evaluated usability, several suggestions were made to improve the skill. The next version of MedBuddy-renamed Pill Minder-has been designed with features to address study participants' suggestions. Alpha testing has been initiated within our team, and further testing will be launched outside the team soon. In summary, the medication reminder skill developed by our team was perceived as useful but requires more refinement for better usability. Once refined, we will study the usefulness and usability of Pill Minder with adults who take medicine at least twice a day.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Poststudy usability and usefulness interview questions. [DOCX File , 17 KB - formative v5i7e27327 app1.docx]

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Adherence to Long-term Therapies: Evidence for Action. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003:1-211.
- Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? Mayo Clin Proc 2011 Apr;86(4):304-314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4065/mcp.2010.0575] [Medline: 21389250]
- Gillespie CW, Morin PE, Tucker JM, Purvis L. Medication adherence, health care utilization, and spending among privately insured adults with chronic conditions in the United States, 2010-2016. Am J Med 2020 Jun;133(6):690-704 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.12.021] [Medline: 31987798]
- 4. Iuga A, McGuire M. Adherence and health care costs. Risk Manag Healthc Policy 2014 Feb:35-44. [doi: 10.2147/rmhp.s19801]
- 5. Marcum ZA, Gellad WF. Medication adherence to multidrug regimens. Clin Geriatr Med 2012 May;28(2):287-300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2012.01.008] [Medline: 22500544]
- Ellis RJ, Hertz D, Callahan P, Ruppar T. Self-reported nonadherence associated with pharmacy and home medication management inconvenience factors in a US adult population. Patient Prefer Adherence 2020 Mar;Volume 14:529-539 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/ppa.s223408]
- Molloy GJ, Messerli-Bürgy N, Hutton G, Wikman A, Perkins-Porras L, Steptoe A. Intentional and unintentional non-adherence to medications following an acute coronary syndrome: a longitudinal study. J Psychosom Res 2014 May;76(5):430-432 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.02.007] [Medline: 24745787]
- 8. Boskovic J, Leppee M, Culig J, Eric M. Patient self-reported adherence for the most common chronic medication therapy. Scand J Public Health 2013 Jun 03;41(4):333-335. [doi: <u>10.1177/1403494812471447</u>] [Medline: <u>23287394</u>]

- Barfod TS, Sørensen HT, Nielsen H, Rodkjaer L, Obel N. 'Simply forgot' is the most frequently stated reason for missed doses of HAART irrespective of degree of adherence. HIV Med 2006 Jul;7(5):285-290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1293.2006.00387.x] [Medline: 16945072]
- Schober DJ, Tate M, Rodriguez D, Ruppar TM, Williams J, Lynch E. High blood pressure medication adherence among urban, African Americans in the midwest United States. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2021 Jun 10;8(3):607-617. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40615-020-00819-2</u>] [Medline: <u>32651883</u>]
- 11. Conn VS, Ruppar TM. Medication adherence outcomes of 771 intervention trials: systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med 2017 Jun;99:269-276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.03.008] [Medline: 28315760]
- 12. Basit SA, Mathews N, Kunik ME. Telemedicine interventions for medication adherence in mental illness: a systematic review. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2020 Jan;62:28-36. [doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2019.11.004] [Medline: 31775066]
- 13. Daly A. MedAdvisor: an app for taking medications safely, effectively and on time. J Physiother 2017 Oct;63(4):268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2017.08.010] [Medline: 28939313]
- 14. Dayer L, Heldenbrand S, Anderson P, Gubbins PO, Martin BC. Smartphone medication adherence apps: potential benefits to patients and providers. J Am Pharm Assoc 2013 Mar;53(2):172-181. [doi: <u>10.1331/japha.2013.12202</u>]
- Andrews AL, Nitchie HL, Harvey JB. Parent preferences for methods and content of mobile technology-based asthma medication adherence intervention. Hosp Pediatr 2019 Mar 08;9(3):209-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2018-0122] [Medline: <u>30737249</u>]
- Chi YH, Walton R, McKinstry B, Jackson T, Parker R, Pinnock H, et al. The use of mobile applications to support self-management for people with asthma: a systematic review of controlled studies to identify features associated with clinical effectiveness and adherence. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 May 01;24(3):619-632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw143] [Medline: 27694279]
- 17. Ehrler F, Gschwind L, Meyer P, Christian L, Blondon K. SMART-MEDS: Development of a medication adherence app for acute coronary syndrome patients based on a gamified behaviour change model. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2018;2018:413-421 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 30815081]
- Beauchemin M, Gradilla M, Baik D, Cho H, Schnall R. A multi-step usability evaluation of a self-management app to support medication adherence in persons living with HIV. Int J Med Inform 2019 Feb;122:37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.11.012] [Medline: 30623782]
- Graetz I, McKillop CN, Stepanski E, Vidal GA, Anderson JN, Schwartzberg LS. Use of a web-based app to improve breast cancer symptom management and adherence for aromatase inhibitors: a randomized controlled feasibility trial. J Cancer Surviv 2018 Aug 28;12(4):431-440 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0682-z] [Medline: 29492753]
- 20. Huang Z, Lum E, Jimenez G, Semwal M, Sloot P, Car J. Medication management support in diabetes: a systematic assessment of diabetes self-management apps. BMC Med 2019 Jul 17;17(1):127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1362-1] [Medline: 31311573]
- 21. McCormick JB, Green MJ, Shapiro D. Medication nonadherence: there's an app for that!. Mayo Clin Proc 2018 Oct;93(10):1346-1350. [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.05.029] [Medline: 30170740]
- 22. Beaney P, Kalirai HS, Chambers R. "Alexa... what pills do I need to take today?". Prescriber 2020 Jun 26;31(6):20-23. [doi: 10.1002/psb.1849]
- 23. Pradhan A, Mehta K, Findlater L. "Accessibility Came by Accident": Use of voice-controlled intelligent personal assistants by people with disabilities. In: Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2018 Presented at: CHI '18: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 21-26, 2018; Montreal QC Canada p. 1-13 URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3174033</u> [doi: 10.1145/3173574.3174033]
- 24. Sterling G. Alexa devices maintain 70% market share in U.S. according to survey. MarTech. 2019. URL: <u>https://marketingland.com/alexa-devices-maintain-70-market-share-in-u-s-according-to-survey-265180</u> [accessed 2021-01-21]
- 25. Perez S. Nearly 70% for US smart speaker owners uses Amazon Echo devices. Techcrunch. 2020. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.</u> <u>com/3u7evhxv</u> [accessed 2021-01-21]
- 26. Alexa skills: medication adherence. Amazon.com. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.com/</u> <u>s?k=medication+adherence&i=alexa-skills&ref=nb_sb_noss_2</u> [accessed 2021-01-21]
- 27. Buchanan S, Salako A. Evaluating the usability and usefulness of a digital library. Library Review 2009 Oct 09;58(9):638-651. [doi: <u>10.1108/00242530910997928</u>]
- Molloy GJ, Graham H, McGuinness H. Adherence to the oral contraceptive pill: a cross-sectional survey of modifiable behavioural determinants. BMC Public Health 2012 Oct 02;12(1):838 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-838] [Medline: 23031437]
- 29. Wiltjer CA, Duff P, Williams K, Shuster J. Measuring adherence to birth control pills among college women. Obstet Gynecol 2015;125:74. [doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000463154.89957.a3]
- 30. Wright KP, Johnson JV. Evaluation of extended and continuous use oral contraceptives. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2008 Oct;4(5):905-911 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/tcrm.s2143] [Medline: 19209272]
- 31. Chambers R, Beaney P. The potential of placing a digital assistant in patients' homes. Br J Gen Pract 2019 Dec 26;70(690):8-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp20x707273]

- 32. Scherr S, Meier A, Cihan S. Alexa, tell me more about new best friends, the advantage of hands-free operation and life-long learning. Mensch und Computer 2020 2020:A. [doi: <u>10.18420/muc2020-ws120-342</u>]
- 33. Wulf L, Garschall M, Himmelsbach J, Tscheligi M. Hands free care free: elderly people taking advantage of speech-only interaction. In: Proceedings of the 8th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Fun, Fast, Foundational. 2014 Presented at: NordiCHI '14: The 8th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction; October 26-30, 2014; Helsinki Finland p. 203-206. [doi: 10.1145/2639189.2639251]
- 34. Forbes CA, Deshpande S, Sorio-Vilela F, Kutikova L, Duffy S, Gouni-Berthold I, et al. A systematic literature review comparing methods for the measurement of patient persistence and adherence. Curr Med Res Opin 2018 Sep 04;34(9):1613-1625. [doi: 10.1080/03007995.2018.1477747] [Medline: 29770718]
- 35. Cowan BR, Pantidi N, Coyle D, Morrissey K, Clarke P, Al-Shehri S, et al. "What can i help you with?": infrequent users' experiences of intelligent personal assistants. In: Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services. 2017 Presented at: MobileHCI '17: 19th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services; September 4-7, 2017; Vienna Austria p. 1-12. [doi: 10.1145/3098279.3098539]
- Corbett CF, Combs EM, Wright P, Owens OL, Stringfellow I, Nguyen T, et al. Virtual home assistant use and perceptions of usefulness by older adults and support person dyads. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jan 27;18(3):1113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18031113] [Medline: 33513798]

Abbreviations

VHA: virtual home assistant

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.02.21; peer-reviewed by A Benis, P Cook, RJ Katz; comments to author 25.03.21; revised version received 08.04.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 13.07.21.

Please cite as:

Corbett CF, Combs EM, Chandarana PS, Stringfellow I, Worthy K, Nguyen T, Wright PJ, O'Kane JM Medication Adherence Reminder System for Virtual Home Assistants: Mixed Methods Evaluation Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27327 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27327 doi:10.2196/27327 PMID:34255669

©Cynthia F Corbett, Elizabeth M Combs, Peyton S Chandarana, Isabel Stringfellow, Karen Worthy, Thien Nguyen, Pamela J Wright, Jason M O'Kane. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 13.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Promoting Collaborative Goal Setting for Cancer Prevention Among Primary Care Patients Through mHealth: Mixed Methods Evaluation of a New App

Daniel Resnick^{1,2,3}, MD; Marilyn M Schapira^{3,4,5}, MPH, MD; Jazmine M Smith^{2,4}, MSc; Allison Bautista^{2,4}, BSN; Chang Xu^{2,4,6}, MSc; Liz Jones⁷, BFA; Jaya Aysola^{2,3,4,6}, MPH, MD, DTMH

¹Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

³Leonard Davis Institute of Health Economics, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁵The Center for Health Equity Research and Promotion, Michael J Crescenz VA Medical Center, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁶Office of Inclusion and Diversity, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁷Transmogrify, Conshohocken, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Jaya Aysola, MPH, MD, DTMH Division of General Internal Medicine Department of Medicine Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania 1229 Blockley Hall 423 Guardian Drive Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 215 573 9475 Fax: 1 215 573 8778 Email: jaysola@upenn.edu

Abstract

Background: Many newly diagnosed cancers are associated with modifiable lifestyle behaviors, such as diet, exercise, smoking cessation, and maintaining a healthy weight. However, primary care providers rarely discuss cancer prevention behaviors with their patients.

Objective: This study aims to assess the usability, acceptability, and user engagement of the Healthier Together mobile app, which is designed to promote cancer prevention behaviors among non-Hispanic Black primary care patients, by using social networks and goal-setting theories of behavior change.

Methods: In an 8-week pilot study, we enrolled primary care patients (N=41) and provided them with a cancer prevention mobile app that allowed them to select, track, and share progress on cancer prevention goals with other users. App usability was assessed using the System Usability Scale. We assessed the app's acceptability by qualitatively analyzing open-ended responses regarding participants' overall experience with the app. We assessed participants' engagement by analyzing the built-in data capture device, which included the number of times participants checked in (out of a maximum of 8) during the study.

Results: The mean age of the 41 participants was 51 years (SD 12), and 76% (31/41) were women. App use data were captured from all participants, and 83% (34/41) completed the exit survey and interview. The mean System Usability Scale score was 87 (SD 12; median 90; IQR 78-95). The analysis of open-ended responses revealed several key themes, and participants complemented the app's ease of use and health behavior–promoting features while also commenting on the need for more feedback and social interactions through the app. On average, participants checked in 5.7 times (SD 2.7) out of 8 possible opportunities. Of the 41 participants, 76% (31/41) checked in during at least 4 of the 8 weeks. Secondary analyses revealed that participants often accomplished their set goals (mean 5.1, SD 2.7) for each week. The qualitative analysis of comments given by participants within the app after each weekly check-in revealed several themes on how the app assisted participants in behavioral change, highlighting

²Penn Medicine Center for Health Equity Advancement, Office of the Chief Medical Officer, University of Pennsylvania Health System, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁴Division of General Internal Medicine, Department of Medicine, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

that some participants created exercise programs, ate healthier foods, lost a significant amount of weight, and stopped smoking during this study.

Conclusions: The implementation of a mobile cancer prevention goal–setting app in a primary care setting was feasible, and the app achieved high usability, acceptability, and engagement among participants. User feedback revealed an influence on health behaviors. These findings suggest the promise of the Healthier Together app in facilitating behavioral change to reduce cancer risk among non-Hispanic Black primary care patients.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22510) doi:10.2196/22510

KEYWORDS

mHealth; cancer prevention; goal setting; social networks; health disparities; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Each year, more than 1.7 million Americans are diagnosed with cancer [1]. A diet rich in fruits and vegetables [2,3], physical activity [4], smoking cessation [5], and maintaining a healthy body weight reduce the relative risk of developing numerous cancers. For instance, obesity alone is now thought to be associated with nearly 50% of newly diagnosed cancers in the United States in those aged 65 years or younger [6]. Despite these staggering statistics, many primary care patients do not adopt cancer prevention behaviors, and primary care providers (PCPs) rarely discuss these behaviors with their patients. Patients wish to discuss cancer prevention with their PCPs [7]; however, PCPs often cite competing priorities, limited time, and the lack of resources as reasons for not engaging patients in cancer prevention discussions [8].

Although PCPs do not routinely engage their patients in promoting healthy behaviors, mobile phone apps have emerged as a tool for promoting healthy behaviors outside of the clinical realm [9,10]. However, current behavior change apps available for public use rarely provide a theoretical explanation for how they motivate behavior or evidence to support their ability to change behaviors [11,12]. For example, many apps invite users to set behavior goals; however, few ask users to select specific time-bound goals with periodic reviews, although these latter features increase the chances of goal attainment [11,13]. Moreover, a number of apps provide "unspecified social support" [12], without encouraging users to provide more practical and emotional support to one another, despite evidence suggesting that social reinforcements increase the adoption of health behaviors [14]. A final limitation of mobile apps is that there are few apps designed specifically for minority populations, even with evidence that minority patients use their mobile phones to engage with a broad range of health materials more frequently than White patients [15,16]. Despite this, minority populations remain underrepresented in studies involving health and technology [17].

Objectives

The objective of this study is to evaluate the beta version of an evidence-based mobile app—Healthier Together—which is designed to address the limitations mentioned above and promote cancer prevention behaviors in predominantly minority populations recruited in a primary care setting. Our primary aim is to assess the usability, acceptability, and user engagement

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22510
```

of the app during a 2-month study. Our secondary aim is to assess the relationships between app engagement, participant baseline characteristics, and participant health behavior.

Methods

Previous Work on Healthier Together

Key Features and Theoretical Basis

Healthier Together leverages both goal-setting and social network theories to motivate behavior change through 3 key features, as described later. These features aim to enhance, rather than replace, the role of a PCP in promoting cancer prevention behaviors. These features provide a starting point for patients to learn about the connection between behaviors, such as diet and exercise, and cancer risk, to set and track cancer prevention goals, and to share their progress with other app users. Patients using this app may build upon these actions and initiate cancer prevention discussions with their PCPs that would otherwise not have occurred.

The first feature asks app users to select a predetermined cancer prevention SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and time-bound) goal [18] within 1 of the 4 goal categories: diet, activity, weight tracking, and smoking cessation. The app presents goals adapted from the recommendations of the American Cancer Society on diet, exercise, smoking cessation, and maintaining a healthy weight [19,20], linking directly to the American Cancer Society resources. The app provides the option to customize a person's goal upon selection and modify any selected goal weekly. This key feature leverages existing evidence, demonstrating that goal setting motivates behavioral change through directing intention, building self-efficacy, fostering motivation, and serving as a reference point to invoke loss aversion [13,21,22]. Moreover, a meta-analysis of previous cancer prevention studies found that interventions that incorporated goal-setting strategies were significantly more effective in reducing dietary fat consumption and increasing fruit and vegetable consumption compared with those that did not, with small to moderate differences in effect size [23-25].

To encourage accountability to their selected goal, app users receive a weekly check-in text inviting them to mark whether they succeeded or failed to complete the goal for the week. While checking in, they can also leave a comment reflecting on their progress and change their goals if appropriate. App users can visualize their goal progress on an individual profile page and on a progress board that is potentially visible to other users.

XSL•FO RenderX

Evidence supports the use of goal reminders, tracking, and reflections as important behavior change techniques that may slowly encourage users to develop healthy habits [26].

The third key feature allows Healthier Together app users to communicate and share goal progress with one another. App users can share this information with all app users or with users they invite directly into the app. There is also an option for users to keep all information private. If app users select to share their goal information, they can see other users' successes on a progress board and send encouraging messages to one another. The purpose of this feature is to allow users to receive social rewards and feedback. It draws upon research that demonstrates social networks with social reinforcements from multiple social ties, as compared with single ties, are associated with greater adoption of health behaviors and health-related knowledge [14,27].

The Healthier Together app (screenshot is given in Figure 1) was developed primarily for minority populations, as cancer disproportionately impacts racial/ethnic minorities in the United States [28], with additional disparities in behaviors related to cancer prevention, such as smoking [29], obesity [30], diet [31], and exercise [31]. Minority patients use mobile phones for health-related content more than their White counterparts [15,16], suggesting a mobile app may be one strategy to reduce the aforementioned disparities. In addition, prior work suggests that cancer prevention strategies involving some form of social support are more effective in changing behaviors in racial/ethnic minorities than non-Hispanic White individuals [32]. There is also evidence that minorities have denser social networks, with more reliable and frequent activation of informal social support [33,34].





testing.

Study Overview

Prior Testing and App Development Team

In keeping with best practices for health app development [35], we previously conducted iterative testing [36] with 33 non-Hispanic Black primary care patients to develop this beta version of Healthier Together. Consistent with Healthier Together's theoretical basis of enabling goal setting and developing social networks, testing revealed that end users valued app features that assist with tracking and sharing progress on health goals. These end users understood that the behaviors promoted by Healthier Together may help prevent other noncommunicable diseases, but valued the specific connection between lifestyle behaviors and cancer prevention and even asked to emphasize the connection further. Moreover, prior evidence reveals that framing the rationale for adopting healthy behaviors as a long-term gain to reduce cancer risk is effective [37-39]. The app itself was developed by Transmogrify, a firm that helps create, build, and grow digital products. The diverse research team (including DR, JMS, AB, MMS, and JA), which

ionale for adopting healthy *Study Population and Recruitment* We recruited patients from 2 internal

We recruited patients from 2 internal medicine primary care clinics in Philadelphia, a nonprobabilistic purposive sample of non-Hispanic Black patients that met our strict eligibility criteria detailed below. From September 2019 through October 2019,

has expertise in qualitative methods, communicated closely

with LJ, who works for Transmogrify and helped conduct user

This 8-week mixed method intervention involved 3 key

components: (1) a baseline visit that included an in-person

structured interview followed by installation of the mobile app

on the participant's phone and instructions on how to select a

goal, choose share settings, and invite other social ties; (2)

weekly text messages reminding participants to check in, share

goal progress, and invite friends and family members; and (3)

an exit telephone-structured interview at the end of 8 weeks.

authors DR, JMS, and AB identified potential participants in clinics' waiting rooms and invited these individuals to formally screen for the study in a private room after their appointments. Once in the private room, this research team screened potential participants to confirm eligibility, informed them of the study's app testing goals, and obtained consent to participate in the study.

To be eligible for the study, participants had to be aged more than 18 years, self-identify as non-Hispanic Black, speak English, own a smartphone, be a patient of one of the two clinics, be able to provide informed consent, and should not have participated in previous rounds of app testing. We targeted a sample size of 40 participants to obtain thematic saturation while soliciting feedback during the exit interviews [40].

Participants were incentivized US \$40 to complete the baseline, in-person, 40-minute enrollment process and interview and US \$60 for completing the exit 45-minute, telephone interview in an effort to maximize recruitment and minimize attrition. Authors JMS and AB attempted to contact each participant up to three times for the exit interview to further minimize loss to follow-up. There were no incentives for app use. The University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Board approved the protocol for this study.

Study Procedure and Data Collection

After consenting to the study, we conducted a 40-minute baseline structured interview to collect participants' baseline characteristics, as detailed later. The interview included up to 79 close-ended, validated, and previously operationalized survey questions and up to 40 open-ended questions. The interview team inputted all close- and open-ended responses into REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; REDCap Consortium) verbatim [41].

The research team then helped the participants download the app, demonstrated each of the features detailed above, and assisted participants with selecting their initial health goal, determining their goal share settings, and sending invitations to their family and friends to download the app.

After downloading the app, participants received a weekly text message inviting them to log on to the app and check in to report whether they accomplished their goal. Participants could also log on to the app outside of the weekly check-in to explore their profile page, track other user progress (if they shared their progress with others), and read information about the relationship between lifestyle behaviors and cancer. In addition, participants received text messages to remind them to share the app with other friends and family. Participants' check-ins and other activities in the app were recorded through a built-in data capture device and served as our chief measures of app engagement, as described later.

After 8 weeks of app use, DR, JMS, and AB contacted the participants to complete a 45-minute, telephonic exit interview, primarily assessing the participants' opinions on app usability and acceptability. The exit interview also repeated questions from the baseline interview regarding cancer prevention knowledge and behaviors.

Data Measurement and Analysis

Baseline Characteristics

The baseline interview assessed participants' demographics, namely, age and sex, and close-ended questions on the following topics: technology use, as defined by what phone participants use and how often they use it; participants' comfort in sharing health information, as defined by whether participants have shared health information over the web, shared health information with social ties, or shared health goals with social ties; and participants' current health habits, as defined by whether participants currently have health goals or use some methods to track their health.

Primary Outcome Measures

Usability

We assessed app usability by asking participants during the exit interview to respond to the validated System Usability Scale (SUS), which provides a usability score of 0 to 100 for various technology products [42]. A score >70 is generally considered above average. We also assessed specific feature usability characteristics, namely, the feature's ease of use and ability to impart new information, with a modified subset of 5-point Likert scale questions from the SUS.

Acceptability

We assessed app acceptability during the structured exit interview with up to 27 open-ended questions about the participants' overall experience with the app. These questions allowed users to expand upon their close-ended responses and offer more information about what appealed (or did not appeal) to them in the app.

Engagement

We assessed engagement with the app in weekly intervals using built-in data capture device. The following measures were captured: (1) the number of check-ins to report goal progress, with the maximum allowable number of check-ins for each participant being 8 during the study; (2) goal type selected; (3) share settings selected; (4) messages to other users; (5) comments on their progress; and (6) any modifications to goals and share setting during the study period.

Secondary Outcome Measures

We examined the following measures to assess the implications of engagement with the app: (1) goal success count, defined as the total number of weeks a participant reported accomplishing his or her goal, with the maximum being 8, as recorded by the app's data capture; (2) goal reflections from participants' open-ended comments explaining the significance of goal success or failure during each check-in, as recorded by the app's data capture; (3) change in cancer prevention knowledge using survey questions that asked how important diet, exercise, smoking, and maintaining a healthy weight are to one's cancer risk using a 5-point Likert scale for each behavior, which were assessed at the baseline and exit interviews; and (4) change in participants' self-reported cancer prevention behaviors, specifically self-reported diet, exercise, smoking status, and

alcohol using validated questions asked at the baseline and exit interviews [43,44].

Analysis

First, we examined participants' baseline characteristics by tabulating the distributions or frequencies of participants' demographics, current technology use, comfort sharing health information with social ties, current health goals, and methods of health tracking. Second, we characterized app usability, app acceptability, and the nature and frequency of app engagement. Finally, in secondary analyses, we examined associations between app engagement and participant characteristics and goal success and changes in self-reported cancer prevention knowledge and behaviors.

We assessed app usability quantitatively by calculating each participant's SUS score based on validated criteria [45] and then determining the distributions of SUS scores for all participants who completed an exit survey. We also calculated the distribution of Likert scale responses, ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree, to statements assessing specific app features.

We assessed app acceptability, using qualitative content analysis [46], among the participants who completed structured exit interviews. We used an open-coding, group-based process to generate emergent themes on areas of strength and weakness in the app that would complement our quantitative usability and engagement data. The first author (DR) read through all responses and crafted the initial codebook. JA and DR then jointly coded the first 4 interviews (4/41, 10%) during research meetings to refine the codebook and achieve full consensus on code definitions and inclusion and exclusion criteria. Special attention was paid to create codes for deviant opinions in the responses. DR then coded the remaining interviews using a constant comparison technique to examine how newly coded texts matched previously coded information. Coding was completed manually.

JA reviewed the coding process iteratively to assure a consistent code app. DR and JA then grouped the responses and comments thematically over several research meetings. Acceptability feedback on the app's 3 main features guided the process of generating themes, although we paid special attention to searching for unexpected ideas as well. JMS and LJ, who were familiar with the participants' responses but did not participate in the coding process, then reviewed the derived themes to assure the validity and interpretation of the themes. We analyzed engagement data captured directly from the app on all participants through the following assessments. We calculated the mean number of check-ins (out of 8 possible opportunities) for all the enrolled participants. We also dichotomized the check-in variable, based on participants' median number of check-ins (7; IQR 5-8), with high use representing 7 or 8 check-ins and low use representing 0 to 6 total check-ins. We then determined the proportion of goal modifications and the types of goals selected. We also evaluated the frequencies of comments left and messages sent and how many participants sent a message in the study, commented during the study, chose to share their data with social ties or all users, and checked in after their 8-week study period was over.

In secondary analyses, we estimated associations between participant baseline characteristics and participant reported ease of use and app engagement, specifically high (7-8 check-ins) versus low (0-6 check-ins), in unadjusted logistic regression models and age- and sex-adjusted models. In addition, we examined preliminary results of app engagement by the following: (1) reported success in achieving goals; (2) coding and content analysis of comments within the app; (3) change in cancer prevention knowledge from baseline using two-tailed, paired t tests; and (4) change in self-reported behaviors from baseline using two-tailed, paired t tests. Coding and content analysis of comments were performed using the same processes as the open-ended feedback. All quantitative analyses were conducted using Stata version 15.1 (StataCorp LLC).

Results

Overview

Of the 338 individuals who were approached in the clinic waiting rooms, 171 (50.6%) met the eligibility criteria. Of those eligible, 23.9% (41/171) completed the enrollment survey, downloaded the app, and consented to have us track their use of the app. Of the 41 enrolled participants, 34 (83%) completed the exit survey after using the app for 2 months (Figure 2).

The average age of the participants was 51 (SD 12) years, and 76% (31/41) were women. Of the 41 participants, 31 (76%) reported tracking their health before the study, with 18 (44%) using some form of technology to do so. Most participants (28/41, 68%) relied on friends and family to accomplish a health goal within the past year, and 68% (28/41) participants were comfortable sharing *some* or *a lot* of their personal health information with friends and family. Conversely, fewer participants (11/41, 27%) were comfortable discussing personal health topics on the web (Table 1).



Figure 2. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram with enrollment and retention rates.





Table 1. Participant baseline characteristics (N=41).

Characteristics	Values			
Demographics				
Age (years), mean (SD)	51 (12)			
Participants, n (%)				
Females	31 (76)			
Technology use, n (%)				
Smartphone operating system				
Apple operating system	17 (41)			
Android operating system	23 (56)			
Missing	1 (2)			
Average use of phone				
Twice or more per day	40 (98)			
Nearly daily or daily	1 (2)			
Comfort sharing health information, n (%)				
Discusses health topics on the web	12 (29)			
Discusses personal health on the web	11 (27)			
How much health information was shared with friends or family?				
None	4 (10)			
A little	9 (22)			
Some	6 (15)			
A lot	22 (54)			
How many friends or family share health information?				
None	1 (2)			
1-5	18 (44)			
5-10	14 (34)			
10-15	4 (10)			
>15	4 (10)			
Health behaviors, n (%)				
Set a health goal within last month	30 (73)			
Currently tracking health	31 (76)			
Methods have used to track health				
Uses technology to track health (eg, phone app, eHealth tracker, and patient portal)	18 (44)			
Tracks health manually (eg, health journal)	16 (39)			
Relied on friends or family to accomplish the health goal in previous year	28 (68)			

Usability and Acceptability of Mobile App

The majority of participants who completed the exit survey (82%, 28/34) reported positive experiences with the app. The app's mean SUS score was 87 (SD 12; median 90; IQR 78-95). Specifically, 94% (32/34) of the participants agreed that the app was easy to use and 82% (28/34) agreed that they would like to use the app frequently. Figure 3 illustrates the distribution of

responses to the Likert scale statements about app feature ease of use and knowledge delivery.

Analysis of open-ended responses revealed several key themes depicting both excitement about the app and opportunities for app refinements, with many participants expressing the need for more personalized feedback and social interactions (Textbox 1).

XSL•FO RenderX





Textbox 1. Themes from participant open-ended feedback on app acceptability.

Ease of use is a major strength

- "It was very helpful. Simple. I don't get a lot of notifications which was great." [Participant 7]
- "Not difficult at all. It was easy to do it on the go. Very convenient." [Participant 32]

Features encourage app use and motivate behavioral change

- "The text message reminders were helpful and it keeps people on track." [Participant 31]
- "...it is encouraging to see other people doing what you're doing. It felt like you were doing it as a group." [Participant 15]
- "The goal options were good and [it] helped me change my lifestyle." [Participant 24]

Request for more avenues for social interaction

- "I would like meetings for help setting up these goals [and] to share goals and conquests." [Participant 2]
- "It would have been nice to be able to talk more about goals with others in the app." [Participant 22]

Request for personalized feedback to facilitate goal completion

- "Give us recipes for healthier foods would be nice." [Participant 3]
- "So when I didn't meet my goal I wish that there were tips given to me or more info to help me achieve it next." [Participant 22]

Engagement

We captured participant engagement with the app using check-ins during and after the 8-week study period, as depicted in Figure 4. Out of 8 possible weekly check-ins during the study period, the mean number of check-ins per participant was 5.7 (SD 2.7). Of the total number of participants, 76% (31/41) participants checked in at least four times, 56% (23/41) checked in seven or eight times, and 10% (4/41) never checked in after downloading the app. Participants continued to receive check-in

invitations after they completed the 8-week study period, and 51% (21/41) participants checked in at least once during the postintervention period.

In terms of goal selection, activity-related goals were initially the most commonly selected, but participants switched to diet-based and weight-tracking goals as the study progressed. Regular users (31/41, 76%) on average set 2.1 goals during the 8 weeks. Participants who selected diet or weight-tracking goals were also more likely to check in than participants who selected activity or smoking cessation goals (Figure 5).



Figure 4. App engagement during and after the 8-week study period.







Among the 41 participants, 34 (83%) opted to share progress with their social ties and 18 (44%) opted to share their progress with all app users. A majority of participants used the app's comments box (29/41, 71%), which allowed participants at each check-in to reflect on their weekly progress. Fewer participants (8/41, 20%) used the app's messaging feature, possibly because of the incomplete functionality of this feature in the beta version of the app. Participants left a total of 111 comments and sent 26 messages during the study period. In these comments, participants described both facilitators and barriers to goal success, left inspiring messages, and linked goal success to overall improvements in their health and well-being (Textbox 2). Of those 34 participants who completed the exit interview, 23 (68%) reported visiting the app at least once outside the weekly check-in to view other users' progress or read the health information on the app.

Textbox 2. Themes on how participants used the comment section of the app.

Identified barriers that led to an unsuccessful week

- "Hi, I've just been super busy, sometimes not stopping to eat until the evening. Thanks for contacting me. I needed a reminder." [Participant 32]
- "I got weak and started craving french fries. They just were so tempting and I failed but I know I'll be able to get past these cravings." [Participant 40]

Described facilitators of weekly goal success

- "I had to push myself, even when I didn't want to do it. I am not a excise person that [goes] to the gym so I just start walking around my block 2 times. Then when it got easy then I add more times that I walk around my block." [Participant 34]
- "I have been determined to keep to my goal of lessening processed foods. I hope to continue this as well as engaging my family. Thank you." [Participant 22]
- "I was successful because I had help from my friends to work out." [Participant 42]

Left inspiring messages

- "I try to keep my eyes on the gold." [Participant 14]
- "Everything is good if you stay positive will be good." [Participant 2]

Detailed impact on health and overall well-being

- "Me and my grandkids play in the park. I even try to run a little bit. Still no smoking. Feel good." [Participant 2]
- "Accountability, My Fitness Pal, drop in lbs. & new burst of energy! Liking this New Me!" [Participant 4]
- "I actually increased my walk to 45 min. The more I do the more motivated I become. I have also started doing 20 min of stretches for seniors. Youtube...first thing after tea in morning before walk. I'm loving it!" [Participant 25]

Celebrated success and major health improvements

- "I have lost 45 pounds and I feel great." [Participant 2]
- "I really had to really work on me to stop smoking but I did it." [Participant 28]

Factors Associated With App Engagement

We did not find any participant baseline characteristics to be significantly associated with app engagement. We found significant univariate associations between low app engagement and loss to follow-up, as well as low app engagement and the belief that the app was too complicated, although these associations disappeared after age and sex adjustment (Table 2).


Resnick et al

Table 2. Differences in app engagement by participants' characteristics (N=41).

Charact		Low app user (0-6 to- tal check-ins; n=18),	High app user (7-8 to- tal check-ins; $n=23$),	Unadjusted OR ^a (95% CI) for high app en-	Adjusted OR (95% CI) for high app en-
Charact	eristics	n (%)	n (%)	gagement	gagement
Baselin	e characteristics				
Sez	Σ.				N/A ^c
	Female	16 (89)	15 (65)	Reference	
	Male	2 (11)	8 (35)	4.27 (0.78-23.4)	
Ag	e (years)				N/A
	20-39	5 (28)	2 (9)	Reference	
	40-59	10 (56)	13 (57)	3.25 (0.52-20.37)	
	60-79	3 (17)	8 (35)	6.67 (0.81-54.96)	
He	alth tracking				
	Does not track health	3 (17)	4 (17)	Reference	Reference
	Tracks health manually	7 (39)	9 (39)	0.96 (0.16-5.80)	1.21 (0.15-9.48)
	Tracks health with technology	8 (44)	10 (43)	0.94 (0.16-5.46)	2.89 (0.31-26.71)
Postuse	e characteristics				
Fil	led out an exit survey				
	No	6 (33)	1 (4)	Reference	Reference
	Yes	12 (67)	22 (96)	11 (1.18-102.4) ^d	6.11 (0.59-63.3)
Th	ought app was too complex (n=34)				
	No	8 (75)	21 (95)	Reference	Reference
	Yes	4 (25)	1 (5)	0.10 (0.01-0.99) ^d	0.10 (0.01-1.15)
Th	ought app was too simplistic (n=34)				
	No	11 (92)	18 (82)	Reference	Reference
	Yes	1 (8)	4 (18)	2.44 (0.24-24.8)	1.49 (0.12-17.7)

^aOR: odds ratio.

^bAdjusted for sex and age (as a continuous variable).

^cN/A: not applicable.

^dStatistically significant result at *P*<.05.

Implications of App Engagement on Goal Success and Behavioral Change

Most participants reported accomplishing their selected health goals each week, with the average participant succeeding in 5.1 out of the 8 weeks (SD 2.7). Of the 328 total check-in opportunities (41 participants×8 weeks), 211 (64.3%) were marked as successful. Participants selected a failure only 6.7% (22/328) of the time, with the other 28.9% (95/328) of opportunities yielding no response. Using two-tailed, paired t tests, we found that cancer prevention knowledge increased from baseline, with participants being more likely to recognize the link between the lack of exercise and unhealthy weight with cancer. Two-tailed, paired t tests also showed an improvement in diet scores among participants who selected a diet-related goal. We also found that 25% (2/8) of the participants who selected smoking cessation as their goal no longer reported smoking at the exit interview. As noted in Textbox 2, the open-ended comments that participants left after each check-in

RenderX

also suggested that the app was able to motivate behavioral change.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Prior meta-analyses reveal mixed evidence about the ability of health promotion mobile apps to change behavior in a quantifiable manner (eg, significantly increase physical activity) [47] or improve tangible health outcomes (eg, reduce blood pressure or cholesterol levels) [48]. This may be in part because of the fact that many apps are developed without user testing or constructed without a coherent behavior change framework [11,12]. In this pilot study, we examine the Healthier Together mobile app, which was developed through iterative user testing and is grounded in social network and goal-setting theories of behavior change. We found that the app strongly engaged our target population, even beyond the study period, with promising results on participants' knowledge of cancer prevention

Consistent with prior research showing that minority populations frequently use their mobile phones to obtain health information [15,16], almost half of the participants in our study (18/41, 44%) used various forms of technology to track their health before participation. Participants in the study also reported that they were comfortable discussing their health with their social networks. After interacting with the Healthier Together app for 2 months, the participants supported the usability and acceptability of the app. The app's mean SUS score of 87 indicates that the app is very usable [42], and the vast majority of participants (28/34, 82%) indicated that they would like to use the app frequently if available. The open-ended responses further showcased the participants' beliefs in app acceptability and overall utility. For example, the fact that nearly all participants identified one or more of the app's features as facilitators of goal success shows that the participants understood and used the theoretical basis of the app to their advantage.

Our findings suggest that the high usability scores and acceptability of this app by participants translated into their high engagement: most participants missed only 1 check-in out of 8 and over 50% (21/41) continued to check in after the 8-week study was over. This high engagement is especially encouraging, as participants were not incentivized to engage with the app and only incentivized to complete the baseline and exit surveys. Engagement with the app extended beyond weekly check-ins to report goal achievement. Most participants (23/34, 64%) logged on to the app outside of the weekly check-in to explore the app's other features, whereas many users (29/41, 71%) left unprompted comments when they checked in to highlight their progress or troubleshoot barriers to goal success.

Our study suggests that app engagement, in turn, appears to motivate behavioral change. First, most participants reported accomplishing their weekly health goals. On average, participants reported success in goal attainment of 64.3% (211/328) of the time. These successes represent health behaviors that the participants may not have undertaken if not enrolled in the study. Through the comments participants left when checking in, we found evidence of how these successes translated to tangible behavior changes and health outcomes: participants reported building up exercise programs, eating healthier foods, losing a significant amount of weight, and smoking cessation. We were able to partially capture these effects quantitatively, with participant diet scores and cancer prevention knowledge increasing after the study. Future work should enlist a larger sample size and conduct a randomized controlled trial to further evaluate the effectiveness of this intervention as well as determine what participant characteristics may better forecast app engagement. In this study, we found that neither age nor prior health tracking methods predicted app engagement, which may suggest that the app has a broad appeal.

This study also yielded important data to improve the Healthier Together app. For example, many participants wanted the app to both provide them with additional feedback about how to attain their health goals and facilitate easier ways to connect

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22510
```

with other users working on similar goals. We hope that the future iteration of the Healthier Together app will have a group chat feature that allows users to work on goals collectively with other users, potentially with the input of a health provider that occasionally checks the chat. Research suggests that decentralized social networks, such as those envisioned by Healthier Together, can harness social influence to amplify social learning and enhance group intelligence on topics including finance and health [27]. Therefore, rather than the Healthier Together staff providing individualized feedback to each user, users could solicit feedback and recommendations from their peers.

Notably, of the 328 check-ins, there were 22 reported failures, 211 successes, and 95 nonresponses, suggesting that participants were more likely to check in if they met their weekly goal. This may be explained by a number of cognitive biases, such as social desirability bias, with participants not wanting to publicly admit an unsuccessful week [49]. Future versions of the app should aim to reframe unsuccessful weeks as opportunities for feedback and goal reflection rather than as reasons to disengage from the app. This study also found a lower rate of engagement with the app when users selected activity-based goals and an overall shift from activity-based goals to diet-based and weight-tracking goals as the study progressed. One potential reason for this observation is that the study occurred during the fall of 2019 in Philadelphia, and the colder weather may have disincentivized some participants from exercising [50]. Participants may have also been more conscious of their diet, given the upcoming holiday season [51]. Future versions of the app will aim to adjust the predetermined SMART goals to account for such variations.

Strengths and Limitations

The success of this study in showing Healthier Together is engaging, usable, and acceptable and in providing the development team with important feedback for future versions of the app must be framed within certain limitations. First, this study was not powered to detect changes in health behavior among participants, nor did it randomize participants to test its effectiveness. The focus of this pilot study on usability and acceptability rather than effectiveness is commonplace for the initial stages of app development [52,53] and is consistent with the use of an iterative process to build health apps [35]. Quantitative analysis of close-ended questions in this study was descriptive and designed to inform future inquiries. Second, we focused on recruiting non-Hispanic Black primary care patients using purposive sampling and could not generalize these results if Healthier Together was downloaded in a nonclinical setting. However, we chose this methodology given the objective of Healthier Together is to facilitate cooperation between primary care patients and their providers on health goals. We did not independently code our structured interviews and, therefore, did not generate an intercoder reliability statistic [54]. Our analytic approach allowed us to better generate themes that enhanced our primary quantitative usability and engagement data. We also took the following key steps to assure the validity of the coding process consistent with external guidelines: (1) 2coders achieved full consensus on code definitions reaching consensus on any deviant opinions, and (2) 2 additional independent researchers reviewed and edited the themes [55].

XSL•FO RenderX

Conclusions

In conclusion, this study showed that non-Hispanic Black primary care patients found Healthier Together, an evidence-based mobile app that focuses on cancer prevention behaviors, both engaging and valuable. We hope that the results of this study will inform future research on the development of health behavior interventions for minority populations, especially those that aim to leverage goal setting, social cooperation, and health technology.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all of the participants who diligently engaged with the Healthier Together app and provided the team with thoughtful feedback. JA was supported by the American Cancer Society Tri-State CEO's Against Cancer Mentored Research Scholar Grant, MRSG-17-155-01-CPPB. In addition, this study was supported in part by the 2018 Abramson Cancer Center Population Science Pilot Award Program, Abramson Cancer Center Support Grant, P30-CA016420. The funders had no role in the design and conduct of the study; the collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; or the preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

LJ was employed by the app developer Transmogrify. Transmogrify had no input in the study design or evaluation.

References

- 1. Cancer Statistics. National Cancer Institute. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/statistics</u> [accessed 2020-04-26]
- Huxley RR, Ansary-Moghaddam A, Clifton P, Czernichow S, Parr CL, Woodward M. The impact of dietary and lifestyle risk factors on risk of colorectal cancer: a quantitative overview of the epidemiological evidence. Int J Cancer 2009 Jul 1;125(1):171-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijc.24343] [Medline: 19350627]
- 3. Key TJ, Allen NE, Spencer EA, Travis RC. The effect of diet on risk of cancer. Lancet 2002 Sep;360(9336):861-868. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(02)09958-0]
- 4. LEE I. Physical activity and cancer prevention: data from epidemiologic studies. Med Sci Sports Exer 2003;35(11):1823-1827. [doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000093620.27893.23]
- 5. Sasco AJ, Secretan MB, Straif K. Tobacco smoking and cancer: a brief review of recent epidemiological evidence. Lung Cancer 2004 Aug;45(Suppl 2):S3-S9. [doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2004.07.998] [Medline: 15552776]
- 6. Massetti GM, Dietz WH, Richardson LC. Excessive weight gain, obesity, and cancer: opportunities for clinical intervention. J Am Med Assoc 2017 Nov 28;318(20):1975-1976 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.15519] [Medline: 28973170]
- Buchanan AH, Skinner CS, Rawl SM, Moser BK, Champion VL, Scott LL, et al. Patients' interest in discussing cancer risk and risk management with primary care physicians. Patient Educ Couns 2005 Apr;57(1):77-87. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2004.04.003] [Medline: 15797155]
- MacGregor K, Handley M, Wong S, Sharifi C, Gjeltema K, Schillinger D, et al. Behavior-change action plans in primary care: a feasibility study of clinicians. J Am Board Fam Med 2006 May 1;19(3):215-223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.19.3.215] [Medline: 16672674]
- Romeo A, Edney S, Plotnikoff R, Curtis R, Ryan J, Sanders I, et al. Can smartphone apps increase physical activity? Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 19;21(3):e12053 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12053] [Medline: 30888321]
- 10. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among us mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 4;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- 11. Bondaronek P, Alkhaldi G, Slee A, Hamilton FL, Murray E. Quality of publicly available physical activity apps: review and content analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Mar 21;6(3):e53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9069] [Medline: 29563080]
- 12. Edwards EA, Lumsden J, Rivas C, Steed L, Edwards LA, Thiyagarajan A, et al. Gamification for health promotion: systematic review of behaviour change techniques in smartphone apps. BMJ Open 2016 Oct 4;6(10):e012447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012447] [Medline: 27707829]
- 13. Schunk DH. Goal setting and self-efficacy during self-regulated learning. Educ Psychol 1990 Jan;25(1):71-86. [doi: 10.1207/s15326985ep2501_6]
- Centola D. Social media and the science of health behavior. Circulation 2013 May 28;127(21):2135-2144. [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.101816] [Medline: 23716382]
- Perrin A, Turner E. Smartphones Help Blacks, Hispanics Bridge Some But Not All Digital Gaps with Whites. Pew Research Center. 2019 Aug 20. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/08/20/</u> smartphones-help-blacks-hispanics-bridge-some-but-not-all-digital-gaps-with-whites/ [accessed 2020-04-26]
- Chang E, Blondon K, Lyles CR, Jordan L, Ralston JD. Racial/ethnic variation in devices used to access patient portals. Am J Manag Care 2018 Jan 1;24(1):e1-e8 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29350513]

- Bennett GG, Steinberg DM, Stoute C, Lanpher M, Lane I, Askew S, et al. Electronic health (eHealth) interventions for weight management among racial/ethnic minority adults: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2014 Oct;15(Suppl 4):146-158. [doi: 10.1111/obr.12218] [Medline: 25196411]
- 18. Bovend'Eerdt TJH, Botell RE, Wade DT. Writing SMART rehabilitation goals and achieving goal attainment scaling: a practical guide. Clin Rehabil 2009 Apr;23(4):352-361. [doi: 10.1177/0269215508101741] [Medline: 19237435]
- 19. ACS Guidelines for Nutrition and Physical Activity. American Cancer Society. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/healthy/eat-healthy-get-active/acs-guidelines-nutrition-physical-activity-cancer-prevention/guidelines.html</u> [accessed 2020-05-22]
- 20. Tobacco and Cancer. American Cancer Society. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-causes/tobacco-and-cancer.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2020-05-22]
- 21. Bandura A. Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. Psychol Health 1998 Jul;13(4):623-649. [doi: 10.1080/08870449808407422]
- 22. Heath C, Larrick RP, Wu G. Goals as reference points. Cogn Psychol 1999 Feb;38(1):79-109. [doi: <u>10.1006/cogp.1998.0708</u>] [Medline: <u>10090799</u>]
- 23. Gotay CC. Behavior and cancer prevention. J Clin Oncol 2005 Jan 10;23(2):301-310. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2005.06.069]
- 24. Strecher VJ, Seijts GH, Kok GJ, Latham GP, Glasgow R, DeVellis B, et al. Goal setting as a strategy for health behavior change. Health Educ Q 1995 May;22(2):190-200. [doi: 10.1177/109019819502200207] [Medline: 7622387]
- 25. Ammerman A, Lindquist C, Hersey J, Jackman AM, Gavin NI, Garces C, et al. Efficacy of Interventions To Modify Dietary Behavior Related to Cancer Risk: Summary. In: AHRQ Evidence Report Summaries. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; Nov 2000.
- 26. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013 Aug;46(1):81-95. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- Centola D. The spread of behavior in an online social network experiment. Science 2010 Sep 3;329(5996):1194-1197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.1185231] [Medline: 20813952]
- 28. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin 2019 Jan;69(1):7-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21551] [Medline: 30620402]
- Barbeau EM, Krieger N, Soobader M. Working class matters: socioeconomic disadvantage, race/ethnicity, gender, and smoking in NHIS 2000. Am J Public Health 2004 Feb;94(2):269-278. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.94.2.269</u>] [Medline: <u>14759942</u>]
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. J Am Med Assoc 2014 Feb 26;311(8):806-814 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2014.732</u>] [Medline: <u>24570244</u>]
- Delva J, O'Malley PM, Johnston LD. Racial/ethnic and socioeconomic status differences in overweight and health-related behaviors among American students: national trends 1986-2003. J Adolesc Health 2006 Oct;39(4):536-545. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.02.013] [Medline: 16982389]
- 32. Wolff M, Bates T, Beck B, Young S, Ahmed SM, Maurana C. Cancer prevention in underserved African American communities: barriers and effective strategies--a review of the literature. WMJ 2003;102(5):36-40. [Medline: <u>14621929</u>]
- Haines VA, Hurlbert JS, Beggs JJ. Exploring the determinants of support provision: provider characteristics, personal networks, community contexts, and support following life events. J Health Soc Behav 1996 Sep;37(3):252-264. [Medline: <u>8898496</u>]
- Cornwell B, Schumm LP, Laumann EO, Graber J. Social Networks in the NSHAP study: rationale, measurement, and preliminary findings. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2009 Nov;64(Suppl 1):i47-i55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbp042] [Medline: 19502574]
- Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>27745683</u>]
- 36. Resnick D, Bautista A, Smith JM, Kearney M, Jones L, Schapira MM, et al. Designing a Cancer Prevention Collaborative Goal Setting Application for Primary Care Patients: An Iterative, Patient-led Process. In: SGIM20 On Demand. 2020 Jan Presented at: SGIM'20; June 1-7, 2020; Virtual.
- 37. Satia JA, Barlow J, Armstrong-Brown J, Watters JL. Qualitative study to explore prospect theory and message framing and diet and cancer prevention-related issues among African American adolescents. Cancer Nurs 2010;33(2):102-109. [doi: 10.1097/ncc.0b013e3181be5e8a]
- 38. Webb TL, Sheeran P. Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavior change? A meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. Psychol Bull 2006 Mar;132(2):249-268. [doi: <u>10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.249</u>] [Medline: <u>16536643</u>]
- 39. Gallagher KM, Updegraff JA. Health message framing effects on attitudes, intentions, and behavior: a meta-analytic review. Ann Behav Med 2012 Feb;43(1):101-116. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-011-9308-7] [Medline: 21993844]
- 40. Mason M. Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung 2010 Aug;11(3). [doi: 10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428]
- 41. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbj.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]

- 42. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum-Comput Interac 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 43. Rifas-Shiman SL, Willett WC, Lobb R, Kotch J, Dart C, Gillman MW. PrimeScreen, a brief dietary screening tool: reproducibility and comparability with both a longer food frequency questionnaire and biomarkers. Public Health Nutr 2001 Apr;4(2):249-254. [doi: 10.1079/phn200061] [Medline: 11299098]
- 44. Kim BH, Glanz K. Text messaging to motivate walking in older African Americans: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med 2013 Jan;44(1):71-75. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.09.050] [Medline: 23253653]
- 45. Thomas N. How To Use The System Usability Scale (SUS) To Evaluate The Usability Of Your Website Usability Geek Internet. Usability Geek. URL: <u>https://usabilitygeek.com/</u> how-to-use-the-system-usability-scale-sus-to-evaluate-the-usability-of-your-website/ [accessed 2020-06-17]
- 46. White MD, Marsh EE. Content analysis: a flexible methodology. Library Trends 2006;55(1):22-45. [doi: 10.1353/lib.2006.0053]
- 47. Romeo A, Edney S, Plotnikoff R, Curtis R, Ryan J, Sanders I, et al. Can smartphone apps increase physical activity? Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 19;21(3):e12053 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12053] [Medline: 30888321]
- 48. Coorey GM, Neubeck L, Mulley J, Redfern J. Effectiveness, acceptability and usefulness of mobile applications for cardiovascular disease self-management: systematic review with meta-synthesis of quantitative and qualitative data. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2018 Mar;25(5):505-521. [doi: 10.1177/2047487317750913] [Medline: 29313363]
- 49. Brenner PS, DeLamater JD. Social desirability bias in self-reports of physical activity: is an exercise identity the culprit? Soc Indic Res 2013 Jun 1;117(2):489-504. [doi: 10.1007/s11205-013-0359-y]
- 50. Tucker P, Gilliland J. The effect of season and weather on physical activity: a systematic review. Public Health 2007 Dec;121(12):909-922. [doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2007.04.009] [Medline: 17920646]
- 51. Helander EE, Wansink B, Chieh A. Weight gain over the holidays in three countries. N Engl J Med 2016 Sep 22;375(12):1200-1202. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1602012] [Medline: 27653588]
- Sullivan PS, Driggers R, Stekler JD, Siegler A, Goldenberg T, McDougal SJ, et al. Usability and acceptability of a mobile comprehensive HIV prevention app for men who have sex with men: a pilot study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 9;5(3):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7199] [Medline: 28279949]
- 53. Mitchell JT, LeGrand S, Hightow-Weidman LB, McKellar MS, Kashuba AD, Cottrell M, et al. Smartphone-based contingency management intervention to improve pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence: pilot trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Sep 10;6(9):e10456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10456] [Medline: 30201601]
- 54. O'Connor C, Joffe H. Intercoder reliability in qualitative research: debates and practical guidelines. Int J Qual Method 2020 Jan 22;19:160940691989922. [doi: 10.1177/1609406919899220]
- O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med 2014 Sep;89(9):1245-1251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000388] [Medline: 24979285]

Abbreviations

PCP: primary care provider REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture SMART: specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and time-bound SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.07.20; peer-reviewed by J Makin, X He; comments to author 20.10.20; revised version received 12.12.20; accepted 07.05.21; published 14.07.21.

Please cite as: Resnick D, Schapira MM, Smith JM, Bautista A, Xu C, Jones L, Aysola J Promoting Collaborative Goal Setting for Cancer Prevention Among Primary Care Patients Through mHealth: Mixed Methods Evaluation of a New App JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22510 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22510 doi:10.2196/22510 PMID:34259162

©Daniel Resnick, Marilyn M Schapira, Jazmine M Smith, Allison Bautista, Chang Xu, Liz Jones, Jaya Aysola. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 14.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under

the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

User Engagement and Usability of Suicide Prevention Apps: Systematic Search in App Stores and Content Analysis

Chelsey R Wilks¹, PhD; Carol Chu², PhD; DongGun Sim³, EdM; Josh Lovell⁴, MA; Peter Gutierrez^{5,6}, PhD; Thomas Joiner⁷, PhD; Ronald C Kessler⁸, PhD; Matthew K Nock⁹, PhD

⁷Department of Psychology, Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL, United States

⁸Department of Health Care Policy, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

⁹Department of Psychology, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Chelsey R Wilks, PhD Department of Psychological Sciences University of Missouri-St. Louis 1 University Way St Louis, MO, 63121 United States Phone: 1 (314) 516 5383 Email: chelseywilks@umsl.edu

Abstract

Background: People with suicidal thoughts are more inclined to seek technology-delivered interventions than in-person forms of treatment, making mobile apps for suicide prevention an ideal platform for treatment delivery. This review examines apps designed for suicide prevention, with a specific focus on user engagement.

Objective: This study aims to update the literature and broadly evaluate the landscape of mobile health apps for suicide prevention; examine apps with key features and primary approaches to suicide prevention; and systematically evaluate the engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information of the apps.

Methods: All apps related to suicidal thoughts and behaviors were identified in the Google Play and iOS app stores and were systematically reviewed for their content and quality. The mobile app rating scale (MARS) was used to evaluate app usability and engagement.

Results: Of the 66 apps identified, 42 (64%) were specifically designed for people with suicidal ideation, and 59 (89%) had at least one best practice feature for suicide risk reduction. The mean overall MARS score of all apps was 3.5 (range 2.1-4.5), with 83% (55/66) of apps having a minimum acceptability score of 3. The total MARS score was not associated with the user app rating (r=-0.001; P=.99) or the number of features (r=0.24; P=.09).

Conclusions: This study identified many usable and engaging apps in app stores designed for suicide prevention. However, there are only limited apps for clinicians. Thus, mobile apps for suicide prevention should be carefully developed and clinically evaluated.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27018) doi:10.2196/27018

KEYWORDS suicide; mHealth; usability; engagement; mobile phone

¹Department of Psychological Sciences, University of Missouri-St. Louis, St Louis, MO, United States

²Minneapolis Veterans Affairs Health Care System, Minneapolis, MN, United States

³School of Theology, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

⁴Department of Psychology, Hofstra University, Hempstead, NY, United States

⁵Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center, Denver, CO, United States

⁶University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Denver, CO, United States

Introduction

Background

Suicide is the second leading cause of death in the United States among people between the ages of 10-34 years. Suicidal thoughts and behaviors are difficult to treat, and only a few treatments with evidence of efficacy are widely disseminated. Unfortunately, treatment engagement among suicidal patients is low, particularly among those experiencing frequent and intense suicidal ideation [1-3]. Fortunately, although some high-risk suicidal individuals avoid face-to-face intervention, they may be inclined to anonymously seek out help through technology [4-6].

One cost-effective and convenient avenue for mental health delivery is through mobile mental health apps (ie, mobile health [mHealth] apps). There has been an increase in the number of mHealth app targeted for mental health problems in general [7,8] and suicide in particular [9,10]. mHealth may be a novel strategy to target suicide among those in high-income countries, with over 95% of US adults reporting that they own a smartphone [11]. In addition, approximately 64% of adolescents reported using apps to manage their mental health symptoms [12].

The number of mental health-related apps available to users has increased dramatically, with recent estimates suggesting that more than 10,000 such apps have been created [13]. Unfortunately, only a few mHealth apps have demonstrated efficacy [14,15]. In addition, 74% of users reported that they stopped using mHealth apps after only 10 uses [16]. Thus, there is a significant deficit in studies investigating the efficacy and engagement levels of mHealth apps, as well as those particularly focusing on suicide prevention. For instance, Larsen et al [10] identified 49 apps specifically designed to prevent or reduce suicide and concluded that although many apps contained some elements of best practices, none of the apps provided evidence supporting their efficacy. Best practices for suicide prevention include strategies with consistent evidence for reducing suicide and have been outlined in detail in previous reviews [17]. For example, means safety, defined as the removal of lethal means, has consistently been identified as an effective suicide prevention intervention [18]. Other best practices include providing access to suicide hotlines, crisis planning, and social support [19,20]. De La Torre et al [9] performed a more comprehensive review and identified 20 apps related to suicide prevention and 6 published scholarly articles describing the features and clinical utility of mobile apps for suicide prevention. However, neither of these reviews critically

evaluated the user experience of mHealth apps related to suicide prevention. In this context, user experience comprises usability and engagement. Usability refers to how simple and intuitive it is to access computing technology [21], whereas engagement refers to the degree to which user interest is maintained when interacting with computing technology [22]. User engagement can be evaluated using objective metrics (eg, downloads, popularity, and dwell time) and expert ratings [23].

Objectives

As mHealth apps have the potential to monitor and mitigate suicidal crises, it is important to assess the features and quality of smartphone apps currently available. Apps that can engage users toward more effective coping behavior in lieu of suicidal acts could have a sweeping public health impact but only if the user is prompted to open the app during critical times. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to (1) update the literature and broadly evaluate the landscape of mHealth apps for suicide prevention, (2) examine the key features and primary approaches to suicide prevention of these apps, and (3) systematically evaluate the engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information of the apps. The systematic evaluation of usability and engagement was difficult until the development of mobile app rating scale (MARS), a tool for classifying and rating the quality of mHealth apps [24]. This review aims to help users make more informed decisions by assessing the features, usability, and engagement of apps designed to prevent suicide.

Methods

App Selection

Apps were initially identified in October 2018 and rereviewed in October 2020 through a systematic search of the US iTunes and Google Play stores. Search terms included suicide, suicidal ideation, suicide ideation, thoughts about suicide, suicidal thinking, ideation, thinking about suicide, self-harm, self-injury, nonsuicidal self-injury, and NSSI. Apps were included if they (1) were smartphone based, (2) used Android or iOS operating systems, (3) were in the English language, (4) had one or more of the aforementioned search terms in the app description, and (5) were available for download in the US app store (iTunes or Google Play). Apps were excluded if they (1) did not primarily target suicidal thoughts, behaviors, or self-injury; required payment for download; or were no longer available or accessible for download (Figure 1). iPhone apps were downloaded and tested using an iPhone 7 and an iPhone 11 in iOS 11, whereas Android apps were downloaded and tested using a simple mobile phone and One Plus 7 Pro Android in version Oreo 8.1 and Oxygen OS 10.3.2, respectively.



Figure 1. Systematic app selection.



Data Extraction

The following data about all apps were recorded: app name, platform (ie, Android or iOS), current version, cost, number of installs (Android only), and user ratings (1-5 stars). The intended best practice prevention strategy of each app is noted using the relevant portion of the coding scheme by Larsen et al [10], including means safety (ie, reducing access to lethal means of suicide), support (ie, providing access to social support networks, such as through a message board), access to crisis support or helpline, psychotherapies (cognitive behavior therapy or dialectical behavior therapy), and safety planning. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion among the authors until a consensus was reached. As suicide prevention can encompass numerous strategies from support to immediate crisis intervention, we identified four approaches that each app used as its main prevention strategy: providing psychoeducation, teaching coping skills, documenting a crisis plan, and providing social support. Apps that reportedly targeted suicide risk but did not fall into those four categories were classified as other.

App Quality

All apps were rated by 2 independent reviewers using the MARS. The 23 items in the MARS were identified from a review of existing criteria for rating app quality. Each item was rated on a 5-point scale (ie, 1=inadequate; 2=poor; 3=acceptable; 4=good; and 5=excellent) with descriptors provided for each anchor rating. MARS grouped the items into four categories, namely engagement (5 items), functionality (4 items), aesthetics (3 items), and information quality (7 items), and a subjective quality scale (eg, worth recommending and overall satisfaction; 4 items). The dimension of subjective quality in MARS was excluded from the analysis to ensure objectivity and consistency

```
of the assessment process. Previous studies using MARS have
also excluded the subjective quality dimension for this reason
[24]. The MARS was scored using a mean for each category
and an overall mean score. The MARS demonstrated good
internal consistency (\alpha=.90) and interrater reliability (intraclass
coefficient=0.79) in previous research [24].
```

Before the app assessment, the 4 reviewers (CRW, CC, DS, JL) discussed the use of the MARS for apps intended for people with suicidal thoughts and behaviors. Evaluating the quality and user experience of mobile apps can be unreliable [25]. The first author (CRW) has extensive research experience in developing mobile apps, conducting user research with mobile and web-based applications, and human-computer interaction. We based the target audience on the following: patients or consumers, clinicians, teens, and family or friends. As recommended by the developers of the MARS, the reviewers considered all items of the MARS and confirmed that all were applicable to apps for suicide prevention and that no additional app-specific items were required.

After a consensus was reached with regard to MARS, the reviewers independently rated the included apps. Each reviewer interacted with the identified app for several minutes, ensuring that all aspects of functionality were tested and evaluated. When reviewers had questions or concerns related to the apps, these issues were discussed among the authors and a consensus was reached.

Statistical Analyses

Scores were calculated for each MARS item, along with the total mean score. The interrater reliability of the MARS subscales and total quality score was calculated using the

intraclass correlation coefficient two-way random-effects model of absolute agreement between single ratings. The mean value for each dimension of MARS was calculated. The difference in app quality between affiliations was analyzed using analysis of variance to examine the moderating effect of developers. Spearman correlations among the four dimensions of MARS, the number of downloads, and average rating were also analyzed. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS, version 24 (IBM Corporation).

Results

Search Results

A total of 1593 apps (iTunes Apple store, n=245; Google Play Store, n=1348) were initially screened or manually identified. In the screening stage, 1353 apps were excluded as they were either duplicates, not written in the English language, or irrelevant (eg, games, wallpapers, and quotes). Of the 240 apps that were downloaded and tested for eligibility, 174 (72.5%) were excluded as they were no longer available or accessible for download, unrelated to suicide, or required payment for download. The remaining 66 apps were included in the quality assessment and usability evaluation (Figure 1).

Descriptive Characteristics

The characteristics and the mean MARS scores of the 66 included apps are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1. The

average user rating of the apps was 3.5 (range 1-5). Although all included apps were free, 2 offered paid upgraded versions at a cost between US \$0.99 and US \$149.99 for in-app purchases. A total of 35 apps were found in both iOS and Android app stores, whereas 19 were iOS only and 12 were Android only. More than half (37/66, 56%) of the apps included a privacy policy.

The five features considered to be best practices for suicide prevention were examined for each app and are presented in Table 1. None of the apps had all five features, and only 4 apps had four of the five best practices: Prevent Suicide: Dumfries & Galloway, ReMinder Suicide Safety Plan, SafetyNet: Your Suicide Prevention App, and Don't Panic-depression and panic help. The average number of features across apps was 1.7. None of the features was found in the following 7 apps: SafeUT, R U Suicidal?, Self Harm Recovery, A Teen Suicide Prevention Anime, Seeking the Military Suicide Solution, Elijah, and Suicide Prevention-Ways to Help a Suicidal Friend. The most common of the five features included were access to a crisis line (37/66, 56%), support (33/66, 50%), and a safety plan (22/66, 33%), whereas means safety was the least integrated feature (8/66, 12% of apps). The apps were most often designed for persons experiencing suicidal thoughts (49/66, 74%), followed by friends and family (11/66, 16%), teens (6/66, 9%), and clinicians (1/66, 2%; Multimedia Appendix 1). On the basis of the Android apps alone, the apps with the most downloads were Calm Harm, Talk Life, and Mood Tools with over 100,000 downloads.



Table 1. Best practice features for suicide prevention of included apps (N=66).

App name	Means safety	Support	Crisis line access	Treatment	Safety plan
Calm in the Storm: Stress Management					✓ ^a
INSIST		1			
MY3 Support Network			✓		\checkmark
TalkLife for Stress & Anxiety		1			
SafeUT					
First Step OR		1	✓		
MoodTools-Depression Aid				✓	\checkmark
HOPE-Broome County Mental Health		1	✓		
STOPP app		1		✓	
Jason Foundation A Friend Asks		1	✓		
Suicide Safety Plan	1				\checkmark
Safe Students		1	\checkmark		
Got your back			\checkmark	✓	\checkmark
Stanley-Brown Safety	1		\checkmark		\checkmark
Operation Reach Out	1	1			✓
trustTalk247		1	\checkmark		
Just in Case for Colleges		1	\checkmark		
Relief Link			\checkmark		
Ulster County Speak		1	\checkmark		
Friend2Friend		1			
be safe suicide safety plan			\checkmark	✓	✓
Every Teen Seen		1			
distract					✓
Be Safe			\checkmark		✓
Calm Harm-manages self harm				✓	
R U Suicidal?					
Say Something		1	\checkmark		
Anemone Crisis App			\checkmark	✓	✓
Prevent Suicide-Highland		1	\checkmark		✓
There is Hope		1	\checkmark		✓
A.L.E.R.T.			\checkmark		✓
Self Harm Recovery					
Suicide? Help? Tayside					✓
Stay Alive					✓
Dutchess County HELPLINE		1	\checkmark		
The LifeLine			1		\checkmark
DMHS ^b : Suicide Prevention Info		1			
Is S/O Suicidal?		1			
Did someone you know suicide?		1			
Step Up and Speak Out		1	1		
Kokua Life		1	1		1

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27018

XSL•FO RenderX

Wilks	et	al
-------	----	----

App name	Means safety	Support	Crisis line access	Treatment	Safety plan
MSE&SUICIDE ASSESSr		1			
Calm Care			1	✓	
My Shiny Thing				1	
PMCS Combating Suicide			✓		
SeeSave/See Something Save Someone		1	✓		
Community Stress First Aid		1			
iHelp Sunshine Coast	✓	1	✓		
MS DMH-Shatter in the Silence			✓		
Better Stop Suicide	✓				✓
SCNG ^c Suicide Prevention		✓			
Alaska Careline		1	1		
Prevent Suicide: Dumfries & Galloway		1	\checkmark	1	1
TheHopeLine		1	1		
MYPLAN-your safety plan			1		1
ReMinder Suicide Safety Plan	✓	1	✓	1	
SafetyNet: Your Suicide Prevention App	✓	1	✓	1	
TUFMINDS			1	✓	
UnCut App		1			
Don't Panic-depression and panic help	✓		✓	1	✓
Emotional Support Helpline Directory			✓		
Yellow Ribbon Foundation			✓		
A Teen Suicide Prevention Anime					
Seeking the Military Suicide Solution					
Elijah					
Suicide Prevention-Ways to Help a Suicidal Friend					

^aFeature present.

^bDMHS: Durham Mental Health Services.

^cSCNG: South Carolina National Guard.

Usability and App Quality

The mean overall MARS score of all apps was 3.5 (range 2.1-4.5), and 83% (55/66) of apps had a minimum acceptability score of 3.0 (Table 2). In general, the *Calm Harm: Manages self harm* app had the highest MARS overall score (4.5), followed by *INSIST* (4.49), *MY3 Support Network* (4.4), and *Talklife for Stress and Anxiety* (4.4). Apps with the highest MARS scores and at least three of five best practice features for suicide prevention were *Got your back, Stanley-Brown Safety*, and *Operation Reach Out*.

Data on the MARS subscale scores and the overall MARS scores categorized according to the main app approaches are presented in Table 2. The interrater reliability was within the acceptable range for each subscale (0.73-0.94), with the highest interrater reliability for information (0.94) and the lowest for function (0.73). Apps with the primary function of providing users with support had the highest overall MARS (mean 3.7, SD 0.8). Coping skills apps scored the highest in engagement (3.2) and function (4.0). In the aesthetics and information subscales, support apps (3.8 and 4.2, respectively) had the highest scores.



Table 2. Mobile app rating scores according to main approach (N=66).

Main approach	Count, n (%)	Engagement, mean (SD)	Functionality, mean (SD)	Aesthetics, mean (SD)	Information, mean (SD)	Overall, mean (SD)
Crisis plan	12 (18)	3.13 (0.77)	3.96 (0.59)	3.38 (0.70)	3.64 (1.16)	3.53 (0.76)
Support	24 (36)	2.91 (0.76)	3.86 (0.71)	3.82 (0.72)	4.23 (0.53)	3.70 (0.83)
Psychoeducation	17 (26)	2.56 (0.65)	3.80 (0.54)	3.34 (0.66)	3.70 (1.00)	3.35 (0.87)
Coping skill	10 (15)	3.24 (0.64)	4.00 (0.64)	3.43 (0.83)	3.69 (0.87)	3.59 (0.78)
Other	3 (5)	2.40 (0.35)	3.4 (0.88)	2.50 (0.50)	3.66 (1.44)	2.99 (0.96)

Correlation Analysis

The total and subscale MARS scores were all significantly correlated, indicating that app quality was consistent across all areas assessed (eg, apps scoring high on engagement also tended to score high on function, aesthetics, and information). The overall MARS score was neither correlated with user app rating (r=-0.001; P=.99) nor with the number of features included within the app (P=.09; Table 3).

Table 3. Correlations among total mobile app rating scale (MARS) score, four MARS dimension scores, rating, and number of features.

Characteristics	MARS ^a					Rating	Number of features
	Total	Engagement	Function	Aesthetics	Information		
MARS			-				
Total	1.00	b	—	—	_	—	_
Engagement							
Correlation factor	0.72	1.00	_	—	_	_	_
P value	<.001	_	_	—	_	—	_
Function							
Correlation factor	0.80	0.40	1.00	—	_	—	_
P value	<.001	<.001	—	—	_	—	—
Aesthetics							
Correlation factor	0.83	0.60	0.50	1.00	—	—	—
P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	—	_	—	—
Information							
Correlation factor	0.82	0.35	0.63	0.56	1.00	—	—
P value	<.001	.002	<.001	<.001	_	—	—
Rating	-0.01	-0.01	-0.04	-0.01	0.05	1.00	_
Number of features	0.20	-0.02	0.22	0.09	0.32 ^c	0.24	1.00

^aMARS: mobile app rating scale.

^bNot applicable.

 $^{c}P=.006.$

Discussion

Principal Findings

We examined the user experience, usability, and engagement of mHealth apps designed for suicide prevention. There are three main findings of this study. First, although the majority apps included elements of best practices to reduce suicide risk, none included all these features. Second, most of the reviewed apps were designed for suicidal individuals, rather than for clinicians, friends, and families. Third, the MARS score of the majority of apps was in the *acceptable* range, with the apps designed for support receiving the highest rating; however, the star ratings of users were not correlated with MARS scores, suggesting that star ratings may be indicative of another construct rather than app quality.

Since the app review by Larsen in 2016 [10], nearly twice as many apps designed to reduce suicide have been introduced in app stores. The majority of the apps (59/66, 89%) reviewed in this study have at least one best practice element for suicide prevention. The most common feature across the apps was the inclusion of a crisis line access (37/66, 56%); however, only 12% (8/66) of apps included a means safety feature. Mean safety

XSL•FO

is considered one of the most potent suicide prevention strategies [26]; thus, it is surprising that it was the least integrated feature. However, integrating content into mobile devices requires intentional design considerations, such as interaction or navigation, which can influence how users learn and engage with the material [27]. In addition, including content on means safety may have been difficult to design and implement. We found no association among the number of best practice elements, MARS scores, or app ratings, indicating that app quality is not solely driven by content, but rather how the content functions and is designed. Notably, an app that implements one aspect well, such as developing a safety plan, may be a better app than one that tries to integrate several features. The apps that yielded the highest MARS scores had a narrow scope. However, this review did not clinically evaluate or evaluate the available research on any of these apps; therefore, it is unclear whether these apps are effective at reducing suicidal crises.

The majority of the apps (49/66, 74%) were specifically designed for suicidal individuals, only 15% (10/66) of which were designed for friends or family and 2% (1/66) for clinicians. This highlights a potential deficit in apps that are designed to treat, manage, or cope with individuals at risk of suicide. A major obstacle in overall suicide prevention is the lack of willingness in treating suicidal individuals among mental health providers [28]. In a previous study, a technology-delivered suicide risk assessment and management tool was associated with reduced fear and increased self-efficacy among clinicians treating suicidal individuals [29]. Given that suicidal people tend to avoid face-to-face treatment [1-3], one avenue to potentially reduce suicide risk could be through a suicide prevention app for friends and family. Although these apps exist in app stores, it is unclear whether they are effective or widely used. Overall, more research is needed to develop and evaluate suicide prevention apps for individuals who work or live with suicidal patients.

Most mobile apps in this review were at least moderately usable and engaging. Although 17% (11/66) of apps yielded unacceptable scores, the average MARS scores were in the acceptable range, indicating that the apps were generally usable and engaging. However, it is unclear whether the apps designed to reduce suicide are reaching the appropriate audience or designed according to what suicidal users need or want. The user context or environment may be a significant driver of the determination of engagement. A suicide app designed to help clinicians assess and manage suicide will likely need to be highly functional, but not necessarily fun to use. In contrast, in apps designed to help users reduce suicidal crises, ongoing app engagement may not be a goal, as app developers hope that suicidal crises will eventually be reduced. This makes the iterative design of suicide-related apps challenging because repeated use may not be an ideal outcome. Traditionally, app developers can use objective measures, such as time spent on app and daily uses, as outcomes to fine-tune and optimize content delivery; however, these metrics may indicate different factors. An engaging suicide app may be one that is immediately accessible to users during key moments, and previous research on user engagement with mHealth apps indicates that immediate access to resources is an integral aspect that can keep users

 $XSI \bullet F($

engaged [30]. As 73% of users tend to stop using a mental health app after 10 uses [16], it is important to understand what factors are associated with discontinued use, such as poor user experience versus *no longer in crisis*. In addition, it may not be profitable to develop a tool to reduce suicide, which may partially explain the relatively large number of nonusable apps designed for suicide. Because developing, publishing, and maintaining mobile apps is time-consuming and expensive, a different funding structure may be required to produce high-quality mobile apps for high-risk users.

In general, there is a lack of research on consumer apps for suicide prevention. Melia et al [31] identified only 7 mobile mental health apps with published outcomes in randomized clinical trials. Although there are apps available to consumers with research support, such as Tec Tec [32] and the Virtual Hope Box [33], these apps were not identified during our search procedure, highlighting a deficit in search term strategy when these apps were released to the public. We were only able to find these apps when we searched for them by name but not when we used our search terms. The function of this review is user-centered, as is the case when users search for apps for suicide or self-harm. Researchers who design and develop apps may benefit from the increased marketing of their apps. In addition, users may not be willing to scroll past the first page of results to search for an app, highlighting the importance of the search term strategy and how apps are weighted in the app store search algorithm. Given that star ratings may not accurately reflect app quality, app store algorithms may benefit from another strategy to move quality apps up the list.

Limitations

Although this paper is the first review to specifically examine the user experience of mobile apps specifically designed for suicide, there are some limitations to the study worth discussing. First, as we only searched on app stores and systematic literature search was not performed, web-based apps that are not featured in app stores were, therefore, not included. Owing to the ease of development and maintenance of web-based apps compared with native apps [25], it is important to include these apps in future research. Second, we only reviewed the user statistics at one time point, and variables such as the number of downloads and user ratings vary over time. Third, as noted previously, some notable and research-supported apps were missing from this study. We believe this illustrates the lab to marketplace gap, which is prevalent in all aspects of mental health research but especially in research on dissemination and implementation [34]. Finally, we opted not to evaluate apps that required payment upfront, which limited the scope of our review.

Conclusions

Although this study identified many usable and engaging apps designed for suicide prevention in app stores, there are several opportunities for mobile app development and enhancement. In particular, there is a lack of apps designed to assist clinicians in treating suicidal patients. In addition, there is a need for more clinical evaluation of suicide prevention apps found in app stores. In general, mobile apps for suicide prevention should be carefully developed and clinically evaluated.

Conflicts of Interest

CRW receives consulting fees from Mindstrong Health, Click Therapeutics, and Behavioral Tech. In the past 3 years, RCK was a consultant for Datastat Inc, Holmusk, RallyPoint Networks Inc, Sage Pharmaceuticals, and Takeda. He has stock options in Mirah, PYM, and Roga Sciences. MKN receives text book royalties from Macmillan and Pearson publishers and has been a paid consultant in the past year for Microsoft and for a legal case regarding a death by suicide. He is an unpaid scientific advisor for TalkLife and Empatica. All other authors deny conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Characteristics and mean mobile app rating scale scores of mobile apps (N=66). [DOCX File, 25 KB - formative_v5i7e27018_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Carlton PA, Deane FP. Impact of attitudes and suicidal ideation on adolescents' intentions to seek professional psychological help. J Adolesc 2000 Mar;23(1):35-45. [doi: 10.1006/jado.1999.0299] [Medline: 10700370]
- 2. Pretorius C, Chambers D, Coyle D. Young people's online help-seeking and mental health difficulties: systematic narrative review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 19;21(11):e13873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13873] [Medline: 31742562]
- 3. Yakunina ES, Rogers JR, Waehler CA, Werth JL. College students' intentions to seek help for suicidal ideation: accounting for the help-negation effect. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2010 Oct;40(5):438-450. [doi: 10.1521/suli.2010.40.5.438] [Medline: 21034207]
- 4. Seward A, Harris KM. Offline versus online suicide-related help seeking: changing domains, changing paradigms. J Clin Psychol 2016 Jun;72(6):606-620. [doi: <u>10.1002/jclp.22282</u>] [Medline: <u>26928393</u>]
- 5. Wilks CR, Coyle TN, Krek M, Lungu A, Andriani K. Suicide ideation and acceptability toward online help-seeking. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2018 Aug;48(4):379-385. [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12356] [Medline: 28543333]
- Wilks CR, Yee Ang S, Wang X, Arunagiri V, Ward-Ciesielski EF. Exploring preference to avoid or seek help in person and online among college students with suicidal ideation. J Soc Clin Psychol 2019 Dec;38(10):811-835. [doi: 10.1521/jscp.2019.38.10.811]
- Firth J, Torous J, Nicholas J, Carney R, Pratap A, Rosenbaum S, et al. The efficacy of smartphone-based mental health interventions for depressive symptoms: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World Psychiatry 2017 Oct;16(3):287-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20472] [Medline: 28941113]
- Firth J, Torous J, Nicholas J, Carney R, Rosenbaum S, Sarris J. Can smartphone mental health interventions reduce symptoms of anxiety? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Affect Disord 2017 Aug 15;218:15-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.04.046] [Medline: 28456072]
- de la Torre I, Castillo G, Arambarri J, López-Coronado M, Franco MA. Mobile apps for suicide prevention: review of virtual stores and literature. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Oct 10;5(10):e130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8036] [Medline: 29017992]
- Larsen ME, Nicholas J, Christensen H. A systematic assessment of smartphone tools for suicide prevention. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0152285 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0152285</u>] [Medline: <u>27073900</u>]
- 11. Anderson, Jiang J. Pew Research. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/05/31/</u> teens-social-media-technology-2018/ [accessed 2020-10-20]
- 12. Rideout V, Fox S. Digital Health Practices, Social Media Use,mental Well-being Among Teensyoung Adults in the US. Digital Commons. 2018. URL: <u>https://digitalcommons.psjhealth.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2092&context=publications</u> [accessed 2020-10-20]
- 13. Torous J, Roberts LW. Needed innovation in digital health and smartphone applications for mental health: transparency and trust. JAMA Psychiatry 2017 May 1;74(5):437-438. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0262] [Medline: 28384700]
- 14. Grist R, Porter J, Stallard P. Mental health mobile apps for preadolescents and adolescents: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 25;19(5):e176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7332] [Medline: 28546138]
- 15. Wang K, Varma DS, Prosperi M. A systematic review of the effectiveness of mobile apps for monitoring and management of mental health symptoms or disorders. J Psychiatr Res 2018 Dec;107:73-78. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.10.006</u>] [Medline: <u>30347316</u>]
- 16. Lovett L. Mental Health Apps Helpful but Poor Design, Privacy Concerns Contribute to Low Engagement. Mobile Health News. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.mobihealthnews.com/content/</u>
- <u>mental-health-apps-helpful-poor-design-privacy-concerns-contribute-low-engagement</u> [accessed 2020-10-20]
 Scott A, Guo B. For Which Strategies of Suicide Prevention Is There Evidence of Effectiveness. Den World Health Organ.
- 2012. URL: https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/169466/E96630.pdf [accessed 2020-10-20]
- Jin HM, Khazem LR, Anestis MD. Recent advances in means safety as a suicide prevention strategy. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2016 Oct;18(10):96. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11920-016-0731-0</u>] [Medline: <u>27629355</u>]

- Bernert RA, Hom MA, Roberts LW. A review of multidisciplinary clinical practice guidelines in suicide prevention: toward an emerging standard in suicide risk assessment and management, training and practice. Acad Psychiatry 2014 Oct;38(5):585-592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40596-014-0180-1] [Medline: 25142247]
- van der Feltz-Cornelis CM, Sarchiapone M, Postuvan V, Volker D, Roskar S, Grum AT, et al. Best practice elements of multilevel suicide prevention strategies: a review of systematic reviews. Crisis 2011;32(6):319-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000109] [Medline: 21945840]
- 21. Nielsen J. Usability 101: Introduction to Usability. Jakob Nielsen's Alertbox.: introduction to usability. Jakob Nielsen's Alertbox. Recovered 25/03/2015 useit. com/alertbox/20030825. html; 2003. URL: <u>http://www.useit.com/alertbox/20030825.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 22. Peters C, Castellano G, De Freitas S. An Exploration of User Engagement in HCI. In: Proceedings of the Affective-aware Virtual Agents and Social Robots. 2009 Presented at: AFFINE'09; April 8-9, 2009; Boston, UK p. 1 URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/1655260.1655269</u> [doi: 10.1145/1655260.1655269]
- 23. Lehmann J, Lalmas M, Yom-Tov E, Dupret G. Models of user engagement. In: Masthoff J, Mobasher B, Desmarais MC, Nkambou R, editors. User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2012:164.
- 24. Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 25. Powell AC, Torous J, Chan S, Raynor GS, Shwarts E, Shanahan M, et al. Interrater reliability of mhealth app rating measures: analysis of top depression and smoking cessation apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016;4(1):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5176] [Medline: 26863986]
- Milner A, Witt K, Maheen H, LaMontagne AD. Access to means of suicide, occupation and the risk of suicide: a national study over 12 years of coronial data. BMC Psychiatry 2017 Apr 4;17(1):125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1288-0] [Medline: 28376757]
- 27. Huang K. Challenges in Human-computer Interaction Design for Mobile Devices. In: ECS'09. 2009 Presented at: Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering and Computer Science; October 24-26, 2009; San Francisco, USA p. 1 URL: <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Challenges-in-Human-Computer-Interaction-Design-for-Huang/abc6c941abe277b1b0c9ea3c5484f2487189a39e</u>
- 28. Langreth R, Ruiz R. The Forgotten Patients. Forbes. 2010. URL: <u>https://www.forbes.com/forbes/2010/0913/</u> health-mental-health-industry-suicide-forgotten-patients.html?sh=97772d4209b9 [accessed 2020-10-20]
- 29. Harned MS, Lungu A, Wilks CR, Linehan MM. Evaluating a multimedia tool for suicide risk assessment and management: the Linehan suicide safety net. J Clin Psychol 2017 Mar;73(3):308-318. [doi: 10.1002/jclp.22331] [Medline: 27306605]
- 30. Wong HW, Lo B, Shi J, Hollenberg E, Abi-Jaoude A, Johnson A, et al. Postsecondary student engagement with a mental health app and online platform (thought spot): qualitative study of user experience. JMIR Ment Health 2021 Apr 2;8(4):e23447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23447] [Medline: 33797395]
- Melia R, Francis K, Duggan J, Bogue J, O'Sullivan M, Chambers D, et al. Mobile health technology interventions for suicide prevention: protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Jan 26;7(1):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8635] [Medline: 29374003]
- 32. Franklin JC, Fox KR, Franklin CR, Kleiman EM, Ribeiro JD, Jaroszewski AC, et al. A brief mobile app reduces nonsuicidal and suicidal self-injury: evidence from three randomized controlled trials. J Consult Clin Psychol 2016 Jun;84(6):544-557. [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000093] [Medline: 27018530]
- Bush NE, Smolenski DJ, Denneson LM, Williams HB, Thomas EK, Dobscha SK. A virtual hope box: randomized controlled trial of a smartphone app for emotional regulation and coping with distress. Psychiatr Serv 2017 Apr 1;68(4):330-336. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201600283] [Medline: 27842473]
- 34. Proctor EK, Landsverk J, Aarons G, Chambers D, Glisson C, Mittman B. Implementation research in mental health services: an emerging science with conceptual, methodological, and training challenges. Adm Policy Ment Health 2009 Jan;36(1):24-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-008-0197-4] [Medline: 19104929]

Abbreviations

MARS: mobile app rating scale **mHealth:** mobile health



PMID:34259163

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.01.21; peer-reviewed by C Smith, B Loo Gee; comments to author 18.02.21; revised version received 15.04.21; accepted 29.04.21; published 14.07.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Wilks CR, Chu C, Sim D, Lovell J, Gutierrez P, Joiner T, Kessler RC, Nock MK User Engagement and Usability of Suicide Prevention Apps: Systematic Search in App Stores and Content Analysis JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27018 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27018 doi:10.2196/27018

©Chelsey R Wilks, Carol Chu, DongGun Sim, Josh Lovell, Peter Gutierrez, Thomas Joiner, Ronald C Kessler, Matthew K Nock. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 14.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Barriers to the Use of Web-Based Mental Health Programs for Preventing Depression: Qualitative Study

Heidi Eccles¹, MSc; Molly Nannarone¹, MPH; Bonnie Lashewicz², PhD; Mark Attridge³, PhD; Alain Marchand^{4,5}, PhD; Alice Aiken⁶, PhD; Kendall Ho⁷, MD; JianLi Wang^{1,8,9}, PhD

⁸Shandong Key Laboratory of Behavioral Medicine, School of Mental Health, Jining Medical University, Jining, China

Corresponding Author:

JianLi Wang, PhD The Institute of Mental Health Research University of Ottawa Room 5404, 1145 Carling Ave Ottawa, ON, K1Z 7K4 Canada Phone: 1 6137226521 ext 6057 Email: jlwang@ucalgary.ca

Abstract

Background: Depression has a profound impact on population health. Although using web-based mental health programs to prevent depression has been found to be effective in decreasing depression incidence, there are obstacles preventing their use, as reflected by the low rates of use and adherence.

Objective: The aims of the study are to understand the barriers to using web-based mental health programs for the prevention of depression and the possible dangers or concerns regarding the use of such programs.

Methods: BroMatters and HardHat were two randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that evaluated the effectiveness of e-mental health programs for preventing workplace depression. In the BroMatters RCT, only working men who were at high risk of having a major depressive episode were included. The participants were assigned to either the control group or 1 of 2 intervention groups. The control participants had access to the general depression information on the BroMatters website. Intervention group 1 had access to BroMatters and BroHealth—the depression prevention program. Intervention group 2 had access to BroMatters and BroHealth—the depression prevention program. Intervention group 2 had access to BroMatters and BroHealth along with weekly access to a qualified coach through telephone calls. The HardHat trial targeted both men and women at high risk of having a major depressive episode. The participants in the intervention group were given access to the HardHat depression prevention program (which included a web-based coach), whereas HardHat access was only granted to the control group once the study was completed. This qualitative study recruited male participants from the intervention groups of the two RCTs. A total of 2 groups of participants were recruited from the BroMatters study (after a baseline interview: n=41; 1 month after the RCT: n=20; 61/744, 8.2%), and 1 group was recruited from the HardHat RCT 1 month after the initial quantitative interview (9/103, 8.7%). Semistructured interviews were performed with the participants (70/847, 8.3%) and analyzed using content analysis.

Results: There were both personal and program-level barriers to program use. The three personal barriers included time, stress level, and the perception of depression prevention. Content, functionality, and dangers were the program-level barriers to the use of web-based mental health programs. Large amounts of text and functionality issues within the programs decreased participants' engagement. The dangers associated with web-based mental health programs included privacy breaches and inadequate help for severe symptoms.

¹The Institute of Mental Health Research, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

²Department of Community Health Sciences, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, ON, Canada

³Attridge Consulting, Inc, Minneapolis, MN, United States

⁴School of Industrial Relations, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁵Public Health Research Institute, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁶Faculty of Health, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

⁷Department of Emergency Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁹School of Epidemology and Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Conclusions: There are personal and program-level barriers to the use of web-based mental health programs. The stigmatization of help seeking for depression symptoms affects the time spent on the program, as does the public perception of depression. Certain barriers may be mitigated by program updates, whereas others may require a complete shift in the perception of depression prevention.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e16949) doi:10.2196/16949

KEYWORDS

prevention; mental health; depression; problem solving therapy; barriers; web-based program; qualitative study

Introduction

Background

Major depressive episodes (MDEs) have a considerable impact on human health, with an annual prevalence of 4.7% in Canada [1], and they affect 350 million people worldwide [2]. MDEs cause workers to be less productive while at work (presenteeism) or completely absent from work (absenteeism). Presenteeism and absenteeism cost Canada approximately Can \$2.5 billion (US \$2.0 billion) and Can \$6.8 billion (US \$5.5 billion), respectively, in 2015 [3]. Preventive strategies have been shown to decrease the incidence of depression, thereby decreasing presenteeism and absenteeism [4,5].

Web-based mental health programs can play an important role in the prevention of depression by increasing accessibility, confidentiality, and sustainability [6], and those based on cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) have been shown to be effective at decreasing stress [7]. A recent study found that web-based mental health programs were perceived by users to increase both individual and societal mental health awareness [8]. However, the rates of use and adherence to such programs can be low and inconsistent, with completion rates in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) ranging from 14% to 90% [9,10]. The frequency of completing web-based programs is lower than that in face-to-face therapies [10]. The level of use and adherence can have a direct impact on the effectiveness of e-mental health programs. Thus, it is important to understand the barriers associated with the use of e-mental health programs.

The demographic characteristics of age and sex seem to influence the use of web-based depression prevention resources. Web-based mental health programs are also less likely to be perceived as helpful by older populations [11]. Women and men favor different web-based mental health program designs and content [12], making it difficult to develop an inclusive program. In existing studies, the barriers associated with accessing web-based mental health programs include stigma, concerns regarding privacy, lack of time, impersonal nature, and a lack of perceived knowledge and confidence about web-based programs [11,13,14].

Objectives

Although studies to date offer some insight into this topic, there are limited studies on the aversion to using web-based programs and examining other concerns or dangers that limit their use. The aims of this study are to (1) understand the barriers to using web-based mental health programs for the prevention of depression and (2) explore any possible dangers or concerns regarding the use of such programs.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e16949
```

Methods

Design

This qualitative study was embedded in two RCTs that each examined a different web-based program to prevent mental illness (BroHealth and HardHat, as described below). This project was approved by the research ethics board of the Royal Mental Health Centre in Ottawa, Canada.

BroHealth

BroHealth is a web-based program that was evaluated in the BroMatters RCT. It aims to reduce the risk of depression among working men at high risk of having an MDE. Details of the BroMatters RCT can be found in a previous publication [15]. The development of BroHealth was informed by the results of a national survey in the target population about the preferences of men classified as high risk for the design features of e-mental health programs [11]. The development was guided by a committee of research team members with expertise in psychiatry, epidemiology, eHealth, occupational psychology, addiction, information technology, and software programming. BroHealth includes modules on workplace depression, mental health information, and self-assessment tools. BroHealth is also linked to a UK-based CBT program, Living Life to the Full. Before finalization, BroHealth was pilot-tested among team members, stakeholder advisory committee members, and members of the general public recruited through personal networks and social media.

The participants in the BroMatters study were recruited using random digit dialing across Canada. These participants were working men at high risk of having an MDE. Their risk was calculated using a multivariable risk prediction (MVRP) algorithm, which is used to estimate the chances of developing depression in the next 4 years [16]. The participants were randomly assigned to 1 of 3 groups: group 1 had access to the BroHealth web-based program (intervention group 1), group 2 had access to both BroHealth and a coach (intervention group 2), and group 3 had no access to either the program or the coach but had access to general depression information on the BroMatters website (control group). The BroHealth program consists of self-checks, self-help modules, general depression information, and goal-setting materials. The participants in intervention group 2 could schedule optional telephone sessions with a coach once per week. Reminders were sent every other week through email to prompt program use in the intervention groups. The participants were interviewed at baseline, 6 months, and 12 months, and they were given a monetary incentive (Can \$25 [US \$20] gift card) to complete each interview.

HardHat

HardHat is an enhancement of BroHealth, targeting both men and women in the workplace. It encompasses enhanced visual design, depression information, self-assessment tools, and nine work-focused CBT and problem-solving therapy (PST) sessions designed by a psychiatrist with expertise in CBT and PST. Each session includes a 5-minute video recorded by professional voice actors in both English and French, in addition to in-class and/or homework assignments. Users are required to submit assignments for review and approval by a coach before moving on to the next session. Before finalization, HardHat was pilot-tested among 12 potential users from the community and revised based on feedback.

The target population of the HardHat RCT was working men and women who were at high risk of having an MDE but were not currently experiencing one. The risk of MDE was calculated using the same sex-specific MVRP algorithms [16] as the one used in the BroMatters RCT. The participants in the HardHat study were recruited through Green Shield Canada (GSC). A link was posted on the GSC website, and people were invited to complete an eligibility questionnaire. The eligible participants were randomly assigned to the intervention group (access to the HardHat program, including a coach) or a waitlisted control group that did not have access until after the final follow-up interview. The HardHat program includes five compulsory sessions and four supplementary sessions. The sessions are based on the principles of CBT and PST and are designed to help participants work through the problems that cause them stress. Each participant was assigned a coach who was available through the chat function to assist them throughout the program and answer any questions. To encourage the use of the program, emails were sent every other week as a reminder. As in the BroMatters study, each participant completed three structured interviews and was given a Can \$25 (US \$20) gift card at the end of each interview. The HardHat participants were also given incentives to complete the program's sessions, unlike those who participated in the BroMatters study. To complete each session, the HardHat participants were given 100 GSC points and were included in a monthly draw to win a Can \$100 (US \$80) Amazon gift card.

Participant Recruitment for Qualitative Study

Originally, the qualitative interviews were only planned to be conducted after the completion of the BroMatters RCT; however, because of low use throughout the duration of both RCTs, an additional round of interviews was conducted to investigate the reasons for the low use. The participants for this qualitative study were randomly selected from the intervention groups (ie, those given access to BroHealth or HardHat). A total of 3 different groups were recruited from the 3 different sample sets. Group 1 consisted of participants from the BroMatters RCT who had little or no use of BroHealth (maximum of one log-in). The interviews were conducted 1 month after the RCT began. Participants were randomly selected and interviewed until 41 participants were reached and code saturation was reached within these interviews. Group 2 was recruited after the BroMatters RCT was completed. Overall, 20 of these participants were randomly selected from either of the

RenderX

intervention groups and interviewed, and code saturation was reached within these interviews. The total population size for groups 1 and 2 was 744 individuals; thus, our use of 61 participants for qualitative data collection represents 8.2% (61/744) of the total population of participants in the BroMatters source study. Group 3 was recruited from the HardHat RCT 1 month after the study began; this study had a total of 103 participants to sample from. The participants were randomly selected if they had a maximum of one log-in, and they were interviewed until code saturation was reached. To maintain the homogeneity of the study sample for this analysis, we included nine interviews conducted with male participants from the HardHat trial, representing 8.7% (9/103) of the HardHat population.

Data Collection

The semistructured interview guides were designed by the team members; different interview guides were used for each group, but the questions included similar topics. The questions focused on the lack of program use, motivations, and program perception. The qualitative interview guides are included in Multimedia Appendix 1. The telephone interviews were conducted in English or French by research staff not involved in the RCT data collection. The average length of the interviews was 9 minutes. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim by the members of the research team.

Sample Size Justification

The principle of data saturation was used to determine the sample size for this qualitative study. Data saturation allows for a complete picture to be formed about participant perceptions on the topic. For this study, data saturation was defined as the point where no novel information relevant to the topic is being gathered in the interviews. To ensure that the sample would reach data saturation, the study by Sim et al [17] was drawn upon to determine appropriate sample sizes. They inferred that many qualitative research projects reach data saturation with between 10 and 40 participants. A rough sample size of 41 was chosen for the first set of qualitative interviews (group 1: BroMatters low use); once the 41 interviews were completed, it was realized that saturation occurred well before the final interview. Therefore, a sample size of 20 participants was chosen for groups 2 and 3; in both cases, saturation was reached within these interviews.

Data Analysis

Inductive content analysis was conducted using NVivo version 12 (QSR International) [18,19]. Content analysis has been effectively used in various mental health research studies to understand perceptions of symptoms and treatment interventions [20]. The second author (MN) read several of the transcripts and identified key findings that were of interest, after which the first author (HE) read all transcripts multiple times to become familiar with the data. Subsequently, HE performed open coding to identify themes in the data, and short phrases (ie, codes) were developed to represent each theme. Next, HE amalgamated the codes into broader categories to develop a coding framework. The codes did not need to be reported in a set number of interviews to be included in the framework because of the

semistructured nature of the interviews; interviews that follow a semistructured design may vary from participant to participant, and unique questions may arise that may not have been part of the broad interview guide. Next, a third researcher assessed the coding framework to ensure that it fully represented the interview themes. At this point, the authors noted that the categorized one more time. Subsequently, the transcripts were recoded by HE using the final framework. Finally, the coding framework prepared by HE was compared with a preliminary analysis performed by MN for consistencies.

Results

Overview

A total of 70 participants completed the semistructured telephone interviews—61 and 9 participants from the BroMatters and HardHat RCTs, respectively. The demographic characteristics of each group are presented in Table 1. Although the population sizes for each program were very different, the

demographics were very similar. The average ages of the participants in the HardHat, BroMatters low use, and BroMatters post-RCT studies were 43.0, 39.5, and 42.7 years, respectively, and most participants in all these studies resided in Ontario. The average program use, measured in terms of log-ins, of all participants in the BroMatters study was 1.75 log-ins; similarly, most HardHat participants did not complete the program. Furthermore, the average depression risk scores calculated by using the MVRP algorithms were 32.3 and 19.8 in HardHat and BroMatters, respectively.

A total of 6 barriers to using web-based mental health programs were described. These six barriers were categorized as personal-level barriers that revolved around the personality of the user and program-level barriers that were specific to the web-based program itself. The personal-level barriers included lack of time, level of stress, and disbelief in prevention, whereas the program-level barriers included content complexity and redundancy, program functionality, and perceived dangers (Textbox 1).

Table 1. Demographics for the participants in the different participant groups (N=70).

	All participants	BroMatters low use	BroMatters after	
Demographics	(N=70)	(n=41)	RCT ^a (n=20)	HardHat, (n=9)
Age (years), mean (range)	40.6 (20-67)	39.5 (20-63)	42.7 (27-66)	43.0 (22-67)
Location, n (%)				
British Columbia	12 (17)	7 (17)	3 (15)	2 (22)
Alberta	8 (11)	5 (12)	3 (15)	0 (0)
Saskatchewan	4 (6)	3 (7)	1 (5)	0 (0)
Manitoba	1 (1)	1 (2)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Ontario	35 (50)	21 (51)	7 (35)	7 (78)
Quebec	5 (7)	1 (2)	4 (20)	0 (0)
New Brunswick	1 (1)	0 (0)	1 (5)	0 (0)
Nova Scotia	4 (6)	3 (7)	1 (5)	0 (0)
Depression risk score (%), mean (range)	23.1 (7-84)	19.2 (7-84)	20.4 (7-84)	32.3 (22-67)
Number of log-ins, mean (range)	b	1.2 (0-11)	2.3 (1-8)	_
Completer, n (%)				
Complete	_	_	_	2 (22)
Partially	_	_	_	3 (33)
Not started	_	_	_	4 (44)

^aRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^bNot available.



Textbox 1. Summarization of resulting categories.

Personal barriers

- Lack of time
 - Life is busy.
 - People do not prioritize stress prevention.
- Level of stress
 - Too little stress, and people do not think they need it
 - Too much stress, and people cannot find the time and motivation
- Disbelief in prevention
 - Stigma
 - People do not focus on depression.

Program barriers

- Content complexity and redundancy
 - Text heavy
 - People do not like activities in program
 - Redundant information
- Program functionality
 - Disorganized flow
 - Broken links
 - Internet as a medium
- Perceived dangers
 - Privacy
 - Using it as a treatment instead of seeking help

Personal Barrier

Lack of Time

Most participants reported a lack of time or an inability to prioritize use as the largest barrier to program use. For instance, one participant said the following:

...it's in my list of things to get to but life is like super busy, I have a young kid and a newish job and so it's there, but I haven't gotten to it. [BroMatters low use; age: 42 years]

Prioritizing other aspects of their lives often caused the participants to forget about the program entirely. A participant commented as follows:

...I keep forgetting. It's in the pile of things to do and I keep forgetting to go back and look at it again. [BroMatters low use; age: 51 years]

Level of Stress

The level of participant stress, both high and low, emerged as a barrier to program use. Some participants neglected to use the web-based programs because they believed that they did not need to use it:

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e16949

I didn't really need anything because work's going pretty well. [BroMatters low use; age: 32 years]

Others managed their stress well using other support, including therapy, medication, and self-management strategies. For instance, one participant mentioned not using the program:

...because I currently have a psychologist...and I've been meeting with that doctor on a regular basis. [BroMatters low use; age: 36 years]

The participants may also have been disinclined to use the program because they were struggling to manage their mental health; hence, they felt overwhelmed and unable to avail themselves of the web-based program. For instance, one participant said the following:

...over the past month...my mental state of mind has deteriorated. I just got no determination or willpower to do anything. [HardHat; age: 55 years]

These participants were often overwhelmed by the content when they tried to use the programs. One participant explained as follows:

I was already pretty stressed out and a little overwhelmed and had high levels of anxiety as a

result, and so when I got to the website and saw the information that there was, I had to like pull back because it was too much. [BroMatters post-RCT; age: 42 years]

Disbelief in Prevention

In multiple cases, participants were skeptical as to whether anyone would use the program as a preventive measure before developing symptoms of depression:

I don't think people are going to use the resource before they have depression...people don't turn to something until they have it. [BroMatters low use; age: 36 years]

Program use as a preventive measure was also hindered by the stigma associated with getting mental health help. One participant stated:

There's some stigma attached to the whole idea of not being mentally well, so I think it's something that people like to keep private. [BroMatters low use; age: 43 years]

Program Barrier

Content Complexity or Redundancy

Content that is difficult to digest or redundant when considering the information available elsewhere is a barrier to program use. Some participants felt that the programs were too text heavy, thus deterring participation and causing them to lose interest in the program. One participant remarked the following:

I think what it comes down to is the amount of reading. If there is a lot of reading, it's just kind of a put off. [BroMatters post-RCT; age: 47 years]

Some participants felt that the modules were too long to complete in one sitting, and they neglected to either start the modules or return to complete them. In addition, some participants found the program content to be redundant when considering other resources that they had access to elsewhere, leading to the limited use of the programs. One participant explained this as follows:

...after a half a dozen times I found that the content was redundant with what I had already gotten from my healthcare provider. [BroMatters post-RCT; age: 37 years]

For some participants, the types of activities did not align well with their preferences. For example, one participant said the following:

I'm not the type of person to divide a problem up into six component pieces.... My personality is a type where I don't care about how many different parts of the problem there are. [HardHat; age: 67 years]

Functionality

Another topic discussed by the participants was how the program functioned. Functionality issues such as broken links and disorganized flow discouraged the use of the programs. When the participants had difficulty using the program, they felt discouraged and were less likely to return to it. The internet

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e16949
```

itself was also perceived to be problematic as a medium for the delivery of mental health prevention resources. Some participants did not like using the internet at all or did not use it often enough. Many participants also had an aversion to using the internet as a resource for mental health prevention. For instance, one participant said the following: "When you're stressed out or something like that, last thing you want to do is go on your phone and tell your phone how stressed you are." [BroMatters post-RCT; age: 47 years].

Perceived Dangers

Overall, very few participants reported concerns about personal dangers or negative impacts of web-based mental health programs. A few of the participants voiced concerns about privacy. For example, one participant described how navigating contemporary times that are pervaded by telephone and email scams leaves them skeptical about the legitimacy of certain websites. For instance, a participant commented as follows: "...there's so many traps for an old man to fall into" (BroMatters low use; age: 63 years). Furthermore, he provided additional context: "...99% of these emails and phone calls and people at my door are scammers wanting money" (BroMatters low use; age: 63 years). In addition, the programs' focus on personal mental health left some participants concerned about privacy:

I'm a very private person and so the fact that I opened up as much as I did in the first call kind of concerned me, and so I'm hesitant just to spill my guts when I don't really know who it is I'm talking to. [BroMatters low use; age: 48 years]

The other danger that the participants conveyed was the possibility that individuals with severe symptoms may use the program at the expense of specialized treatment and thus may not receive the care that they need. One participant explained this as follows:

...if somebody would try to use this to replace seeking other help or talking to someone else about their issues. [BroMatters post-RCT; age: 46 years]

Group Differences

Most categories were consistent across the interview groups and programs. However, the participants who were interviewed only 1 month after the RCT started (both BroMatters and HardHat) reported *time* as the biggest barrier to program use, whereas the participants who had completed more of the program and who were interviewed after the RCT (BroMatters only) was completed stated that *need* was the biggest barrier. Moreover, the BroMatters participants had greater difficulty with program functionality and flow than the HardHat participants, which was in part due to the fact that the CBT program (*Living Life to the Full*) in the BroHealth program was externally linked. The challenges identified by the HardHat participants focused more on not receiving emails and not understanding how to access the site.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study found that barriers to program use exist at both personal and program levels. Personal-level barriers affected initial use of the program. Many participants did not prioritize their mental health, citing that time constraints or a busy lifestyle did not allow them the time to use the program. This led many participants to believe that depression cannot be prevented. Although all participants in the study had a high risk of MDE, some did not believe that they had a stressful life and therefore did not believe that they needed to use the program. The barrier of continued use was discussed when the program itself was up for discussion. Content had a large effect on continued use. When content was perceived as redundant or not applicable to the participants, they discontinued use. Similarly, if program use caused frustration because of technical problems or the participants' dislike of the internet as a medium, they were less likely to use the programs. Some participants were also concerned about the possibility of privacy breaches resulting from program use.

The results of our study are consistent with previous research in terms of personal and program-level barriers (lack of time, stress, content and medium, and privacy concerns) [21-23]. One important difference between our study and previous research is that BroHealth and HardHat were designed for prevention purposes (rather than treatment), and there are limited studies on the lack of interest in preventing depression as a barrier to program use. This is an important finding that highlights a significant gap in the current knowledge of web-based mental health programs for preventing depression.

The design and development of BroHealth and HardHat were informed by a large national survey and several rounds of usability testing. Nevertheless, the use of these programs was not optimal. This qualitative study uncovered several barriers to web-based program use and has significant implications for mental health. Lack of time and perceived stress are the main personal barriers. It should be noted that the RCTs evaluating these two web-based programs were conducted from 2017 to 2019. The reported barriers reflect how potential users perceived web-based mental health programs during that time. Such barriers may be different in the context of COVID-19 with the closure of in-person health services [24]; implementation of web-based health services [25-27]; physical distancing; isolation; and widely reported feelings of loneliness, depression, and anxiety [28] due to these public health measures. The COVID-19 crisis and public health restrictions could accelerate the use of mobile and digital health [29]. Therefore, studies on this topic, both during the pandemic and in the postpandemic era, are needed. BroHealth functionality and technological problems were related to an external link to a CBT program. Such a linkage should be avoided in future web-based programs or apps because technical issues may occur in unpredictable ways. Other program functionality issues were also evident, highlighting the importance of a user-friendly design and interface. In addition, many HardHat participants did not receive the reminder emails that were sent, thus limiting their

effectiveness [8]. The qualitative results also shed light on the importance of program personalization and balancing text and video and audio content, and these findings should be taken into consideration in the design of future digital mental health programs. Adapting web-based mental health programs into web-based or mobile app personal informatics (PI) systems has the potential to mitigate some barriers to program use. PI systems, which collect and store personal data that can be accessed by users for a number of purposes, would improve the need for program personalization. PI systems can be websites and mobile apps that can be seamlessly integrated into daily life, thus improving engagement. One salient example of the positive effects of PI systems is activity trackers that users can use to monitor their activity level, set goals, and monitor progress; such trackers have been shown to improve physical activity among users [30].

Many participants believed that depression cannot be prevented. This mistaken view leads to a reluctance to use programs aimed at prevention, including web-based mental health programs. This finding is echoed in previous studies [11,31-33]. People who believe that depression cannot be prevented tend to prioritize other activities over their mental health, perhaps because of the lack of emphasis that society places on mental health and social norms related to the male sex. To mitigate barriers to program use, program modifications alone are not sufficient; a shift toward depression being perceived as a preventable illness is imperative, especially among men. Important steps would be for society to prioritize mental health alongside physical health, raise awareness about mental health, increase mental health literacy, and develop effective depression-risk communication. Such population-level mental health education and promotion efforts may improve societal acceptance of the notion of prevention so that maintaining good mental health would become a more mainstream and socially acceptable priority. For example, the historic change in how breast cancer prevention has progressed from a private issue to a widely promoted public health goal could be considered a relevant precedent. This study contributes to the first step by identifying depression as a continuing problem in the mental health field. Regardless of the effort put into identifying motivators and effective programs, for people to choose to partake in such programs, mental health must be made a top priority in society. Increased focus on mental health at all levels of government and at workplaces is a good first step to increase the perceived importance of mental health. An increase in government resources allocated to digital mental health care and preventive services on the web in conjunction with the application of artificial intelligence technologies could improve the promotion of mental health and better adaptation. As people spend many hours at work every day, workplaces are an ideal environment to promote positive mental health and implement digital preventive mental health programs.

Limitations

This study includes some limitations. First, some participants were interviewed a number of months after having used the program. As such, for some, recalling the program details was difficult. In addition, because demographic data were not collected, the results of this study cannot be extrapolated to

XSL•FO RenderX

larger populations. Furthermore, the barriers described in this study were specific to the BroHealth and HardHat programs; therefore, the barriers in this study, such as functionality, reminders, and content, cannot be generalized to other programs.

Conclusions

Although the use of web-based mental health programs to decrease the prevalence and incidence of depression has been shown quantitatively to be effective, there are barriers to their use. Barriers such as time and the perception of depression prevention need to be changed at the population level. Increasing the perceived importance and priority of depression prevention is likely to mitigate these barriers; therefore, research into these areas is imperative. Having easy-to-use programs with minimal text may improve engagement with web-based mental health programs, especially among those who may have had difficulty with previous attempts to use such programs.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by a grant from the Movember Foundation. The funder played no role in the study design and interpretation of the results.

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to the study design, data interpretation, and the review and final approval of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Qualitative interview guides. [DOCX File , 21 KB - formative_v5i7e16949_app1.docx]

References

- Patten SB, Williams JV, Lavorato DH, Wang JL, McDonald K, Bulloch AG. Descriptive epidemiology of major depressive disorder in Canada in 2012. Can J Psychiatry 2015 Jan;60(1):23-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/070674371506000106] [Medline: 25886546]
- Depression fact sheets. World Health Organization. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/</u> <u>depression</u> [accessed 2019-10-04]
- 3. Evans-Lacko S, Knapp M. Global patterns of workplace productivity for people with depression: absenteeism and presenteeism costs across eight diverse countries. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2016 Nov;51(11):1525-1537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1278-4] [Medline: 27667656]
- van Zoonen K, Buntrock C, Ebert DD, Smit F, Reynolds CF, Beekman AT, et al. Preventing the onset of major depressive disorder: a meta-analytic review of psychological interventions. Int J Epidemiol 2014 Apr;43(2):318-329 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt175] [Medline: 24760873]
- Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Smit F, Mihalopoulos C, Beekman A. Preventing the onset of depressive disorders: a meta-analytic review of psychological interventions. Am J Psychiatry 2008 Oct;165(10):1272-1280. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.07091422</u>] [Medline: <u>18765483</u>]
- Chan JK, Farrer LM, Gulliver A, Bennett K, Griffiths KM. University students' views on the perceived benefits and drawbacks of seeking help for mental health problems on the internet: a qualitative study. JMIR Hum Factors 2016;3(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.4765] [Medline: 27026140]
- Mackinnon A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Comparative randomised trial of online cognitive-behavioural therapy and an information website for depression: 12-month outcomes. Br J Psychiatry 2008 Feb;192(2):130-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.032078] [Medline: 18245031]
- Eccles H, Nannarone M, Lashewicz B, Attridge M, Marchand A, Aiken A, et al. Perceived effectiveness and motivations for the use of web-based mental health programs: qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 31;22(7):e16961 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16961] [Medline: 32735216]
- 9. Ruwaard J, Schrieken B, Schrijver M, Broeksteeg J, Dekker J, Vermeulen H, et al. Standardized web-based cognitive behavioural therapy of mild to moderate depression: a randomized controlled trial with a long-term follow-up. Cogn Behav Ther 2009 Dec;38(4):206-221. [doi: 10.1080/16506070802408086] [Medline: 19221919]
- van Ballegooijen W, Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Karyotaki E, Andersson G, Smit JH, et al. Adherence to Internet-based and face-to-face cognitive behavioural therapy for depression: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014;9(7):e100674 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100674] [Medline: 25029507]

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e16949

- Wang J, Lam RW, Ho K, Attridge M, Lashewicz BM, Patten SB, et al. Preferred features of e-mental health programs for prevention of major depression in male workers: results from a Canadian National Survey. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(6):e132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5685] [Medline: 27267782]
- 12. Smail-Crevier R, Powers G, Noel C, Wang J. Health-related internet usage and design feature preference for e-mental health programs among men and women. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 18;21(3):e11224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11224] [Medline: 30882361]
- Clough BA, Zarean M, Ruane I, Mateo NJ, Aliyeva TA, Casey LM. Going global: do consumer preferences, attitudes, and barriers to using e-mental health services differ across countries? J Ment Health 2019 Feb;28(1):17-25. [doi: 10.1080/09638237.2017.1370639] [Medline: 28857650]
- 14. Crisp DA, Griffiths KM. Reducing depression through an online intervention: benefits from a user perspective. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Jan 08;3(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4356] [Medline: 26747378]
- 15. Wang J, Patten SB, Lam RW, Attridge M, Ho K, Schmitz N, et al. The effects of an e-mental health program and job coaching on the risk of major depression and productivity in Canadian male workers: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Nov 15;5(4):e218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.6350] [Medline: 27847352]
- Wang JL, Manuel D, Williams J, Schmitz N, Gilmour H, Patten S, et al. Development and validation of prediction algorithms for major depressive episode in the general population. J Affect Disord 2013 Oct;151(1):39-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.045] [Medline: 23790813]
- 17. Sim J, Saunders B, Waterfield J, Kingstone T. Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? Int J Soc Res Methodol 2018 Mar 27;21(5):619-634. [doi: 10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643]
- Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep;15(3):398-405. [doi: <u>10.1111/nhs.12048</u>] [Medline: <u>23480423</u>]
- 19. Krippendorff K. Content analysis. In: Barnouw E, Gerbner G, Schramm W, Worth TL, Gross L, editors. International Encyclopedia of Communication. New York: Oxford University Press; 1989:403-407.
- Baldisserotto ML, Theme MM, Gomez LY, Dos Reis TB. Barriers to seeking and accepting treatment for perinatal depression: a qualitative study in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Community Ment Health J 2020 Jan;56(1):99-106. [doi: 10.1007/s10597-019-00450-4] [Medline: 31512080]
- Stiles-Shields C, Montague E, Lattie EG, Kwasny MJ, Mohr DC. What might get in the way: barriers to the use of apps for depression. Digit Health 2017;3:2055207617713827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207617713827] [Medline: 29942605]
- 22. Schneider J, Foroushani PS, Grime P, Thornicroft G. Acceptability of online self-help to people with depression: users' views of MoodGYM versus informational websites. J Med Internet Res 2014 Mar;16(3):e90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2871] [Medline: 24681717]
- 23. Wallin EE, Mattsson S, Olsson EM. The preference for internet-based psychological interventions by individuals without past or current use of mental health treatment delivered online: a survey study with mixed-methods analysis. JMIR Ment Health 2016;3(2):e25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5324] [Medline: 27302200]
- 24. Stefana A, Youngstrom EA, Hopwood CJ, Dakanalis A. The COVID-19 pandemic brings a second wave of social isolation and disrupted services. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2020 Sep;270(6):785-786 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01137-8] [Medline: 32415510]
- 25. Liu S, Yang L, Zhang C, Xiang Y, Liu Z, Hu S, et al. Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Apr;7(4):17-18. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30077-8] [Medline: 32085841]
- 26. Hu N, Pan S, Sun J, Wang Z, Mao H. Mental health treatment online during the COVID-19 outbreak. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2020 Sep;270(6):783-784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01129-8] [Medline: 32361812]
- 27. Balcombe L, De Leo D. An integrated blueprint for digital mental health services amidst COVID-19. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Jul 22;7(7):e21718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21718] [Medline: 32668402]
- 28. Dozois DJ. Anxiety and depression in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic: a national survey. Can Psychol 2021 Feb 27;62(1):136-142. [doi: 10.1037/cap0000251]
- 29. Torous J, Keshavan M. COVID-19, mobile health and serious mental illness. Schizophr Res 2020 Apr;218:36-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2020.04.013] [Medline: 32327314]
- 30. Ringeval M, Wagner G, Denford J, Paré G, Kitsiou S. Fitbit-based interventions for healthy lifestyle outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 12;22(10):e23954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23954] [Medline: 33044175]
- 31. Donkin L, Glozier N. Motivators and motivations to persist with online psychological interventions: a qualitative study of treatment completers. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2100] [Medline: 22743581]
- 32. Carolan S, de Visser RO. Employees' perspectives on the facilitators and barriers to engaging with digital mental health interventions in the workplace: qualitative study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Jan 19;5(1):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9146] [Medline: 29351900]
- Olmos-Ochoa TT, Niv N, Hellemann G, Cohen AN, Oberman R, Goldberg R, et al. Barriers to participation in web-based and in-person weight management interventions for serious mental illness. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2019 Sep;42(3):220-228. [doi: <u>10.1037/prj0000363</u>] [Medline: <u>31081651</u>]

Abbreviations

CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy GSC: Green Shield Canada MDE: major depressive episode MVRP: multivariable risk prediction PI: personal informatics PST: problem-solving therapy RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.11.19; peer-reviewed by E Montague, C Stiles-Shields; comments to author 26.10.20; revised version received 09.12.20; accepted 19.05.21; published 15.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Eccles H, Nannarone M, Lashewicz B, Attridge M, Marchand A, Aiken A, Ho K, Wang J Barriers to the Use of Web-Based Mental Health Programs for Preventing Depression: Qualitative Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e16949 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e16949</u> doi:<u>10.2196/16949</u> PMID:<u>34264195</u>

©Heidi Eccles, Molly Nannarone, Bonnie Lashewicz, Mark Attridge, Alain Marchand, Alice Aiken, Kendall Ho, JianLi Wang. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 15.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Using Social Media for the Prevention of Pediatric Burn Injuries: Pilot Design and Usability Study

Nikita Batra¹, BS; Cindy D Colson¹, MSN, RN; Emily C Alberto¹, MD; Randall S Burd¹, MD, PhD

Children's National Hospital, Washington, DC, United States

Corresponding Author: Randall S Burd, MD, PhD Children's National Hospital 111 Michigan Ave NW Washington, DC, 20010 United States Phone: 1 202 476 2151 Fax: 1 202 476 6704 Email: rburd@cnmc.org

Abstract

Background: Most pediatric burn injuries are preventable. Social media is an effective method for delivering large-scale messaging and may be useful for injury prevention in this domain.

Objective: This study evaluates the feasibility of creating a social media campaign for pediatric burn injury prevention.

Methods: Ad spots containing a headline, short introduction, and video were created and posted on Facebook and Instagram over 4 months. Ad spots were targeted to parents and caregivers of children in our region with the highest number of burn injuries. We assessed the impact of each ad set using ThruPlays, reach, and video plays.

Results: We created 55 ad spots, with an average length of 24.1 (range 10-44) seconds. We reached 26,496 people during the campaign. The total ThruPlays of the 55 ad spots were 14,460 at US 0.19 per ThruPlay. Ad spots related to home safety had a significantly higher daily ThruPlay rate than those related to fire safety (6.5 vs 0.5 per day; P<.001).

Conclusions: Social media is a feasible modality for delivering public health messages focused on preventing pediatric burn injuries. Engagement with these ads is influenced by ad presentation and the focus of the underlying injury prevention message.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e23242) doi:10.2196/23242

KEYWORDS

accident prevention; burns; pediatric; public health; social media

Introduction

Burns are a leading cause of injury among children 5 years old and younger in the United States. Approximately 50,000 children were treated in the emergency department for unintentional burns in 2018 [1]. Among all etiologies, scald burns are the most common type sustained by children. Most scald burns are related to spills or contact with hot food, beverages, or tap water, making the kitchen and the bathroom common locations for these injuries in the home [2]. Although most pediatric burns are minor and can be managed in an outpatient setting, children with severe burns require acute and long-term management at a pediatric burn center [3,4]. The medical cost of pediatric burn–related hospitalizations was close to \$150 million in 2010 [5]. In addition to the associated cost, burn injuries can cause significant psychological burdens on

RenderX

patients and their families [6]. Because pediatric burn injuries are mostly preventable, outreach programs have successfully increased parental knowledge of possible dangers and reduced hospitalization rates of burn injuries in children [7,8].

Mass media campaigns that use radio, television, newspapers, and the internet have successfully encouraged behaviors that reduce sports-related injuries and injuries from motor vehicle crashes [9]. Social media has emerged as a new platform for health promotion in many areas, including smoking cessation, exercise, and diet [10-12]. In addition to reaching large numbers of people, social media supports information sharing by users, further amplifying its impact. Social media may be more influential than traditional media campaigns because of the interaction between users and the produced content [13,14]. Although utilizing social media for injury prevention is

relatively new, initial experience suggests that this approach is feasible and effective for delivering this type of message [15,16].

To address the burden of pediatric burn injuries in our region, we collaborated with a creative marketing company to create a social media advertising campaign targeted at the caregivers of children in our area. This study aimed to assess the feasibility of and potential factors for determining the success of a social media campaign for pediatric burn injuries.

Methods

Overview

Children's National Hospital is a regional pediatric burn center designated by the Maryland Institute for Emergency Medical Services Systems that treats more than 850 burn patients annually in both inpatient and outpatient settings. In 2018, we created the "After the Burn" series to provide burn prevention education and information on treatment and recovery following a pediatric burn injury. The video content was generated from over 35 interdisciplinary interviews conducted at our institution and has been available on YouTube since October 2018 [17]. The video series contains 15 episodes, with 2 focusing on burn injury prevention, 12 on the care of the burned child from injury through recovery, and 1 spotlighting the collaboration between our organization and the District of Columbia Firefighter's Burn Foundation.

To deliver pediatric burn injury prevention information to a larger audience within our community, we collaborated with Getfused, a creative marketing company from Boston, MA. They generated a burn prevention ad campaign using the two burn injury prevention episodes from the "After the Burn" series [17]. This collaboration enabled us to achieve our goal of distributing content to the prespecified target audience. At Children's National Hospital, the injury prevention coordinator was responsible for content approval and worked with the Getfused team in preparing and optimizing the ad campaign content. Getfused segmented the "home safety" (runtime: 9 minutes 12 seconds) and "fire safety" (runtime: 3 minutes 39 seconds) videos into spots (ie, short clips from the full-length episode) based on the different locations and mechanisms of burn injuries that could be sustained in the home (Figure 1) [18,19]. The "home safety" episode was divided into 17 spots that included 4 locations where injuries could occur (bathroom, kitchen, living room, and outdoors) [18]. The "fire safety" episode was segmented into 6 spots based on the different actions one must take during a fire [19]. The spots in each category were used to create 20 ad sets. Each spot (10-45 seconds) was combined with a headline and a short introductory text (less than 55 words) to create unique ad spots. Ad sets contained 2 to 3 versions of an ad spot. For most ad sets, the versions included the same spot with either a different headline, introduction, or both. For 3 ad sets (ie, "in case of fire," "microwaves," and "fireplace"), the versions had different spots of varying lengths.

The resulting ad spots were formatted for distribution on Facebook's news and video feeds and Instagram's feeds and explore pages. Demographic targeting was used to direct the ad sets to parents with a child younger than 18 years of age or household managers or nannies in the District of Columbia who were aged between 24 and 44 years. We ran this campaign on Facebook and Instagram from September 2019 until December 2019.



Figure 1. Ad set distributions.



Outcome Assessment

We assessed the impact of each ad set using metrics from Facebook Business Manager, including ThruPlays, reach, and video plays. Based on the definition from Facebook, a ThruPlay is the number of times a spot is played to completion or for at least 15 seconds. For spots longer than 15 seconds, a ThruPlay is counted when at least 15 unique seconds of the spot are played. If the spot is shorter than 15 seconds, a ThruPlay is counted when the spot is played to completion [20]. Reach is defined as the number of people who saw an ad spot at least once on their social media feed during a campaign [21]. Reach is not counted when an ad spot is viewed more than once by the same person. A video play is defined as the number of times a spot starts to play, excluding replays (ie, when a spot is paused and then started again). A video play can occur when a spot plays automatically or when a spot is clicked on to play [20]. We grouped video plays into categories based on the percentage of the spot length (25%, 50%, and 100%) played, including

RenderX

plays that skipped to parts of the videos within these percentages of play [20]. Cost per result is a metric used for ad campaigns that report the amount spent per result, where the result is defined based on the objective of the campaign [21]. For this study, we used ThruPlays because they best reflect the attention focused on the intended video messaging.

We used aggregate data from Facebook and Instagram for our analyses. Aided by these performance metrics, Getfused team members modified the ad campaign biweekly to generate the highest possible engagement within the target audience. The injury prevention coordinator from Children's National Hospital received bi-weekly updates on campaign statistics and provided input during each change. Changes included modification of ad spot headlines or introductions within an ad set. Ad spot versions were removed from the campaign when performance indicators showed limited views. The runtime reflects the average number of days that an ad spot version in an ad set was run. Performance metrics were averaged among different versions of the ad spot within each ad set. We also summed the performance metrics

across all ad spots to generate the overall campaign performance. We conducted comparisons between ThruPlay rates using the Poisson exact test that evaluates the null hypothesis about the difference between rates. Ad spots derived from the "home safety" episode were compared to ad spots derived from the "fire safety" episode. Among ad spots derived from the "home safety" episode, those in the "kitchen" category were compared to all other ad spots. We made this comparison because most pediatric burn injuries at home occur in the kitchen [22,23]. The "storing chemicals" ad set was the only ad set that included ad spots less than 15 seconds. Because a ThruPlay is counted when ad spots less than 15 seconds long are played to completion, we evaluated daily ThruPlay rates with and without the inclusion of this ad set to assess the impact of short duration videos on rate differences. A multiple linear regression was performed to evaluate the association of ad spot category with ThruPlay rate, controlling for video duration. We defined significance at P < .05.

Results

We created 55 ad spots, with an average length of 24.1 (range 10-44) seconds. The runtime of the ad spots averaged 44.7 (range 3-109) days (Table 1). We reached 26,496 unique people during the campaign. These individuals collectively executed 14,460 ThruPlays of the 55 ad spots (average 239 ThruPlays per ad spot). The "storing chemicals" ad set had the highest average of ThruPlays (36.1 per day). Among ad sets with durations longer than 15 seconds, the "oven safety" ad set had the highest average of ThruPlays (7.3 per day), while the "candles" ad set had the lowest average of ThruPlays (0.1 per day). Our advertising budget for the campaign was US \$2750, which translated to US \$0.19 per ThruPlay based on the number of individuals reached (cost per result). The costs of content preparation, development of a campaign strategy, and campaign optimization were separately funded.

Ad spots derived from the "home safety" episode had a higher daily ThruPlay rate than ad spots derived from the "fire safety" episode (6.5 vs 0.5 per day; P<.001). The difference between these groups remained significant when the "storing chemicals" ad set was excluded (2.5 vs 0.5 per day; P<.001). Among all the ad spots derived from the "home safety" episode, ad spots in the "kitchen" category had a lower ThruPlay rate than other ad sets (3.4 vs 10.6 per day; P<.001). When the "storing chemicals" (short duration) ad set was excluded, this difference was reversed. ad spots in the "kitchen" category had a higher daily ThruPlay rate than other ad spots (3.4 vs 1.1 per day; P<.001).

Among ad spots that included videos longer than 15 seconds (ie, excluding "storing chemicals" ad spots), the "home safety" episodes had a higher ThruPlay rate than "fire safety" episodes (an increase of 1.8 ThruPlays per day; P=.02), controlling for the duration of the video. The total video plays of the 55 ad spots were 293,109. Although only 4.1% (n=12,090) of initiated views were played to completion, 24.2% (n=27,178) of initiated watches were played for more than 50% (range 5-22.5 seconds) of the video length. Consistent with its short length, the "storing chemicals" ad set had the most video plays to completion per day (35 video plays per day; Table 2).

Observational analysis, obtained during ad modifications by Getfused, showed two features of the ad spot that improved performance: (1) introductory text with specific objects that caused burns rather than the general locations where burns occurred, and (2) headlines starting with the word "prevent" or the specific household item that could cause burns. Examples of headlines in these two categories include "chemicals can cause burn risks to your child" and "prevent chemical burns from happening to your child," respectively.



Table 1. Ad set summaries.

Ad sets	Runtime (days), average	Reach (people per day), average	ThruPlays (views per day), average
Home safety: bathroom			
Bath time	56	30	2
Storing chemicals	67	144	36
Home safety: kitchen			
Food and drinks	30	35	3
Microwaves (15 sec ^a)	49	39	3
Microwaves (40 sec)	3	2	0
Oven safety	56	64	7
Hot doors	55	48	3
Kid free zones	51	70	5
Pots and burners	55	22	1
Tablecloths	45	27	2
Toaster ovens	50	34	2
Home safety: living room			
Candles	27	4	0
Fireplaces (16 sec)	42	16	1
Fireplaces (40 sec)	55	12	1
Outlets and plugs	38	11	1
Treadmills	55	17	1
Home safety: outdoors			
Firepits	42	28	2
Fire safety			
Escape plan	32	8	0
Fire vs. on fire	54	16	1
In case of fire (20 sec)	17	10	0
In case of fire (36 sec)	11	7	0
Stay low and go	54	11	0
Stop, drop and roll	40	9	0

^asec: seconds



Table 2. Ad set video plays.

A	d Sets	Video plays at 25% (plays per day), average	Video plays at 50% (plays per day), average	Video plays at 100% (plays per day), average	Total video plays (plays per day), average
Н	ome safety: bathroom				
	Bath time	2	1	1	38
	Storing chemicals	167	83	35	712
H	ome safety: kitchen				
	Food and drinks	7	4	2	42
	Microwaves (15 sec ^a)	7	4	2	51
	Microwaves (40 sec)	0	0	0	2
	Oven safety	19	10	5	151
	Hot doors	7	4	2	62
	Kid free zones	14	7	3	97
	Pots and burners	4	2	1	26
	Tablecloths	5	3	1	34
	Toaster ovens	5	3	2	38
H	ome safety: living room				
	Candles	0	0	0	4
	Fireplaces (16 sec)	2	1	1	17
	Fireplaces (40 sec)	1	1	0	14
	Outlets and plugs	1	1	1	13
	Treadmills	2	1	0	19
H	ome safety: outdoors				
	Firepits	3	1	1	35
Fi	re safety				
	Escape plan	1	1	0	7
	Fire vs. on fire	1	0	0	17
	In case of fire (20 sec)	1	1	0	10
	In case of fire (36 sec)	0	0	0	6
	Stay low and go	1	0	0	10
	Stop, drop and roll	0	0	0	10

^asec: seconds

Discussion

Principal Results and Comparison With Prior Work

Social media has grown in popularity over the last decade, with Facebook reporting more than 1.4 billion daily adult users and Instagram more than 500 million daily users [24,25]. Given the number of people using social media, organizations interested in health care promotion have evaluated this modality to encourage healthy behaviors. Examples of health promotion campaigns using social media include those that promote smoking cessation, diabetes management, and obesity prevention [26-28].

Although social media may have a similar value in injury prevention, few studies have evaluated its use in this domain.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e23242

RenderX

For instance, an Instagram account posting messages promoting adolescent seat belt use over 3 months was introduced at a high school health fair. Using "likes" as a metric of a successful campaign, posts presented positively or those involving celebrities or humor received the most attention [15]. In another study, Facebook advertising was used to disseminate information about fall prevention in an elderly population, reaching more than 140,000 people in British Columbia, Canada. Among the people the ad reached, 3% engaged with the content through link clicks, reactions, comments, and shares [29]. These studies show the feasibility of a social media injury prevention campaign and initial evidence of its potential impact [15,29].

The use of video advertising contributed to the success of our campaign. Before designing the campaign, the "After the Burn" series was created to provide clear and detailed explanations of

each step in the recovery process following a pediatric burn injury. The goal of this video series was to decrease parental stress, improve the quality of life for the child, and improve postinjury medical outcomes [17]. We posted these on YouTube, allowing access to individuals in the general population who might be seeking burn injury prevention information online. We also directed hospitalized patients with burn injuries and their parents or guardians to these videos in their discharge instructions. The purpose of this campaign was to expand the reach of the injury prevention videos using social media as a platform for targeting populations in our region.

Traditional television, radio, or print campaigns can often reach large audiences. By targeting specific populations, social media campaigns have an advantage over these traditional campaigns [30]. Specific audience targeting also led to the success of our ad campaign. Our campaign directed content to individuals for whom pediatric burn injury prevention was most relevant: the parents, guardians, and caretakers of children. As a result, the number of individuals reached was significantly higher than would be reached at a typical health fair [31-33]. In addition, the cost per result of the ad campaign was lower than the industry standard of \$1 per ThruPlay, supporting the cost efficiency of this campaign. We selected ThruPlays as the outcome metric for our campaign, aligning with our initial objective to promote video play among reached individuals. The use of ThruPlays for this purpose assumes that watching 15 seconds of a video delivers the ad's main message sufficiently. Facebook research supports this assumption, showing that even plays of less than 15 seconds can increase ad recall, brand awareness, and purchase intent [34].

Video length is a factor that can be modified to influence user engagement. In this study, the "storing chemicals" ad set had the highest average ThruPlay rate, consistent with having videos with the shortest duration. According to Facebook video statistics, engagement with video content occurs with a watch duration longer than 10 seconds [35]. Many of the videos in our ad campaign meet this benchmark. However, video duration was not associated with the ThruPlay rate for ad spots longer than 15 seconds. This observation suggests the length of the video, observable in the progress bar, may not discourage individuals from watching for longer durations.

Our observation aligns with evidence that viewer engagement remains constant for videos up to 2 minutes long, after which engagement declines [36]. Although the standardization of video length would allow for the evaluation of the impact of video length on user engagement, the differing content of each ad makes this type of standardization challenging. In future evaluations of the impact of social media campaigns, modifying the standard Facebook definition of a ThruPlay will better assess the impact of video duration on engagement.

Although up to 90% of pediatric burns occur in the home, many parents are unaware of the risks that can lead to burn injuries in this setting [23,37-39]. Parents are also often unaware that pediatric burn injuries in the home occur most often in the kitchen [22,23,40]. After excluding the short duration "storing chemicals" ad set, ad spots in the kitchen category had a higher ThruPlay rate than other ad spots derived from the "home

safety" episode. Two factors may account for these differences: (1) interest may be higher for ad spots that are more relevant to everyday life in the home, such as kitchen-related activities, than less frequent fire safety events, and (2) individuals may also have established knowledge on fire safety from previous successful media campaigns, increasing the novelty of the "home safety" ad spots [41-43]. Establishing the reasons for the differences in the ThruPlay rates is needed to optimize the impact of social media campaigns.

Based on an assessment of available ad spot metrics used by Getfused, we observed that modifications in the headlines and introductory text improved ad spot performance for pediatric burn injury prevention. Previous social media campaigns have established the impact of front-end content on ad reach and engagement [15,44]. Modifying front-end factors, such as the introductory text, can increase positive engagement with ads by as much as 2-fold in social media campaigns [15,44]. Several approaches can be used to evaluate the optimal ad spot presentation, including A/B testing, multivariate testing, and multipage testing. Our campaign used video-sharing as its medium because of the content available in this format. Several other advertising media can be used to create ad campaigns, including photo sharing, text sharing, and microblogging.

Limitations

Our study had several limitations. First, although we identified several parameters for optimizing a burn injury prevention campaign using social media, we did not evaluate whether this campaign changed the incidence of burn injuries in our region. This pilot study showed the potential role of a social media campaign for sharing burn injury prevention information and the features that can be modified to optimize its reach. We are developing a follow-up campaign optimized based on this study in which the impact on burn incidence will be measured. Second, although data from our burn database shows that young children are more likely to sustain scald burns, we could not target parents based on the age of their children. As a result, we could not evaluate whether the parents of younger children were more likely to watch the videos. Third, understanding key performance metrics before the campaign launch would have allowed us to obtain more specific reports during the optimization phases. The creative marketing company made several changes in the presentation of the ad spots during predetermined optimization periods using standard industry practices. It is common to use this "on the fly" approach without a defined feedback loop or set evaluation metrics [45]. These changes were made rapidly, precluding objective evaluation of each (eg, headline or introductory text) in this pilot. Finally, we used ThruPlays as the primary metric for viewer engagement. A follow-up social media campaign will include an assessment of which metrics most influence the impact of each ad.

Conclusions

Pediatric burn injuries can have significant long-lasting physical and psychological impacts on patients and their families. Because these injuries are mostly preventable through actions taken by parents and caretakers, increasing awareness of these injuries and the mechanisms will reduce the associated health burden. Although mass media campaigns have reduced the risk

```
XSL•FO
```

of injury by other means, using social media specifically for this purpose has only recently received attention. Although it is challenging to define benchmarks for success given the many factors related to burn injury in children, our burn prevention campaign exceeded published standards as measured by ThruPlays, total campaign reach, and the cost per result. Successful injury prevention ad campaigns should ideally use video (specifically short videos), use audience targeting, implement predetermined performance metrics, and apply optimization methods to improve performance.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Getfused for their commitment to this project and assistance in engaging Children's National Hospital in pediatric burn injury prevention strategies.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Web-based Injury Statistics Query and Reporting System (WISQARSTM) Online. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://webappa.cdc.gov/sasweb/ncipc/nfilead.html</u> [accessed 2020-06-29]
- 2. Hay W, Levin M, Abzug M, Bunik M. Ambulatory and office pediatrics. In: Current Diagnosis and Treatment. United States of America: McGraw Hill; 2020.
- 3. Shah A, Liao L. Pediatric burn care: unique considerations in management. Clin Plast Surg 2017 Jul;44(3):603-610 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cps.2017.02.017] [Medline: 28576249]
- 4. Sheridan R. Burn care for children. Pediatr Rev 2018 Jun;39(6):273-286. [doi: 10.1542/pir.2016-0179] [Medline: 29858290]
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://wisqars.cdc.gov:8443/costT/</u> [accessed 2020-06-22]
- Bakker A, Maertens KJ, Van Son MJ, Van Loey NE. Psychological consequences of pediatric burns from a child and family perspective: A review of the empirical literature. Clinical Psychology Review 2013 Apr;33(3):361-371. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2012.12.006]
- Atiyeh, Costagliola M, Hayek SN. Burn prevention mechanisms and outcomes: pitfalls, failures and successes. Burns 2009 Mar;35(2):181-193. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.burns.2008.06.002</u>] [Medline: <u>18926639</u>]
- 8. Rybarczyk MM, Schafer JM, Elm CM, Sarvepalli S, Vaswani PA, Balhara KS, et al. Prevention of burn injuries in lowand middle-income countries: A systematic review. Burns 2016 Sep;42(6):1183-1192. [doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2016.04.014]
- Robinson M, Tansil K, Elder R, Soler RE, Labre MP, Mercer SL, Community Preventive Services Task Force. Mass media health communication campaigns combined with health-related product distribution: a community guide systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2014 Sep;47(3):360-371. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2014.05.034</u>] [Medline: <u>25145620</u>]
- 10. Korda H, Itani Z. Harnessing social media for health promotion and behavior change. Health Promot Pract 2013 Jan;14(1):15-23. [doi: 10.1177/1524839911405850] [Medline: 21558472]
- Laranjo L, Arguel A, Neves AL, Gallagher AM, Kaplan R, Mortimer N, et al. The influence of social networking sites on health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Jan;22(1):243-256. [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002841] [Medline: 25005606]
- 12. Yang Q. Are social networking sites making health behavior change interventions more effective? A meta-analytic review. J Health Commun 2017 Mar;22(3):223-233. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2016.1271065] [Medline: 28248623]
- Maher CA, Lewis LK, Ferrar K, Marshall S, De BI, Vandelanotte C. Are health behavior change interventions that use online social networks effective? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Feb;16(2):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2952] [Medline: 24550083]
- Huesch MD, Galstyan A, Ong MK, Doctor JN. Using social media, online social networks, and internet search as platforms for public health interventions: a pilot study. Health Serv Res 2016 Jun;51 Suppl 2:1273-1290. [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12496] [Medline: 27161093]
- 15. Drake SA, Zhang N, Applewhite C, Fowler K, Holcomb JB. A social media program to increase adolescent seat belt use. Public Health Nurs 2017 Jul 06;34(5):500-504. [doi: 10.1111/phn.12342]
- Zazzera E. Use of social media for injury prevention: an integrative review. J Trauma Nurs 2020;27(1):13-28. [doi: 10.1097/JTN.00000000000478] [Medline: <u>31895315</u>]
- 17. Children's National Hospital. After the Burn. YouTube. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> playlist?list=PLpaHC44oF7Z_mukgV7-GJmYDTiOKD_B3i [accessed 2020-03-31]
- 18. Children's National Hospital. Burn prevention: Home Safety. You Tube. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=gMalF0GMLEM&t=6s [accessed 2020-03-31]
- 19. Children's National Hospital. What to do if there is a fire. YouTube. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=Y24R6N8GY8I&t=5s [accessed 2020-03-03]

- 20. About video ad metrics. Facebook. URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/business/help/1792720544284355?id=603833089963720</u> [accessed 2020-04-20]
- 21. Facebook metrics: cost per ThruPlay. Metric Labs. URL: <u>https://metriclabs.com.au/glossary/facebook-metrics/</u> <u>cost-per-thruplay/</u> [accessed 2020-04-20]
- Koç Z, Sağlam Z. Burn epidemiology and cost of medication in paediatric burn patients. Burns 2012 Sep;38(6):813-819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2012.03.011] [Medline: 22683357]
- Riedlinger D, Jennings P, Edgar D, Harvey JG, Cleland MHJ, Wood FM, et al. Scald burns in children aged 14 and younger in Australia and New Zealand—an analysis based on the Burn Registry of Australia and New Zealand (BRANZ). Burns 2015 May;41(3):462-468. [doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2014.07.027] [Medline: 25440854]
- 24. Bosak K, Park SH. Characteristics of Adults' Use of Facebook and the Potential Impact on Health Behavior: Secondary Data Analysis. Interact J Med Res 2018 Jun 14;7(1):e11. [doi: <u>10.2196/ijmr.9554</u>]
- 25. Tell your brand story with Instagram. Facebook. URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/business/marketing/instagram</u> [accessed 2020-06-12]
- 26. Duke JC, Hansen H, Kim AE, Curry L, Allen J. The use of social media by state tobacco control programs to promote smoking cessation: a cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2014 Jul;16(7):e169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3430] [Medline: 25014311]
- 27. Ng SM. Improving patient outcomes with technology and social media in paediatric diabetes. BMJ Qual Improv Rep 2015 Sep;4(1):1-3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjquality.u209396.w3846] [Medline: 26734405]
- 28. Loh IH, Schwendler T, Trude AC, Anderson Steeves ET, Cheskin LJ, Lange S, et al. Implementation of text-messaging and social media strategies in a multilevel childhood obesity prevention intervention: process evaluation results. Inquiry 2018 Jun 04;55:46958018779189-46958018779189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0046958018779189] [Medline: 29865969]
- 29. Bruin S, Samarakkody D, Oakey M. PW 1826 Engaging grandma: the effectiveness of using Facebook advertising to promote falls prevention messages among older adults in British Columbia (BC), Canada. Inj Prev 2018;24:A223-A224 [FREE Full text]
- 30. Keller K. Building strong brand in a modern marketing communications environment. In: The Evolution of Integrated Marketing Communications. Milton Park: Routledge; 2011:139-155.
- 31. Murray K, Liang A, Barnack-Tavlaris J, Navarro AM. The Reach and Rationale for Community Health Fairs. J Canc Educ 2013 Aug 2;29(1):19-24. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-013-0528-3]
- 32. Hamilton KC, Henderson Mitchell RJ, Workman R, Peoples EA, Higginbotham JC. Using a community-based participatory research approach to implement a health fair for children. Journal of Health Communication 2017 Mar 08;22(4):319-326. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2017.1284284]
- Admon L, Haefner JK, Kolenic GE, Chang T, Davis MM, Moniz MH. Recruiting pregnant patients for survey research: a head to head comparison of social media-based versus clinic-based approaches. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 21;18(12):e326. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6593</u>]
- 34. The value of video for brands. Facebook. URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/business/news/value-of-video</u> [accessed 2020-06-12]
- 35. Facebook Video Statistics. 99 Firms. URL: https://99firms.com/blog/facebook-video-statistics/#gref [accessed 2020-09-14]
- 36. Fishman E. WISTIA. How long should your next video be? Published July 5. 2016. URL: <u>https://wistia.com/learn/marketing/optimal-video-length</u> [accessed 2020-06-12]
- 37. Cox S, Burahee A, Albertyn R, Makahabane J, Rode H. Parent knowledge on paediatric burn prevention related to the home environment. Burns 2016 Dec;42(8):1854-1860. [doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2016.05.015] [Medline: 27325218]
- Burgess JD, Watt KA, Kimble RM, Cameron CM. Knowledge of childhood burn risks and burn first aid: Cool Runnings. Inj Prev 2018 Jan 31:301-306. [doi: <u>10.1136/injuryprev-2017-042650</u>] [Medline: <u>29386371</u>]
- 39. Lee CJ, Mahendraraj K, Houng A, Marano M, Petrone S, Lee R, et al. Pediatric burns. Journal of Burn Care & Research 2016;37(6):e579-e585. [doi: 10.1097/bcr.0000000000362]
- 40. Drago DA. Kitchen scalds and thermal burns in children five years and younger. Pediatrics 2005 Jan 03;115(1):10-16. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-0249]
- 41. Gorman RL, Charney E, Holtzman NA, Roberts KB. A successful city-wide smoke detector giveaway program. Pediatrics 1985 Jan;75(1):14-18. [Medline: <u>3966040</u>]
- 42. McLoughlin E, Marchone M, Hanger L, German P, Baker S. Smoke detector legislation: its effect on owner-occupied homes. Am J Public Health 1985 Aug;75(8):858-862. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.75.8.858</u>]
- 43. Thompson R, Dobbs R, Mani MM. National burn awareness week: how are burn care facilities in the United States participating? Journal of Burn Care & Rehabilitation 1993;14(5):578-580. [doi: <u>10.1097/00004630-199309000-00016</u>]
- Jaakonmäki R, Müller O, vom BJ. The impact of context, content, and creator on user engagement in social media marketing. 2017 Presented at: 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences; 2017; Puako, HI p. 1152-1160. [doi: 10.24251/HICSS.2017.136]
- 45. Geyi S, Faleev S, Shen J. Joint optimization of multiple performance metrics in online video advertising. 2016 Presented at: The 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining; 2016; San Fransisco, CA URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2939672.2939724</u>
PMID:<u>34264194</u>

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.08.20; peer-reviewed by R Thakkar, A Lau; comments to author 03.09.20; revised version received 12.10.20; accepted 17.05.21; published 15.07.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Batra N, Colson CD, Alberto EC, Burd RS Using Social Media for the Prevention of Pediatric Burn Injuries: Pilot Design and Usability Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e23242 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e23242 doi:10.2196/23242

©Nikita Batra, Cindy D Colson, Emily C Alberto, Randall S Burd. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 15.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Evaluating Simplified Web Interfaces of Risk Models for Clinical Use: Pilot Survey Study

Louis Beaubien¹, PhD; Colin Conrad², PhD; Janet Music², MA; Sandra Toze², PhD

¹Rowe School of Business, Faculty of Management, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada
 ²School of Information Management, Faculty of Management, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

Corresponding Author: Louis Beaubien, PhD Rowe School of Business Faculty of Management Dalhousie University Kenneth C Rowe Management Building 6100 University Ave Halifax, NS, B3H 4R2 Canada Phone: 1 902 494 7080 Email: louis.beaubien@dal.ca

Abstract

Background: In this pilot study, we investigated sociotechnical factors that affect intention to use a simplified web model to support clinical decision making.

Objective: We investigated factors that are known to affect technology adoption using the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT2) model. The goal was to pilot and test a tool to better support complex clinical assessments.

Methods: Based on the results of a previously published work, we developed a web-based mobile user interface, WebModel, to allow users to work with regression equations and their predictions to evaluate the impact of various characteristics or treatments on key outcomes (eg, survival time) for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The WebModel provides a way to combat information overload and more easily compare treatment options. It limits the number of web forms presented to a user to between 1 and 20, rather than the dozens of detailed calculations typically required. The WebModel uses responsive design and can be used on multiple devices. To test the WebModel, we designed a questionnaire to probe the efficacy of the WebModel and assess the usability and usefulness of the system. The study was live for one month, and participants had access to it over that time. The questionnaire was administered online, and data from 674 clinical users who had access to the WebModel were captured. SPSS and R were used for statistical analysis.

Results: The regression model developed from UTAUT2 constructs was a fit. Specifically, five of the seven factors were significant positive coefficients in the regression: performance expectancy (β =.2730; *t*=7.994; *P*<.001), effort expectancy (β =.1473; *t*=3.870; *P*=.001), facilitating conditions (β =.1644; *t*=3.849; *P*<.001), hedonic motivation (β =.2321; *t*=3.991; *P*<.001), and habit (β =.2943; *t*=12.732). Social influence was not a significant factor, while price value had a significant negative influence on intention to use the WebModel.

Conclusions: Our results indicate that multiple influences impact positive response to the system, many of which relate to the efficiency of the interface to provide clear information. Although we found that the price value was a negative factor, it is possible this was due to the removal of health workers from purchasing decisions. Given that this was a pilot test, and that the system was not used in a clinical setting, we could not examine factors related to actual workflow, patient safety, or social influence. This study shows that the concept of a simplified WebModel could be effective and efficient in reducing information overload in complex clinical decision making. We recommend further study to test this in a clinical setting and gather qualitative data from users regarding the value of the tool in practice.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22110) doi:10.2196/22110

KEYWORDS

RenderX

risk model; electronic records; user interface; technology acceptance

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22110

Introduction

Background

Information overload negatively affects the decision effectiveness of clinical medical staff and ultimately impacts patient safety [1-3]. Clinical medical staff who are tasked with assessing patient outcomes are often required to use complex outcome and risk models in a spreadsheet format. In response to this challenge, we developed a mobile web model that simplifies the information presented to clinical medical staff and expedites the decision process. However, new electronic technologies often face barriers to adoption that inhibit their use in clinical settings [4,5].

In this pilot study, we investigate sociotechnical factors known to influence technology adoption through potential user feedback and assessment of a mobile web model designed for clinical decision support. The unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) is one of the most widely used models to predict voluntary user adoption and behavior toward a given information system. Employed in user-centered research in mobile web [6], consumer, and clinical health [7,8] contexts, the model is well-validated against four key constructs: (1) performance expectancy, (2) effort expectancy, (3) social influence, and (4) facilitating conditions [9]. In recent expansions of the model, three additional antecedents (hedonic motivation, price value, and habit) were added to UTAUT [6]. We investigate these factors predicted to influence technology adoption decisions by applying the UTAUT2 model in the context of an interface designed for clinical medical staff to assess options for treating chronic respiratory illness among the general population.

Interface Development

A web-based mobile user interface (hereafter referred to as "the WebModel") was developed to improve functionality and information consumption, following the common approach of using models to provide clinical insight and cost-effectiveness models based on large data sets in Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corp). Cost-effectiveness models are commonly developed as Excel spreadsheets [10,11] and provide calculated forecasts of health outcomes and treatment costs based on a variety of

possible inputs including health status, demographic characteristics, and cost factors. However, the development of these models is complex [12], and validation is an intense process [10]. The possibility of user error in the construction of the cost-effectiveness projections and the difficulty in interpreting information increases with the intensity and number of calculations that must be performed and the volume of information presented to the user. In this specific case, information overload was caused by the added presence of calculation details in the Excel spreadsheets and the production of results being spread across multiple spreadsheet tabs.

The WebModel is designed to address issues of information overload through a simplified interface, to limit extraneous information (Figure 1). Information overload inhibits clinical medical staff from making effective decisions based on electronic medical records [13] and may contribute to errors or clinician burnout [14]. Other literature has found that overly informative medical data interfaces can increase clinical medical staff members' cognitive workload, ultimately impairing patient outcomes [15]. Simplified electronic interfaces have been used to improve outcomes in intensive care units, which motivated our approach to design as we aimed to determine whether these results generalize to a less-urgent setting [16]. Although Excel provides a powerful and relatively simple way to perform complex calculations, including the large data sets and intricate calculations-in particular, nested regressions-often found in cost-effectiveness models taxes the capabilities of the software, compromises its reliability, and contributes to information overload [17]. We developed the WebModel using JavaScript to construct the mobile user interface and handle data interface between the presentation layer and the model. The underlying calculations are performed in equations modelled in Python on the server layer, which limits potential user errors and is a reliable means of performing complicated calculations [18]. The model is based on a data set of 20,000 simulated patient files. The data are intended to simulate response in the interface, rather than to represent clinical accuracy. The application at this stage is not meant to have clinical validity, but rather is being used to test the form and presentation of information in terms of its ability to visualize information. The next stage of investigation is to continue to develop the system and interface and introduce actual data.



% Normal BMI (21-30)

Any CVD Comorbidity (%)

Any Other Comorbidity (%)

ry of exacerbat

last 12 months (%) mMRC Score >= 2 (%)

% High BMI (> 30)

Figure 1. User flow of risk model calculator for respiratory disease interfaces.

1 Impute	baseline
Baseline Demographics	Treatment Group
Gender (% Female)	45
Age (years)	61.2
% Low BMI (< 21)	16

30.0

55.0

40.4

67.8

58

53.2

Review anticipated outcomes

	Usual Care
Cumulative Number of Exacerbations Over Timeframe	
Moderate Exacerbations	9.11
Severe Exacerbations	2.68
Total Excerbations	11.78
Total Severe Exacerbations per patient per year	0.25
Total Exacerbations per patient per year	1.25
FEV1 % of predicted at end of timeframe (%)	-
SGRQ-C score end of timeframe	-
Survival at end of horizon (%)	-
Accumulated life years (Undiscounted)	10.87
Accumulated quality adjusted life years	5.39

Visually compare estimates

Observe treatment

	Treatment Group
Cumulative Number of Exacerbations Over Timeframe	
Moderate Exacerbations	5.64
Severe Exacerbations	0.94
Total Excerbations	6.58
Total Severe Exacerbations per patient per year	0.19
Total Exacerbations per patient per year	0.79
FEV1 % of predicted at end of timeframe (%)	-
SGRQ-C score end of timeframe	-
Survival at end of horizon (%)	-
Accumulated life years (Undiscounted)	12.59
Accumulated quality adjusted life years	6.20

The WebModel provides users the opportunity to work with the regression equations and their predictions to evaluate the impact of background characteristics or differences in treatment on long-term predictions of accrued survival time, exacerbation frequency, health-related quality of life (HRQL), and health resource use (HRU)/costs of treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [10]. The WebModel shows the direct relation between an underlying model input (ie, specific characteristics related to a patient) and the linked outcomes. The goal is to limit the number of webform inputs presented to a user to between 1 and 20, depending on their desired comparison, rather than the dozens of detailed calculations that they would normally see in the Excel file. Figure 1 illustrates the elements of an output comparison of cohort survival of hypothetical treatment and nontreatment groups over time. The WebModel is intended to extend the understanding of respiratory illness through interactive access and provide clinical medical staff the opportunity to evaluate the model and the statistical relations it represents. The application uses a responsive design and can be rendered on either desktop or mobile devices by any user's device that can access the website. It only takes information about cohorts and calculates results in the front

RenderX

Δ



end; in the current version, no patient information is transmitted by the user's computer or back to the website origin server.

Methods

A minimum viable mobile app was developed to replicate the use of a cost-effectiveness model. As noted above, simulated patient data populates the system, and an interface allows the clinical user to input patient demographic and statistical data (eg, age, height, weight). The system also allows the user to input patient information on the presentation of respiratory illness (eg, incidence of coughing spasms). The resulting outputs would indicate possible therapeutic approaches, and provide (simulated) historical outcomes. An adaptation of the UTAUT scale [6] is used to collect user responses on the perceived usefulness and usability of the system. The research is focused on the assessment of the usability of the interface and the value it may provide. The study did not examine the clinical value of the WebModel.

A questionnaire (Multimedia Appendix 1) was designed with items adapted from a prior literature review and administered online to 1231 clinical users with access to the WebModel

interface. The study population was 843/1231 (68.5%) male, 4/1231 (0.32%) nonbinary, and the rest female. We targeted clinical medical staff who were within 5 years of completing their program, with 1114/1231 (90.5%) aged 20-29 years. As the questionnaire did not request it, we do not have demographic information for the respondents. The study was live for one month, and participants could start the study and continue it over the month. This design provided flexibility, in recognition of the busy schedules of the participants, and allowed them to play with the interface over time. We speculate, however, that this design might have led to a high dropout or incomplete rate because participants began the survey but forgot to come back to complete it. Due to incomplete surveys, we conducted analysis on 674 observable results. The questionnaire had two sections consisting of 29 items from the major constructs included in the proposed model. The first section probed respondents on the perceived efficacy of the WebModel. The second section included the original items from the UTAUT2 [9], modified and adapted from the mobile web framework to include the following: performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions, hedonic motivations, value, habit, and behavioral intent. Questions in the second section were measured using a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree" (7).

Statistical analysis was conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics (version 25; IBM Corp) and the R programming language. As this is an exploratory study, we did not investigate actual use behavior and instead investigated the factors that influence behavioral intention to use. Reliability of the attitudinal scales was assessed by calculating internal consistency (Cronbach α) and multiple linear regression was used to explore the significance of the antecedents of adoption.

Results

Multiple linear regression of the UTAUT2 factors to predict behavioral intention to use the WebModel was significant $(F_{7,672}=135.4; R^2=0.5851; P<.001)$. We found that 5 of the 7 factors were significant positive coefficients in the regression: performance expectancy (β =.2730; *t*=7.994; P<.001), effort expectancy (β =.1473; *t*=3.870; P<.001), facilitating conditions (β =.1644; *t*=3.849; P=.001), hedonic motivation (β =.2321; *t*=3.991; P<.001), and habit (β =.2943; *t*=12.732; P<.001). Social influence was not a significant factor in the regression (β =-.0149; *t*=-.661; P=.51). Price value was found to have a significant negative influence on the regression (β =-.1566; *t*=-4.406; P<.001).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Ash found that more than 80% of health information technology adoption is not related to the underlying data in the system, but to the presentation of the information [19]. The results of the WebModel study suggest there are multiple influences on intent to use the application, many of which may relate to its technical efficiency in presenting clear information. However, the data suggest that sociotechnical factors [20] that include perceptions

XSL•FC

of how technology fits into workflow, interface design, and the perceived ability of the user also relate to the willingness to adopt the technology. One component that consistently impacts positive adoption is perceived failures in patient safety (eg, inaccurate output) resulting from system use [21,22]. As the WebModel was not tested for clinical use, and the system was deemed to be accurate and validated for the purpose of this study, it is not possible to draw conclusions about the impact of perceptions of patient safety. Future research would benefit from considering the WebModel as a valid model that might be applicable in clinical contexts. UTAUT constructs such as performance expectancy and effort expectancy were nonetheless positively correlated with intention to use the tool, perhaps reflecting that perceptions of time saved were determinants of use.

It was surprising that the price value of the system was found to be a negative factor in the decision to adopt the WebModel, as this is in contrast to the plurality of research on user adoption [6] that suggests perceptions of price value of the technology, or perceived value gained by using the technology relative to the price paid, will enhance adoption. One possible explanation is that health workers are removed from purchasing decisions in hospitals and are not equipped to weigh this factor. Alternatively, studies in extant literature suggest that an impediment to adoption of health technologies is the inability to input information in the form and expression that normal (nontechnological) workflows might allow [23]. For instance, while it may be possible to input values of moderate versus severe exacerbations in a model, there is no opportunity to make expressive additions to the notation. By contrast, entering information into a patient's chart, or reading information from such a chart, allows for text written boldly, in all capitals, or circled aggressively, which might denote preference for more expressive options. Further study on user adoption of clinical decision support systems and cost-effectiveness models should examine perceptions of value gained through use of the system.

Finally, social influence was found to be nonsignificant in relation to adoption. User adoption literature suggests that peers would stimulate higher rates of adoption, and health care is no exception [24,25]. However, clinical users were provided access to the WebModel in isolation and provided no information that would suggest high or low rates of adoption or acceptance by peers. Therefore, the study is not adequately framed to examine the influence of peer users on the intention to adopt the technology. Future studies on system development and user adoption of the WebModel will examine the system operating in a clinical environment where user perceptions of value, usability, and utility of the system could be shared among study participants.

Conclusion

Clinical decision making requires complex outcome and risk assessments based on large data sets, leading to information overload and the possibility of error. This pilot study investigated how a simplified mobile web model could reduce information overload in these situations and measured the usefulness and usability of this prototype. The results indicate that clinical medical staff would use the WebModel and find it

useful, and that five of the key UTAUT2 factors significantly predicted intent. Further research to test the WebModel in a clinical setting is recommended to allow the factors of social influence and value to be examined as they relate to practice. The collection of qualitative data from users would help researchers better understand the value of this tool in relation to other systems, and how it might fit with workflows.

Acknowledgments

Dalhousie University research funds were the sole source of funding.

Authors' Contributions

CC developed the web model. LB conducted the study. CC and JM conducted the analysis. LB, CC, JM, and ST wrote the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Questionnaire instrument.

[DOCX File, 15 KB - formative v5i7e22110 app1.docx]

References

- Zahabi M, Kaber DB, Swangnetr M. Usability and Safety in Electronic Medical Records Interface Design: A Review of Recent Literature and Guideline Formulation. Hum Factors 2015 Aug 23;57(5):805-834. [doi: <u>10.1177/0018720815576827</u>] [Medline: <u>25850118</u>]
- Singh H, Spitzmueller C, Petersen NJ, Sawhney MK, Sittig DF. Information overload and missed test results in electronic health record-based settings. JAMA Intern Med 2013 Apr 22;173(8):702-704 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/2013.jamainternmed.61] [Medline: 23460235]
- Meeks DW, Takian A, Sittig DF, Singh H, Barber N. Exploring the sociotechnical intersection of patient safety and electronic health record implementation. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014 Feb 01;21(e1):e28-e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001762] [Medline: 24052536]
- 4. de Grood C, Raissi A, Kwon Y, Santana M. Adoption of e-health technology by physicians: a scoping review. JMDH 2016 Aug;Volume 9:335-344. [doi: 10.2147/jmdh.s103881]
- Lawitschka A, Buehrer S, Bauer D, Peters K, Silbernagl N, Zubarovskaya N, et al. A Web-Based Mobile App (INTERACCT App) for Adolescents Undergoing Cancer and Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Aftercare to Improve the Quality of Medical Information for Clinicians: Observational Study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2020 Jun 30;8(6):e18781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18781] [Medline: 32602847]
- 6. Venkatesh V, Thong J, Xu X. Consumer Acceptance and Use of Information Technology: Extending the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. MIS Quarterly 2012;36(1):157-178. [doi: <u>10.2307/41410412</u>]
- Wang X, White L, Chen X. An empirical study of wearable technology acceptance in healthcare. Ind Manag Data Syst 2015;115(9):1704-1723. [doi: <u>10.1108/imds-03-2015-0087</u>]
- 8. English D, Ankem K, English K. Acceptance of clinical decision support surveillance technology in the clinical pharmacy. Inform Health Soc Care 2017 Mar 18;42(2):135-152. [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2015.1113415] [Medline: 26890621]
- 9. Venkatesh V, Morris M, Davis G, Davis F. User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. MIS Quarterly 2003;27(3):425. [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- Briggs AH, Baker T, Risebrough NA, Chambers M, Gonzalez-McQuire S, Ismaila AS, et al. Development of the Galaxy Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Model Using Data from ECLIPSE: Internal Validation of a Linked-Equations Cohort Model. Med Decis Making 2016 Jun 17;37(4):469-480. [doi: 10.1177/0272989x16653118]
- Hoogendoorn M, Feenstra TL, Asukai Y, Briggs AH, Hansen RN, Leidl R, et al. External Validation of Health Economic Decision Models for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD): Report of the Third COPD Modeling Meeting. Value in Health 2017 Mar;20(3):397-403. [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2016.10.016]
- Husbands S, Jowett S, Barton P, Coast J. Understanding and Identifying Key Issues with the Involvement of Clinicians in the Development of Decision-Analytic Model Structures: A Qualitative Study. Pharmacoeconomics 2018 Dec 17;36(12):1453-1462. [doi: 10.1007/s40273-018-0705-7] [Medline: 30117116]
- 13. Wisner K, Lyndon A, Chesla CA. The electronic health record's impact on nurses' cognitive work: An integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud 2019 Jun;94:74-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.03.003] [Medline: 30939418]
- 14. Furlow B. Information overload and unsustainable workloads in the era of electronic health records. The Lancet Respiratory Medicine 2020 Mar;8(3):243-244. [doi: 10.1016/s2213-2600(20)30010-2]

- 15. Wilbanks B, McMullan SP. A Review of Measuring the Cognitive Workload of Electronic Health Records. Comput Inform Nurs 2018 Dec;36(12):579-588. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000469] [Medline: 30134256]
- 16. Pickering B, Herasevich V, Ahmed A, Gajic O. Novel Representation of Clinical Information in the ICU. Appl Clin Inform 2017 Dec 20;01(02):116-131. [doi: 10.4338/aci-2009-12-cr-0027]
- 17. Farrance I, Frenkel R. Uncertainty in measurement: a review of monte carlo simulation using microsoft excel for the calculation of uncertainties through functional relationships, including uncertainties in empirically derived constants. Clin Biochem Rev 2014 Feb;35(1):37-61 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24659835]
- 18. Oliphant TE. Python for Scientific Computing. Comput Sci Eng 2007 May;9(3):10-20. [doi: 10.1109/mcse.2007.58]
- Ash JS, Sittig DF, Campbell EM, Guappone KP, Dykstra RH. Some unintended consequences of clinical decision support systems. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2007 Oct 11:26-30 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18693791</u>]
- 20. Sittig DF, Belmont E, Singh H. Improving the safety of health information technology requires shared responsibility: It is time we all step up. Healthcare 2018 Mar;6(1):7-12. [doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2017.06.004]
- 21. Spatar D, Kok O, Basoglu N, Daim T. Adoption factors of electronic health record systems. Technology in Society 2019 Aug;58:101144. [doi: 10.1016/j.techsoc.2019.101144]
- 22. Jamieson T, Ailon J, Chien V, Mourad O. An electronic documentation system improves the quality of admission notes: a randomized trial. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Jan;24(1):123-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw064] [Medline: 27274016]
- 23. Duarte P, Pinho JC. A mixed methods UTAUT2-based approach to assess mobile health adoption. Journal of Business Research 2019 Sep;102:140-150. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.05.022</u>]
- 24. Jacob C, Sanchez-Vazquez A, Ivory C. Clinicians' Role in the Adoption of an Oncology Decision Support App in Europe and Its Implications for Organizational Practices: Qualitative Case Study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2019 May 03;7(5):e13555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13555] [Medline: 31066710]
- 25. Alwashmi MF, Fitzpatrick B, Davis E, Gamble J, Farrell J, Hawboldt J. Perceptions of Health Care Providers Regarding a Mobile Health Intervention to Manage Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: Qualitative Study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2019 Jun 10;7(6):e13950 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13950] [Medline: 31199330]

Abbreviations

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease **UTAUT:** unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.07.20; peer-reviewed by G Trivedi, C Gibson; comments to author 27.08.20; revised version received 14.02.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 16.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Beaubien L, Conrad C, Music J, Toze S Evaluating Simplified Web Interfaces of Risk Models for Clinical Use: Pilot Survey Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22110 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22110</u> doi:<u>10.2196/22110</u> PMID:<u>34269692</u>

©Louis Beaubien, Colin Conrad, Janet Music, Sandra Toze. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 16.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Decision Making When Cancer Becomes Chronic: Needs Assessment for a Web-Based Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma Patient Decision Aid

Danielle Shojaie^{1*}, MPH; Aubri S Hoffman^{2*}, MS, PhD; Ruth Amaku¹, MPH; Maria E Cabanillas³, MD; Julie Ann Sosa⁴, MA, MD; Steven G Waguespack³, MD; Mark E Zafereo⁵, MD; Mimi I Hu³, MD; Elizabeth E Grubbs¹, MD, FACS

¹Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

²Department of Gynecological Oncology and Reproductive Medicine, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

³Department of Endocrine Neoplasia and Hormonal Disorders, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States ⁴Department of Surgery, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁵Department of Head and Neck Surgery, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Elizabeth E Grubbs, MD, FACS Department of Surgical Oncology The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center 1400 Pressler Street, Unit 1484 Houston, TX, 77030 United States Phone: 1 713 745 3715 Fax: 1 713 792 4689 Email: eggrubbs@mdanderson.org

Abstract

Background: In cancers with a chronic phase, patients and family caregivers face difficult decisions such as whether to start a novel therapy, whether to enroll in a clinical trial, and when to stop treatment. These decisions are complex, require an understanding of uncertainty, and necessitate the consideration of patients' informed preferences. For some cancers, such as medullary thyroid carcinoma, these decisions may also involve significant out-of-pocket costs and effects on family members. Providers have expressed a need for web-based interventions that can be delivered between consultations to provide education and prepare patients and families to discuss these decisions. To ensure that these tools are effective, usable, and understandable, studies are needed to identify patients', families', and providers' decision-making needs and optimal design strategies for a web-based patient decision aid.

Objective: Following the international guidelines for the development of a web-based patient decision aid, the objectives of this study are to engage potential users to guide development; review the existing literature and available tools; assess users' decision-making experiences, needs, and design recommendations; and identify shared decision-making approaches to address each need.

Methods: This study used the decisional needs assessment approach, which included creating a stakeholder advisory panel, mapping decision pathways, conducting an environmental scan of existing materials, and administering a decisional needs assessment questionnaire. Thematic analyses identified current decision-making pathways, unmet decision-making needs, and decision support strategies for meeting each need.

Results: The stakeholders reported wide heterogeneity in decision timing and pathways. Relevant existing materials included 2 systematic reviews, 9 additional papers, and multiple educational websites, but none of these met the criteria for a patient decision aid. Patients and family members (n=54) emphasized the need for plain language (46/54, 85%), shared decision making (45/54, 83%), and help with family discussions (39/54, 72%). Additional needs included information about uncertainty, lived experience, and costs. Providers (n=10) reported needing interventions that address misinformation (9/10, 90%), foster realistic expectations (9/10, 90%), and address mistrust in clinical trials (5/10, 50%). Additional needs included provider tools that support

shared decision making. Both groups recommended designing a web-based patient decision aid that can be tailored to (64/64, 100%) and delivered on a hospital website (53/64, 83%), focuses on quality of life (45/64, 70%), and provides step-by-step guidance (43/64, 67%). The study team identified best practices to meet each need, which are presented in the proposed decision support design guide.

Conclusions: Patients, families, and providers report multifaceted decision support needs during the chronic phase of cancer. Web-based patient decision aids that provide tailored support over time and explicitly address uncertainty, quality of life, realistic expectations, and effects on families are needed.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27484) doi:10.2196/27484

KEYWORDS

patient decision aids; decision support techniques; oncology; medullary thyroid cancer; targeted therapy; clinical trial; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

As diagnoses and treatments continue to improve, chronic cancer is increasingly recognized as a unique phase in the cancer care continuum. During this time, many patients face difficult decisions such as whether to try novel therapeutics emerging on the market, whether to enroll in clinical trials, and when to stop treatment. New medicines offer hope but may provide only limited efficacy in select groups, have significant risks of side effects, or involve high out-of-pocket costs for the family. Many clinical trials cover the costs of treatment but involve accepting unknown potential benefits and risks. For some patients, even successful therapeutic effects do not last, and a decision needs to be made about whether to switch therapies or stop treatment. These decisions are classified as preference-sensitive because they involve 2 or more medically relevant options, uncertain benefits, notable risks, and variation in how patients and families value the potential process and outcomes [1].

A prime example is medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC), a rare thyroid tumor. More than half of patients with MTC develop an advanced or chronic disease and live for years to decades with slowly progressing, often terminal cancer [2,3]. The US Food and Drug Administration approved 3 oral targeted therapies-vandetanib, cabozantinib, and selpercatinib-for the treatment of progressive MTC. Large phase 3 trials comparing vandetanib and cabozantinib with placebos showed improved progression-free survival; however, improvement in overall survival was only observed in small select groups [4,5]. These drugs are costly (US \$200-US \$600 per day) and can cause significant diarrhea, weight loss, hypertension, hypertensive crises, profound fatigue, or death [4,6]. Selpercatinib has been recently approved for a subset of patients and has been reported to be well tolerated with fewer side effects; however, overall survival benefits have not been shown [7]. Several clinical trials are ongoing; however, patients must be willing to accept randomization and unknown side effects. When discussing a new targeted therapy or clinical trial, it is also important to clarify the conditions under which patients would want to switch or end treatment. These decisions are often revisited iteratively over months or years, with much of patients' deliberations occurring between clinical consultations. Hence, providers have expressed interest in web-based approaches to helping patients and families learn about and prepare to discuss these preference-sensitive decisions [8].

In preference-sensitive care, the best decision involves integrating medical evidence and informed patient preferences. Shared decision-making interventions such as decision coaching and patient decision aids are the gold standard for optimal preference-sensitive care [9-11]. Decision coaching involves semistructured discussion to ensure that patients are well informed, have realistic expectations, are clear about their decision-making values, and have appropriate resources and support to implement the mutually agreed upon choice [12]. Patient decision aids are tools that provide up-to-date, balanced evidence about the options and activities to promote preparation for decision making, values clarification, communication, and engagement [13]. Patient decision aids may be delivered before, during, or between consultations. Multiple Cochrane Collaboration systematic reviews report that patient decision aids help patients become well informed, form more realistic expectations, clarify which risks and benefits matter most to them, and prepare for discussing these decisions with their clinical teams [13-15]. Decision counseling and patient decision aids also address patients' decisional conflict, a state of anxiety that blocks taking action [16]. Previous studies have reported that for each point increase on the 0-100 Decisional Conflict Scale, patients were 23 times more likely to delay their decision, 59 times more likely to change their mind, 5 times more likely to express decision regret, and 19% more likely to blame doctors for bad outcomes [17].

Objectives

The International Patient Decision Aid Standards Collaboration provides guidelines for evidence-based systematic development of patient decision aids [18], including reviewing the literature for up-to-date clinical information, assessing the quality and relevance of any existing tools, and conducting a formal decisional needs assessment to identify high-priority decision-making needs. The guidelines chapter, *Delivering Decision Aids Using the Internet* [19], also recommends a user-centered design process to ensure that the tools are accessible, usable, and meaningful. The long-term goal of this research program is to develop patient- and provider-facing decision support tools for chronic cancer. As a first step, the objectives of this study are to (1) engage users in a stakeholder advisory panel to guide development; (2) review the existing literature and available tools; (3) assess the decision-making

XSL•FO

experiences, needs, and recommendations of patients with MTC, family members, and providers; and (4) identify shared decision-making approaches to address each need.

Methods

Conceptual Framework

This initial study (part of a larger trial; NCT03892993) followed the multidisciplinary decisional needs assessment approach outlined by the patient decision aid development guidelines [18,19]. One of the key theoretical models underlying this approach is the Ottawa Decision Support Framework [16,20], which has been used to develop decision support interventions in more than 100 studies across 18 countries. This framework applies behavioral, cognitive, and economic decision theories [21-24] to preference-sensitive health care decisions. For example, it postulates several modifiable decision-making needs such as lack of awareness, knowledge, clarity, or support that can be addressed to ensure a high-quality decision-making process (Figure 1).

Figure 1. The Ottawa Decision Support Framework. *Inadequate support and resources to make/implement the decision include: information inadequacy/overload; inadequate perceptions of others' views/practices; social pressure; difficult decisional roles; inadequate experience; self-efficacy, motivation, skills; inadequate emotional support, advice, instrumental help; and inadequate financial assistance, health/social services. Copyright 2019, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute [16,20].



To support rigorous systematic development, this framework was operationalized in 1999 as the Decisional Needs Assessment in Populations [25]. This approach has been used across a wide variety of clinical contexts to assess patients', families', providers', and community members' decision-making experiences, processes, unmet needs, and recommendations for designing meaningful, understandable, and feasible tools [18,25-29]. It involves a series of steps using mixed methods with an emphasis on user-centered design and practical thematic analysis focused on unmet decision-making needs.

Procedures

Overview

Following the guidelines for systematic development [18] (Figure 2) and delivery using the internet [19], this study proceeded in 4 steps: (1) engaging a stakeholder advisory panel, (2) reviewing existing literature and tools, (3) administering a decisional needs assessment questionnaire, and (4) developing a decision support design guide to inform the future design of a patient decision aid. The institutional review board of the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center provided ethical review and approval.

Figure 2. The International Patient Decision Aid Standards Collaboration model for the systematic development of a patient decision aid [18].



Engaging Users in a Stakeholder Advisory Panel

To guide the overarching program of research, the study team purposefully invited a diverse group of potential users and key stakeholders, including patients, family members, surgeons, oncologists, and advanced practice providers. Advisory panel members were not participants but partners in the research process who provided guidance on the study methods, proposed questionnaire, potential sources, data interpretations, and the

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27484

RenderX

final design guide. The advisory panel meets at least twice per year to discuss the overarching program of research and was engaged in 2 study planning calls and multiple calls and emails as needed to review, edit, and approve study documents, results, interpretations, and this manuscript. Notably, they proposed that the project scope includes both targeted therapies and clinical trials as well as recommendations for a web-based patient decision aid to deliver timely information to patients living in the community.

Review of Existing Literature and Tools

A total of 2 reviews of MTCs had been completed in 2016 [30,31]. Therefore, a scoping review [32] was conducted to identify newer publications, and an environmental scan approach [33] was used to identify and assess the quality of existing materials. First, the research team members searched Web of Science, PubMed, and Google Scholar for advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma, decision support, patient decision aid, vandetanib, cabozantinib, surveillance, and clinical trial participation. Next, they used Web of Science to conduct a 1-generation forward and backward citation analysis of the references of the 2 systematic reviews and the papers that referenced the systematic reviews. Finally, the team conducted a gray literature search [34], which involved reviewing relevant websites, brochures, drug labels, and infographics using Google Scholar; web-based patient decision aid libraries; and relevant clinical, advocacy, and survivor support group websites. All reviews were conducted in English, included all time frames and countries, excluded advertisements, and retained only the most recent version of the edited documents or websites.

Decisional Needs Assessment

The decisional needs assessment questionnaire [25] includes 10 open-ended items assessing respondents' previous experience, decision-making needs, and recommendations for the design of a decision support intervention such as a web-based patient decision aid. We tailored the questionnaire for patients, family members, and providers (eg, "Which of the following decisions [have you considered/have you discussed with your loved one/have you discussed with patients]?"). Patients and family members also responded to 14 items assessing their characteristics. To inform future implementation, providers responded to 2 questions about care pathways. The stakeholder advisory panel and institutional review board reviewed, revised, and approved the questionnaire.

The participants were English-speaking adult patients with MTC, informal caregivers or family members (on their own or with a patient or survivor), and clinicians who treat patients with MTC. The research coordinator recruited eligible patients and family members from the MTC Registry, which includes more than 1500 individuals from 20 states and 6 countries. The study team purposefully recruited patients across the disease spectrum, excluding individuals for whom participation could have caused distress (eg, recently diagnosed or bereaved). The provider participants included endocrinologists, medical oncologists, and surgeons purposefully recruited for their significant expertise and diversity of perspectives. All participants provided informed consent.

Members of the MTC Registry are active on the web and well known to each other and to MTC providers; therefore, additional attention was given to ensuring confidentiality while maximizing access. The research coordinator called each individual and offered an informational email that explained the purpose of, and process for, participating, including the opportunity to respond confidentially and securely on the web (or on paper or by phone, if requested). The email provided the link to a closed web-based questionnaire hosted on REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) version 9.1.0

XSL•FO

(May 31, 2019) [35]. A total of 2 reminder emails were sent to the nonresponders. All participants completed the questionnaire between May and September 2019. Patients and family members received a US \$10 gift card after participating.

Statistical Analysis

This exploratory study was not designed to test a hypothesis or generate a theory. Sample sizes were based on the international guidelines and were consistent with previous studies [18,19,28,36-39]. For the questionnaire, the research team used descriptive statistics to summarize quantitative responses and semantic, critical realist thematic analyses [40] to analyze qualitative responses. Beginning with a deductive approach, one author (ASH) hand-coded responses using core concepts from the Ottawa Decision Support Framework [16] (eg, uncertainty and need for information) and clinical literature (eg, side effects and costs). If a new concept arose in 2 or more responses, a new code was proposed, reviewed by a second author (DZS), and used to recode previous records. Conflicts and questions were discussed by 2 authors (EGG and MIH). The full research team met and reviewed the coding and findings twice and then presented all results and findings to the advisory panel to confirm meaningful interpretation and contextualization.

Decision Support Design Guide

The purpose of a decision support design guide is to identify top-priority design needs (ie, clinical content, decision support activities, graphics, delivery etc) and to propose design solutions to address each need. Consistent with the conceptual framework, the research team organized the needs according to the modifiable factors that contribute to high decisional conflict (ie, feeling uninformed, unclear, unsupported, uncertain, and ineffective) [16] and added a delivery or accessibility category focusing on web-based delivery. Responses were retained if they were top rated or most endorsed across both groups. To identify best practices in decision support and patient decision aid design, the research team consulted the International Patient Decision Aid Standards chapters [12,19,41-46], the Cochrane Collaboration reviews [13,14], selected decision support experts, and the advisory panel. The team aligned the best practices parallel to each need to create a decision support design guide.

Results

Engaging Users in a Stakeholder Advisory Panel

The stakeholder advisory panel consisted of 4 patients and family members, 2 oncologic endocrinologists, 1 head and neck surgeon, and 1 advanced practice provider. Their experience and diverse perspectives complemented the expertise of the research team, which included a surgical oncologist, an oncologic endocrinologist, a decision scientist, and a trained research assistant. The advisory panel participated meaningfully in all aspects of the study, from the protocol design to writing this manuscript.

Review of Existing Literature and Tools

In addition to the previous 2 systematic reviews [30,31], the scoping review and citation analysis identified 9 papers specific to decision making for MTC [3,47-53]. Two papers focused on

improving diagnosis and staging, 6 papers reported studies of targeted therapeutics, and the remaining paper provided updated clinical practice guidelines. No studies on patient decision aids for starting or stopping targeted therapies were identified. A total of 3 studies of patient decision aids for clinical trial enrollment exist in other contexts [54-57], along with a conceptual framework for development [58]. The environmental scan and gray literature search identified 56 blogs, websites, and posts by clinical and advocacy groups. Review of these webpages confirmed that patients were asking about targeted therapy and clinical trial enrollment decisions; however, no patient decision aid for MTC was identified.

Decisional Needs Assessment

Participant Characteristics

The research team invited 106 patients, family members, and providers. A total of 74 individuals responded, and 64 (87%) individuals completed the questionnaire, including 46 (72%) patients, 10 (16%) family members, and 10 (16%) providers.

Table 1 summarizes the respondents' characteristics. In addition, 46% (25/54) of patients and family members received surgery and care at both the study site and outside institutions. Notably, the respondents included individuals who had recently undergone a secondary surgery or focal treatment, individuals with indolent disease who may face these decisions in the future, and individuals experiencing an advanced stage of disease treated with at least one systemic therapy agent. Many providers (6/10, 60%) reported being attending physicians who saw 30-50 patients with MTC per year.

The following paragraphs summarize participants' responses to the 3 sections of the questionnaire assessing (1) previous decision-making experiences, (2) decision support needs, and (3) recommendations for designing a decision support tool such as a web-based patient decision aid. To protect individuals' privacy, patient and family member responses have been combined, identifying information has been redacted in the quotes, and results from fewer than 5 patients and family members are reported but not quantified.

Table 1. Participants' characteristics (N=64).

Characteristics	Patients and family members ^a (n=54)	Providers (n=10)
Number of years of treating or being with patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma, median (minimum, maximum)	4.5 (<1, 24)	13 (5, 25)
Location of cancer care or clinical practice, n (%) ^b		
MD Anderson Cancer Center	44 (95)	1 (10)
Another institution	27 (56)	9 (90)
Experience with medullary thyroid carcinoma, n (%) ^b		
Patient with medullary thyroid cancer or survivor	46 (85)	c
Caregiver or family member	10 (19)	c
Medical oncologist	c	5 (50)
Endocrinologist	c	4 (40)
Surgeon	c	1 (10)
Age (years), median (minimum, maximum)	52 (21, 80)	46 (40, 60)
Female sex, n (%)	30 (56)	2 (20)
Race, n (%) ^b		
White	46 (85)	7 (70)
Other	8 (15)	3 (30)
Hispanic or Latino/Latina, n (%)	7 (13)	0 (0)
Education, n (%)		
Some college, associate's or technical degree	14 (26)	c
Bachelor's degree	25 (46)	c
Graduate degree	11 (20)	c
Religion, n (%) ^b		
Atheism or agnosticism	5 (9)	c
Christianity	46 (85)	c
Health insurance, n (%) ^b		
Private insurance	49 (91)	c
Medicare or Medicaid	17 (32)	c
Annual household income (US \$), n (%)		
<50,000	12 (22)	c
50,001-100,000	12 (22)	c
>100,000	30 (56)	c

^aTo protect patients' privacy, cells with <5 responses have not been reported; therefore, not all sections total 100%.

^bParticipants could select more than 1 response.

^cNot assessed in this study group.

Patient and Family Member Perspectives

Of the 54, 20 (37%) of patients and family members reported making decisions about whether to start a new targeted therapy drug, 24 (44%) had deliberated about whether to enroll in a clinical trial, and 9 (16%) had chosen to stop a therapy. *Other*

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27484

XSL•FO RenderX responses included whether to take or increase synthetic thyroid hormone, undergo radiation therapy, or undergo surgery with the possibility of losing their voice. A few patients focused on personal decisions such as when to disclose their diagnosis, discuss cascade genetic testing, or inform their family about progression. One person highlighted the decision to accept that

Shojaie et al

they had terminal cancer. Others described logistical decisions such as whether to travel for second opinions, treatment, or surgery:

Choosing doctors & treatment options to best suit my specific needs is difficult because they're few and far between. There are different types of this rare cancer (inherited and sporadic) and...different gene mutations...which ultimately contribute to compartmentalizing and/or reducing treatment options and adversely impacting [one's] specific needs. [Patient]

Where to get help? Local endocrinologists and surgeons had little to no experience with MTC and even their comments were unsettling. Is there a benefit to traveling for treatment? [Patient]

Most of the patients (31/44, 72%) reported worry as a primary barrier, including significant concern regarding how each option would affect their family financially, emotionally, and in caregiving burden. Some patients (12/54, 22%) reported feeling rushed or pressured (by their doctor, family, or insurance company) or worried about disappointing their doctor (10/54, 19%). A few patients reported challenges with trust and communication:

I had to decide if I wanted to fight my initial endocrinologist about having genetic testing. He told me it was very expensive and since my children were adopted it wasn't critical. When I asked about my siblings, he shrugged. [Patient]

Both patients and family members (16/54, 30%) focused on the need for help dealing with uncertainty, clarifying risks, and weighing future effects on quality of life. Some participants (12/54, 22%) reported information barriers such as difficulty finding trustworthy information or frustration over finding conflicting information. A few participants noted that they

needed time to process information and to connect with survivors to discuss the lived experience. Notably, most patients (45/54, 83%) and family preferred "discussing treatment options and my preferences with my providers, then making the decisions together." Only a few wanted to make the decision themselves (6/54, 11%) or have the doctor make the decisions (3/54, 6%):

[We] have small children...[so we] had to weigh in the travel and cost for our family. [Caregiver or family member]

[1] was not allowed time to gain knowledge of MTC. Also, I did not seek a second opinion which would have been valuable. [Patient]

Table 2 summarizes patients' and family members' ratings of possible features for a decision support tool. Overall, most of the patients and family members recommended using plain language and providing a step-by-step guide, example questions, charts, and a printable summary. *Other* recommendations included providing a glossary, responses to frequently asked questions, question-prompt list, tips for talking with employers, guidelines on how to select a provider, and activities to elicit and clarify what is most important in these decisions (eg, travel costs, financial considerations, and timing):

Keep the language simple. The video we watched for [a previous clinical trial] was very informative. We followed it just fine, but my thoughts drifted to those that might not have a high education level, how well would they comprehend? [Caregiver or family member]

Keep a library of historical real Questions & Answers made by people. [Patient]

Mental health information—particularly aimed at grief and how to include children. Explain mortality rates in lay person terms. [Patient]

Table 2. Patients' and family members' recommendations for a decision support tool (n=54).

Recommendations for a patient decision aid	Patients and family members, n (%)
Explain each treatment option in plain language	44 (82)
A step-by-step guide to walk you through considering the decision	36 (67)
Example questions to ask the doctor	32 (59)
Charts comparing options side by side	30 (56)
Printable summary of your information at the end	28 (52)
Stories from other patients or families about what each option was like	27 (50)
A glossary of the medical terms	27 (50)
Keep it simple	26 (48)
Stories from other patients or families about how they made these decisions	25 (46)
Graphics that illustrate the risks (eg, 8 of 10,000 people)	25 (46)
Activities to help you sort out what is most important to you personally	16 (30)
A place to write down your questions for the doctor	14 (26)
Other	6 (11)

Regarding the amount of information, a slight majority (32/54, 59%) reported wanting "the key facts and lots of details about

all of the options," but others preferred "the key facts, plus detail about the options I am interested in" (12/54, 22%) or "the key

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27484

XSL•FO RenderX

facts about each of the treatment options" (10/54, 19%). A few participants commented that they particularly wanted more information for these decisions because of the potential long-term effects on quality of life and on their families. Notably, a few participants requested information comparing clinical trials and information comparing novel therapeutics:

A simple pros and cons list for each clinical trial...or, a chart where you can see each drug side-by-side. [Patient]

Regarding preferred mediums, most of the patients and family members recommended a worksheet that walks them through the decision(s) (39/54, 73%), an interactive website (35/54, 66%), a 1-page printable summary (34/54, 64%), or video (30/54, 57%). Most of the participants recommended multiple delivery routes, including the hospital website (45/54, 83%), personal email (37/54, 57%), smartphone app (25/54, 46%), paper copies at the doctor's office (19/54, 35%), or mail (13/54, 24%). A few individuals recommended sending the worksheet through the patient portal, providing a link in the annual guidelines, or making it available on social media cancer support groups, peer-to-peer support groups, and patient advocacy sites.

Provider Perspectives

Regarding current experiences, all providers reported that their care pathway involves treatment by an endocrinologist until progression occurs, followed by referral to a medical oncologist. In total, 70% (7/10) of providers recommended introducing these decisions early on, including at the initial visit. In total, 20% (2/10) of providers recommended waiting until the patient developed distant disease:

[Targeted therapy should be discussed] as soon as distant metastases are identified. If they are small distant mets, then it is a brief mention that systemic therapy options are available in the future. As the mets get bigger or if they are progressing, then more detailed discussions ensue. [Endocrinologist]

At the initial visit, I provide a comprehensive picture of their disease management, the palliative nature of therapy, the role of surveillance, what guides the decision to treat, and what the treatment options are (standard and experimental). [Medical oncologist]

Regarding clinical trials, the providers reported engaging in discussions at least once a week (3/10, 30%), once a month (4/10, 40%), or a few times a year (2/10, 20%). Most of the providers (7/10, 70%) felt that it was their role to initiate these conversations with patients; others (3/10, 30%) felt that it could be introduced by the study team. In total, 40% (4/10) of providers reported that patients initiated these decisions approximately 50% of the time or more:

The best quality discussion happens over several visits...more as a continuing conversation, rather than a sudden surprise discussion that it is time to start systemic therapy tomorrow. This gives patients time to think about the information, involve family members, do their own research, and come prepared with better questions. [Endocrinologist]

The providers reported moderate satisfaction with these discussions (10-point scale score: mean 7.5, SD 2.1; minimum=2, maximum=10). Their descriptions of the "best outcome of this conversation" were that patients understood the key information (6/10, 60%), including that trials are experimental, and that they interacted or asked questions (6/10, 60%) and stated that the decision aligned with goals of care (4/10, 40%):

Success is when a patient and his/her family feel like they have a good understanding of the risks/benefits of their decision and are comfortable with the path we choose together. [Medical oncologist]

Success is they understand that clinical trials are experimental, we don't know if they are better than standard of care, and the risks may not be completely known. [Endocrinologist]

When discussing targeted therapies, the providers reported needing interventions that address preconceived notions (5/10, 50%), misinformation (4/10, 40%), and time constraints (4/10, 40%). A few described situations in which patients were informed that there is no cure, but they continued to believe that a cure may still be achievable. They also discussed 2 effects of misinformation and preconceived notions: (1) patients assuming that the side effects are negligible and not considering quality of life or (2) patients assuming the degree of side effects to be so harmful that they will not consider a certain therapy. *Other* barriers included lack of visual aids, poor retention, difficulties clarifying goals of care, fear and logistical challenges related to clinic flow, paucity of multidisciplinary approaches, and insurance coverage:

[Barriers include] preconceived notions from patients that approved therapies are too toxic and not efficacious; some patients want to dictate the way they should be treated. [Endocrinologist]

The limitations imposed by busy clinics and limited time with patients is the biggest hindrance. These are complicated issues that require time with the patient to have a comprehensive discussion that is well-received with the patient. [Medical oncologist]

When discussing decisions about clinical trials, most of the providers (9/10, 90%) also described situations in which patients stated unrealistic goals, overly optimistic assumptions, or beliefs that the trial would be curative. However, half of the providers (5/10, 50%) also discussed conversations in which patients distrusted pharmaceutical companies and did not want to be a "guinea pig." *Other* barriers included lack of visual aids, concerns about randomization, worry about the unknown risks of side effects, and potential logistical challenges or costs:

[Patients believe] that we are just experimenting on them and that we have no idea whether it will work...there is a general mistrust of drug companies. [Endocrinologist]

[Patients tell me] "I am a guinea pig," or [they are] overly optimistic that the trial drug will help them [and have few side-effects]. [Endocrinologist]

The providers recommended a variety of approaches to designing a web-based patient decision aid. All providers (10/10, 100%) endorsed the need to include both decisions (targeted therapies and clinical trials), and most (7/10, 70%) endorsed having the ability to tailor or separate the decisions. Table 3 summarizes their ratings of the possible formats. *Other* responses included purposefully designing the patient decision

aid for repeated discussions over time; face-to-face meetings with a midlevel provider to discuss side effects; and 1-page summaries of the disease, therapies, and trials:

Individualization is key. [Medical oncologist] In the absence of a curative systemic therapy, I think I would use a decision aid that incorporates standard of care and clinical trials. [Endocrinologist]

Table 3.	Perceptions	regarding potential	decision support t	tools (N=64).
----------	-------------	---------------------	--------------------	---------------

How helpful would the following tools be?	Patients and family members (n=54)	Providers (n=10)
Patient-facing tools, n (%)	-	
A 1-page comparison chart of the treatment options you can use in consultation	34 (64)	9 (90)
A brochure or video patients can be given before their appointment	30 (57)	8 (80)
A worksheet about preferences and values they complete that you can add to their electronic health record	39 (74)	7 (70)
A page on your institutional website	35 (66)	6 (60)
A face to face meeting with a nurse to talk about side effects	0 (0)	6 (60)
Other	8 (15)	7 (70)
Provider-facing tools, n (%)		
A brief training seminar on the current evidence	a	7 (70)
A brief training seminar on decision coaching as a clinical skill	a	7 (70)
A collaborative meeting between departments to discuss the upstream/downstream impacts of these decisions	ea	7 (70)
A study of the patients' reported experience	a	7 (70)
Other	a	0 (0)

^aNot assessed in this study group.

In terms of the key facts that should be conveyed, most of the providers (7/10, 70%) focused on quality of life and repeating that targeted therapies may not prolong survival. Some also focused on balanced discussion, lack of known probabilities, acknowledging that experimental therapy may be better tolerated, emphasizing that goals of care change over time, and describing co-pays. A few providers cautioned that the decision aid should advise patients to make sure that their expectations, both expressed and implied, are realistic before enrolling in a clinical trial. One provider also recommended explicitly addressing the concept of altruistic volunteering:

A tutorial on the role of clinical trials in drug development and patient care to establish general background before a discussion would be helpful. [Medical oncologist]

The providers recommended introducing clinical trials early on or during the first visit (4/10, 40%), at the same time as standard therapies (3/10, 30%), or at all stages (3/10, 30%). A few providers recommended waiting until standard therapy failed, before surgery, or when a novel therapy has compelling clinical data. Several providers brought up improving the overall decision-making process, including developing better patient education materials (3/10, 30%) and initiating multidisciplinary conversations earlier (3/10, 30%). *Other* recommendations

RenderX

included getting clarity about expectations, verbally encouraging patients to communicate side effects, and planning additional time for these conversations. They also recommended that the conversation be led by a clinician who is experienced in caring for patients with MTC:

[We need] better patient education materials aimed toward patients in their language. [Endocrinologist]

[We need] to have MTC patients see knowledgeable medical oncologists earlier in the disease course, so it doesn't feel like a defeat when they're referred to us. [Medical oncologist]

Decision Support Design Guide

Figure 3 illustrates the decision support design guide, with the left column listing the top-reported decision support needs and the right column proposing decision support approaches to address each need. A review of the international standards identified several relevant best practices, including explicitly introducing shared decision making, inviting engagement, balanced presentation of pros and cons, addressing uncertainty, providing cost ranges, and delivering the patient decision aid on the hospital website with optional paper worksheets. To meet provider needs, strategies include seminars on decision coaching, communication, and behavioral therapy skills (to address anxiety, trust, fear, etc); a consultation tool kit of shared

decision-making discussion prompts; responses to frequently asked questions; 1-page summaries of clinical trials; or illustrative material such as icon arrays and side-by-side

comparison charts. The advisory panel reviewed and approved the design guide for use in future studies.

Figure 3. Decision support design guide. Left column: top-rated decision support needs from our assessment. Right column: proposed decision support strategies for addressing each need.

Decision Support Design Guide

Unmet Decision-making Needs

Feeling Uninformed

- Explanations of therapeutics and clinical trials
- Acknowledge other patient-identified decisions
- Definitions of key terms (non-curative vs. non-progression, targeted therapies)
- · Benefits & risks described in terms of quality of life
- Evidence of lived experience, quality of life, & costs

Feeling Unclear

- · Activities to personalize information, risks, & costs
- Activities to help clarify goals of care
- Examples of realistic expectations

Feeling Unsupported

- Ways to address worry about how these decisions will affect family financially, emotionally, & logistically
- Ways to address feeling pressured, rushed, or worried about disappointing doctor
- · Stories & opportunities to talk with nurses & patients

Feeling Uncertain

- · Ways to understand and address uncertainty
- · Confirmation that decisions may be revisited/changed
- Example questions & place to write down questions

Feeling Ineffective (at Making a Good Decision)

- · Multiple levels of deliberative support and engagement
- Step-by-step decision-making guide
- Printable summary

Accessibility & Delivery

- · Key facts plus optional levels of detail
- · Address health literacy
- · Available on hospital website, email, phone, & paper
- Worksheet, interactive website, and/or video
- Available at multiple time points

Provider Preparation & Resources

- · Information about current trials & shared decision making
- Ability to tailor tools & discussion (therapies vs. trials)
- Ways to address misinformation, preconceived notions, risks, and trust in clinical trials
- Ways to assess preferences & document

Proposed Design Strategies

Clinical Content

- Scope: starting, stopping, or continuing targeted therapies & clinical trials, acknowledge other decisions
- Plain language, glossary, hover-over definitions
- · Frame in terms of quality of life
- Patient-reported data regarding lived experience, quality of life, & cost ranges for each option

Values Clarification

- Side-by-side comparison charts and values clarification exercises, including goals of care
- Explain challenges with affective forecasting & provide narrative examples

Addressing the Role of Family & Providers

- Behavioral therapies and conversation sheets (Tips for Family Discussions, Tips for Conflict Resolution)
- Available online to review at home with invitation email from provider
- · Decision counseling (trained peers, nurses)

Identify Gaps & Close the Loop

- · Explicitly address uncertainty & paucity of evidence
- Provide example pathways/timelines
- Question-prompt list & open areas for notes/questions

Building Shared Decision-making Skills

- Ways to assess preferred role in shared decision-making process
- · Introduction to shared decision-making process
- · Personal decision-making worksheet (printable)

Format & Features

- Interactive/self-tailorable tool
- Plain language, glossary, illustrations, & risk graphics
- Multimedia set of tools (patient decision aid, worksheet, summary sheets for trials, etc.)
- Memorable static URL for revisiting over time; triggered & standard invitation intervals

Provider Training & Toolkit

- Webinars on Decision Coaching as a Clinical Skill, behavioral counseling skills, & clinical trial updates
- · Tailorable tool & consultation toolkits
- · Frequently asked questions
- Patient-reported outcome measures integrated into electronic health record

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overall, the results indicate that patients with chronic cancer may have significant unmet decision-making needs, and strong support exists for designing decision support tools regarding novel targeted therapies and clinical trial enrollment. Patients and family members report multiple information and decision support needs, such as needing understandable information, examples of the lived experience, help in personalizing the information, strategies to address worry, step-by-step guidance, and opportunities to revisit decision making over time. In addition, the providers emphasized the need to address misinformation, foster realistic expectations, and address mistrust toward clinical trials. The participants supported the development of a web-based tool that can be delivered across multiple platforms (hospital website and email) and that provides a printable personal summary. The providers also requested tools to support shared decision making in consultation. Although no existing patient decision aid could be identified, clinical content regarding targeted therapies is available, and examples of clinical trial tools exist in other clinical contexts. To support clinicians and designers who wish to develop such a tool, the proposed decision support design guide (Figure 3) illustrates the top-priority needs and best practices in decision support to address each need.

Comparison With Previous Work

The results of this needs assessment highlighted several constructs, mechanisms, and behaviors that may affect patient decision aid design. Patients and family members reported heterogeneous information-seeking behaviors and deliberative styles. Some preferred "just the key facts" and may have been overwhelmed by too much detail, whereas others sought highly detailed information and side-by-side comparison charts. Some preferred implicit decision support (introducing the concepts of shared decision making but allowing them to manage their deliberative process internally), whereas others specifically requested explicit decision support (providing step-by-step guidance, interactive websites, or worksheets) [19]. These patterns are consistent with those in other studies [19,27] and may be linked to coping strategies such as monitoring (seeking a sense of control by seeking and attending to information) or blunting (seeking a sense of control by limiting information) [59,60]. Additional research is needed to explore dynamic and address each designs that assess patient's information-seeking and deliberative styles.

Furthermore, these decisions highlight the challenges of shared decision making in the context of chronic or terminal stages of disease. The Ottawa Decision Support Framework focuses on addressing modifiable constructs to decisional conflict, such as feeling uninformed, unclear, and uncertain [16,17]. When discussing novel therapeutics and clinical trial enrollment, the options for providing evidence to foster certainty may be limited. However, the process of helping patients acclimate to the paucity of information, clarify what matters most (including quality of life), develop shared decision-making skills, and communicate

with family and providers may provide important benefits that improve long-term decisional regret.

To our knowledge, this is the first study of MTC decision support needs and recommendations for a patient decision aid [13,61]. Previous studies have focused on the quality of patient-facing information. A review of 100 thyroid cancer websites [62,63] reported that most of the websites addressed diagnosis (92/100, 92%) and treatment (94/100, 94%); however, only some (50/100, 50%) were accurate, included source references (53/100, 53%), or were appropriate for a high school education level (2/100, 2%). A similar study in Germany [48] reported similar heterogeneity in the quality and accessibility of information. One study [50] tested web-based, personalized information and support with individuals with neuroendocrine tumors and found no difference in patients' distress or satisfaction. A recent review of websites for the surgical management of low-risk thyroid cancer [64] reported that few (19/60, 32%) of the websites presented all treatment options, and none of the websites discussed the 2015 guidelines [3].

Since the 2017 review of internet-based patient decision aids [19], several studies have been published that may inform the design of web-based tools [65-72]. Overall, these studies continue to report positive ratings of acceptability, usability, and satisfaction as well as improved knowledge, decisional conflict, decision self-efficacy, preparation for decision making, and satisfaction. Baptista et al [73] reported that web-based patient decision aids improved knowledge and decisional conflict compared with usual care and were comparable with paper-based patient decision aids. Related reviews of computerized decision aids [74,75] report positive outcomes and satisfaction, strong correlations with the quality of development, and improved decision making for tools with features such as content control but poorer decision making when tools included tailoring or patient narratives. These topics continue to be emerging areas of research and can be explored in user design studies.

On the basis of the results of this study, the next steps will include continuing with the systematic development of a patient decision aid (Figure 2) for patients and family members with MTC. Once the review and synthesis of the clinical evidence are complete and we develop the initial prototype with the advisory panel, we will re-engage the participants who consented to be recontacted to iteratively review and revise the drafts. In parallel, we will develop and validate a Decision Quality Index, the gold standard measure of the degree to which patients' decisions are informed and values congruent. With these tools, we can begin to simultaneously assess efficacy and effectiveness as well as explore some of the methodological research questions discussed herein. The ultimate long-term goals of this program of research continue to be to help patients with MTC and their families to make well-informed personal health care decisions, while simultaneously learning from patient-reported data about patients' needs, values, cultural considerations, and informed preferences regarding starting and stopping novel therapeutics and clinical trials.

Limitations

Several limitations of this study should be noted. The use of a web-based questionnaire typically limits follow-up; however, respondents are well known in this small and very active community, and most of the patients and family members consented to continued involvement in the iterative design and testing of tools and resources. Most patients received care at a comprehensive care center; however, we included patients across the spectrum of care (newly diagnosed to advanced disease), and responses were received from 19 states. This initial study focused on decisions about therapeutics and clinical trial enrollment; however, needs assessments are needed for the other difficult decisions identified by the respondents.

Conclusions

Patients with chronic progressive cancers and their families face difficult decisions involving high uncertainty, complex topics, and concerns about potential effects on the family. High-quality patient decision aids are needed that provide information in plain language, explain how to make a decision under uncertainty, incorporate quality of life, address potential effects on family members, and can be revisited over time.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the patients and family members of the Medullary Thyroid Cancer Registry of the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center and the University of California, San Francisco. The authors also acknowledge the Shared Decision-Making Collaborative and the Duncan Family Institute for Cancer Prevention and Risk Assessment. The authors also greatly thank and acknowledge the important insight and guidance provided by their stakeholder advisory panel, both the individuals who were able to participate as authors as well as Anne Brinkman, Jennifer Morgenthaler, Dwight Vicks, Lu Harris, and Shari Harris. Editorial support was provided by Bryan Tutt, Editing Services, Research Medical Library, the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. Financial support for this study was provided by an institutional research grant from the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. The funding agreement ensured the authors' independence in designing the study, interpreting the data, and writing and publishing this paper.

Conflicts of Interest

JAS is a member of the Data Monitoring Committee of the Medullary Thyroid Cancer Consortium Registry and is supported by GlaxoSmithKline, Novo Nordisk, Astra Zeneca, and Eli Lilly. She receives institutional research funding from Exelixis and Eli Lilly. MEC is part of the advisory board in Exelixis. All other authors declare that they do not have any real or perceived conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Eddy DM. Clinical decision making: from theory to practice. Rationing by patient choice. J Am Med Assoc 1991 Jan 02;265(1):105-108. [doi: 10.1001/jama.265.1.105] [Medline: 1984107]
- Roman S, Lin R, Sosa JA. Prognosis of medullary thyroid carcinoma: demographic, clinical, and pathologic predictors of survival in 1252 cases. Cancer 2006 Nov 01;107(9):2134-2142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.22244] [Medline: 17019736]
- 3. Wells SA, Asa SL, Dralle H, Elisei R, Evans DB, Gagel RF, American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma. Revised American Thyroid Association guidelines for the management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Thyroid 2015 Jun;25(6):567-610 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0335] [Medline: 25810047]
- Wells SA, Robinson BG, Gagel RF, Dralle H, Fagin JA, Santoro M, et al. Vandetanib in patients with locally advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid cancer: a randomized, double-blind phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2012 Jan 10;30(2):134-141
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.35.5040] [Medline: 22025146]
- Elisei R, Schlumberger MJ, Müller SP, Schöffski P, Brose MS, Shah MH, et al. Cabozantinib in progressive medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 2013 Oct 10;31(29):3639-3646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.48.4659] [Medline: 24002501]
- Frampton JE. Vandetanib: in medullary thyroid cancer. Drugs 2012 Jul 09;72(10):1423-1436. [doi: 10.2165/11209300-0000000-00000] [Medline: 22715896]
- 7. Wirth LJ, Sherman E, Robinson B, Solomon B, Kang H, Lorch J, et al. Efficacy of selpercatinib in RET-altered thyroid cancers. N Engl J Med 2020 Aug 27;383(9):825-835. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmoa2005651</u>]
- 8. Hoffman AS, Amaku R, Hu M, Grubbs E. How do we meet the multifaceted decision support needs of people with chronic cancer? A survey of medullary thyroid cancer patients', families', and providers' experiences, needs, and preferences when considering novel therapeutics and clinical trials. In: Proceedings of the 42nd Annual North American Meeting of the Society for Medical Decision Making. 2020 Presented at: The 42nd Annual North American Meeting of the Society for Medical Decision Making; October 6, 2020; Virtual Meeting (Sage Publishing).
- 9. National Standards for the Certification of Patient Decision Aids. Washington, DC: National Quality Forum; Dec 15, 2016:1-19.

- Oshima Lee E, Emanuel EJ. Shared decision making to improve care and reduce costs. N Engl J Med 2013 Jan 03;368(1):6-8. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp1209500</u>] [Medline: <u>23281971</u>]
- 11. Poddar U, Brownlee S, Stacey D, Volk RJ, Williams JW, Elwyn G. Patient decision aids: a case for certification at the national level in the United States. J Clin Ethics 2015;26(4):306-311. [Medline: <u>26752384</u>]
- Stacey D, Kryworuchko J, Belkora J, Davison BJ, Durand M, Eden KB, et al. Coaching and guidance with patient decision aids: a review of theoretical and empirical evidence. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013 Nov 29;13(S2):1-11. [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-s2-s11]
- Stacey D, Légaré F, Lewis K, Barry MJ, Bennett CL, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Apr 12;4:CD001431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub5] [Medline: 28402085]
- Stacey D, Légaré F, Col NF, Bennett CL, Barry MJ, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Jan 28;12(1):CD001431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub4] [Medline: 24470076]
- Stacey D, Bennett CL, Barry MJ, Col NF, Eden KB, Holmes-Rovner M, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011 Oct 05(10):CD001431. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub3] [Medline: 21975733]
- O'Connor AM, Tugwell P, Wells GA, Elmslie T, Jolly E, Hollingworth G, et al. A decision aid for women considering hormone therapy after menopause: decision support framework and evaluation. Patient Educ Couns 1998 Mar;33(3):267-279. [doi: 10.1016/s0738-3991(98)00026-3] [Medline: 9731164]
- 17. O'Connor A. User Manual Decisional Conflict Scale. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Ottawa Health Research Institute; 1993.
- Coulter A, Stilwell D, Kryworuchko J, Mullen PD, Ng CJ, van der Weijden T. A systematic development process for patient decision aids. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S2 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S2</u>] [Medline: <u>24625093</u>]
- Hoffman AS, Volk RJ, Saarimaki A, Stirling C, Li LC, Härter M, et al. Delivering patient decision aids on the internet: definitions, theories, current evidence, and emerging research areas. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S13 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S13] [Medline: 24625064]
- 20. Stacey D, Murray MA, Légaré F, Sandy D, Menard P, O'Connor A. Ottawa Decision Support Framework, 1999 [revised 2019]. Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. URL: <u>https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/models.html</u> [accessed 2021-07-15]
- 21. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 1991 Dec;50(2):179-211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T]
- 22. Bandura A. Human agency in social cognitive theory. Am Psychol 1989 Sep;44(9):1175-1184. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.44.9.1175] [Medline: 2782727]
- 23. Elstein AS. Heuristics and biases: selected errors in clinical reasoning. Acad Med 1999 Jul;74(7):791-794. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-199907000-00012] [Medline: 10429587]
- 24. Kahneman D, Tversky A. Variants of uncertainty. Cognition 1982 Mar;11(2):143-157. [doi: <u>10.1016/0010-0277(82)90023-3</u>] [Medline: <u>7198958</u>]
- 25. Jacobsen MJ, O'Connor AM, Stacey D. Decisional Needs Assessment in Populations. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Ottawa Hospital Research Institute; 1999.
- Hoffman A, Bateman DR, Bartels S, Blandin K, Santulli RB, Lee H, et al. Patient and caregiver needs and preferences for decision support interventions in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2013 Mar;21(3):98-99. [doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2012.12.130]
- 27. Hoffman AS. Teaching Diverse Orthopaedic Patient Populations About Deliberative Decision Making Skills: Testing a Design Strategy for Online Patients' Decision Aids. Hanover, NH, USA: Dartmouth College; May 26, 2011:1-288.
- Woodard TL, Hoffman AS, Covarrubias LA, Holman D, Schover L, Bradford A, et al. The Pathways fertility preservation decision aid website for women with cancer: development and field testing. J Cancer Surviv 2018 Feb 15;12(1):101-114. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-017-0649-5] [Medline: 29034438]
- 29. Dugas M, Trottier M, Chipenda Dansokho S, Vaisson G, Provencher T, Colquhoun H, et al. Involving members of vulnerable populations in the development of patient decision aids: a mixed methods sequential explanatory study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Jan 19;17(1):12 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0399-8] [Medline: 28103862]
- Cabanillas ME, McFadden DG, Durante C. Thyroid cancer. Lancet 2016 Dec 03;388(10061):2783-2795. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30172-6] [Medline: 27240885]
- 31. Kim BH, Kim IJ. Recent updates on the management of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Endocrinol Metab 2016;31(3):392. [doi: 10.3803/enm.2016.31.3.392]
- 32. Pawliuk C, Brown HL, Widger K, Dewan T, Hermansen A, Grégoire MC, et al. Optimising the process for conducting scoping reviews. BMJ Evid Based Med 2020 Oct 21:A. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjebm-2020-111452</u>] [Medline: <u>33087454</u>]
- 33. Choo CW. The art of scanning the environment. Bull Am Soc Info Sci Tech 2005 Jan 31;25(3):21-24. [doi: 10.1002/bult.117]
- Mahood Q, Van Eerd D, Irvin E. Searching for grey literature for systematic reviews: challenges and benefits. Res Synth Methods 2014 Sep;5(3):221-234. [doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1106] [Medline: 26052848]

- 35. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Hoffman AS, Llewellyn-Thomas HA, Tosteson AN, O'Connor AM, Volk RJ, Tomek IM, et al. Launching a virtual decision lab: development and field-testing of a web-based patient decision support research platform. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014 Dec 12;14:112 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-014-0112-8] [Medline: 25495552]
- Hoffman AS, Bateman DR, Ganoe C, Punjasthitkul S, Das AK, Hoffman DB, et al. Development and field testing of a long-term care decision aid website for older adults: engaging patients and caregivers in user-centered design. Gerontologist 2020 Jul 15;60(5):935-946. [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnz141] [Medline: 31773140]
- Hoffman AS, Cantor SB, Fingeret MC, Housten AJ, Hanson SE, McGee JH, et al. Considering breast reconstruction after mastectomy: a patient decision aid video and workbook. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 2019 Nov;7(11):e2500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/GOX.00000000002500] [Medline: 31942296]
- De Vito Dabbs A, Myers BA, Mc Curry KR, Dunbar-Jacob J, Hawkins RP, Begey A, et al. User-centered design and interactive health technologies for patients. Comput Inform Nurs 2009;27(3):175-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e31819f7c7c] [Medline: 19411947]
- 40. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 41. Joseph-Williams N, Abhyankar P, Boland L, Bravo P, Brenner AT, Brodney S, et al. What works in implementing patient decision aids in routine clinical settings? A rapid realist review and update from the international patient decision aid standards collaboration. Med Decis Making 2020 Dec 15:A [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X20978208] [Medline: 33319621]
- 42. Bekker HL, Winterbottom AE, Butow P, Dillard AJ, Feldman-Stewart D, Fowler FJ, et al. Do personal stories make patient decision aids more effective? A critical review of theory and evidence. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013 Nov 29;13(S2):S2. [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-s2-s9]
- 43. McCaffery KJ, Holmes-Rovner M, Smith SK, Rovner D, Nutbeam D, Clayman ML, et al. Addressing health literacy in patient decision aids. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S10 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S10] [Medline: 24624970]
- 44. Feldman-Stewart D, O'Brien MA, Clayman ML, Davison BJ, Jimbo M, Labrecque M, et al. Providing information about options in patient decision aids. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013 Nov 29;13(S2):S2. [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-s2-s4]
- Fagerlin A, Pignone M, Abhyankar P, Col N, Feldman-Stewart D, Gavaruzzi T, et al. Clarifying values: an updated review. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013;13 Suppl 2:S8 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-S2-S8] [Medline: 24625261]
- 46. Montori VM, LeBlanc A, Buchholz A, Stilwell DL, Tsapas A. Basing information on comprehensive, critically appraised, and up-to-date syntheses of the scientific evidence: a quality dimension of the International Patient Decision Aid Standards. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2013 Nov 29;13(S2):S5. [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-s2-s5]
- 47. Arrangoiz R, Cordera F, Caba D, Munoz M, Moreno E, Luque de Leon E. Case report and literature review of medullary thyroid carcinoma. Am J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2018 Nov 21;1(6):1-5. [doi: <u>10.25107/ajohns-v1-id1026</u>]
- 48. Kuenzel U, Sindeu T, Schroth S, Huebner J, Herth N. Evaluation of the quality of online information for patients with rare cancers: thyroid cancer. J Cancer Educ 2018 Oct;33(5):960-966. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-017-1173-z</u>] [Medline: <u>28120139</u>]
- 49. Rao SN, Cabanillas ME. Navigating systemic therapy in advanced thyroid carcinoma: from standard of care to personalized therapy and beyond. J Endocr Soc 2018 Oct 01;2(10):1109-1130. [doi: 10.1210/js.2018-00180] [Medline: 30250937]
- 50. de Hosson LD, Bouma G, Stelwagen J, van Essen H, de Bock GH, de Groot DJ, et al. Web-based personalised information and support for patients with a neuroendocrine tumour: randomised controlled trial. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2019 Feb 28;14(1):60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13023-019-1035-3] [Medline: 30819238]
- 51. Hadoux J, Schlumberger M. Chemotherapy and tyrosine-kinase inhibitors for medullary thyroid cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017 Jun;31(3):335-347. [doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.04.009] [Medline: 28911729]
- 52. Cabanillas ME, Habra MA. Lenvatinib: Role in thyroid cancer and other solid tumors. Cancer Treat Rev 2016 Jan;42:47-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2015.11.003] [Medline: 26678514]
- 53. Schlumberger M, Jarzab B, Cabanillas ME, Robinson B, Pacini F, Ball DW, et al. A phase II trial of the multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor lenvatinib (E7080) in advanced medullary thyroid cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2016 Jan 01;22(1):44-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1127] [Medline: 26311725]
- 54. Juraskova I, Butow P, Lopez A, Seccombe M, Coates A, Boyle F, et al. Improving informed consent: pilot of a decision aid for women invited to participate in a breast cancer prevention trial (IBIS-II DCIS). Health Expect 2008 Sep;11(3):252-262. [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2008.00498.x] [Medline: 18816321]
- 55. Sundaresan P, Ager B, Turner S, Costa D, Kneebone A, Pearse M, et al. A randomised controlled trial evaluating the utility of a patient decision aid to improve clinical trial (RAVES 08.03) related decision-making. Radiother Oncol 2017 Oct;125(1):124-129 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2017.08.013] [Medline: 28844330]

- 56. Bhattacharya I, Haviland J, Balasopoulou A, Stones L, Stobart H, Turner L. Abstract P6-12-04: Does the addition of a patient decision aid video reduce decisional conflict in patients considering a de-escalation of radiotherapy trial? Results from the PRIMETIME study. Cancer Res 2020;80(4 Supplement):6-12. [doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.sabcs19-p6-12-04]
- 57. Gillies K, Cotton S, Brehaut J, Politi M, Skea Z. Decision aids for people considering taking part in clinical trials. Cochrane Db Syst Rev 2015;11:1-39. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd009736.pub2]
- Gillies K, Campbell MK. Development and evaluation of decision aids for people considering taking part in a clinical trial: a conceptual framework. Trials 2019 Jul 05;20(1):401 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-019-3489-y] [Medline: 31277693]
- 59. Miller SM. Monitoring versus blunting styles of coping with cancer influence the information patients want and need about their disease. Implications for cancer screening and management. Cancer 1995 Jul 15;76(2):167-177. [doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19950715)76:2<167::aid-cncr2820760203>3.0.co;2-k] [Medline: 8625088]
- 60. Rood JA, Van Zuuren FJ, Stam F, van der Ploeg T, Huijgens PC, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM. Cognitive coping style (monitoring and blunting) and the need for information, information satisfaction and shared decision making among patients with haematological malignancies. Psychooncology 2015 May;24(5):564-571. [doi: 10.1002/pon.3699] [Medline: 25333875]
- 61. Trikalinos TA, Wieland LS, Adam GP, Zgodic A, Ntzani EE. Decision Aids for Cancer Screening and Treatment [Internet]. AHRQ Comp Effect Rev 2014:1-121 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25632492]
- 62. Chang KL, Grubbs EG, Ingledew P. An analysis of the quality of thyroid cancer websites. Endocr Pract 2019 Oct;25(10):1003-1011. [doi: 10.4158/EP-2018-0595] [Medline: 31170373]
- 63. Air M, Roman SA, Yeo H, Maser C, Trapasso T, Kinder B, et al. Outdated and incomplete: a review of thyroid cancer on the World Wide Web. Thyroid 2007 Mar;17(3):259-265. [doi: 10.1089/thy.2006.0300] [Medline: 17381360]
- 64. Doubleday AR, Novin S, Long KL, Schneider DF, Sippel RS, Pitt SC. Online information for treatment for low-risk thyroid cancer: assessment of timeliness, content, quality, and readability. J Cancer Educ 2020 Feb 27:1-8 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01713-5] [Medline: 32108292]
- 65. Krishnamurti L, Ross D, Sinha C, Leong T, Bakshi N, Mittal N, et al. Comparative effectiveness of a web-based patient decision aid for therapeutic options for sickle cell disease: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 04;21(12):e14462 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14462] [Medline: 31799940]
- 66. Sowan AK, Beraya AR, Carrola A, Reed C. Effect of a multimedia patient decision aid to supplement the informed consent process of a peripherally inserted central venous catheter procedure: pre-post quasi-experimental study. JMIR Med Inform 2018 Nov 28;6(4):e11056 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11056] [Medline: 30487117]
- 67. Hung Y, Wu C, Liang T, Chou S, Chen G, Wu P, et al. Developing a decision-aid website for breast cancer surgery: an action research approach. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 04;21(2):e10404 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10404] [Medline: 30714941]
- 68. Melnick ER, Hess EP, Guo G, Breslin M, Lopez K, Pavlo AJ, et al. Patient-centered decision support: formative usability evaluation of integrated clinical decision support with a patient decision aid for minor head injury in the emergency department. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 19;19(5):e174 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7846] [Medline: 28526667]
- 69. Yu C, Choi D, Bruno B, Thorpe K, Straus S, Cantarutti P, et al. Impact of MyDiabetesPlan, a web-based patient decision aid on decisional conflict, diabetes distress, quality of life, and chronic illness care in patients with diabetes: cluster randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 30;22(9):e16984 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16984] [Medline: 32996893]
- 70. Basile M, Andrews J, Jacome S, Zhang M, Kozikowski A, Hajizadeh N. A decision aid to support shared decision making about mechanical ventilation in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients (InformedTogether): feasibility study. J Particip Med 2018;10(2):e7 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jopm.9877] [Medline: 32461812]
- 71. Nota I, Drossaert CH, Melissant HC, Taal E, Vonkeman HE, Haagsma CJ, et al. Development of a web-based patient decision aid for initiating disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs using user-centred design methods. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Apr 26;17(1):51 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0433-5] [Medline: 28441950]
- 72. Maunsell R, Bloomfield S, Erridge C, Foster C, Hardcastle M, Hogden A, et al. Developing a web-based patient decision aid for gastrostomy in motor neuron disease: a study protocol. BMJ Open 2019 Dec 18;9(12):e032364 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032364] [Medline: 31857308]
- 73. Baptista S, Sampaio ET, Heleno B, Azevedo LF, Martins C. Web-based versus usual care and other formats of decision aids to support prostate cancer screening decisions: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 26;20(6):e228 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9070] [Medline: 29945857]
- 74. Syrowatka A, Krömker D, Meguerditchian AN, Tamblyn R. Features of computer-based decision aids: systematic review, thematic synthesis, and meta-analyses. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jan 26;18(1):e20 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4982] [Medline: 26813512]

75. Staszewska A, Zaki P, Lee J. Computerized decision aids for shared decision making in serious illness: systematic review. JMIR Med Inform 2017 Oct 06;5(4):e36 [Accessed June 15, 2021] [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.6405] [Medline: 28986341]

Abbreviations

MTC: medullary thyroid carcinoma REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.01.21; peer-reviewed by H Llewellyn-Thomas, M Basile; comments to author 26.03.21; revised version received 08.04.21; accepted 13.04.21; published 16.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Shojaie D, Hoffman AS, Amaku R, Cabanillas ME, Sosa JA, Waguespack SG, Zafereo ME, Hu MI, Grubbs EE Decision Making When Cancer Becomes Chronic: Needs Assessment for a Web-Based Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma Patient Decision Aid JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27484 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27484 doi:10.2196/27484 PMID:34269691

©Danielle Shojaie, Aubri S Hoffman, Ruth Amaku, Maria E Cabanillas, Julie Ann Sosa, Steven G Waguespack, Mark E Zafereo, Mimi I Hu, Elizabeth E Grubbs. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 16.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

Development of Automated Reinforcement Management System (ARMS): Protocol for a Phase I Feasibility and Usability Study

Andre Miguel^{1*}, PhD; Crystal Smith^{1*}, PhD; Nicole Perea², PharmD; Kim Johnson³, BS; Michael McDonell¹, PhD; Sterling McPherson¹, PhD

¹Elson S Floyd College of Medicine, Washington State University, Spokane, WA, United States

²College of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Washington State University, Spokane, WA, United States

³Managed Health Connections, Spokane, WA, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Andre Miguel, PhD Elson S Floyd College of Medicine Washington State University 665 N Riverpoint Blvd Office 406 Spokane, WA, 99202 United States Phone: 1 5096866896 Email: andre.miguel@wsu.edu

Abstract

Background: Alcohol use is directly related to over 3 million deaths worldwide every year. Contingency management is a cost-effective treatment for substance use disorders; however, few studies have examined its efficacy for alcohol use disorder. Recent technological advances have enabled the combined use of mobile apps and low-cost electronic breathalyzer devices to remotely monitor alcohol use. Leveraging this type of technology, our study group has recently developed an integrated contingency management system that would enable community treatment programs to remotely deliver contingency management to anyone who owns a smartphone.

Objective: In this paper, we present a full description of our integrated contingency management system, Automated Reinforcement Management System (ARMS), and describe a protocol that will evaluate its feasibility and usability.

Methods: Initially, 6 clinicians will participate in a 1-hour focus group where the study staff will navigate through ARMS as it would be used by clinicians and patients. Clinicians will provide feedback on the intervention in general, which will be used to modify ARMS to make it more user friendly, time saving, and relevant to treatment. A second focus group will summarize the changes made following the initial clinician feedback and will provide additional input regarding the potential utilization of ARMS. Thereafter, the clinicians' acceptability of ARMS will be evaluated using the System Usability Scale. Following the clinicians' assessments of ARMS and final modifications, the system will be evaluated in terms of feasibility and patient usability by using an A-B-A within-subject experimental design wherein 20 treatment-seeking individuals with alcohol use disorder will be recruited. The two A phases (control conditions) will each last 2 weeks, and the B phase (contingency management condition) will last 4 weeks. During all phases, participants will be prompted by the ARMS app to submit three breathalyzer samples per day (at 10 AM, 2 PM, and 8 PM). Participants will be prompted by the ARMS app at these predetermined times to record and submit their breathalyzer samples. During the A phases, participants will earn vouchers for every breathalyzer sample submitted, independent of their sample results. During the B phase, vouchers will be provided contingent upon the submission of alcohol-negative breathalyzer samples (breath alcohol content = 0.00). At the end of the A-B-A experiment trial, patients' usability of the ARMS app will be evaluated using the System Usability Scale. Feasibility will be measured based on whether the ARMS app helped significantly increase alcohol abstinence.

Results: Recruitment for this study began in January 2021 and is expected to be completed by December 2021.

Conclusions: This study will provide the baseline capability for the implementation of a remotely monitored contingency management platform. If successful, ARMS has the potential to provide effective treatment for alcohol use disorders to individuals living in remote rural areas.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e25796) doi:10.2196/25796

KEYWORDS

alcohol use disorder; contingency management; ecological momentary assessment; treatment

Introduction

Alcohol use is directly related to over 3 million deaths worldwide each year (ie, 5.3% of all deaths reported annually) and is a casual factor of more than 200 diseases, injuries, and conditions [1]. In the United States, the lifetime and past-year prevalence of alcohol use disorder (AUD) are 29.1% and 13.9%, respectively [2], making it the most prevalent substance use disorder in the country [3].

Contingency management is an effective treatment for substance use disorders that consists of providing reinforcement (ie, rewards) after an objective verification of drug abstinence through the submission of a substance-negative biospecimen [4-6]. Although the efficacy of contingency management has been demonstrated for a range of substance use disorders [7-9], fewer studies have examined the efficacy of contingency management for AUD [10-14]. This was primarily due to the lack of biomarkers that could detect alcohol consumption for prolonged periods. Until recent years, the only commercially available biomarker for alcohol use was breath alcohol content (BAC), assessed using breathalyzers that measure the concentration of ethanol in an individual's breath [15,16]. Although accurate, this biomarker can only detect alcohol use for up to 12 hours after consumption; moreover, when used infrequently, it is a tool better used to assess intoxication rather than abstinence [14]. As a result, to accurately assess recent alcohol consumption, contingency management interventions using a breathalyzer require individuals to be physically present at an office or treatment center to submit samples multiple times per day [14], limiting the feasibility of such an approach.

Fortunately, recent technological advances have enabled the combined use of mobile apps and low-cost consumer electronic breathalyzer devices to remotely monitor alcohol use [17,18]. Studies wherein smartphone apps and remote breathalyzers were used to provide contingency management for AUD have found them to be effective in promoting alcohol abstinence [17,19,20]. Although other technologies, such as prescription digital therapeutics (eg, reSET and reSET-O by Pear Therapeutics), have been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for substance use disorders, they have not directly targeted substance abstinence. As a result, to date, app-based contingency management technologies for alcohol use have yet to be integrated into AUD treatment programs and evaluated in community treatment settings.

To further advance research on the use of technology to address AUD and to enable the development of more effective treatment strategies, our research group has partnered with Managed Health Connections [21] to develop an integrated, end-to-end contingency management system that would enable community treatment programs to deliver contingency management remotely to anyone who owns a smartphone and seeks to reduce their alcohol consumption. In this methods paper, we present a

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25796

full description of an integrated contingency management system, termed Automated Reinforcement Management System (ARMS), and describe the protocol that will evaluate its feasibility and usability.

Methods

Participants

This study will be conducted within the community and with community clinic partners in Spokane, WA, USA, under the auspices of the Washington State University Program of Excellence in Addictions Research at the Analytics and PsychoPharmacology Laboratory. In this phase 1 study, a total of 6 clinicians and 20 patients will be recruited. Patients of either biological sex who are 18 years of age or older and have an Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) [22] score of 8 or higher will be eligible to enroll in the study. Participants must read and speak English and have the ability to provide written informed consent. Patients with severe AUD or a co-occurring psychotic disorder according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V) [23], with significant risk of dangerous alcohol withdrawal (defined as a history of alcohol detoxification or seizure in the last 12 months and expression of concern by the individual about dangerous withdrawal), or with a lifetime suicide attempt or suicidality in the past year will not be eligible for enrollment in the study.

Study Design

To evaluate the feasibility and usability of ARMS delivered in treatment settings, our research team has designed a three-step study where ARMS will be evaluated by both treatment providers and patients. Initially, 6 clinicians will participate in a 1-hour-long interview or focus group (depending on their availability) that will describe and provide visuals of the contingency management intervention and introduce patientand provider-facing apps. Study staff will navigate through the program in ways consistent with both clinician and patient users. Clinicians will also participate in a semistructured interview where they will be asked to provide information on their standard protocol when working with patients who have AUD, such as how they currently track progress and communicate with patients. Furthermore, they will be asked to provide feedback on the intervention in general, including why they would or would not use the app, suggestions for improvement, app usability, potential obstacles that may be encountered with the use of the app, preferences for accessing the data generated by the app, and preferences on which data they would prefer to have highlighted briefly.

The information provided by the clinicians in this first focus group will then be used to modify ARMS to make it more user friendly, time saving, and relevant to treatment (possibly by incorporating new features that may assist treatment). A second focus group will then summarize the changes made following

XSL•FO

the clinician feedback and provide deidentified user data allowing clinicians to navigate through the system and provide additional feedback regarding the potential utilization of patient data.

Once the modifications are made in response to the second wave of clinician feedback, ARMS will be evaluated primarily for efficacy but also for feasibility and patient usability through an A-B-A (or, "return-to-baseline") completely within-subject experimental design. Following similar single subject-design studies conducted by our group [20,24], the two A phases will each last 2 weeks and the B phase will last 4 weeks, for a total study duration of 8 weeks. During all phases, participants will be asked to use the ARMS app to submit breathalyzer samples at 10 AM, 2 PM, and 8 PM each day. Submission of each sample should take less than 5 minutes. Participants will be prompted by their ARMS app to record and submit their breathalyzer samples at these predetermined times and will have a half-hour window following the prompt to submit each sample. During the A phases (control conditions), participants will earn US \$2 in vouchers for every breathalyzer sample submitted during the predetermined period, independent of their sample results. Notably, this reward system will be in effect for both the first and second A phases. During the B phase (contingency management condition), vouchers will be provided contingent upon the submission of alcohol-negative breathalyzer

Table 1. Assessment schedule for the A-B-A design experimental trial.

samples—that is, breath alcohol content (BAC) = 0.00. Participants will begin by receiving vouchers worth US \$2 per alcohol-negative breath sample submitted, with the value escalating by US \$0.25 per alcohol-negative sample submission to a maximum value of US \$3.50 per submission. Vouchers will be reset to US \$2 per sample if a participant does not submit a sample in the predetermined period, if an alcohol-positive breath sample is submitted, or if the participant cannot be identified from the facial recognition photo (see details below).

At the end of the A-B-A experiment trial, the patients' acceptability of ARMS will be evaluated with the System Usability Scale (SUS).

Assessments

collected in this study will include Assessments sociodemographic and medical or treatment history data, the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview [25], Addiction Severity Index-Lite (ASI) [26], Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI) [27], DSM-V [23], Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence [28], AUDIT [22], Alcohol Urge Questionnaire (AUQ) [29], and 15D Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) [30]. Alcohol use will be measured using the Alcohol Timeline Follow Back (ATFB) method [31], and BAC results will be collected via the ARMS app. Both the providers' and patients' acceptability toward ARMS will be evaluated using the SUS [32]. For the assessment schedule, see Table 1.

Content	Baseline	A-B-A							
	Week 0	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Week 6	Week 7	Week 8
Informed consent	1								
Sociodemographic	1								
Medical/treatment history	1								
DSM-V ^a	✓								
Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview	1								
Addiction Severity Index: ASI-Lite	1		1		✓		1		1
15D Health-Related Quality of Life	1		✓		✓		✓		1
Alcohol Urge Questionnaire	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	1	✓	✓	1
Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence	1		✓		1		✓		1
Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT)	1	✓	✓	✓	1	1	✓	✓	1
Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI)	1		1		1		✓		1
Alcohol use (biochemical BAC ^b)	1	3 times per day							
Alcohol Timeline Follow Back (self-report)	1	1	1	✓	1	1	✓	1	1
Patient acceptability: System Usability Scale		✓	\checkmark	✓	✓	1	✓	✓	1

^aDSM-V: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition.

^bBAC: blood alcohol content.

ARMS Mobile App Intervention

ARMS is a hybrid mobile/IOS web-based app for contingency management designed to integrate with the electronic medical

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25796

record of treatment programs, providing clinicians with an adjunctive treatment modality to (1) administer contingency management treatment to patients with AUD remotely, (2) access updated patient information that can be critical to the

clinical management of AUD, and (3) communicate safely and directly with patients through the ARMS app. ARMS includes two separate interfaces: (1) a mobile/IOS interface to be used by patients and (2) a web-based application to be used by treatment providers.

Patient Interface and Dashboard

The patient interface includes five features: (1) recording and submitting breathalyzer samples, (2) recording and submitting ecological momentary assessments (EMAs) on moods and executive function that may be pertinent to treatment, (3) reminders and messages, (4) redemption of rewards, and (5) a patient dashboard (see below for more details). To comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act requirements, ARMS uses a user-protected login for access.

Breathalyzer Sample Recording and Submission

A critical aspect of the contingency management component involves providing rewards contingent upon the objective verification of alcohol abstinence. In ARMS, the patient mobile interface syncs via Bluetooth with a BACtrack breathalyzer device, enabling the recording and submission of breathalyzer sample results from the BACtrack device to the ARMS app. The app prompts users, instructing them to place their face in the center of a square displayed on their phone screen while blowing into the breathalyzer. A photo is then captured to allow for facial recognition of the patient submitting the sample (ie, a full-face image is required to conduct the facial recognition). Immediately after the breathalyzer result is captured, the ARMS app presents both the breathalyzer result and the facial image and provides the patient the option to submit the breathalyzer result to their provider. If the patient agrees with the breathalyzer result and believes that the captured image will allow them to be identified, they can click on "submit" and the breathalyzer result will be uploaded onto a secure server accessible only by their treatment providers and the study researchers. If the patient does not agree with the breathalyzer result or believes that the photo will not allow for facial recognition, the option to submit another sample can be chosen.

Ecological Momentary Assessment

After the submission of the breathalyzer result, ARMS will prompt the patient to respond to 3 to 5 questions about moods and states that might be pertinent to the patient's recovery. As shown in Table 2, the ecological momentary assessment (EMA) questions include options that were created based on the Addiction Neuroclinical Assessment (ANA) framework developed by Kwako et al [33,34], which postulates that three domains defined as poor executive functioning (ie, working memory and impulsivity), negative emotionality (eg, depression, anxiety, and symptoms of withdrawal), and incentive salience (eg, thinking about and/or craving alcohol) are the primary factors that cause and maintain addictions [33-37]. Kwako and colleagues [33] propose that ANA domains, assessed by self-reports and cognitive testing, as well as genetic analysis and, eventually, neuroimaging, can be used to identify groups of patients who do not respond to existing treatments. The ANA also provides a framework to guide treatment adaptations to improve outcomes for specific groups (ie, nonresponders or more severe disease groups). Furthermore, it can be used to match individuals to specific interventions based on their ANA characteristics. Thus, the ANA may provide an ideal structure for developing a personalized medicine approach to integrated treatment for AUD.

 Table 2. Description of the ecological momentary assessment (EMA) questions.

EMA question	Type of response	ANA ^a domain
Since your last assessment, how much have you craved alcohol?	5-point Likert scale	Reward salience
I want to drink so bad I can almost taste it.	5-point Likert scale	Reward salience
How happy do you feel right now?	5-point Likert scale	Negative emotionality
How sad do you feel right now?	5-point Likert scale	Negative emotionality
How relaxed do you feel right now?	5-point Likert scale	Negative emotionality
How Stressed do you feel right now?	5-point Likert scale	Negative emotionality
How bored do you feel right now?	5-point Likert scale	Negative emotionality
How irritable do you feel right now?	5-point Likert scale	Negative emotionality
In the last two hours have you been doing things without thinking?	5-point Likert scale	Executive functioning
In the last two hours have you been acting on impulse?	5-point Likert scale	Executive functioning
In the last two hours have you felt self-controlled?	5-point Likert scale	Executive functioning

^aANA: Addiction Neuroclinical Assessment.

The EMA questions in ARMS will provide clinicians and researchers with relevant real-time information about their patients' states and moods specific to the three ANA domains. This information may serve multiple purposes. First, comparing the EMA answers and breathalyzer results of the general patient population may assist clinicians in identifying specific traits and states associated with positive or negative treatment

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25796

outcomes, possibly enabling them to identify, at the beginning of treatment, whether a participant may benefit from more intensive care. Second, and perhaps more important, by comparing the EMA answers and breathalyzer results of a specific patient, clinicians may be able to identify specific cognitions and moods associated with risks of future relapse, enabling them to intervene before relapse occurs.

Reminders and Messages

To promote compliance and recovery, the ARMS app will send reminders when it is time to submit the breathalyzer samples and EMA responses. It will also send an alert when patients fail to submit a sample. To further enhance treatment response, ARMS will also send reinforcing messages. These messages range from congratulating patients when they reach a certain milestone (eg, "Three straight days of alcohol abstinence, keep up the good work!") to encouraging them after relapse (eg, "Treatment success is not about falling but how quickly we pick ourselves up" and "Tomorrow you get another chance to do what's right by you!"). Patients will also receive messages confirming their breathalyzer sample submissions and facial image validations, as well as messages informing them about the number of rewards earned in the contingency management intervention. Figure 1 presents an overall schematic of how ARMS functions.





Redeeming Rewards

Patients will be able to use the ARMS app to redeem the credit earned immediately after the breathalyzer sample is validated. Patients can choose to redeem any specific amount in the form of a digital gift card sent to a preregistered email address. The gift card information will also be stored in both the patient's and provider's ARMS interfaces.

Provider Interface

All data collected in the patient's mobile ARMS app will be stored securely in a database that can be accessed by providers from the provider dashboard. This web-based console allows providers to register new patients, access and evaluate patient performance, and validate the authenticity of the breathalyzer samples submitted. Furthermore, the provider dashboard provides an easy way for providers to identify patients that may need more personalized care by displaying a summary of the status of all patients enrolled in the system, with nonadherent patients or patients failing to achieve their goals being placed at the top of the list. The ARMS provider interface was also created to integrate directly into electronic medical record systems using standard health information exchange formats, such as Health Level Seven (HL7; a specific method for the exchange, integration, sharing, and retrieval of electronic health information) and Clinical Core Document (which offers updates

to previous efforts by HL7), thereby enabling clinicians to receive progress alerts based on nonadherence and overall status. These provider alerts are customizable to accommodate variations in workflow.

ARMS Contingency Management Intervention

Contingency management interventions involve providing reinforcement (ie, rewards or incentives) after a targeted behavior is exhibited. In the field of substance use disorder treatment, contingency management usually consists of providing vouchers of monetary value after a specific period of substance abstinence is verified through the submission of a negative drug screening sample. The combination of features present in ARMS and the BACtrack breathalyzer device enables the provision of contingency management remotely to any patient that owns a smartphone. To provide more personalized care, the ARMS contingency management intervention is flexible, allowing providers to modify and adjust several components of the intervention. This flexibility allows providers to mold the contingency management intervention to best suit the patient's specific needs as well as to adapt it to the daily clinic routine.

To initiate the contingency management intervention with ARMS, treatment providers will select the type of response that will be targeted in that intervention (eg, alcohol abstinence and

low levels of alcohol use), the schedule of reinforcement (ie, the number of samples to be submitted daily), and the duration of the intervention. After these parameters are set, patients will be prompted by their ARMS app to record and submit their breathalyzer samples at the predetermined times. To reduce the burden or other inconveniences related to sample submission, patients will have a half-hour window to submit each sample following the prompt. After a sample is submitted, patients will receive a message stating that the sample was received and is currently awaiting verification. A research staff member will then have 24 hours to confirm the patient's identity (based on the facial image captured at the time of sample collection). The research staff member will be presented with a recommendation for approval or rejection based on facial recognition verification. This process will be evaluated for the potential to automate verification. After providers verify the authenticity of the sample, patients will be immediately informed that the sample was verified and, when the target response is achieved (ie, confirmed alcohol abstinence), patients will be notified of the number of rewards earned. If the sample is deemed invalid or the target behavioral response is not accomplished, patients will be notified of the reason they did not earn the reward.

Buildout Options

There are additional features that are either in progress or are planned for future iterations. One such feature is to enable the selection of different target responses such as abstinence (ie, BAC=0.00) or reduction of heavy drinking (ie, BAC=0.08). We also plan to enable the selection of different options related to specific components of the contingency management intervention; for example, setting the expected number of sample submissions to be fewer than 3 submissions per day, scheduling sample requests at different times of day, or using artificial intelligence to conduct immediate facial recognition after the BAC sample is submitted. We also intend to make reminders multimodal so that they can reach users through different means based on their preferences. Users would thus be able set up their reminders as local alarms on their smartphone device or receive them via push, SMS text messages, or automated voice calls.

Another feature that is in progress but will not be active during this phase 1 study is defining patient-specific "hot zones" (and "cold zones") using a type of geolocation "fence" in an effort to provide patients with feedback and alert them when they are entering a physical area or location where they have not achieved their stated drinking goals (Figure 1). Finally, we plan to develop additional dashboard features, including the ability for patients to see which EMA responses are correlated with alcohol outcomes over time and which factors are most likely associated with craving and alcohol use, to promote additional awareness of executive function and moods associated with relapse.

Outcomes

Patient usability will be evaluated using the SUS [32] collected at the end of the A-B-A experimental trial. The use of SUS has been recently recommended by the FDA, and it has been used to evaluate the usability of similar technologies. For this study, a nominal SUS score of 68 or higher will be considered as our target score. The feasibility of ARMS will be measured by

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25796
```

whether ARMS could significantly increase alcohol abstinence. Other outcomes will include patient adherence to and compliance with the ARMS app considering (1) the proportion of participants that complete the experiment, (2) the proportion of breathalyzer samples submitted, and (3) the proportion of EMA questions answered during the trial. Additional secondary outcomes will include the efficacy of ARMS considering (1) self-reported alcohol use (ATFB), (2) levels of alcohol craving (AUQ), and (3) overall life-functioning (ASI, BSI, and HRQoL). Finally, we will explore whether and how the ANA framework responses collected thrice daily with EMA correlate with alcohol use or abstinence. For instance, we expect that the information captured with the EMA and breathalyzer results will allow the identification of specific mood and state traits that may predict future relapse and, thus, enable the development of personalized relapse prevention strategies.

Results

Recruitment for this study began in January 2021. Data collection will be finalized by December 2021, and we expect to publish our results by the second semester of 2022.

Discussion

Principal Findings

There currently exists a gap in our knowledge of how to best treat people who wish to reduce their alcohol use, especially in a real-time manner and among those dwelling in areas where access to in-person treatment may be challenging. It is well understood that contingency management is one of the most effective interventions for substance use disorders; however, contingency management has not been widely applied in the field of AUD treatment, in part, because of the difficulty of detecting alcohol abstinence using standard breath alcohol test procedures [15,38]. Our study capitalizes on recent technological advances and clear collaboration potential between academia and start-up companies to partner and develop a smart phone-based contingency management for individuals seeking outpatient treatment for AUD.

This phase 1 project will provide baseline capability for the implementation of a remotely monitored contingency management platform. The clinician and user feedback will provide insight into enhancements that can increase utilization and effectiveness. Future capabilities may include (1) adaptation of report-back thresholds to address heavy drinking in addition to abstinence, (2) customization of report-back windows to accommodate user schedules, (3) multimodal reminders (SMS, email, etc) for users and trusted caregivers, (4)geolocation-related alcohol use reporting, and (5) enhanced feedback based on correlations of multiple data points with alcohol use. After completion of this study, we plan to have the necessary information to develop a phase-2 effectiveness trial.

Limitations

This study has some potential limitations that should be noted. First, in this current stage, ARMS was developed to be used in iOS only. Although this decision was decided strictly due to

our budget, we intend to build ARMS for Android as part of our phase 2 trial. Second, this study did not include formal focus groups with the participating patients to evaluate the acceptability and suggestions for improvements by participants. We intend to incorporate such focus groups as part of our phase 2 trial.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Amy Sullivan at Obrizus Communications for editing the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

This work was performed under a grant from the National Institute for Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism under the Small Business Innovation Research and Small Business Technology Transfer Research (SBIR/STTR) program. KJ is the Managing Member of Managed Health Connections, LLC, the developer of the software programs implementing the methods.

References

- 1. Global status report on alcohol and health. World Health Organization. 2018. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/</u> 274603 [accessed 2021-07-14]
- Grant BF, Goldstein RB, Saha TD, Chou SP, Jung J, Zhang H, et al. Epidemiology of DSM-5 alcohol use disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions III. JAMA Psychiatry 2015 Aug;72(8):757-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0584] [Medline: 26039070]
- 3. GBD 2016 Alcohol and Drug Use Collaborators. The global burden of disease attributable to alcohol and drug use in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Psychiatry 2018 Dec;5(12):987-1012 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30337-7] [Medline: 30392731]
- 4. Higgins ST, Delaney DD, Budney AJ, Bickel WK, Hughes JR, Foerg F, et al. A behavioral approach to achieving initial cocaine abstinence. Am J Psychiatry 1991 Sep;148(9):1218-1224. [doi: 10.1176/ajp.148.9.1218] [Medline: 1883001]
- 5. Peirce JM, Petry NM, Stitzer ML, Blaine J, Kellogg S, Satterfield F, et al. Effects of lower-cost incentives on stimulant abstinence in methadone maintenance treatment: a National Drug Abuse Treatment Clinical Trials Network study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006 Feb;63(2):201-208. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.2.201] [Medline: 16461864]
- 6. Petry NM, Peirce JM, Stitzer ML, Blaine J, Roll JM, Cohen A, et al. Effect of prize-based incentives on outcomes in stimulant abusers in outpatient psychosocial treatment programs: a national drug abuse treatment clinical trials network study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005 Oct;62(10):1148-1156. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.10.1148] [Medline: 16203960]
- Dutra L, Stathopoulou G, Basden SL, Leyro TM, Powers MB, Otto MW. A meta-analytic review of psychosocial interventions for substance use disorders. Am J Psychiatry 2008 Feb;165(2):179-187. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.06111851</u>] [Medline: <u>18198270</u>]
- 8. Prendergast M, Podus D, Finney J, Greenwell L, Roll J. Contingency management for treatment of substance use disorders: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2006 Nov;101(11):1546-1560. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01581.x] [Medline: 17034434]
- Roll JM, Petry NM, Stitzer ML, Brecht ML, Peirce JM, McCann MJ, et al. Contingency management for the treatment of methamphetamine use disorders. Am J Psychiatry 2006 Nov;163(11):1993-1999. [doi: <u>10.1176/ajp.2006.163.11.1993</u>] [Medline: <u>17074952</u>]
- Barnett NP, Celio MA, Tidey JW, Murphy JG, Colby SM, Swift RM. A preliminary randomized controlled trial of contingency management for alcohol use reduction using a transdermal alcohol sensor. Addiction 2017 Jun;112(6):1025-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/add.13767] [Medline: 28107772]
- 11. Fitzsimons H, Tuten M, Borsuk C, Lookatch S, Hanks L. Clinician-delivered contingency management increases engagement and attendance in drug and alcohol treatment. Drug Alcohol Depend 2015 Jul 01;152:62-67. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.04.021] [Medline: 25982007]
- McDonell MG, Howell DN, McPherson S, Cameron JM, Srebnik D, Roll JM, et al. Voucher-based reinforcement for alcohol abstinence using the ethyl-glucuronide alcohol biomarker. J Appl Behav Anal 2012;45(1):161-165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1901/jaba.2012.45-161] [Medline: 22403460]
- 13. McDonell MG, Leickly E, McPherson S, Skalisky J, Srebnik D, Angelo F, et al. A randomized controlled trial of ethyl glucuronide-based contingency management for outpatients with co-occurring alcohol use disorders and serious mental illness. Am J Psychiatry 2017 Apr 01;174(4):370-377. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16050627] [Medline: 28135843]
- 14. Petry NM, Martin B, Cooney JL, Kranzler HR. Give them prizes and they will come: Contingency management for treatment of alcohol dependence. J Consult Clin Psychol 2000 Apr;68(2):250-257. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.68.2.250]
- Lowe JM, McDonell MG, Leickly E, Angelo FA, Vilardaga R, McPherson S, et al. Determining ethyl glucuronide cutoffs when detecting self-reported alcohol use in addiction treatment patients. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2015 May;39(5):905-910 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acer.12699] [Medline: 25866234]

- 16. McDonell MG, Angelo F, Sugar A, Rainey C, Srebnik D, Roll J, et al. A pilot study of the accuracy of onsite immunoassay urinalysis of illicit drug use in seriously mentally ill outpatients. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2011 Mar;37(2):137-140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/00952990.2010.548015] [Medline: 21219262]
- 17. Alessi SM, Petry NM. A randomized study of cellphone technology to reinforce alcohol abstinence in the natural environment. Addiction 2013 May;108(5):900-909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/add.12093] [Medline: 23279560]
- You C, Chen Y, Chen C, Lee C, Kuo P, Huang M, et al. Smartphone-based support system (SoberDiary) coupled with a Bluetooth breathalyser for treatment-seeking alcohol-dependent patients. Addict Behav 2017 Feb;65:174-178. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.10.017</u>] [Medline: <u>27816043</u>]
- Koffarnus MN, Bickel WK, Kablinger AS. Remote alcohol monitoring to facilitate incentive-based treatment for alcohol use disorder: a randomized trial. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2018 Dec;42(12):2423-2431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acer.13891] [Medline: 30335205]
- Oluwoye O, Reneau H, Herron J, Alcover KC, McPherson S, Roll J, et al. Pilot study of an integrated smartphone and breathalyzer contingency management intervention for alcohol use. J Addict Med 2020;14(3):193-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ADM.0000000000553] [Medline: <u>31567597</u>]
- 21. Managed Health Connections. URL: http://managedhealthconnections.com/mesmerize/ [accessed 2021-07-13]
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption--II. Addiction 1993 Jun;88(6):791-804. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x] [Medline: 8329970]
- 23. Diagnostic And Statistical Manual Of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- 24. Smith CL, Jenkins G, Burduli E, Tham P, Miguel A, Roll J, et al. Crossover associations of alcohol and smoking, craving and biochemically verified alcohol and nicotine use in heavy drinking smokers. Behav Pharmacol 2020;31(7):702-705. [doi: 10.1097/fbp.00000000000568]
- 25. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry 1998;20:34-57. [doi: 10.1037/t18597-000]
- 26. McLellan A, Kushner H, Metzger D, Peters R, Smith I, Grissom G, et al. The fifth edition of the Addiction Severity Index. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 1992;9(3):199-213. [doi: 10.1037/t62205-000]
- 27. Derogatis L, Melisaratos N. The Brief Symptom Inventory: an introductory report. Psychol Med 1983 Aug;13(3):595-605. [Medline: <u>6622612</u>]
- Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerström KO. The Fagerström Test for nicotine dependence: a revision of the Fagerström Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991 Sep;86(9):1119-1127. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1360-0443.1991.tb01879.x</u>] [Medline: <u>1932883</u>]
- 29. Bohn MJ, Krahn DD, Staehler BA. Development and initial validation of a measure of drinking urges in abstinent alcoholics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1995 Jun;19(3):600-606. [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1995.tb01554.x] [Medline: 7573780]
- Sintonen H. The 15D instrument of health-related quality of life: properties and applications. Ann Med 2001 Jul;33(5):328-336. [doi: 10.3109/07853890109002086] [Medline: 11491191]
- 31. Sobell LC, Sobell MB. Timeline Follow-Back. In: Litten RZ, Allen JP, editors. Measuring Alcohol Consumption. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 1992:41-72.
- 32. Brooke J. SUS: A 'Quick and Dirty' Usability Scale. In: Usability Evaluation in Industry. London: CRC Press; 1996:189-194.
- Kwako LE, Momenan R, Grodin EN, Litten RZ, Koob GF, Goldman D. Addictions neuroclinical assessment: a reverse translational approach. Neuropharmacology 2017 Aug 01;122:254-264. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.03.006</u>] [Medline: <u>28283392</u>]
- Kwako LE, Momenan R, Litten RZ, Koob GF, Goldman D. Addictions neuroclinical assessment: a neuroscience-based framework for addictive disorders. Biol Psychiatry 2016 Aug 01;80(3):179-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.10.024] [Medline: 26772405]
- 35. Ghitza UE. Commentary: addictions neuroclinical assessment: a neuroscience-based framework for addictive disorders. Front Psychiatry 2017;8:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00002] [Medline: 28133452]
- Kwako LE, Koob GF. Neuroclinical framework for the role of stress in addiction. Chronic Stress (Thousand Oaks) 2017 Feb;1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2470547017698140] [Medline: 28653044]
- Kwako LE, Momenan R, Litten RZ, Koob GF, Goldman D. Reply to: Neuroclinical assessment of addiction needs to incorporate decision-making measures and ecological validity. Biol Psychiatry 2017 Apr 01;81(7):e55. [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.08.029] [Medline: 27776735]
- Miguel AQC, Madruga CS, Simões V, Yamauchi R, da Silva CJ, Abdalla RR, et al. Crack cocaine users views regarding treatment with contingency management in Brazil. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2018 Feb 12;13(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13011-018-0144-7] [Medline: 29433535]

Abbreviations

ANA: addiction neuroclinical assessment
ARMS: Automated Reinforcement Management System
ASI: Addiction Severity Index-Lite
ATFB: Alcohol Timeline Follow Back
AUD: alcohol use disorder
AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test
AUQ: Alcohol Urge Questionnaire
BAC: blood alcohol content
BSI: Brief Symptom Inventory
DSM-V: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition
EMA: ecological momentary assessment
FDA: Food and Drug Administration
HL7: Health Level Seven
HRQoL: 15D Health-Related Quality of Life
SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.11.20; peer-reviewed by M Koffarnus, M Sobolev, B Raiff, H Mehdizadeh; comments to author 24.12.20; revised version received 12.04.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 19.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Miguel A, Smith C, Perea N, Johnson K, McDonell M, McPherson S Development of Automated Reinforcement Management System (ARMS): Protocol for a Phase I Feasibility and Usability Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e25796 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25796</u> doi:<u>10.2196/25796</u> PMID:<u>34279238</u>

©Andre Miguel, Crystal Smith, Nicole Perea, Kim Johnson, Michael McDonell, Sterling McPherson. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 19.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Design, Development, and Evaluation of a Telemedicine Platform for Patients With Sleep Apnea (Ognomy): Design Science Research Approach

Pavankumar Mulgund¹, PhD; Raj Sharman¹, PhD; Daniel Rifkin², MD; Sam Marrazzo³, MBA

¹State University of New York at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, United States

²Sleep Centers of Western New York, Buffalo, NY, United States

³Buffalo Niagara Medical Campus, Inc, Buffalo, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Pavankumar Mulgund, PhD State University of New York at Buffalo 333 Jacobs Management Center UB North Campus Buffalo, NY, 14260 United States Phone: 1 7166453271 Email: pmulgund@buffalo.edu

Abstract

Background: With an aging population and the escalating cost of care, telemedicine has become a societal imperative. Telemedicine alternatives are especially relevant to patients seeking care for sleep apnea, with its prevalence approaching one billion cases worldwide. Increasing awareness has led to a surge in demand for sleep apnea care; however, there is a shortage of the resources and expertise necessary to cater to the rising demand.

Objective: The aim of this study is to design, develop, and evaluate a telemedicine platform, called Ognomy, for the consultation, diagnosis, and treatment of patients with sleep apnea.

Methods: Using the design science research methodology, we developed a telemedicine platform for patients with sleep apnea. To explore the problem, in the analysis phase, we conducted two brainstorming workshops and structured interviews with 6 subject matter experts to gather requirements. Following that, we conducted three design and architectural review sessions to define and evaluate the system architecture. Subsequently, we conducted 14 formative usability assessments to improve the user interface of the system. In addition, 3 trained test engineers performed end-to-end system testing to comprehensively evaluate the platform.

Results: Patient registration and data collection, physician appointments, video consultation, and patient progress tracking have emerged as critical functional requirements. A telemedicine platform comprising four artifacts—a mobile app for patients, a web app for providers, a dashboard for reporting, and an artificial intelligence–based chatbot for customer onboarding and support—was developed to meet these requirements. Design reviews emphasized the need for a highly cohesive but loosely coupled interaction among the platform's components, which was achieved through a *layered modular* architecture using third-party application programming interfaces. In contrast, critical findings from formative usability assessments focused on the need for a more straightforward onboarding process for patients, better status indicators during patient registration, and reorganization of the appointment calendar. Feedback from the design reviews and usability assessments was translated into technical improvements and design enhancements that were implemented in subsequent iterations.

Conclusions: Sleep apnea is an underdiagnosed and undertreated condition. However, with increasing awareness, the demand for quality sleep apnea care is likely to surge, and creative alternatives are needed. The results of this study demonstrate the successful application of a framework using a design science research paradigm to design, develop, and evaluate a telemedicine platform for patients with sleep apnea and their providers.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26059) doi:10.2196/26059



KEYWORDS

design science research; telemedicine platform; sleep apnea care; mHealth; telemedicine; sleep apnea; mobile health; web application; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

The National Sleep Foundation defines obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) as a chronic condition characterized by involuntary breathing cessation while the patient is asleep. It is a common disorder that affects more than 22 million Americans [1]. A previous study estimated that OSA affects 26% of adults aged between 30 and 70 years [2]. Gender, age, family history, obesity, smoking, and alcohol use often make patients more vulnerable to OSA. Furthermore, OSA is increasingly recognized as a risk factor for medical conditions, such as hypertension, cardiovascular diseases, and stroke [3]. Therefore, it is important to diagnose and treat OSA early. Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) remains the gold standard for treatment [4]. For patients who do not respond to CPAP, other treatment options may be prescribed based on the severity of the condition. Increasing awareness coupled with better prognosis from timely interventions has led to an exponential surge in the demand for evaluation and treatment services, but there has not been a commensurate increase in resources to deal with this increasing demand. The diagnosis and treatment of OSA are particularly challenging from an operational perspective because of the limited number of sleep clinics [5]. To compound this problem, there is also an acute shortage of clinical expertise for delivering these services, with the ratio of general population to certified sleep specialists being as high as 43,000:1 [6]. The situation is further exacerbated by their inequitable distribution, with most specialists serving in urban areas. Therefore, there is a need to explore other approaches for diagnosing and treating patients with sleep apnea. Telemedicine is a potentially viable alternative.

In this study, we explore this alternative by developing and evaluating a telemedicine platform for the diagnosis and treatment of OSA. Specifically, we addressed the following two research questions:

- How can we conceptualize and design a patient-first telemedicine platform to provide high-quality sleep care to patients from the comfort of their homes?
- How can we evaluate the artifact's design quality and its potential in reducing access barriers and operational bottlenecks in the diagnosis and treatment of sleep apnea?

Following the design science research (DSR) framework [7,8], we developed a telemedicine platform called *Ognomy* (North American Sleep Management Inc), where the data collection, consultation with physicians, patient education, and monitoring occur using a mobile app. Access to nursing staff, sleep technicians, and physicians is available through video consultation. Artificial intelligence (AI)–based chatbots for

self-help and helpline contacts are provided to assist care seekers in using the app effectively. Such a platform is expected to reduce costs and increase access to care while maintaining quality expectations.

Telemedicine Background

The World Health Organization defines telemedicine as "the use of information and communication technologies in the delivery of health care services, the diagnosis of a condition, prevention of diseases and injuries, treatment, research, and evaluation of patients at a distance" [9]. Owing to its advantages, the development, deployment, and use of telemedicine have surged in the United States [10] and other developed nations [11]. Recent studies have shown that telemedicine interventions effectively improve clinical outcomes [12], decrease costs by reducing expensive inpatient service utilization [13], and provide a superior patient experience [14], particularly in the areas of chronic disease management, such as diabetes [15], chronic heart diseases [16], thyroid disorders [17], varicose veins [18], stroke [19], mental and emotional health issues [20], and sexually transmitted diseases [21]. Previous research has also discussed the benefits, drawbacks, and barriers to the adoption of telemedicine. Some common barriers include patients' poor perception of its efficacy [22], nonacceptance by insurance companies [23], and technology hurdles [24]. However, with the growing maturity of technology platforms and increasing patient acceptance, telemedicine interventions have begun to overcome these barriers. A study by Watson et al [25] found that monitoring patients via telemedicine is as effective as traditional medical processes. Furthermore, some studies [26,27] have explored the use of telemedicine to monitor compliance with CPAP therapy. However, the design of telemedicine interventions that focus on testing and diagnosing patients with OSA has not been well addressed in previous research. Our study addresses this gap by developing a comprehensive telemedicine platform that caters to all stakeholders involved in seeking and providing OSA care.

Methods

Overview

Overall, we follow a DSR approach, a principal research methodology that has evolved within the information systems (ISs) discipline. It is defined as the development of a system by an iterative process of developing and evaluating artifacts [28]. The primary goal of this study is to define and develop a telemedicine platform that caters to all stakeholders involved in diagnosing, treating, and managing sleep apnea. Previous research has discussed the process of conducting and evaluating design science [29]. We used the framework suggested by Horvath [30]. Our research approach is illustrated in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Design science research approach.



Furthermore, this framework divides DSR into three phases: (1) exploring the problem, the context, and the activities using activity theory; (2) designing and developing solutions; and (3) evaluating solutions and generalizing design principles.

We present the details of the abovementioned three phases in the following sections.

Exploration of the Problem, Context, and Activities Using Activity Theory

We used activity theory to guide our understanding of the end user and business context. According to activity theory, an activity is a basic unit of analysis [31], which includes six components: (1) subjects or people involved in the activity, (2) object or intended goal of the activity, (3) tools that mediate the activity, (4) rules imposed by the business environment, (5) division of labor among various stakeholders in the organization, and (6) the community impacted by the activity. Activity theory was an apt choice for our study because it emphasizes developing a comprehensive understanding of the environment in which the system operates (which includes participants and subsystems), including all the complexity that manifests from the interactions of various actors in the real world rather than from the limited viewpoint of a single actor [32]. Furthermore, activity theory allows us to develop flexible systems that dynamically cater to various users' specific workflows, such as patients, providers, office administrators, and information technology (IT) staff. Contemporary activity theory focuses on the interaction of several systems of activities to investigate a complex social phenomenon. In doing so, it brings to the fore some of the deeply embedded contextual issues associated with the research topic [33].

At the outset, we identified the key stakeholders (subjects) involved in the process of seeking and providing care for sleep apnea, including patients, providers, referring physicians, administrative staff such as billers and coders, and back-office

personnel. To develop a deeper understanding of their roles in seeking and providing care, the resources they require, and the challenges they face, we conducted six structured interviews with each of these stakeholders and two brainstorming workshops. Details of interview participants and interview questions are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1. The dimensions of activity theory guided the questions and the line of inquiry. On the basis of interviews and brainstorming sessions, we identified Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) application forms, health forms, information about the diagnosis, and treatment protocols as critical resources. Enrollment, consultation, and monitoring emerged as crucial processes. In the interviews, patients expressed a strong preference for a mobile app for consultation, whereas providers favored a web portal for documentation, reporting, and integration with an electronic medical record (EMR) system. During the interviews, the collection of patient information, such as personal and contact details, HIPAA consent, insurance information, and prior health history, emerged as a crucial design challenge. The crux of the problem was to collect all relevant data from patients without overwhelming them. Owing to their limited interactivity, traditional data entry forms are not very effective in engaging users, especially when a large amount of information is collected. Guided by prior research on the effectiveness of chatbots in improving patient engagement [34,35] and care experience [36], we decided to develop a rule-based AI chatbot for enhanced engagement and better patient interaction.

In addition, stakeholders pointed out several business rules and constraints that emerged from the business context. These rules are subsequently coded into the system to develop a patient-first, state-of-the-art telemedicine platform for patients with OSA. The contextual details are presented in Table 1 along the dimensions of activity, subject, instrument, object, division of labor, community, and rules.


Mulgund et al

Table 1. Medical activity system mapped to technical activity system.

Activity theory construct	End user context	System construct		
Subject	 Patient with sleep apnea Providers Admin staff Sleep technicians Billing and patient support 	 Built-in customizable user interface to sign-in users Adaptive authentication 		
Rules	 Referrals or self-referrals rules Rules of patient health status tracking Previous health or surgical history of the patient Health Information Portability and Accountability Act rules Positive air pressure compliance rules App terms and conditions 	 Multiple patient workflows Multiple compliance program rules Managing patient progress Maintenance of health care database records 		
Division of labor	 Doctors: provide treatment Sleep technicians: monitor sleep laboratory Admin staff: process billing and offer patient support Insurance: review and pay claims Vendors: manufacture and ship device 	 Integration with reusable business services such as payment, video consultation, and role-based access control Dashboards for multiple users (physicians, patients, administrators, and technicians) 		
Community forum	 Patients Primary care physicians Sleep specialists Administrators Management Information technology service providers CPAP^a vendors 	 Social and enterprise identity federation Integration with Facebook and Instagram Offering support services Access control for AWS^b resources 		
Instrument	 Frontline Mobile app for patient Web app for doctors Virtual assistants for patient onboarding and support Dashboard to track patient progress Enabler HST^c device CPAP device Infrastructure AWS (cloud) 	 Artificial intelligence-based responsive chatbot Order management CPAP tracking HST tracking 		
Object	 Objective: provide a telemedicine platform for the diagnosis, treatment, and management of sleep apnea Outcome: seek to improve the condition of patients with sleep apnea 	• N/A ^d		

^aCPAP: continuous positive airway pressure.

^bAWS: Amazon Web Services.

^cHST: home sleep test.

^dN/A: not applicable.

System Design and Development

Product Concept

In this section, we describe the development of the four specific artifacts that support the needs of all stakeholders involved in seeking and providing care. These artifacts include (1) a mobile

app for patients, (2) a web app for providers, (3) a dashboard for reporting, and (4) an AI-based chatbot for patient onboarding and support. This telemedicine platform is an example of a design science approach. The ecosystem of the telemedicine platform is shown in Figure 2. Our final platform, which involves four artifacts working together, offers access to high-quality care for patients with sleep apnea.



Figure 2. Telemedicine platform for sleep apnea. CPOE: computerized physician order entry; EMR: electronic medical records.



To develop the product concept, we used iterative prototyping with varying levels of fidelity. In early iterations, the team developed paper prototypes and wireframes using the mock-up Marvel to seek early and continuous feedback from end users to improve the product concept. In the later iterations, the team finalized the mock-up screens of the product, as shown in Figure 3. Individuals intending to seek care for sleep apnea can download *Ognomy* from the Apple App Store or Google Play Store. Patients can create their accounts using email IDs and passwords. Subsequently, they can interact with our platform through an AI-based chatbot and furnish demographic, insurance, and medical information, as highlighted in screens 1-4. Thereafter, as presented in screens 5-8, patients can schedule an appointment with sleep specialists and will receive reminders 15 minutes before the appointment. Patients can then meet the sleep specialists virtually through video consultation, order a sleep test, review the results with their providers, and seek further treatment. At the other end, providers and sleep technicians used the web portal to offer their services. The dashboard provides sleep specialists and other providers with the opportunity to review patient data and monitor progress, as presented in screens 9-12. The platform is also integrated with EMRs and computerized physician order entry systems to enable seamless interaction among care providers and administrative staff.



Figure 3. Mockup screens of the telemedicine platform.



Overall Technical Architecture

We used a *layered modular architecture* that uses the software as a service app hosted in the cloud environment. This architecture leverages the capabilities of the best-of-breed apps to build a platform for a fee instead of developing them from scratch. For instance, to process out-of-pocket payments from patients, we can integrate with application programming interfaces offered by market leaders, such as Square, instead of developing our own payment processing apps. In addition to being robust [37], these services considerably reduce the software development time [38] and do not require a large upfront investment [39]. Given the high expectations in terms of interface quality and time to market, such an architecture was especially relevant for Ognomy. Figure 4 shows the high-level technical architecture used in this study. We used several third-party application programming interfaces, including AWS Cognito, and the latest technologies, such as React JS.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 4. The technical architecture of the telemedicine platform.



The clinical team, digital innovation consultants, and development team were dispersed across different geographies. The initial meeting to discuss the prospects of a digital sleep medicine platform occurred in June 2019. Ognomy was successfully deployed in the second quarter of 2020. The platform has been downloaded more than 4000 times and has received excellent reviews and ratings on Android and iPhone app stores. The platform has also been successfully deployed at two sleep centers, one in western New York and the other in Georgia. The sleep centers offer a full range of sleep apnea care and have diagnosed and treated more than 100,000 patients exclusive of those on the Ognomy platform.

Evaluating Solutions and Generalizing Design Principles

Evaluation Strategy

Rigorous evaluation is a crucial activity in DSR that ensures the utility, quality, and impact of the resulting design artifacts. We followed the guidelines stipulated by the framework for evaluation in DSR [40] to evaluate the design artifact. We performed a formative evaluation by conducting an expert review of the technical design and system architecture to reduce technical risks. Furthermore, we assessed the platform summatively by performing end-to-end system testing to ensure the robustness of the artifact. We also assessed the platform's effectiveness from a human perspective through formative field-based usability testing by the end users to identify and reduce user-related risks or concerns. We provide the details of our evaluation in Figure 5.







Design Review and Walkthrough

The evaluation of the design against the requirements was performed to ensure that the underlying system design was robust enough to support the product features. The review process is a preliminary activity that takes place before the development of the product begins. In their study, Tang and Lau [41] provided elaborate procedures for reviewing software architectures. In this study, we followed their approach to conducting a design review. The initial design was reviewed by 3 expert solution architects with more than 10 years of experience in data and system architectures. The details of the profiles are provided in Multimedia Appendix 2. The design was reviewed to ensure that there were no conflicts between (1) use context and design, (2) requirements and design, (3) design and development, and (4) design choice as compared with alternatives.

Furthermore, software design was reviewed against several technological aspects, such as service orientation, interface requirements, the platform's core technology stack, environment details, security, backup, and performance best practices. The checklist used to perform the design review is provided in Multimedia Appendix 3. The findings of the design review were finalized by triangulating the reviews of the experts.

System Testing

To ensure a robust formative assessment of the product in an artificial setting, we conducted a system test on our platform. A test team of 3 expert software test professionals with an average software engineering experience of 4.35 years performed system testing. The team developed system test scenarios and test cases based on the requirements and design of the platform. Throughout the implementation phase, we followed an agile method of system testing where defects were identified and fixed on an iterative basis with regular product demonstrations on a weekly basis for 2 months. Given that the app was deployed in the production environment, all features were extensively tested. All the user interface screens, forms, actions, integrations, and end-to-end features, including positive and negative scenarios, were tested to ensure maximum test

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26059

RenderX

coverage. We also performed several compatibility tests with different handsets from iPhone and Android phones to ensure that the mobile app was consistent across the different devices.

Furthermore, we conducted several regression tests to ensure that the new code from the defect fixes did not introduce new defects inadvertently. Several defects were logged and fixed on an ongoing basis. Sample test cases and example defects are provided for reference in Multimedia Appendix 4. The system test phase concluded when critical patient-facing portions of the app, such as video consultation, appointment management, and reporting, were robust, with no critical or significant defects. However, addressing defects and issues in other parts of the apps was deferred for future releases.

Formative Field-Based Usability Testing

Overview

We conducted formative laboratory-based usability testing [42] on the fully functional mobile phone app prototype Ognomy to identify usability problems and obtain usability measures. Formative evaluations involve identifying and diagnosing problems, making and implementing recommendations, and then reevaluating the product, often iteratively, to detect and eliminate usability problems. In this study, we used the think-aloud approach to facilitate this process. After the participants provided consent to participate in the study, they were asked to complete a demographics form. Then, the participants were introduced to the think-aloud approach using a short video [43]. In this approach, the participants verbalized their thoughts and experiences as they moved through the app.

Subject Recruitment

We adopted a purposive sampling approach to select candidates for usability testing. We invited participants representing different stakeholder groups, including providers, patients, and hospital administrators. On the basis of their consent, the potential participants were invited to the testing center. Participants testing patient-facing apps were chosen depending on their risk profile, age, gender, education, and access to a mobile device. In this first version of the app, we intended to

focus on the feedback from the critical segment of the target audience to ensure that our priorities, trade-offs, and design considerations were guided by the realities of individuals most likely to seek care for sleep apnea. Therefore, we decided to choose patients from the high-risk category. A total of 8 participants aged between 20 and 60 years who had access to a mobile device were included in the final sample.

Furthermore, to evaluate the apps' physician-facing and administrative features, we adopted a convenient sampling approach. A total of 3 physicians and 3 hospital administrators with more than 10 years of experience in sleep and primary care were chosen to perform the evaluation. The details of the participants are provided in Multimedia Appendix 5.

Evaluation Design

After inviting the participants to the sleep laboratory, the subjects were introduced to the mobile or web app's user interface design. The facilitator briefed the participants on the mobile or web app and informed them that they were evaluating the app and that the facilitator was not evaluating them. The

participants signed an informed consent form acknowledging that participation was voluntary and that they could quit the study at any time. Although the sessions were audiotaped, the participants' data privacy was ensured.

The facilitator instructed the participants to *think aloud* to obtain a verbal record of their interaction with the app. A mobile device and laptop with the web app and supporting software were used in a controlled environment. Each participant's interaction with the app was monitored by a facilitator seated in the same office. The notetakers monitored the sessions. After all task scenarios were attempted, the participants completed the posttest satisfaction questionnaire regarding ease of use and satisfaction. These questionnaires were followed up with a debriefing at the end of the session.

Scenarios for the Patient

The participants went through typical scenarios on the app. The scenarios for would-be patient participants are listed in Textbox 1, and the scenarios for doctors and administrators are listed in Textbox 2.

Textbox 1. Scenarios for the patient.

- 1. Create an account with your email address and answer all the questions asked by the artificial intelligence bot.
- 2. Schedule a consultation, follow through with the entire process, and then reschedule an appointment for another day. Schedule the appointment from the account created in task 1 and receive a reminder for the consultation. Then, reschedule the appointment.
- 3. Consult with a doctor on a video call: attend the consultation using a video call and validate the various options, including notes, messages, with the camera on or off, decrease or increase volume, and mute.
- 4. Postconsultation comments and order a home sleep test: review the doctor's comments and select from the given choices to order a home sleep test and perform the test.
- 5. Refer a patient and provide the patient's information. Provide a friend's information as the referring patient.

Textbox 2. Scenarios for doctors and administrators.

- Check your appointments: see the upcoming appointments this week or month and review recent sessions.
- Review the to-do list: check or add reminders and tasks, make notes, and see new messages from patients, secretary, or office.
- Consult with a doctor on a video call: attend the consultation using a video call and check the notes and messages, explore camera options, decrease or increase volume, mute, and turn the camera off.
- Study the current treatments of the patients: bring up the details of the treatment provided to the patients, including the notes which they made about it, and update the information.

Posttest Questions

To further understand the perceptions of the users, we conducted posttest interviews following the best practices suggested by

Textbox 3. Posttest questions.

1.	How would you describe the a	app to someone?
----	------------------------------	-----------------

- 2. What was your favorite aspect of the app?
- 3. What was the most confusing part of the app?
- 4. Would you continue using this product? If so, why?
- 5. Would you recommend this product to a friend or colleague?

usability testing guides and exemplars [44,45]. The questions are listed in Textbox 3.

Results

Participants in the usability studies highlighted several interesting issues and classified them as critical or noncritical. The compiled list of issues, along with the steps taken for their resolution, are presented in Tables 2 and 3.

Overall, we received positive feedback from all types of participants on visual design aspects, such as color choices, esthetic appeal, the contrast ratio between font and the background, and the information architecture of the product. However, patients and administrative users highlighted some issues with the onboarding workflow and patient profiles. The crux of the problem was the large volume of information, including personal information, medical information, insurance information, and payment information, that patients had to furnish before setting up an appointment with a physician. They

Table 2. Critical issues from usability tests.

also suggested several enhancements to the onboarding workflow, such as adding a progress bar, providing a guided tour, and moving some of the information uploads to postappointment screens. Physician users, on the other hand, were mainly concerned about calendar design and notification issues.

We addressed all critical and noncritical feedback in the patient-facing parts of the app before launching the product. Several prior studies have emphasized the importance of patient-centered design as a prerequisite for the adoption and eventual success of mobile health apps [46]. Therefore, we deliberately prioritized patient-specific issues to develop a patient-first platform. Except for showstopper defects, the issues and concerns of other users, including administrators and providers, were deprioritized for the current version and deferred for later releases.

ID	Stakeholder	Critical issues	Steps taken for their resolution
1	Patient or admin	Simpler customer onboarding process	Two important changes were made as part of the onboard- ing process. First, registration process was simplified to include only basic fields, such as name, email, and pass- word. Second, chatbot-based interaction during data collec- tion was enhanced to include optical character recognition capability to simplify data entry for patients.
2	Patient	Unavailability of user profile: there is no option that al- lows the user to access their profile page and edit the details in just a single click. This is especially important when the users provide incorrect information to the bot by mistake.	A patient dashboard and account home page were devel- oped to resolve this concern.
3	Patient	Status indicator: several studies have highlighted that users are more motivated to complete the tasks as they get closer to the end. A progress bar that indicates the status would better engage the users.	The issue was resolved through front-end code changes.
4	Patient	Option to exit from the app: users should have an option to exit from any screen in the app if they so choose. For instance, if a user opts to book an appointment later, the user should have the ability to do so.	User interface–related code changes were made to provide users an exit option from any screen. At the backend, infor- mation provided by the users during each session would be stored.

Table 3. Noncritical issues from usability tests.

ID	Stakeholder	Noncritical issues	Steps taken for their resolution
1	Admin	Guided tour: the app does not have an initial tour guide. Having a tour guide would ease the user into onboarding, facilitate smarter user training, and reduce support queries with interactive walkthroughs.	A context-specific support is integrated with the artificial intelligence bot to facilitate user training and reduce support cost.
2	Physician or admin	UI ^a calendar's click: the app does not allow users to navigate dates with minimal clicks. One must click multiple times to reach dates after a few months or years.	Two resolutions were provided. First, the navigation across dates was made easy by providing users month and year pickers in addition to the day. Second, a provision to type in the date was provided to the users.
3	Admin	Rewording referral functionality: currently, the function- ality of referring a friend is labeled as "Patient Referral," which is confusing. It should be labeled "Refer a Friend."	We intend to fix the label with code changes in the UI programs; however, the issue has been deferred to a future version.

^aUI: user interface.

Discussion

Theoretical Implications

This design science study makes several notable contributions to both theory and practice. We make several theoretical contributions of this study. Although ISs research in the health care field has been ripe with development [47], there have not been many interventions developed for patients seeking sleep apnea care [48]. Furthermore, extant DSR has mostly emphasized the design, development, and evaluation of IT solution artifacts [49]. Exploring and validating the problem space have been insufficiently pursued. In this study, we took advantage of the design knowledge model [50] to bifurcate the design space into problem and solution spaces. Problem space validation establishes the relevance of the research product, whereas solution space addresses technical feasibility and product usability.

This study also informs the ISs research community on how telemedicine interventions can be implemented using the activity theory framework for building and evaluating artifacts. Activity theory in DSR has been used to design data models [51] and mobile apps in an educational context [52]. In this study, we enhanced activity theory by mapping the business activity system to a problem space and the technical activity system to a solution space. Furthermore, we argue that any IT artifact embodies the social and technical aspects of system development. The success of an artifact depends on the interactions between business and technical activity systems.

Practical Implication

From a practice perspective, we designed and developed a telemedicine platform and demonstrated the potential for such an intervention. We also showed how novel methods for managing products and developing digital architecture can quickly and effectively scale digital interventions. This study generated transferable insights into the most effective practices in conceptualizing and developing digital health products. A total of four core themes of generalizable guidelines emerged:

- learning from diverse end user perspectives is critical
- the use of frugal engineering methods to foster cost savings and reduce the time to market can be highly effective
- the commoditization of software through layered modular architecture and cloud-based infrastructure is the new norm
- access to software development talent

We have provided an elaborate discussion on these themes in the following sections.

Learning From Diverse End User Perspectives Is Critical

As highlighted in several prior studies, software development organizations may be tempted to quickly cruise through the conceptualization and design phases without validating the problem space from an end user perspective [53]. However, such practices usually lead to the development of products that are not grounded in their customers' needs. Researchers frequently use co-design workshops and structured interviews with different stakeholders to overcome this challenge [54].

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26059
```

In this study, we note that the diversity of opinions early on is especially important, as it provides a good platform for all ideas to emerge. It facilitates the holistic development of an app that is relevant, usable, and valuable to all stakeholders, including patients and clinicians, thus overcoming potential barriers to successful adoption and continued use. This implication is particularly relevant for complex business domains, such as health care, where several subject matter experts, such as medical providers (doctors and nurses), administrators (billing, coders, and operation managers), and sleep technicians, interact with end users (patients).

The Use of Frugal Engineering Methods to Foster Cost Savings and Reduce the Time to Market Can Be Highly Effective

Extant literature has emphasized that weeding out feature ideas without potential quickly and economically can be a critical success factor in the development of digital platforms [55,56]. To accomplish this goal, development organizations must leverage a combination of novel frugal engineering methods to save time and money. For instance, in our study, we used iterative prototyping with varying fidelity levels to understand the potential problems before building the final product.

The Commoditization of Software Through Layered Modular Architecture and Cloud-Based Infrastructure Is the New Norm

The team used layered modular architecture using the software as a service app hosted on the cloud environment. Such architecture helps borrow capabilities from other apps for a fee instead of developing them from scratch. In addition to being robust, these services reduce the development time considerably and do not require a large upfront investment. Furthermore, the app was hosted on the AWS cloud environment, which complied with all technology-related HIPAA requirements. The team also used tools such as EC2 (Elastic Compute Cloud), S3 (Simple Storage Service), and ELB (Elastic Load Balancer) to enhance the ease of deployment and migration and to meet on-demand scaling.

Access to Software Development Talent

Prior research has highlighted the shortage of software development talent [57]. This challenge is pronounced in nontechnology hubs. Although many universities offer courses in software engineering and several boot camps and training centers have arisen to fill the talent gap, the availability of solid software development talent, especially in the latest technologies such as React JS and dev-ops automation that can deliver apps quickly in short time frames, remains a significant bottleneck.

Limitations

This study had several limitations. We conducted formative usability tests with only a limited number of end users, including 8 patients, 3 providers, and 3 sleep clinic administrators. As a result, the issues identified in the usability tests may not be generalizable to other settings. Furthermore, all the participants of the usability tests were from the northeastern United States, and hence, the sample of participants may not be nationally representative. However, our focus was not on the

generalizability of our findings but on gathering practical insights about the challenges faced by the end users of the app.

Although the participants testing the patient-facing apps exhibited diversity in age, gender, and educational accomplishments, they all had access to smartphones and were reasonably comfortable using them. Our findings might have been significantly different if we had focused our attention on individuals who lacked technology proficiency or who had cognitive or physical challenges. However, given the ubiquity of mobile devices and the large number of smartphone users, we deliberately focused on this market segment.

Another limitation is that not all the issues identified during the design review, system test, and formative usability tests were addressed in the current version of the app. We refined the design artifact based on the priority of the concerns raised, as we were constrained by time and budget. All the critical issues and errors associated with the patient-facing features, such as appointment management and video consultation, were addressed. However, issues associated with EMRs and computerized physician order entry integration; physician reports; and administrative features, such as insurance card verification, were deferred for future releases.

Conclusions

Against the backdrop of a surge in demand for sleep apnea care, the telemedicine platform offers a scalable and economical alternative. With an aging population and the escalating cost of care, telemedicine alternatives have become increasingly imperative. This is especially true for patients seeking care for sleep apnea because of its increasing prevalence. This paper discusses the design, development, and evaluation of a telemedicine intervention that aids providers and care seekers in virtual consultation, conducts tests, and prescribes treatment virtually. Such a telemedicine platform breaks access barriers while ensuring high-quality care. During the evaluation phase, we noted that this platform is economically viable, technically feasible, and highly usable by all stakeholder groups. Future research can extend this line of inquiry by developing artifact instances for other sleep-related issues, such as insomnia. An interesting contribution would be to demonstrate how telemedicine interventions are accepted across different cultures and geographies, especially where there is a lack of awareness about sleep issues. Future work could also address related issues of e-consent and explore the legal and ethical guidelines for using such platforms.

Conflicts of Interest

DR has a majority financial interest in the company North American Sleep Management Inc, which is the sole owner of the Ognomy platform. The remaining authors declare no conflict of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Questionnaire for requirements gathering interviews. [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative v5i7e26059 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Expert profiles for design and architectural review. [DOCX File , 15 KB - formative v5i7e26059 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Checklist for design and architectural review. [DOC File, 751 KB - formative_v5i7e26059_app3.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Sample defects found during system testing. [DOCX File , 14 KB - formative v5i7e26059 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Participant profiles. [DOCX File , 16 KB - formative_v5i7e26059_app5.docx]

References

- 1. Sleep Apnea Information for Clinicians. Sleep Apnea. URL: <u>http://www.sleepapnea.org/learn/</u> <u>sleep-apnea-information-clinicians</u> [accessed 2020-12-03]
- 2. Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM. Increased prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol 2013 May 1;177(9):1006-1014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kws342] [Medline: 23589584]
- 3. Young T, Palta M, Dempsey J, Peppard PE, Nieto FJ, Hla KM. Burden of sleep apnea: rationale, design, and major findings of the Wisconsin sleep cohort study. Wis Med J 2009 Aug;108(5):246-249 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19743755</u>]

- 4. Kakkar R, Berry R. Positive airway pressure treatment for obstructive sleep apnea. Chest 2007 Sep;132(3):1057-1072. [doi: <u>10.1378/chest.06-2432</u>] [Medline: <u>17873201</u>]
- Leger D, Bayon V, Laaban J, Philip P. Impact of sleep apnea on economics. Sleep Med Rev 2012 Oct;16(5):455-462. [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2011.10.001] [Medline: 22244357]
- Watson N, Martin J, Wise M, Carden K, Kirsch D, Kristo D, American Academy of Sleep Medicine Board of Directors. Delaying middle school and high school start times promotes student health and performance: an American academy of sleep medicine position statement. J Clin Sleep Med 2017 Apr 15;13(4):623-625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6558] [Medline: 28416043]
- Hevner A, March S, Park J, Ram S. Design science in information systems research. MIS Q 2004;28(1):75-105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2307/25148625]
- 8. Peffers K, Tuunanen T, Rothenberger M, Chatterjee S. A design science research methodology for information systems research. J Manag Inform Sys 2014 Dec 8;24(3):45-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2753/mis0742-1222240302]
- 9. Bashshur R, Shannon G. History of Telemedicinevolution, Context, and Transformation. New Rochelle, NY: Mary Ann Liebert; 2009.
- 10. Wootton R. Recent advances: telemedicine. Br Med J 2001 Sep 8;323(7312):557-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.323.7312.557] [Medline: 11546704]
- 11. Rao B, Lombardi A. Telemedicine: current status in developed and developing countries. J Drugs Dermatol 2009 Apr;8(4):371-375. [Medline: 19363855]
- Hersh W, Helfand M, Wallace J, Kraemer D, Patterson P, Shapiro S, et al. Clinical outcomes resulting from telemedicine interventions: a systematic review. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2001;1:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-1-5] [Medline: 11737882]
- 13. Grabowski D, O'Malley AJ. Use of telemedicine can reduce hospitalizations of nursing home residents and generate savings for medicare. Health Aff 2014 Feb;33(2):244-250. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0922] [Medline: 24493767]
- 14. Abrams D, Geier M. A comparison of patient satisfaction with telehealth and on-site consultations: a pilot study for prenatal genetic counseling. J Genet Couns 2006 Jun;15(3):199-205. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10897-006-9020-0</u>] [Medline: <u>16779676</u>]
- 15. Whitlock W, Brown A, Moore K, Pavliscsak H, Dingbaum A, Lacefield D, et al. Telemedicine improved diabetic management. Mil Med 2000 Aug;165(8):579-584. [Medline: 10957848]
- Kruse C, Soma M, Pulluri D, Nemali N, Brooks M. The effectiveness of telemedicine in the management of chronic heart disease - a systematic review. JRSM Open 2017 Mar;8(3):2054270416681747 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2054270416681747] [Medline: 28321319]
- 17. Yokota K, Takamura N, Shibata Y, Yamashita S, Mine M, Tomonaga M. Evaluation of a telemedicine system for supporting thyroid disease diagnosis. Stud Health Technol Inform 2001;84(Pt 1):866-869. [Medline: <u>11604859</u>]
- 18. Lin J, Mclaughlin D, Zurawski D, Kennedy N, Kabbani L. Comparison of virtual visit versus traditional clinic for management of varicose veins. J Telemed Telecare 2020;26(1-2):100-104. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X18797181] [Medline: 30235968]
- Demaerschalk B, Bobrow B, Raman R, Kiernan T, Aguilar M, Ingall T, STRokE DOC AZ TIME Investigators. Stroke team remote evaluation using a digital observation camera in Arizona: the initial mayo clinic experience trial. Stroke 2010 Jun;41(6):1251-1258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.574509] [Medline: 20431081]
- Lawes-Wickwar S, McBain H, Mulligan K. Application and effectiveness of telehealth to support severe mental illness management: systematic review. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Nov 21;5(4):e62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8816] [Medline: 30463836]
- Garrett C, Hocking J, Chen M, Fairley C, Kirkman M. Young people's views on the potential use of telemedicine consultations for sexual health: results of a national survey. BMC Infect Dis 2011 Oct 25;11:285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-11-285] [Medline: 22026640]
- 22. Rogove H, McArthur D, Demaerschalk B, Vespa P. Barriers to telemedicine: survey of current users in acute care units. Telemed J E Health 2012;18(1):48-53. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0071] [Medline: 22082107]
- 23. de Bustos EM, Moulin T, Audebert H. Barriers, legal issues, limitations and ongoing questions in telemedicine applied to stroke. Cerebrovasc Dis 2009 Sep 1;27(Suppl 4):36-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000213057] [Medline: 19546540]
- 24. Paul D, Pearlson K, McDaniel R. Assessing technological barriers to telemedicine: technology-management implications. IEEE Trans Eng Manage 1999 Aug 7;46(3):279-288. [doi: 10.1109/17.775280]
- 25. Watson N, Rosen I, Chervin R, Board of Directors of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. The past is prologue: the future of sleep medicine. J Clin Sleep Med 2017 Jan 15;13(1):127-135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6406] [Medline: 27998380]
- 26. Kotzian S, Saletu M, Schwarzinger A, Haider S, Spatt J, Kranz G, et al. Proactive telemedicine monitoring of sleep apnea treatment improves adherence in people with stroke- a randomized controlled trial (HOPES study). Sleep Med 2019 Dec;64:48-55. [doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2019.06.004] [Medline: 31670004]
- 27. Farré R, Navajas D, Montserrat J. Is telemedicine a key tool for improving continuous positive airway pressure adherence in patients with sleep apnea? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018 Jan 1;197(1):12-14. [doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.201709-1791ED</u>] [Medline: <u>28926279</u>]
- 28. Thomasson A. Artifactshuman Concepts. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2007.

- 29. Creswell J, Fetters M, Ivankova N. Designing a mixed methods study in primary care. Ann Fam Med 2004;2(1):7-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.104] [Medline: 15053277]
- 30. Horvath I. Comparison of Three Methodological Approaches of Design Research. In: International Conference on Engineering Design. 2007 Presented at: ICED'07; August 28-31, 2007; Paris, France URL: <u>https://www.designsociety.org/publication/</u>25512/Comparison+of+Three+Methodological+Approaches+of+Design+Research
- Kuutti K. The Concept of Activity as a Basic Unit of Analysis for CSCW Research. In: Proceedings of the Second European Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work. 1991 Presented at: ECSCW'91; June 7-9, 1991; Dordrecht, netherlands. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-94-011-3506-1_19</u>]
- 32. Miettinen R. Transcending Traditional School Learning: Teachers' Work and Networks of Learning. Chicago, USA: University of Chicago Press; 1999.
- 33. Shankar P, Piryani R. Three years of medical humanities at a new Nepalese medical school. Educ Health (Abingdon) 2011 Apr;24(1):535. [Medline: <u>21710422</u>]
- Campbell K, Louie P, Levine B, Gililland J. Using patient engagement platforms in the postoperative management of patients. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 2020 Aug;13(4):479-484 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12178-020-09638-8] [Medline: 32388724]
- Inkster B, Sarda S, Subramanian V. An empathy-driven, conversational artificial intelligence agent (WYSA) for digital mental well-being: real-world data evaluation mixed-methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 23;6(11):e12106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12106] [Medline: 30470676]
- Beaudry J, Consigli A, Clark C, Robinson KJ. Getting ready for adult healthcare: designing a chatbot to coach adolescents with special health needs through the transitions of care. J Pediatr Nurs 2019 Nov;49:85-91. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2019.09.004</u>] [Medline: <u>31644960</u>]
- Roozbeh A, Soares J, Maguire GQ, Wuhib F, Padala C, Mahloo M, et al. Software-defined 'hardware' infrastructures: a survey on enabling technologies and open research directions. IEEE Commun Surv Tutorials 2018;20(3):2454-2485. [doi: 10.1109/comst.2018.2834731]
- Jaramillo D, Nguyen D, Smart R. Leveraging Microservices Architecture by Using Docker Technology. In: SoutheastCon. 2016 Presented at: SC'16; March 30-April 3, 2020; Norfolk, VA, USA. [doi: <u>10.1109/secon.2016.7506647</u>]
- 39. Buchgeher G, Winterer M, Weinreich R, Luger J, Wingelhofer R, Aistleitner M. Microservices in a Small Development Organization. In: European Conference on Software Architecture. 2017 Presented at: ECSA'17; September 11-15, 2017; Canterbury, United Kingdom. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-65831-5_15]
- 40. Venable J, Pries-Heje J, Baskerville R. FEDS: a framework for evaluation in design science research. Eur J Inform Sys 2017 Dec 19;25(1):77-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1057/ejis.2014.36]
- 41. Tang A, Lau M. Software architecture review by association. J Syst Sofw 2014 Feb;88:87-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.09.044]
- 42. Redish J. Expanding usability testing to evaluate complex systems. J Usability Stud 2007;2(3):102-111.
- 43. Cooke L. Assessing concurrent think-aloud protocol as a usability test method: a technical communication approach. IEEE Trans Profess Commun 2010 Sep;53(3):202-215. [doi: 10.1109/TPC.2010.2052859]
- 44. Carlson L. Example Post-Test Questionnaire. University of Minnesota Duluth. URL: <u>https://www.d.umn.edu/~lcarlson/</u> testing/planning/post_questionnaire1.html [accessed 2020-12-03]
- 45. Barnum C. Usability Testing Essentials: Ready, Set ... Test!. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elvisor; 2010.
- 46. McCurdie T, Taneva S, Casselman M, Yeung M, McDaniel C, Ho W, et al. mHealth consumer apps: the case for user-centered design. Biomed Instrum Technol 2012;Suppl:49-56. [doi: <u>10.2345/0899-8205-46.s2.49</u>] [Medline: <u>23039777</u>]
- 47. Gao GG, McCullough JS, Agarwal R, Jha AK. A changing landscape of physician quality reporting: analysis of patients' online ratings of their physicians over a 5-year period. J Med Internet Res 2012 Feb 24;14(1):e38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2003] [Medline: 22366336]
- 48. Young T, Peppard PE, Gottlieb DJ. Epidemiology of obstructive sleep apnea: a population health perspective. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002 May 1;165(9):1217-1239. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.2109080] [Medline: 11991871]
- Maedche A. Conceptualization of the Problem Space in Design Science Research. In: International Conference on Design Science Research in Information Systems and Technology. 2019 Presented at: DESRIST'19; June 4-6, 2019; Worcester, MA, USA. [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-030-19504-5_2</u>]
- 50. vom Brocke J, Maedche A. The DSR grid: six core dimensions for effectively planning and communicating design science research projects. Electron Mark 2019 Jul 29;29(3):379-385. [doi: 10.1007/s12525-019-00358-7]
- 51. Chen R, Sharman R, Rao HR, Upadhyaya SJ. Data model development for fire related extreme events: an activity theory approach. MIS Q 2013 Jan 1;37(1):125-147. [doi: 10.25300/misq/2013/37.1.06]
- 52. Uden L, Helo P. Designing mobile interfaces using activity theory. Int J Mob Commun 2008;6(5):616. [doi: 10.1504/ijmc.2008.019325]
- 53. Brhel M, Meth H, Maedche A, Werder K. Exploring principles of user-centered agile software development: a literature review. Inform Software Tech 2015 May;61:163-181. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.infsof.2015.01.004</u>]

- 54. Mirkovic J, Jessen S, Kristjansdottir OB, Krogseth T, Koricho AT, Ruland CM. Developing technology to mobilize personal strengths in people with chronic illness: positive codesign approach. JMIR Form Res 2018 Jun 5;2(1):e10774 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10774] [Medline: 30684404]
- 55. Reis E. The Lean Startup. New York, USA: Crown Business; 2011.
- 56. Barney S, Aurum A, Wohlin C. A product management challenge: creating software product value through requirements selection. J Syst Architect 2008 Jun;54(6):576-593. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sysarc.2007.12.004</u>]
- 57. Muraski J, Iversen J, Iversen K. Building collaboration networks and alliances to solve the IT talent shortage: a revelatory case study. J Midwest Assoc Inform Syst 2021:1.

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence
CPAP: continuous positive airway pressure
DSR: design science research
EC2: Elastic Compute Cloud
ELB: Elastic Load Balancer
EMR: electronic medical record
HIPAA: Health Information Portability and Accountability Act
IS: information system
IT: information technology
OSA: obstructive sleep apnea
S3: Simple Storage Service

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.12.20; peer-reviewed by E Kasaeyan Naeini, I Bouloukaki, M Mueller; comments to author 08.01.21; revised version received 30.03.21; accepted 11.06.21; published 19.07.21.

Please cite as:

Mulgund P, Sharman R, Rifkin D, Marrazzo S Design, Development, and Evaluation of a Telemedicine Platform for Patients With Sleep Apnea (Ognomy): Design Science Research Approach JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26059 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26059 doi:10.2196/26059 PMID:34279237

©Pavankumar Mulgund, Raj Sharman, Daniel Rifkin, Sam Marrazzo. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 19.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Mobile Ecological Momentary Assessment and Intervention and Health Behavior Change Among Adults in Rakai, Uganda: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Laura K Beres^{1*}, MPH, PhD; Ismail Mbabali^{2*}, MPH; Aggrey Anok², BSc; Charles Katabalwa², BBA; Jeremiah Mulamba², DMHN; Alvin G Thomas^{3,4}, MSPH; Eva Bugos^{5,6,7}, MSPH, MD; Gertrude Nakigozi², MPH; Mary K Grabowski^{2,8}, PhD; Larry W Chang^{1,2,9}, MD, MPH

¹Department of International Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

²Rakai Health Sciences Program, Entebbe, Uganda

³Department of Epidemiology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

⁴Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

- ⁵University of Chicago Pritzker School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States
- ⁶Department of Population, Family and Reproductive Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁷Department of Internal Medicine, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

⁸Department of Pathology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁹Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States *these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Laura K Beres, MPH, PhD Department of International Health Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health 615 N. Wolfe Street, E5031 Baltimore, MD, 21205 United States Phone: 1 410 955 7159 Email: <u>laura.beres@jhu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: An extraordinary increase in mobile phone ownership has revolutionized the opportunities to use mobile health approaches in lower- and middle-income countries (LMICs). Ecological momentary assessment and intervention (EMAI) uses mobile technology to gather data and deliver timely, personalized behavior change interventions in an individual's natural setting. To our knowledge, there have been no previous trials of EMAI in sub-Saharan Africa.

Objective: To advance the evidence base for mobile health (mHealth) interventions in LMICs, we conduct a pilot randomized trial to assess the feasibility of EMAI and establish estimates of the potential effect of EMAI on a range of health-related behaviors in Rakai, Uganda.

Methods: This prospective, parallel-group, randomized pilot trial compared health behaviors between adult participants submitting ecological momentary assessment (EMA) data and receiving behaviorally responsive interventional health messaging (EMAI) with those submitting EMA data alone. Using a fully automated mobile phone app, participants submitted daily reports on 5 different health behaviors (fruit consumption, vegetable consumption, alcohol intake, cigarette smoking, and condomless sex with a non–long-term partner) during a 30-day period before randomization (P1). Participants were then block randomized to the control arm, continuing EMA reporting through exit, or the intervention arm, EMA reporting and behavioral health messaging receipt. Participants exited after 90 days of follow-up, divided into study periods 2 (P2: randomization + 29 days) and 3 (P3: 30 days postrandomization to exit). We used descriptive statistics to assess the feasibility of EMAI through the completeness of data and differences in reported behaviors between periods and study arms.

Results: The study included 48 participants (24 per arm; 23/48, 48% women; median age 31 years). EMA data collection was feasible, with 85.5% (3777/4418) of the combined days reporting behavioral data. There was a decrease in the mean proportion of days when alcohol was consumed in both arms over time (control: P1, 9.6% of days to P2, 4.3% of days; intervention: P1,

7.2% of days to P3, 2.4% of days). Decreases in sex with a non–long-term partner without a condom were also reported in both arms (P1 to P3 control: 1.9% of days to 1% of days; intervention: 6.6% of days to 1.3% of days). An increase in vegetable consumption was found in the intervention (vegetable: 65.6% of days to 76.6% of days) but not in the control arm. Between arms, there was a significant difference in the change in reported vegetable consumption between P1 and P3 (control: 8% decrease in the mean proportion of days vegetables consumed; intervention: 11.1% increase; P=.01).

Conclusions: Preliminary estimates suggest that EMAI may be a promising strategy for promoting behavior change across a range of behaviors. Larger trials examining the effectiveness of EMAI in LMICs are warranted.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04375423; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04375423

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22693) doi:10.2196/22693

KEYWORDS

ecological momentary assessment; ecological momentary intervention; mHealth; digital health; smartphone; mobile phone; randomized trial; Uganda; Africa

Introduction

Background

To date, behavior change strategies in lower- and middle-income countries (LMICs) have failed to fully leverage the potential of mobile technology to promote optimal health outcomes. Although this may be partially because of historically limited technology access in these settings, an extraordinary increase in mobile technology ownership and use, facilitated by advances in lower-cost smartphones, has revolutionized the opportunities to use mobile health approaches in LMICs [1].

Ecological momentary assessment and intervention (EMAI) uses mobile technology to gather individual-level behavioral data and deliver timely, personalized behavior change interventions in an individual's natural setting [2]. These strengths can promote a range of health objectives. Compared with traditional, in-person assessments and interventions, EMAI may offer more user-driven, cost-effective, and ecologically and temporally relevant strategies [2,3] and may generate more accurate data than traditional retrospective questionnaires, which are subject to recall bias [4]. Rapid and repeated individual-level behavioral measurement and feedback may be particularly effective in supporting changes to semiconscious behaviors or habits that are difficult to accurately recall and benefit from interruptions in routine to alter [5,6]. Remote data collection and intervention strategies may be critical for hard-to-reach populations, and because of infection-related concerns such as COVID-19, this may help to fill the more widespread need for remote or contactless intervention options.

However, there is limited extant literature on the effectiveness of EMAI, particularly in LMICs. Several studies in high-income settings have demonstrated the preliminary effectiveness of EMAI using targeted, remote messages to improve mental health outcomes [3,7,8], fruit and vegetable consumption [9], and smoking-related behaviors [10]. A qualitative study in the United States demonstrated that young women responded positively to the development of an EMAI approach for sexual risk reduction, identifying the potential for future intervention trials [11]. There are several recently published protocols on the use of mobile ecological momentary intervention across behaviors, including alcohol and drug use, healthy food consumption and coping [12-16], and a consistently identified need for more

XSL•FC

research into the effectiveness of EMAI with mobile technologies [17-19]. To date, we are not aware of any previous EMAI trials in sub-Saharan Africa.

Objectives

To advance the evidence base for mobile health interventions in LMICs, we conducted a pilot randomized trial to establish estimates of the potential effect of EMAI on a broad range of health-related behaviors in Rakai, Uganda. On the basis of extant EMAI literature, theory, and evidence [20] that targeted nudges, including behavioral messaging, can alter behavior, we hypothesized that participants submitting ecological momentary assessment (EMA) reports and receiving intervention messaging (EMAI) would have improved self-reported health behaviors compared with those submitting EMA reports only. As the first study, to our knowledge, to trial EMAI in sub-Saharan Africa, we sought to generate preliminary data to guide future investigations on the feasibility and effectiveness of EMAI in LMICs.

Methods

Study Design and Population

The study was a prospective, parallel-group, randomized pilot trial in Rakai, Uganda. It sought to establish a preliminary estimate of the effect of EMAI on health behaviors between participants submitting EMA data and receiving behaviorally responsive interventional health messaging compared with those submitting EMA data alone.

The study sampled adult participants (aged 18-49 years) from the Rakai Community Cohort Study (RCCS), an open, population-based cohort running since 1994 [21,22]. Rakai District, Uganda, is approximately 150 km southwest of the capital, Kampala, bordered by Tanzania and Lake Victoria. It includes agrarian, trading, and fishing communities [22]. Participants were eligible if they were current RCCS participants who had provided a telephone number during the last survey and had at least a secondary-level education. The lists of potential participants who met the eligibility criteria according to the RCCS survey data were generated from the RCCS database. Participants were purposively recruited via the telephone. Study staff members sought variation in participant age, sex, and occupation, aiming to include a minimum of 20%

traders and 20% farmers in the sample, to enable researchers to assess possible differential EMAI acceptability and feasibility by participant characteristics in this pilot trial.

In addition to the primary study outcome, the preliminary estimate of the effect of EMAI, as a pilot study, the secondary aim was to assess the feasibility of the data collection and intervention approach. To do so, we examined the indicators of data collection success by the study arm. All outcomes were assessed after the closure of the study.

Procedures

Interested participants attended an in-person visit at the study office, enrolling on completion of voluntary, written informed consent at the first in-person study visit. At the first study visit, participants were issued a password-protected smartphone programmed with the EMAI study app (emocha Health Inc), a phone charger, and a portable power bank. Participants were trained on the use of the smartphone and a fully automated study app and completed a paper-based enrollment questionnaire collecting participant demographic and behavioral data, recalling the 30 days before enrollment.

Communicating in Luganda, the primary language spoken in the region, the app collected EMA data on 5 behaviors of interest: fruit consumption, vegetable consumption, alcohol intake, cigarette smoking, and sex with a nonmarital or non–long-term partner without a condom. EMA behavioral data were submitted by the participant through the app (1) in response to a text message prompt twice per day, once at a random time and once at a fixed time asking about each of the behaviors since the last prompt-based report, (2) in response to a text message prompt sent each week, recalling behaviors throughout the week, and (3) through a participant-generated report sent within approximately 1 hour of engaging in any of the study behaviors of interest (an *event-contingent* report). Participants were asked to reply "yes=1" or "no=0" to sequential questions about each behavior. If they replied "yes," they were asked for the associated numeric quantity (eg, number of cigarettes smoked and number of vegetables eaten).

For the first 30 days of the study, all participants sent EMA data, after which they were randomized to control or intervention conditions. Participants in the control arm continued to submit EMA data throughout the remainder of the study period. From randomization to study exit, intervention arm participants received health-related messages responsive to the behavioral data submitted in addition to continuing EMA data submissions. The messages, developed using participatory formative research including free-listing and sorting of proposed messages with a convenience sample of 8 Rakai residents to enhance appropriateness and relevance, provided positive reinforcement for reported healthy behaviors (eg, Living alcohol-free today is a step to a healthier future! Alcohol contributes to heart disease and liver cancer.) and encouragement to change in response to reported risk behaviors (eg, Alcohol abuse increases your risk of heart disease. Protect your heart, and stick to water or juice tomorrow). The participants received messages that were directly relevant to the responses they submitted. The specific message a participant received from the bank of possible messages (Multimedia Appendix 1) related to the reported behavior was randomly selected each time. Participants exited after study day 90 (Figure 1). Up to 10 participants were enrolled simultaneously throughout the study period. Behavioral data were stored on the phone and sent to the remote study database for analysis.

Participants were compensated for their time (UGX 10,000; approximately US \$3) and reimbursed for travel costs (UGX 5000-40,000; US \$1.50-12) for each in-person study visit. Participants were given funds equivalent to 525 MBs of data monthly throughout the study and an incentive totaling UGX 100,000 (approximately US \$30) in 3 increments at 30, 60, and 90 days for responding to \geq 50% of data collection prompts. The study was approved by the Ugandan Virus Research Institute Research and Ethics Committee and the Johns Hopkins School of Medicine Institutional Review Board.



Figure 1. Study design.



Randomization

Participants were assigned to the control or intervention study arm using block randomization with randomly varying block sizes of 4, 6, and 8 through blockr R package by Greg Snow. The study arm assignments were enclosed within opaque, consecutively numbered envelopes. At the day 30 visit, the study coordinator allocated the randomization assignment enclosed in the next consecutive envelope to each participant, activating the appropriate EMAI smartphone module. The assignments were not masked to the study participants or staff.

Study Measurements and Outcomes

Participant characteristics and behaviors at enrollment were collected on the paper-based enrollment questionnaire. Occupation was measured using the last RCCS survey round. The exposure of interest, receiving intervention messages, was measured as a dichotomous variable, with all participants assigned to the intervention arm counted as exposed and all control arm participants as unexposed. The outcomes were examined separately for each of the 5 study behaviors of interest: (1) fruit consumption, (2) vegetable consumption, (3) alcohol use, (4) cigarette smoking, and (5) sex with a nonmarital or non–long-term partner without a condom.

Participants were assigned a *yes* or *no* for each behavior for each day of the study follow-up. A participant was counted as engaging in a behavior if the participant reported having practiced the behavior on at least one of the twice-daily prompt response forms or any event-contingent form submitted on that day. They were counted as not engaging in the behavior if none of the submitted forms reported the behavior on that day. If no data forms were submitted, the participant had missing data for

RenderX

that day. Sex with a nonmarital or non-long-term partner without a condom was determined by 2 questions: first, asking if the participant had a sexual encounter with such a partner and then asking if a condom was used in that encounter. Participants were counted as engaging in the behavior if they reported both *yes* to sex with a nonmarital or non-long-term partner and *no* to condom use in that encounter.

The total number of days in the study was counted from enrollment to the exit date. The number of event-contingent reports and prompt-driven behavioral report responses submitted was counted using the total number of database entries (submitted by the smartphone and received by the database) for each type of report mechanism. Each report included the behavioral information reported and the time and date it was submitted. A day was counted as missing behavioral data for a participant if there were no reports recorded in the database on a date between study enrollment and exit. The study follow-up was divided into 3 study periods: period 1 (baseline; P1: enrollment to the day before randomization), period 2 (P2: the day of randomization to 29 days postrandomization), and period 3 (P3: 30 days postrandomization to study exit).

Analysis

Given the pilot nature of the study, we primarily used a descriptive approach to examine the study outcomes. Descriptive statistics were used to compare participant characteristics and data collection between the 2 study arms. We examined the comparability of participant characteristics by arm at baseline using chi-square and two-tailed Student t tests. We estimated the effect sizes for differences in data collection between the 2 arms using Cohen d with bootstrapped CIs to account for the small sample size and nonnormal data distribution. We

determined the proportion of study days when a behavior was practiced by taking the total number of days the participant engaged in the behavior over the total days with behavioral data reported for each participant for each study period. We excluded missing data (days without behavioral reports). We calculated bootstrapped 95% CIs to identify differences in the mean proportion of days when participants reported each behavior between P1 and P2, P2 and P3, and P1 and P3 within each study arm. We present visual plots of the proportion of days when behaviors are reported for each participant by study arm and study period. To compare changes between study arms, we calculated the mean difference in the proportion of days each participant reported each behavior between periods by subtracting the later period's mean proportion of days when the behavior was practiced from the earlier period's mean. We then took the overall mean difference across all participants for each

study arm and calculated the difference within the differences by subtracting the control arm from the intervention arm. We used two-sample *t* tests with two-sided *P* values to assess if the mean differences between each period were the same in the 2 study arms. The analyses were conducted using Stata 15.1 IC (StataCorp, 2018).

Results

Overview and Flow

Between June 10, 2016, and March 1, 2017, 71 participants were screened for enrollment, of whom 58 were enrolled. Of 58 participants, 8 were excluded because of early failure of the study application and 2 dropped out at 15 and 79 days after enrollment. The complete analysis data set included 48 participants (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Participant flow diagram. EMA: ecological momentary assessment; EMAI: ecological momentary assessment and intervention.



Of the 48 participants, 23 (48%) were female, with a median age of 31 (IQR 25-38) years. Less than one-third of the participants worked in agriculture (14/48, 29%), with 17% (8/48) working in trade, 23% (11/48) teachers, and 31% (15/48) in other occupations. In the 30 days before study enrollment, nearly all participants (47/48, 98%) reported eating a vegetable on at

least one day, 90% (43/48) consumed fruit, whereas 35% (17/48) consumed alcohol, 17% (8/48) reported sex with a nonmarital or non–long-term partner, and 13% (3/48) smoked a cigarette. There were no significant differences in participant characteristics or behaviors at enrollment between the study arms (Table 1).



Table 1. Participant characteristics at enrollment by study arm.

Participant characteristics	Control (n=24)	Intervention (n=24)	Total (N=48)	P value ^a
Female, n (%)	12 (50)	11 (46)	23 (48)	.77
Age at enrollment (years), mean (SD)	32.7 (7.1)	30.1 (6.7)	31.4 (7.0)	.10
Education completed , n (%)				.94
Some secondary	7 (29)	8 (33)	15 (31)	
Secondary	10 (42)	9 (38)	19 (40)	
University, technical or vocational	7 (29)	7 (29)	14 (29)	
Yes, owns a cell phone, n (%)	24 (100)	24 (100)	48 (100)	N/A ^b
Yes, feels comfortable using a phone to send text messages, n (%)	24 (100)	22 (92)	46 (96)	.15
Yes, ever used a smartphone app, n (%)	14 (58)	12 (50)	26 (54)	.56
Occupation , n (%)				.53
Agrarian	6 (25)	8 (33)	14 (29)	
Trader	5 (20)	3 (12)	8 (16)	
Teacher	4 (17)	7 (29)	11 (23)	
Other	9 (38)	6 (25)	15 (31)	
Health behaviors, past 30 days				
Smoked cigarette at least one day, n (%)	3 (13)	0 (0)	3 (13)	.07
Among smokers, days smoked at least one cigarette, mean (SD)	20 (13.1)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Drank alcoholic beverage at least one day, n (%)	8 (33)	9 (38)	17 (35)	.76
Among drinkers, days drank at least one alcoholic beverage, mean (SD)	2.1 (1.3)	1.6 (0.7)	N/A	.29
Ate vegetables at least one day, n (%)	22 (92)	21 (88)	43 (90)	.64
Among those who ate vegetables, days ate at least one vegetable, mean (SD)	7.2 (5.4)	6.7 (7.9)	N/A	.80
Ate fruit at least one day, n (%)	23 (96)	24 (100)	47 (98)	.31
Among those who ate fruit, days ate at least one fruit, mean (SD)	13.6 (9.0)	12.5 (8.2)	N/A	.67
Had sex with nonmarital or non–long-term partner without using a condom at least once, n (%)	5 (21)	3 (13)	8 (17)	.44
Times had sex with a nonmarital or non-long-term partner without a condom, among those reporting sex, mean (SD)	2.4 (1.9)	2.3 (0.6)	N/A	.96

^aTwo-sided *P* value calculated using chi-square tests for categorical variables and Student *t* test for continuous variables. ^bN/A: not applicable.

Data Collection

The mean total number of days of follow-up was 92 (minimum 90 and maximum 94). Comparing study arms, there were no significant differences in time in study, data submission types (event-contingent or prompt-based responses), or proportion of study days without data submitted (Table 2). There were also no significant differences in study arm in behaviors reported during the prerandomization P1 baseline period (Table 2). Overall, 85.5% (3777/4418) of the total study days had behavioral data reported.

Over the study periods, the reported engagement in any of the behaviors varied. All 48 participants reported eating fruits and vegetables on at least one day during each of the 3 study periods, except for 1 participant who did not report eating vegetables on any day during study period 2. Ever consuming alcohol was reported by approximately half of the participants or fewer across the periods (control arm period 1: 13 participants, period 2: 9 participants, and period 3: 8 participants; intervention arm periods 1 and 2: 12 participants, period 3: 7 participants). Far fewer participants reported ever having sex with a non–long-term partner without a condom (control arm period 1: 4 participants, periods 2 and 3: 2 participants; intervention arm periods 1 and 2: 4 participants and period 3: 5 participants) or ever smoking cigarettes (control arm period 1: 7 participants, period 2: 3 participants, and period 3: 4 participants; intervention arm period 1: 3 participants, period 2: 1 participants, and period 3: 0 participants).

Table 2. Study data collection indicators by study arm.

Data indicator	Control	Intervention	$t \operatorname{test}^{a}(df)$	P value ^a	Effect size ^b (95% CI)
Total study days, mean (range)	92.0 (90-94)	92.1 (90-94)	-0.28 (46)	.78	-0.08 (-0.66 to 0.50)
Days in study period, mean (range)					
Period 1: baseline (study day 1 to day before randomization)	30.6 (29-33)	30.8 (29-33)	-0.57 (46)	.57	-0.16 (-0.71 to 0.38)
Period 2 (randomization to 29 days postrandomization)	30 (30-30)	30 (30-30)	N/A ^c	N/A	N/A
Period 3 (30 days postrandomization to final study day)	31.4 (28-33)	31.3 (28-33)	0.23 (46)	.82	0.07 (-0.48 to 0.61)
Total event-contingent reports, mean (SD)	108.6 (67.5)	99.8 (46.4)	0.53 (46)	.60	0.15 (-0.44 to 0.75)
Event-contingent reports by period, mean (SD)					
Period 1: baseline (study day 1 to day before randomization)	47.5 (35.0)	43.3 (26.7)	0.47 (46)	.63	0.14 (-0.45 to 0.72)
Period 2 (randomization to 30 days after randomization)	30.0 (22.4)	27.9 (14.7)	0.38 (46)	.71	0.11 (-0.54 to 0.76)
Period 3 (30 days after randomization to final study day)	31.1 (23.0)	28.9 (13.8)	0.46 (46)	.65	0.13 (-0.48 to 0.75)
Total responses submitted to prompts, mean (SD)	92.2 (28.6)	96.9 (23.2)	-0.63 (46)	.53	-0.18 (-0.78 to 0.42)
Responses submitted to prompts by period, mean (SD)					
Period 1: baseline (study day 1 to day before randomization)	20.4 (6.9)	21.5 (5.0)	-0.62 (46)	.54	-0.18 (-0.78 to 0.42)
Period 2 (randomization to 30 days after randomization)	35.4 (14.5)	38.3 (9.0)	-0.85 (46)	.40	-0.24 (-0.82 to 0.33)
Period 3 (30 days after randomization to final study day)	36.4 (12.8)	37.1 (12.2)	-0.18 (46)	.85	-0.05 (-0.64 to 0.53)
Total days without behavior reported, mean (SD)	14.2 (10.7)	12.4 (9.3)	0.62 (46)	.54	0.18 (-0.45 to 0.81)
Days without behavior reported by period, mean (SD)					
Period 1 (study day 1 to day before randomization)	3.1 (2.6)	3.4 (2.9)	-0.36 (46)	.72	-0.10 (-0.70 to 0.49)
Period 2 (randomization to 30 days after randomization)	3.7 (3.2)	3.0 (3.1)	0.73 (46)	.47	0.21 (-0.44 to 0.86)
Period 3 (30 days after randomization to final study day)	7.4 (7.1)	6.0 (6.2)	0.74 (46)	.47	0.21 (-0.40 to 0.82)
Proportion of study days without behavior report (%), mean (SD)	15.4 (11.5)	13.5 (10.1)	0.61 (46)	.54	0.18 (-0.45 to 0.81)
Proportion of study days participants report behaviors in first	st study period:	P1 baseline (p	rerandomizat	ion; %), m	ean (SD)
Fruit	79.0 (0.2)	78.6 (0.2)	0.06 (46)	.95	0.02 (-0.61 to 0.65)
Vegetable	57.8 (0.2)	65.6 (0.3)	-0.99 (46)	.33	-0.28 (-0.93 to 0.36)
Alcohol	9.6 (0.2)	7.2 (0.1)	0.51 (46)	.61	0.15 (-0.44 to 0.73)
Sex with non-long-term partner without a condom	1.9 (0.04)	6.6 (0.1)	-1.74 (46)	.09	-0.50 (-0.96 to -0.05)
Smoking	6.5 (0.2)	1.4 (0.03)	1.26 (46)	.22	0.36 (-0.14 to 0.86)

^aTwo-sided *P* value calculated using Student *t* test for continuous variables.

^bCohen *d*.

^cN/A: not applicable.

Within-Arm Change Over Time

There was a decrease in the mean proportion of days when alcohol was consumed in both the control and intervention arms. In the control arm, a decrease was observed between periods 1 and 2 (9.6% of days to 4.3% of days), whereas it was observed between periods 1 and 3 in the intervention arm (7.2% of days to 2.4% of days; Table 3). Similarly, both arms showed a decrease in the mean proportion of days when participants reported having sex with a nonmarital or non–long-term partner

without a condom between periods 1 and 3 (control: 1.9% of days to 1% of days and intervention: 6.6% of days to 1.3% of days) and an increase in fruit consumption (control: 79% of days to 82% of days and intervention: 78.6% of days to 87% of days; Table 3). In the intervention arm only, there was an increase in the mean proportion of days when vegetables were reported to be consumed between periods 1 and 3 (vegetable: 65.6% of days to 76.6% of days) and periods 2 and 3 (vegetable: 68% of days to 76.6% of days; Table 3; Figure 3).

Table 3. Mean proportion of days participants report behaviors by study period and arm (n=24 per arm).

Reported behavior	Control (%), mean (95% CI)			Intervention (%), mean (95% CI)		
	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3
Fruit	79 (71.9 to 86)	80 (71.3 to 88.8)	82 (73.7 to 90.3)	78.6 (70.2 to 87.1)	82.6 (73.5 to 91.8)	87.0 (79.3 to 94.7)
Vegetable	57.8 (48.2 to 67.5)	55.6 (44.2 to 66.9)	49.9 (37.7 to 62)	65.6 (54.1 to 77)	68 (57.3 to 78.6)	76.6 (67 to 86.2)
Alcohol	9.6 (1.3 to 17.8)	4.3 (1 to 7.6)	4.2 (1.6 to 6.8)	7.2 (2.9 to 11.6)	5 (-0.1 to 10.1)	2.4 (-0.2 to 4.9)
Sex with non-long- term partner without a condom	1.9 (0.5 to 3.3)	1 (-0.7 to 2.7)	1 (-0.1 to 2.1)	6.6 (1.8 to 11.4)	2.1 (0.3 to 3.8)	1.3 (0.2 to 2.3)
Smoking	6.5 (-0.9 to 13.9)	5.1 (-2.6 to 12.8)	5.8 (-2.7 to 14.3)	1.4 (-0.1 to 3)	0.3 (-0.3 to 1)	0 ^a

^a95% CI values are not applicable.

Figure 3. Mean proportion of days on which behavior occurred by participant according to study arm and period (n=24 per arm).



Between-Arm Comparison

The comparison of study arms showed a significant difference in the change in reported vegetable consumption between periods 1 and 3 (control: 8% decrease in the mean proportion of days vegetables were consumed; intervention: 11.1% increase in the mean proportion of days vegetables were consumed; P=.01) and periods 2 and 3 (control: 5.7% decrease in the mean proportion of days vegetables were consumed; intervention: 8.6% increase in the mean proportion of days vegetables were consumed; P=.002). There were no other significant differences in the change in behavior over time between the intervention and control groups (Table 4).



Table 4. Mean difference in proportion of days participants reported behavior between periods (later period minus earlier period, positive number indicates increase in behavior over time; n=24 per arm).

Reported behavior		Control (%)	Intervention (%)	Difference of differences (intervention-control; %)	P value ^a
Per	riod 1 to period 2				
	Fruit	1.01	3.99	2.98	.49
	Vegetable	-2.28	2.41	4.69	.47
	Alcohol	-5.28	-2.24	3.04	.24
	Sex with non-long-term partner without a condom	-0.94	-4.53	-3.59	.12
	Smoking	-1.36	-1.12	0.24	.90
Per	riod 2 to period 3				
	Fruit	1.98	4.38	2.4	.52
	Vegetable	-5.71	8.64	14.35	.002
	Alcohol	-0.05	-2.61	-2.56	.21
	Sex with non-long-term partner without a condom	-0.02	-0.8	-0.78	.42
	Smoking	0.71	-0.31	-1.02	.07
Per	riod 1 to period 3				
	Fruit	2.99	8.37	5.38	.18
	Vegetable	-7.99	11.05	19.04	.01
	Alcohol	-5.33	-4.86	0.47	.89
	Sex with non-long-term partner without a condom	-0.96	-5.33	-4.37	.07
	Smoking	-0.65	-1.43	-0.78	.69

^aTwo-sided *P* values calculated using two-sample *t* test.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This pilot study found that EMAI was feasible and may influence a range of participant behaviors. EMA alone may also affect the reported behaviors. To our knowledge, this is the first study of EMAI in sub-Saharan Africa. It provides a foundation on which further research on EMAI in transferable settings can be framed.

The feasibility of EMAI in a pilot study context in Rakai, Uganda, was supported in this study through high participant retention in both arms, yielding comparable study groups without adjustment and consistent submission of EMA data. The 85.5% (3777/4418) of the combined study follow-up days with behavioral data in this study is consistent with or better than data collection feasibility in other studies in high-income settings [3,23-26]. Compared with study periods 1 and 2, study period 3 saw an increase in days without behavioral reports in both study arms, indicating that more support may be needed to maintain EMA reports over time. Other EMAI studies have discussed the need for a careful examination of the participant population and study procedure burden to determine necessary and appropriate support for successful EMAI implementation [26,27]. Remote data collection and messaging may have some effect on behavior over a relatively short period. Descriptive comparisons of daily behavioral reports between the approximately 30-day study periods within arms suggest that alcohol consumption, sex with a non–long-term partner without a condom, fruit consumption, and smoking may be influenced by EMA or EMAI and that vegetable consumption may be influenced by EMAI. Although the study expected behavior change to be associated with intervention messaging, we hypothesize that daily reporting increased participant awareness of health risk behaviors, which may have changed their practices or reporting. This is consistent with theoretical and interventional extant self-monitoring literature, supporting that reactivity associated with improved self-awareness, particularly for routinized behaviors, can lead to behavior change [28,29].

Future research should not only expand beyond a pilot context to determine more robust estimates of the EMAI effect but should also examine differential pathways of change in raising awareness of risk behaviors compared with provision of feedback on positive, routinized behaviors to better understand the potential of both EMA and EMAI, beyond measurement. Although behavioral change may be rapid with EMAI, it is also necessary to examine the sustainability of change beyond the study's relatively short 90-day follow-up. Although our study used smartphones to allow for geospatial data collection in addition to behavioral data exchange, any phone with SMS or

Unstructured Supplementary Service Data capabilities could support the key elements of the study monitoring and intervention. Research examining the effect of EMAI using more basic phones could broaden the reach of future EMAI work by allowing interventions to operate on any type of phone currently owned by members of the population of interest.

Throughout the study period, the direction of the intervention arm trends in the mean proportion of days when behaviors were reported was consistent: increasing for fruit and vegetable consumption and decreasing for alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, and sex with a nonmarital or non-long-term partner without a condom. There was more variation in the trends in the control arm. Although only vegetable consumption showed significant differences in change over time between arms, the direction and, with the exception of alcohol, the magnitude of the change in behaviors between study arms are consistent with the study hypotheses. This supports that remote intervention messaging warrants further study to promote behavioral change. Remote data collection and intervention may be particularly important in LMIC contexts such as Rakia, Uganda, where regular follow-up of people is difficult because of high population mobility and poor infrastructure. Similarly, in the era of COVID-19, human interaction carries risks that may exceed small to moderate, but otherwise important, behavior change benefits. Research to further establish the effectiveness of EMAI in these settings may be of critical importance.

Limitations

The findings of this pilot trial were not designed to be generalizable beyond the study's target population, including participants with at least a secondary level of education or a 90-day follow-up period. However, as preliminary estimates, they offer insight into the potential of EMAI and warrant further exploration. Behaviors were self-reported. It is not possible to differentiate actual changes in behavior from changes in reported behaviors influenced by social desirability bias, potentially reinforced by intervention messages, or other facts. However, although at different magnitudes, changes were observed in both the control and intervention arms of the trial. Furthermore, for sensitive behaviors such as condom use, self-report is the best available standard, with questions asking about recent experiences considered to be more valid and reliable than longer recall periods [30]. We did not collect the servings of fruits and vegetables consumed, precluding our ability to examine a dose-response relationship, which would be of interest in future, larger trials.

The study enrolled current RCCS participants who are accustomed to participating in trials. They may respond differently to interventions than research-naïve participants. Given the pilot nature of the study, explanations for reported behavioral changes other than the effect of intervention messaging cannot be ruled out. Particularly given block randomization and the study limit of 10 simultaneous active participants, seasonality in vegetable access, for example, could have influenced the decrease observed in vegetable consumption in the control arm.

Conclusions

Preliminary estimates from this pilot trial suggest that EMAI may be an effective strategy to promote behavior change across a range of behaviors. Larger trials examining the effectiveness of EMA alone and EMAI with responsive messaging in LMICs are warranted. Cost-effectiveness work is also recommended to establish the comparative potential of EMAI with more traditional approaches, leveraging increasingly accessible mobile technology in low-resource settings.

Acknowledgments

The study was funded by the Johns Hopkins Center for Global Health and the National Institutes of Health NIAID R01 AI143333. AGT was supported by the National Institutes of Health, NHLBI T32HL007055.

Authors' Contributions

LWC, IM, and MKG conceptualized and designed the study. The study procedures and data collection were implemented by IM, AA, CK, JM, AGT, EB, and GN. Study analyses were completed by LKB, MKG, AA, and LWC. LKB wrote the manuscript. All other authors have reviewed and substantively contributed to the manuscript revisions.

Conflicts of Interest

emocha Mobile Health Inc developed the application used in this study. LWC is entitled to royalties on certain nonresearch revenues generated by this company and owns company equity. Specific to this study, LWC received no royalties or compensation from emocha Mobile Health Inc. This arrangement has been reviewed and approved by Johns Hopkins University in accordance with its conflict of interest policies. None of the other study team members had known competing interests.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Bank of possible messages sent in response to reported behaviors (English translations). [DOCX File, 15 KB - formative_v5i7e22693_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist V1.6.1. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1636 KB - formative v5i7e22693 app2.pdf]

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22693

References

- 1. Yonazi E, Kelly T, Halewood N, Blackman C. The transformational use of information and communication technologies in Africa. World Bank, Washington, DC, and African Development Bank, Tunis 2012:A. [doi: 10.1596/26791]
- Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008 Apr;4(1):1-32. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415] [Medline: 18509902]
- Bell IH, Lim MH, Rossell SL, Thomas N. Ecological momentary assessment and intervention in the treatment of psychotic disorders: a systematic review. Psychiatr Serv 2017 Nov 01;68(11):1172-1181. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201600523</u>] [Medline: <u>28669284</u>]
- 4. Rowe C, Hern J, DeMartini A, Jennings D, Sommers M, Walker J, et al. Concordance of text message ecological momentary assessment and retrospective survey data among substance-using men who have sex with men: a secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 May 26;4(2):e44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5368] [Medline: 27230545]
- 5. Wood W, Quinn JM, Kashy DA. Habits in everyday life: Thought, emotion, and action. J Pers Soc Psychol 2002;83(6):1281-1297. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.83.6.1281]
- 6. Andrews BR. Habit. Am J Psychol 1903 Apr;14(2):121. [doi: 10.2307/1412711]
- Hanssen E, Balvert S, Oorschot M, Borkelmans K, van Os J, Delespaul P, et al. An ecological momentary intervention incorporating personalised feedback to improve symptoms and social functioning in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Psychiatry Res 2020 Feb;284:112695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112695] [Medline: <u>31831201</u>]
- Smith JM, Whisenhunt BL, Buchanan EM, Hudson DL. Evaluating the effectiveness of ecological momentary assessment and intervention targeting body checking behaviors. Eat Disord 2019 Jan 21;27(6):521-537. [doi: 10.1080/10640266.2018.1560850] [Medline: 30664400]
- Brookie KL, Mainvil LA, Carr AC, Vissers MC, Conner TS. The development and effectiveness of an ecological momentary intervention to increase daily fruit and vegetable consumption in low-consuming young adults. Appetite 2017 Jan 01;108:32-41. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.09.015] [Medline: 27642037]
- Hébert ET, Stevens EM, Frank SG, Kendzor DE, Wetter DW, Zvolensky MJ, et al. An ecological momentary intervention for smoking cessation: the associations of just-in-time, tailored messages with lapse risk factors. Addict Behav 2018 Mar;78:30-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.10.026] [Medline: 29121530]
- Shrier LA, Spalding A. "Just Take a Moment and Breathe and Think": Young women with depression talk about the development of an ecological momentary intervention to reduce their sexual risk. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2017 Feb;30(1):116-122. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2016.08.009] [Medline: 27575408]
- 12. Riordan BC, Moradi S, Carey KB, Conner TS, Jang K, Reid KE, et al. Effectiveness of a combined web-based and ecological momentary intervention for incoming first-year university students: protocol for a 3-arm randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 May 15;7(5):e10164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10164] [Medline: 29764803]
- Boh B, Lemmens LH, Jansen A, Nederkoorn C, Kerkhofs V, Spanakis G, et al. An Ecological Momentary Intervention for weight loss and healthy eating via smartphone and Internet: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2016 Mar 22;17(1):154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-016-1280-x] [Medline: 27000058]
- 14. Bell IH, Fielding-Smith SF, Hayward M, Rossell SL, Lim MH, Farhall J, et al. Smartphone-based ecological momentary assessment and intervention in a coping-focused intervention for hearing voices (SAVVy): study protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial. Trials 2018 May 02;19(1):262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-018-2607-6] [Medline: 29720208]
- Shrier LA, Burke PJ, Kells M, Scherer EA, Sarda V, Jonestrask C, et al. Pilot randomized trial of MOMENT, a motivational counseling-plus-ecological momentary intervention to reduce marijuana use in youth. Mhealth 2018 Jul;4:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.07.04] [Medline: 30148142]
- 16. Turner CM, Trujillo D, Le V, Wilson EC, Arayasirikul S. Event-level association between daily alcohol use and same-day nonadherence to antiretroviral therapy among young men who have sex with men and trans women living with HIV: intensive longitudinal study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Oct 15;8(10):e22733 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22733] [Medline: 33055070]
- 17. Kruse C, Betancourt J, Ortiz S, Valdes Luna SM, Bamrah IK, Segovia N. Barriers to the use of mobile health in improving health outcomes in developing countries: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 09;21(10):e13263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13263] [Medline: 31593543]
- Burke LE, Shiffman S, Music E, Styn MA, Kriska A, Smailagic A, et al. Ecological momentary assessment in behavioral research: addressing technological and human participant challenges. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 15;19(3):e77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7138] [Medline: 28298264]
- Cohn A, Hunter-Reel D, Hagman BT, Mitchell J. Promoting behavior change from alcohol use through mobile technology: the future of ecological momentary assessment. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2011 Dec;35(12):2209-2215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01571.x] [Medline: 21689119]
- Ledderer L, Kjær M, Madsen EK, Busch J, Fage-Butler A. Nudging in public health lifestyle interventions: a systematic literature review and metasynthesis. Health Educ Behav 2020 Oct 09;47(5):749-764. [doi: <u>10.1177/1090198120931788</u>] [Medline: <u>32517522</u>]

- 21. Grabowski MK, Serwadda DM, Gray RH, Nakigozi G, Kigozi G, Kagaayi J, et al. HIV prevention efforts and incidence of HIV in Uganda. N Engl J Med 2017 Nov 30;377(22):2154-2166. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmoa1702150</u>]
- 22. Chang LW, Grabowski MK, Ssekubugu R, Nalugoda F, Kigozi G, Nantume B, et al. Heterogeneity of the HIV epidemic in agrarian, trading, and fishing communities in Rakai, Uganda: an observational epidemiological study. Lancet HIV 2016 Aug;3(8):388-396. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-3018(16)30034-0]
- 23. Moitra E, Gaudiano BA, Davis CH, Ben-Zeev D. Feasibility and acceptability of post-hospitalization ecological momentary assessment in patients with psychotic-spectrum disorders. Compr Psychiatry 2017 Apr;74:204-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.01.018] [Medline: 28231480]
- Mackesy-Amiti ME, Boodram B. Feasibility of ecological momentary assessment to study mood and risk behavior among young people who inject drugs. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018 Jun 01;187:227-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.03.016] [Medline: 29684890]
- 25. Wen CK, Schneider S, Stone AA, Spruijt-Metz D. Compliance with mobile ecological momentary assessment protocols in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 26;19(4):e132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6641] [Medline: 28446418]
- 26. Ono M, Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Stone AA. What affects the completion of ecological momentary assessments in chronic pain research? An individual patient data meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 05;21(2):e11398 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11398] [Medline: 30720437]
- 27. Schueller SM, Aguilera A, Mohr DC. Ecological momentary interventions for depression and anxiety. Depress Anxiety 2017 Jun 11;34(6):540-545. [doi: 10.1002/da.22649] [Medline: 28494123]
- 28. Compernolle S, DeSmet A, Poppe L, Crombez G, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G, et al. Effectiveness of interventions using self-monitoring to reduce sedentary behavior in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2019 Aug 13;16(1):63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0824-3] [Medline: 31409357]
- 29. Nelson RO, Hayes SC. Theoretical explanations for reactivity in self-monitoring. Behav Modif 2016 Jul 26;5(1):3-14. [doi: 10.1177/014544558151001]
- Fonner VA, Kennedy CE, O'Reilly KR, Sweat MD. Systematic assessment of condom use measurement in evaluation of HIV prevention interventions: need for standardization of measures. AIDS Behav 2014 Dec 7;18(12):2374-2386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0655-1] [Medline: 24197972]

Abbreviations

EMA: ecological momentary assessment EMAI: ecological momentary assessment and intervention LMIC: lower- and middle-income country RCCS: Rakai Community Cohort Study

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 21.07.20; peer-reviewed by J Sekandi, L König; comments to author 12.09.20; revised version received 12.11.20; accepted 31.05.21; published 20.07.21.

Please cite as:

Beres LK, Mbabali I, Anok A, Katabalwa C, Mulamba J, Thomas AG, Bugos E, Nakigozi G, Grabowski MK, Chang LW Mobile Ecological Momentary Assessment and Intervention and Health Behavior Change Among Adults in Rakai, Uganda: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22693 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22693 doi:10.2196/22693 PMID:34283027

©Laura K Beres, Ismail Mbabali, Aggrey Anok, Charles Katabalwa, Jeremiah Mulamba, Alvin G Thomas, Eva Bugos, Gertrude Nakigozi, Mary K Grabowski, Larry W Chang. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 20.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Exploring the Constituent Elements of a Successful Mobile Health Intervention for Prediabetic Patients in King Saud University Medical City Hospitals in Saudi Arabia: Cross-sectional Study

Fayz Alshehri¹, MSc, MPH; Fahdah Alshaikh², BSc, MPH, PhD

¹Executive Department of Information Technology, King Saud University Medical City, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia ²Community Health Department, Applied Medical Sciences, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Corresponding Author: Fayz Alshehri, MSc, MPH Executive Department of Information Technology King Saud University Medical City King Saud University King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Building 4, Level 3 King Abdulaziz Road Riyadh, 12629 Saudi Arabia Phone: 966 118067119 Email: <u>afayz@ksu.edu.sa</u>

Abstract

Background: Self-management of prediabetic patients is crucial since they are at high risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Mobile health (mHealth) apps could contribute to potentially reducing the burden of diabetes by supporting the self-management of prediabetic patients.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the constituent elements of a successful mHealth intervention for prediabetic patients in King Saud University Medical City (KSUMC) hospitals in Saudi Arabia using the Centre for eHealth Research (CeHRes) roadmap.

Methods: This study used the CeHRes roadmap as a developmental guideline for proposing mHealth app features for self-management of prediabetic patients and was performed in 3 phases with one round in each phase. First, a contextual inquiry was conducted via an online self-administered questionnaire for both health care providers and patients. Second, the value specification phase elaborated on the outcomes from the contextual inquiry phase. Finally, prototype user design was performed in cocreation with end users. The design phase was also conducted via an online self-administered questionnaire to evaluate the proposed features of mHealth apps by prediabetic patients.

Results: A total of 20 health care providers participated in the study. The results revealed that the most powerful intervention for prediabetes was a combination of medication, physical activity, and healthy diet plans (12/20, 60%). Furthermore, the most common challenge faced by prediabetes patients was patient adherence to healthy diet and physical activity recommendations (10/20, 50%). Almost all patients believed that mHealth apps would be useful for prediabetic patients. A total of 48 prediabetic patients participated in the study. The results indicated that the most powerful intervention for prediabetic patients is a combination of healthy diet and physical activity plans (21/48, 44%), and the most frequent challenge that may lead the patients to discontinue the current intervention was the commitment to a physical activity plan (35/48, 75%). Furthermore, 15% (17/48) of patients use well-being and health apps to manage their current health status. The most common difficulties faced by the patients were navigating app features (mean 2.02 [SD 1.7]) followed by the app language (mean 1.88 [SD 2.0]); these difficulties occurred at a significantly higher rate among those with secondary or lower educational levels as compared to undergraduate and postgraduate levels (P<.05). Finally, the features proposed in the prototype design scored more than 2.5 points higher and indicate the need for these features to be included in the mHealth app.

Conclusions: This study aimed to provide real-world insights into the development of an mHealth app for a diabetes prevention intervention by involving both health care providers and prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals. Therefore, the proposed app, which comprises all necessary features, may aid patients with prediabetes in self-management and making changes in their lifestyle.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22968) doi:10.2196/22968

KEYWORDS

prediabetes; mHealth; CeHRes roadmap; Saudi Arabia

Introduction

Background

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is one of the fastest growing health problems worldwide, and it has been associated with adverse health outcomes such as rising obesity, reduced physical activity, and mortality [1,2]. According to the International Diabetes Federation, the number of adults (aged 20 to 79 years) with diabetes worldwide was 463 million in 2019; by 2045, this number will increase to 700 million [3,4]. Furthermore, the worldwide prevalence of underdiagnosed diabetes (prediabetes) was estimated as 50.1% in 2019 [3,4]. Compared to overseas countries, Saudi Arabia has a high prevalence of DM, and the World Health Organization has ranked it as the seventh highest country for the prevalence of DM [5]. Approximately 4.3 million adults have diabetes in 2019; by 2045, this will increase to about 7.9 million, and the estimated age-adjusted comparative prevalence of DM was 15.8% in 2019, which will rise to 17.8% by 2045 as reported by the International Diabetes Federation [4]. In the meantime, the number of patients with prediabetes was approximately 1.7 million in 2019 in Saudi Arabia with a prevalence of 39% [4]. Prediabetes refers to a person who a higher than normal blood sugar level that is not high enough to be considered diabetic yet. However, without lifestyle changes, individuals with prediabetes are more likely to develop the disease. This indicates that prediabetic patients are at relatively high risk for developing diabetes in the future [6].

It is believed that self-management of prediabetes might play a vital role in preventing or delaying the development of the disease and its adverse effects. Components of self-management include diabetes education, healthy eating, physical activity, medication, and device use [7]. For instance, any increase from a low level of physical activity can reduce the incidence of developing diabetes [8]. One popular lifestyle change program directed toward prediabetic patients is the one modeled after the Diabetes Prevention Program research study [9,10].

Recent years have seen a growing trend in the availability and use of well-being and health apps. Mobile health (mHealth), "the use of mobile communications for health information and services" [11], can play a significant role in adjusting and improving health promotion lifestyle, prevention of disease, and disease self-management [12-16]. That is, mHealth is characterized by the mobile technology's mobility, which facilitates instantaneous access and direct communication allowing for faster transfer of health information, which in turn supports medical and public health practices [17]. In the diabetes context, mHealth is a promising technology that supports patient engagement in their health care since most people own and regularly use a mobile phone and may use functions like text and voice messaging with health care professionals, connections to external devices (eg, heart rate measurement and monitoring of blood glucose or blood pressure), medication support, tracking physical activity (eg, lifestyle tracking using pedometer

technologies to track one's steps and calories), and monitoring healthy diet behavior via mHealth apps [18-22]. A systematic review assessed the efficacy, usability, and features of commercially available mHealth apps for self-management of diabetes and showed that none of the reviewed studies exhibited significant patient improvements in quality of life, BMI, and blood pressure.

There is extensive literature on the adoption of mHealth apps to illustrate influences on the adoption decision [23-35]. Some studies were based on the technology acceptance model [23-29]. Other studies relied on the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology [30-32]. Little research took into account the appropriation and implementation perspective on the use of mHealth apps; these studies mostly focusing on continued use and failed to consider the integration of multifaceted everyday life patterns [28,33,34]. A study by Rossmann et al [35] used the mobile appropriation model to investigate how diabetes patients use mHealth apps for self-management and showed that patients are heterogeneous in evaluating such mHealth apps. Some studies relied on the Centre for eHealth Research (CeHRes) roadmap [22,23]. According to the framework by Klasnja and Pratt [22], there are 5 behavioral intervention strategies enabled by smartphones. These include tracking health information (eg, setting goals for targeted behavior, monitoring, tracking, reminders, and progress visualization), involving the health care team (eg, sharing health information with health care providers), leveraging social influence (eg, social networking), increasing the accessibility of health information (eg, access to didactic curriculum, coaching), and using entertainment (eg, reward-based games). Thus, most existing frameworks were found to rely more on a conceptual approach instead of practical guidelines and lack of participatory approach that ensure the eHealth technologies are stakeholder-driven [23]. Furthermore, studies were largely heterogeneous and had to some extent methodological issues including inconsistency in randomization reporting, masking, and allocation and low quality that hurt interpretation of the results [20,21,23]. Therefore, to avoid failure of making an impact with these eHealth technologies, eHealth developers and researchers should adopt a reliable approach in the early stage of development. The behavioral change intervention strategy was also used and showed it was an effective tool for developing mHealth apps [36,37].

The preliminary research in the literature shows that there is a lack of evidence on the use of mHealth technologies in the prevention of type 2 diabetes in Saudi Arabia [38]. Therefore, this study aims to provide an initial step toward building an mHealth technology that could support the current prediabetes self-management intervention. More specifically, this study is devoted to determining the requirements and specifications needed to design an mHealth intervention for prediabetic patients in King Saud University Medical City hospitals. This study should contribute to the overall vision of Saudi Arabia's

XSL•FO RenderX

Ministry of Health in reducing the burden of type 2 diabetes [39].

Centre for eHealth Research Roadmap

Van Gemert-Pijnen et al [23] proposed a holistic framework for the development of eHealth technologies which are the outcomes of a systematic review of existing frameworks and from empirical research and progressive insights about the framework obtained from experts at eHealth conferences. The framework is also referred to as the CeHRes roadmap. It serves as an evidence-based roadmap to the research and developmental activities involved in developing eHealth technologies from concept definition through development to summative evaluation [40]. This roadmap aims to ensure the developed eHealth technologies are human-centered, tailored to stakeholder needs, and capable of altering user behaviors, thus increasing the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. The CeHRes roadmap takes an iterative approach through 5 phases of development: value specification, contextual inquiry, design, operationalization, and summative evaluation to ensure an iterative, flexible, and dynamic process resulting in concepts of the technology (from ideation to product) [23].

Identifying user values is one key task in developing eHealth technologies, which are a key aspect of the CeHRes roadmap. Despite well-established literature on consumer needs, it is often not clear what needs to be addressed [41]. Studies that used the CeHRes roadmap reported that they benefit from the iterative approach provided by the framework which allows them to use

it as a checklist tool afterward [42]. This also allows creating outcome benchmarks meaning that if the design requirement does not meet the targeted goals of the eHealth technology, one can return to different points within the CeHRes phases to make adjustments [41].

By 2017, the use of the CeHRes roadmap in the development of eHealth technologies was apparent in 26 studies but also recognized and referenced in hundreds of studies. The app of the CeHRes roadmap was mostly for the control of infectious diseases, management of cancer, treatment of mental health, and management of diabetes [43].

Methods

Overview

This is a cross-sectional study using self-administered questionnaires as the main tools for collecting data and the CeHRes roadmap as a guide. For this study, the first 3 phases were conducted: contextual inquiry, value specification, and design phases. According to the CeHRes roadmap, the operationalization and summative evaluation phases are concerned with the introduction, adoption, and employment of the technology in practice and evaluating how it is being used and its effects. Therefore, they are beyond the scope of this study, which is limited to designing a low fidelity prototype that reflects the requirements and specifications for the mHealth intervention for prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The CeHRes roadmap.

Methodological Framework

The first phase of the CeHRes roadmap is the contextual inquiry. This phase aims to understand the current issues, how the technology can contribute to resolving these issues, and who might benefit from the technology. This can be realized by investigating 3 subphases: stakeholder identification, stakeholder analysis, and describing the current situation [44]. In this study, we initially identified and analyzed key stakeholders such as physicians, dietitians, health educators, and prediabetic patients before we explored the current situation for the prediabetes intervention in KSUMC hospitals. The current situation then was explored using self-administrated questionnaires sent to health care providers and prediabetic patients.

The second phase of the CeHRes roadmap is value specification which elaborates on the outcomes from the contextual inquiry. The value specification has two main outcomes: a value map that contains the values that mHealth should address and a list of requirements [45]. These requirements are needed to develop the technology, which is in our case is the mHealth app for a prediabetes intervention. In this phase, the key stakeholder values and requirements were realized and ranked based on the importance and need using descriptive statistics. The findings helped us to understand the added value that the proposed mHealth features would provide for prediabetic patients.

The outcomes of the contextual inquiry and value specification phases were then translated into a blueprint for our proposed mHealth technology, which was developed in the design phase. According to the CeHRes roadmap, the design of any eHealth

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968
```

technology should consist of 3 subphases: develop low-fidelity and high-fidelity prototypes, conduct usability tests, and add persuasive elements [46]. For this study, a low-fidelity prototype was developed that addressed the values and requirements from the previous phases. Table 1 describes how the proposed mHealth features were guided by Klansja and Pratt's framework of 5 behavioral intervention strategies enabled by smartphones as well as the key components of a lifestyle change program in preventing type 2 diabetes [9,22]. These proposed mHealth features were then translated into a prototype of user interfaces. The prototype was then tested by 2 mobile app developers on the design level.

 Table 1. Proposed mHealth features guided by lifestyle change plan of Kirley & Sachdev and Klansja and Pratt's framework.

Kirley & Sachdev lifestyle change plan to prevent diabetes	Klansj and Pratt's framework	Proposed mHealth features
Self-monitoring of diet and physical activity	Tracking health information	 Weight management Step counting Blood glucose calculator List of healthy food Notifications
Didactic curriculum and coaching	Involving health team	Phone callText messaging
Peer support	Leveraging social media	• Peer and group communication
Individual skills development and problem solving	Accessibility of health information	Pop-up quizzesFrequently asked questions
Motivation	Using entertainment	 Users collecting points for the following features Weight measurement (reaching goal) Step counting (reaching goal) Pop-up quizzes (questions answered)

The end users for our proposed mHealth app are prediabetic patients. Therefore, the prototype user interfaces were sent to patients using an online form to evaluate them one by one on a 5-point Likert-type scale from "I strongly need it" to "I do not need it at all." The design of the prototype has considered the need for persuasive elements in the proposed mHealth features, which are introduced as motivation features such as collecting points and getting badges when a certain goal was achieved.

Participants

The populations of this study comprised health care providers from both KSUMC hospitals and prediabetic patients. The health care providers were eligible if they are involved in the management of prediabetic patients. A total of 40 health care providers working in the primary care departments in the KSUMC hospitals were eligible: physicians (28/40), dietitians (8/40), health educators (4/40). The prediabetic patient population inclusive criteria were patients diagnosed with prediabetes, Arabic speakers, age group from 20 to 65 years, and receiving intervention for prediabetes. The age range used is the frequent age of onset of diabetes [1], and 1040 prediabetic patients were found eligible for this study in the hospitals' electronic health records.

The sample size for health care providers population was 38 and for prediabetic patients it was 281. A convenience sampling technique was used for health care providers and simple random sampling was performed on the prediabetic patients list.

Data Collection Tools

Two self-administrated questionnaires were used in this study; one for health care providers and one for prediabetic patients.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968
```

The first questionnaire was sent to health care providers in paper-based form to explore the current situation from the health care provider side. The second questionnaire was an online questionnaire that was sent by text message to patient phones, and it aimed to explore the current situation from the prediabetic patient side. Both questionnaires were developed using the information gathered during the stakeholder identification and analysis subphases in the contextual inquiry phase. This information was collected by interviewing 3 health care providers, a physician, dietitian, and health educator from the prediabetic patient questionnaire, 3 prediabetic patients were interviewed (male aged 58 years, male aged 32 years, and female aged 31 years). All questionnaires were then piloted for clarity of questions (Multimedia Appendix 1 and 2).

Moreover, the prototype of user interfaces was also reviewed by the same group of patients for clarity of the presentation of user interfaces of the proposed mHealth features (Multimedia Appendix 3). The instruments were sent to participants for a duration of 1 week and with a reminder 2 days before the closing time of the online form.

Data Analysis

The data were analyzed using SPSS (version 25, IBM Corp) software. Descriptive statistics were presented as means and standard deviations for continuous variables and as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. Independent sample t tests and 1-way analysis of variance tests were performed to test for differences in mean scores as appropriate. Statistical significance was sought at values lower than 5%.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Ethical Consideration

This study has received the ethical approval number E-19-4118 from the Institute of Review Board at College of Medicine in King Saud University (Multimedia Appendix 4).

Results

Health Care Provider Questionnaire

A total of 20 questionnaires were completed and received: 10 physicians (50%), 6 dietitians (30%), and 4 health educators (20%). The majority of respondents were females (16/20, 80%) and aged 30 to 39 years (8/20, 40%). One-half of them worked at King Khalid University Hospital (KKUH) (10/20, 50%). Most respondents stated that the most impactful intervention technique for prediabetes was a combination of medication with both healthy diet and physical exercise plans. About 65% (13/20) of participants had communicated with patients in terms of phone call (8/20, 62%), text messages (4/20, 31%), and emails

(1/20, 8%). The majority of participants believed that mHealth apps would help prediabetes patients (17/20, 85%; Table 2).

Furthermore, health care providers were asked about the challenges and barriers using open questions. The health care provider answers were then analyzed using quantitative text analysis to categorize the barriers and challenges facing the current interventions for prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals. The results showed 5 common reported barriers and challenges to the current intervention. The lack of adherence to a healthy diet and physical activity plans was the most common barrier (10/20, 50%). This is followed by the lack of awareness (8/20, 40%). Accordingly, lack of awareness was described frequently as the patients denying the fact that they had a high blood sugar level or not taking the medical diagnosis seriously. Furthermore, loss of follow-up (7/20, 35%) and lack of motivation (5/20, 25%) were found among the barriers faced by patients. Finally, the participants also reported that there were cultural barriers facing patients to adhere to medical recommendations (4/20, 20%; Table 2).

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of health care providers questionnaire (n-20).

Cha	aracteristics	Value, n (%)				
Oc	Occupation					
	Dietitian	10 (50)				
	Physician	6 (30)				
	Health educator	4 (20)				
Ge	nder					
	Male	6 (30)				
	Female	14 (70)				
Ag	e group (years)					
	20-29	4 (20)				
	30-39	6 (30)				
	40-49	8 (40)				
	50-59	2 (10)				
Ho	spital					
	King Khalid University Hospital	10 (50)				
	King Abdulaziz University Hospital	10 (50)				
Wł	at are the most impactful intervention techniques you used in your clinic for patients with prediabetes?					
	Medication and healthy diet plan	1 (5)				
	Medication, healthy diet plan, and physical exercise plan	12 (60)				
	Healthy diet plan and physical exercise plan	7 (35)				
Do you or any of your team members communicate with patients remotely? If so, by what means?						
	No	7 (35)				
	Yes	13 (65)				
	Phone call	8 (62)				
	Text messages	4 (31)				
	Emails	1 (8)				
He	alth care provider perceptions of mobile health technologies					
	No, I do not believe it can help them	0 (0)				
	Not sure if it can help them	3 (15)				
	Yes, I believe it can help them	17 (85)				
Ba	rriers or challenges facing the current interventions for prediabetic patients to prevent diabetes					
	Adherence to healthy diet and physical activity plans	10 (50)				
	Lack of awareness	8 (40)				
	Loss of follow-up	7 (35)				
	Lack of motivation	5 (25)				
	Cultural barriers	4 (20)				

Prediabetic Patient Questionnaire

A total of 48 participants responded to the questionnaire (Table 3). Two-thirds of participants were males (32/48, 67%). One-half of them were aged 50 years or above (24/48) and 46% (22/48) had undergraduate educational level. One-third (16/48) of respondents were diagnosed with prediabetes more than five

years ago. The majority (37/48, 77%) of patients who participated in this questionnaire were from KKUH.

The majority (21/48, 44%) of participants were engaged with lifestyle change programs including a healthy diet plan and physical activity plan as an intervention strategy for diabetes. Meanwhile, the less frequent intervention strategy was the combined one of medication, healthy diet, and physical activity plans (7/48, 15%).

XSL•FO RenderX

The majority (35/48, 75%) of participants reported that the most frequent challenges and barriers leading prediabetic patients to discontinue the current intervention were the commitment to physical activity plan. This is followed by commitment to healthy dietary plan (25/48, 52%), commitment to constantly following up in clinic (12/48, 25%), and lack of self-motivation (11/48, 23%). However, the less frequent challenge and the barrier was the commitment to take medication on time (7/48, 15%).

The results also revealed that most (31/48, 65%) respondents stated that they did not use mHealth apps to manage their status of health. On the other hand, 15% (17/48) of respondents stated they use mHealth apps either usually or sometimes to manage their current status of health, and some of them mentioned some apps including iHealth, VitaDock, Fitbit, Nike Run, Samsung Health, and Apple Health and others mentioned they use apps for Zumba training for fitness and weight loss. Most participants reported that they used websites using search engines (30/48, 63%) while social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter (20/48, 42%), and YouTube (23/48, 48%) had been used sometimes. The majority (36/48, 75%) of respondents exhibited their willingness and readiness to use mHealth apps while 25% (12/48) of them stated that they will not use such apps (Table 3).

Moreover, the results indicate that the most downside and difficulty of using such mHealth apps was navigating the features in mHealth apps whereby it scored a mean of 2.02 (SD 1.7) points. The mean score of app language difficulty was 1.88 (SD 2.0) points, 1.81 (SD 1.6) points for self-motivation to use the mHealth apps, 1.77 (SD 1.7) points for understanding the goal of mHealth apps, and 1.71 (SD 1.7) points for learning how to use these apps (Table 4). Nevertheless, these average scores were less than the average score of 2.5 points (ie, 15/6) indicating that these difficulties were mild. The results also revealed that there were no statistically significant differences in average scores of these difficulties by gender, age, and educational levels. Males were more likely to have difficulty in self-motivation than female counterparts (P < .05). However, the only differences found to be statistically significant were self-motivation by gender (P < .05) and app language by educational levels (P<.05). That is, the average score of self-motivation of males was higher than that for female counterparts. Moreover, the average score of language difficulty for participants with secondary or lower education was higher than those with undergraduate and postgraduate educational levels (Table 5).



 Table 3. Descriptive statistics of the sample (n=48).

Item characteristics	Value, n (%)
Gender	
Male	32 (67)
Female	16 (33)
Age group (years)	
20-29	2 (4)
30-39	9 (19)
40-49	13 (27)
50 and above	24 (50)
Educational levels	
Secondary or lower	12 (25)
Undergraduate	22 (46)
Postgraduate	14 (29)
History of diagnosis	
Less than 1 year	11 (23)
1-2 years	9 (19)
2-3 year	9 (19)
3-5 years	3 (6)
More than 5 years	16 (33)
Hospital	
King Khalid University Hospital	37 (77)
King Abdulaziz University Hospital	11 (23)
Intervention strategy for prediabetes	
Only medication	10 (21)
Medication + healthy diet plan	10 (21)
Medication + healthy diet plan + physical activity plan	7 (15)
Healthy diet plan + physical activity plan	21 (44)
Challenges and barriers	
Commitment to physical activity plan	35 (73)
Commitment to a healthy dietary plan	25 (52)
Commitment to constantly following up in the clinic	12 (25)
Lack of self-motivation	11 (23)
Commitment to take medication on time	7 (15)
Frequent use of mHealth Apps	
Always	7 (15)
Sometimes	10 (21)
No	31 (65)
Frequent use of platforms	
Websites using the search engine	
Always	30 (63)
Sometimes	12 (25)
Never	6 (13)
Social media (ie, Twitter, Facebook, WhatsApp, telegram)	

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968

XSL•FO RenderX

Alshehri & Alshaikh

Item characteristics	Value, n (%)
Always	14 (29)
Sometimes	20 (42)
Never	14 (29)
YouTube	
Always	11 (23)
Sometimes	23 (48)
Never	14 (29)
Readiness to use mHealth app among prediabetic patients	
Yes	36 (75)
No	0 (0)
Maybe	12 (25)

Table 4. Downside and difficulty faced by participants while using mHealth apps.

Type of difficulties	Mean (SD)
App language (eg, app does not support the Arabic language)	1.88 (2.0)
Learning how to use the mHealth app	1.71 (1.6)
Understand the goal of the mHealth app	1.77 (1.7)
Navigating the features in the mHealth app	2.02 (1.7)
Self-motivation to use mHealth app	1.81 (1.6)

 Table 5. Mean scores of each difficulty by gender, age groups, and educational levels.

Ty	pe of difficulties	App language	App learning	App understanding	App navigation	Self-motivation
Gender						
	Male	2.09 (1.9)	2.0 (1.6)	2.09 (1.7)	2.25 (1.6)	2.16 (1.6) ^a
	Female	1.44 (2.4)	1.13 (1.4)	1.13 (1.5)	1.56 (1.7)	1.13 (1.2)
Age groups						
	20-29	0.0 (0)	2.0 (1.4)	1.50 (0.7)	3.50 (2.1)	2.50 (2.1)
	30-39	3.22 (2.0)	1.89 (1.4)	2.11 (1.6)	2.22 (1.5)	2.56 (1.3)
	40-49	1.92 (1.9)	1.69 (1.7)	1.62 (1.8)	1.62 (1.3)	1.38 (1.6)
	50 years and above	1.5 (1.9)	1.63 (1.7)	1.75 (1.8)	2.04 (1.9)	1.71 (1.6)
Educational levels						
	Secondary or lower	3.33 ^a (1.9)	2.42 (1.7)	2.33 (1.7)	2.08 (1.7)	1.83 (1.4)
	Undergraduate	1.41 (1.7)	1.32 (1.4)	1.32 (1.6)	1.82 (1.9)	1.59 (1.8)
	Postgraduate	1.36 (1.8)	1.71 (1.7)	2.00 (1.8)	2.29 (1.4)	2.14 (1.4)

^aSignificant at 5% level of significance.

Prediabetic Patient Evaluation of the Prototype User Interfaces

Table 6 presents the average score given for each feature along with their corresponding lifestyle change program components and the 5 smartphone behavioral intervention strategies by Klansja and Pratt as well as the key components of lifestyle change program in preventing type 2 diabetes [9,22]. The findings indicate that the mean score of tracking health

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968

RenderX

information items (ie, self-monitoring of diet, physical activity, and weight component) ranged from 3.88 (SD 0.7) to 4.54 (SD 1.4) points. Furthermore, respondents scored average scores of 4.15 (SD 0.9) and 4.37 (SD 0.9) for involving health teams in terms of the phone call and text messages features, respectively. The mean scores of accessibility of health information (ie, individual skills development and problem solving) were 4.15 (SD 1.0) for pop-up quizzes and 4.37 (SD 0.8) for frequently asked questions about the prevention of diabetes. The

entertainment utility (ie, motivation, collecting points, and getting badges when a certain goal was achieved in such features) had mean scores ranged from 3.92 to 4.15 (SD 1). That is, features like getting points and badges when completing daily steps and walking time needed weekly received an average score of 4.15 (SD 1.0) points, getting points and badges when achieving 5% loss of body weight had a mean score of 4.13 (SD 1.0) points, and getting points and badges by answering the

pop-up quizzes correctly had an average score of 3.92 (SD 1.0) points. However, the social communication features had the lowest scores reported by respondents for both peer support (mean 3.58 [SD 1.0]) and group support (mean 3.62 [SD 1.0]). Generally speaking, the prediabetic patients response scores of these features were moderate and indicate the need for these features to be available in mHealth apps.

Table 6. Average scores of each feature along with their correspondents lifestyle change program components and the 5 smartphone behavioral intervention strategies by Klansja and Pratt [9,22].

Feature and component	Value, mean (SD)			
Tracking health information (self-monitoring of diet, physical activity, and weight)				
Step count	4.54 (0.7)			
Blood glucose calculator	3.88 (1.4)			
List of daily healthy diet options	4.54 (0.7)			
Notifications	4.37 (0.9)			
Weight and body mass management	4.46 (0.9)			
Involving health team				
Phone call communication	4.15 (0.9)			
Text messages communication	4.37 (0.9)			
Accessibility of health information (individual skills development and problem solving)				
Pop-up quizzes	4.15 (1.0)			
Frequent asked questions about the prevention of diabetes	4.37 (0.8)			
Using entertainment (motivation; collecting points and getting badges when a certain goal was achieved in	n the following features)			
Weight and body mass management (when achieving 5% body weight loss)	4.13 (1.0)			
Step count (completing daily steps & walking time needed weekly)	4.15 (1.0)			
Pop-up quizzes (when correctly answering the quizzes)	3.92 (1.0)			
Leveraging social media				
Group support	3.58 (1.0)			
Peer support	3.62 (1.0)			

The results also indicate that there were no statistically significant differences in mean scores of these proposed features by gender, age groups, and educational levels (P<.05) (Tables

7, 8, and 9). That is, participants have the same perceptions toward these features regardless of their gender, age, and educational levels.



 Table 7. Average scores of each feature by gender.

Feature and component	Male, mean (SD)	Female, mean (SD)	P value	
Tracking health information (self-monitoring of diet, physical activity, and weight)				
Step count	4.55 (0.6)	4.53 (0.8)	.95	
Blood glucose calculator	3.59 (1.4)	4.10 (1.3)	.18	
List of daily healthy diet options	4.50 (0.6)	4.57 (0.7)	.73	
Notifications	4.27 (0.9)	4.23 (0.9)	.54	
Weight and body mass management	4.64 (0.7)	4.33 (1.0)	.24	
Involving health team				
Phone call communication	4.18 (1.0)	4.13 (0.9)	.06	
Text messages communication	4.41 (1.0)	4.33 (0.9)	.08	
Pop ups quizzes	4.32 (0.8)	4.03 (1.0)	.31	
Accessibility of health information (individual skills development and problem solving)				
Frequent asked questions about the prevention of diabetes	4.59 (0.7)	4.20 (0.9)	.10	
Using entertainment (motivation; collecting points and getting badges when certain goal was achieved in the following features)				
Weight and body mass management (when achieving 5% body weight loss)	4.41 (0.9)	3.93 (1.0)	.10	
Steps count (completing daily steps & walking time needed weekly)	4.27 (0.8)	4.07 (1.1)	.21	
Pop-up quizzes (when correctly answering the quizzes)	4.09 (1.0)	3.80 (1.1)	.29	
Leveraging social media				
Group support	3.59 (1.0)	3.57 (1.1)	.94	
Peer support	3.77 (1.0)	3.50 (1.1)	.37	

Table 8. Average scores of each feature by age group.

Feature, component, and age group (years)	Value, mean (SD)	P value		
Tracking health information (Self-monitoring of diet, physical activity, and weight)				
Step count		.12		
20-29	5.00 (0.0)	a		
30-39	4.83 (0.4)	_		
40-49	4.80 (0.4)	—		
50 and above	4.36 (0.8)	_		
Blood glucose calculator		.75		
20-29	3.67 (2.3)	—		
30-39	3.33 (1.9)	—		
40-49	4.00 (1.4)	—		
50 and above	3.97 (1.1)	—		
List of daily healthy diet options		.23		
20-29	4.67 (0.6)	—		
30-39	4.83 (0.4)	—		
40-49	4.80 (0.4)	—		
50 and above	4.39 (0.7)	—		
Notifications		.09		
20-29	5.00 (0.0)	—		
30-39	4.83 (0.4)	—		
40-49	4.70 (0.7)	—		
50 and above	4.12 (1.0)	—		
Weight and body mass management		.07		
20-29	5.00 (0.0)	—		
30-39	5.00 (0.0)	—		
40-49	4.80 (0.6)	—		
50 and above	4.21 (1.0)	—		
Involving health team				
Phone call communication		.78		
20-29	4.67 (0.6)	—		
30-39	4.17 (0.7)	—		
40-49	4.00 (1.2)	—		
50 and above	4.15 (0.9)	—		
Text messages communication		.16		
20-29	5.00 (0.0)	—		
30-39	5.00 (0.0)	—		
40-49	4.30 (0.9)	—		
50 and above	4.21 (0.9)	—		
Accessibility of health information (individual skills development and problem solving)				
Pop-up quizzes		.39		
20-29	4.00 (1.0)	—		
30-39	4.67 (0.5)	_		
40-49	4.40 (0.7)	_		

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Form Res 2021 | vol. 5 | iss. 7 |e22968 | p.180 (page number not for citation purposes)
Feature, component, and age group (years)	Value, mean (SD)	P value
50 and above	4.00 (1.1)	
Frequent asked questions about the prevention of diabetes		.08
20-29	5.00 (0.0)	_
30-39	4.83 (0.4)	—
40-49	3.90 (1.1)	_
50 and above	4.36 (0.8)	—
Using entertainment (motivation; collecting points and getting badges when a certain go	al was achieved in the following f	eatures)
Weight and body mass management (when achieving 5% body weight loss)		.06
20-29	5.00 (0.0)	—
30-39	4.83 (0.4)	—
40-49	4.40 (0.9)	—
50 and above	3.85 (1.0)	_
Step count (completing daily steps & walking time needed weekly)		.46
20-29	4.00 (1.0)	—
30-39	4.50 (0.8)	—
40-49	4.50 (0.7)	_
50 and above	4.00 (1.1)	_
Pop-up quizzes (when correctly answering the quizzes)		.53
20-29	3.67 (1.2)	—
30-39	4.33 (0.8)	—
40-49	4.20 (0.9)	—
50 and above	3.79 (1.1)	—
Leveraging social media		
Group support		.22
20-29	4.00 (1.0)	—
30-39	4.33 (0.5)	—
40-49	3.40 (1.2)	—
50 and above	3.45 (1.0)	—
Peer support		.55
20-29	3.67 (1.2)	—
30-39	4.17 (0.4)	—
40-49	3.70 (1.2)	—
50 and above	3.48 (1.1)	—

^aNot applicable.



Table 9. Average scores of each feature by educational levels.

Feature, component, and education level	Value, mean (SD)	P value
Tracking health information (Self-monitoring of diet, physical activity, and weight)		
Step count		.51
Secondary or lower	4.33 (0.9)	a
Undergraduate	4.59 (0.7)	_
Postgraduate	4.64 (0.5)	
Blood glucose calculator		.21
Secondary or lower	4.25 (1.0)	—
Undergraduate	3.50 (1.5)	—
Postgraduate	4.36 (1.1)	—
List of daily healthy diet options		.24
Secondary or lower	4.75 (0.6)	—
Undergraduate	4.36 (0.7)	—
Postgraduate	4.64 (0.6)	—
Notifications		.68
Secondary or lower	4.25 (1.2)	—
Undergraduate	4.41 (0.8)	—
Postgraduate	4.57 (0.9)	—
Weight and body mass management		.59
Secondary or lower	4.50 (0.8)	—
Undergraduate	4.32 (1.1)	—
Postgraduate	4.64 (0.6)	—
Involving health team		
Phone call communication		.48
Secondary or lower	4.08 (1.0)	—
Undergraduate	4.09 (0.9)	
Postgraduate	4.43 (0.8)	
Text messages communication		.65
Secondary or lower	4.25 (1.1)	—
Undergraduate	4.45 (0.9)	—
Postgraduate	4.57 (0.8)	
Accessibility of health information (individual skills development and problem solving)		
Pop-up quizzes		.74
Secondary or lower	4.25 (1.1)	—
Undergraduate	4.00 (1.0)	—
Postgraduate	4.21 (0.9)	—
Frequent asked questions about the prevention of diabetes		.47
Secondary or lower	4.17 (1.0)	—
Undergraduate	4.50 (0.7)	—
Postgraduate	4.21 (0.9)	—
Using entertainment (motivation; collecting points and getting badges when certain goal wa	s achieved in the following fea	tures)
Weight and body mass management (when achieving 5% body weight loss)		.51
Secondary or lower	4.17 (1.1)	_

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968

XSL•FO RenderX

Feature, component, and education level	Value, mean (SD)	P value
Undergraduate	3.95 (1.1)	
Postgraduate	4.36 (0.7)	—
Steps count (completing daily steps & walking time needed weekly)		.08
Secondary or lower	4.08 (1.4)	—
Undergraduate	3.86 (0.9)	—
Postgraduate	4.64 (0.6)	_
Pop-up quizzes (when correctly answering the quizzes)		.12
Secondary or lower	4.08 (1.3)	—
Undergraduate	3.59 (0.9)	—
Postgraduate	4.29 (0.9)	—
Leveraging social media		
Group support		.38
Secondary or lower	3.58 (1.2)	—
Undergraduate	3.36 (0.9)	—
Postgraduate	3.86 (1.0)	—
Peer support		.07
Secondary or lower	3.42 (1.3)	—
Undergraduate	3.36 (0.9)	—
Postgraduate	4.21 (0.9)	—

^aNot applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study is an initial development of an mHealth app for self-management of prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals in Saudi Arabia using a theoretically driven approach based on the CeHRes roadmap [22,23]. The main objective of this study was to determine the most important features that should be available in successful mHealth apps for self-management of prediabetes based on the CeHRes roadmap guided by the Klansja and Pratt framework and components of the lifestyle change program by Kirley and Sachdev [9,22], which is the first attempt to the best of the authors' knowledge. Accordingly, this study builds on the perceptions of both health care providers and prediabetic patients toward the use of mHealth apps for self-management of prediabetes. From the health care provider point of view, the findings indicate that the most powerful intervention procedure for prediabetes is a combination of medication with both healthy diet and physical exercise plans. From the prediabetic patient point of view, the most powerful intervention procedure for prediabetes is a combination of both healthy diet and physical exercise plans, confirmed with the Diabetes Prevention Program goals [47]. Some studies indicated that physical activity is a key tool for the prevention and management of DM [48,49].

The majority of health care providers, as part of their management of prediabetic patients, reported that they communicated with patients via either a phone call or text messages. This is confirmed with prediabetic patients whereby

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968
```

RenderX

most of them reported they did not use such mHealth apps while a few reported using social media platforms and websites. Communicating with patients remotely using text messaging was a common approach in delivering the curriculum of various diabetes prevention programs [47]. A recent study indicated that diabetes-related apps accounted for about 16% of the total number of available Health apps [50]. Furthermore, these diabetes-related apps differed in their functions such as tracking blood glucose measurements, physical activity, weight tracking, sharing data with clinicians or peers, social support and messaging, and nutrition database and carbohydrate tracking [51]. Veazie et al [21] indicated that even though many apps for diabetes self-management are available for commercial purposes, their study demonstrated that only 11 apps have had an impact on patient health.

In Saudi Arabia, evidence showed that the major risk factors for developing type 2 diabetes were obesity, lack of physical activity, unhealthy diet, smoking, and aging in addition to more complex factors such as lack of education, poor social support, and unhealthy environment [52]. Health education counseling by physicians was considered one of the most powerful practices in endorsing lifestyle modification such as healthy diet and physical activity as an important factor for weight management control and reduce the risk of developing diabetes [53,54]. Lifestyle modification such as increasing physical activity has the potential to not only raise glycemic control but also boost a patient's insulin sensitivity and repair some of the damage caused by diabetes-associated complications, such as impaired cardiovascular health, one of the most common complications

[55]. Lifestyle modification is also a cornerstone of any prediabetes intervention management. Evidence showed that individuals with prediabetes involved in prediabetes intervention programs have a 40% to 70% relative risk reduction of diabetes [56].

Concerning the perceived challenges and barriers of using mHealth apps in the context of prediabetes, the results revealed that the most significant challenge and barriers faced by patients reported by health care providers were the lack of adherence to a healthy diet and physical activity plans, the lack of awareness, loss of follow-up, lack of motivation, and cultural barriers facing patients to adhere to medical recommendations. On the other hand, prediabetic patients reported that the most common challenges and barriers that may lead them to discontinue the current intervention were the commitment to physical activity plan, commitment to a healthy dietary plan, commitment to constantly following up in the clinic, and lack of self-motivation. However, the commitment to take medication on time received less attention. Prediabetic patients who indicated that they have used such mHealth apps had faced difficulty in navigating the features in apps because of language barriers, self-motivation, understanding the goal, and learning how to use these apps but the levels of these difficulties were mild. The self-motivation difficulty of males was higher than their female counterparts. Moreover, prediabetic patients with lower educational levels faced app language difficulty. A recent study showed that general barriers to use of mHealth apps were evident, including financial, technical, and temporal barriers [35]. The results

Figure 2. Sample of user interfaces in the proposed prototype.

indicated that both health care providers and prediabetic patients believed that mHealth intervention would help them in self-management and almost all prediabetic patients exhibited their intention to use mHealth apps.

From contextual inquiry and value specification phases, it seems that patients' insights regarding the use, barriers to use, and preferred mHealth features are essential in understanding the role and usefulness of mobile health technology [57]. Therefore, we have elicited key intervention elements that were deemed important by both health care providers and prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals. Health care provider values and insights about the most impactful intervention strategies currently used in the practice have shaped the overall idea of the proposed design features of our mHealth app. Challenges and barriers as well as patient insights about their current use of well-being and health apps for the sake of their current health condition have helped us to define the key features of the proposed mHealth app. Given that the management of chronic diseases such as prediabetes has mostly relied on patient compliance to recommendations that occur outside the health care setting, the constant use of mHealth still represents a major challenge [58]. This study builds on Klansja and Pratt's framework of 5 behavioral intervention strategies enabled by smartphones and the key components of lifestyle change programs in preventing type 2 diabetes [9,22]. Consequently, a low fidelity prototype was developed to present the proposed mHealth features for prediabetes self-management as illustrated in Figure 2.





The prototype phase showed that all patients who participated in this study indicated a significant need for the proposed features of the mHealth app regardless of their gender, age, and educational levels. In our study, we reviewed several mHealth apps recognized by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention for the sake of realizing the current status of diabetes prevention-related mHealth apps. We found that these apps were designed to encompass most of the features found in the well-being and health apps used by patients who participated in this study such as Fitbit, Samsung Health, iHealth, Apple Health, and VitaDock. Features like food, weight, and BMI tracking and blood glucose monitoring were very common. For example, Noom and Omada are well-known apps whose users

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968
```

RenderX

have shown significant improvements in terms of weight loss which can be an excellent proxy for the risk of developing type 2 diabetes in the future [59,60]. These apps provide self-monitoring tools such as smart scales to manage weight and step count systems to track physical activity. However, these apps provide what may be considered the most important components of prediabetes intervention, personalized health coaching and group support, which are usually provided through text messaging [9]. A systematic review of all currently available diabetes apps for the operating systems iOS and Android indicated that more than one-half of well-being and health apps for DM provide one function, the language of the dominant app was English, and most respondents go beyond the paid mobile

apps. Additionally, the number of functions in these apps was conversely correlated with usability [61]. Another study showed a significant improvement in monitoring glucose levels among adults with type 1 diabetes [62].

The prototype user interface proposed in this study showed that all 5 components of the lifestyle change program by Kirley and Sachdev, guided by Klansja and Pratt framework [9,22], are essential to make the mHealth app as usable as possible. Consequently, this study suggested that the constituent elements of a successful mHealth intervention for prediabetic patients should encompass a key features such as evidence-based contents of self-monitoring of diet, physical activity, and weight management features. Furthermore, the dietary options should consider alternatives in some cultural dishes with foods that are rich in carbohydrates that prediabetics should avoid. Additionally, a didactic curriculum of health education tailored to patient characteristics should be accompanied by physical activity and weight management features [63]. This can be delivered either by predefined notifications or text messaging as this was the most preferred means of coaching by both health care providers and prediabetic patients. To avoid patients opting out of the prediabetes management intervention and to ensure regular use of the proposed mHealth app, motivation elements should accompany the key features proposed. The motivation elements will help persuade patients to achieve recommended goals and constantly update their profile with achievements to allow more recommendations to be suggested. The proposed mHealth app should promote self-knowledge by facilitating access to important health information. This can be either in an interactive form such as quizzes that repeatedly pop up or static such as a list of frequently asked questions. Finally, the language of the contents must not be a barrier to the use of the mHealth intervention. Therefore, the proposed mHealth app should support the Arabic language in addition to English since the majority of Saudi Arabia's citizens are Arabic native speakers.

Limitations

Limitations of this study may include the cross-sectional design, sample size, time constraint, and confined group of patients. Furthermore, the study was done in a single round only for each phase. This study could be used as a baseline for future adoption of the app in the clinical practice context. Future work can then build on these findings and conduct as many iterative processes as needed to verify the findings. Future research also may consider qualitative methods such as interviews and focus groups approach to explore further insights about the current situation of the prediabetes management intervention. Another potential limitation is the low response rate of patients, which may not represent the whole population of prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals; this might be attributed to the short time of the study. Therefore, future work should overcome this issue in terms of encouraging prediabetic patients to participate in the study and allow for a sufficient period to conduct the study to ensure generalization.

Conclusion

This study provided real-world insights into the development of mHealth apps for diabetes prevention by involving both health care providers and prediabetic patients in KSUMC hospitals. The development of the proposed mHealth app for prediabetes using the CeHRes guidelines provided a careful understanding of its content and design. Prediabetic patients who participated in this study exhibited their willingness to use the proposed mHealth app for self-management. Therefore, the proposed app, which comprises all necessary features, could contribute to a significant improvement of their self-management and changes in their lifestyle. The results of this study could be used as a baseline to further improve the adoption of the mHealth app for self-management of prediabetic patients.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all participants who took part in this study. The authors also would like to express their special thanks to Mervat Alrasan, the head of the information technology department at the King Abdulaziz University Hospital, for her support and cooperation during the data collection stage of this study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Healthcare provider questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 113 KB - formative v5i7e22968 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Patient questionnaire (Arabic version). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 147 KB - formative_v5i7e22968_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Evaluation form of the proposed mHealth features. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 2379 KB - formative_v5i7e22968_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Ethical approval letter. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1121 KB - formative_v5i7e22968_app4.pdf]

References

- Shaw J, Sicree R, Zimmet P. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010 Jan;87(1):4-14. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2009.10.007</u>] [Medline: <u>19896746</u>]
- Shariful Islam SM, Lechner A, Ferrari U, Froeschl G, Niessen LW, Seissler J, et al. Social and economic impact of diabetics in Bangladesh: protocol for a case-control study. BMC Public Health 2013 Dec 21;13(1):1217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1217] [Medline: 24359558]
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, IDF Diabetes Atlas Committee. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9 edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2019 Nov;157:107843. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843</u>] [Medline: <u>31518657</u>]
- 4. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th Edition. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2020.
- Al Dawish M, Robert A, Braham R, Al Hayek A, Al Saeed A, Ahmed R, et al. Diabetes mellitus in Saudi Arabia: a review of the recent literature. Curr Diabetes Rev 2016 Oct 26;12(4):359-368. [doi: <u>10.2174/1573399811666150724095130</u>] [Medline: <u>26206092</u>]
- 6. American Dibetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. 2015. URL: <u>https://care.diabetesjournals.org/</u> <u>content/37/Supplement_1/S81</u> [accessed 2021-07-08]
- 7. Beck J, Greenwood DA, Blanton L, Bollinger ST, Butcher MK, Condon JE, et al. 2017 National standards for diabetes self-management education and support. Diabetes Educ 2017 Jul 28;43(5):449-464. [doi: 10.1177/0145721717722968]
- Vähäsarja K, Salmela S, Villberg J, Rintala P, Vanhala M, Saaristo T, et al. Perceived sufficiency of physical activity levels among adults at high risk of type 2 diabetes: the FIN-D2D study. Int J Behav Med 2014 Feb;21(1):99-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12529-012-9285-7] [Medline: 23224617]
- 9. Kirley K, Sachdev N. Digital health-supported lifestyle change programs to prevent type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Spectr 2018 Nov 15;31(4):303-309 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/ds18-0019] [Medline: 30510384]
- 10. Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) Research Group. The Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP): description of lifestyle intervention. Diabetes Care 2002 Dec 01;25(12):2165-2171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.12.2165] [Medline: 12453955]
- 11. Nacinovich M. Defining mHealth. J Commun Healthc 2011;4(1):1-3. [doi: 10.1179/175380611X12950033990296;]
- 12. Becker S, Miron-Shatz T, Schumacher N, Krocza J, Diamantidis C, Albrecht U. mHealth 2.0: experiences, possibilities, and perspectives. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 May 16;2(2):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3328] [Medline: 25099752]
- Dennison L, Morrison L, Conway G, Yardley L. Opportunities and challenges for smartphone applications in supporting health behavior change: qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 18;15(4):e86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2583] [Medline: 23598614]
- 14. DiFilippo KN, Huang W, Andrade JE, Chapman-Novakofski KM. The use of mobile apps to improve nutrition outcomes: a systematic literature review. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Feb 12;21(5):243-253. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633x15572203</u>]
- 15. Fanning J, Mullen SP, McAuley E. Increasing physical activity with mobile devices: a meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2012 Nov 21;14(6):e161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2171] [Medline: 23171838]
- Ben-Zeev D, Kaiser SM, Brenner CJ, Begale M, Duffecy J, Mohr DC. Development and usability testing of FOCUS: a smartphone system for self-management of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013 Dec;36(4):289-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/prj0000019] [Medline: 24015913]
- 17. Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The impact of mHealth interventions: systematic review of systematic reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 17;6(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8873] [Medline: 29343463]
- Kumar S, Nilsen WJ, Abernethy A, Atienza A, Patrick K, Pavel M, et al. Mobile health technology evaluation: the mHealth evidence workshop. Am J Prev Med 2013 Aug;45(2):228-236 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.03.017] [Medline: 23867031]
- 19. Brzan PP, Rotman E, Pajnkihar M, Klanjsek P. Mobile applications for control and self management of diabetes: a systematic review. J Med Syst 2016 Sep 13;40(9):210. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-016-0564-8] [Medline: 27520615]
- Holmen H, Wahl AK, Cvancarova Småstuen M, Ribu L. Tailored communication within mobile apps for diabetes self-management: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 23;19(6):e227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7045] [Medline: 28645890]
- 21. Veazie S, Winchell K. Mobile applications for self-management of diabetes. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality 2018 May:1. [Medline: <u>30088878</u>]
- 22. Klasnja P, Pratt W. Healthcare in the pocket: mapping the space of mobile-phone health interventions. J Biomed Inform 2012 Feb;45(1):184-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2011.08.017] [Medline: 21925288]

- van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 05;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- 24. Cajita M, Hodgson N, Lam K, Yoo S, Han H. Facilitators of barriers to mHealth adoption in older adults with heart failure. Comput Informat Nurs 2018;36(8):376. [doi: 10.1097/cin.00000000000442]
- 25. Cho J, Quinlan MM, Park D, Noh G. Determinants of adoption of smartphone health apps among college students. Am J Hlth Behav 2014 Nov 01;38(6):860-870. [doi: <u>10.5993/ajhb.38.6.8</u>]
- 26. Deng Z. Understanding public users' adoption of mobile health service. Int J Mobile Commun 2013;11(4):351-373. [doi: 10.1504/ijmc.2013.055748]
- 27. Hung M, Jen W. The adoption of mobile health management services: an empirical study. J Med Syst 2012 Jun 29;36(3):1381-1388. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-010-9600-2] [Medline: 20878452]
- Rönnby S, Lundberg O, Fagher K, Jacobsson J, Tillander B, Gauffin H, et al. mHealth self-report monitoring in competitive middle- and long-distance runners: qualitative study of long-term use intentions using the technology acceptance model. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Aug 13;6(8):e10270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10270] [Medline: 30104183]
- 29. Rai A, Chen L, Pye J, Baird A. Understanding determinants of consumer mobile health usage intentions, assimilation, and channel preferences. J Med Internet Res 2013 Aug 02;15(8):e149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2635] [Medline: 23912839]
- 30. Hoque R, Sorwar G. Understanding factors influencing the adoption of mHealth by the elderly: an extension of the UTAUT model. Int J Med Inform 2017 May;101:75-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.002] [Medline: 28347450]
- 31. Yoganathan D, Kajanan S. What drives fitness apps usage? An empirical evaluation. In: Bergvall-Kåreborn B, Nielsen PA, editors. Creating Value for All Through IT: IFIP WG 8.6 International Conference on Transfer and Diffusion of IT. Berlin: Springer; 2014.
- 32. Yuan S, Ma W, Kanthawala S, Peng W. Keep using my health apps: discover users' perception of health and fitness apps with the UTAUT2 model. Telemed J E Health 2015 Sep;21(9):735-741. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0148] [Medline: 25919238]
- 33. Bhattacherjee A. Understanding information systems continuance: an expectation-confirmation model. MIS Quarterly 2001 Sep;25(3):351. [doi: <u>10.2307/3250921</u>]
- 34. Deng Z. Understanding public users' adoption of mobile health service. Int J Mobile Commun 2013;11(4):351-373. [doi: 10.1504/ijmc.2013.055748]
- 35. Rossmann C, Riesmeyer C, Brew-Sam N, Karnowski V, Joeckel S, Chib A, et al. Appropriation of mobile health for diabetes self-management: lessons from two qualitative studies. JMIR Diabetes 2019 Mar 29;4(1):e10271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10271] [Medline: 30924786]
- 36. Michie S, Wood CE, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis JJ, Hardeman W. Behaviour change techniques: the development and evaluation of a taxonomic method for reporting and describing behaviour change interventions (a suite of five studies involving consensus methods, randomised controlled trials and analysis of qualitative data). Health Technol Assess 2015 Nov;19(99):1-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3310/hta19990] [Medline: 26616119]
- 37. Hood KK, Hilliard M, Piatt G, Ievers-Landis CE. Effective strategies for encouraging behavior change in people with diabetes. Diabetes Manag (London, England) 2015 Nov;5(6):499-510. [doi: 10.2217/dmt.15.43]
- 38. Alanzi T. mHealth for diabetes self-management in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: barriers and solutions. J Multidiscip Healthc 2018 Oct;11:535-546. [doi: <u>10.2147/jmdh.s174198</u>]
- 39. Alharbi NS, Alotaibi M, De Lusignan S. An analysis of health policies designed to control and prevent diabetes in Saudi Arabia. Glob J Heal Sci 2016 Mar 31;8(11):233. [doi: <u>10.5539/gjhs.v8n11p233</u>]
- 40. Tieman JJ, Morgan DD, Swetenham K, To THM, Currow DC. Designing clinically valuable telehealth resources: processes to develop a community-based palliative care prototype. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 Sep 04;3(3):e41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3266] [Medline: 25189279]
- 41. Reblin M, Wu Y, Pok J, Kane L, Colman H, Cohen A, et al. Development of the electronic social network assessment program using the center for eHealth and wellbeing research roadmap. JMIR Hum Factors 2017 Aug 30;4(3):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.7845] [Medline: 28855149]
- 42. Span M, Smits C, Jukema J, Groen-van de Ven L, Janssen R, Vernooij-Dassen M, et al. An interactive web tool for facilitating shared decision-making in dementia-care networks: a field study. Front Aging Neurosci 2015 Jul 07;7:128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00128] [Medline: 26217221]
- 43. Palokangas M. CeHRes Roadmap Utilization in Development of eHealth Technology Solutions: A Scoping Review [Thesis]. Oulu: University of Oulu; 2017.
- 44. Phases of the CeHRes roadmap. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.utwente.nl/en/bms/ehealth/cehres-roadmap-toolkit/cehres-phases/</u> [accessed 2019-11-13]
- 45. iHealth MyVitals on the AppStore. URL: <u>https://www.utwente.nl/en/bms/ehealth/cehres-roadmap-toolkit/cehres-phases/value-specification/</u> [accessed 2019-11-25]
- 46. Design. EHealth University of Twente. URL: <u>https://www.utwente.nl/en/bms/ehealth/cehres-roadmap-toolkit/cehres-phases/</u> <u>design/</u> [accessed 2019-11-13]

- 47. Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) Research Group. The Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP): description of lifestyle intervention. Diabetes Care 2002 Dec 01;25(12):2165-2171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.12.2165] [Medline: 12453955]
- 48. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall B, Regensteiner JG, Blissmer BJ, Rubin RR, American College of Sports Medicine, American Diabetes Association. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement. Diabetes Care 2010 Dec 29;33(12):e147-e167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-9990] [Medline: 21115758]
- Balducci S, Iacobellis G, Parisi L, Di Biase N, Calandriello E, Leonetti F, et al. Exercise training can modify the natural history of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. J Diabetes Complications 2006 Jul;20(4):216-223. [doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2005.07.005] [Medline: 16798472]
- 50. Wayne N, Perez DF, Kaplan DM, Ritvo P. Health coaching reduces HbA1c in type 2 diabetic patients from a lower-socioeconomic status community: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 05;17(10):e224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4871] [Medline: 26441467]
- 51. Ristau RA, Yang J, White JR. Evaluation and evolution of diabetes mobile applications: key factors for health care professionals seeking to guide patients. Diabetes Spectrum 2013 Nov 15;26(4):211-215. [doi: <u>10.2337/diaspect.26.4.211</u>]
- 52. Alneami YM, Coleman CL. Risk factors for and barriers to control type-2 diabetes among Saudi population. Glob J Health Sci 2016 Sep 01;8(9):54089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v8n9p10] [Medline: 27157156]
- 53. American Heart Association Recommendations for Physical Activity in Adults. URL: <u>https://www.heart.org/en/healthy-living/fitness/fitness-basics/aha-recs-for-physical-activity-in-adults</u> [accessed 2021-07-08]
- 54. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/global-PA-recs-2010.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-07-08]
- 55. Thent ZC, Das S, Henry LJ. Role of exercise in the management of diabetes mellitus: the global scenario. PLoS One 2013 Nov 13;8(11):e80436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080436] [Medline: 24236181]
- 56. Tabák AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M. Prediabetes: a high-risk state for diabetes development. The Lancet 2012 Jun;379(9833):2279-2290. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60283-9]
- 57. Huckvale K, Car J. Implementation of mobile health tools. JAMA 2014 Apr 09;311(14):1447-1448. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.1106] [Medline: 24715083]
- 58. Noah B, Keller MS, Mosadeghi S, Stein L, Johl S, Delshad S, et al. Erratum: author correction: impact of remote patient monitoring on clinical outcomes: an updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. NPJ Digit Med 2018 Apr 9;1(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0027-3] [Medline: 31305588]
- 59. Castro Sweet CM, Chiguluri V, Gumpina R, Abbott P, Madero EN, Payne M, et al. Outcomes of a digital health program with human coaching for diabetes risk reduction in a medicare population. J Aging Health 2018 Jun 24;30(5):692-710 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0898264316688791] [Medline: 28553807]
- 60. Michaelides A, Raby C, Wood M, Farr K, Toro-Ramos T. Weight loss efficacy of a novel mobile Diabetes Prevention Program delivery platform with human coaching. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 2016 Sep 08;4(1):e000264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2016-000264] [Medline: 27651911]
- 61. Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014 Apr 09;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- 62. Cafazzo JA, Casselman M, Hamming N, Katzman DK, Palmert MR. Design of an mHealth app for the self-management of adolescent type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012 May 08;14(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2058] [Medline: 22564332]
- 63. Årsand E, Frøisland D, Skrøvseth S, Chomutare T, Tatara N, Hartvigsen G, et al. Mobile health applications to assist patients with diabetes: lessons learned and design implications. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Sep 01;6(5):1197-1206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/193229681200600525] [Medline: 23063047]

Abbreviations

CeHRes: Centre for eHealth Research DM: diabetes mellitus KSUMC: King Saud University Medical City KKUH: King Khalid University Hospital KAUH: King Abdulaziz University Hospital mHealth: mobile health



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.08.20; peer-reviewed by J Sieverdes, R Jayasuriya; comments to author 17.11.20; revised version received 29.05.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 20.07.21.
<u>Please cite as:</u>
Alshehri F, Alshaikh F
Exploring the Constituent Elements of a Successful Mobile Health Intervention for Prediabetic Patients in King Saud University Medical City Hospitals in Saudi Arabia: Cross-sectional Study
JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22968
URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22968
PMID:34061762

©Fayz Alshehri, Fahdah Alshaikh. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 20.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Associations Between Methods of Meeting Sexual Partners and Sexual Practices Among Heterosexuals: Cross-sectional Study in Melbourne, Australia

Heidi Constantinou^{1,2}, MD; Christopher K Fairley^{1,2}, MBBS; Jane S Hocking³, PhD; Catriona S Bradshaw^{1,2}, MBBS; Edmond P H Choi⁴, PhD; Kate Maddaford², MPH; Tiffany R Phillips^{1,2*}, PhD; Eric P F Chow^{1,2,3*}, PhD

¹Central Clinical School, Monash University, Clayton, Australia

²Melbourne Sexual Health Centre, Alfred Health, Carlton, Australia

³Centre for Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia ⁴School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Tiffany R Phillips, PhD Central Clinical School Monash University Wellington Rd Clayton, 3800 Australia Phone: 61 03 9341 6200 Email: <u>tiffany.phillips@monash.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: The association between meeting partners on the web and sexual practices has been understudied in heterosexuals.

Objective: This study aims to examine the associations between the methods of meeting partners and sexual practices and HIV and sexually transmitted infections (STIs) in heterosexuals.

Methods: We conducted a survey among heterosexuals attending the Melbourne Sexual Health Centre in 2019. This survey asked about the methods through which the participants engaged in meeting their sexual partners, sexual practices, and intravenous drug use (IVDU) over the past 3 months. The participants' HIV and STI (chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis) status was obtained from clinical testing. Multivariable logistic regression was used to examine the association between each method of meeting and the participants' sexual practices, IVDU, and STI status.

Results: A total of 698 participants (325 men and 373 women) were included in the study. Most of the participants reported using only one method to meet partners (222/325, 68.3% men; 245/373, 65.7% women; P=.05). The men met partners most commonly at social venues (eg, bar, pub, or party; 126/325, 38.8%), whereas the women met partners most commonly through friends or family (178/373, 47.7%). Paying for sex was associated with men meeting partners at sex venues (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 145.34, 95% CI 26.13-808.51) and on the internet (AOR 10.00, 95% CI 3.61-27.55). There was no association between IVDU and methods of meeting. Social venues were associated with condomless vaginal sex among men (AOR 3.31, 95% CI 1.94-5.71) and women (AOR 2.58, 95% CI 1.61-4.13) and testing positive for STI among men (AOR 3.04, 95% CI 1.24-7.48) and women (AOR 3.75, 95% CI 1.58-8.89).

Conclusions: Heterosexuals who met partners at social venues had a more than threefold risk of testing positive for STIs, indicating that heterosexuals may benefit from health promotion campaigns that are delivered through a public setting.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26202) doi:10.2196/26202

KEYWORDS

RenderX

internet; dating apps; mobile phone; sexually transmitted infections; health risk behaviors

Constantinou et al

Introduction

Background

There has been an increase in the number of web-based platforms available for individuals to meet sexual partners since the first internet dating site, *Match.com*, was introduced in 1995. The surge in the popularity of social networking sites such as *Instagram*, which was introduced in 2010, led to the launch of other web-based platforms through which individuals could meet partners. The advancing technology of smartphones saw a shift in the nature of web-based dating with the addition of smartphone dating apps, the most popular of which is *Tinder*, which was launched in 2012. As of 2020, *Tinder* had been downloaded 340 million times and claimed to have produced more than 43 billion matches [1].

A total of 2 population-based studies conducted in the United States [2] and Australia [3] have shown that the internet and apps have overtaken the more traditional offline face-to-face methods (eg, through friends or family) for individuals to meet their partners. However, there are limited studies globally that focus on the methods through which heterosexuals meet casual and regular sexual partners. In Australia, gonorrhea and syphilis among heterosexuals have been uncommon since the 1980s, but the incidence of both sexually transmitted infections (STIs) has increased among heterosexuals since the mid-2010s [4,5]. However, the reasons for this rise in the incidence of STIs remain unclear. Although some studies have suggested that meeting partners on the internet or apps are associated with condomless sex [6] and STI acquisition [7,8], other studies did not find this association [9-11]. Thus, the association between web-based meeting methods and sexual risk remains inconclusive. Most of these studies did not stratify by sexual orientation [7,8,10,11]. Very few studies have specifically analyzed heterosexuals exclusively and most were published before 2013 [9], when there were fewer web-based networking platforms (particularly apps). Given that the risk of STIs and sexual practices varies in different sexual orientations and that new web-based networking platforms have continued to surface throughout the mid-2010s to late 2010s [1], it is unclear from these studies whether the same associations of the internet and apps with condom use and STIs can be drawn for heterosexuals in the late 2010s.

Objective

This study aims to examine the associations between the methods of meeting partners and sexual practices, as well as HIV and STIs, in cisgender heterosexual men and women, which could assist in future HIV and STI prevention and safe sex campaigns.

Methods

Study Setting and Population

A cross-sectional study was conducted at the Melbourne Sexual Health Centre (MSHC) in Victoria, Australia, in March and April 2019. The MSHC is a large public sexual health clinic in metropolitan Melbourne. As part of the clinic's routine care, all new clients who attend the MSHC and clients who have not

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26202
```

attended for more than 3 months are asked to complete a questionnaire using computer-assisted self-interview (CASI), which collects information on their sexual activities and demographic characteristics. Following the completion of the CASI, heterosexual clients aged 16 years or older were invited to participate in a voluntary survey on the CASI named *Australian Surveys of Sexual Activities and Practices* (ASAP), which collected additional questions on sexual practice that were not collected as part of the routine CASI questions. Consent was obtained from the participants who selected *yes* on the consent page through the CASI. We defined *heterosexuals* as cisgender male or cisgender female individuals who reported having sex with an opposite-gender partner over the past 12 months and did not report any sexual contact with someone of the same gender over the past 12 months.

The ASAP collected data on the methods through which the participants had met their sexual partners over the past 3 months. The predefined six methods of meeting partners were (1) the internet, (2) apps (eg, *Tinder*), (3) social venues (eg, bar, pub, nightclub, dance, party, disco, and gym), (4) sex venues (eg, sauna, beat, and other sex venues), (5) introduced by friends or family, and (6) other. The participants could choose more than one method. Participants selecting *other* were asked to specify the alternative methods through which they had met their sexual partners. Participants who wrote in *brothel* or *massage parlour* for *other* were recategorized into *sex venues* during analysis.

Data were collected on the participants' sexual practices and condom use for oral, vaginal, and anal sex; number of regular and casual partners; if they had paid for sex; and intravenous drug use (IVDU) over the past 3 months. All individuals were offered HIV and STI (chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis) testing, and HIV and STI diagnoses were obtained from clinical data on the day the participants completed the survey. HIV and syphilis diagnoses were based on serology. Gonorrhea and chlamydia diagnoses were based on first void urine by nucleic acid amplification test using the Aptima Combo 2 assay (Hologic Panther system; Hologic). No participant tested positive for HIV; therefore, we only analyzed the STI diagnoses.

Statistical Analysis

Age was categorized into three groups: 16-24 years, 25-34 years, and \geq 35 years, as per previous studies [12]. Descriptive statistics, including the frequency and proportion for each method of meeting stratified by age and gender, were calculated. A chi-square test was performed to compare the method of meeting partners between men and women. A chi-square trend test was performed to examine whether there was an increasing or decreasing trend in the method of meeting partners across the three age groups. The other category was deemed unreliable because a large proportion of the participants did not specify the alternative methods used to meet partners; hence, we removed other from the remaining analyses. Univariable logistic regressions were performed to examine the association between each method of meeting and a range of different variables to determine the sexual risk (eg, the number of sexual partners, condomless sex, having regular and casual partners, testing positive for STI, paying for sex, and IVDU) for men and women separately. Age and the methods of meeting partners were

considered potential confounders and adjusted in the multivariable logistic regression analyses. All analyses were performed using SPSS (version 26, IBM Corp). This study was approved by the Alfred Hospital Ethics Committee, Melbourne, Australia (number 571/17).

Results

Characteristics of the Study Population

In March and April 2019, there were 2961 heterosexual clients (1506 men and 1455 women) who attended the MSHC and completed the CASI and were invited to participate in the ASAP. Of the 2961 clients, 728 (24.59%) consented and completed the survey, and the proportion who participated did not differ between men (345/1506, 22.91%) and women (383/1455, 26.32%). There was no significant difference in the median ages of the clients who consented versus those who did not consent in both men (28 years vs 29 years; P=.16) and women (25 years vs 25 years; P=.50). There was also no significant difference in the proportion who consented to participate between Australian-born and overseas-born men (148/345, 25.6% vs 192/345, 21.8%; P=.10) and women (111/383, 27.9% vs 262/383, 25.9%; P=.50), or STI positivity among men (28/345, 8.1% vs 121/1161, 10.42%; P=.21) and women (28/383, 7.3% vs 100/1072, 9.32%); P=.41). We excluded 30 participants: 11 reported other method only and reported the status of their sexual partner (eg, wife) rather than specifying the other method through which they had met, and 19 reported no sexual partners in the past 3 months. Participants who reported the status of their partners under other, but had selected an additional method of meeting, were still included in the additional methods of meeting selected but were removed from the other category. The remaining 698 participants (325 men and 373 women) were included in the final analysis.

Of the 698 heterosexual participants who were included in the study, the median age was 28 (IQR 24-35) years for men and 25 (IQR 23-29) years for women. Most men and women were born overseas (184/325, 56.6% men and 256/373, 68.6% women). The median total number of partners (including those who only kissed) was 4 (IQR 2-8) for men and 4 (IQR 2-8) for women in the past 3 months. However, the median total number of sexual partners (excluding those who only kissed) was 3 (IQR 2-5) for men and 2 (IQR 2-4) for women.

Most of the participants reported using only one method to meet sexual partners (222/325, 68.3% among men; 245/373, 65.7% among women; P=.46). Overall, most of the men met their partners through social venues (eg, bar, pub, or party; 126/325, 38.8%), whereas most of the women met their partners through friends or family (178/373, 47.7%). Compared with men, fewer women met sexual partners through the internet (38/325, 11.7% vs 20/353, 5.4%; P=.003) and sex venues (21/325, 6.5% vs 3/373, 0.8%; P<.001), and more women met partners through friends or family (122/325, 37.5% vs 178/373, 47.7%; P=.007; Figure 1). There were no significant differences in the proportion of men and women who met partners through apps, social venues, or other methods (Figure 1). Of the 109 participants who reported other methods, 65 (59.6%) specified the method, with most meeting partners through work (n=26), travel and backpacking hostels (n=14), education facilities such as school and university (n=5), and public locations (n=5).

An age pattern was observed for some methods. Among men, the use of sex venues (P_{trend} =.005) was associated with increasing age, but the use of social venues (P_{trend} =.01) and friends or family (P_{trend} <.001) was associated with decreasing age. Among women, the use of the internet (P_{trend} =.01) was associated with increasing age but the use of social venues (P_{trend} =.004) was associated with decreasing age (Figure 2).

Figure 1. The proportion of heterosexual individuals who engaged in each method of meeting sexual partners over the previous 3 months, stratified by gender. *P* values were calculated from a chi-square test.



Figure 2. The proportion of heterosexual individuals who engaged in each method of meeting sexual partners over the previous 3 months, stratified by age. *P* values were calculated from a chi-square trend test.



Number and Type of Sexual Partners

Men were more likely to report ≥ 4 total partners, including *only* kissing, if they used social venues (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 10.93, 95% CI 5.79-20.64) to meet sexual partners, followed by sex venues (AOR 4.16, 95% CI 1.47-11.77), apps (AOR 3.65, 95% CI 1.97-6.77), the internet (AOR 2.70, 95% CI 1.17-6.24), and friends or family (AOR 2.14, 95% CI 1.18-3.88), after adjusting for age and all methods of meeting partners (Table 1). Women were more likely to report \geq 4 total partners, including only kissing, if they used the internet (AOR 4.97, 95% CI 1.62-15.22) to meet sexual partners, followed by social venues (AOR 4.38, 95% CI 2.64-7.28), apps (AOR 2.53, 95% CI 1.48-4.31), and friends or family (AOR 2.52, 95% CI 1.54-4.14). There was no statistically significant association between meeting at sex venues and the total number of partners among women. The results remained similar for all sexual partners when excluding those who kissed only.

The adjusted odds of having casual partners were highest among men meeting partners at sex venues (AOR 37.84, 95% CI 4.63-309.40), followed by social venues, the internet, apps, and friends or family (Table 1). Accordingly, men were less likely to have regular partners when meeting partners through apps (AOR 0.52, 95% CI 0.31-0.86) and social venues (AOR 0.53, 95% CI 0.33-0.87) but not when meeting them through the internet, friends or family, or at sex venues. The adjusted odds of having casual partners were highest among women meeting partners at social venues (AOR 12.47, 95% CI 5.15-30.20), followed by apps and friends or family but not the internet. All women who met partners at sex venues (N=3) had casual partners, preventing us from performing a logistic regression for sex venues among women. Accordingly, women were less likely to have regular partners when meeting partners through social venues (AOR 0.22, 95% CI 0.13-0.37), followed by apps and friends or family but not through the internet or sex venues.

1 1.25 (0.61- 2.59)
1 1.25 (0.61- 2.59)
1 1.25 (0.61- 2.59)
1.25 (0.61- 2.59)
1
0.52 (0.31- 0.86) ^d
1
0.53 (0.33- 0.87) ^d
1
0.42 (0.16- 1.12)
1
1.08 (0.66- 1.77)
1
0.44 (0.15- 1.31)
1
0.28 (0.16- 0.50) ^d
1
0.20 (0.12- 0.35) ^d
1
0.32 (0.03- 3.91)

Constantinou et al

Table 1. Association of method of meeting partners and number and type of sexual partners among heterosexual individuals in the past 3 months.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26202



Constantinou et al

Sex and method of meeting	Number who had ≥4 partners, in- cluding only kiss- ing, n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Number who had≥3 partners, excluding only kissing, n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Number who had casual sex partners ^b , n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Number who had regular sex partners ^c , n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a
No (n=195)	100 (51.3)	1	84 (43.1)	1	154 (79)	1	80 (41)	1
Yes (n=178)	109 (61.2)	2.52 (1.54- 4.14) ^d	95 (53.4)	2.90 (1.75- 4.80) ^d	304 (82) ^g	3.08 (1.38- 6.86) ^d	58 (33)	0.41 (0.24- 0.68) ^d

^aOdds ratio adjusted according to age and method of meeting.

^bA total of 35 men declined to answer the question on casual partners in the last 3 months; these participants were added to the *no* group. A total of 29 women declined to answer the question on casual partners in the last 3 months; these participants were added to the *no* group.

^cA total of 11 men declined to answer the question on regular partners in the last 3 months; these participants were added to the *no* group. A total of 11 women declined to answer the question on regular partners in the last 3 months; these participants were added to the *no* group.

^dStatistically significant results with *P*<.05.

^eMobile dating apps.

^fAll women (N=3) who met partners at sex venues had casual partners, preventing a logistic regression from being performed. $g_n=373$.

Sexual Practices and Drug Use

Men were more likely to perform oral sex (cunnilingus) with partners they met through apps (AOR 2.62, 95% CI 1.20-5.74) and friends or family (AOR 3.08, 95% CI 1.44-6.58; Table 2). Similarly, men were more likely to receive oral sex (fellatio) from partners met through apps (AOR 7.78, 95% CI 1.75-34.62), social venues (AOR 4.22, 95% CI 1.44-12.34), and friends or family (AOR 3.19, 95% CI 1.13-9.01). Men were more likely to engage in vaginal sex with partners met through friends or family (AOR 6.46, 95% CI 2.11-19.73) and social venues (AOR 2.47, 95% CI 1.05-5.84). Among women, performing fellatio and vaginal sex was not associated with any method of meeting partners (Table 3). Women were more likely to receive cunnilingus from partners met through friends or family (AOR 2.17, 95% CI 1.05-4.46); however, there was no association with any other methods of meeting and receiving cunnilingus. Having anal sex was not associated with any method of meeting partners in either male or female participants.

Men were more likely to have condomless vaginal sex with partners met at social venues (AOR 3.31, 95% CI 1.94-5.71) and were less likely to receive condomless fellatio with partners met at sex venues (AOR 0.09, 95% CI 0.002-0.34; Table 4). Women were more likely to have condomless vaginal sex with partners met at social venues (AOR 2.58, 95% CI 1.61-4.13) and to perform condomless fellatio with partners met through apps (AOR 2.72, 95% CI 1.09-6.77). Neither the internet nor apps were associated with condomless sex among men or women.

The adjusted odds of having paid for sex were highest among men meeting partners at sex venues (AOR 145.34, 95% CI 26.13-808.51), followed by the internet (AOR 10.00, 95% CI 3.61-27.55; Multimedia Appendix 1). There was no association between paying for sex and meeting partners through apps, social venues, or friends or family among men. Only 1 woman paid for sex, and she met the partner through friends or family. There was no association between any methods of meeting partners and IVDU among men and women.



Constantinou et al

Table 2.	Association of method of	of meeting partners and	sexual practices amo	ong heterosexual men i	in the past 3 months (N=325).
		01		8	

Method of meeting	Men who per- formed oral sex (cunnilingus), n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Men who re- ceived oral sex (fellatio), n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Men who had vaginal sex, n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Men who had anal sex, n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a
Internet	·	7				•		*
No (n=287)	238 (82.9)	1	262 (91.3)	1	257 (89.5)	1	57 (19.9)	1
Yes (n=38)	30 (78.9)	1.08 (0.43- 2.68)	34 (89.5)	1.48 (0.44- 4.93)	27 (71.1)	0.47 (0.20- 1.13)	11 (28.9)	1.81 (0.81- 4.02)
Apps ^b								
No (n=228)	180 (78.9)	1	201 (88.2)	1	195 (85.5)	1	43 (18.9)	1
Yes (n=97)	88 (90.7)	2.62 (1.20- 5.74) ^c	95 (97.9)	7.78 (1.75- 34.62) ^c	89 (91.8)	2.14 (0.90- 5.09)	25 (25.8)	1.52 (0.85- 2.73)
Social venues								
No (n=199)	161 (80.9)	1	175 (87.9)	1	167 (83.9)	1	38 (19.1)	1
Yes (n=126)	107 (84.9)	1.41 (0.71- 2.77)	121 (96)	4.22 (1.44- 12.34) ^c	117 (92.9)	2.47 (1.05- 5.84) ^c	30 (23.8)	1.66 (0.93- 2.99)
Sex venues								
No (n=304)	254 (83.6)	1	279 (91.8)	1	269 (88.5)	1	63 (20.7)	1
Yes (n=21)	14 (66.7)	0.77 (0.27- 2.18)	17 (81)	1.21 (0.34- 4.29)	15 (71.4)	0.83 (0.27- 2.53)	5 (23.8)	1.55 (0.50- 4.77)
Friends or family								
No (n=203)	158 (77.8)	1	180 (88.7)	1	116 (57.1)	1	41 (20.2)	1
Yes (n=122)	110 (90.2)	3.08 (1.44- 6.58) ^c	116 (95.1)	3.19 (1.13- 9.01) ^c	118 (96.7)	6.46 (2.11- 19.73) ^c	27 (22.1)	1.51 (0.83- 2.73)

^aOdds ratio adjusted according to age and method of meeting.

^bMobile dating apps.

^cStatistically significant results with *P*<.05.



Constantinou et al

Table 3.	Association of method	of meeting partners	and sexual practices	among heterosexual	women in the past 3 months	(N=373).
----------	-----------------------	---------------------	----------------------	--------------------	----------------------------	----------

Method of meetin	g Number of women who performed oral sex (fellatio), n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Number of women who received oral gus), n (%)Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a		Number of women who had vaginal sex, n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a	Number of women who had anal sex, n (%)	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^a
Internet								
No (n=353)	329 (93.2)	1	315 (89.2)	1	330 (93.5)	1	60 (17)	1
Yes (n=20)	19 (95)	1.60 (0.17- 15.20)	16 (80)	0.69 (0.20- 2.38)	18 (90)	0.82 (0.16- 4.22)	7 (35)	2.51 (0.89- 7.06)
Apps ^b								
No (n=258)	237 (91.9)	1	226 (87.6)	1	241 (93.4)	1	46 (17.8)	1
Yes (n=115)	111 (96.5)	2.62 (0.84- 8.18)	105 (91.3)	1.90 (0.86- 4.20)	107 (93)	1.01 (0.40- 2.54)	21 (18.3)	1.12 (0.62- 2.04)
Social venues								
No (n=226)	213 (94.2)	1	199 (88)	1	208 (92)	1	34 (19)	1
Yes (n=147)	135 (91.8)	0.78 (0.32- 1.87)	132 (89.8)	1.32 (0.64- 2.73)	140 (95.2)	1.61 (0.63- 4.13)	24 (16.3)	1.03 (0.58- 1.84)
Sex venues								
No (n=370)	346 (93.5)	1	328 (88.6)	c	346 (93.5)	1	65 (17.6)	1
Yes (n=3)	2 (66.7)	0.19 (0.02- 2.58)	3 (100)	_	2 (66.7)	0.21 (0.02- 2.71)	2 (66.7)	8.16 (0.67- 99.20)
Friends or family	7							
No (n=195)	181 (92.8)	1	167 (85.6)	1	182 (93.3)	1	32 (16.4)	1
Yes (n=178)	167 (93.8)	1.30 (0.54- 3.12)	164 (92.1)	2.17 (1.05- 4.46) ^d	166 (93.3)	0.98 (0.41- 2.34)	35 (19.7)	1.45 (0.82- 2.56)

^aOdds ratio adjusted according to age and method of meeting.

^bMobile dating apps.

^cAll women (n=3) who met partners at sex venues received cunnilingus, preventing a logistic regression from being performed.

^dStatistically significant results with *P*<.05.

Constantinou et al

Table 4. Association of method of meeting partners and condomless sex in the past 3 months and sexually transmitted infection status among heterosexual individuals. Sex and Individuals who Adjusted Individuals who had Adjusted Individuals who Adjusted Individuals who Adjusted received condommethod of odds ratio condomless vaginal odds ratio had condomless odds ratio tested positive odds ratio meeting less oral sex (felfor $STI^{c,d}$ (95% CI)^b sex^a (95% CI)^b anal sex^a (95% CI)^b (95% CI)^b latio)^a

	Total, N	Partici- pant, n (%)		Total, N	Partici n (%)	pant,			Total, N	Partici- pant, n (%)		Total, N	Partici- pant, n (%)	
Men (N=325))													
Internet														
No	262	247 (94.3)	1	257	144 (5	6)	1		57	38 (66.7)	1	287	25 (8.7)	1
Yes	34	31 (91.2)	0.90 (0.20- 4.04)	27	15 (55	.6)	1.23 2.80	3 (0.52- 5)	11	5 (45.5)	0.52 (0.11- 2.40)	38	1 (2.6)	0.38 (0.05- 3.08)
Apps ^e														
No	201	186 (92.5)	1	195	112 (5	7.4)	1		43	27 (62.8)	1	228	19 (8.3)	1
Yes	95	92 (96.8)	1.68 (0.44- 6.41)	89	47 (52	.8)	0.93 1.59	3 (0.54- 9)	25	16 (64)	0.91 (0.29- 2.86)	97	7 (7.2)	1.01 (0.39- 2.63)
Social ve	nues													
No	175	160 (91.4)	1	167	76 (45	.5)	1		38	23 (60.5)	1	199	10 (5)	1
Yes	121	118 (97.5)	2.51 (0.63- 10.00)	117	83 (70	.9)	3.3 5.7	1 (1.94- 1) ^f	30	20 (66.7)	0.88 (0.28- 2.73)	126	16 (12.7)	3.04 (1.24- 7.48) ^f
Sex venu	es													
No	279	268 (96.1)	1	269	151 (5	6.1)	1		63	42 (66.7)	1	304	24 (7.9)	1
Yes	17	10 (58.8)	0.09 (002- 0.34) ^f	15	8 (53.3	3)	1.42 4.3	2 (0.47- 1)	5	1 (20)	0.12 (0.01- 1.55)	21	2 (9.5)	2.80 (0.50- 15.80)
Friends of	or family	,												
No	180	167 (92.8)	1	166	90 (54	.2)	1		41	27 (65.9)	1	203	13 (6.4)	1
Yes	116	111 (95.7)	1.25 (0.34- 4.55)	118	69 (58	.5)	1.50 2.56	0 (0.88- 5)	27	16 (59.3)	0.62 (0.20- 1.93)	122	13 (10.7)	1.53 (0.63- 3.74)
Women (N=3	73)													
Internet														
No	329	304 (92.4)	1	33	0	179 (54.	.2)	1	60	45 (75)	g	353	26 (7.4)	1
Yes	19	18 (94.7)	2.56 (0.30- 21.71)	18		11 (61.1)	2.03 (0.69- 5.92)	7	6 (85.7)	_	20	2 (10)	3.81 (0.71- 20.49)
Apps ^e														
No	237	218 (92)	1	24	1	128 (53.	1)	1	46	34 (73.9)	1	258	21 (8.1)	1
Yes	111	104 (93.7)	1.72 (0.66-4.5	51) 10	7 (52 (57.9	')	1.37 (0.84- 2.25)	21	17 (81)	1.14 (0.30- 4.37)	115	7 (6.1)	0.83 (0.33- 2.10)
Social ve	nues													
No	213	195 (91.5)	1	20	8 9	97 (46.6	j)	1	43	32 (74.4)	1	226	9 (4)	1

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26202



_

Sex and method of meeting	Individu received less ora latio) ^a	uals who l condom- l sex (fel-	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^b	Individuals condomless sex ^a	who had A vaginal o (9	djusted dds ratio 95% CI) ^b	Individ had cor anal se	uals who ndomless x ^a	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^b	Individu tested p for STI	uals who doositive o	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) ^b
	Total, N	Partici- pant, n (%)		Total, Par N n (⁴	ticipant, %)		Total, N	Partici- pant, n (%)		Total, N	Partici- pant, n (%)	
Yes	135	127 (94.1)	1.80 (0.72-4.	51) 140	93 (66.4)	2.58 (1.61- 4.13) ^f	24	19 (79.2)	1.11 (0.29- 4.29)	147	19 (12.9)	3.75 (1.58- 8.89) ^f
Sex venu	ies											
No	346	320 (92.5)	g	346	190 (54.9)	h	65	51 (78.5)	i	370	28 (7.6)	i
Yes	2	2 (100)	g	2	0 (0)	h	2	0 (0)	i	3	0 (0)	j
Friends	or family	y										
No	181	163 (90.1)	1	182	100 (54.9)	1	32	26 (81.3)	1	195	12 (6.2)	1
Yes	167	159 (95.2)	2.72 (1.09- 6.77) ^e	166	90 (54.2)	1.25 (0.79- 1.99)	35	25 (71.4)	0.62 (0.16- 2.42)	178	16 (9)	1.83 (0.81- 4.13)

^aOnly participants who engaged in each sexual activity were included in the analyses of condomless sex.

^bOdds ratio adjusted according to age and method of meeting.

^cAll women (n=3) who met partners at sex venues tested negative for sexually transmitted infection, preventing a logistic regression from being performed. ^dSTI: sexually transmitted infection (chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis).

^eMobile dating apps.

^fStatistically significant results with *P*<.05.

^gThe logistic regression for women who had condomless anal sex produced an adjusted odds ratio >300 million and did not produce a 95% CI upper limit, preventing reliable interpretation of these results.

^hAll women (n=2) who met partners at sex venues who performed fellatio used a condom, preventing a logistic regression from being performed. ⁱAll women (n=2) who met partners at sex venues who had vaginal sex used a condom, preventing a logistic regression from being performed. ^jAll women (n=2) who met partners at sex venues who had anal sex used a condom, preventing a logistic regression from being performed.

STI Positivity

The STI positivity for men was 8.0% (26/325) and that for women was 7.5% (28/373). There was no association between STI positivity and methods, except for social venues. Both men (AOR 3.04, 95% CI 1.24-7.48) and women (AOR 3.75, 95% CI 1.58-8.89) who met partners at social venues were three times more likely to have an STI (Table 4).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Despite the increasing use of web-based networking platforms (eg, the internet or apps) [1], this study shows that face-to-face methods (eg, social venues and friends or family) continue to be the most common methods used among heterosexuals to meet sexual partners. After adjusting for the five different methods of meeting, those who met at sex venues were less likely to have condomless sex, whereas meeting at social venues (eg, bar, pub, or party) was strongly associated with having more sexual partners, condomless sex, and testing positive for an STI. To our knowledge, this is the first study to analyze a range of both long-established and contemporary methods of meeting sexual partners among heterosexuals and their

RenderX

associations with sexual practices and STI diagnoses, providing important insights for future health promotion campaigns. The inconsistencies in our findings compared with those in previous studies are likely due to several reasons. First, our study looked at how heterosexuals met their regular and/or casual partners; however, the American study [2] only examined how heterosexual couples met, and casual partners were not considered. Second, our study was conducted exclusively among heterosexuals, whereas the Australian Talks National Survey [3] was conducted among 54,000 Australians from all sexual orientations, which found that apps are the most popular method for Australians to meet partners. This is consistent with a previous Melbourne-based study published in 2016 showing that apps are the most popular method to meet partners among 1902 men who have sex with men (MSM) [13]. These are important distinctions to be aware of if we want to develop health promotion campaigns that target heterosexuals with casual partners, and an indication that current campaigns using web-based platforms may not be reaching most of the heterosexual population. To the best of our knowledge, there have been no studies investigating why heterosexuals are more likely to meet partners through friends or family and why friends or family is associated with performing condomless fellatio among women. Further qualitative research could explore

whether individuals feel more comfortable and safe engaging in sexual activities with those they have mutual contacts with.

Our results found that individuals meeting partners at social venues had higher odds of having ≥ 4 partners among both men and women. In addition, meeting partners at social venues was strongly associated with risks, including condomless vaginal sex and STI positivity in men and women. Social venues such as bars, pubs, nightclubs, and parties are common locations where binge drinking and recreational drug use occur. Individuals who binge drink at social venues are six times more likely to engage in sexual activities [14], providing a likely explanation for social venues, alongside friends or family, being the most common method through which heterosexuals meet sexual partners. Alcohol consumption and recreational drug use at social venues are also strongly associated with engaging in risky sexual behaviors-such as condomless sex-and STIs [14-17], providing a likely explanation for our results. Some studies found an association between STIs and meeting partners through the internet and apps [7,8]; however, these included participants of all sexual orientations and found that the internet and apps were more commonly used by participants identifying as homosexual or bisexual, making it unclear if the same conclusion can be drawn for heterosexuals. Furthermore, the fact that our study analyzed a population of participants attending a sexual health clinic, who are presumably more sexually active than the general population, and still did not find an association with STIs and meeting partners through methods other than social venues strongly supports the notion that meeting on the internet and apps does not increase the risk of heterosexuals testing positive for STIs in the wider community.

Certain types of sex venues such as brothels and massage parlors have been long-standing methods through which individuals meet sex workers whom they pay for sex. We found that men who met partners at sex venues were less likely to receive condomless fellatio. Similarly, condomless vaginal and anal sex were not associated with meeting partners at sex venues. A previous Melbourne study found that consistent condom use was high among 106 female sex workers operating in sex venues such as brothels-90% (95) for fellatio, 98% (104) for vaginal sex, and 100% (106) for anal sex among female sex workers with their male clients—[18] because condoms must be used during sex work in accordance with the law in Victoria [19]. As web-based technology has evolved, the internet has become an increasingly common platform in the sex work industry [20]. This may explain why heterosexual men who met partners on the internet were 10 times more likely to report paying for sex

in our study. Almost 40% (15/38) of the men in our study who met partners on the internet had paid for sex, of which one-third reported that they used the internet as their sole method of meeting partners.

Our study includes some limitations. First, this study was conducted at a sexual health clinic, which may not be representative of all heterosexuals in Australia. This is because individuals attending a sexual health clinic may be more sexually active and more likely to have casual partners. Second, we predefined six methods of meeting partners from another survey [13], which was originally designed for MSM. Interpretation of these methods could have varied from participant to participant. The examples of sex venues supplied were more applicable to MSM, and additional methods that we did not list may have been underrepresented because the participants did not specify these alternative methods in the other category. Third, our response rate was low (728/2961, 24.58%) among both men and women. It is possible that there are some differences in sexual risk between those who participated and those who did not, although there was no difference in demographic characteristics. Fourth, we did not provide examples of who would classify as a regular versus casual partner. Previous studies have shown ambiguity around how to classify *fuckbuddies* among MSM [21], and although no such research has been conducted among heterosexuals, there may be a similar conundrum of how to classify certain partners (eg, friends with benefits). Further research is needed in this area. Finally, this cross-sectional study can only describe associations between the methods of meeting with sexual practices and outcomes, and we cannot rule out all confounders that may have influenced the results, such as marital status, ethnicity, alcohol use, or recreational drug use [14-17].

Conclusions

Heterosexuals who met partners at social venues such as bars and nightclubs were more likely to have condomless vaginal sex and had a more than three-fold risk of testing positive for STIs. Most sexual health promotion campaigns are directed toward MSM, who, in contrast, have been shown to meet more sexual partners through apps [13]. Our study indicates that heterosexuals may benefit from more targeted health promotion campaigns that are delivered through a more public setting (eg, advertisements at social venues or physical face-to-face interventions). More research is warranted that further examines the association of different methods of meeting partners with STIs and investigates other potential reasons for the rise in the incidence of STIs.

Acknowledgments

EPFC is supported by the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Emerging Leadership Investigator grant (GNT1172873). CKF and CSB are supported by Australian NHMRC Leadership Investigator grants (GNT1172900 and GNT1173361). JSH was supported by an NHMRC Senior Research Fellowship (GNT1136117). The authors would like to thank Afrizal Afrizal at the MSHC for his assistance with data extraction and Jun Kit Sze for his assistance in implementing the survey on the CASI system at the MSHC.



Authors' Contributions

EPFC and CKF designed the study and developed the survey. CSB and JSH assisted with the development of the survey. HC performed the data analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. KM was involved in study management. EPFC and TRP oversaw the study and provided statistical advice. All authors were involved in data interpretation, revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Association of method of meeting partners and paying for sex and intravenous drug use status among heterosexual individuals. [DOCX File, 17 KB - formative_v5i7e26202_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Tinder Newsroom: About Tinder. Tinder Newsroom. URL: <u>https://www.tinderpressroom.com/about</u> [accessed 2021-06-21]
- Rosenfeld MJ, Thomas RJ, Hausen S. Disintermediating your friends: how online dating in the United States displaces other ways of meeting. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2019 Sep 3;116(36):17753-17758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1908630116] [Medline: 31431531]
- Hanrahan C. More People Now Meet Their Partner Online Than Through Friends or Work Combined. ABC News. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-11-26/australia-talks-national-survey-where-to-find-a-partner/11692170</u> [accessed 2021-06-23]
- Phillips TR, Fairley CK, Chen MY, Bradshaw CS, Chow EP. Risk factors for urethral gonorrhoea infection among heterosexual males in Melbourne, Australia: 2007-17. Sex Health 2019 Sep;16(5):508-513. [doi: <u>10.1071/SH19027</u>] [Medline: <u>31203836</u>]
- Jasek E, Chow E, Ong J, Bradshaw CS, Chen MY, Hocking JS, et al. Sexually transmitted infections in Melbourne, Australia from 1918 to 2016: nearly a century of data. Commun Dis Intell Q Rep 2017 Sep 1;41(3):E212-E222 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29720070]
- Choi EP, Wong JY, Lo HH, Wong W, Chio JH, Fong DY. The impacts of using smartphone dating applications on sexual risk behaviours in college students in Hong Kong. PLoS One 2016;11(11):e0165394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165394] [Medline: 27828997]
- Smith LW, Guy R, Degenhardt L, Yeung A, Rissel C, Richters J, et al. Meeting sexual partners through internet sites and smartphone apps in Australia: national representative study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 18;20(12):e10683 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10683] [Medline: 30563809]
- Brown MJ, Pugsley R, Cohen SA. Meeting sex partners through the Internet, risky sexual behavior, and HIV testing among sexually transmitted infections clinic patients. Arch Sex Behav 2015 Feb;44(2):509-519. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10508-014-0463-3</u>] [Medline: <u>25567074</u>]
- 9. Tsai JY, Sussman S, Pickering TA, Rohrbach LA. Is online partner-seeking associated with increased risk of condomless sex and sexually transmitted infections among individuals who engage in heterosexual sex? A systematic narrative review. Arch Sex Behav 2019 Feb;48(2):533-555. [doi: 10.1007/s10508-018-1235-2] [Medline: 30155796]
- 10. Enomoto C, Noor S, Widner B. Is social media to blame for the sharp rise in STDs? Soc Sci 2017 Jul 18;6(3):78. [doi: 10.3390/socsci6030078]
- 11. Daneback K, Sven-Axel M, Ross M. Using the internet to find offline sex partners. Cyberpsychol Behav 2007 Feb;10(1):100-107. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9986] [Medline: 17305455]
- 12. Chow EP, Hocking JS, Bradshaw CS, Phillips TR, Tabesh M, Donovan B, et al. Paying for sex among males and females: a cross-sectional survey in Melbourne, Australiaa. Sex Transm Dis 2021 Mar 1;48(3):195-199. [doi: 10.1097/OLQ.00000000001307] [Medline: <u>33555761</u>]
- 13. Chow EP, Cornelisse VJ, Read TR, Hocking JS, Walker S, Chen MY, et al. Risk practices in the era of smartphone apps for meeting partners: a cross-sectional study among men who have sex with men in Melbourne, Australia. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2016 Apr;30(4):151-154. [doi: 10.1089/apc.2015.0344] [Medline: 27028181]
- 14. Wells BE, Kelly BC, Golub SA, Grov C, Parsons JT. Patterns of alcohol consumption and sexual behavior among young adults in nightclubs. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2010 Jan;36(1):39-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/00952990903544836] [Medline: 20141395]
- Hutton H, McCaul M, Santora P, Erbelding E. The relationship between recent alcohol use and sexual behaviors: gender differences among sexually transmitted disease clinic patients. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2008 Nov;32(11):2008-2015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00788.x] [Medline: 18782336]
- Lama TP, Kumoji E, Ketlogetswe D, Anderson M, Brahmbhatt H. Alcohol consumption and risky sexual behavior among persons attending alcohol consumption venues in Gaborone, Botswana. Prev Sci 2016 Feb;17(2):227-236. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11121-015-0607-2</u>] [Medline: <u>26450847</u>]

- Khadr SN, Jones KG, Mann S, Hale DR, Johnson AM, Viner RM, et al. Investigating the relationship between substance use and sexual behaviour in young people in Britain: findings from a national probability survey. BMJ Open 2016 Jun 30;6(6):e011961 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011961] [Medline: 27363820]
- Zappulla A, Fairley CK, Donovan B, Guy R, Bradshaw CS, Chen MY, et al. Sexual practices of female sex workers in Melbourne, Australia: an anonymous cross-sectional questionnaire study in 2017-18. Sex Health 2020 Feb;17(1):53-60. [doi: 10.1071/SH19037] [Medline: 31928612]
- 19. Harcourt C, Egger S, Donovan B. Sex work and the law. Sex Health 2005;2(3):121-128. [doi: <u>10.1071/sh04042</u>] [Medline: <u>16335539</u>]
- 20. Cunningham S, Kendall TD. Risk behaviours among internet-facilitated sex workers: evidence from two new datasets. Sex Transm Infect 2010 Dec;86(Suppl 3):iii100-iii105. [doi: 10.1136/sti.2010.044875] [Medline: 20852309]
- 21. Bellhouse C, Walker S, Fairley CK, Chow EP, Bilardi JE. Getting the terminology right in sexual health research: the importance of accurately classifying fuck buddies among men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Infect 2018 Nov;94(7):487-489. [doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2016-053000] [Medline: 28356437]

Abbreviations

AOR: adjusted odds ratio ASAP: Australian Surveys of Sexual Activities and Practices CASI: computer-assisted self-interview IVDU: intravenous drug use MSHC: Melbourne Sexual Health Centre MSM: men who have sex with men NHMRC: Australian National Health and Medical Research Council STI: sexually transmitted infection

Edited by R Kukafka, G Eysenbach; submitted 02.12.20; peer-reviewed by V Minichiello, D Pförringer; comments to author 04.02.21; revised version received 04.02.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 20.07.21.

Please cite as:

Constantinou H, Fairley CK, Hocking JS, Bradshaw CS, Choi EPH, Maddaford K, Phillips TR, Chow EPF Associations Between Methods of Meeting Sexual Partners and Sexual Practices Among Heterosexuals: Cross-sectional Study in Melbourne, Australia JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26202 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26202 doi:10.2196/26202 PMID:34283024

©Heidi Constantinou, Christopher K Fairley, Jane S Hocking, Catriona S Bradshaw, Edmond P H Choi, Kate Maddaford, Tiffany R Phillips, Eric P F Chow. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 20.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Pregnant Women's Attitudes Toward and Experiences With a Tablet Intervention to Promote Safety Behaviors in a Randomized Controlled Trial: Qualitative Study

Bente Walter¹, MSc; Hege Indreboe¹, MSc; Mirjam Lukasse^{1,2}, Prof Dr; Lena Henriksen¹, PhD; Lisa Garnweidner-Holme¹, PhD

¹Department of Nursing and Health Promotion, Oslo Metropolitan University, Oslo, Norway ²Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, University of South-Eastern Norway, Vestfold, Norway

Corresponding Author:

Lisa Garnweidner-Holme, PhD Department of Nursing and Health Promotion Oslo Metropolitan University St Olavs Plass, PO Box 4 Oslo, 0130 Norway Phone: 47 +4748091956 Email: lgarnwei@oslomet.no

Abstract

Background: Intimate partner violence (IPV) is recognized as a global health problem. Women with low education and limited resources are more vulnerable, as are immigrant women. There is a lack of evidence on how health care professionals should communicate about and intervene against IPV during pregnancy. Earlier research has shown that when women manage digital questionnaires, they are more likely to disclose IPV. However, little is known about how women experience eHealth interventions with safety behaviors to prevent IPV.

Objective: The aim of this study was to explore pregnant women's attitudes toward and experiences with a tablet intervention to promote safety behaviors in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) in antenatal care.

Methods: Individual semistructured interviews were conducted with 10 women who participated in the Safe Pregnancy Study. The Safe Pregnancy Study was a randomized controlled trial (RCT) using a tablet intervention containing IPV questions and a film to promote safety behaviors. Six women from the intervention group and four women from the control group were recruited. The content was available in Norwegian, Somali, and Urdu. Five of the women participating in the interviews spoke Norwegian at home and five spoke another language. The majority of the women who did not speak Norwegian at home perceived themselves as relatively well integrated. The interviews were conducted at different maternal and child health centers (MCHCs) in Norway between March 2020 and June 2020. The analysis was guided by thematic analysis.

Results: Women who participated in the tablet intervention appreciated being asked questions about IPV on a tablet. However, it was important to supplement the tablet intervention with face-to-face communication with a midwife. The MCHC was regarded as a suitable place to answer questions and watch a film about safety behaviors. Women suggested making the tablet intervention available in other settings where women meet health care professionals. Some women expressed uncertainty about their anonymity regarding their answers in the questionnaire. We found no real differences between ethnic Norwegian and immigrant women's attitudes toward and experiences with the tablet intervention.

Conclusions: Questions about IPV and a film about safety behaviors on a tablet, as a supplement to face-to-face communication, might initiate and facilitate communication about IPV in antenatal care. Uncertainty regarding anonymity has to be addressed when questions about IPV are being asked on a tablet.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03397277; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03397277

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e28680) doi:10.2196/28680

KEYWORDS

RenderX

intimate partner violence; eHealth; pregnancy; antenatal care, safety behaviors; tablet intervention

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28680

Introduction

Background

Intimate partner violence (IPV) is recognized as a global health problem [1]. According to the World Health Organization, IPV may include physical aggression, sexual coercion, psychological abuse, or controlling behaviors by current or former partners [1]. IPV can occur among people of any gender, identity, or sexual orientation and does not require sexual intimacy [2]. Almost one-third of women worldwide have been exposed to physical and/or sexual violence by an intimate partner throughout their life [2]. A meta-analysis of IPV during pregnancy, which included 92 studies from 23 countries, reported a prevalence of physical abuse of 13.8%, sexual abuse of 8.4%, and emotional abuse of 28.4% [3]. In Norway, the prevalence of IPV was reported to range from 1% to 5% in different studies [4,5]. IPV has been associated with multiple adverse physical and mental health conditions among women of all backgrounds [6]. Pregnancy does not protect against IPV [7,8]; it can be a motivator to stay in the relationship or a driving force to break out of a violent relationship [7]. IPV prior to pregnancy, during pregnancy, or in the neonatal period is associated with depression, unwanted pregnancy, miscarriage, stillbirth, premature birth, or intrauterine growth restriction [4,9-11]. IPV occurs in all social strata. Women with low education and limited resources are more vulnerable, as are immigrant women [12].

The Norwegian guidelines for antenatal care strongly recommend that all women should be asked about current and/or past experiences of IPV [13]. There is a lack of evidence on how health care professionals should communicate about and intervene against IPV during pregnancy [8,14]. Women exposed to IPV report weaknesses in conversations about violence with health care professionals, which could reduce the possibility to disclose their experiences [7,15,16]. Health care providers report challenges in conversations about IPV due to personal barriers and lack of knowledge about how to intervene [17-20]. Studies have examined eHealth interventions in IPV screening in different settings and patient populations. They show that women are more likely to disclose IPV when they use digital tools in violence screening [17,21].

Qualitative research alongside randomized controlled trials (RCTs) can improve the understanding and effects of complex health care interventions [22]. Other studies have conducted qualitative research as part of the process evaluation phase of RCTs concerning IPV [23-25]. This research provided insights into the complexity of women's help-seeking behaviors and the factors that influence the experience of different kinds of support [24,26]. The aim of this study was to explore pregnant women's attitudes and experiences with a tablet intervention to promote safety behaviors as part of an RCT in antenatal care.

The Safe Pregnancy Study

The Safe Pregnancy Study is an RCT to test the effectiveness of a tablet-based, culturally adapted intervention in antenatal care aiming to promote safety behaviors and prevent IPV among Norwegian, Pakistani, and Somali women [4]. The RCT was performed in a routine antenatal care setting at 19 maternal and

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28680
```

child health centers (MCHCs) in Norway. The recruitment took place between January 2018 and June 2019 [4], and 317 women participated in the study.

Upon giving consent to participate in the study, all participants were asked to answer a baseline questionnaire on a tablet. A modified version of the Abused Assessment Screen (AAS) [27,28] was part of the baseline questionnaire. Exposure to violence was determined by a positive response to at least one of the five questions in the AAS. Women who screened positive in the AAS were included in the RCT and received detailed questions on IPV and their experiences with actions to make themselves safer. Subsequently, they were randomized to an intervention group or a control group. Women in the intervention group watched a film about the nature of IPV and behaviors that can increase safety [4]. Women in the control group watched a film with general information about health during pregnancy, including information about where to find help if experiencing violence. User involvement was highly prioritized, and women from Norway, Pakistan, and Somalia participated in the development process to culturally adapt the intervention film [4]. The intervention film and the control film lasted for approximately 7 minutes.

The questionnaire included items about pregnancy, health, quality of life, IPV, education, language, income, and personal perception of integration. Women who screened positive in the AAS were asked to complete the Composite Abuse Scale R-SF (CAS), an instrument containing 15 questions about physical, psychological, and sexual violence [29,30], and the Safety Behavior Questionnaire [31,32].

In this study, we defined tablet intervention as the use of an electronic device to pose detailed questions on IPV and safety behaviors and to show a film. However, the film in the RCT differed for the control and interventions groups, as described above. Thus, all participated in the tablet intervention, but only the intervention group, viewed the film on IPV and safety behaviors.

Methods

Interviews

Semistructured individual interviews with 10 women who participated in the Safe Pregnancy RCT were conducted by BW and HI (master's students in midwifery). LGH (qualitative researcher) participated in the pilot interview. Interviews were conducted in Norwegian between March 2020 and June 2020. Nine interviews were performed in an office or meeting room at a MCHC, and one interview took place in a private room in a library. The interviews lasted from 21 minutes 23 seconds to 53 minutes 43 seconds. The interviews followed a semistructured interview guide developed by the interdisciplinary research group in the Safe Pregnancy Study. The interview guide had the following three themes: (1) background for participation, (2) experience with the questionnaire, and (3) experience with the film about safety behaviors. A pilot interview was conducted to test the interview guide, and this interview was included in the analysis. Findings from the pilot interview were that the women had poor

XSL•FO RenderX

recollection of the questionnaire and film. The interview guide was therefore modified before the next interview took place. The themes in the interview guide remained unchanged, but the questions were changed to a descriptive form with short and simple questions to obtain spontaneous descriptions. The interdisciplinary research group decided that the women should have the opportunity to see the questions and the film again during the interview (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Recruitment

Women were recruited through phone calls by BW and HI. Inclusion criteria for individual interviews were women who spoke adequate Norwegian and had participated in the Safe Pregnancy RCT Study in 2019. BW and HI received lists of participants with phone numbers from the Safe Pregnancy Study register. The first five women who agreed to participate were chosen from a list with participants from both the control and intervention groups. All received detailed questions about the experience of violence and use of safety behaviors, and only the intervention group viewed the film with information about the nature of violence and behaviors to increase safety. After conducting and transcribing the interviews from the control group, BW, HI, and LGH found that little new nuanced information was added to the data set. Hence, the last five women were chosen from a register with participants in the intervention group only. Recruitment was carried out until a rich set of data was obtained. The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics approved the study (reference number 2017/358). The participants provided their written consent.

Analysis

The analysis was guided by thematic analysis, as described by Braun and Clarke [33], and included the following steps: (1) Familiarizing with the data by repeated reading of each informant's transcript; (2) Generating initial codes that were relevant to the research question across the entire data set; (3) Organizing the codes into subthemes; (4) Arranging the subthemes into overreaching themes; and (5) Defining and naming the themes.

Interviews were audiotaped and transcribed by BW and HI. BW and HI compared a random part (6 minutes) of each other's transcripts with the audiotapes to ensure accuracy of the transcription process. LGH, LH, and ML read all the transcripts during the interview process. BW and HI performed the analysis guided by LGH. BW and HI together coded each transcript. The process of generating initial codes and findings of potential themes and subthemes was discussed with LGH. ML and LH participated in the discussion of defining and naming the themes to strengthen the reliability of the findings. A qualitative software program (Nvivo 12 Pro) was used to identify codes and systematize subthemes.

Results

Characteristics of the Women

Six women from the intervention group and four women from the control group were recruited. Five of the women spoke Norwegian at home and five spoke another language. The majority of the women who did not speak Norwegian at home perceived themselves as relatively well integrated. Time from participation in the tablet intervention to the interview varied from 11 to 25 months (Multimedia Appendix 2).

The analysis resulted in the following themes representing the women's attitudes and experiences with a tablet intervention to promote safety behaviors: (1) Positive attitudes toward and experiences with questions asked about IPV via a tablet shown at the MCHC; (2) Negative attitudes toward and experiences with the film about IPV via a tablet shown at the MCHC; (3) Positive attitudes toward and experiences with the film about IPV via a tablet shown at the MCHC; (4) Motivation to participate in the Safe Pregnancy Study; and (5) Women's suggestions for improvements to the tablet intervention (Table 1).



Table 1. Themes and subthemes.

Theme and subtheme		Identified in the control (C) and/or intervention group (I)
Po	sitive attitudes toward and experiences with questions about IPV ^a via a tablet shown at the MCHC ^b	
	Remembered the questions related to IPV because they were unexpected	Ι
	The MCHC was a safe place to be asked questions related to IPV on a tablet	C and I
	Using a tablet enabled honest answers in a nonconfrontational setting without being disrupted	C and I
	Provided an opportunity for a conversation with the midwife	C and I
	Easy to answer when you can choose your own mother tongue	C and I
	Reflected about their own life situation	C and I
Ne	gative attitudes toward and experiences with questions about IPV via a tablet shown at the MCHC	
	The questions gave the feeling of being interrogated	С
	Have thought about the questions since	Ι
Po	sitive attitudes toward and experiences with the film about IPV via a tablet shown at the MCHC	
	The MCHC was a safe environment to watch a film about IPV	Ι
	The film gave a feeling of not being alone in experiencing IPV	Ι
	Information given in the film can be of importance for women with different cultural backgrounds	Ι
	Made them aware of different types of IPV and the situation for victims of IPV	Ι
Mo	tivation to participate in the Safe Pregnancy Study	
	Wanted to contribute with experience and knowledge that could improve the service at the MCHC	C and I
	Usually participated in research projects	C and I
	IPV was a topic of importance	C and I
	Wanted to be integrated	Ι
Wo	omen's suggestions to improve the tablet intervention	
	Women who claim they are living with IPV should be invited to a second consultation with the midwife	Ι
	Believed that women who are exposed to IPV should be given the chance to consent for receiving help	Ι
	Lacked contact details for the support services when they answered questions about IPV	Ι
	Of the opinion that the tablet intervention is appropriate in other settings	Ι
	It should be clearer in the film that abused women are not alone in their experience and that they can feel safe contacting supportive services	I

^aIPV: intimate partner violence.

^bMCHC: maternal and child health center.

Attitudes Toward and Experiences With Questions Asked About IPV Via a Tablet Shown at the MCHC

Most of the women remembered the questions about IPV from the tablet intervention. A woman from the intervention group said that she remembered the questions because she was surprised being asked about IPV.

Obviously...I remember the questions I was shocked by. [Informant 8]

Women who did not remember the questions said that time from participation in the tablet intervention could have contributed to the lack of memory. They said that they received a lot of information during pregnancy, and there was a possibility that they mixed it up. The women considered the MCHC as a safe and suitable place to be asked about IPV on a tablet, whether or not they had been exposed to IPV. They appreciated the opportunity to answer the questions alone, without a partner, as described by a woman in the control group as follows:

I think it's a very smart place to get it. After all, this is a place where you can go and talk about your problems related to the pregnancy. [Informant 1]

The women explained that questions about IPV on a tablet gave them the opportunity to first consider the questions undisrupted before answering. It felt safe, and it was positive that visitors and employees at the MCHC could not observe their body language while answering the questions. Most of the women believed it was easier to answer honestly on a tablet than face to face. One woman expressed how she found it as follows:

It is much easier when you're able to think...have that extra time to read for yourself...and consider yes because I sometimes wondered was it a common quarrel...it is a very good thing that you have time...[to] make some reflections and considerations. [Informant 8]

Some women felt that questions about IPV on a tablet opened for a conversation with the midwife. Being asked on a tablet led to a feeling that the topic was not unknown for the midwife, and it felt safe to talk with her. A woman who had been exposed to IPV and was an immigrant felt relieved when she was asked about IPV and said that it felt good. She reflected upon this as follows:

It was an opportunity for me, if I wanted to tell something to the midwife afterwards or the next visit...I felt confident that I could talk to her because it was not unknown to her. [Informant 6]

Most of the women, independent of which group they belonged to, did not have issues answering the questions about IPV because they experienced them as concrete and distinct. One bilingual Norwegian woman valued the opportunity to answer the questions in her mother tongue.

Many women believed that it was important to be asked about IPV because it was a common reality of everyday life. Most experienced the questions as being relevant, although one woman from the control group had a different opinion as follows:

To answer such questions about violence, you go through your own thoughts really thoroughly, you think what do you want to answer? What do you not want to answer? Will it be saved? Is it an interrogation? You become a little skeptical. [Informant 5]

The questions about IPV made an impression on some of the women. One described that it was painful to be reminded about her own experiences with IPV. Another woman who had been exposed to IPV commented that she had thought about the questions after participating in the tablet intervention.

I actually have, it may sound very stupid, but I have thought about it a lot...I was a bit thoughtful, by the questions, absolutely. After the last child was born, I have thought a lot more about things, probably...because of this questionnaire and the video and that kind of thing. [Informant 9]

Some of the women said that the questions made them reflect about their own life situation. Most women mentioned they were grateful of being in a good relationship with their current partner. A woman from the control group said the following:

It is something about the deeper questions that you may not usually think about, how satisfied you are with things. But, it felt a bit nice to reflect over it, and that, yes, I'm pretty good. [Informant 4]

One woman expressed her gratitude to her husband as follows:

I realized that it is a reality in many families, but I was a little proud of my husband, who is very nice and loving to me. [Informant 1]

Attitudes Toward and Experiences With the Film About IPV on a Tablet Shown at the MCHC

Most women did not remember anything from the film, and all of them chose to watch it during the interview. They perceived the MCHC as a safe place to watch a film about IPV, noting that not every woman was safe in her own home. A woman from the intervention group described the film as follows:

It can really give a feeling that there is someone who cares here, and maybe there are some ways out...the film gives concrete advice...I got the impression that it is perhaps easy to do the things like contacting the police or women's shelter or just talk to the midwife...immediately when you are at the MCHC. [Informant 8]

A woman with an immigrant background expressed that the film could be of importance for women who lacked knowledge about their civil rights. She felt that immigrant women needed to know where they could receive help if they were a victim of IPV. After watching the film again during the interview, many participants understood that IPV was a reality for some women. They thought that the film could help women who had experienced IPV feel that they were not alone. Some women stated that the film made them aware of different types of IPV and that it was important to receive this information. One participant who had experienced IPV was of the opinion that physical violence was more obvious and therefore easier to detect than psychological violence.

When it is physical violence, it is quite clear to a woman it is violence...it is important that they mention there is also violence when they control you...I think it has a lot of information and describes very well if you have doubts about whether you are in a violent relationship or not, it is very well described. [Informant 6]

Some women thought that the film was useful because they learned how victims of IPV could experience their lives, and it could contribute to care for these women.

It is also useful for me to be aware that someone can experience it, and maybe when I talk to other pregnant women...be concerned that someone may experience it...if I see it, respond to it. [Informant 8]

Motivation to Participate in the Safe Pregnancy Study

The women had different reasons for participating. Some wished to participate because they wanted to influence and contribute to improvement of the service at the MCHC. Others were motivated to participate if it would help to improve the intervention. Informant 6 expressed her motivation as follows:

I decided it was very important for me to participate, but also give feedback to develop the program. [Informant 6]

Like others, she also thought that the topic was important.

For me it was very important, it is a reason why I am here today, because I found it especially important. [Informant 6]

Many stated that they participated because they usually participate in research projects. They believed that someone had to participate to make research possible, as described by a woman who was in the control group as follows:

I usually participate in most research projects I am asked to participate in...I don't mind...it is important to receive information. [Informant 3]

Informant 10 thought that participating in the tablet intervention and the interview could help her to become integrated into Norwegian society.

Because I also need to talk...because I came here to learn something new...and at least integrate into society, which I have not before. [Informant 10]

Women's Suggestions to Improve the Tablet Intervention

Women with an immigrant background thought that it was important to make the film available elsewhere, not only at the MCHC. They suggested that general practitioners' offices or Norwegian language courses could be good locations. They thought that by doing this, women could receive the information at an earlier stage.

Informant 6 suggested that there should be an opportunity for women to consent in the questionnaire if they wanted help with IPV. She reported that women who stated they were exposed to IPV may want help and therefore should be invited to a new consultation with a midwife.

Informant 9 had the opinion that the tablet intervention was not good enough alone and should be supplemented with support from health care professionals.

It is a bit incomplete, in a way...if you are going to start with it, then you have to get a little closer to the person in an individual way. [Informant 9]

It was suggested that there should be contact information for support services when women answered the questionnaire. Informant 6 felt it was important that information in the film about support services was given in a way that assures women are safe if they wish to contact them. She also thought that the film should contain more information on IPV being a common problem and women being not alone in experiencing IPV.

Many families experience problems with violence, you are not alone and maybe something that makes the woman trust a crisis center or makes it feel close, because it isn't easy to just call a number, I need help. That is a very, very, very difficult thing to do. [Informant 6]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study showed that women who participated in the tablet intervention had positive attitudes and experiences to answer questions and see a film about IPV on a tablet. The MCHC was regarded as a suitable place for questions and a film on IPV, particularly when staff followed up on it. The majority of the women in this study found the questions on the tablet intervention easy to answer. However, it was important to supplement the questions and film with face-to-face communication with the midwife. Furthermore, they suggested making the tablet intervention available in other settings, such as Norwegian language courses and general practitioners' offices. Women's negative attitudes were mainly related to uncertainty about their anonymity regarding the answers they gave in the questionnaire.

Comparison With Previous Work

Other studies have identified women's positive attitudes toward and experiences with eHealth tools to communicate about IPV [23-25]. Women in our study said that questions and a film about IPV on a tablet provided an opportunity for a conversation with the midwife because they felt that the topic was known to them. Bacchus et al [25] conducted semistructured interviews with participants in an RCT with a computer tablet intervention for IPV. They found that women regarded a computer tablet intervention for IPV screening during perinatal home visits as an opportunity to talk to health professionals, and it gave women a feeling of being cared for. This is supported by Chang et al [23], who performed a qualitative study to compare in-person and computerized screening for IPV. They found that electronic questions about IPV prepared women to talk about their experiences with their health care provider.

Women in our study acknowledged the opportunity to answer the questions about IPV on a tablet undisturbed. Other studies have found that questions about IPV on a tablet are regarded as a safe and confidential way for abused women to disclose their experiences of IPV [18,19,23,25]. Women in this study expressed that they were able to reflect on the questions while answering alone, which in turn probably enhanced their level of honesty. Tarzia et al [24] did a qualitative study as part of an evaluation process of two Australian RCTs about safety for women experiencing IPV. They found that women exposed to IPV appreciated answering questions about violence in private and reflected about their life situation via an interactive online intervention. Previous studies have found that women who are exposed to IPV express challenges in disclosing this in face-to-face situations because they are worried about confidentiality and judgmental responses [7,16,19,23,34]. Interventions delivered via the internet have been rated as a preferred alternative method to face-to-face support for women experiencing IPV [24]. This might have the potential to overcome some barriers associated with accessing face-to-face screening [24]. Self-administrated questionnaires for IPV, including computer-based assessment tools, may thus be more effective than face-to-face questioning [17].

However, women who had positive attitudes toward and experiences with the tablet intervention in our study expressed that the tablet intervention should be supplemented with face-to-face support from health care professionals. A trusting relationship in a face-to-face intervention can create a safe place to talk, facilitate disclosure, and meet individual needs [24].

Bacchus et al [25] also found that a trusting relationship with a provider as a supplement to eHealth intervention was important to achieve disclosure of IPV. Chang et al [23] found that in-person screening provided for tailored questioning and more emotional connection with the provider and suggested that both in-person intervention and computerized screening were good methods for women to disclose IPV.

In line with this study, an earlier Norwegian study showed that women regarded the MCHC as an appropriate place to receive information about IPV [16]. Antenatal care was regarded as a suitable place to talk about IPV because pregnant women make repeated visits during their pregnancy [35,36]. The visits at an antenatal clinic can help create a trusting relationship between the pregnant woman and the health care provider [35]. Women in this study suggested that places other than MCHCs, such as general practitioners' offices and Norwegian language centers, could also be appropriate places to introduce the tablet intervention. Other settings for IPV interventions have been examined. Bacchus et al [25] found that an eHealth tool for IPV could successfully be used in perinatal home visits. Bacchus et al [25] asserted that the context in which IPV technology was being introduced had to be considered. There should be a possibility for a patient-provider relationship in addition to IPV technology.

We also identified negative attitudes and experiences to answer questions about IPV on a tablet. For some women, participation in the tablet intervention led to further reflection on the topic. Some expressed that it was painful to be reminded about their experiences with IPV. A qualitative user-involvement study with the purpose of developing the film, which was a part of the Safe Pregnancy Study, found that women acknowledged that the film potentially could trigger painful memories [18]. This emphasizes the importance of face-to-face support from a provider as a supplement to questions about IPV on a tablet. In order not to influence the RCT outcome, health professionals in the Safe Pregnancy Study were blinded to the responses of the women, which is why all women were offered to watch a film. Thus, only women who took initiative themselves or screened positive on the routine questions on violence asked by the midwife received more follow-up if desired.

Interestingly, our study showed no real differences between ethnic Norwegian and immigrant women's attitudes toward and experiences with the tablet intervention. This is in line with another Norwegian study that found independent of ethnicity, women said that they want to be asked and talk about IPV [16]. In line with other qualitative studies, both ethnic Norwegians and immigrant women in this study said that the questions were easy to answer, and that the topic was important [18,23]. However, some women expressed a feeling of being interrogated when answering the questions about IPV. Despite reassurance of confidentiality, there was uncertainty about their anonymity regarding the answers they gave in the questionnaire. Chang et al [23] also found that women answering questions about IPV on a tablet were uncertain who would get the information from their IPV disclosure. Previous studies indicate that anonymity is crucial for disclosing IPV [18,25]. eHealth tools aim to provide easy access to tailored health care information. However, eHealth tools might involve a risk within information security and privacy [37]. This might affect users' willingness to share information because they reveal sensitive information [37]. This emphasizes the importance of health care professionals giving out information about the trustworthiness of eHealth technology [25].

Limitations and Strengths

Time from participation in the tablet intervention to the interview might have caused recall bias, as several women had poor or no recollection of the film. They chose to see the questions and film again during the interview. Ideally, the interview should have been conducted shortly after the tablet intervention. The sample in this study was limited to the population in the Safe Pregnancy Study and was too small to draw conclusions about a broader population of women. It is a limitation that few immigrant women were recruited in this study. Inclusion criteria included that they had to speak Norwegian because the interviews were conducted in Norwegian. This may be the reason why this study did not find a clearer distinction between ethnic Norwegian and immigrant women. The findings in this study can be compared to other RCT studies where women's responses to IPV technology have been examined [23-25]. It can contribute to further development of eHealth interventions for IPV screening and information about safety behaviors. The researchers who conducted the interviews were not involved in the design of the Safe Pregnancy Study. This is a strength because it might have contributed to facilitating data collection where the women could share nuanced views. The data set was read by all the authors. The interpretation and potential themes were discussed among the authors to improve the credibility of the findings.

Few studies have examined women's attitudes and experiences with eHealth interventions to promote safety behaviors in order to reduce IPV. This study provides insights into the evaluation of complex interventions about IPV to promote safety behaviors.

Conclusions

Women who participated in the tablet intervention had positive attitudes and experiences to answer questions about IPV and watch a film about safety behaviors on a tablet. The majority of the women in this study thought that a questionnaire on a tablet was easy to answer and they acknowledged that the MCHC was an appropriate place. They considered that the intervention might initiate and facilitate communication about IPV in antenatal care. Thus, IPV technology should be supplemented with the possibility of face-to-face communication. Women's negative attitudes and experiences to answer questions about IPV on a tablet were mainly related to uncertainty regarding anonymity. Hence, tablet interventions to promote safety behaviors in pregnant women should be accompanied by information about women's privacy.



Acknowledgments

We thank the women who participated in the interviews.

Authors' Contributions

LGH, LH, and ML conceived the idea and design of the study. BW, HI, and LGH formulated the interview guide, which was approved by ML and LH. BW and HI collected the data. BW and HI performed the analyses, guided by LGH. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the findings. HI and BW wrote the manuscript, supervised by LGH. All authors approved the final draft.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [DOCX File , 25 KB - formative_v5i7e28680_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Characteristics of the study participants. [DOCX File , 25 KB - formative v5i7e28680 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women. World Health Organisation. 2013. URL: https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/violence/9789241548595/en/ [accessed 2021-06-08]
- 2. Global regional estimates of violence against women: Prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence. World Health Organization. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241564625</u> [accessed 2021-07-10]
- 3. James L, Brody D, Hamilton Z. Risk factors for domestic violence during pregnancy: a meta-analytic review. Violence Vict 2013;28(3):359-380. [doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.vv-d-12-00034] [Medline: 23862304]
- 4. Henriksen L, Flaathen EM, Angelshaug J, Garnweidner-Holme L, Småstuen MC, Noll J, et al. The Safe Pregnancy study - promoting safety behaviours in antenatal care among Norwegian, Pakistani and Somali pregnant women: a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health 2019 Jun 10;19(1):724-729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6922-y] [Medline: 31182062]
- Lukasse M, Schroll A, Ryding EL, Campbell J, Karro H, Kristjansdottir H, et al. Prevalence of emotional, physical and sexual abuse among pregnant women in six European countries. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2014 Jul 20;93(7):669-677 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/aogs.12392] [Medline: 24720803]
- Stockman JK, Hayashi H, Campbell JC. Intimate Partner Violence and its Health Impact on Ethnic Minority Women [corrected]. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2015 Jan;24(1):62-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2014.4879] [Medline: 25551432]
- Edin KE, Dahlgren L, Lalos A, Högberg U. "Keeping up a front": narratives about intimate partner violence, pregnancy, and antenatal care. Violence Against Women 2010 Feb 06;16(2):189-206. [doi: <u>10.1177/1077801209355703</u>] [Medline: <u>20053947</u>]
- Van Parys A, Verhamme A, Temmerman M, Verstraelen H. Intimate partner violence and pregnancy: a systematic review of interventions. PLoS One 2014 Jan 17;9(1):e85084-e85084 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085084] [Medline: 24482679]
- Hill A, Pallitto C, McCleary-Sills J, Garcia-Moreno C. A systematic review and meta-analysis of intimate partner violence during pregnancy and selected birth outcomes. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2016 Jun 11;133(3):269-276. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.10.023] [Medline: 27039053]
- Pastor-Moreno G, Ruiz-Pérez I, Henares-Montiel J, Petrova D. Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and risk of fetal and neonatal death: a meta-analysis with socioeconomic context indicators. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Feb;222(2):123-133.e5. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.07.045] [Medline: 31394067]
- Alhusen JL, Ray E, Sharps P, Bullock L. Intimate partner violence during pregnancy: maternal and neonatal outcomes. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2015 Jan;24(1):100-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2014.4872] [Medline: 25265285]
- 12. Jewkes R. Intimate partner violence: causes and prevention. The Lancet 2002 Apr;359(9315):1423-1429. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(02)08357-5]
- 13. Svangerskapsomsorgen. Helsedirektoratet. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/svangerskapsomsorgen</u> [accessed 2021-07-10]

- Linde DS, Bakiewicz A, Normann AK, Hansen NB, Lundh A, Rasch V. Intimate Partner Violence and Electronic Health Interventions: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 11;22(12):e22361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22361] [Medline: 33306030]
- Fair F, Raben L, Watson H, Vivilaki V, van den Muijsenbergh M, Soltani H, ORAMMA team. Migrant women's experiences of pregnancy, childbirth and maternity care in European countries: A systematic review. PLoS One 2020 Feb 11;15(2):e0228378 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0228378] [Medline: 32045416]
- 16. Garnweidner-Holme LM, Lukasse M, Solheim M, Henriksen L. Talking about intimate partner violence in multi-cultural antenatal care: a qualitative study of pregnant women's advice for better communication in South-East Norway. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2017 Apr 19;17(1):123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-017-1308-6] [Medline: 28420328]
- 17. Weil A. Intimate partner violence: Diagnosis and screening. Up To Date. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/</u> intimate-partner-violence-diagnosis-and-screening/print#! [accessed 2021-07-10]
- Flaathen EME, Lukasse M, Garnweidner-Holme L, Angelshaug J, Henriksen L. User-Involvement in the Development of a Culturally Sensitive Intervention in the Safe Pregnancy Study to Prevent Intimate Partner Violence. Violence Against Women 2020 Sep 28:1077801220954274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1077801220954274] [Medline: 32985376]
- Taft AJ, Hooker L, Humphreys C, Hegarty K, Walter R, Adams C, et al. Maternal and child health nurse screening and care for mothers experiencing domestic violence (MOVE): a cluster randomised trial. BMC Med 2015 Jun 25;13(1):150-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0375-7] [Medline: 26111528]
- 20. Garnweidner-Holme L, Hoel Andersen T, Sando MW, Noll J, Lukasse M. Health Care Professionals' Attitudes Toward, and Experiences of Using, a Culture-Sensitive Smartphone App for Women with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Qualitative Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 May 14;6(5):e123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9686] [Medline: 29759959]
- 21. Hussain N, Sprague S, Madden K, Hussain FN, Pindiprolu B, Bhandari M. A comparison of the types of screening tool administration methods used for the detection of intimate partner violence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Trauma Violence Abuse 2015 Jan 15;16(1):60-69. [doi: 10.1177/1524838013515759] [Medline: 24343478]
- 22. Lewin S, Glenton C, Oxman AD. Use of qualitative methods alongside randomised controlled trials of complex healthcare interventions: methodological study. BMJ 2009 Sep 10;339(sep10 1):b3496-b3496 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b3496] [Medline: 19744976]
- Chang JC, Dado D, Schussler S, Hawker L, Holland CL, Burke JG, et al. In person versus computer screening for intimate partner violence among pregnant patients. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Sep;88(3):443-448 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2012.06.021] [Medline: 22770815]
- 24. Tarzia L, Cornelio R, Forsdike K, Hegarty K. Women's Experiences Receiving Support Online for Intimate Partner Violence: How Does it Compare to Face-to-Face Support from a Health Professional? Interacting with Computers 2018;30(5):433-443. [doi: <u>10.1093/iwc/iwy019</u>]
- 25. Bacchus LJ, Bullock L, Sharps P, Burnett C, Schminkey DL, Buller AM, et al. Infusing Technology Into Perinatal Home Visitation in the United States for Women Experiencing Intimate Partner Violence: Exploring the Interpretive Flexibility of an mHealth Intervention. J Med Internet Res 2016 Nov 17;18(11):e302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6251] [Medline: 27856405]
- 26. O'Doherty L, Taket A, Valpied J, Hegarty K. Receiving care for intimate partner violence in primary care: Barriers and enablers for women participating in the weave randomised controlled trial. Soc Sci Med 2016 Jul;160:35-42. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.05.017] [Medline: 27208669]
- Moonesinghe L, Rajapaksa L, Samarasinghe G. Development of a screening instrument to detect physical abuse and its use in a cohort of pregnant women in Sri Lanka. Asia Pac J Public Health 2004 Jun 30;16(2):138-144. [doi: 10.1177/101053950401600211] [Medline: 15624793]
- 28. Rabin RF, Jennings JM, Campbell JC, Bair-Merritt MH. Intimate partner violence screening tools: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2009 May;36(5):439-445.e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.01.024] [Medline: 19362697]
- 29. Ford-Gilboe M, Wathen CN, Varcoe C, MacMillan HL, Scott-Storey K, Mantler T, et al. Development of a brief measure of intimate partner violence experiences: the Composite Abuse Scale (Revised)-Short Form (CASR-SF). BMJ Open 2016 Dec 07;6(12):e012824 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012824] [Medline: 27927659]
- 30. Hegarty K, Sheehan M, Schonfeld C. A Multidimensional Definition of Partner Abuse: Development and Preliminary Validation of the Composite Abuse Scale. Journal of Family Violence 1999;14(4):399-415. [doi: 10.1023/A:1022834215681]
- McFarlane J, Malecha A, Gist J, Watson K, Batten E, Hall I, et al. An intervention to increase safety behaviors of abused women: results of a randomized clinical trial. Nurs Res 2002;51(6):347-354. [doi: <u>10.1097/00006199-200211000-00002</u>] [Medline: <u>12464754</u>]
- 32. McFarlane J, Malecha A, Gist J, Watson K, Batten E, Hall I, et al. Increasing the safety-promoting behaviors of abused women. Am J Nurs 2004 Mar;104(3):40-50; quiz 50. [doi: 10.1097/00000446-200403000-00019] [Medline: 15108570]
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: <u>10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>]
- Byrskog U, Essén B, Olsson P, Klingberg-Allvin M. 'Moving on' Violence, wellbeing and questions about violence in antenatal care encounters. A qualitative study with Somali-born refugees in Sweden. Midwifery 2016 Sep;40:10-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2016.05.009] [Medline: 27428093]

- 35. Ellsberg M. Violence against women and the Millennium Development Goals: facilitating women's access to support. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2006 Sep 12;94(3):325-332. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2006.04.021] [Medline: 16842792]
- Devries KM, Kishor S, Johnson H, Stöckl H, Bacchus LJ, Garcia-Moreno C, et al. Intimate partner violence during pregnancy: analysis of prevalence data from 19 countries. Reproductive Health Matters 2010 Nov 24;18(36):158-170. [doi: 10.1016/s0968-8080(10)36533-5]
- Dehling T, Gao F, Schneider S, Sunyaev A. Exploring the Far Side of Mobile Health: Information Security and Privacy of Mobile Health Apps on iOS and Android. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Jan 19;3(1):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3672] [Medline: 25599627]

Abbreviations

AAS: Abused Assessment Screen IPV: intimate partner violence MCHC: Mother and Child Health Center RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.03.21; peer-reviewed by LJ Li, AM Almeida; comments to author 11.05.21; revised version received 13.05.21; accepted 29.05.21; published 20.07.21.

Please cite as:

Walter B, Indreboe H, Lukasse M, Henriksen L, Garnweidner-Holme L Pregnant Women's Attitudes Toward and Experiences With a Tablet Intervention to Promote Safety Behaviors in a Randomized Controlled Trial: Qualitative Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e28680 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28680 doi:10.2196/28680 PMID:34283023

©Bente Walter, Hege Indreboe, Mirjam Lukasse, Lena Henriksen, Lisa Garnweidner-Holme. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 20.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Studying How Individuals Who Express the Feeling of Loneliness in an Online Loneliness Forum Communicate in a Nonloneliness Forum: Observational Study

Anietie Andy¹, PhD

Penn Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author: Anietie Andy, PhD Penn Medicine 3400 Civic Blvd Philadelphia, PA, United States Phone: 1 202 486 4095 Email: andyanietie@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Loneliness is a public health concern, and increasingly, individuals experiencing loneliness are seeking support on online forums, some of which focus on discussions around loneliness (loneliness forums). Some of these individuals may also seek support around loneliness on online forums not related to loneliness or well-being (nonloneliness forums). Hence, to design and implement appropriate and efficient online loneliness interventions, it is important to understand how individuals who express and seek support around loneliness on online loneliness forums communicate in nonloneliness forums; this could provide further insights into the support needs and concerns of these users.

Objective: This study aims to explore how users who express the feeling of loneliness and seek support around loneliness on an online loneliness forum communicate in an online nonloneliness forum.

Methods: A total of 2401 users who expressed loneliness in posts published on a loneliness forum on Reddit and had published posts in a nonloneliness forum were identified. Using latent Dirichlet allocation (a natural language processing algorithm); Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (a psycholinguistic dictionary); and the word score–based language features *valence*, *arousal*, and *dominance*, the language use differences in posts published in the nonloneliness forum by these users compared to a control group of users who did not belong to any loneliness forum on Reddit were determined.

Results: It was found that in posts published in the nonloneliness forum, users who expressed loneliness tend to use more words associated with the Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count categories on sadness (Cohen d=0.10) and seeking to socialize (Cohen d=0.114), and use words associated with *valence* (Cohen d=0.364) and *dominance* (Cohen d=0.117). In addition, they tend to publish posts related to latent Dirichlet allocation topics such as relationships (Cohen d=0.105) and family and friends and mental health (Cohen d=0.10).

Conclusions: There are clear distinctions in language use in nonloneliness forum posts by users who express loneliness compared to a control group of users. These findings can help with the design and implementation of online interventions around loneliness.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e28738) doi:<u>10.2196/28738</u>

KEYWORDS

loneliness; Reddit; nonloneliness; mental health; eHealth; forum; online forum; communication; natural language processing; language; linguistics

Introduction

Loneliness is a public health challenge [1]; it affects the well-being of individuals of all age groups [2,3] and has been linked to early death [4,5], depression [6,7], and heart disease [8].

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28738

Several prior works [1,9,10] have analyzed data from social media platforms and online forums, some of which focus on discussions around loneliness (loneliness forums) to understand the support needs of individuals who express loneliness on these platforms. These individuals may also seek support and express concerns as it relates to loneliness, such as how to develop or



maintain relationships, on online forums not focused on discussions around loneliness or well-being (nonloneliness forums). To better understand the support needs of users who express loneliness on online loneliness forums and to design and implement appropriate and efficient online interventions, it is important to study how these individuals communicate in nonloneliness forums.

Using natural language processing methods, prior works determined that the language used in posts published on social media platforms and online forums can be used to gain insights into how users communicate on these forums and the types of support they seek and express, as it relates to their health and well-being. For example, language used in posts published on Facebook was used to train a machine learning model to predict patients risk for cardiovascular disease [11]. In addition, language used on online forum posts were used to determine the support needs of users in substance use recovery forums [12], a COVID-19 online forum [13,14], and an online cancer forum [15-17]. Regarding loneliness, prior works analyzed social media data belonging to individuals who expressed loneliness; for example, Guntuku et al [1] analyzed Twitter posts from users who self-declared feeling lonely, and it was determined that the language used by these users in their Twitter posts was more associated with mental health concerns. Kivran-Swaine et al [18] determined that posts in which users expressed loneliness tended to receive more responses compared to other posts by the same users. Ruiz et al [9] showed that the more loneliness users express on social media, the less online relationships they had. Hunt et al [10] showed that there is an association between less social media use and a decrease in the feeling of loneliness and depression.

Similar to prior works, in this study, using natural language processing methods, language used on posts published on a nonloneliness online forum are analyzed to gain insights into the support needs and concerns of individuals who express loneliness in a loneliness online forum. Potentially, information gleaned from the analyses in this study will provide further insights into the support needs and concerns of individuals expressing loneliness on online loneliness forums, thereby informing loneliness interventions.

Methods

Data and Design

For the analysis in this study, data from Reddit was used. Reddit is made up of more than 1 million subforums (called subreddits) [19] focused on discussions around specific topics such as depression, loneliness, and open-ended questions spanning various topics. In addition, Reddit allows members to join several of these forums; hence, it is possible to get posts published in a nonloneliness forum by users who are members of a loneliness forum. Using Google's BigQuery [20], which is a data warehouse with publicly accessible Reddit data sets published between December 2015 and August 2019, posts from Reddit forums focused on discussions around loneliness were identified by selecting the forums that contained the word "Lonely" in its name (eg, "/r/lonelyheartbeats," "/r/iAMlonely," and "/r/Lonely"). It was observed that the forum /r/Lonely had more posts and members compared to the other forums, which each had less than 200 published posts during the time period in which the data was collected. Hence, for the analysis in this study, usernames of members of /r/Lonely were used; specifically, the usernames of 9956 users who had published a total of 15,012 posts on the /r/Lonely forum were selected.

To identify the other Reddit forums in which these users belong to and tend to publish posts, using the usernames from /r/Lonely, all the forums on Reddit were searched to determine the forums in which these /r/Lonely users tend to publish posts. It was observed that the forums with the most number of these users as members are /r/AskReddit (a forum in which users seek advice and ask open-ended questions on various topics) and /r/depression (a forum focused on discussions around depression) with posts by 24% (n=2401) and 20% (n=2031), respectively, of the /r/Lonely users (N=9956) in the data set. Since the focus of this study is to determine how individuals who express loneliness on an online loneliness forum communicate in nonloneliness forums (ie, forums not focused on loneliness or well-being), for all the analysis in this study, data from /r/AskReddit by 2401 users who expressed loneliness in /r/Lonely were used. The author reviewed the posts (N=4001) published on /r/Lonely by these users and observed that these users expressed feeling lonely in their /r/Lonely posts by stating that they were feeling lonely (eg, rephrased "I am a 25 years old female and I am always lonely"), implied that they were feeling lonely (eg, rephrased "I moved to a new city and I don't know anyone"), or sought support as it relates to loneliness (eg, rephrased "Where can I find tools online to help with loneliness?").

Each of the 2401 users who posted on */r/Lonely* and had published posts on */r/AskReddit* were matched with a control group user who had no published posts on any loneliness forum on Reddit and had published posts on */r/AskReddit* between December 2015 and August 2019.

Table 1 shows information about the data set.

Table 1. Summary of /r/AskReddit posts published between December 2015 and August 2019 by /r/Lonely users and a control group.

Variables	/r/Lonely users	Control group
Users, n	2401	2401
Posts, n	25,834	34,718

In this study, the following methods were used to determine language use differences in */r/AskReddit* posts by users who express loneliness compared to the control group: a topic modeling approach, a dictionary-based approach, and a word

score–based approach. Cohen d, which indicates the standardized difference between means, was used to report the effect sizes. In this study, only results with Cohen d greater than

XSI•F(

or equal to a threshold (ie, 0.10) and that are significant at Bonferroni-corrected P values <.001 are reported.

The topic modeling approach and the dictionary-based approaches were used because prior works used these approaches to gain insights from social media data about the language use differences between individuals in different genders [21] and age groups [22], and to determine the language use differences between users who express loneliness compared to a control group of users who did not express loneliness [1]. The word score–based approach was used because prior work [23] used these methods to better understand language features associated with persuasion in online forum posts and comments.

Topic Modeling Approach

In this section, the natural language processing topic modeling method latent Dirichlet allocation (LDA) [24] was used. LDA works by, first, splitting words in Reddit posts into single words or tokens (tokenization). Second, words that co-occur together are clustered together; the cluster of words are referred to as topics, and based on the content words associated with each topic, a label can be assigned to the topics. For example, LDA could group the words "family," "mom," "dad," "daughter," and "son" as a reference to family. LDA assumes that the topics consist of a combination of words, and each Reddit post is made up of a combination of topics. Using the Dlatk package [25], 20 LDA topics were generated from the /r/AskReddit posts associated with /r/Lonely users and the control group users; to determine the number of LDA topics, the number of topics varied between 5 and 50 topics by starting with 5 topics and incrementing by 2 topics up to 50 topics. A total of 20 topics had the most coherent topic themes when reviewed by the author. With the generated topics, using the Dlatk package [25], the topic themes that frequently occurred in the /r/AskReddit posts by /r/Lonely users when compared with the control group users were identified.

Dictionary-Based Approach

In this approach, language from /r/AskReddit posts associated with the /r/Lonely users and the control group users were used to determine the prevalence of Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) [26] dictionary word categories in posts associated with these groups of users. LIWC is a psycholinguistic dictionary made up of 73 predefined categories such as positive and negative emotions; each of these categories has a curated list of words associated with it. LIWC has been used in several prior works [1,22,27]. Using the Dlatk package [25], for each group of /r/AskReddit posts (ie, posts belonging to /r/Lonely users and the control group users), the proportion of token words associated with LIWC categories were determined.

Word Score–Based Approach

The word score-based features valence, arousal, and dominance have been used by prior works to study communication strategies in an online forum [23,28]. Valence indicates the measure of the positive or negative denotation of a word; for example, "enjoyable" is a high valence word and "nightmare" is a low valence word. Arousal measures the emotional intensity expressed in a word; an example of a high arousal word is "exhilarated," and an example of a low arousal word is "siesta." Dominance indicates the measure of the locus of control expressed in a word; for example "powerful" is a high dominance word, and "weak" is a low dominance word. Mohammad [28] provided a lexicon of human ratings for valence, arousal, and dominance for 20,000 words in English; using this lexicon, for each post in the data set, the average ratings of all content words in each of these word categories (ie, valence, arousal, and dominance) was computed.

Results

Topic Modeling Approach

 Table 2 shows the most significant LDA topics in /r/Askreddit

 posts by /r/Lonely users compared to the control group.

Table 2. Results from latent Dirichlet allocation analysis on /r/AskReddit posts by /r/Lonely users compared to the control group users.

Label	Highly correlated words	Cohen d	Mean (SD)
Relationships	people, love, hate, relationship, find, can't, lose, meet, stop, married	0.105	0.038 (0.048)
Family and friends/mental health	family, friends, deal, talk, experience, depression, mental, care, service, dear	0.10	0.038 (0.053)

Dictionary-Based Approach

Table 3 shows the different LIWC categories in */r/AskReddit* posts most associated with */r/Lonely* users compared to the control group users.

Table 3. Results from LIWC analysis on /r/AskReddit posts by /r/Lonely users compared to the control group users.

LIWC ^a category	Cohen d	Mean (SD)
Social processes	0.114	0.157 (0.08)
Sadness	0.10	0.083 (0.042)

^aLIWC: Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28738

Word Score–Based Approach

Using Cohen *d*, the effect size between the features that represent the average *valence*, *arousal*, and *dominance* scores

for posts in the data set and a feature that represents if a */r/AskReddit* post was by a */r/Lonely* user or a control group user was determined, as shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Results from word score-based language feature analysis on /r/AskReddit posts by /r/Lonely users compared to the control group users.

Attribute	Cohen d
Valence	0.364
Arousal	-0.004
Dominance	0.117

Discussion

Findings

Using natural language processing methods, this study shows the distinction in language use in posts published on a nonloneliness forum by users who express and seek support around loneliness in an online loneliness forum compared to a control group of users. These language use differences reflect the support needs and concerns of these users. The findings from this study are summarized in this section.

This study determined that users who express the feeling of loneliness in */r/Lonely* tend to seek advice and ask questions about relationships on */r/AskReddit* (Table 2) compared to the control group users. This finding is in line with prior work [1] that determined that individuals who expressed loneliness on Twitter tend to publish Twitter messages related to themes about difficult interpersonal relationships.

In addition, this study has findings that were not in prior work; specifically, it was observed that individuals who express loneliness in a loneliness forum tend to seek advice and ask questions about mental health concerns as it relates to their family members and friends; for example, the following are examples of */r/AskReddit* posts (rephrased) by */r/Lonely* users seeking advice as it relates to their relationships with family members and friends:

I need advice on how to deal with a family member / friend who keeps criticizing me.

I need help, if one is struggling with mental health, what is the best way to explain it to family members and friends?

Using LIWC, it was observed that users who expressed loneliness in the loneliness forum tended to use more words associated with sadness and wanting to socialize in the nonloneliness forum.

Using the word score–based language features valence, arousal, and dominance, it was determined that the average valence and dominance scores in /r/AskReddit posts are more associated with posts by users who express loneliness on /r/Lonely. A potential explanation for dominance being more associated with /r/AskReddit posts by /r/Lonely users is that some of these users

seek support and express vulnerability in these posts; low dominance words suggest vulnerability, hence the association. Additionally, a potential explanation for *valence* being more associated with */r/AskReddit* posts by */r/Lonely* users is that these users tend to use low *valence* words in these posts, hence the association.

This study shows that users who express loneliness in a loneliness forum seek support and communicate differently from a control group of users in a nonloneliness forum. The findings from this study can aid in the design and implementation of online loneliness interventions; for example, given that users who express loneliness in the loneliness forum ask questions and seek advice as it relates to their relationships (with family and friends) and use more words associated with seeking to socialize and sadness (Table 3), online loneliness interventions can provide services in which advice and tips are given to users on how to develop, maintain, and navigate relationships.

From this study's findings, when designing and implementing online loneliness interventions, it is important to not only focus on user communication in loneliness forums but also look into how these users communicate in nonloneliness forums.

Limitations

In this study, data from Reddit users was used and may not be representative of all individuals (some of whom may not publish posts on online forums expressing their feeling of loneliness) who feel lonely.

Ethics and Privacy

The data set used for this study is publicly available. For all the analyses in this study, no user or moderator of any loneliness forum on Reddit (including */r/Lonely*) was contacted. In addition, besides the usernames of */r/Lonely* users, no other information from user profiles was used or accessed.

Conclusion

In this study, using natural language processing methods, it was determined that users who express loneliness in an online loneliness forum communicated differently in a nonloneliness forum when compared to a control group of users. The findings from this study can aid with the design and implementation of online loneliness interventions.


Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Guntuku SC, Schneider R, Pelullo A, Young J, Wong V, Ungar L, et al. Studying expressions of loneliness in individuals using Twitter: an observational study. BMJ Open 2019 Nov 04;9(11):e030355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030355] [Medline: 31685502]
- Luhmann M, Hawkley LC. Age differences in loneliness from late adolescence to oldest old age. Dev Psychol 2016 Jun;52(6):943-959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/dev0000117] [Medline: 27148782]
- Beutel ME, Klein EM, Brähler E, Reiner I, Jünger C, Michal M, et al. Loneliness in the general population: prevalence, determinants and relations to mental health. BMC Psychiatry 2017 Mar 20;17(1):97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1262-x] [Medline: 28320380]
- 4. Newall NEG, Chipperfield JG, Bailis DS, Stewart TL. Consequences of loneliness on physical activity and mortality in older adults and the power of positive emotions. Health Psychol 2013 Aug;32(8):921-924. [doi: 10.1037/a0029413] [Medline: 22888819]
- Penninx BWJH, van Tilburg T, Kriegsman DMW, Deeg DJH, Boeke AJP, van Eijk JTM. Effects of social support and personal coping resources on mortality in older age: the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. Am J Epidemiol 1997 Sep 15;146(6):510-519. [doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009305] [Medline: 9290512]
- 6. Joiner JT, Rudd MD. Disentangling the interrelations between hopelessness, loneliness, and suicidal ideation. Suicide Life Threat Behav 1996;26(1):19-26. [Medline: <u>9173606</u>]
- Wei M, Russell DW, Zakalik RA. Adult attachment, social self-efficacy, self-disclosure, loneliness, and subsequent depression for freshman college students: a longitudinal study. J Counseling Psychol 2005 Oct;52(4):602-614. [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.4.602]
- Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for CVD: implications for evidence-based patient care and scientific inquiry. Heart 2016 Jul 01;102(13):987-989 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2015-309242] [Medline: 27091845]
- Ruiz C, Ito K, Wakamiya S, Aramaki E. Loneliness in a connected world: analyzing online activity and expressions on real life relationships of lonely users. 2017 Presented at: The AAAI 2017 Spring Symposium on Wellbeing AI: From Machine Learning to Subjectivity Oriented Computing; January 1, 2017; California p. 726-733. [doi: 10.7591/cornell/9781501705335.003.0006]
- 10. Hunt MG, Marx R, Lipson C, Young J. No more FOMO: limiting social media decreases loneliness and depression. J Soc Clin Psychol 2018 Dec;37(10):751-768. [doi: 10.1521/jscp.2018.37.10.751]
- Andy A, Guntuku SC, Adusumalli S, Asch DA, Groeneveld PW, Ungar LH, et al. Predicting cardiovascular risk using social media data: performance evaluation of machine-learning models. JMIR Cardio 2021 Feb 19;5(1):e24473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24473] [Medline: 33605888]
- 12. Andy A, Guntuku S. Does social support expressed in post titles elicit comments in online substance use recovery forums? arXiv. Preprint posted online on November 10, 2020 [FREE Full text]
- Stokes DC, Andy A, Guntuku SC, Ungar LH, Merchant RM. Public priorities and concerns regarding COVID-19 in an online discussion forum: longitudinal topic modeling. J Gen Intern Med 2020 Jul;35(7):2244-2247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05889-w] [Medline: 32399912]
- Andy A, Chu B, Fathy R, Bennett B, Stokes D, Guntuku SC. Understanding social support expressed in a COVID-19 online forum. 2021 Apr 01 Presented at: 12th International Workshop on Health Text Mining and Information Analysis; April 2021; Online p. 19-27.
- Yang D, Kraut R, Levine JM. Commitment of newcomers and old-timers to online health support communities. Proc SIGCHI Conf Hum Factor Comput Syst 2017 May;2017:6363-6375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3025453.3026008] [Medline: <u>31423492</u>]
- Yang D, Kraut R, Smith T, Mayfield E, Jurafsky D. Seekers, providers, welcomers, and storytellers: modeling social roles in online health communities. Proc SIGCHI Conf Hum Factor Comput Syst 2019 May;2019:344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300574] [Medline: 31423493]
- Yang D, Yao Z, Seering J, Kraut R. The channel matters: self-disclosure, reciprocity and social support in online cancer support groups. Proc SIGCHI Conf Hum Factor Comput Syst 2019 May;2019:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300261] [Medline: 31448374]
- Kivran-Swaine F, Ting J, Brubaker J, Teodoro R, Naaman M. Understanding loneliness in social awareness streams: expressions and responses. 2014 May 05 Presented at: Eighth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media; June 1-4, 2014; Ann Arbor, MI.
- 19. Fiesler C, Jiang J, McCann J, Frye K, Brubaker JR. Reddit rules! Characterizing an ecosystem of governance. 2018 Jun 15 Presented at: Twelfth International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media; June 25-28, 2018; Palo Alto, CA.

RenderX

- Fernandes S, Bernardino J. What is BigQuery? In: Proceedings of the 19th International Database Engineering & Applications Symposium. 2015 Jul Presented at: IDEAS '15; July 13-15, 2015; Yokohama, Japan p. 202-203. [doi: 10.1145/2790755.2790797]
- 21. Park G, Yaden DB, Schwartz HA, Kern ML, Eichstaedt JC, Kosinski M, et al. Women are warmer but no less assertive than men: gender and language on Facebook. PLoS One 2016;11(5):e0155885 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155885] [Medline: 27223607]
- Schwartz HA, Eichstaedt JC, Kern ML, Dziurzynski L, Ramones SM, Agrawal M, et al. Personality, gender, and age in the language of social media: the open-vocabulary approach. PLoS One 2013;8(9):e73791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073791] [Medline: 24086296]
- 23. Tan C, Niculae V, Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil C, Lee L. Winning arguments: interaction dynamics and persuasion strategies in good-faith online discussions. In: Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on World Wide Web. 2016 Apr 01 Presented at: WWW '16; April 11-15, 2016; Montréal, QC p. 613-624. [doi: 10.1145/2872427.2883081]
- 24. Blei DM, Ng AY, Jordan MI. Latent Dirichlet allocation. J Machine Learning Res 2003 Jan 01:993-1022.
- Schwartz HA, Giorgi S, Sap M, Crutchley P, Ungar L, Eichstaedt J. DLATK: Differential Language Analysis ToolKit. 2017 Jun 05 Presented at: 2017 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations; September 2017; Copenhagen, Denmark p. 55-60. [doi: <u>10.18653/v1/d17-2010</u>]
- 26. Pennebaker JW, Boyd RL, Jordan K, Blackburn K. The development and psychometric properties of LIWC2015. University Texas Austin 2015 Sep 15:1-10.
- 27. Guntuku SC, Buffone A, Nanyang KJ, Eichstaedt JC, Ungar LH. Understanding and measuring psychological stress using social media. 2019 May 15 Presented at: Thirteenth International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media; June 11-14, 2019; Münich, Germany p. 214-225.
- Mohammad S. Obtaining reliable human ratings of valence, arousal, and dominance for 20,000 English words. 2018 Presented at: 56th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics; July 2018; Melbourne, Australia p. 174-184. [doi: 10.18653/v1/p18-1017]

Abbreviations

LDA: latent Dirichlet allocation LIWC: Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.03.21; peer-reviewed by C Entwistle, M Fiordelli; comments to author 10.05.21; revised version received 04.06.21; accepted 17.06.21; published 20.07.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Andy A Studying How Individuals Who Express the Feeling of Loneliness in an Online Loneliness Forum Communicate in a Nonloneliness Forum: Observational Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e28738 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28738</u> doi:10.2196/28738 PMID:34283026

©Anietie Andy. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 20.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Associations Between Physiological Signals Captured Using Wearable Sensors and Self-reported Outcomes Among Adults in Alcohol Use Disorder Recovery: Development and Usability Study

Parastoo Alinia¹, PhD; Ramesh Kumar Sah¹, MS; Michael McDonell², PhD; Patricia Pendry³, PhD; Sara Parent², PhD; Hassan Ghasemzadeh¹, PhD; Michael John Cleveland³, BPharm, MS, PhD

¹School of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States

²Elson S. Floyd College of Medicine, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States

³Department of Human Development, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Michael John Cleveland, BPharm, MS, PhD Department of Human Development Washington State University 501 Johnson Tower Pullman, WA, 99164 United States Phone: 1 509 335 2870 Email: michael.cleveland@wsu.edu

Abstract

Background: Previous research has highlighted the role of stress in substance misuse and addiction, particularly for relapse risk. Mobile health interventions that incorporate real-time monitoring of physiological markers of stress offer promise for delivering tailored interventions to individuals during high-risk states of heightened stress to prevent alcohol relapse. Before such interventions can be developed, measurements of these processes in ambulatory, real-world settings are needed.

Objective: This research is a proof-of-concept study to establish the feasibility of using a wearable sensor device to continuously monitor stress in an ambulatory setting. Toward that end, we first aimed to examine the quality of 2 continuously monitored physiological signals—electrodermal activity (EDA) and heart rate variability (HRV)—and show that the data follow standard quality measures according to the literature. Next, we examined the associations between the statistical features extracted from the EDA and HRV signals and self-reported outcomes.

Methods: Participants (N=11; female: n=10) were asked to wear an Empatica E4 wearable sensor for continuous unobtrusive physiological signal collection for up to 14 days. During the same time frame, participants responded to a daily diary study using ecological momentary assessment of self-reported stress, emotions, alcohol-related cravings, pain, and discomfort via a web-based survey, which was conducted 4 times daily. Participants also participated in structured interviews throughout the study to assess daily alcohol use and to validate self-reported and physiological stress markers. In the analysis, we first used existing artifact detection methods and physiological signal processing approaches to assess the quality of the physiological data. Next, we examined the descriptive statistics for self-reported outcomes. Finally, we investigated the associations between the features of physiological signals and self-reported outcomes.

Results: We determined that 87.86% (1,032,265/1,174,898) of the EDA signals were clean. A comparison of the frequency of skin conductance responses per minute with previous research confirmed that the physiological signals collected in the ambulatory setting were successful. The results also indicated that the statistical features of the EDA and HRV measures were significantly correlated with the self-reported outcomes, including the number of stressful events marked on the sensor device, positive and negative emotions, and experienced pain and discomfort.

Conclusions: The results demonstrated that the physiological data collected via an Empatica E4 wearable sensor device were consistent with previous literature in terms of the quality of the data and that features of these physiological signals were significantly associated with several self-reported outcomes among a sample of adults diagnosed with alcohol use disorder. These results suggest that ambulatory assessment of stress is feasible and can be used to develop tailored mobile health interventions to enhance sustained recovery from alcohol use disorder.

RenderX

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27891) doi:10.2196/27891

KEYWORDS

alcohol relapse prevention; stress markers; alcohol consumption; electrodermal activity; heart rate variability; emotion; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

A well-established literature describes the important role of stress in addiction and the risk of relapse. For example, laboratory studies have shown that acute stressors increase drug-seeking behaviors in animals [1] and that physiological stress responses in laboratory situations predict relapse among humans [2]. There is also considerable overlap in the neural circuitry affected by stress and substance use [1]. Thus, the associations among cravings, negative emotions, and substance use have been described by a negative reinforcement model whereby the combination of craving, withdrawal-induced negative effect, and a dysregulated reward system during abstinence leads to increased vulnerability to relapse [1]. This model suggests that the ability to automatically detect moments of stress in real-world settings and deliver just-in-time tailored interventions can provide a powerful tool to prevent relapse, especially during the early stages of recovery when relapse risk is highest [3].

A common approach to monitoring stress is to analyze physiological signals, such as electroencephalography, blood volume pulse (BVP), heart rate variability (HRV), galvanic skin response, electrodermal activity (EDA), and electromyography [4-6]. In this study, we focus on assessing the quality of the measured EDA and HRV values as biomarkers of stress in human participants. These 2 signals have been identified as the most useful physiological signals for detecting stress in real-life, ambulatory settings [7]. EDA is one of the most direct methods for measuring the activation of the sympathetic nervous system induced by physical demands and mental stress. EDA measures the variation in the electrical conductance of the skin in response to sweat gland activity. The sympathetic nervous system controls sweat gland activity. If the sympathetic branch of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) is activated by physical demands or mental stress, the number of active sweat gland activity increases, which, in turn, increases skin conductance. Thus, higher levels of EDA are associated with increased levels of stress [8].

HRV refers to the variability of the time interval between consecutive heartbeats in individuals and can be computed from BVP signal readings. Previous research has established HRV as an objective measure of individual differences in emotional responses. In particular, HRV provides information about the flexibility of the ANS, the ease with which an individual can transition between high and low arousal states [9]. In general, higher HRV (or greater variability between the heartbeats) can mean that either the body has a strong ability to tolerate a current state of heightened stress or the body is recovering from previous accumulated stress. At rest, a higher HRV generally indicates a healthier state that shows greater resilience and flexibility in the ANS. In active states, relatively lower HRV might demonstrate better health conditions in individuals, as the heart adjusts to the increased demand [10].

To date, most research studies that have used physiological signals to detect stress have been conducted in controlled laboratory settings [7,11]. This research has demonstrated that multiple physiological signals and derived features can accurately detect induced stress using a variety of stimuli, such as Stroop color tests, mental arithmetic, or public speaking challenges [4]. One advantage of stress detection in these controlled environments is that most often, the ground truth of the condition is known (ie, stressed vs not stressed). However, induced stress in artificial laboratory settings may lack external assessment and thus may not represent the stress experienced by individuals in their daily lives [12]. As a result, recent efforts have used wearable sensors to provide continuous, ambulatory monitoring of stress in uncontrolled, real-world settings [7,11]. However, the potential of this nascent research is characterized by a number of challenges that limit its application. Among these gaps, most research has focused on the ambulatory assessment of stress among healthy adults; very little research has been conducted among clinical populations, such as adults diagnosed with alcohol use disorder (AUD). Furthermore, although previous research suggests that including additional information about the context of a stressful event can improve stress detection in ambulatory settings, this is not commonly achieved.

Objectives

To address these gaps, this study used a multimodal approach to investigate the associations between 2 physiological signals (EDA and HRV) and self-reported outcomes, including alcohol use, heightened stress, positive and negative emotions, alcohol-related cravings, pain, and discomfort, among adults seeking treatment for AUD during a 2-week uncontrolled data collection. Specifically, the aims of this study are 3-fold: (1) to assess the quality of the physiological signals collected from an unobtrusive wearable sensor device, (2) to examine the associations between EDA and self-reported outcomes, and (3) to examine the associations between HRV and self-reported outcomes.

Methods

Participants and Procedures

A convenience sample of 11 participants (10 females) was recruited from adults seeking care at a mental health facility in a Western state in the United States. Potential participants were identified from 2 points in the consort flow of a larger study examining the effectiveness of contingency management treatment among adults with co-occurring serious mental illness and moderate to severe AUD. First, we recruited participants among those who did not meet the primary inclusion criteria of the larger study: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental

XSL•FO RenderX

Disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5) diagnosis of a serious mental illness or DSM-5 diagnosis of moderate to severe AUD. Participants were also identified from among those who did not meet the secondary eligibility criteria, after an induction phase and before randomization to the contingency management conditions. These individuals either failed to achieve an average urine ethyl glucuronide level that indicated recent heavy drinking (>349 ng/mL) or failed to attend at least one study visit during the last week of the 4-week induction phase.

Participants in this study met the following inclusion criteria: (1) aged 18-65 years and (2) self-reported consumption of 4 or more standard drinks on 5 or more occasions in the past 60 days. Participants were also required to own a smartphone with a data plan that allowed them to respond to the ecological momentary assessment (EMA) survey (described in the following section). Exclusion criteria included (1) current DSM-5 diagnosis of a severe drug use disorder, (2) inability to demonstrate competency to provide consent on the MacArthur Competence Assessment Tool for Clinical Research, (3) risk of medically dangerous alcohol withdrawal (ie, seizure within the last 12 months and concern by participant or clinician regarding a potentially dangerous withdrawal), (4) previous diagnosis of dementia, and (5) determination (by the principal investigator of the larger study) that participation would be medically or psychiatrically unsafe.

Data Collection

This study included 3 components: (1) a daily diary study using EMAs of self-reported emotions, cravings, and stress via a web-based survey, prompted 4 times daily; (2) a wearable sensor device (Empatica E4 wristband) that captured continuous physiological markers of stress, including heart rate (HR), skin temperature, bodily movement, HRV, and skin conductance; and (3) structured qualitative interviews to assess daily alcohol use, using a timeline follow-back calendar, and to validate self-reported and physiological markers of stress.

Measures

Continuous Monitoring of Physiological Stress

Each participant was asked to wear an Empatica E4 wristband to record continuous, real-time physiological measures of stress in their daily lives (Figure 1). The noninvasive E4 wristband is a wearable physiological sensor device that provides high-quality data that indicate arousal of the ANS (ie, stress). The E4 contains 4 sensors: (1) photoplethysmography to provide BVP, from which HR, HRV, interbeat interval (IBI), and other cardiovascular features may be derived; (2) EDA, used to measure sympathetic nervous system arousal and to derive features related to stress, engagement, and excitement; (3) a 3-axis accelerometer to capture motion-based activity; and (4) an infrared thermopile, used to measure skin temperature. Physiological data from these sensors were stored in the onboard memory of the E4 and downloaded by the research staff at each follow-up visit. The E4 weighs 40 g (1.41 oz) and is worn like a wristwatch, and all the sensors are embedded in the device. The E4 also includes a push-button interface that allows for data annotation. Previous research has assessed the validity of physiological signals recorded by an Empatica E4 device, such as EDA, HRV, and IBI, against the standard clinical ground truth [13,14]. Moreover, previous studies indicate that E4 is among the most commonly used physiological sensor devices in scientific research and validate its usefulness in detecting atrial fibrillation [15] and emotional arousal and stress [16,17].

The study staff provided instructions about proper handling and wear of the E4 wristband during a scheduled meeting after the individuals agreed to participate in the study. For example, participants were instructed to remove the wristband each night while sleeping and at other times during which the device may be damaged (eg, in the shower or bath) and to wear the device on the same wrist throughout the study. The training session also included instructions on how to use the *stress event marker button* on the E4 wristband. Participants were asked to press this button any time they felt *more stressed, overwhelmed, or anxious than usual.* These tag markers were summed for each participant to provide a daily tally of the number of perceived stress events.

E4 sensors: 3-axis acceleromete: Galvanic skin response Photoplethysmograph Temperature

Figure 1. Empatica E4 sensor.



EMA-Based Survey

Data collection for the EMA component was performed using a mobile phone–based survey. The survey assessed the perceptions of positive and negative emotions, alcohol-related cravings, and experiences of pain and discomfort. Participants responded to 4 timed signals throughout the day that corresponded to early morning (waking), noon, late afternoon, and bedtime for up to 14 consecutive days.

The measurement of *alcohol-related cravings* was derived from previous research [18,19] and included 3 items: (1) "[since last assessment], the idea of using alcohol has intruded upon my thoughts;" (2) "[since last assessment], I have missed the feeling alcohol can give me;" and (3) "[since last assessment], I have thought about how satisfying alcohol can be." Response options included a 5-point scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). An aggregate measure of alcohol-related cravings was created by averaging the 3 items in each of the 4 assessments. An average daily alcohol-related craving score was then created for each participant for each day of the study.

Positive and negative emotions were assessed using items drawn from the extended version of the Positive and Negative Affect Scale (PANAS) [20]. Negative affect was assessed by asking, "[Since last assessment], have you felt [irritable/lonely/sad/guilty/ashamed/anxious/stressed]?" Similarly, participants reported their positive affect using the following terms: warmhearted, enthusiastic, affectionate, relaxed, calm, happy, joyful, and loving. Responses for each item were assessed on a 5-point scale, ranging from 1 (not at all) to 5 (extremely). Aggregate measures of daily negative and positive affect were created by first averaging across the respective items in each of the 4 assessments. Next, average positive and negative emotion scores were created for each participant on each day of the study.

Measurement of *pain and discomfort* was assessed with 2 items: (1) "[since last assessment], have you felt any physical discomfort?" and (2) "[since last assessment], have you felt any physical pain?" Five response options included 1=nonexistent, 2=slight, 3=moderate, 4=intense, and 5=unbearable. Average pain and discomfort scores were created for each participant on each day of the study.

Qualitative Debriefing Interview

Throughout the study, participants attended up to 6 short follow-up sessions to meet with study staff on an every-other-day basis (eg, Monday, Wednesday, and Friday). During the follow-up sessions, the study staff ascertained whether the participants were experiencing any problems or difficulties with either the wearable wristband device or completing the EMA surveys on their cell phones. The follow-up sessions also included administration of a timeline follow-back measure of recent alcohol use [21]. In this procedure, participants were first presented with a chart of the US Standard Drink definition and then asked to indicate the number of drinks consumed on each calendar day since the previous assessment. At each follow-up visit, participants exchanged their current E4 wristband device for a fully charged device with available onboard memory for new data collection.

Statistical Analysis

Overview

We conducted a series of statistical analyses in 4 steps. First, we assessed the quality of the physiological signals, EDA and BVP. As described in the following sections, we used the recommended tools and procedures of the Empatica 4 guidelines to remove artifacts and extract features of the EDA and BVP signals for use in further analyses. Empatica E4 assesses the HR and IBI from the BVP signal using a proprietary algorithm [22]. Second, we examined descriptive statistics, including interitem correlations among patient-reported outcomes, aggregated at the day level. In the final 2 steps, we investigated the associations of the EDA signal (step 3) and the HRV signal (step 4) with the day-level self-reported outcomes.

EDA Quality Assessment

Physiological signals such as EDA are prone to noise and artifacts, especially when acquired in uncontrolled real-life scenarios. Therefore, we preprocessed the EDA signal to remove the most common artifacts, including environmental, sensor motion, and muscle movement artifacts. We used EDA Explorer public scripts to perform automatic artifact and noise detection [23]. During the process, a high-pass filter was first applied to smooth the raw EDA signals and remove low-frequency noise. Then, a multiclass classifier labeled the signal as clean, noisy, or questionable. The accelerometer and temperature data as well as the EDA were used in this process. Further analyses were performed using only the clean parts of the signal.

Trough-to-peak (TTP) and continuous decomposition analysis (CDA) are 2 commonly used analyses to assess the quality of EDA signals. We performed these analyses using the LedaLab toolbox (MATLAB program [MathWorks] suggested by the Empatica Manual for signal processing). In the TTP analysis, we set the sample rate to 1 Hz and the minimum amplitude threshold to 0.01 μ S. In the CDA analysis, the EDA signal was decomposed into phasic and tonic components to increase the temporal precision. LedaLab provides information on the number of skin conductance responses (SCRs) and the SCR onset for each TTP and CDA analysis of the EDA signal. We downsampled the data from 4 Hz to 1 Hz and then computed the average SCRs per minute for all 11 participants to compare the results of the CDA and TTP analysis with previous research by plotting the frequency of the SCRs per minute [24].

The next step was to extract the features that captured the patterns in the EDA signal. The EDA peak detection analysis provides a set of features corresponding to each EDA peak. We used EDA Explorer public scripts to detect the EDA peaks [23]. Previous studies have shown that peaks from EDA signals correlate with emotional arousal in humans. As shown in Figure 2, the values at apex, rise time, decay time, amplitude, and SCR width are standard features that can be extracted from the peaks of the EDA signal. Table 1 lists the features extracted from the EDA peaks.



Figure 2. An example of an electrodermal activity peak. EDA: electrodermal activity; SCR: skin conductance response.



Table 1.	Description	of the featu	res that are	e extracted	from the	electrodermal	activity 1	peaks.

Feature	Description
EDA ^a	The EDA value at apex of the peak
Rise time	Time (microseconds) taken by the EDA peak to reach its maximum value
Maximum derivative	The maximum
Amplitude	The amplitude
Decay time	Time (microseconds) taken by the signal to drop from the apex to the minimum of the peak
Skin conductance response width	The width of the peak (number of the samples)
AUC ^b	2D area under the EDA peak curve

^aEDA: electrodermal activity.

^bAUC: area under the curve.

HR Quality Assessment

Measuring HR is a routine part of a clinical examination. The resting HR (RHR) of individuals reflects their overall health. We measured the RHR of the participant using IBI derived from the photoplethysmography sensor to identify any irregularities in the HR data. We note that the IBI data for this study were provided by Empatica and represent the time in milliseconds between two successive heartbeats (the R-R interval). This proprietary algorithm [22] removed incorrect peaks because of noise and artifacts in the BVP signal. Using the IBI sequence provided by Empatica, we extracted statistical features from the HR, including the mean value of the HR (MHR), minimum value of the HR (MNHR), maximum value of the HR (MXHR), and SD of the HR signal during the study.

Time domain analysis and frequency domain analysis are 2 standard methods for investigating HRV. In the time domain analysis, HRV measures were directly extracted from the IBI or RR interval signals. Frequency domain analysis extracts HRV measures from the power spectrum of the Fourier transform of the RR interval signals. In this study, we focus on the time domain HRV measures, including the mean of the RR interval (MRR), the SD of the RR interval (STDRR), the root mean square successive differences of the RR intervals (RMSSDs), and the coefficient of variance of the RR intervals (CVRR) [25,26].

RenderX

Results

Demographics

The mean age of the participants was 40.27 years (SD 3.66; range 27-60 years). The majority of the sample was White, non-Hispanic (n=9). One participant identified as White, Hispanic, and one participant identified as American Indian or Alaskan Native. Of the 11 participants, 10 (91%) identified as female, and 1 (9%) participant identified as male.

Data Set Quality Assessment

Previous research suggests that the collected physiological signals must maintain a number of quality measures to be considered valid for data analysis. For this research, we examined the quality of the collected data across several dimensions, including (1) the number of clean signals after artifact removal, (2) the distribution of the SCR values, using TTP and CDA analyses, and (3) the distribution of the HRV values. On the basis of the results of artifact detection, out of 1,174,898 EDA signal measurements, 1,032,265 (87.86%), 108,208 (9.21%), and 34,424 (2.93%) collected in total from all the participants were clean, noisy, and questionable, respectively. In both the TTP and CDA analyses, the EDA data were downsampled to a sampling rate of 1 Hz, and a minimum amplitude threshold of 0.01 μ S was considered.

As expected, in both analyses, the SCRs per minute were positively skewed with most SCR values near or at 0.0 per minute. The results from the TTP analysis show a peak at 0 SCRs per minute, with a continuous decrease of up to 17.5 SCRs per minute. The results from the CDA analysis show a peak at 0 SCRs per minute, followed by a sharp decline at 1 SCRs per minute and later by a small increase from 15.0 to 17.5 SCRs. Thus, our data demonstrated results similar to those of a previous study that used the same analyses on 8 participants to assess the quality of EDA and HRV data collected with the E4 [24].

Table 2 reports the distribution of the HR averaged across low, normal, and high ranges separately for each participant. All the participants except participant 11 experienced similar distribution of HR during the data collection period. Among these 10 participants, 1.11% (59,982/5,399,250) of the study data were in the low range of 40-59 beats per minute (bpm), 82.76% (4,468,337/5,399,250) were in the normal range of 60-100 bpm, and 16.01% (4,468,337/5,399,250) were in the high range, above 100 bpm. However, for participant 11, only 44.87% (310,876/692,901) of the experienced HRs were in the normal range of 60-100 bpm, whereas more than half (379,119/692,901, 54.71%) of the HRs were in the high range of 101-200 bpm. On the basis of these results, we conclude that all the participants except participant 11 demonstrated normal HR distribution.

Table 3 reports the means and SDs for the HR features, including mean value the heart rate (MHR), MXHR, MNHR, and SD of the heart rate (STDHR) signal of the participants during the data collection. Likewise, Table 4 shows means and SDs for the heart variability measures for each participant during the entire data collection period.

Table 2. Total numbers and percentages of participants' heart rate (bpm) across low, normal, and high ranges during the study period.

Subject	Total, N	Low (40–59 bpm ^a), n (%)	Normal (60-100 bpm), n (%)	High (101-200 bpm), n (%)
Participant 1	402,257	3626 (0.91)	290,316 (72.17)	108,267 (26.91)
Participant 2	715,794	9599 (1.34)	605,916 (84.65)	100,146 (13.99)
Participant 3	473,283	2601 (0.55)	386,090 (81.58)	84,554 (17.87)
Participant 4	606,614	15,592 (2.57)	533,903 (88.01)	50,999 (8.41)
Participant 5	738,475	953 (0.13)	555,673 (75.25)	181,685 (24.6)
Participant 6	650,860	14,739 (2.26)	551,797 (84.78)	84,276 (12.95)
Participant 7	340,036	399 (0.12)	263,814 (77.58)	75,801 (22.29)
Participant 8	388,833	6394 (1.64)	340,905 (87.67)	41,496 (10.67)
Participant 9	535,352	3592 (0.67)	467,507 (87.33)	64,213 (11.99)
Participant 10	547,746	2487 (0.45)	472,416 (86.25)	72,789 (13.29)
Participant 11	692,901	2164 (0.31)	310,876 (44.87)	379,119 (54.71)

^abpm: beats per minute.



Table 3. Means and SDs for the statistical features extracted from the heart rate signal.

Subject	Mean value of the heart rate, mean (SD)	Minimum value of the heart rate, mean (SD)	Maximum value of the heart rate, mean (SD)	SD of the heart rate, mean (SD)
Participant 1	104.72 (9.81)	51.17 (19.27)	167.32 (17.9)	10.21 (1.74)
Participant 2	87.05 (6.15)	45.08 (5.01)	186.11 (14.61)	12.1 (2.86)
Participant 3	88.83 (5.29)	51.26 (6.18)	182.97 (14.71)	11.28 (3.15)
Participant 4	71.27 (6.15)	35.64 (6.15)	159.71 (27.55)	9.21 (2.90)
Participant 5	86.3 (8.03)	45.92 (11.18)	171.66 (21.96)	9.85 (2.27)
Participant 6	74.11 (7.88)	37.40 (4.73)	185.45 (12.29)	14.97 (3.94)
Participant 7	91.07 (7.84)	45.48 (5.06)	168.99 (19.72)	11.72 (2.91)
Participant 8	78.54 (9.48)	38.53 (4.52)	180.56 (12.34)	10.37 (2.23)
Participant 9	79.04 (6.88)	48.22 (4.28)	169.47 (30.22)	9.87 (1.54)
Participant 10	84.79 (3.38)	42.88 (5.47)	166.88 (13.08)	12.54 (0.98)
Participant 11	95.19 (8.14)	44.29 (9.58)	180.7 (29.88)	22.53 (8.45)

Table 4. Means and SDs for the statistical features extracted from the heart rate variability measures.

Subject	Mean value of all of the RR intervals, mean (SD)	SD of the RR interval, mean (SD)	Root mean square, mean (SD)	Covariance of SD, mean (SD)	Covariance of all the RR intervals, mean (SD)
Participant 1	0.58 (0.05)	0.06 (0.01)	0.06 (0.01)	0.11 (0.02)	0.10 (0.02)
Participant 2	0.70 (0.05)	0.00 (0.02)	0.07 (0.02)	0.10 (0.02)	0.13 (0.02)
Participant 3	0.69 (0.04)	0.08 (0.02)	0.07 (0.02)	0.11 (0.03)	0.12 (0.02)
Participant 4	0.86 (0.07)	0.10 (0.01)	0.07 (0.01)	0.08 (0.02)	0.12 (0.03)
Participant 5	0.71 (0.06)	0.08 (0.01)	0.07 (0.01)	0.10 (0.03)	0.11 (0.02)
Participant 6	0.84 (0.08)	0.13 (0.03)	0.11 (0.02)	0.13 (0.03)	0.15 (0.05)
Participant 7	0.68 (0.06)	0.09 (0.02)	0.07 (0.02)	0.10 (0.03)	0.13 (0.03)
Participant 8	0.78 (0.10)	0.10 (0.02)	0.09 (0.02)	0.11 (0.01)	0.12 (0.03)
Participant 9	0.78 (0.08)	0.09 (0.01)	0.07 (0.01)	0.09 (0.02)	0.12 (0.01)
Participant 10	0.72 (0.03)	0.10 (0.01)	0.09 (0.01)	0.13 (0.02)	0.14 (0.01)
Participant 11	0.68 (0.05)	0.13 (0.01)	0.09 (0.01)	0.13 (0.02)	0.19 (0.06)

Self-reported Outcomes: Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations

Table 5 reports the descriptive statistics for the self-reported outcomes, computed at the daily level, including mean, SD, median, minimum and maximum, and 1st and 3rd quartiles. Overall, the participants reported a mean of 3 stressful events

each day (SD 2.9), with a range of 0-17 stressful moments per day. Participants reported consuming between 0 and 18 servings of alcohol daily, with a mean of 2.8 servings per day (SD 5.2). Mean values for self-reported alcohol cravings, positive and negative emotions, and pain and discomfort ranged from 2.2-2.9, with values ranging between 1 and 5.

Table 5.	Descriptive	e statistics of	of the self-	reported	outcomes.
Iuble c.	Desemption	bulliou ob	or the bell	reported	outcomes.

Self-reported outcomes	Mean (SD)	Median	Minimum	Maximum	1 st quartile	3 rd quartile
Stress events	3 (2.9)	2	0	17	1	3.5
Alcohol use	2.8 (5.2)	0.0	0.0	18.0	0.0	3.0
Alcohol cravings	2.9 (0.9)	3.0	1.0	4.8	2.3	3.5
Positive emotion	2.5 (0.6)	2.5	1.3	3.9	2.1	2.9
Negative emotion	2.3 (0.8)	2.5	1.0	2.9	1.5	2.9
Discomfort	2.3 (1.0)	2.3	1.0	5.0	1.0	3.0
Pain	2.2 (1.1)	2.5	1.0	5.0	1.0	3.0



Table 6 shows the results of the correlation analysis of the self-reported outcome variables. The intersection of a pair of outcomes on the left side of the diagonal displays the correlation coefficient, indicating the strength of the relationship between them. As seen in Table 6, the number of stress events was significantly and positively associated with self-reported negative mood (r=0.21; P=.002) and pain (r=0.18; P=.006). Self-reported alcohol use was significantly and positively correlated with self-reported ravings (r=0.46; P<.001) and negatively correlated with self-reported negative mood,

discomfort, and pain, with coefficient correlation values of -0.38, -0.44, and -0.45, respectively (all *P* values <.001). Self-reported alcohol-related cravings were also negatively correlated with days characterized by pain (r=-0.20; *P*=.005) and discomfort (r=-0.25; *P*=.007). Participant self-reports of discomfort and pain were significantly and positively correlated (r=0.93; *P*<.001). Each of these 2 measures was also significantly and positively correlated with participant self-reports of negative mood, with coefficient correlation values of 0.49 and 0.48 (both *P* values <.001)

Table 6. Bivariate correlation coefficient values of the self-reported outcomes.

Self-reported outcomes.	Stress events	Alcohol use	Alcohol cravings	Positive emotion	Negative emotion	Discomfort	Pain
Stress events	a	_	_		_	—	_
Alcohol use	-0.11	_	_	_	_	_	_
Alcohol cravings	-0.001	0.46	_	—	—	_	—
Positive emotion	0.07	0.001	-0.16	—	—	_	—
Negative emotion	0.21	-0.38	0.02	-0.15	_	_	_
Discomfort	0.04	-0.44	-0.20	-0.02	0.49	_	_
Pain	0.18	-0.45	-0.25	-0.05	0.48	0.93	

^aNot applicable.

Correlations Among EDA and Patient-Reported Outcomes

Table 7 shows the Spearman correlation coefficients between the EDA features and the daily aggregated self-reported outcomes. As seen in the table, the number of stress events was positively associated with the amplitude (r=0.26; P=.005) and counts (r=0.27; P=.003) of the EDA peaks. In contrast, the number of stress events was negatively correlated with the decay time (r=-0.20; P=.03), SCR width (r=-0.34; P<.001), and area under the curve (r=-0.32; P<.001) of the EDA peaks. These results suggest that participants experienced more and higher peaks in the EDA signal on days characterized by more stress and that the peaks in the EDA signal tended to drop more rapidly—and were narrower—during more stressful days. Among the other self-reported outcomes, the number of alcohol drinks was positively associated with the decay time of the EDA peaks (r=0.18; P=.08). Daily averages of positive mood were positively associated with EDA rise time (r=0.23; P=.02), amplitude (r=0.20; P=.06), and decay time (r=0.17; P=.09). Rise time (r=0.28; P=.005) and amplitude (r=0.41; P<.001) were also positively associated with aggregate levels of self-reported negative mood. In contrast, the decay time of the EDA signal was negatively correlated with the daily levels of discomfort (r=-0.18; P=.08) and pain (r=-0.22; P=.03).

Table 7. Spearman correlation coefficients between the daily electrodermal activity features and the daily self-reported outcomes.

Feature	Self-reported outcome						
	Stress	Alcohol	Cravings	Positive emotion	Negative emotion	Discomfort	Pain
Electrodermal activity	-0.09	-0.03	0.01	-0.14	0.17	-0.06	-0.07
Rise time	0.11	-0.06	0.10	0.23 ^a	0.28 ^b	-0.12	-0.12
Maximum derivative	0.04	0.01	0.16	0.09	0.11	-0.07	-0.07
Amplitude	0.26 ^b	-0.02	0.16	0.20 ^c	0.41 ^d	0.01	0.01
Decay time	-0.20 ^a	0.18 ^c	0.12	0.17 ^c	-0.10	-0.18 ^c	-0.22 ^a
Skin conductance response width	-0.34 ^d	0.06	0.15	-0.01	0.02	-0.12	-0.14
Area under the curve	-0.32 ^d	0.04	0.17	0.01	0.05	-0.07	-0.08
Counts	0.27 ^b	0.05	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.10	0.10

^aSignificance code .05.

^bSignificance code .01.

^cSignificance code .10.

^dSignificance code .001.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27891

Correlations Among HRV and Self-reported Outcomes

Table 8 displays the Spearman correlation coefficients for the associations between HRV measures and self-reported outcomes. With the exception of the RMSSD and covariance of SD (CVSD), all the HRV features were positively associated with the number of stress reported at the daily level: MRR (r=0.22; P=.02), STDRR (r=0.22; P=.02), CVRR (r=0.27; P=.004), MHR (r=0.28; P=.002), and STDHR (r=0.21; P=.02). Similarly, almost all the HRV features were positively correlated with aggregate levels of self-reported positive mood: MRR (r=0.26, P=.01), STDRR (r=0.21; P=.04), RMSSD (r=0.26; P=.01),

CVSD (r=0.24; P=.02), CVRR (r=0.20, P=.049), and MHR (r=0.26; P=.009). All but one of the HRV features was positively correlated with aggregate levels of self-reported negative mood: MRR (r=0.18; P=.08), STDRR (r=0.22; P=.03), CVSD (r=0.22; P=.03), CVRR (r=0.29; P=.005), MHR (r=0.33; P=.001), and STDHR (r=0.32; P=.002). The MRR was negatively associated with aggregated levels of self-reported discomfort (r=-0.21; P=.04) and pain (r=-0.18; P=.08). The MHR was also negatively associated with aggregated levels of self-reported discomfort (r=-0.22; P=.003) and pain (r=-0.20; P=.05). No significant associations were found between HRV features and self-reported alcohol use or alcohol-related cravings.

Table 8. Spearman correlation coefficients between the daily heart rate variability measures and the daily self-reported outcomes.

Feature	Self-reported outcome						
	Stress	Alcohol	Cravings	Positive	Negative	Discomfort	Pain
Mean value of all the RR intervals	0.22 ^a	-0.07	0.00	0.26 ^a	0.18 ^b	-0.21 ^a	-0.18 ^b
SD of the RR interval	0.22 ^a	-0.07	0.04	0.21 ^a	0.22 ^a	-0.06	-0.06
Root mean squared SD	0.08	-0.04	0.02	0.26 ^a	0.15	-0.10	-0.12
Covariance of SD	0.12	0.00	0.05	0.24 ^a	0.22 ^a	-0.10	-0.13
Covariance of all the RR intervals	0.27 ^c	-0.05	0.04	0.20 ^a	0.29 ^c	-0.08	-0.08
Mean value of heart rate	0.28 ^c	0.01	0.03	0.26 ^c	0.33 ^d	-0.22^{a}	-0.20 ^b
SD of the heart rate	0.21 ^a	-0.02	0.04	0.14	0.32 ^c	-0.07	-0.07

^aSignificance code .05.

^bSignificance code .10.

^cSignificance code .01.

^dSignificance code .001.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The overall goal of this study is to examine the feasibility of using 2 physiological markers of stress, EDA and HRV, obtained from an unobtrusive wristband device in an ambulatory setting, as a first step toward developing mobile health (mHealth) interventions to help prevent alcohol relapse. To achieve this goal, we first assessed the quality of the continuous monitoring of physiological signals using an Empatica E4 wearable sensor device. We determined that 87.88% (1,032,265/1,174,898) of the EDA signals were clean, whereas only 9.21% (108,208/1,174,898) of the EDA signals could be considered noise. A comparison of the distribution of the EDA SCRs also demonstrated high correspondence between our study and previous studies that used similar techniques [24]. We also noted that the distribution of HR signals for 10 of the 11 participants was within a typical distribution. On the basis of these results, we can conclude that physiological data met the established quality criteria.

In the next steps, we examined associations between features of the EDA and HRV signals with a number of self-reported outcomes, including daily tallies of stress events and alcoholic drinks as well as aggregated levels of alcohol-related cravings, positive and negative moods, and experiences of pain and discomfort. In total, 2 features of the EDA signal (amplitude and peak counts) were positively associated with the number of stress events reported each day, whereas 3 features (decay time, SCR width, and area under the curve) were negatively associated with daily tallies of stress events. These results were as expected and suggest that participants experienced more and higher EDA peaks on days of heightened stress and that the EDA signal varied more rapidly during more stressful intervals. The results also showed that some (but not all) EDA features were positively associated with self-reported positive and negative emotions. In general, EDA features were not significantly correlated with the daily use of alcohol or alcohol-related cravings or with experiences of pain or discomfort.

However, almost all HRV features were significantly and positively associated with daily tallies of stress events. These results were as expected and indicated that participants experienced greater HRV on days characterized by higher levels of stress. Nearly all HRV features were also significantly and positively associated with the aggregate levels of positive and negative emotions. Thus, the results suggest an increased recovery ability of the participants in stressful situations or when feeling excessive positive or negative moods. Similar to the findings for the EDA features, HRV features were generally not significantly associated with daily use of alcohol or alcohol-related cravings or experiences of pain or discomfort.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Limitations

This study was designed to establish the feasibility of assessing physiological data in an ambulatory setting to inform the development of a future mHealth intervention. Thus, the major limitation of this pilot study is the small sample size, which limited our ability to test hypotheses regarding associations between physiological signals and self-reported outcomes with full statistical power. Future studies that include larger and more representative samples are needed to replicate our findings. We also note that our analyses did not account for demographic characteristics, race, or gender. Future work that examines how these and other demographic characteristics might play a role in these processes is needed.

We further acknowledge that although the uncontrolled nature of the data collection in ambulatory settings was a strength of this study, this may have introduced some subjective bias into the assessment of stress events. Future research in ambulatory settings should also consider how HRV is affected by sleep and circadian processes [27] as well as by exercise or simple ambulatory activities [28] such as walking, which our analyses did not take into account. Finally, one reason for the lack of strong associations among the physiological signals and some of the self-reported outcomes may be attributed to the single-level correlation analyses used in this study. This approach did not take into account the nested nature of the data: 4 prompts each day, nested within multiple days, and nested within 11 participants. More sophisticated multilevel modeling of these associations that takes such clustering into account might provide additional insights about within-person associations as well as between-person differences in these effects.

Conclusions

We investigated the associations of physiological signals, EDA and HRV, with self-reported outcomes among adults diagnosed with AUD in a 14-day uncontrolled data collection. The results demonstrated that the physiological data collected via an Empatica E4 wearable sensor device were useful and that features of these physiological signals were significantly associated with several self-reported outcomes, including identification of stress events, daily use of alcohol, negative and positive emotions, and pain and discomfort. Future research is needed to further validate these findings to develop tailored mHealth interventions to enhance sustained recovery from AUD.

Acknowledgments

This project was funded by the Alcohol and Drug Research Program of Washington State University through grant funding to MJC. This investigation was supported in part by funds provided for medical and biological research by the State of Washington Initiative Measure (number 171).

Authors' Contributions

MJC and HG conceived and designed the study. MJC and SP acquired the data. PA and RKS analyzed and interpreted the data. PA and MJC prepared the manuscript. MM, SP, and PP contributed to project administration and reviewing and editing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Cleck JN, Blendy JA. Making a bad thing worse: adverse effects of stress on drug addiction. J Clin Invest 2008 Feb 1;118(2):454-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1172/JCI33946] [Medline: 18246196]
- Sinha R, Garcia M, Paliwal P, Kreek MJ, Rounsaville BJ. Stress-induced cocaine craving and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses are predictive of cocaine relapse outcomes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006 Mar 1;63(3):324-331. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.3.24] [Medline: 16520439]
- Carreiro S, Newcomb M, Leach R, Ostrowski S, Boudreaux ED, Amante D. Current reporting of usability and impact of mHealth interventions for substance use disorder: A systematic review. Drug Alcohol Depend 2020 Oct 1;215:108201. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108201</u>] [Medline: <u>32777691</u>]
- Karthikeyan P, Murugappan M, Yaacob S. A Review on Stress Inducement Stimuli for Assessing Human Stress Using Physiological Signals. 2011 Presented at: 2011 IEEE 7th International Colloquium on Signal Processing and its Applications; March 4-6; Penang, Malaysia. [doi: 10.1109/cspa.2011.5759914]
- Mohino-Herranz I, Gil-Pita R, Ferreira J, Rosa-Zurera M, Seoane F. Assessment of mental, emotional and physical stress through analysis of physiological signals using smartphones. Sensors (Basel) 2015 Oct 8;15(10):25607-25627 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s151025607] [Medline: 26457710]
- 6. Chen L, Zhao Y, Ye P, Zhang J, Zou J. Detecting driving stress in physiological signals based on multimodal feature analysis and kernel classifiers. Expert Syste Appl 2017 Nov;85:279-291. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eswa.2017.01.040</u>]
- Can YS, Arnrich B, Ersoy C. Stress detection in daily life scenarios using smart phones and wearable sensors: a survey. J Biomed Inform 2019 Apr;92:103139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103139] [Medline: 30825538]

RenderX

- 8. Ziegler M. Psychological stress and the autonomic nervous system. In: Primer on the Autonomic Nervous System Internet Elsevier. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 2012.
- Thomas B, Claassen N, Becker P, Viljoen M. Validity of commonly used heart rate variability markers of autonomic nervous system function. Neuropsychobiology 2019 Feb 5;78(1):14-26. [doi: <u>10.1159/000495519</u>] [Medline: <u>30721903</u>]
- Ghiasi S, Greco A, Barbieri R, Scilingo EP, Valenza G. Assessing autonomic function from electrodermal activity and heart rate variability during cold-pressor test and emotional challenge. Sci Rep 2020 Mar 25;10(1):5406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-62225-2] [Medline: 32214158]
- 11. Smets E, De Raedt W, Van Hoof C. Into the wild: the challenges of physiological stress detection in laboratory and ambulatory settings. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2019 Mar;23(2):463-473. [doi: 10.1109/jbhi.2018.2883751]
- 12. Picard RW. Automating the recognition of stress and emotion: from lab to real-world impact. IEEE MultiMedia 2016 Jul;23(3):3-7. [doi: 10.1109/mmul.2016.38]
- 13. Milstein N, Gordon I. Validating measures of electrodermal activity and heart rate variability derived from the empatica e4 utilized in research settings that involve interactive dyadic states. Front Behav Neurosci 2020 Aug 18;14:148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2020.00148] [Medline: 33013337]
- Schuurmans AA, de Looff P, Nijhof KS, Rosada C, Scholte RH, Popma A, et al. Validity of the empatica e4 wristband to measure heart rate variability (HRV) parameters: a comparison to electrocardiography (ECG). J Med Syst 2020 Sep 23;44(11):190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10916-020-01648-w] [Medline: 32965570]
- 15. Corino VD, Laureanti R, Ferranti L, Scarpini G, Lombardi F, Mainardi LT. Detection of atrial fibrillation episodes using a wristband device. Physiol Meas 2017 May 27;38(5):787-799. [doi: 10.1088/1361-6579/aa5dd7] [Medline: 28151434]
- Matsubara M, Augereau O, Sanches CL, Kise K. Emotional Arousal Estimation While Reading Comics Based on Physiological Signal Analysis. In: Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on coMics ANalysis, Processing and Understanding Internet. 2016 Dec Presented at: ACM'16; August 5-9, 2016; Cancun, Mexico p. 1-4. [doi: 10.1145/3011549.3011556]
- Ollander S, Godin C, Campagne A, Charbonnier S. A Comparison of Wearable and Stationary Sensors for Stress Detection. In: International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, 2016 Presented at: CSMC'16; October 21-23, 2016; Budapest, Hungary URL: <u>https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01387298</u> [doi: <u>10.1109/smc.2016.7844917</u>]
- Huhn AS, Harris J, Cleveland HH, Lydon DM, Stankoski D, Cleveland MJ, et al. Ecological momentary assessment of affect and craving in patients in treatment for prescription opioid dependence. Brain Res Bull 2016 May;123:94-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2016.01.012] [Medline: 26876756]
- 19. Tiffany ST, Singleton E, Haertzen CA, Henningfield JE. The development of a cocaine craving questionnaire. Drug Alcohol Depend 1993 Dec;34(1):19-28. [doi: 10.1016/0376-8716(93)90042-0]
- 20. Watson D, Clark LA. Measurement and mismeasurement of mood: recurrent and emergent issues. J Pers Assess 1997 Apr;68(2):267-296. [doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa6802_4] [Medline: 16370781]
- 21. Sobell L, Sobell M. Timeline Follow-back. Measuring Alcohol Consumption. New york, USA: Springer; 1992.
- 22. IBI Expected Signal. Empatica Support. URL: <u>https://support.empatica.com/hc/en-us/articles/</u> 360030058011-E4-data-IBI-expected-signal [accessed 2021-07-05]
- Taylor JM. Psychometric analysis of the ten-item perceived stress scale. Psychol Assess 2015 Mar;27(1):90-101. [doi: 10.1037/a0038100] [Medline: 25346996]
- 24. Analysis of the Quality of Electrodermal Activity and Heart Rate Data Recorded in Daily Life Over a Period of One Week With an E4 Wristband. University of Twente. 2016. URL: <u>https://essay.utwente.nl/70244/1/Enewoldsen_BA_Psychology.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-07-05]
- 25. Shaffer F, Ginsberg JP. An overview of heart rate variability metrics and norms. Front Public Health 2017;5:258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258] [Medline: 29034226]
- 26. Kim H, Cheon E, Bai D, Lee YH, Koo B. Stress and heart rate variability: a meta-analysis and review of the literature. Psychiatry Investig 2018 Mar;15(3):235-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30773/pi.2017.08.17] [Medline: 29486547]
- 27. Boudreau P, Yeh WH, Dumont GA, Boivin DB. A circadian rhythm in heart rate variability contributes to the increased cardiac sympathovagal response to awakening in the morning. Chronobiol Int 2012 Jul 27;29(6):757-768. [doi: 10.3109/07420528.2012.674592] [Medline: 22734576]
- 28. Routledge FS, Campbell TS, McFetridge-Durdle JA, Bacon SL. Improvements in heart rate variability with exercise therapy. Can J Cardiol 2010 Jun;26(6):303-312. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0828-282x(10)70395-0</u>]

Abbreviations

RenderX

ANS: autonomic nervous system
AUD: alcohol use disorder
BPM: beats per minute
BVP: blood volume pulse
CDA: continuous decomposition analysis
CVRR: coefficient of variance of the RR intervals

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27891

CVSD: covariance of SD EDA: electrodermal activity EMA: ecological momentary assessment HR: heart rate **HRV:** heart rate variability **IBI:** interbeat interval mHealth: mobile health MHR: mean value of the heart rate **MNHR:** minimum value of the heart rate MRR: mean of the RR interval MXHR: maximum value of the heart rate **PANAS:** Positive and Negative Affect Scale RMSSD: root mean square successive differences of the RR interval SCR: skin conductance response STDRR: SD of the RR interval TTP: trough-to-peak

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.02.21; peer-reviewed by E Vanegas, M Altini; comments to author 09.03.21; revised version received 06.05.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 21.07.21.

Please cite as:

Alinia P, Sah RK, McDonell M, Pendry P, Parent S, Ghasemzadeh H, Cleveland MJ Associations Between Physiological Signals Captured Using Wearable Sensors and Self-reported Outcomes Among Adults in Alcohol Use Disorder Recovery: Development and Usability Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27891 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27891 doi:10.2196/27891 PMID:<u>34287205</u>

©Parastoo Alinia, Ramesh Kumar Sah, Michael McDonell, Patricia Pendry, Sara Parent, Hassan Ghasemzadeh, Michael John Cleveland. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 21.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Health Care Professionals' Experiences With the Use of Video Consultation: Qualitative Study

Nina Primholdt Christensen¹, RN, MSc; Karen Emilie Skou², MSc; Dorthe Boe Danbjørg³, RN, PhD

¹Hematological Research Unit, Odense University Hospital, Odense C, Denmark

²Department of Hematology, Aarhus University, Aarhus N, Denmark

³Centre for Innovative Medical Technology, Department of Hematology, Odense University Hospital, University of Southern Denmark, Odense C, Denmark

Corresponding Author:

Nina Primholdt Christensen, RN, MSc Hematological Research Unit Odense University Hospital Kløvervænget 10, 12 Floor Odense C, 5000 Denmark Phone: 45 24643617 Email: <u>nins49@hotmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: The number of remote video consultations between doctors and patients has increased during the last few years and especially during the COVID-19 pandemic. The health care service is faced with rising rates of chronic illness and many patients who are more confident in self-management of their illnesses. In addition, there is an improved long-term outlook for serious conditions, such as cancer, that might require flexibility in everyday life.

Objective: This study aimed to investigate how medical doctors in the outpatient clinic use and experience the use of video consultations with hematological patients, with a focus on relational and organizational aspects.

Methods: The study was designed as an explorative and qualitative study. Data were collected via participant observations and focus group interviews with medical doctors.

Results: The study identified possibilities and barriers in relation to adapting to the alternative way of meeting patients in the clinical setting. One of the main findings in this study is that the medical doctors were afraid that they missed important observations, as they were not able to perform a physical examination, if needed. They also emphasized that handshake and eye contact were important in order to get an overall impression of the patient's situation. It also became clear that the medical doctors found the contact with the patients via the screen to be good, and the fact that the technology was working well made them feel comfortable with the video consultation.

Conclusions: In this study, we found that the medical doctors were able to maintain good contact with the patients despite the screen and were able to assess the patients in a satisfying manner. However, there were still uncertainties among some doctors about the fact that they could not examine the patients physically. New knowledge about how to use gestures and body language during video consultation was obtained.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27094) doi:10.2196/27094

KEYWORDS

video consultation; hematology; outpatient clinic; telehealth; doctor's perspective

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The number of remote video consultations between doctors and patients has increased during the last couple of years and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094

especially during the COVID-19 pandemic [1,2]. Telemedicine is an important tool in health care when physical contact needs to be avoided. Politicians see technology-supported health care, such as the use of apps and video consultations, as a solution to the complex problems of demographic development. Delivering health care to an aging and diverse population is a

challenge due to the increase of the aging population and the diminishing number of health care professionals [3].

The health care service is faced by not only rising rates of chronic illness, but also many patients who are more confident in self-management of their illness. In addition, there is an improved long-term outlook for serious conditions, such as cancer, that might require flexibility in everyday life [4]. At the same time, there has been focus on centralizing the health care system, in order to attain the most efficient and specialized hospitals in Denmark [5]. This development means, among other things, that patients often must travel further to get to the hospital. Hematological patients in Denmark may spend several hours traveling to the hospital for a consultation [6]. It is therefore relevant to implement telemedicine solutions for patients to spend less time travelling back and forth to visit the hospital. Patients welcome telemedicine initiatives, and a Danish study identified that patients valued the freedom they got when being able to keep up a normal everyday life, take responsibility for their own course of treatment, and feel active, despite their illness [7]. These findings reflect the overall research within telemedicine, where the use of telemedicine has shown positive aspects [4,7-10].

The pandemic has resulted in the natural use of telemedicine [11]. Telemedicine has the potential to deliver health care at a distance, with the potential to improve access to health care and change the way health care is organized. However, the implementation and use of telemedicine can often lead to resistance among health care professionals, as they see it as a threat to their clinical work and professionalism. Many health care professionals still prefer face-to-face communication when interacting with patients and their relatives. A systematic review showed that the difficulties in implementation are linked to the culture among health care professionals. Resistance to change in working procedures and unwillingness to invest time in training for new workflows were significant barriers [12,13]. According to Ross et al, possible difficulties should be identified early in the process when planning implementation of new routines. This will allow preparation of initiatives to prevent resistance to change [14]. Another systematic literature review also identified barriers to the use of telemedicine. The study showed that technology-challenged staff and resistance to change were the most frequent barriers [12].

In the future, the intention of hospitals will be to have fewer admitted patients and instead treat patients in their own homes [15]. In the Region of Southern Denmark, the goal is to convert 30% of outpatient consultations to digital consultations [16]. As described in the above articles, the need for the use of telemedicine is expected to increase in the coming years. It is important to gain knowledge of the use of video consultation from not only the patient's perspective, but also the medical doctor's perspective, and in particular, how the use of video consultation can benefit patients.

Aim

XSL•FO

The overall aim was to explore how medical doctors use and experience the use of video consultations. This was done using the following research questions: (1) How do medical doctors use video consultation? (2) How do medical doctors experience

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094
```

the use of video consultation instead of face-to-face consultation? (3) How do medical doctors experience the technical aspects of video consultation? (4) How do medical doctors experience the roles and relation to patients during video consultation?

Methods

Design

The study was designed as a qualitative and explorative intervention study. Data were collected using participant observations and focus group interviews.

Setting

This project was part of a larger pilot study, where patients with hematological diseases from a small island to the south of Funen were given the opportunity for video consultation. The patients could choose to have their consultation with a hematologist from the outpatient clinic in Odense through a video screen, instead of a face-to-face consultation. The patients would be seated in front of a video screen placed at the local hospital on the island, where site staff could help them connect with the doctor via the screen. The pilot study was introduced in April 2017 and continued until the end of December 2017. A total of 17 patients with different hematological diagnoses were included in the pilot project, which made the sample of informants very varied.

The intervention was initiated as a collaboration between the municipality on the island, the Innovation Department at Odense University Hospital, and the Hematological Research Unit at Odense University Hospital. Two identical video screens were purchased for use at the hospital on the island, and one screen was placed in the outpatient clinic in Odense.

The video consultations had two purposes, namely, monitoring and treating the patients. The medical doctor would use the video consultation in combination with blood results to determine whether the patients were eligible for the next treatment or needed to receive a different treatment for the diagnosis.

The patients were informed by a research nurse from the Hematological Research Unit about participation in video consultation. The research nurse would assist when the video consultation was initiated with the hematology specialist. At the local hospital on the island, the patients could choose to have a nurse participate during the consultation, if they articulated a need for this.

Sample

The study population consisted of medical doctors who participated in video consultations with patients with hematological diseases, living on a small island south of Funen. The medical doctors who participated in the focus group interview all worked at the Hematological Department at Odense University Hospital and had between one and five video consultations with the hematological patients. The medical doctors did not receive any introduction or guidelines regarding how to behave in front of the patients before, during, and after

the video consultations. The medical doctors' experiences are grounded in their own first-hand experiences.

Inclusion Criterion

The inclusion criterion for participating in the focus group interview was participation in at least one video consultation with hematological patients form the island to the south of Funen.

Data Collection

Participant Observations

Participant observations of the medical doctors during video consultations were conducted from November 2017 to December 2017. We conducted 5 hours of participant observation.

The last author observed the medical doctors. Green and Thorogood described how observational studies allow us to obtain knowledge about what the observed participants say and what they do in relation to the specific situation [17]. Here, the participant observations allowed us to obtain knowledge about what the medical doctors said and did during the video consultations with the patients [17].

The observations were inspired by James Spradley's description of passive participation and moderate participation [18]. The observations followed an observation guide that was designed using Spradley theory for observations (Textbox 1).

Passive participation was used in relation to the observations made during the pilot study period, when the video consultations were tested and implemented. The last author listened to and observed the medical doctors' work with the video consultation and the settings around the video consultation. The observations provided an opportunity for informal interviews with the medical doctors, immediately after the video consultation. Here, it was possible to talk to the medical doctors about their overall impression of the consultation, which provided us with their first-hand impressions [19].

Textbox 1. Participant observation and video consultation from the physician's end.

The physician and the encounter with the technology
How does the physician handle the technical side of things with the video screen?
Does it seem easy or cumbersome for the physician?
What does the physician comment on/say about the screen/technology?
Does the physician prepare beforehand (fixes hair or clothes, checks phone, etc)?
Are there any technical problems?
How is the sound? How is the image quality?
Physical setting
How is the physician placed in relation to the screen?
What does the room look like?
What does the physical setting look like? Is the room hot/cold?
What is the light like?
Conduct before, during, and after the video consultation
How does the physician act, verbally and nonverbally?
Does the physician act naturally during the video consultation?
Is there eye contact during the entire consultation?

Focus Group Interview and Interview Guides

In January 2018, the first and last authors conducted a focus group interview with seven doctors (two male and five female doctors) with different experiential backgrounds. The focus group interview lasted approximately 90 minutes and took place in a conference room at Odense University Hospital. The last author facilitated the focus group session. The first author was present as an observer, wrote down field notes from the session, and validated the content of the session.

The focus group interview was chosen, as focus group discussions can mobilize associations, where the group dynamic contributes to the creation of narratives [20]. It allowed the researchers to get knowledge from the interactions between the medical doctors with different academic experiences. The authors found it relevant to create a focus group of medical

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094

doctors that was not too homogeneous and to facilitate discussions between the medical doctors [18].

Before the focus group interview, an interview guide was created [19,21], based on themes from the participant observations and the semistructured interviews with the patients from an earlier Danish study (Multimedia Appendix 1) [7]. The authors also used photo elicitation as a data collection technique. Photos were taken during the participant observations, capturing the video consultations with the patients. They were used as an activity to make the medical doctors reflect on their experiences with the video consultations during the focus group interview [22].

The medical doctors were, at the beginning of the session, asked to write down three positive and three negative thoughts about their experiences with the use of video consultation. Afterwards,

they were asked to discuss their experiences with each other. Furthermore, quotes from the semistructured interviews were read aloud to make the medical doctors reflect on and discuss the patient statements.

Analysis

This study draws on a qualitative research tradition, which is adequate when seeking knowledge about subjective practice experiences, individual patient and professional perspectives, and interactional processes and dynamics involving technology as an actor [23]. The study draws on Don Ihde's hermeneutic-postphenomenological framework, making it possible to gain an understanding of the interaction between technology, humans, and their lifeworld. Ihde's methodology will be used to explore how the technological mediation of human practice shapes user experiences and how users attach meaning to certain experiences [24,25]. The analysis process was organized by following the steps from "systematic text condensation" [26-29]. The analysis was organized according to the steps in the systematic text condensation, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 2.

First, we gained an overall impression of the data. This gave us a preliminary set of main themes. Second, the data were broken into meaningful topics, relevant for the research question. Next, the meaningful topics were coded. The first and second authors coded individually, and then, they discussed each topic and the coding, and reached an agreement. Thereafter, the topics were condensed.

As the last step of the analysis, we synthesized the data by applying a shift from condensation to categories. We developed the codes based on the initial themes that were identified in the first step and the theories we applied.

To increase the validation, the analysis was prepared as a cooperation between the first and second authors. Their overall

impressions of the data were discussed thoroughly, meaningful topics were highlighted, and codes were applied. The analysis was written by the first author. Then, all three authors met and discussed the findings in relation to relevant literature and the postphenomenological framework, while focusing on technology-mediated transformation, constitution, and perception.

Ethics

During data collection, the researchers were continuously reflective about the aim of the study and the methods applied. Furthermore, the participants were informed thoroughly about the project, allowing them to make an informed choice as to whether to participate in the study. The participants were informed both orally and in writing about the study and were included after providing their informed consent in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration [30,31]. The participants were guaranteed anonymity throughout the process. The study was registered with the Danish Data Protection Agency (2012-58-0018), and the data were stored at a secure SharePoint site.

Results

Overview

During the pilot study, 41 video consultations were performed with patients aged 55 to 85 years with different hematological diagnoses. All patients were in a stable period of their disease during the time when the video consultations took place.

In total, 12 doctors participated in this study. Seven medical doctors, who all had completed between one and five video consultations with different patients having different diagnoses, attended the focus group interview. Five medical doctors were observed during video consultations at Odense University Hospital and participated in informal interviews (Table 1).

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the doctors who participated in the focus group interview.

Doctor ID	Age (years)	Sex	Seniority
Doc 1	43	Female	Doctor in a main education position
Doc 2	41	Female	Doctor in a main education position
Doc 3	31	Male	Doctor in a main education position
Doc 4	52	Female	Chief physician
Doc 5	38	Female	Doctor in a main education position
Doc 6	60	Female	Managing chief physician
Doc 7	45	Male	Chief physician

Results from the focus group interview and the participant observations revealed themes reflecting the medical doctors' use of and experiences with video consultations.

The themes were "Connecting at a distance – words, body language, laughter, and eye contact," "Can't touch this," "A handshake is not just a handshake," and "Adjusting to the transformation."

The themes have been presented and described in more detail below.

Connecting at a Distance – Words, Body Language, Laughter, and Eye Contact

The analysis of the focus group interview and the participant observations revealed that the medical doctors found it easy to assess and sense the patient's current condition, despite the consultation being digital. Most of them agreed that verbal connection with the patients was important when seeing the patients.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094
```

Comparison of the field notes revealed that both the medical doctors and patients appeared relaxed. The analysis of the field notes showed that the medical doctors were acting confidently and were comfortable with sitting in front of the video screen, as they had good and relaxed interaction with the patients through the screen, characterized by laughter and small talk with the patients. One field note was as follows:

Laughter. Chatting about the weather. Medical doctor sits in front of the screen, relaxed body language. Looking at the screen, smiling.

The statements of the medical doctors who identified that they got a good sense of the patients supported the observations.

So, I almost think that the technology is so good that you actually sense them quite well. [Female doctor, 43 years old]

We also found in the data material that a few of the medical doctors mentioned that they found it difficult to maintain eye contact with the patients through the screen. The analysis showed that the medical doctors experienced that they could not achieve the same eye contact as when they were sitting next to the patients in the consultation room.

No, because it is not there. You can never make eye contact with someone inside a screen. [Female doctor, 52 years old]

Yet, the analysis also indicated that some doctors experienced that they had eye contact with the patients, and some questioned the need for "physical" eye contact.

I think that sounds right enough, but I do not think it's such a big problem. [Male doctor, 38 years old]

Overall, we can derive that the medical doctors experienced the contact with the patients during the video consultation as more relaxed, because the patients were not stressed, as they remained on the island close to home and did not have to worry about time and transportation.

I also sometimes think that you can actually have better contact via the screen, because I think if you are a little behind and the patients are pressured, because they have to catch the car and the ferry and all that. Then you sometimes have extremely bad contact, because we have only 7.5 minutes left, and sometimes it might be a quarter of an hour that was necessary. Yes, dialogue and contact via the screen is good, because then there are not all these stressful moments. [Female doctor, 41 years old]

The analysis of the observations revealed that the medical doctors were using their body language a lot. They waved to say hello and goodbye to the patients, and the patients did the same. They also used their arms and fingers to illustrate what they said, looked straight into the screen while talking, and were laughing with the patients. One field note was as follows:

When the patient talks, the doctor leans towards the screen, focusing on the screen. Looking directly at the screen, slightly furrowed eyebrows. The patient also leans all the way to the screen, looking at the doctor. [November 16, 2018; 11 am]

The data from the focus group interview also supported these observations.

I have not met my patient in real life. I have only met her on the screen, and we have done so 3 times. ... So, we're starting to know each other and waving goodbye and stuff like that... yes. [Female doctor, 43 years old]

Yet, the analysis also indicated that for some of the medical doctors, it was important to know and see the patients before the first video consultation. Therefore, it seems to be a subjective perception and not related to the technology.

Yes, it requires that it is the same doctor who has met them physically before, I would say, so you kind of know who it is. [Female doctor, 38 years old]

Can't Touch This

For medical doctors who are used to using their hands when examining patients, it is a big change not to be able to use the sense of touch. It transforms the consultation because they cannot use "a tool" that they normally use when seeing patients.

In general, throughout the analysis, it became clear that it was challenging for the medical doctors to get used to the new practice with video consultation instead of physical consultation, where the doctors would normally be able to examine the patient physically, if required. The doctors felt that they missed some important information when they were unable to observe and examine the patients in the usual way. Some of the medical doctors were also afraid that they might miss how the patients' general condition develops.

We risk exactly those 80-year-old patients with myeloma in the stable phase. We will end up following them for 10 years, and they are in a nursing home and they put a screen in front of them, and it makes no sense if we are phoned and say, no the patient cannot do this trip to the hospital. And if we get that phone call, then we can say well, then we do not have to take blood samples, and if the patient doesn't manage the trip, then you never get in chemo, but she manages well to get a screen in front of the her. The monitoring will be dragged out for too long. [Male doctor, 42 years old]

The analysis identified that the medical doctors observed and examined the patients in many different ways and that the medical doctors are not always aware of what tools they use to diagnose and evaluate the patients. They do several things instinctively.

Yes, here you become aware that there are some things we do subconsciously. [Female doctor, 52 years old]

The medical doctors found the possibility of performing a physical examination important in the consultation with the patients. The medical doctors were therefore concerned by the fact that they were unable to perform an examination during the video consultation. However, during the project period, only a few doctors needed to see the patients physically following the video consultation. It became evident that it was a problem

if the patients had a new medical condition that they wanted the medical doctors to investigate. One fieldnote was as follows:

The patient tells of itchy rash. The doctor points to her forearm and says that the patient should show her forearm. The doctor leans all the way to the screen. She says, yes it's hard to see on the screen, and I can't touch it. [November 16, 2018; 11 am]

Some of the medical doctors also expressed that during the video consultation they were able to retrieve important information through the screen, which is opposite to telephone contact with no visual contact. Via the video consultation, the doctors got indirect information, for example, facts about how the patient and the surroundings appear.

I just think the video provides something else than just a voice, that is. Of course, you do not see the patient sitting in the waiting room, but you still get an impression of whether it is someone who is sitting with their hair hanging in a mess, someone who is still sitting in a dressing gown - you get a picture of that via the video. [Female doctor, 56 years old]

The analysis indicated that the medical doctors were afraid of missing important details about the patients when they could not be hands on with them, as they could during a physical consultation. However, at the same time, the medical doctors also expressed that they experienced that the patients were very satisfied with the video consultation.

And the patients are satisfied. They really are. And as you also say, there is a good quality of sound and picture. And it goes both ways. The patient is also very focused when we talk. [Female doctor, 52 years old]

The quality of the sound and picture during the video consultations was satisfying and contributed to an overall secure feeling for the doctors, because they could see the patients as clearly as if it was a face-to-face consultation.

I think there is a good sound and picture quality. So that way it seems very real. [Female doctor, 43 years old]

A Handshake is Not Just a Handshake

The analysis revealed that a handshake gives the doctors a lot of information about the patients. Many of the medical doctors also expressed that they missed the physical handshake and being able to take in the general appearance of the patients, though the connection with the patients was sufficient.

Then I might also miss a bit... that handshake you have at the consultation, where you get a feeling of what kind of patient who comes in. Is it someone who is nervous or is it someone who is strong? [Female doctor, 43 years old]

Some of the objective parameters that the doctors used in their overall assessment of the patients were found to be difficult to recreate during the video consultations. It is clear that the way a doctor senses a patient is from the "whole experience." But I am also thinking about what you said. You don't get the handshake and you can't follow them walking to the waiting room. Those 8 steps to see if they jump out of the chair or... They are sitting in that chair – and there you can look reasonably fresh and cheat. Or not cheat. You will get a more positive view than you would, if you saw them in real life, when they walk to the consultation room? You lose some objective information about the patient when you only see them via the screen. We see so many different patients, there is no continuity, so I would miss seeing them physically. [Female doctor, 38 years old]

The analysis points to important aspects. The handshake and the way patients walk into the room are important observations for doctors. Even though the consultation is mostly "talk," the movements and handshake reveal important information, which is necessary to address when discussing telemedicine. The fact that video consultation is not a 3D experience is a big change, and therefore, doctors need to redefine and reinvent the way they see patients.

But it's probably also something to do with the fact that we have been used to the consultation starting when you meet the patient out there, and you observe how the handshake is, how they get up from a chair, how fast their disease develops. So, it feels completely wrong that this part is missing. [Female doctor, 43 years old]

Adjusting to the Transformation

Seeing patients through a screen changed something for the doctors. They all experienced it as a challenge, and they emphasized that they need help with adapting to the new types of consultations. The medical doctors experienced that they somehow were making their own guidelines for video consultation, as they needed guidance and they had not been introduced to guidelines on how to conduct a video consultation.

The medical doctors considered it relevant to receive instructions on how to navigate in front of the screen before the initiation of video consultations in the outpatient clinic.

I'll be surprised if someone hasn't found tips and tricks to say "hello" and "goodbye" in a decent way. You throw yourself into it, like everything else. But for sure, some might say that there might be some standard practices or something. [Female doctor, 41 years old]

The medical doctors experienced situations where they acted differently in the video consultation when compared with a traditional face-to-face consultation. One example was when another person, besides the patient, was visible during the video consultation.

It was not expected that someone would sit next to the patient during the consultation. It was exactly the point, that there shouldn't? [Female doctor, 52 years old]

Sometimes there is a person sitting who has not participated as such in the conversation, but where



I have just thought; who are you? [Female doctor, 41 years old]

The physical framework was important in how the doctors experienced the consultation and how they placed themselves in front of the screen.

There is also something about how you place yourself in the room. Maybe we could try that some more. [Female doctor, 43 years old]

The doctor is adjusting the camera. The doctor sits straight in front of the screen. Obviously aware to sit in an angle, so the patient can see her. The doctor smiles and uses facial expressions. Emphasizes the words, talks a bit slowly, hesitant with a nod, sees if the patient wants to say something before, she continues talking. [Field note; November 24, 2018; 12:45 pm]

In continuation of the physical framework, the video consultations also involved some technical aspects regarding how to show the patient the laboratory results and how the doctor should be placed in the room, so the patient can see the doctor and the surroundings.

And sometimes I like the fact when I have the patient in front of me, to turn the screen and show the blood results. And you don't do that the same way via the video consultation. But it is probably also something that can be solved technically. [Female doctor, 43 years old]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study explored how medical doctors used and experienced the use of video consultation in the outpatient clinic instead of or as a supplement to face-to-face consultation. The study identified possibilities and barriers in relation to adapting to the alternative way of meeting patients in the clinical setting. One of the main findings in this study is that the medical doctors were afraid that they missed important observations, as they were not able to perform a physical examination, if needed. They also emphasized that a handshake and eye contact were important to get an overall impression of the patient's situation. It also became clear that the medical doctors were using body language a lot more during video consultation compared with physical consultation. The medical doctors found the contact with the patients via the screen to be good, and the fact that the technology was working well made them feel secure with the video consultation.

Video-Mediated Contact

In many Western cultures, the most common way to initialize a social interaction is a handshake between people [32]. In Denmark, the handshake has several meanings and holds a long tradition. The handshake is often debated, as in some other cultures, it is not socially acceptable for a man and a woman to shake hands. Yet, the handshake is essential in the Danish culture and is also a subject of political debate. Shaking hands with the patients was not possible during the video consultations. The question about the handshake has a new perspective owing

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094
```

to the current COVID-19 pandemic. It is no longer possible to shake hands with your doctor, and it will be interesting to observe how this will affect the doctor-patient relationship in the long run [2].

We also found that the medical doctors were using body language a lot during the video consultations. They waved to the patients to compensate for the missing handshake. We know from another study of video consultations that patients also wave or use facial expressions when talking to their doctors [7]. The study revealed that it was not an issue for the patients as they would compensate the missing handshake with a wave or with enhanced facial expressions. The study showed that having the contact mediated through a screen invited the participants to use other gestures. Inde explained that technology is shaping our experiences of a situation and invites humans to act in certain ways [24]. In the specific situations with video consultations, the technology invited the participants to greet each other in a different way than when meeting face to face. This compensated for the lack of physical contact.

A well-known fear of technology is that machines will replace human contact, making care "cold" by reducing it to mechanical interactions with machines [31]. Yet, the results of a previous study showed that the patients experienced intimacy at a distance, even though they could not touch the doctor with a physical handshake [7].

In the actual study, the technology invited the medical doctors to greet the patients in a different way than that when meeting the patients face to face, to compensate for the missing physical presence, and the medical doctors adapted to the new technology. Yet, we found that it was a concern that the medical doctors could not shake hands with the patients, as they, as professionals, used the handshake for medical observations in the form of observations of how the patients walk, smell, and interact. Therefore, it was not only the social interaction that was at stake, but also the medical observation that they would miss when not greeting the patients physically.

Other findings revealed that the medical doctors found video consultation less stressful than traditional consultation at the outpatient clinic, because the patient was not in a hurry to catch public transport, and the overall experience of the meeting with the patient was more relaxed. This finding is supported by other Danish studies, where patients expressed how important it was to not spend time on travelling to the hospital and to have the ability to keep up a normal everyday life [7,13,33,34]. It is very important for patients to keep up a normal everyday life when sick [7].

Present Without Being Present

In this study, we found that the medical doctors had a professional relation with the patients even though the consultation was through a screen. The medical doctors also experienced better contact with the patients even though the patients were not in the room. In another study by Van Gurp et al, it was noted how teleconsultants managed an empathic patient-professional relation with outpatients receiving palliative care [35].

Van Gurp et al found that the team members chose not to discuss sensitive and emotional topics with vulnerable patients [35]. This choice was made because of the inability to physically comfort the patients, because of the physical distance. However, the same patients reported that a nonphysical professional listener provided the exact freedom they needed to define their own role and co-design their own care in equal patient-professional relationships [35]. The same feeling of freedom without being physically present was found in a Danish study [7], where the patients felt the same level of intimacy with the medical doctors, even though the contact between them was mediated through a screen. In a Danish study on palliative care, it was found that both patients and relatives were more actively involved in treatment and care when consultations with nurses and medical doctors took place via a screen [33]. In a Swedish study from 2020, it was found that most doctors had a positive attitude toward the use of video consultations and that the reliability of the technical platform was very important for doctors to feel comfortable during the consultation [36].

The Transition

This study discovered that the technology was easy to use, and the quality of the sound and picture was impressive. However, the fact that a screen was present between the medical doctors and patients posed some challenges as to how the medical doctors would assess the patients. The change from the possibility of examining the patients when required to the fact that it was not an option was challenging for some of the medical doctors. Ihde stated that handling new technology is a learning process and that it is experienced as stressful until the user has learned how to use it for specific practices [26]. Inde used the term "embodiment" to describe the process that takes place when a certain technology becomes integrated as a useful tool for the ones using it. In another study, where patient rounds with video-consulted relatives was examined, it was found that health care professionals experienced changes regarding workload, culture, and organization when the new way of doing the rounds with the relatives was introduced [13].

The medical doctors missed seeing the patients walk from the waiting room and being able to evaluate their general status. The medical doctors in this study did not receive any instruction as to how to act in front of the video screen or how to use the technology to get the desired and necessary information from the patients. According to Kotter, it is important to give a sense of meaning to the individual when facing changes in an organization. Moreover, that the change is experienced as being urgent is important as to how successful the change or implementation will be [37]. In this study, the test of the video consultations was not urgent, and the observations of the medical doctors showed that they tried to navigate in this new setting, but without any guidance. The medical doctors' motivation for working with the change involving replacing face-to-face consultation with video consultation was the patients' statements about their satisfaction with the flexibility and the good contact they had with the doctors through the screen [7].

Strengths and Limitations

Our study was limited by the reduced number of medical doctors participating in the focus group interview, making this a small-scale study. In qualitative research, most studies are typically small scale [17].

The aim of this study was to perform an in-depth exploration of the phenomenon under investigation. Therefore, the intention of this study was to understand and explain medical doctors' experiences of video consultations with hematological patients located in front of a screen at a small island.

We have provided detailed descriptions of the context of the study, as well as the observations and the doctors' experiences with video consultations. The results do not show statistical generalizability, but analytical generalization, which emerges by means of the dialectic between theory and practice.

The first two authors conducted the analysis jointly to increase reliability. We presented the analysis process in a table to ensure transparency. Quotations from the data were used to link to the participants' original statements to ensure validity.

Conclusions and Implications for Practice

When data for this study were collected, there was a lack of evidence on how medical doctors experience video consultations. At present, after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, more scientific literature about doctors' experiences is available. In this study, we found that doctors were able to maintain good contact with their patients despite the screen and were able to assess the patients in a satisfying manner. However, there were still insecurities among some doctors about the fact that they could not examine the patients physically. New knowledge about how to use gestures and nonverbal body language during a video consultation was also discovered.

The new knowledge about how medical doctors can use video consultations will benefit both patients and health care professionals in allowing the health care system to provide more tailored treatment, which will mean improved flexibility for the patients. Understanding how medical doctors experienced the use of the new consultation form can inspire other medical doctors to implement and use video consultations in outpatient clinics or other clinical settings. Especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, it has become imperative to implement video consultations quickly at hospitals, and scientific knowledge sharing has become more relevant than ever. It will also be possible to create guidelines for medical doctors using video consultation as a supplement to normal consultation in the outpatient clinic, with the results of this study as a starting point. Even though the data of this study were obtained before the COVID-19 pandemic, the results can be used as an important supplement for the history of novel experiences with video consultations before the pandemic and can be used for the development of video consultations in the perspective of today's situation.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Focus group interview guide. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 302 KB - formative_v5i7e27094_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

The analysis process, with examples from the analysis. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 358 KB - formative v5i7e27094 app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Personalised health and care 2020: Using data and technology to transform outcomes for patients and citizens. GOV.UK. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personalised-health-and-care-2020</u> [accessed 2021-07-03]
- Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Shaw S, Morrison C. Video consultations for covid-19. BMJ 2020 Mar 12;368:m998. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m998] [Medline: 32165352]
- Perrone G, Zerbo S, Bilotta C, Malta G, Argo A. Telemedicine during Covid-19 pandemic: Advantage or critical issue? Med Leg J 2020 Jul 03;88(2):76-77. [doi: <u>10.1177/0025817220926926</u>] [Medline: <u>32490720</u>]
- Greenhalgh T, Vijayaraghavan S, Wherton J, Shaw S, Byrne E, Campbell-Richards D, et al. Virtual online consultations: advantages and limitations (VOCAL) study. BMJ Open 2016 Jan 29;6(1):e009388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009388] [Medline: 26826147]
- 5. Højrup T. Dannelsens dialektik: etnologiske udfordringer til det glemte folk. Copenhagen, Denmark: Museum Tusculanum Press; 2002.
- 6. Sundhedsstyrelsen. URL: <u>https://www.sst.dk/da/planlaegning</u> [accessed 2021-01-14]
- Primholdt Christensen N, Danbjørg DB. Use of Video Consultations for Patients With Hematological Diseases From a Patient Perspective: Qualitative Study. J Particip Med 2018 Dec 19;10(4):e11089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11089] [Medline: 33052117]
- 8. McGrath P. Technology-based patient consultations: research findings from haematology patients in regional, rural and remote queensland. Patient 2015 Apr 9;8(2):199-206. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40271-014-0074-z</u>] [Medline: <u>25005862</u>]
- Currell R, Urquhart C, Wainwright P, Lewis R. Telemedicine versus face to face patient care: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000(2):CD002098. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD002098</u>] [Medline: <u>10796678</u>]
- Dichmann Sorknaes A. Nurses' and Patients' Experiences of Tele-Consultations. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:885-886. [Medline: <u>27332392</u>]
- Abdel-Wahab M, Rosenblatt E, Prajogi B, Zubizarretta E, Mikhail M. Opportunities in Telemedicine, Lessons Learned After COVID-19 and the Way Into the Future. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2020 Oct 01;108(2):438-443 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020.07.006] [Medline: 32890528]
- 12. Scott Kruse C, Karem P, Shifflett K, Vegi L, Ravi K, Brooks M. Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: A systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Oct 16;24(1):4-12. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16674087]
- Østervang C, Vestergaard LV, Dieperink KB, Danbjørg DB. Patient Rounds With Video-Consulted Relatives: Qualitative Study on Possibilities and Barriers From the Perspective of Healthcare Providers. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 25;21(3):e12584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12584] [Medline: 30907746]
- Ross J, Stevenson F, Lau R, Murray E. Exploring the challenges of implementing e-health: a protocol for an update of a systematic review of reviews. BMJ Open 2015 Apr 13;5(4):e006773-e006773 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006773] [Medline: 25869685]
- 15. Kræftplan IV. Sundhedsstyrelsen. URL: <u>https://www.sst.dk/da/sygdom-og-behandling/kraeft/nationale-planer/kraeftplan-iv</u> [accessed 2021-07-03]
- 16. Stor stigning i brug af telemedicin. Region Syddanmark. URL: <u>https://regionsyddanmark.dk/wm526610</u>, [accessed 2021-07-03]
- J G. Qualitative methods for health research J Judith Green Qualitative methods for health research and Nicki Thorogood Sage 280 £19.99 076194771X [Formula: see text]. Nurse Res 2005 Oct 01;13(2):91-92. [doi: <u>10.7748/nr.13.2.91.s14</u>] [Medline: <u>27707297</u>]
- 18. Spradley JP. Participant Observation. Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press; 1979.
- 19. Brinkmann S, Kvale S. InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2014.
- 20. Barbour R. Doing Focus Groups. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2018.
- 21. Spradley JP. The Ethnographic Interview. Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press; 1980.
- 22. Pink S. Doing Visual Ethnography. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2013.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094

- 23. Ihde D. Postphenomenology: Essays in the Postmodern Context. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press; 1993.
- 24. Ihde D. Bodies in Technology. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press; 2001.
- 25. Ihde D. Technology and the Lifeworld: From Garden to Earth. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press; 1990.
- 26. Ihde D. Heidegger's Technologies: Postphenomenological Perspectives. New York, NY: Fordham University Press; 2010.
- 27. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. The Lancet 2001 Aug;358(9280):483-488. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(01)05627-6]
- 28. Malterud K. Kvalitative metoder i medisinsk forskning: en innføring. Norway: Universitetsforlaget; 2011.
- 29. Malterud K. Systematic text condensation: a strategy for qualitative analysis. Scand J Public Health 2012 Dec 04;40(8):795-805. [doi: 10.1177/1403494812465030] [Medline: 23221918]
- 30. WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. WMA. URL: <u>https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 31. Pols J. Care at a Distance: On the Closeness of Technology. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Amsterdam University Press; 2012.
- 32. Kristeligt Dagblad. URL: <u>https://www.kristeligt-dagblad.dk/liv-sj%C3%A6l/vi-giver-h%C3%A5nd-til-ligem%C3%A6nd</u> [accessed 2021-07-03]
- Funderskov KF, Boe Danbjørg D, Jess M, Munk L, Olsen Zwisler A, Dieperink KB. Telemedicine in specialised palliative care: Healthcare professionals' and their perspectives on video consultations-A qualitative study. J Clin Nurs 2019 Nov 09;28(21-22):3966-3976. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.15004] [Medline: 31328336]
- Llanwarne N, Newbould J, Burt J, Campbell JL, Roland M. Wasting the doctor's time? A video-elicitation interview study with patients in primary care. Soc Sci Med 2017 Mar;176:113-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.01.025] [Medline: 28135690]
- 35. van Gurp J, van Selm M, Vissers K, van Leeuwen E, Hasselaar J. How outpatient palliative care teleconsultation facilitates empathic patient-professional relationships: a qualitative study. PLoS One 2015 Apr 22;10(4):e0124387 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124387] [Medline: 25902263]
- Koch S, Guhres M. Physicians' Experiences of Patient-Initiated Online Consultations in Primary Care Using Direct-To-Consumer Technology. Stud Health Technol Inform 2020 Jun 16;270:643-647. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI200239</u>] [Medline: <u>32570462</u>]
- 37. Kotter JP. Leading Change. London, UK: Harvard Business Review Press; 2012.

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.01.21; peer-reviewed by B Dinesen, C Kruse, L Seuren; comments to author 12.02.21; revised version received 08.04.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 21.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Primholdt Christensen N, Skou KE, Boe Danbjørg D Health Care Professionals' Experiences With the Use of Video Consultation: Qualitative Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27094 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27094</u> doi:10.2196/27094 PMID:<u>34287207</u>

©Nina Primholdt Christensen, Karen Emilie Skou, Dorthe Boe Danbjørg. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 21.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Internet-Administered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Common Mental Health Difficulties in Parents of Children Treated for Cancer: Intervention Development and Description Study

Joanne Woodford¹, PhD; Paul Farrand², PhD; Josefin Hagström¹, MSc; Li Hedenmalm¹, MSc; Louise von Essen¹, PhD

¹Uppsala University, Healthcare Sciences and e-Health, Department of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala, Sweden ²Clinical Education, Development, and Research (CEDAR), Psychology, College of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Exeter, Exeter, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Louise von Essen, PhD Uppsala University Healthcare Sciences and e-Health Department of Women's and Children's Health MTC-huset: Dag Hammarskjölds väg 14B, 1 tr Uppsala, 751 85 Sweden Phone: 46 070 4250714 Email: louise-von.essen@kbh.uu.se

Abstract

Background: Following the end of a child's treatment for cancer, parents may report psychological distress. However, there is a lack of evidence-based interventions that are tailored to the population, and psychological support needs are commonly unmet. An internet-administered low-intensity cognitive behavioral therapy (LICBT)–based intervention (EJDeR [internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer]) may provide a solution.

Objective: The first objective is to provide an overview of a multimethod approach that was used to inform the development of the EJDeR intervention. The second objective is to provide a detailed description of the EJDeR intervention in accordance with the Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) checklist.

Methods: EJDeR was developed through a multimethod approach, which included the use of existing evidence, the conceptualization of distress, participatory action research, a cross-sectional survey, and professional and public involvement. Depending on the main presenting difficulty identified during assessment, LICBT behavioral activation or worry management treatment protocols are adopted for the treatment of depression or generalized anxiety disorder when experienced individually or when comorbid. EJDeR is delivered via the Uppsala University Psychosocial Care Programme (U-CARE) portal, a web-based platform that is designed to deliver internet-administered LICBT interventions and includes secure videoconferencing. To guide parents in the use of EJDeR, weekly written messages via the portal are provided by e-therapists comprising final year psychology program students with training in cognitive behavioral therapy.

Results: An overview of the development process and a description of EJDeR, which was informed by the TIDieR checklist, are presented. Adaptations that were made in response to public involvement are highlighted.

Conclusions: EJDeR represents a novel, guided, internet-administered LICBT intervention for supporting parents of children treated for cancer. Adopting the TIDieR checklist offers the potential to enhance fidelity to the intervention protocol and facilitate later implementation. The intervention is currently being tested in a feasibility study (the ENGAGE study).

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023708

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22709) doi:10.2196/22709

KEYWORDS

RenderX

parents; eMental health; internet-administered cognitive behavioral therapy; ICBT; TIDieR; CBT self-help; low-intensity CBT; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Each year, approximately 300,000 children and young people (aged 0-19 years) are diagnosed with cancer worldwide [1]. Despite significant treatment advances resulting in a 5-year survival rate of 81.2% across Northern Europe [2], childhood cancer remains a leading cause of death [3] and disease burden [4] among children worldwide. As parents are the primary source of support for children with cancer, they are faced with significant negative psychological [5-10] and socioeconomic [11-15] impacts, along with increased caregiving burden [16] and poor health-related quality of life [17].

Compared with population controls, parents of children treated for cancer report a higher prevalence of mental health difficulties, including depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress symptoms [6-10]. Despite the prevalence of mental health difficulties, parents report a number of significant barriers to accessing psychological treatment to meet their needs [18-20]. These barriers occur at the individual level: lack of time, putting the needs of their child first, and guilt [21,22]; provider level: lack of knowledge of mental health difficulties and willingness to diagnose and treat mental health problems; and systemic level: limited availability of trained and qualified health care providers [23-25].

Innovative strategies to address barriers and improve access to evidence-based psychological interventions are being implemented worldwide [26]. One such innovation is the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) program in England [27,28], which is now also being piloted in countries including Australia [29] and Norway [30]. The IAPT program was established in recognition that improving access to evidence-based psychological therapies required a fundamental transformation of mental health service delivery. This transformation was achieved through the delivery of psychological treatments within a stepped care service delivery model [31]. One important feature of the stepped care model is that the least restrictive evidence-based treatment available that is likely to result in a significant health gain is provided initially [32,33]. For example, lower demands placed on patients in terms of cost and personal inconvenience [32,33]. At step 2, low-intensity cognitive behavioral therapy (LICBT) is provided by a psychological practitioner workforce trained in competencies to support patients to engage in LICBT interventions [34]. At step 3, high-intensity cognitive behavioral therapy (HICBT) is delivered to patients, primarily face-to-face, by traditional psychological therapists.

LICBT interventions are delivered through a range of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) self-help interventions, including print-based formats or e-mental health (eg, internet administered and smartphone apps) formats [35]. Using LICBT interventions to deliver specific CBT techniques enables treatment to be provided with shorter session times while ensuring that patients receive a similar dose of therapy to that delivered by HICBT therapists [34]. With HICBT, evidence-based treatment protocols specify the delivery of several CBT techniques as part of a multistrand approach, such as cognitive therapy for depression [36]. With LICBT, a single-strand approach is adopted, in which a clinical decision is made to adopt a single evidence-based CBT technique for the treatment of a specific, common mental health difficulty [34]. Given the evidence base highlighting larger effect sizes associated with guided LICBT versus those associated with self-administered LICBT [37,38], interventions are supported by a psychological practitioner workforce [34].

The evidence base for LICBT has been demonstrated in over 30 systematic reviews and 50 controlled trials [39]. Controlled trials of guided internet-administered LICBT interventions versus face-to-face psychological therapies have been demonstrated to produce equivalent overall effects [40], and acceptability has been demonstrated in usual care settings [41]. In addition to placing fewer demands on parents of children treated for cancer, guided internet-administered LICBT may represent a solution to address individual-and provider-level barriers to access [42-44]. An existing internet-administered CBT intervention for parents of children treated for cancer has been found to be acceptable and feasible [45]. However, this was an HICBT intervention, delivered in real time by a qualified psychologist using a group treatment format. To the best of our knowledge, there is no guided internet-administered LICBT intervention for parents of children treated for cancer.

Objectives

The objectives are twofold. The first objective is to provide an overview of the multimethod approach informing the development of a guided internet-administered LICBT intervention for parents of children treated for cancer (EJDeR [internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer]), following phase I (development) of the Medical Research Council complex interventions framework [46]. The second objective is to provide a detailed description of the EJDeR intervention in accordance with the Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) checklist [47] to overcome criticisms concerning poor and incomplete reporting of complex nonpharmacological interventions [48].

Methods

Overview

Mixed methods, including a systematic review [6], interview studies [5,49], a single-arm trial [50], participatory action research [51], and a cross-sectional web-based survey [52] informed the initial development of EJDeR (Figure 1). Subsequently, public [53] and professional involvement was adopted to improve the quality, relevance, and acceptability of the intervention. The parent research partner (PRP) group consisted of 2 mothers and 2 fathers of a child treated for cancer who were aged between 45 and 54 years and recruited via word of mouth. Professional involvement included collaboration with a multidisciplinary team of licensed clinical psychologists, e-therapists, pediatric oncologists, and web developers (Figure 2). We included 10 publications [54-63] in Figure 2.

XSL•FO

Figure 1. Previous research informing the development of EJDeR. CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy; EJDeR: internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer; ICBT: internet-administered cognitive behavioral therapy; PTSS: posttraumatic stress symptoms.





Figure 2. Public and professional involvement. CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy; EJDeR: internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer; GAD: generalized anxiety disorder; IAPT: Improving Access to Psychological Therapies; LICBT: low-intensity cognitive behavioral therapy; PRP: parent research partner.



Ethics

XSL•FO

Ethical approval for studies informing the EJDeR intervention development process was granted by the regional ethical review board in Uppsala (DNR: 2012/440; DNR: 2015/426; DNR: 2017/527) and the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (DNR: 2019-03083).

Results

Overview of the EJDeR Intervention

EJDeR is a guided internet-administered LICBT intervention for parents 3 months to 5 years following their child ending treatment for cancer. For parents, the end of treatment is a period of psychological vulnerability [6], and a subgroup reports

long-term psychological distress after the end of treatment [10]. EJDeR is delivered on the Uppsala University Psychosocial Care Programme (U-CARE) portal (hereafter referred to as the portal), an in-house platform designed to deliver CBT interventions and support data collection [64,65]. EJDeR is intended to be delivered over 12 weeks and consists of 4 modules: (1) introduction and psychoeducation, (2) behavioral activation (BA), (3) worry management, and (4) relapse prevention. First, parents attend an initial assessment via videoconferencing or telephone interviews with an e-therapist. Consistent with an LICBT single-strand approach, a decision is made during the initial assessment to adopt BA to target depression or worry management for generalized anxiety disorder (GAD). Thereafter, e-therapists provide weekly written messages via the portal to guide parents to use the relevant module. Parents also receive a midintervention booster session with their e-therapist via videoconferencing or telephone. On occasions where difficulties remain after completion of BA or worry management, a collaborative decision may be reached to progress to the other LICBT technique. A detailed description of EJDeR is provided below in accordance with the items included in the TIDieR checklist [47].

TIDieR Checklist Item 1: Brief Name of the Intervention

The intervention was named EJDeR, which is a Swedish acronym for internetbaserat självhjälpsprogram för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer.

TIDieR Checklist Item 2: Rationale, Theory, or Goal of the Intervention

Overview

Theory related to the CBT model informing the development and maintenance of psychological distress was applied to understand the etiology and maintenance of distress in parents of children treated for cancer [50]. On the basis of the resulting conceptualization of distress in the population [50], depression and traumatic stress were proposed as the main psychological difficulties likely to arise in the population. Symptoms consistent with GAD (eg, persistent future-orientated worry and anxiety, fear, and health-related control behaviors) were also identified [50]. Given that depression and GAD are recommended for treatment with LICBT, EJDeR was developed to target depression and GAD, rather than posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) given the lack of evidence base for LICBT for PTSD [66]. Consistent with LICBT, EJDeR comprises two separate single-strand LICBT techniques: BA [67-69] and worry management [54,70,71] to target depression and GAD, respectively. EJDeR is not designed to support parents with a diagnosis of severe or enduring mental health difficulties or parents who are suicidal or have a history of persistent self-harm.

BA for Depression

To prioritize their child's cancer treatment, parents of children receiving cancer treatment commonly disengage from activities that make up a normal life routine, such as decreased engagement in work, social activities, and everyday household tasks [5,49,50]. At the time of the child's illness, prioritizing their child's cancer treatment can be helpful for parents in the

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22709
```

short term to manage the difficult situation of being a parent to a child with cancer. However, even after treatment has ended, some parents continue to disengage from these activities. This can arise as a consequence of negative reinforcement, whereby continuing to focus on their child's needs at the expense of their own and not re-engaging with previously undertaken activities can provide relief. However, failing to re-engage with previous activities, in particular those found pleasant, reduces opportunities for positive reinforcement, whereas engagement in unnecessary activities associated with their child's treatment is maintained through negative reinforcement [67,69,72,73]. To break this maintenance cycle, EJDeR adopts an LICBT BA technique [69] theoretically informed by Hopko et al [74] to overcome sources of negative reinforcement and increase engagement with pleasurable activities in a structured and graded way [67-69].

Worry Management for GAD

Worry in parents of children treated for cancer is commonly related to the child's disease. To help avoid potential problems during cancer treatment, or to avoid thinking about the outcome of future threats, parents may engage in worry behavior in an attempt to problem solve current difficulties and avoid future threats [75,76]. When worry is related to a practical problem and results in successful problem solving, it can be highly productive; for example, ensuring the child avoids situations that increase the risk of exposure to infectious diseases [50]. However, worry can be unhelpful when hypothetical; therefore, solutions cannot be generated. For example, concerns related to future cancer reoccurrence in their child or sickness in themselves or family members without any reason [5]. On such occasions, worry may be used as a form of cognitive avoidance to reduce distress and discomfort associated with uncertainty [77,78]. When successful in reducing distress and discomfort, the use of worry behaviors becomes negatively reinforced, helping to manage an intolerance of uncertainty in the long term [77,78]. This intolerance of uncertainty is a core feature of GAD and is common among parents of children treated for cancer **[79]**.

Behavior Change Models

To influence the degree to which patients are able to engage with the EJDeR intervention, behavior change theory [80] is integrated to supplement specific factors associated with single-strand LICBT techniques. For example, Self-Determination Theory [81] has been adopted to enhance autonomy, competence, and relatedness. A sense of autonomy is enhanced by providing a clear rationale for each LICBT technique. Clear instructions and guidance on how to complete exercises and guidance and feedback provided by an e-therapist foster competence. A sense of relatedness is established by directing significant attention to the language adopted throughout the intervention, such as the provision of empathy, normalization of common difficulties, and encouraging active engagement.

To complement Self-Determination Theory, the selection, optimization, and compensation (SOC) model [82-84] is embedded to support parents in re-engaging with activities that were given up while supporting their child through cancer

XSL•FO RenderX

treatment or address worry by problem solving practical difficulties faced during treatment. The SOC model has been demonstrated to be a successful strategy for managing the multiple goals associated with different life domains (eg, work, family, and leisure) in middle adulthood [85,86] that may be experienced by parents of children treated for cancer. Within BA, the SOC model is used to support parents in replacing activities that were necessary to stop by selecting other activities that are more achievable and remain of importance and value. The SOC model can help support problem solving by adapting activities in the event of experiencing changes in resources (optimization; eg, lack of time and finance) and identifying ways of achieving the activity in light of changes (compensation; eg, finding time and asking for support). Applying the SOC model enables parents to maximize desirable gains, goals, and

outcomes while minimizing undesirable losses, goals, and outcomes [82-84].

TIDieR Checklist Item 3: Physical or Informational Materials Used in the Intervention Delivery or Training

Intervention Delivery

EJDeR is delivered on the portal and includes text, illustrations, film, audio files, and a frequently asked questions section. The About Us section presents photos and a brief biography of the EJDeR authors to verify author credibility, previously shown to be important when providing remote treatment [87]. Technical help texts are available throughout EJDeR to support parents to use all functions. To visually present how EJDeR appears to parents, sample screenshots from the intervention can be seen in Figure 3.

Figure 3. Sample screenshots of EJDeR. EJDeR: internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer.



Parents initially complete the introduction and psychoeducation module, and after the initial assessment session, e-therapists provide access to the module containing the LICBT technique best suited to their main presenting difficulty (BA or worry management). After completion of BA or worry management, a collaborative decision between the e-therapist and parent may be reached to progress to the other LICBT technique; however, parents only work with a single LICBT technique at a time. A detailed description of the module content is found in TIDieR item 4, and an overview of the structure of EJDeR is shown in Figure 4.

RenderX

Figure 4. An overview of the structure of EJDeR. EJDeR: internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer.



Consistent with the LICBT approach, participant engagement with the techniques is facilitated through in-module exercises and weekly homework exercises completed on the portal and submitted to the e-therapist (see Figure 5 for an example). To provide choice, homework exercises can also be printed and completed offline, and parents subsequently complete a weekly homework review on exercise on the portal. Parents can access copies of all weekly homework exercises and audio files in a web-based library in the portal.



Figure 5. Sample exercise worksheet from EJDeR. EJDeR: internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer.



Intervention Training

e-Therapists are provided with a portal handbook, with instructions on how to use EJDeR and training videos on the delivery of the BA and worry management techniques. e-Therapists review parent progress through the modules and any completed in-module exercises and homework exercises on the portal.

TIDieR Checklist Item 4: Procedures, Activities, and Processes Used in the Intervention

Module: Introduction and Psychoeducation

Parents are provided with a brief introduction of how to use EJDeR. Psychoeducation about psychological distress in the context of being a parent of a child treated for cancer is also provided. Parents are introduced to two case vignettes that are used throughout EJDeR based on the Five Areas CBT model [88,89] to facilitate an understanding of the CBT rationale. To enhance engagement, case vignettes were informed by our previous research [5,51]. Parents (1) complete their own Five Areas CBT model; (2) identify areas of importance and value in their life; and (3) set three goals that are specific, positive, and realistically achievable. Parents are presented with the two case vignettes briefly outlining the techniques parents will work with during EJDeR.

Alongside completion of this module, parents take part in an initial assessment session with an e-therapist (see *TIDieR checklist Item 6*) to determine the parent's main presenting difficulty. The e-therapist provides access to the BA module for parents experiencing depression and the worry management module for parents experiencing GAD.

Module: BA

The full clinical protocol for BA has been described elsewhere [67-69]. Activities that make up a normal life routine are categorized into three types: (1) routine (providing life structure and typically repeated during the week, such as housework and cooking); (2) pleasurable activities that provide a sense of pleasure or enjoyment that are determined by the parent; and (3) necessary activities that are recognized as having the potential for serious negative consequences if not done (eg, attending hospital appointments, taking medication, or paying a bill). Parents are gradually supported to re-engage with activities they have stopped, aiming to re-establish a balance of routine and pleasurable activities, and where required, include necessary activities. The clinical protocol includes four main steps (identifying current activities, identifying stopped activities, organizing activities, and planning activities). As an adaptation, an additional step entitled Prioritizing Activities was added, recognizing that parents commonly experience difficulties trying to balance their home, work, and family life after cancer treatment has ended [5]. Parents may need to reprioritize routine activities to gain opportunities to re-engage with neglected pleasurable activities. A case vignette is used to guide parents through BA, including examples of completed exercises and occasions where setbacks are experienced, and to provide guidance and feedback on the use of BA [60,61]. Parents are encouraged to work with BA, with the exact number of weeks required decided collaboratively between the parent and e-therapist.

Module: Worry Management

The clinical protocol for worry management has been described elsewhere [54,70,71]. Parents capture worries over a week in a worry diary and categorize worries into two types: (1) practical (eg, important and can be solved) and (2) hypothetical (eg,

important but have no way of being solved, such as worries relating to past events, things that might happen in the future, or things that cannot be controlled). Parents review the types of worries they have captured and determine whether a particular type (eg, practical or hypothetical) has a greater impact and is more distressing. Parents are encouraged to use problem solving for practical worries and worry time for hypothetical worries. A case vignette is also used to guide parents through worry management. Parents continue to work with worry management, with the number of weeks decided collaboratively between the parent and the e-therapist. Parents may work with both worry time and problem solving.

Module: Relapse Prevention

This module is based on a relapse prevention protocol for LICBT [54,68] and is completed at the end of the 12-week intervention period or before if a collaborative decision is made between the parent and the e-therapist. Parents identify warning signs that may indicate relapse using the Five Areas CBT model [88,89] completed in the introduction and psychoeducation module. Next, parents identify what activities, skills, and techniques they have learned and found helpful during EJDeR to inform a staying-well toolkit. Parents are encouraged to make a written commitment to check-in with themselves, initially on a weekly basis, to consider what warning signs they may be experiencing. If parents find themselves experiencing warning signs, they should use their staying-well toolkit to identify how to address these.

TIDieR Checklist Item 5: Expertise, Background, and Specific Training Given to Intervention Providers

EJDeR is designed to be guided by e-therapists trained in the competencies required to support LICBT [90]. Within the IAPT program [27], guidance is provided by a psychological well-being practitioner workforce, where practitioners receive 9 months of graduate or postgraduate level training and are not required to have a core health or mental health professional qualification [34]. In Sweden, there is no psychological well-being practitioner workforce. Therefore, e-therapists are intended to be psychology program students, in at least their fourth year of study, including a term of advanced studies in CBT and those who have not yet gained an accredited mental health professional qualification.

A 2-day training program for EJDeR was provided to e-therapists by intervention authors PF (IAPT program LICBT national expert advisor and clinical lead, accredited cognitive behavioral psychotherapist and chartered psychologist) and JW (research psychologist, expert in LICBT, and teacher on educational programs to train mental health professionals using LICBT), a Swedish licensed psychologist, and 2 research assistants (MSc level). Training focuses on developing an understanding of (1) LICBT, (2) BA, (3) worry management, (4) difficulties commonly experienced by parents of children treated for cancer, (5) the structure of EJDeR, (6) support protocols, and (7) using the portal.

e-Therapists receive weekly group clinical supervision via videoconferencing or face-to-face with a licensed psychologist with expertise in the population and internet-administered CBT.

On-demand individual supervision with a licensed psychologist is provided, if required.

TIDieR Checklist Item 6: Modes of Delivery

The Portal

The portal [64,65] incorporates security and safety features to ensure sensitive information management, including (1) user log-in via bank ID (a citizen authentication system used in Sweden); (2) access through an encrypted connection using an HTTPS protocol; (3) protection of the webserver via Uppsala University's secure firewall, allowing only http secure traffic; and (4) storage of study data on a separate database to personal data (eg, the parent's identity and contact details) with both databases encrypted using 256-bit transparent data encryption. User action logging is enabled via action metadata management to allow user behavior analysis, including (1) log-ins; (2) log-outs; (3) opened modules; (4) section views (eg, the library); (5) opening PDFs; (6) homework entries, (7) multimedia (eg, audio and video) file consumption (including play, pause, and stop); and (8) time-stamp data. Message logging is also enabled, for example, the number of automated reminders sent via SMS text messaging or email, and the number of written messages sent between the e-therapist and the parent within the portal. A number of persuasive system design elements [91,92] are integrated to improve intervention adherence: (1) tunneling (eg, intervention content delivered in a predefined step-wise order to guide users through the intervention); (2) tailoring (eg, intervention content is personalized to user needs, ie, their main presenting mental health difficulty); (3) personalization (eg, reminder messages include the parent's first name); (4) self-monitoring (eg, mood monitoring via a visual analog scale); (5) rehearsal (eg, exercises are repeated); (6) reminders (eg, automated messages to remind parents to perform specific actions); (7) similarity (eg, use of case vignettes); and (8) liking (eg, use of professional illustrations).

e-Therapist Guidance

Guidance is provided to parents by a secure inbuilt videoconferencing system, written messages via the portal, and over the telephone. e-Therapists hold an initial assessment session with the parent informed by existing protocols [68] via videoconferencing or telephone. At the end of the assessment, a decision is made concerning which LICBT technique is best suited to the parent depending on their main difficulty (eg, depression or GAD). Thereafter, e-therapists provide weekly guidance via written messages within the portal, informed by evidence suggesting frequent support is associated with adherence [93]. Weekly written messages are informed by an existing brief check-in support protocol [68] and include (1) reviewing and providing feedback on weekly homework exercises; (2) reinforcement of progress made; (3) normalization of any difficulties encountered; (4) assistance with problem solving difficulties and directing the parent to advice in the EJDeR intervention; (5) setting a plan for the use of EJDeR over the coming week; and (6) encouragement to support continued motivation and engagement. The brief check-in support protocol [68] is informed by the ICBT Therapist Rating Scale [94] and designed to minimize the use of undesirable e-therapist behaviors [95]. e-Therapists may provide at-need

XSL•FO RenderX

written support via the portal if requested and are required to respond to parents within 1 working day. Parents receive a booster session via videoconferencing or telephone halfway through EJDeR to review and assess progress, identify and provide assistance for problem solving any difficulties experienced, and provide continued encouragement and motivation.

TIDieR Checklist Item 7: Location

e-Therapists were located at Uppsala University, Sweden. EJDeR can be assessed on PCs, smartphones, and tablets.

TIDieR Checklist Item 8: Timing, Duration, and Intensity

EJDeR is designed to be delivered over 12 weeks. The initial assessment session lasts approximately 45 minutes and the booster session lasts for 30 minutes. e-Therapists are expected to spend 20-30 minutes per parent each week, providing weekly written messages via the portal. Parents are expected to complete the introduction and psychoeducation module and one LICBT intervention module (eg, BA or worry management).

TIDieR Checklist Item 9: Tailoring the Intervention

Content has been closely developed alongside PRPs and has been informed by research identifying the experiences, distress, needs, and preferences for support of parents of children treated for cancer [5,6,49-52]. Examples of tailoring for the population include (1) the use of case vignettes of parents using the intervention, which were informed by our previous research to enhance realism and relevancy [5,51]; (2) professional illustrations depicting parents throughout the intervention; (3) the inclusion of psychoeducation in the context of the situation of being a parent of a child treated for cancer (eg, fear of cancer reoccurrence); (4) the choice between attending the initial assessment session via telephone or videoconference [51]; and (5) the inclusion of a midintervention booster session [51].

TIDieR Checklist Item 10: Modifications of the Intervention

EJDeR is currently being tested in a single-arm feasibility study, ENGAGE [96,97] (ISRCTN 57233429), with a baseline, posttreatment (12 weeks), and 6-month follow-up, with an embedded qualitative and quantitative process evaluation to inform a future phase III definitive randomized controlled trial. Findings from the embedded qualitative process evaluation will inform future potential modifications to the intervention. Any intervention modifications during the course of the study will be reported in the ENGAGE study results.

TIDieR Checklist Item 11: Assessing Intervention Adherence (Planned)

Videoconference and telephone guidance sessions are audio-recorded with informed consent. Overall, 15% of written communication and 15% of video or telephone communication between parents and e-therapists are reviewed by a member of the research team to assess e-therapist fidelity to the clinical protocol. Parent activity on the portal is logged to examine parent adherence, including the number of log-ins, opened modules, completed in-module and homework exercises via the

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22709
```

RenderX

portal, and the number of written messages via the portal sent to e-therapists.

TIDieR Checklist Item 12: Assessing Intervention Adherence (Actual)

Actual adherence to EJDeR will be reported in the results of the ongoing single-arm feasibility study ENGAGE [96].

Discussion

Principal Findings

The detailed description of EJDeR, in line with the TIDieR checklist, can help facilitate e-therapist fidelity to the EJDeR protocol during the ENGAGE study [98]. Furthermore, if EJDeR is implemented later, clinical delivery will be replicable.

Limitations and Strengths

Although public involvement was embedded within intervention development and resulted in valuable feedback and intervention changes, involvement was at a consultation level, with feedback provided on materials already developed by the research team. Involvement may have been enhanced by the greater engagement of PRPs earlier in the process. For example, holding in-depth discussion groups, involvement in writing the intervention, and development of case vignettes to add extra authenticity. PRPs only provided feedback on a written version of EJDeR and not when EJDeR was uploaded onto the portal, and was, therefore, reviewed outside of its intended context. However, an important objective of the ongoing study ENGAGE is to examine the acceptability and feasibility of EJDeR in more depth.

EJDeR does not include the collection of routine weekly clinical outcome measurements for clinical purposes, for example, to help inform treatment decisions. Instead, weekly clinical outcome measurements (depression, Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD, GAD-7; posttraumatic stress symptoms, PTSD Checklist for DSM-5, and PTSD Checklist-Civilian Version) were collected via the portal to inform a process evaluation for research purposes only [96]. Collection of clinical outcome measurements on a session-by-session basis is a core feature of the stepped care model to inform the treatment planning [27] and a core feature of the successful implementation of internet-administered CBT in routine health care [99].

Consistent with the single-strand LICBT interventions developed in England as part of the IAPT program, EJDeR was adapted to enhance the acceptability for the Swedish population. Adopting a more structured framework to inform the cultural adaptation of evidence-based psychological interventions may improve acceptability and relevance [100]. Finally, to ensure consistency with the LICBT approach, EJDeR targets depression and GAD. Therefore, EJDeR does not target all mental health difficulties commonly experienced by parents of children treated for cancer, such as PTSD [50]. Future psychological interventions developed for parents of children treated for cancer may target other difficulties.

Notwithstanding these limitations, the development of EJDeR was informed by a series of iterative research studies, including

evidence synthesis, conceptualization of distress, participatory action research, and a cross-sectional web-based survey, and therefore, it is strongly grounded in research on the population. Public involvement was embedded within the intervention development process, resulting in invaluable feedback and intervention changes. Development included translation by native Swedish speakers and subsequent back-translation by a professional translation company.

Comparison With Prior Work

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first LICBT intervention to be described in detail and in accordance with the TIDieR checklist [47]. Although LICBT clinical protocols have been published [68], the TIDieR checklist represents a systematic and structured approach to facilitating detailed intervention descriptions. The provision of a systematic and structured clinical protocol may be of particular importance, given that therapeutic drift [101] in supporting LICBT is commonly reported [102]. In addition, the content of LICBT interventions differs significantly [34,103] and is poorly

described [104]. Furthermore, the use of the TIDieR checklist, alongside the application of further intervention fidelity measures, will facilitate determining the extent to which EJDeR is delivered as planned in the ENGAGE study, thereby increasing confidence in the results of any subsequent effectiveness trial [98].

Conclusions

Informed by phase I (development) of the Medical Research Council guidance for the development and evaluation of complex interventions [46], an overview of the development process is provided, along with a detailed description of the EJDeR intervention informed by the TIDieR checklist. The provision of a detailed and structured intervention protocol is of particular importance for the implementation of evidence-based treatments and reduction of research waste [48], providing procedures to maximize fidelity to protocols [98]. Reducing therapist drift is a core feature associated with the successful implementation of internet-administered LICBT [99].

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Swedish Research Council (grant numbers VR521-2010-3042, VR521-2014-3337, K2015-99X-20836-08-4, and 2018-02578), the Swedish Cancer Society (grant numbers 2007/1015, 2010/27, 2013/580; 2014/613, 140790, 150673, and 180589), and the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation (grant numbers PROJ08/010, PRO12/028, and PR2017-0005). The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

The authors would like to thank Anna Mautner and Nathalie Petersén (licensed psychologists), Laura Kukkola (doctoral student), and Kajsa Norbäck (MSc; project coordinator and intervention translation) for their work on the previous drafts of EJDeR. The authors are very grateful to the PRPs and e-therapists Agnes Hellgren and Caroline Sandström for sharing their expertise and time to work with the research team to develop EJDeR and enhance its suitability and relevance for parents of children treated for cancer.

The techniques used in the EJDeR program were derived from the Managing Your Worries LICBT intervention authored by PF, JW, and Ms Faye Small. Copyright University of Exeter (2019; acting through Clinical Education, Development, and Research (CEDAR); Psychology Department). Certain specific factors are derived from the BA protocol developed by Professor David Richards and Dr Mark Whyte (2011) and the problem-solving protocol developed by Professor Pim Cuijpers (2004). Graphic design was provided by ETC Communications, Stockholm, and all illustrations used in the EJDeR intervention were designed by Rebecka Porse Schalin.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Steliarova-Foucher E, Colombet M, Ries L, Hesseling P, Moreno F, Shin H, et al. International incidence of childhood cancer, volume III. World Health Organization - International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2017. URL: <u>http://iicc.</u> <u>iarc.fr/results/</u> [accessed 2020-08-18]
- Gatta G, Botta L, Rossi S, Aareleid T, Bielska-Lasota M, Clavel J, EUROCARE Working Group. Childhood cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007: results of EUROCARE-5 - a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2014 Jan;15(1):35-47. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70548-5] [Medline: 24314616]
- Steliarova-Foucher E, Colombet M, Ries LA, Moreno F, Dolya A, Bray F, IICC-3 contributors. International incidence of childhood cancer, 2001-10: a population-based registry study. Lancet Oncol 2017 Jun;18(6):719-731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30186-9] [Medline: 28410997]
- 4. GBD 2017 Childhood Cancer Collaborators. Correction to Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 1211-25. Lancet Oncol 2019 Sep;20(9):e468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30530-3] [Medline: 31399371]

- Carlsson T, Kukkola L, Ljungman L, Hovén E, von Essen L. Psychological distress in parents of children treated for cancer: an explorative study. PLoS One 2019;14(6):e0218860 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0218860] [Medline: 31226159]
- Ljungman L, Cernvall M, Grönqvist H, Ljótsson B, Ljungman G, von EL. Long-term positive and negative psychological late effects for parents of childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. PLoS One 2014;9(7):e103340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103340] [Medline: 25058607]
- van Warmerdam J, Zabih V, Kurdyak P, Sutradhar R, Nathan PC, Gupta S. Prevalence of anxiety, depression, and posttraumatic stress disorder in parents of children with cancer: a meta-analysis. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2019 Jun;66(6):e27677. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.27677</u>] [Medline: <u>30816008</u>]
- Vrijmoet-Wiersma CM, van Klink JM, Kolk AM, Koopman HM, Ball LM, Egeler RM. Assessment of parental psychological stress in pediatric cancer: a review. J Pediatr Psychol 2008 Aug;33(7):694-706. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsn007</u>] [Medline: <u>18287109</u>]
- 9. Wakefield CE, McLoone JK, Butow P, Lenthen K, Cohn RJ. Parental adjustment to the completion of their child's cancer treatment. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2011 Apr;56(4):524-531. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.22725</u>] [Medline: <u>21298736</u>]
- Wikman A, Mattsson E, von Essen L, Hovén E. Prevalence and predictors of symptoms of anxiety and depression, and comorbid symptoms of distress in parents of childhood cancer survivors and bereaved parents five years after end of treatment or a child's death. Acta Oncol 2018 Jul;57(7):950-957. [doi: <u>10.1080/0284186X.2018.1445286</u>] [Medline: <u>29498559</u>]
- 11. Hovén E, von EL, Norberg AL. A longitudinal assessment of work situation, sick leave, and household income of mothers and fathers of children with cancer in Sweden. Acta Oncol 2013 Aug;52(6):1076-1085. [doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2012.760846] [Medline: 23343223]
- Norberg AL, Montgomery SM, Bottai M, Heyman M, Hovén EI. Short-term and long-term effects of childhood cancer on income from employment and employment status: a national cohort study in Sweden. Cancer 2017 Apr 01;123(7):1238-1248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30436] [Medline: 27870013]
- 13. Roser K, Erdmann F, Michel G, Winther JF, Mader L. The impact of childhood cancer on parents' socio-economic situation a systematic review. Psychooncology 2019 Jun;28(6):1207-1226. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5088</u>] [Medline: <u>30970149</u>]
- Wikman A, Hovén E, Cernvall M, Ljungman G, Ljungman L, von Essen L. Parents of children diagnosed with cancer: work situation and sick leave, a five-year post end-of-treatment or a child's death follow-up study. Acta Oncol 2016;55(9-10):1152-1157. [doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2016.1167956] [Medline: 27159219]
- 15. Öhman M, Woodford J, von Essen L. Socioeconomic consequences of parenting a child with cancer for fathers and mothers in Sweden: a population-based difference-in-difference study. Int J Cancer 2020 Dec 15:2535-2541. [doi: 10.1002/ijc.33444] [Medline: 33320976]
- Macedo EC, da Silva LR, Paiva MS, Ramos MN. Burden and quality of life of mothers of children and adolescents with chronic illnesses: an integrative review. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2015;23(4):769-777 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/0104-1169.0196.2613] [Medline: 26444180]
- Litzelman K, Catrine K, Gangnon R, Witt WP. Quality of life among parents of children with cancer or brain tumors: the impact of child characteristics and parental psychosocial factors. Qual Life Res 2011 Oct;20(8):1261-1269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9854-2] [Medline: 21287280]
- Christen S, Mader L, Baenziger J, Roser K, Schindera C, Tinner EM, et al. "I wish someone had once asked me how I'm doing": Disadvantages and support needs faced by parents of long-term childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2019 Aug;66(8):e27767. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.27767] [Medline: <u>31090217</u>]
- Kukkola L, Hovén E, Cernvall M, von EL, Grönqvist H. Perceptions of support among Swedish parents of children after end of successful cancer treatment: a prospective, longitudinal study. Acta Oncol 2017 Oct 03:1-7. [doi: <u>10.1080/0284186X.2017.1374554</u>] [Medline: <u>28971717</u>]
- 20. Wakefield CE, McLoone J, Butow P, Lenthen K, Cohn RJ. Support after the completion of cancer treatment: perspectives of Australian adolescents and their families. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2013 Jul;22(4):530-539. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12059] [Medline: 23730980]
- 21. Hocking MC, Kazak AE, Schneider S, Barkman D, Barakat LP, Deatrick JA. Parent perspectives on family-based psychosocial interventions in pediatric cancer: a mixed-methods approach. Support Care Cancer 2014 May;22(5):1287-1294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-2083-1] [Medline: 24337762]
- 22. Kearney JA, Salley CG, Muriel AC. Standards of psychosocial care for parents of children with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2015 Dec;62 Suppl 5:632-683 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.25761] [Medline: 26700921]
- 23. Collins KA, Westra HA, Dozois DJ, Burns DD. Gaps in accessing treatment for anxiety and depression: challenges for the delivery of care. Clin Psychol Rev 2004 Sep;24(5):583-616. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2004.06.001] [Medline: 15325746]
- Alangari AS, Knox SS, Kristjansson AL, Wen S, Innes KE, Bilal L, et al. Barriers to mental health treatment in the Saudi National Mental Health Survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 May 30;17(11):3877 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17113877] [Medline: 32486182]
- 25. Rebello TJ, Marques A, Gureje O, Pike KM. Innovative strategies for closing the mental health treatment gap globally. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2014 Jul;27(4):308-314. [doi: <u>10.1097/YCO.0000000000000068</u>] [Medline: <u>24840160</u>]

RenderX
- 26. Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, Thornicroft G, Baingana F, Bolton P, et al. The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. Lancet 2018 Oct 27;392(10157):1553-1598. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31612-X] [Medline: 30314863]
- 27. Clark DM. Realizing the mass public benefit of evidence-based psychological therapies: the IAPT program. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2018 May 07;14:159-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084833] [Medline: 29350997]
- 28. The improving access to psychological therapies manual. National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/nccmh/iapt/the-iapt-manual--final--republished-7-3-18.</u> <u>pdf?sfvrsn=a192d1af_0</u> [accessed 2020-08-18]
- 29. Lawn S, Huang N, Zabeen S, Smith D, Battersby M, Redpath P, et al. Outcomes of telephone-delivered low-intensity cognitive behaviour therapy (LiCBT) to community dwelling Australians with a recent hospital admission due to depression or anxiety: MindStep[™]. BMC Psychiatry 2019 Jan 03;19(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1987-1] [Medline: 30606169]
- Knapstad M, Nordgreen T, Smith ORF. Prompt mental health care, the Norwegian version of IAPT: clinical outcomes and predictors of change in a multicenter cohort study. BMC Psychiatry 2018 Aug 16;18(1):260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1838-0] [Medline: 30115041]
- 31. van Straten A, Hill J, Richards DA, Cuijpers P. Stepped care treatment delivery for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2014 Mar 26:1-16. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000701] [Medline: 25065653]
- 32. Bower P, Gilbody S. Stepped care in psychological therapies: access, effectiveness and efficiency. Narrative literature review. Br J Psychiatry 2005 Jan;186:11-17. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.186.1.11] [Medline: 15630118]
- 33. Sobell MB, Sobell LC. Stepped care as a heuristic approach to the treatment of alcohol problems. J Consult Clin Psychol 2000 Aug;68(4):573-579. [Medline: 10965632]
- 34. Farrand P. Low-intensity cognitive behavioural therapy: revolution not evolution. In: Low-Intensity CBT Skills and Interventions: A Practitioner's Manual. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2010:1-408.
- 35. Bennett-Levy J, Richards D, Farrand P. Low intensity CBT interventions: a revolution in mental health care. In: Bennett-Levy J, Richards DA, Farrand P, Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Kavanaugh DJ, et al, editors. Oxford Guide to Low Intensity CBT Interventions. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press; 2010:3-18.
- 36. Beck A, Rush J, Shaw B, Emery G. Cognitive Therapy of Depression. New York, NY: Guildford Press; 1979.
- Farrand P, Woodford J. Impact of support on the effectiveness of written cognitive behavioural self-help: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Clin Psychol Rev 2013 Feb;33(1):182-195. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2012.11.001] [Medline: 23238023]
- 38. Baumeister H, Reichler L, Munzinger M, Lin J. The impact of guidance on Internet-based mental health interventions a systematic review. Internet Interv 2014 Oct;1(4):205-215. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.invent.2014.08.003</u>]
- Delgadillo J. Guided self-help in a brave new world. Br J Psychiatry 2018 Feb;212(2):65-66. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.2017.17</u>] [Medline: <u>29436327</u>]
- 40. Carlbring P, Andersson G, Cuijpers P, Riper H, Hedman-Lagerlöf E. Internet-based vs. face-to-face cognitive behavior therapy for psychiatric and somatic disorders: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Cogn Behav Ther 2018 Jan;47(1):1-18. [doi: 10.1080/16506073.2017.1401115] [Medline: 29215315]
- 41. Etzelmueller A, Vis C, Karyotaki E, Baumeister H, Titov N, Berking M, et al. Effects of Internet-Based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Routine Care for Adults in Treatment for Depression and Anxiety: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 31;22(8):e18100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18100] [Medline: 32865497]
- 42. Canter KS, Vega G, Ramirez AP, Deatrick JE, Kazak AE. Strategies for successful recruitment and retention of parents in pediatric psychosocial eHealth interventions: a qualitative study in pediatric oncology. J Pediatr Psychol 2020 Jun 01;45(5):530-539. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa013] [Medline: 32196090]
- Knowles SE, Toms G, Sanders C, Bee P, Lovell K, Rennick-Egglestone S, et al. Qualitative meta-synthesis of user experience of computerised therapy for depression and anxiety. PLoS One 2014;9(1):e84323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084323] [Medline: 24465404]
- 44. Rost T, Stein J, Löbner M, Kersting A, Luck-Sikorski C, Riedel-Heller SG. User acceptance of computerized cognitive behavioral therapy for depression: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Sep 13;19(9):e309. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.7662</u>] [Medline: <u>28903893</u>]
- 45. Wakefield CE, Sansom-Daly UM, McGill BC, Ellis SJ, Doolan EL, Robertson EG, et al. Acceptability and feasibility of an e-mental health intervention for parents of childhood cancer survivors: "Cascade". Support Care Cancer 2016 Dec;24(6):2685-2694. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3077-6] [Medline: 26781620]
- 46. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Br Med J 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. Br Med J 2014 Mar 07;348:g1687. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1687] [Medline: 24609605]

- 48. Glasziou P, Meats E, Heneghan C, Shepperd S. What is missing from descriptions of treatment in trials and reviews? Br Med J 2008 Jun 28;336(7659):1472-1474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39590.732037.47] [Medline: 18583680]
- 49. Ljungman L, Boger M, Ander M, Ljótsson B, Cernvall M, von EL, et al. Impressions that last: particularly negative and positive experiences reported by parents five years after the end of a child's successful cancer treatment or death. PLoS One 2016;11(6):e0157076 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157076] [Medline: 27272318]
- 50. Ljungman L, Cernvall M, Ghaderi A, Ljungman G, von Essen L, Ljótsson B. An open trial of individualized face-to-face cognitive behavior therapy for psychological distress in parents of children after end of treatment for childhood cancer including a cognitive behavioral conceptualization. PeerJ 2018;6:e4570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.4570] [Medline: 29666751]
- 51. Wikman A, Kukkola L, Börjesson H, Cernvall M, Woodford J, Grönqvist H, et al. Development of an Internet-Administered Cognitive Behavior Therapy Program (ENGAGE) for parents of children previously treated for cancer: participatory action research approach. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 18;20(4):e133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9457] [Medline: 29669710]
- 52. Woodford J, Wikman A, Einhorn K, Cernvall M, Grönqvist H, Romppala A, et al. Attitudes and preferences toward a hypothetical trial of an internet-administered psychological intervention for parents of children treated for cancer: web-based survey. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Dec 18;5(4):e10085 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10085] [Medline: 30563814]
- 53. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Simera I, Seers K, Mockford C, Goodlad S, et al. GRIPP2 reporting checklists: tools to improve reporting of patient and public involvement in research. Br Med J 2017 Aug 02;358:j3453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j3453] [Medline: 28768629]
- 54. Farrand P, Woodford J, Small F. From worries to solutions. Exeter University. 2019. URL: <u>https://cedar.exeter.ac.uk/media/universityofexeter/schoolofpsychology/cedar/documents/liiapt/Problems_to_Solutions.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-08-18]
- 55. Richards D, Whyte M. Reach out. National programme student materials to support the delivery of training for psychological wellbeing practitioners delivering low intensity interventions. 3rd edition. NHS Improving Access to Psychological Therapies. 2011. URL: <u>https://cedar.exeter.ac.uk/media/universityofexeter/schoolofpsychology/cedar/documents/</u> Reach Out 3rd edition.pdf [accessed 2020-08-18]
- 56. Martinez R, Whitfield G, Dafters R, Williams C. Can people read self-help manuals for depression? A challenge for the stepped care model and book prescription schemes. Behav Cogn Psychother 2007 Dec 18;36(1):89-97. [doi: 10.1017/S1352465807004067]
- 57. Richardson R, Richards DA, Barkham M. Self-help books for people with depression: a scoping review. J Ment Health 2009 Jul 06;17(5):543-552. [doi: 10.1080/09638230802053334]
- 58. Rogers A, Flowers J, Pencheon D. Improving access needs a whole systems approach. And will be important in averting crises in the millennium winter. Br Med J 1999 Oct 02;319(7214):866-867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.319.7214.866] [Medline: 10506023]
- Cahill J, Barkham M, Hardy G, Gilbody S, Richards D, Bower P, et al. A review and critical appraisal of measures of therapist-patient interactions in mental health settings. Health Technol Assess 2008 Jun;12(24):iii, ix-iii, 47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3310/hta12240] [Medline: 18510875]
- 60. Richardson R, Richards DA. Self-help: towards the next generation. Behav Cogn Psychother 2005 Nov 22;34(1):13-23. [doi: 10.1017/S1352465805002481]
- 61. Richardson R, Richards DA, Barkham M. Self-help books for people with depression: the role of the therapeutic relationship. Behav Cogn Psychother 2010 Jan;38(1):67-81. [doi: 10.1017/S1352465809990452] [Medline: 19995466]
- 62. Macdonald W, Mead N, Bower P, Richards D, Lovell K. A qualitative study of patients' perceptions of a 'minimal' psychological therapy. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2007 Jan;53(1):23-35. [doi: 10.1177/0020764006066841] [Medline: 17333949]
- 63. Krahmer E, Ummelen N. Thinking about thinking aloud: a comparison of two verbal protocols for usability testing. IEEE Trans Profess Commun 2004 Jun;47(2):105-117. [doi: <u>10.1109/tpc.2004.828205</u>]
- 64. Sjöström J, von Essen L, Grönqvist H. The origin and impact of ideals in eHealth research: experiences from the U-CARE research environment. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 May 23;3(2):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3202] [Medline: 24860071]
- 65. Grönqvist H, Olsson EM, Johansson B, Held C, Sjöström J, Lindahl NA, et al. Fifteen challenges in establishing a multidisciplinary research program on ehealth research in a university setting: a case study. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 23;19(5):e173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7310] [Medline: 28536090]
- 66. Post-traumatic stress disorder. NICE guideline [NG116]. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng116</u> [accessed 2020-08-10]
- 67. Richards D. Behavioural activation. In: Bennett-Levy J, Richards DA, Farrand P, Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Kavanaugh DJ, et al, editors. Oxford Guide to Low Intensity CBT Interventions. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press; 2010:141-150.
- 68. Farrand P, Woodford J, Small F, Mullan E. Behavioural activation self-help to improve depression in people living with dementia: the PROMOTE treatment protocol. NZ J Psychol. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.psychology.org.nz/journal-archive/PROMOTE-treatment-protocol.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-08-18]

- 69. Farrand P. Behavioural activation: working outside in, rather than inside out. In: Low-Intensity CBT Skills and Interventions. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2020:1-408.
- 70. Small F, Lockwood K. Worry management: a practical solution to a problem of hypotheticals. In: Farrand P, editor. Low-Intensity CBT Skills and Interventions. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2020:1-408.
- 71. Miles G. Problem solving: doing what it says on the tin. In: Farrand P, editor. Low-Intensity CBT Skills and Interventions: A Practitioner's Manual. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2020:1-408.
- Ekers D, Webster L, Van SA, Cuijpers P, Richards D, Gilbody S. Behavioural activation for depression; an update of meta-analysis of effectiveness and sub group analysis. PLoS One 2014;9(6):e100100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100100] [Medline: 24936656]
- 73. Farrand P, Pentecost C, Greaves C, Taylor RS, Warren F, Green C, et al. A written self-help intervention for depressed adults comparing behavioural activation combined with physical activity promotion with a self-help intervention based upon behavioural activation alone: study protocol for a parallel group pilot randomised controlled trial (BAcPAc). Trials 2014 May 29;15:196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-15-196] [Medline: 24886116]
- 74. Hopko DR, Lejuez CW, LePage JP, Hopko SD, McNeil DW. A brief behavioral activation treatment for depression. A randomized pilot trial within an inpatient psychiatric hospital. Behav Modif 2003 Sep;27(4):458-469. [doi: 10.1177/0145445503255489] [Medline: 12971122]
- 75. Borkovec TD, Inz J. The nature of worry in generalized anxiety disorder: a predominance of thought activity. Behav Res Ther 1990;28(2):153-158. [doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(90)90027-g] [Medline: 2183759]
- 76. Borkovec TD, Roemer L. Perceived functions of worry among generalized anxiety disorder subjects: distraction from more emotionally distressing topics? J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 1995 Mar;26(1):25-30. [doi: <u>10.1016/0005-7916(94)00064-s</u>] [Medline: <u>7642757</u>]
- 77. Dugas MJ, Ladouceur R. Treatment of GAD. Targeting intolerance of uncertainty in two types of worry. Behav Modif 2000 Oct;24(5):635-657. [doi: 10.1177/0145445500245002] [Medline: 11036732]
- 78. Dugas M, Robichaud M. Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment for Generalized Anxiety Disorder: From Science to Practice. New York, NY: Routledge; 2007.
- 79. Haegen MV, Etienne A. Intolerance of uncertainty in parents of childhood cancer survivors: a clinical profile analysis. J Psychosoc Oncol 2018;36(6):717-733. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2018.1499692] [Medline: 30427278]
- 80. Chadwick P. Using behaviour change models to support low intensity cognitive behavioural therapy interventionsnabling patients to engagemake lasting change. In: Farrand P, editor. Low-Intensity CBT Skills and Interventions: A Practitioner's Manual. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2020:1-408.
- 81. Deci EL, Ryan RM. The "What" and "Why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. Psychol Inq 2000 Oct;11(4):227-268. [doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli1104_01]
- 82. Baltes PB. The many faces of human ageing: toward a psychological culture of old age. Psychol Med 1991 Nov;21(4):837-854. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291700029846] [Medline: 1780400]
- 83. Baltes PB. On the incomplete architecture of human ontogeny: selection, optimization, and compensation as foundation of developmental theory. Am Psychol 1997;52(4):366-380. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.52.4.366]
- 84. Baltes MM, Carstensen LL. The process of successful ageing. Ageing Soc 2008 Nov 14;16(4):397-422. [doi: 10.1017/s0144686x00003603]
- 85. Baltes BB, Heydens-Gahir HA. Reduction of work-family conflict through the use of selection, optimization, and compensation behaviors. J Appl Psychol 2003 Dec;88(6):1005-1018. [doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.88.6.1005] [Medline: 14640812]
- Knecht M, Freund AM. The use of selection, optimization, and compensation (SOC) in goal pursuit in the daily lives of middle-aged adults. Eur J Dev Psychol 2016 Jul 12;14(3):350-366. [doi: <u>10.1080/17405629.2016.1207518</u>]
- Bee PE, Lovell K, Lidbetter N, Easton K, Gask L. You can't get anything perfect: "user perspectives on the delivery of cognitive behavioural therapy by telephone". Soc Sci Med 2010 Oct;71(7):1308-1315. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.06.031</u>] [Medline: <u>20675026</u>]
- 88. Wright B, Williams C, Garland A. Using the Five Areas cognitive–behavioural therapy model with psychiatric patients. Adv Psychiatr Treat 2018 Jan 02;8(4):307-315. [doi: 10.1192/apt.8.4.307]
- 89. Williams C, Garland A. A cognitive–behavioural therapy assessment model for use in everyday clinical practice. Adv Psychiatr Treat 2018 Jan 02;8(3):172-179. [doi: 10.1192/apt.8.3.172]
- 90. Roth A, Pilling S. The competences required to deliver effective cognitive and behavioural therapy for people with depression and with anxiety disorders. Department of Health, London. 2007. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/4b7f9j82</u> [accessed 2017-07-05]
- 91. Kelders SM, Kok RN, Ossebaard HC, Van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Persuasive system design does matter: a systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(6):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2104] [Medline: 23151820]
- 92. Oinas-Kukkonen H, Harjumaa M. Persuasive systems design: key issues, process model, and system features. Commun Assoc Inf Syst 2009;24:02428. [doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.02428]
- Cuijpers P, Huibers M, Ebert DD, Koole SL, Andersson G. How much psychotherapy is needed to treat depression? A metaregression analysis. J Affect Disord 2013 Jul;149(1-3):1-13. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2013.02.030</u>] [Medline: <u>23528438</u>]

- 94. Hadjistavropoulos HD, Schneider LH, Klassen K, Dear BF, Titov N. Development and evaluation of a scale assessing therapist fidelity to guidelines for delivering therapist-assisted Internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy. Cogn Behav Ther 2018 Nov;47(6):447-461. [doi: 10.1080/16506073.2018.1457079] [Medline: 29693533]
- 95. Hadjistavropoulos HD, Gullickson KM, Schneider LH, Dear BF, Titov N. Development of the Internet-Delivered Cognitive Behaviour Therapy Undesirable Therapist Behaviours Scale (ICBT-UTBS). Internet Interv 2019 Dec;18:100255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2019.100255] [Medline: 31890609]
- 96. Woodford J, Wikman A, Cernvall M, Ljungman G, Romppala A, Grönqvist H, et al. Study protocol for a feasibility study of an internet-administered, guided, CBT-based, self-help intervention (ENGAGE) for parents of children previously treated for cancer. BMJ Open 2018 Jun 14;8(6):e023708 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023708] [Medline: 29903802]
- 97. Woodford J, Norbäck K, Hagström J, Grönqvist H, Parker A, Arundel C, et al. Study within a trial (SWAT) protocol. Investigating the effect of personalised versus non-personalised study invitations on recruitment: an embedded randomised controlled recruitment trial. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2020 Jun;18:100572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100572] [Medline: 32420511]
- 98. Lambert JD, Greaves CJ, Farrand P, Cross R, Haase AM, Taylor AH. Assessment of fidelity in individual level behaviour change interventions promoting physical activity among adults: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2017 Dec 02;17(1):765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4778-6] [Medline: 28969669]
- 99. Titov N, Dear B, Nielssen O, Staples L, Hadjistavropoulos H, Nugent M, et al. ICBT in routine care: a descriptive analysis of successful clinics in five countries. Internet Interv 2018 Sep;13:108-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.07.006] [Medline: 30206525]
- 100. Bernal G, Jiménez-Chafey MI, Rodríguez MM. Cultural adaptation of treatments: a resource for considering culture in evidence-based practice. Prof Psychol Res Pr 2009;40(4):361-368. [doi: 10.1037/a0016401]
- 101. Waller G. Evidence-based treatment and therapist drift. Behav Res Ther 2009 Feb;47(2):119-127. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2008.10.018] [Medline: 19036354]
- 102. Telford J, Wilson R. From classroom to 'shop floor': challenges faced as a low intensity practitioner. In: Bennett-Levy J, Richards DA, Farrand P, Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Kavanagh DJ, editors. Oxford Guide to Low Intensity CBT Interventions. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press; 2010:469-474.
- 103. Lewis C, Pearce J, Bisson JI. Efficacy, cost-effectiveness and acceptability of self-help interventions for anxiety disorders: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry 2012 Jan;200(1):15-21. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.084756] [Medline: 22215865]
- 104. Coull G, Morris PG. The clinical effectiveness of CBT-based guided self-help interventions for anxiety and depressive disorders: a systematic review. Psychol Med 2011 Nov;41(11):2239-2252. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291711000900</u>] [Medline: <u>21672297</u>]

Abbreviations

BA: behavioral activation
CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy
EJDeR: internetbaserad självhjälp för föräldrar till barn som avslutat en behandling mot cancer
GAD: generalized anxiety disorder
HICBT: high-intensity cognitive behavioral therapy
IAPT: Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
LICBT: low-intensity cognitive behavioral therapy
PRP: parent research partner
PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder
SOC: selection, optimization, and compensation
TIDieR: Template for Intervention Description and Replication
U-CARE: Uppsala University Psychosocial Care Programme

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.08.20; peer-reviewed by M Vander Haegen, X Wang, D Collins; comments to author 18.11.20; revised version received 08.01.21; accepted 17.06.21; published 22.07.21.

Please cite as:

Woodford J, Farrand P, Hagström J, Hedenmalm L, von Essen L Internet-Administered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Common Mental Health Difficulties in Parents of Children Treated for Cancer: Intervention Development and Description Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e22709 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22709 doi:10.2196/22709 PMID:34142662



https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e22709

©Joanne Woodford, Paul Farrand, Josefin Hagström, Li Hedenmalm, Louise von Essen. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 22.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Experience of Peer Bloggers Using a Social Media Website for Adolescents With Depression or Anxiety: Proof-of-Concept Study

Sana Karim¹, MS; Kimberly Hsiung², MS, MD; Maria Symonds³, BS; Ana Radovic⁴, MSc, MD

¹Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

²University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

³McLean-Franciscan Child and Adolescent Inpatient Program, Franciscan Children's, Brighton, MA, United States

⁴Division of Adolescent and Young Adult Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sana Karim, MS Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh University of Pittsburgh 120 Lytton Ave Pittsburgh, PA United States Phone: 1 4126247000 Email: <u>sana.karim3@chp.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Supporting Our Valued Adolescents (SOVA) is a moderated and anonymous social media website intervention. SOVA ambassadors are adolescents and young adults (AYA) asked to write monthly blog posts and comments on others' posts on topics surrounding mental health.

Objective: This study aims to understand the feasibility and acceptability of peer blogging for a moderated mental health intervention website and explore whether bloggers—AYA who self-report symptoms of depression and anxiety—experience potential benefits.

Methods: AYA aged 14 to 26 years with a self-reported history of depression or anxiety were recruited to the SOVA Peer Ambassador Program. Participants were asked to write one blog post a month and comment at least four times a month on other blog posts, for which they were compensated for up to US \$15 monthly. Outcome variables measured at baseline and 3 months after intervention included website usability and feasibility, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, mental health treatment history, cybercoping, personal blogging style, self-esteem, loneliness, mental health stigma, social support, and positive youth development characteristics. Open-ended questions were asked about their blogging acceptability and usability.

Results: Of 66 AYA showing interest and completing onboarding, 71% (47/66) wrote at least one blog post, with an average of 3 posts per person. A sample of 51% (34/66) of participants completed a 3-month survey for the full analysis. Almost all 34 participants were satisfied with the experience of blogging (32/34, 94%) and rated the website usability as good (80.1, SD 14.9). At 3 months, self-esteem scores increased by 2.1, with a small-medium effect size (P=.01; Cohen d=0.45), and youth competence and confidence increased by 0.7 (P=.002) and 1.3 (P=.002), with medium effect sizes (Cohen d=0.62 and 0.60), respectively.

Conclusions: A blogging intervention for AYA with a history of depression or anxiety was feasible with regular and active engagement and shows evidence in a one-sample design for positive changes in strength-based assets—self-esteem, competence, and confidence—which map onto resilience.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26183) doi:10.2196/26183

KEYWORDS

adolescent; social media; blogging; depression; anxiety



Introduction

Background

Almost 12% of adolescents have depression and up to one-third have anxiety [1]. Suicidality contributes to US \$12 billion in hospital costs [2], with one-third depressed adolescents experiencing suicidality and 11% having attempted suicide [3]. Less than half of the patients receive treatment [4], with initial treatment delayed by 10 years [5]. Less than one-fifth of adolescents with anxiety use mental health services [6].

Some of the most important barriers preventing adolescents from seeking help are a lack of mental health knowledge [7] and negative beliefs about treatment [8]. Despite these barriers, youth actively talk about experiences with depression and anxiety in web-based social environments [9-12], often seeking support [13,14]. A web-based environment may be best suited to reconsider negative health beliefs, as adolescents discuss their depressive symptoms on web [15,16], use social media for identity exploration [17], and for social norms setting [18]. This suggests that the web-based environment is a point of entry to begin talking about mental health symptoms, find support, and consider help-seeking.

Supporting Our Valued Adolescents (SOVA) is a moderated web-based intervention designed to increase mental health knowledge, address negative health beliefs, and grow an anonymous web-based social support community for adolescents (Figure 1). The SOVA Blogging Ambassador Program is an accompanying intervention to SOVA, where participating adolescents and young adults (AYA) contribute authentic article content as a more interactive opportunity to offer peer support. Several observational studies found that individuals who write on web about their health experience improvement in social connectedness [19] related to self-disclosure [20] and an increase in meaning making [21], including making sense of illness [22]. Adolescents writing about peer difficulties as part of an experimental study had a decrease in their social-emotional difficulties when they wrote in a web blog open to reader commenting versus one that was closed [23]. The theory of change for the intervention can be viewed in Figure 2; a preview of the intervention can be viewed in Figure 3.

Figure 1. Supporting Our Valued Adolescents (SOVA) intervention design.





Karim et al

Figure 2. Supporting Our Valued Adolescents (SOVA) theory of change.







Objectives

The SOVA Blogging Ambassador intervention offers opportunities for self-disclosure, sharing with others, and reader feedback. Reflecting on how to self-disclose a highly emotionally charged event in a readable way that is not self-defeating may help with regulatory strengths. Writing a post for readership or commenting on others' posts may involve fostering web-based connections. Composing a post may involve making meaning of a lived experience to share with a reader audience and the capacity to find meaning, especially in difficult life events, can promote positive mental health [24]. This is especially relevant as many AYAs are experiencing multiple hardships because of the COVID-19 pandemic, including disruptions to their educational and career pursuits, increased rates of depression and anxiety, and social isolation [25]. Peer Ambassador Program to understand the feasibility and acceptability of monthly blogging for the SOVA sites, and to understand the initial benefits AYA with depression or anxiety may experience blogging. We specifically desired to understand the feasibility of engaging users to blog on the SOVA site, measured by blogging frequency; learn what prompted AYA to blog, and whether there were differences between those who showed interest but did not write blog posts and those who did write blog posts; and explore whether SOVA ambassadors experience psychological benefits or resilience, specifically examining depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, self-esteem, emotional self-efficacy, social support, social isolation, and stigma.

Methods

Recruitment

Approval for the study was obtained from the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board. Participants were recruited using various methods, including fliers and posted advertisements at an academic medical center AYA clinic and local college campuses and the University of Pittsburgh's web-based recruitment database Pitt+Me. Study advertisements were posted on the Instagram page (@sovaproject) and distributed during community mental health conferences and presentations.

Once participants emailed confirming an interest in the study, they created an anonymous username on SOVA and completed a screening survey to determine eligibility. Potential participants were included if they were between the ages of 14 and 26 (inclusive), capable of reading and writing English, completed the sixth grade, had internet and email access, and self-reported current or prior symptoms of anxiety or depression. Those with severe social isolation scores and depressive symptoms indicated on the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) were allowed to participate, but those who endorsed suicidality with the intention to act or had a history of a suicide attempt with no subsequent follow-up treatment were excluded from the study and provided crisis resources.

Those who qualified for the study completed a web-based consent form and confirmed that they were interested in continuing. Parental permission was waived by the Institutional Review Board to allow those between 14 and 17 to easily participate because of minimal risk and because some parents may be unaware of their child's mental health symptoms. Participants were then sent a web-based baseline survey through Qualtrics.

After completing the baseline survey, the SOVA Peer Ambassador Advisor arranged a meeting time to explain the blogging process over the phone to complete onboarding. The 10-minute call provided an opportunity for participants to ask questions, reminded the participant that blogging was not a replacement for therapy, and covered the study protocol as detailed below.

Participants were encouraged to write one blog post a month on any mental health topic. These posts were classified into four categories: *Be Positive, Educate Yourself, Social Media Guide, and Links.* When participants began writing for the website, there were already about 160 articles published by the research team to help set a standard for writing style and web-based community norms. All blog posts were reviewed for factual accuracy, sensitive content, and grammar. Feedback was provided via email from the advisor. The advisor and site moderators of the SOVA website were all trained to address blog posts or comments posted by participants, which suggested that they were at risk for harming themselves or others.

Participants were encouraged to leave comments on other blog posts on SOVA. These could be in response to the questions at the end of the blog post by the moderator to elicit comments, or about whatever they wished to respond to another

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26183
```

participant's blog post. Participant blog posts were uploaded to the SOVA website on weekdays, excluding major holidays, along with posts written by the research team. Participants were sent a postsurvey via email, 3 months after the phone call. Participants received compensation on a prepaid debit card based on how frequently they contributed to the website. They received US \$10 if they wrote a blog post a month and an additional US \$5 if 4 comments were left on the website in the same month. Participants were paid US \$10 upon completion of the 3-month postsurvey. There was no official duration; participants could withdraw at any time and when they turned 27 and aged out of the study.

Measures

Demographics

The baseline survey included questions about age, gender identity, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status [26], race, and ethnicity. Demographics were not initially recorded to ensure full anonymity for the study but were added in July 2019. Because this sample included participants who joined before July 2019, they will not be included in the analysis for this study.

Usability

The System Usability Scale [27] (Cronbach α =.88) is a robust and versatile tool used to assess users' subjective ratings of product usability. Ten items are rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1=strongly disagree to 5=strongly agree), and scores were scaled to a range of 0-100 [28]. The scale demonstrated strong structural validity and reliability using over 2000 surveys compiled from 206 studies. The mean usability score of the pool was 70.

Additional single-item questions were asked to assess feasibility. User-friendliness was assessed through the question, "Overall you would rate the user-friendliness of this site as:" followed by 7 response options (1=worst imaginable; 7=best imaginable). Dichotomous items include, "Were you satisfied with the experience of blogging for this project?," "Did you access the website?," and "Did you gain something from blogging?" All feasibility questions were asked at 3 months.

Depressive Symptoms

The PHQ-9 (Cronbach α =.86), modified for adolescents, is a 9-item diagnostic tool used to assess depression severity [29,30]. Each item of the questionnaire is scored on a 4-point Likert scale (0=not at all; 3=nearly every day) with different scores indicating different levels of depression (5-9: mild, 10-14: moderate, 15-19: moderately severe, and ≥ 20 : severe). A score of ≥ 11 was considered a positive screen for clinically significant depression. The scale included 2 additional questions: "In the past year have you felt depressed or sad most days, even if you felt okay sometimes?" that had dichotomous response choices and "If you checked off any problems, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?" The second question was scored on a 4-point Likert scale (1=not difficult at all; 4=extremely difficult). The PHQ-9 has been found to be a reliable and valid measure of depression severity [29], and the

PHQ-9 has been validated for diagnostic accuracy in this age group [30].

Anxiety Symptoms

Anxiety symptoms were assessed using the Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders—Child Version—5 (Cronbach α =.52), a 5-item short-form self-report screening tool for childhood anxiety disorders [31]. Items were rated on a 0-2 point rating scale, with 0=not true or hardly ever true, 1=somewhat true or sometimes true, and 2=very true or often true. Total scores of \geq 3 were considered as a positive screen for clinically significant anxiety with 74% sensitivity and 73% specificity. The Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders—Child Version—5 has demonstrated adequate validity for use in screening anxiety disorders in community settings [31].

Personal Blogging Style

The Personal Blogging Style Scale [32] is a 25-item scale used to characterize individuals' blogging styles as therapeutic (Cronbach α =.58; directed to concerns of bloggers than blog readers), substitution (Cronbach α =.62; focus on interaction with others as a substitute for social networks), self-censoring (Cronbach α =.13; focus on positive portrayal and self-presentation over open communication), and connected (Cronbach α =.29; focusing on connecting and communicating with others rather than solving emotional problems). Only participants who reported having written blogs before completed this scale. Response options used a 5-point Likert scale (1=completely disagree; 5=completely agree). Scores were calculated by summing the relevant item ratings. The Personal Blogging Style Scale has been found to have good validity and reliability in identifying blogging styles [32].

Cybercoping

Cybercoping, or the act of problem solving in cyberspace, was assessed using items from the Developing Coping Skills Online scale, a 30-item scale used to assess web-based coping skills of those with chronic diseases [33]. As mental health conditions are highly comorbid with chronic physical illnesses [34,35], carry a heavy global burden of disease [36], and are considered to be a chronic condition by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services [37], this scale was determined to be suitable for the study. Only patients who reported having read blogs before completed this scale. Domains deemed relevant by the study authors include enhancement of emotion-focused coping (6 items; Cronbach α =.92), enhancement of problem-focused coping (5 items; Cronbach α =.71), and affective coping outcome (4 items; Cronbach α =.93); domains that were not included were those that pertained to physical diseases. Response options used a 7-point scale (1=not at all; 7=very much). Scores were summed, with higher scores indicating higher coping capabilities and outcomes. The original 30-item scale demonstrated adequate structural and construct validity among individuals with chronic conditions, including depression [33].

Self-esteem

The 10-item Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES) [38] (Cronbach α =.89) was administered to assess participants' self-esteem. Items on the RSES ask about self-worth and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26183

self-acceptance and are scored using a 4-point scale (1=strongly disagree; 4=strongly agree). The scores on each question were summed together, with higher scores indicating greater self-esteem. The RSES is the most widely used measure of global self-esteem in the literature [39] and demonstrates concurrent, predictive, and construct validity with significant correlations with other measures of self-esteem and predictive measures of depression and anxiety [40].

Emotional Self-efficacy

Emotional self-efficacy was assessed using the Mental Health Self-Efficacy Scale (MHSES; Cronbach α =.74). The MHSES was developed according to Bandura guidelines to create self-efficacy questionnaires [41]. The questionnaire contains 5 items asking about the participants' confidence level in performing mental health self-care behaviors. Scoring of the MHSES is based on a 5-point Likert scale (0=disagree very much; 5=agree very much).

Social Isolation

The revised University of California, Los Angeles Loneliness Scale was administered to all participants to measure social isolation (Cronbach α =.93). This 20-item scale measures one's feelings of social isolation and is scored using a 4-point scale (1=never; 4=often) [42]. The revised measure was updated to counter the possible effects of response bias and was shown to have evidence of concurrent and discriminant validity among college students [42].

Perceived Stigma

Perceived stigma was assessed using the 9-item Depression Stigma Scale and perceived stigma factor [43] (Cronbach α =.93). Items of the scale touch on different themes about depression, such as the extent to which depression is an illness, how much control people have over their depression, and the degree to which depression is seen as a character flaw or something that should not be discussed. Using a 5-point Likert scale (0=strongly disagree; 4=strongly agree), perceived stigma was measured by asking participants to rate their agreement with the statements based on what they think other people believe. The higher the score on the scale, the greater the stigma that a person has. The measure has been shown to have adequate internal consistency (Cronbach α =.82) and test-retest reliability in a population of individuals with depressive symptoms [43].

Social Support

The eight-item emotional and informational support subscale from the Medical Outcomes Study Social Support Survey [44] (Cronbach α =.93) was administered to participants to assess social support. This scale measures the level of emotional and informational support available to the participants. Each item is rated using a 5-point scale (1=none of the time; 5=all of the time). The Medical Outcomes Study Social Support Survey demonstrates reliability among a population of chronically ill patients and has been found to be fairly stable over time [44].

Positive Youth Development

Positive youth development was assessed using the Positive Youth Development Very Short Form (PYD-VSF) [45]. The PYD-VSF is a questionnaire that measures adolescent strengths

XSL•FO RenderX

based on the Lerner and Lerner Five Cs of PYD [46]: competence (3 items, total score ranging from 3-12), connection (4 items, total score ranging from 4 to 20), confidence (3 items, total score ranging from 3 to 13), caring (3 items, total score ranging from 3 to 15), and character (4 items, total score ranging from 4 to 19). Items were heterogeneous in their response formats (ie, a mix of 4-point and 5-point scales). The PYD-VSF was shown to have structural validity evidence that ran parallel with its derivative, the PYD-Short Form, among a population of adolescents [45].

Participant History

Two additional questions were asked at both baseline and after 3 months regarding treatment history ("Have you ever received help from a professional psychologist or counselor for any personal or emotional problems you have experienced?" and "Have you ever used medication like an antidepressant for any personal or emotional problems you have experienced?") with dichotomous response options. At baseline, two additional questions were asked regarding blogging history ("Have you read a blog to help you understand your mental illness?" and "Have you ever written a blog? (y or n) Please describe below").

Open-ended Responses

Participants were invited to answer three open-ended questions at the baseline. All participants were asked, "Why are you interested in blogging." The other two open-ended questions asked participants about their experience in reading blogs to understand mental illness and write blogs if they answered "yes" to these questions about blogging history, as mentioned in the previous section.

In the 3-month survey, participants were invited to respond to eight open-ended questions about their experience with the website and if they had any feedback. Questions included the following: what prompted you to log on, why were you satisfied with the website, why were you not satisfied with the website, what were your reasons for continuing with the study, what worries did you have, what did you gain from the website, what did you like about the website, and what would you change about the website?

Having a space for participants to provide open-ended responses in their own words gave researchers a more detailed opportunity to review participant background and interest in both blogging and SOVA, as well as a space to give candid feedback.

Analysis

Baseline descriptive statistics were reported using means (SD) for continuous outcomes and frequencies (%) for dichotomous The following comparisons were made: outcomes. preintervention (baseline) and postintervention (3 months), baseline comparisons between bloggers who completed the 3-month survey and those who did not, baseline comparisons between those who blogged and those who did not, and baseline data between those who completed the 3-month survey and those who did not. These were performed using paired two-tailed t tests for continuous variables and McNemar test for dichotomous variables. Effect sizes were calculated using: Cohen d=mean of the difference/SD of difference [47]. To detect the actual blogging impact, a sensitivity analysis was performed by removing participants who did not blog (ie, nonbloggers) and then rerunning the paired comparisons. Model diagnostics showed no need for transformation of any variables. Missing data were not included in the t test. P values represent two-sided tests; results were statistically significant at P < .05.

Text-based responses to open-ended questions were manually and individually reviewed and coded once to find any common themes by the first and third authors using content analysis and the approach of qualitative description as proposed by Sandelowski [48]. After reviewing both sets of codes, the first author developed a codebook for both baseline and 3-month free-text responses. These codes were then reviewed and discussed with the remaining authors to increase their validity. None of the authors reported any discrepancies, and there were no disagreements.

Results

Blogger Information and Participation

Overall, 66 AYA completed the onboarding process between April 2018 and July 2020, which included completing the baseline survey (full recruitment numbers are available in Figure 4). In this sample, 71% (47/66) of participants completed at least one blog post. In addition, 52% (34/66) completed the full 3-month survey. Participants were categorized into bloggers (ie, participants who wrote at least one blog post during the study) and nonbloggers (ie, those who did not contribute to any blog posts). There were no significant differences at baseline between bloggers and nonbloggers (Table 1), between completers and noncompleters of the 3-month survey, or between bloggers who completed the 3-month survey and those bloggers who did not, although data missingness greatly limits our interpretation of any differences.



Karim et al

Figure 4. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology recruitment diagram.



Participants who blogged had an average age of 20 years (SD 3.2); 40% (19/47) had a PHQ-9 score consistent with depression, whereas 87% (41/47) had a SCARED-C score consistent with anxiety. Most bloggers (40/47, 85%) had previously been seen by a professional psychologist or counselor, and 60% (28/47) had taken medications such as antidepressants.

No concerning blog posts or comments during the studied time period required reaching out to emergency contacts and sending crisis resources. There was only one blog post that was not posted; this was because of applying misinterpretations of bipolar disorder onto themselves. The participant was contacted and a moderator explained that the post had factually incorrect information, directing them to more information about bipolar disorder. The participants wrote a new post for that month instead.

Karim et al

Table 1. Comparison of baseline data between bloggers and nonbloggers.

Outcome	Bloggers (n=47)		Nonbloggers (n=18)		P value
	Value, mean (SE)	Participant, n (%) ^a	Value, mean (SEM)	Participant, n (%) ^a	
Depressive symptoms			,		
PHQ-9 ^b score (range 0-27)	9.8 (0.8)	N/A ^c	12.8 (1.4)	N/A	.06
PHQ-9 score consistent with depression (range≥11)	N/A	19 (40)	N/A	9 (50)	.53
Anxious symptoms					
SCARED-C ^d score (range 0-15)	4.4 (0.3)	N/A	4.8 (0.7)	N/A	.62
SCARED score consistent with anxiety (range≥3)	N/A	41 (87)	N/A	13 (72)	.09
Treatment history (having ever received)					
Ever seen professional psychologist or counselor	N/A	40 (85)	N/A	17 (94)	.39
Ever taken medication like antidepressants	N/A	28 (60)	N/A	12 (67)	.67
Cybercoping (range 15-105) ^e	58.2 (4.4)	N/A	68.1 (6.6)	N/A	.22
Self-esteem (range 10-40)	25.6 (0.8)	N/A	26.1 (1.4)	N/A	.73
Mental health self-efficacy (range 0-20)	16.0 (0.4)	N/A	16.5 (0.8)	N/A	.56
Social isolation (range 20-80)	43.2 (1.6)	N/A	46.2 (2.5)	N/A	.32
Perceived stigma (range 0-36)	22.7 (1.2)	N/A	21.2 (1.9)	N/A	.54
Social support (range 8-40)	31.0 (0.9)	N/A	28.7 (1.7)	N/A	.19
Positive youth development					
Competence (range 3-12)	7.6 (0.2)	N/A	7.6 (0.4)	N/A	.88
Confidence (range 3-13)	7.0 (0.4)	N/A	7.7 (0.6)	N/A	.34
Character (range 3-19)	14.7 (0.6)	N/A	15.7 (0.8)	N/A	.47
Caring (range 3-15)	14.0 (0.2)	N/A	14.2 (0.3)	N/A	.68
Connection (range 4-20)	14.0 (0.5)	N/A	13.1 (0.6)	N/A	.28

^aCalculations used exact sample sizes so that missing data were not included.

^bPHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9.

^cN/A: not applicable.

^dSCARED-C: Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders-Child.

^eSample size is out of those who reported having read blogs before (ie, n=19 for bloggers, n=9 for nonbloggers).

Feasibility

Between April 2018 and July 2020, 31.8% (188/591) of the published blog posts were written by participants. There were no examples of technical difficulties from the participants regarding website use.

In the 3-month survey, 68% (23/34) reported logging on less than once per week, and 32% (11/34) logged on at least weekly. We analyzed and coded 272 free-response responses in the 3-month survey. The codebook for free-response questions in the 3-month survey is presented in Table 2. Participants were primarily prompted to log onto the website to engage with the website by reading the blogs, writing and responding to comments, and writing their blog. Others were prompted to fulfill the study requirements. No one was prompted because of external triggers, except for one participant who had set up calendar reminders to go on the website. Reasons provided for why they continued to blog included out of enjoyment for writing and being a part of and helping the website community. Other frequent reasons included having a space to vent and write to cope and for the monetary compensation.



Table 2. Three-month free-response codebook

Karim et al

Table 2. Three-month in	ee-response codebook.	
Category and code	Definition	Example
Community		
Not feeling alone	Participant mentions that the intervention has them relat- ing to blog posts and feeling that what they are going through is not just happening to them	"I liked that I was able to connect with people similar to me." [ID 41]
Rejection from others	Participant worries that other participants will not enjoy, comment, or will judge their posts	"I worried whether or not people would appreciate what I had to say or if they would just brush it off as if I didn't know what I was talking about." [ID 63]
Helping others	Participant mentions using, continuing, or enjoy the inter- vention because they use their experience and posts to support others	"I want to help other people like me who suffer from mental ill- nesses" [ID 51]
Community support	Participant explicitly mentioned feeling a sense of com- munity with other participants using intervention	"I gained a sense of community and support from people from all backgrounds. It is nice to be able to be vulnerable without the fear of being invalidated." [ID 44]
Writing	Participants indicated an interest in writing and writing skills, whether it was writing in general or the process of writing for the intervention	"I was able to improve my writing by blogging." [ID 69]
Barriers to blogging		
Time	Participant did not have enough time to use the interven- tion	"My primary worry is time, I am an incredibly busy college stu- dent and I was not sure I would have time to make comments and write blogs." [ID 106]
Ideas	Participant expressed worries about not having something to write about	"Maybe that I would run out of ideas." [ID 64]
Benefits to self		
Self-reflection	Participant enjoyed using the platform because it gave them an opportunity to reflect on their experiences	"Insight to my own strengths and weaknesses, tips from others, a sense of community." [ID 67]
Education and re- sources	Participant learned something by reading other blog posts or mentioned access to resources listed on website	"I've learned a LOT of information from reading other people's posts, including multiple apps/websites that I now use, which is just really cool and something that I didn't initially expect to get out of this experience." [ID 47]
Outlet	Participant mentioned that the intervention served as a place for them to openly talk about what they were going through	"It may be because of covid, but my mental health has been a rollercoaster, so I needed this blog to feel sane. The blogs have really helped me have a space to let out how I feel, and also learn from others." [ID 96]
Anonymity		
Benefit	Participant stated that they enjoyed the anonymity or confidentiality of the intervention	"I could be anonymous if I wanted to and I could speak my mind and see others who felt the same way." [ID 66]
Fear of losing anonymity	Participant expressed worry that someone could trace their blogs back to them	"I was worried that my blogs would be traced back to me. I would prefer to stay anonymous." [ID 73]
Mental health effect	Participant mentions any impact that the intervention had on their mental health	"I've gained better a perspective about mental health and the work that I am doing with my therapist." [ID 103]
Critiques	Criticisms, feedback, and recommendations that participants had about the intervention	"It took me a while to figure out how to blog as well as navigate the site." [ID 90]

The primary concerns that participants had about continuing to blog were time constraints and busyness that at times prevented them from contributing and feeling pressured to blog in addition to these constraints. Some were also concerned with running out of ideas and whether other users would like their content. A few participants mentioned worries about the website itself, with several mentioning that they were afraid of the risk of losing their anonymity.

Almost all (32/34, 94%) of the participants at 3 months were satisfied with their blogging experience. The reasons included

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26183

RenderX

the simplicity of the website, having a place to express themselves, receiving support from moderators and other users, and helping others. One user stated as follows:

If I were in high school again and I was able to see where I'd be five or ten years from that age, I would be amazed at my progress and would feel so hopeful about my future. This blog is successful in making that connection, and I fully support it's mission. [ID 63]

A total of 82% (28/34) of participants reported having gained something from blogging. The overall mean usability score was 80.1(SD 14.9), 13% higher than that of the initial usability study [49]. The overall mean user-friendliness rating was 5.3(SD 0.8), consistent with good or excellent. When asked about what they gained, the majority of participants felt more comfortable, confident, and reassured about their writing abilities and feelings. Participants felt that they had gained considerable new information from the website.

Participants provided feedback on the design and function of the website. Many were satisfied with the variety of articles and the website's organization, navigability, and accessibility. Although 21% (7/34) said that they would not change anything

 Table 3. Baseline and 3-month outcome comparison.

about the website, the most common critique was that the website was difficult to navigate at first and wanted the site to be more interactive. Suggestions for site changes included a discussion board, a suggestion box for blog topics, and weekly polls.

Pre- and Postintervention Comparison

Baseline and 3-month outcome comparisons are presented in Table 3. For the full sample, self-esteem scores increased at 3 months by 2.2, with a small-medium effect size (P=.01; Cohen d=0.45), and youth competence and confidence increased by 0.7 (P=.002) and 1.3 (P=.002), with medium effect sizes (Cohen d=0.62 and 0.6), respectively.

Outcome	Baseline (N=34)		3 months (N=34)		Difference ^a		P value
	Value, mean (SE)	Participant, n (%) ^b	Value, mean (SE)	Participant, n (%) ^b	Value, mean (SE)	Participants, n	
Depressive symptoms				•	-		
PHQ-9 ^c score (range 0-27)	9.8 (1.1)	N/A ^d	9.0 (0.7)	N/A	0.8 (0.9)	N/A	.41
PHQ-9 score consistent with depression (range≥11)	N/A	11 (32)	N/A	10 (29)	N/A	-1	.99
Anxious symptoms							
SCARED-C ^e score (range 0-15)	4.5 (0.4)	N/A	4.1 (0.4)	N/A	-0.4 (0.3)	N/A	.22
SCARED score consistent with anxiety (range≥3)	N/A	28 (82)	N/A	25 (74)	N/A	-3	.45
Treatment history (having ever received)							
Ever seen professional psychologist or counselor	N/A	29 (86)	N/A	28 (82)	N/A	-1	.99
Ever taken medication like antidepressant	N/A	17 (50)	N/A	19 (56)	N/A	2	.50
Cybercoping (range 15-105)	63.3 (6.6)	N/A	59.7 (6.4)	N/A	-3.6 (5.1)	N/A	.50
Self-esteem (range 10-40)	25.9 (1.0)	N/A	28.0 (0.9)	N/A	2.1 (0.8)	N/A	.01
Mental health self-efficacy (range 0-20)	15.8 (0.5)	N/A	16.1 (0.5)	N/A	0.3 (0.5)	N/A	.58
Social isolation (range 20-80)	43.5 (2.1)	N/A	40.0 (2.1)	N/A	-3.5 (1.8)	N/A	.06
Perceived stigma (range 0-36)	23.3 (1.6)	N/A	21.1 (1.5)	N/A	-2.2 (1.2)	N/A	.08
Social support (range 8-40)	30.9 (1.1)	N/A	31.9 (1.1)	N/A	1.0 (1.0)	N/A	.35
Positive youth development							
Competence (range 3-12)	7.6 (0.3)	N/A	8.3 (0.3)	N/A	0.7 (0.2)	N/A	.002
Confidence (range 3-13)	7.0 (0.5)	N/A	8.3 (0.4)	N/A	1.3 (0.4)	N/A	.002
Character (range 3-19)	14.4 (0.8)	N/A	15.6 (0.4)	N/A	-0.5 (0.4)	N/A	.19
Caring (range 3-15)	14.0 (0.2)	N/A	14.2 (0.2)	N/A	0.2 (0.3)	N/A	.52
Connection (range 4-20)	14.2 (0.6)	N/A	13.8 (0.5)	N/A	-0.5 (0.5)	N/A	.40

^aDifference is expressed as the difference in mean (SE of the mean) for continuous variables and the difference in quantity for dichotomous variables. ^bCalculations used exact sample sizes so that missing data were not included.

^cPHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9.

^dN/A: not applicable.

RenderX

^eSCARED-C: Screen for Child Anxiety Related Disorders-Child.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The SOVA intervention was designed to provide adolescents with mental illness symptoms an opportunity to blog and comment about mental health in an anonymous, peer-supported, and moderated space. The results of the surveys taken at baseline and at 3 months answered some of the initial research questions designed before the study, including the website's feasibility and usability, reasons to initially blog and continue to blog, and the effects on bloggers' mental health. First, the website had favorable feasibility and usability ratings. Second, participants primarily answered that they enjoyed writing and wanting to help others when asked why they continued to blog and participate in the intervention. This did not change after 3 months. In fact, after using the website, participants reported that they were satisfied with the blog and continued to do so because of the sense of community and they were able to help others and share their own experiences through their writing. Additionally, participants continued to use SOVA because they gained a place for self-reflection about their mental health. Third, bloggers found benefits for their mental health in areas of self-esteem, youth competence, and confidence.

Website Feasibility and Usability

The intervention's favorable feasibility and usability ratings, combined with the positive feedback in the 3-month surveys, suggest that peer blogging for SOVA is a feasible intervention for AYA who self-reported symptoms of mental illnesses such as anxiety and depression, even without any prior experience in blogging in general or about mental health topics. The site also proved to be usable and acceptable, particularly because of its simplicity and organization and, importantly, its anonymity.

The most common reason participants gave for barriers from blogging was that they were too busy and did not have enough time to go on SOVA, though there were comments that participants wanted to and did use the website when they had free time. Although busyness was a barrier from participants blogging on the website, SOVA can be an outlet for adolescents to manage their stress in their busy schedules, find coping mechanisms, and read articles by peers who may be going through similar stressors. However, because participants are not obligated to blog on the website, they may lose priority in their otherwise busy schedules. Older adolescents and AYA who experience emotional and mental struggles have also been shown to have negative adherence to treatment [50], which may apply to mental health interventions such as SOVA. Our intervention used compensation to show appreciation for content creation, and we found that submissions increased closer to the monthly deadline.

Reasons for SOVA Blogging

In text-based comments, participants indicated that enjoyment in writing motivated them to continue blogging at the site. In addition, most felt comfortable contributing to the SOVA website because of the anonymity of the website and its moderated nature. Although adolescents are largely on social media, the lack of anonymity on most platforms may prevent them from wanting to open up about their mental health in fear of others judging them because of stigma. Social media platforms that allow anonymity, but do not have moderation, have their own risks, such as cyberbullying [51] and spreading misinformation [52].

SOVA offers a middle ground between sharing information openly and staying anonymous. It does not allow users to have their usernames, blog posts, or comments to include personal information, thereby preventing exposing users to harm by having their content traced back to them. For safety purposes, users' contact information is collected but stored on a secure university server that is separate from the website. The intervention with the SOVA Peer Ambassador Advisor and moderators still allows users to be open and vocal enough to share openly in a welcoming, safe community.

The results of the intervention also suggest that SOVA serves more than a space for adolescents to discuss their mental health safely and anonymously. On the basis of their reasons for joining and continuing, there is a desire for advocacy and to be a source of peer support for others who may be struggling with their mental health. Participants genuinely wanted to help others because of their own experiences in dealing with problems with their mental health. This corresponds with findings about how younger generations today have a desire to help others and advocate for social justice issues and believe that social media is an effective outlet [53,54].

Given participants' reasons for blogging, SOVA seems to serve as a platform of social support as well as an outlet of therapeutic writing as a way to manage AYA stressors and symptoms. Interventions such as SOVA find a balance in anonymity and moderation that give users a space to open up without the fear of pushback, cyberbullying, being *exposed* to others they know, and misinformation.

Effects on Participant Mental Health

Participants had increased self-esteem, competence, and confidence. These findings are similar to other studies that have also found that users participating in adolescent forums to discuss mental health saw an increase in their confidence [55]. There are several reasons that may specifically explain the increase in these three domains in the SOVA intervention.

As previously discussed, participants joined and continued the study because of a desire to help others. Previous research has found similar results in the relationship between helping others and an increase in adolescents' self-esteem [56]. By helping others, adolescents have a more positive view of themselves, and this positive self-image can lead to increased confidence [56]. In our study, participants were motivated to blog to help their peers, felt that they did so in their responses in the 3-month survey, and thus had an increased positive view of themselves. This may additionally explain the nonsignificant results of the scores measured by the Positive Youth Development Scale. Participants already showed high scores and may have been the reason why they chose to participate in the study. There was little room for these participants to improve.

```
XSL•FO
```

Most posts written by participants were of a psychoeducational nature. The ability to use their lived experience in the context of psychoeducation to support others—as evidenced to users by affirming comments received to posts they have written—may have changed prior beliefs that their mental illness is a character flaw into the belief that their experiences have provided them with competence in mental wellness.

Limitations

This study had several limitations. The major limitation is the small sample size and the lack of a control group. Although there were participants who joined and did not blog, nor did they use the website, the low number was not enough for us to make even comparisons between bloggers and nonbloggers at 3 months. There may be limited clinical significance for small to medium effect sizes, which is limited by the small sample size. Another limitation is that multiple comparisons were made using a small sample size. Due to the pilot nature of this exploratory study, we did not want to use methods that were too stringent to erase potentially significant results [57]. Instead, we interpret our findings as a signal to inform measures for future fully powered trials. A larger, more definitive study with a control arm is needed to further examine these findings.

In addition, selection and response bias likely accounted for the low response rate of 72% (34/47) of participants who blogged and completed the 3-month survey. We did not identify any significant differences between those who took the 3-month survey and those who did not. However, because the study is solely web-based with the goal of increasing blogger comfort by sharing personal stories on the internet, this may limit retention as the research team never comes face-to-face with participants. The intervention also had considerable flexibility. For example, the study did not require participants to blog every month. This flexibility may make adherence to the intervention more difficult, albeit more feasible for bloggers who cited a lack of time as a reason they may not blog. As a pilot feasibility study, this study provides groundwork for future studies that include more active recruitment and retention efforts while also including a control group that may reveal increasing severity of symptoms of depression or anxiety in the group not participating in blogging, as symptom severity was maintained at low levels throughout the study, and we cannot ascertain whether this is comparable with a comparison group. The participants were followed for only 3 months. This may be too little time to observe if there are any long-term changes in participants' mental health. Including additional surveys every 3 months for the first year of participation may be a stronger measure.

Recruitment methods and geographical location may have accounted for the lack of diversity in the study. Adolescents using the Pitt+Me database primarily consist of students attending a predominantly White institution; most of the participants being recruited from the database reflect these demographics. Future recruitment and similar interventions may need to consider more direct community outreach and utilizing outlets such as other social media platforms to find a more diverse sample, as well as a specific implementation intervention to enhance recruitment.

Due to its exploratory nature, this study did not have a complex study design, but the signal in the findings suggests that larger controlled studies with multiple time points and a more diverse sample are warranted.

Future Directions

Participants used SOVA to help others by sharing their experiences, while also having an outlet for themselves, and a place to write. The aim of the initial work was to understand the feasibility of involving participants in making a substantial contribution to the intervention. Future directions include recruiting a larger, more heterogeneous sample, especially as future studies to examine potential benefits require a larger sample. In particular, future implementation should work to understand how to bring blogging and its potential benefits to those who may not be as comfortable or as enthusiastic about writing as our own sample.

The beneficial effects of this exploratory study included an increase in confidence, self-esteem, and competence. Given these results, blogging of the SOVA websites may be a useful supportive intervention for AYA who have prior experience with mental health treatment and are seeking to maintain the skills and knowledge they have gained while providing peer-based psychoeducation to younger AYA who may have not yet sought help for depression or anxiety. Peer blogging ambassadors can act in a peer support role and provide informal advice through their experiences in their blog posts and responses in comments to others' blog posts. As SOVA attracted those who enjoyed writing, similar interventions can be used as a volunteering or job opportunity for aspiring young journalists to gain writing experience as well as competence in emotional wellness. Other future developments of SOVA can include a discussion board and more organizational tools to make the variety of topics on the website more accessible. In addition, future interventions can explore ways to increase website activity from participants in a manageable way that does not increase stress on busy schedules.

Conclusions

SOVA is a web-based intervention designed to create a space for AYA to access mental health information, share their own experiences with mental illness, and interact with others who share their own advice and experiences. The intervention serves as a middle ground between sharing anonymously and sharing openly in a welcoming in-person community. In this process of sharing, AYA seem to show a signal of experiencing benefits to increase their resilience and take something that was a perceived handicap and turn that into a strength. The need for virtual mental health interventions has increased because of COVID-19, particularly in AYA. SOVA has shown that carving out a space on the web for AYA to discuss their mental health journeys and needs not only gives them a community with others they can relate to but can improve their morale and confidence by helping others and themselves.



Acknowledgments

This project was supported by a career development award (NIMH 1K23MH111922-01A1). This research was also supported by the Pitt+Me Research Recruitment Program through the National Institute of Health Clinical and Translational Science Award (UL1 TR001857), by the Fine Foundation and by the Beckwith Institute, in part, by University of Pittsburgh Medical Center Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. The authors thank Alyssa Davidson for website maintenance, and Kayla Odenthal, MSW, for recruitment assistance and site moderation. The authors thank and acknowledge the SOVA blogging ambassadors, community members, and stakeholders for informing this study and making it possible.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Merikangas KR, He J, Burstein M, Swanson SA, Avenevoli S, Cui L, et al. Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication - Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2010 Oct;49(10):980-989 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.05.017] [Medline: 20855043]
- 2. Torio CM, Encinosa W, Berdahl T, McCormick MC, Simpson LA. Annual report on health care for children and youth in the United States: national estimates of cost, utilization and expenditures for children with mental health conditions. Acad Pediatr 2015 Jan;15(1):19-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2014.07.007] [Medline: 25444653]
- Avenevoli S, Swendsen J, He JP, Burstein M, Merikangas KR. Major depression in the national comorbidity survey-adolescent supplement: prevalence, correlates, and treatment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2015 Jan;54(1):37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2014.10.010] [Medline: 25524788]
- 4. Treatment Episode Data Set (TEDS). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/data-we-collect/teds-treatment-episode-data-set</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 5. Wang PS, Berglund P, Olfson M, Kessler RC. Delays in initial treatment contact after first onset of a mental disorder. Health Serv Res 2004 Apr;39(2):393-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00234.x] [Medline: 15032961]
- 6. Merikangas KR, He J, Burstein M, Swendsen J, Avenevoli S, Case B, et al. Service utilization for lifetime mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: results of the National Comorbidity Survey-Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2011 Jan;50(1):32-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.10.006] [Medline: 21156268]
- Johnson EM, Coles M. Failure and delay in treatment-seeking across anxiety disorders. Community Ment Health J 2013 Dec;49(6):668-674. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10597-012-9543-9</u>] [Medline: <u>23054147</u>]
- 8. Gulliver A, Griffiths K, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2010 Dec 30;10:113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-113] [Medline: 21192795]
- 9. Mitchell KJ, Ybarra M. Online behavior of youth who engage in self-harm provides clues for preventive intervention. Prev Med 2007 Nov;45(5):392-396. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.05.008] [Medline: 17599399]
- Ybarra ML, Alexander C, Mitchell K. Depressive symptomatology, youth internet use, and online interactions: a national survey. J Adolesc Health 2005 Jan;36(1):9-18. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.10.012</u>] [Medline: <u>15661591</u>]
- 11. Carpenter-Song E, Noel V, Acquilano S, Drake RE. Real-world technology use among people with mental illnesses: qualitative study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Nov 23;5(4):e10652 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10652] [Medline: 30470681]
- Radovic A, Gmelin T, Stein B, Miller E. Depressed adolescents' positive and negative use of social media. J Adolesc 2017 Mar;55:5-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.12.002] [Medline: 27997851]
- O'Dea JA, Wagstaff S. Increased breakfast frequency and nutritional quality among schoolchildren after a national breakfast promotion campaign in Australia between 2000 and 2006. Health Educ Res 2011 Dec;26(6):1086-1096. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyr042] [Medline: 21685403]
- Gowen K, Deschaine M, Gruttadara D, Markey D. Young adults with mental health conditions and social networking websites: seeking tools to build community. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2012;35(3):245-250. [doi: <u>10.2975/35.3.2012.245.250</u>] [Medline: <u>22246123</u>]
- Moreno MA, Jelenchick L, Egan K, Cox E, Young H, Gannon KE, et al. Feeling bad on Facebook: depression disclosures by college students on a social networking site. Depress Anxiety 2011 Jun;28(6):447-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/da.20805</u>] [Medline: <u>21400639</u>]
- Montague A, Varcin K, Simmons M, Parker A. Putting technology into youth mental health practice. SAGE Open 2015 Apr 15;5(2):215824401558101. [doi: 10.1177/2158244015581019]
- 17. Williams AL, Merten M. A review of online social networking profiles by adolescents: implications for future research and intervention. Adolescence 2008;43(170):253-274. [Medline: <u>18689100</u>]
- 18. Moreno MA, Kota R, Schoohs S, Whitehill JM. The Facebook influence model: a concept mapping approach. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2013 Jul;16(7):504-511 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2013.0025] [Medline: 23621717]
- 19. Baker JR, Moore SM. Blogging as a social tool: a psychosocial examination of the effects of blogging. Cyberpsychol Behav 2008 Dec;11(6):747-749. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.0053] [Medline: 19072151]

- 20. Ko H, Kuo F. Can blogging enhance subjective well-being through self-disclosure? Cyberpsychol Behav 2009 Feb;12(1):75-79. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.016] [Medline: 19132911]
- Ressler PK, Bradshaw YS, Gualtieri L, Chui KK. Communicating the experience of chronic pain and illness through blogging. J Med Internet Res 2012 Oct 23;14(5):e143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2002] [Medline: 23092747]
- 22. Keating DM, Rains SA. Health blogging and social support: a 3-year panel study. J Health Commun 2015 Sep 02;20(12):1449-1457. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2015.1033119] [Medline: 26332404]
- Boniel-Nissim M, Barak A. The therapeutic value of adolescents' blogging about social-emotional difficulties. Psychol Serv 2013 Aug;10(3):333-341. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0026664</u>] [Medline: <u>23937092</u>]
- 24. Lyubomirsky S. Why are some people happier than others? The role of cognitive and motivational processes in well-being. Am Psychol 2001;56(3):239-249. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.56.3.239]
- 25. Loades ME, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, Reynolds S, Shafran R, Brigden A, et al. Rapid systematic review: the impact of social isolation and loneliness on the mental health of children and adolescents in the context of COVID-19. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020 Nov;59(11):1218-1239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.05.009] [Medline: 32504808]
- 26. Goodman E, Adler NE, Kawachi I, Frazier AL, Huang B, Colditz GA. Adolescents' perceptions of social status: development and evaluation of a new indicator. Pediatrics 2001 Aug 01;108(2):e31. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.108.2.e31</u>] [Medline: <u>11483841</u>]
- 27. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum-Comput Int 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 28. Brooke J. SUS: A 'Quick and Dirty' usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Boca Raton, Florida, United States: CRC Press; 1996:1-6.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 30. Johnson JG, Harris ES, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The patient health questionnaire for adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2002 Mar;30(3):196-204. [doi: 10.1016/s1054-139x(01)00333-0]
- Birmaher B, Brent DA, Chiappetta L, Bridge J, Monga S, Baugher M. Psychometric properties of the Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders (SCARED): a replication study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999 Oct;38(10):1230-1236. [doi: 10.1097/00004583-199910000-00011] [Medline: 10517055]
- 32. Baker JR, Moore SM. Creation and validation of the personal blogging style scale. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2011 Jun;14(6):379-385. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0130] [Medline: 21117977]
- 33. Kim J, Lee S. Communication and cybercoping: coping with chronic illness through communicative action in online support networks. J Health Commun 2014 Feb 21;19(7):775-794. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2013.864724] [Medline: 24559492]
- 34. Parrish E. Comorbidity of mental illness and chronic physical illness: a diagnostic and treatment conundrum. Perspect Psychiatr Care 2018 Jul 11;54(3):339-340. [doi: <u>10.1111/ppc.12311</u>] [Medline: <u>29993137</u>]
- 35. Perry GS, Presley-Cantrell LR, Dhingra S. Addressing mental health promotion in chronic disease prevention and health promotion. Am J Public Health 2010 Dec;100(12):2337-2339. [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2010.205146]
- 36. Murray CJ, Lopez A, Jamison D. The global burden of disease in 1990: summary results, sensitivity analysis and future directions. Bull World Health Organ 1994;72(3):495-509 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 8062404]
- 37. Chronic conditions. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. URL: <u>https://www.cms.gov/</u> <u>Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/Chronic-Conditions/CC_Main</u> [accessed 2020-05-05]
- Rosenberg M. Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton, New Jersey, United States: Princeton University Press; 1979:1-340.
- 39. Blascovich J, Tomaka J. Measures of self-esteem. In: Robinson JR, Shaver PR, Wrightsman LS, editors. Measures of Personality and Social Psychological Attitudes. New York, NY: Academic Press; 1991:115-160.
- 40. Rosenberg M. Conceiving the Self. New York: Basic Books; 1979.
- 41. Bandura A. Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In: Pajares F, Urdan T, editors. Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Adolescents. Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing; 2006:307-337.
- 42. Russell D, Peplau LA, Cutrona CE. The revised UCLA Loneliness Scale: concurrent and discriminant validity evidence. J Personal Soc Psychol 1980 Sep;39(3):472-480. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.39.3.472]
- 43. Griffiths KM, Christensen H, Jorm AF, Evans K, Groves C. Effect of web-based depression literacy and cognitive-behavioural therapy interventions on stigmatising attitudes to depression: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2004 Oct 02;185(4):342-349. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.185.4.342] [Medline: 15458995]
- 44. Sherbourne CD, Stewart AL. The MOS social support survey. Soc Sci Med 1991 Jan;32(6):705-714. [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(91)90150-b]
- 45. Geldhof GJ, Bowers EP, Boyd MJ, Mueller MK, Napolitano CM, Schmid KL, et al. Creation of short and very short measures of the Five Cs of positive youth development. J Res Adolesc 2013 Mar 25;24(1):163-176. [doi: 10.1111/jora.12039]
- 46. Lerner RM, Lerner JV, Almerigi JB, Theokas C, Phelps E, Gestsdottir S, et al. Positive youth development, participation in community youth development programs, and community contributions of fifth-grade adolescents. J Early Adol 2016 Jul 26;25(1):17-71. [doi: 10.1177/0272431604272461]

- 47. Kim H. Statistical notes for clinical researchers: effect size. Restor Dent Endod 2015 Nov;40(4):328-331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5395/rde.2015.40.4.328] [Medline: 26587420]
- 48. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g]
- 49. Radovic A, Gmelin T, Hua J, Long C, Stein BD, Miller E. Supporting Our Valued Adolescents (SOVA), a social media website for adolescents with depression and/or anxiety: technological feasibility, usability, and acceptability study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Feb 26;5(1):e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9441] [Medline: 29483067]
- 50. Taddeo D, Egedy M, Frappier JY. Adherence to treatment in adolescents. Paediatr Child Health 2008 Jan;13(1):19-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pch/13.1.19] [Medline: 19119348]
- 51. Knack JM, Iyer-Eimerbrink P, Young R. Anonymity of cyberbullying. In: Shackelford TK, Weekes-Shackelford VA, editors. Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Psychological Science. Switzerland: Springer; 2021.
- 52. Rainie L, Anderson J, Albright J. The future of free speech, trolls, anonymity and fake news online. Pew Research Center. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/03/29/</u> the-future-of-free-speech-trolls-anonymity-and-fake-news-online/ [accessed 2021-06-29]
- Bisafar FI, Welles BF, D'Ignazio C, Parker AG. Supporting youth activists? Strategic use of social media: a qualitative investigation of design opportunities. In: Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction. 2020 Presented at: ACM on Human-Computer Interaction; April 25-30, 2020; Oahu, Hawai i, USA p. 1-25. [doi: 10.1145/3415180]
- 54. Thackeray R, Hunter M. Empowering youth: use of technology in advocacy to affect social change. J Comput-Mediat Comm 2010;15:591. [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009.01503.x]
- 55. Prescott J, Hanley T, Ujhelyi Gomez K. Why do young people use online forums for mental health and emotional support? Benefits and challenges. Br J Guid Counc 2019 May 20;47(3):317-327. [doi: <u>10.1080/03069885.2019.1619169</u>]
- Padilla-Walker LM, Millett MA, Memmott-Elison MK. Can helping others strengthen teens? Character strengths as mediators between prosocial behavior and adolescents' internalizing symptoms. J Adolesc 2020 Feb;79:70-80. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2020.01.001</u>] [Medline: <u>31926448</u>]
- 57. Armstrong RA. When to use the Bonferroni correction. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt 2014 Sep 02;34(5):502-508. [doi: 10.1111/opo.12131] [Medline: 24697967]

Abbreviations

AYA: adolescents and young adults MHSES: Mental Health Self-Efficacy Scale PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 PYD-VSF: Positive Youth Development Very Short Form RSES: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale SOVA: Supporting Our Valued Adolescents

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.12.20; peer-reviewed by M Ranney, M Bryan; comments to author 19.01.21; revised version received 14.04.21; accepted 20.05.21; published 22.07.21.

Please cite as:

Karim S, Hsiung K, Symonds M, Radovic A Experience of Peer Bloggers Using a Social Media Website for Adolescents With Depression or Anxiety: Proof-of-Concept Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26183 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26183 doi:10.2196/26183 PMID:34292161

©Sana Karim, Kimberly Hsiung, Maria Symonds, Ana Radovic. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 22.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Experiences of an Online Treatment for Adolescents With Nonsuicidal Self-injury and Their Caregivers: Qualitative Study

Olivia Simonsson¹, MSc; Hedvig Engberg^{2,3}, MD, PhD; Johan Bjureberg¹, PhD; Brjánn Ljótsson⁴, PhD; Julia Stensils¹, MSc; Hanna Sahlin¹, PhD; Clara Hellner¹, MD, PhD

¹Centre for Psychiatry Research, Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Karolinska Institutet, & Stockholm Health Care Services, Region Stockholm, Stockholm, Stockholm, Sweden

²Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

³Medical Unit of Gynecology and Reproductive Medicine, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

⁴Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Division of Psychology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Olivia Simonsson, MSc Centre for Psychiatry Research Department of Clinical Neuroscience Karolinska Institutet, & Stockholm Health Care Services, Region Stockholm Norra Stationsgatan 69, 7th Fl Stockholm, SE-113 64 Sweden Phone: 46 76 142 65 65 Email: olivia.simonsson@ki.se

Abstract

Background: Nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) is common in adolescence and is associated with several adverse outcomes. Despite this, few established treatment options exist. Online treatment seems promising for several conditions; however, knowledge on NSSI is scarce. It is important to explore how online treatment for NSSI is experienced to improve such interventions and learn more about factors that are important in the treatment of adolescents with NSSI.

Objective: This study aims to explore the experiences of a novel online treatment for adolescents with NSSI and their caregivers.

Methods: A qualitative study using thematic analysis was conducted through semistructured interviews with 9 adolescents and 11 caregivers at treatment termination or at the 6-month follow-up of the online emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents.

Results: A total of 3 overarching themes were identified. The theme *support can come in different shapes* showed how support could be attained through both interaction with the therapist as well as through the format itself (such as through the fictional characters in the material and the mobile app). Caregivers found it helpful to have their own online course, and adolescents accepted their involvement. The theme *self-responsibility can be empowering as well as distressing* showed that self-responsibility was highly appreciated (such as deciding when and how to engage in treatment) but also challenging; it caused occasional distress for some. The theme *acquiring new skills and treatment effects* showed the advantages and challenges of learning several different emotion regulation skills and that decreased emotion regulation difficulties were important treatment outcomes for adolescents. In addition, several different skills seemed to facilitate emotion regulation, and having access to such skills could hinder NSSI.

Conclusions: Online emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents seems to offer an accepted way to deliver family interventions for this target group; facilitate skills training with several means of support, including support from both the mobile app and the therapist; contribute to decreasing emotion regulation difficulties and teaching skills that could hinder NSSI; and cause (in some individuals) distress because of the self-responsibility that is inherent to online formats, which needs to be addressed.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e17910) doi:10.2196/17910

KEYWORDS

nonsuicidal self-injury; self-injurious behavior; online treatment; internet; digital health; emotion regulation; emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents; adolescent; qualitative; experience

Introduction

Background

Nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) is common in adolescence and associated with several long-term risks. NSSI refers to the "direct and deliberate destruction of body tissue in the absence of any observable intent to die" [1]. NSSI is a symptom of borderline personality disorder but is also present in the absence of borderline personality disorder [2,3], together with several other disorders [4,5], and in nonclinical populations [6]. NSSI is common, especially in midadolescence [7], with a pooled prevalence of approximately 17% [8]. In fact, the prevalence rate seems to have increased in recent years [9,10]. NSSI in adolescence is worrying, as it is associated with an increased risk of incidence of other psychopathology in youth [11] and several adverse outcomes in adulthood [12-14]. Even though there is an overlap between NSSI and suicide attempts [4,15-17], there are some key differences between the two, concerning intention, repetition, and medical lethality [1,17-19]. In addition, NSSI is one of the strongest risk factors for future suicide attempts [20], and cessation of self-injury in adolescence can potentially decrease the risk of future suicidal behavior [21].

Therefore, NSSI is serious and requires urgent treatment. Treatments that target NSSI specifically are needed because NSSI is a transdiagnostic phenomenon [2-5], and targeting NSSI can potentially prevent suicides [21,22]. Focusing on the maintenance factors of NSSI in treatment could be useful; the emotion regulation function (ie, that one engages in NSSI to decrease or escape aversive emotions) has been identified as the most common function of NSSI [23], and treatment for NSSI that targets emotion regulation difficulties seems to have beneficial effects on other health outcomes as well [24]. At present, no well-established treatment is available for treating NSSI [25-29], but dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) is probably efficacious for adolescents [25]. Nevertheless, challenges with accessibility and costs connected to DBT have been highlighted and briefer interventions have been called for [22].

Our research group has previously developed a brief emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents (ERITA) [30] derived from emotion regulation group therapy (ERGT) [24,31] drawing from the principles of DBT and acceptance and commitment therapy. The aim of ERITA and ERGT is to decrease NSSI through learning and using new skills to regulate emotions. In contrast to ERGT, ERITA is a 12-week individual therapy that is specifically for adolescents and includes a parallel online course for caregivers. As ERITA seems promising [30], and as online treatment has several advantages, such as (1) the possibility of frequent contact with the therapist [32], (2) seems effective for several conditions among adolescents [33], and (3) can facilitate help-seeking as fear of stigmatization can be a barrier [34] and individuals with perceived stigmatized problems may prefer online treatment [35], our research group has further adapted ERITA [30] to an online version (ie, online ERITA). The quantitative results from the pilot trial indicate that online ERITA seems acceptable, feasible, and useful [36].

Online ERITA was, in a recent systematic review, the only online treatment tested for adolescents with NSSI [37].

Consequently, as research on online treatment for adolescents with NSSI is scarce, our knowledge of the experience of online treatment is limited [38]. Collaboration with patients has been suggested to be important when developing novel interventions for self-injury [29]. One way to engage patients in the development of interventions is through qualitative research methods. Qualitative evaluations of interventions allow for individual experiences, positive and negative feedback, and could together with quantitative evaluations contribute to a richer understanding of an intervention [38]. Regarding adolescents with self-injury, there is only 1 previous qualitative study investigating the experience of online interventions, specifically the experience of a mobile app as an adjunct to face-to-face treatment [39]. To our knowledge, no study has investigated the experiences of online treatment for adolescents with NSSI nor have the experiences of caregivers been explored. Involving caregivers in treatment for self-injury has been suggested [40], and increased knowledge of the experience of such involvement, also from the caregivers' perspective, could help to further develop successful treatment for adolescents with NSSI. Overall, exploring individual experiences of novel treatments can potentially help improve existing treatments as well as increase our understanding of factors that are important in the treatment of adolescents with NSSI.

Objective

This study aims to explore the experiences of online ERITA for those with NSSI and their caregivers.

Methods

Overview

This qualitative study was part of a pilot trial of online ERITA [36]. This study was approved by the regional ethical review board of Sweden in November 2015 (reference number: 2015/1895-31/5). Furthermore, it is presented according to the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research standards [41] for reporting qualitative research.

Participants

Families who had participated in the quantitative part of the pilot trial of online ERITA [36] were the population of interest. Inclusion criteria for adolescents in the pilot trial [36] were as follows: (1) being 13-17 years old; (2) fulfilling criteria for the proposed NSSI disorder [42]; (3) having engaged in ≥1 NSSI episode during the past month at the preassessment; (4) having stability of psychotropic medications (if any) for at least 2 months; and (5) having at least one caregiver committed to participate in the caregiver course. Exclusion criteria for adolescents in the pilot trial [36] were as follows: (1) severe suicidal ideation; (2) diagnosis of psychotic or bipolar I disorder, or substance dependence; (3) ongoing dialectical behavioral or mentalization-based therapy; and (4) insufficient understanding of the Swedish language. To participate in the qualitative part of the pilot trial, participants had to accept participation in interviews and terminate treatment before May 14, 2017.

Potentially eligible families were informed and prompted to participate in the interviews, either when meeting their therapist at posttreatment follow-up or by telephone. From the 17 eligible families, families were continuously selected for interviews as the data collection proceeded based on maximum variation sampling [43]; the target was to reach variability in the sample regarding age, gender, and past month NSSI frequency before and after treatment. One family was selected for interviews but later declined.

Information power [44] was assessed continuously by analyzing the amount of new information from the interviews and the quality of data. From previous research, 6 to 12 interviews have shown to capture all themes and concepts needed to answer the research question [44-47]. We expected that more than 6 interviews per group (ie, separating adolescents and caregivers) were needed based on the variability within the adolescent group and the scope of the study. Conversely, sample specificity was good in relation to the research question. After interviews with 9 families (ie, 9 adolescents and 11 caregivers), there was redundancy in interview data; therefore, it was deemed that a data saturation point was reached [48]. The participant flow is shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Flowchart of the participating families. ERITA: emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents.



In total, 9 adolescents and 11 caregivers participated (ie, 20 interviews in total); 7 families completed the interview in conjunction with the posttreatment follow-up, and 2 families completed the interview in conjunction with the 6-month follow-up. Participating adolescents were 14-17 years old (median 16; IQR 16-17), and 6 adolescents identified as female and 3 adolescents as nonbinary. Before the initiation of the treatment, past month NSSI frequency varied between 3 and 22 (median 10; IQR 9-15), and after the treatment, the past month NSSI frequency varied between 0 and 14 (median 2; IQR 1-8). All adolescents had completed all the 11 modules in the treatment, and all caregivers had completed all 6 modules in the caregiver course. Of the participating caregivers, 9 were mothers and 2 were fathers. Their ages ranged from 43-55 years (median 50; IQR 46-53).

Intervention

Overview

Online ERITA is developed by a diverse group, with experts in both online and self-injury treatment, in close collaboration with the developers of ERGT, and with help from a user experience design consultant. Furthermore, the content and online interface has been additionally reviewed by clinicians working with adolescent self-injury and patient representatives from an association specifically for self-injury.

The aim of ERITA is to decrease NSSI through learning and using new skills to regulate emotions. The treatment includes skills training in emotional awareness, acceptance, impulse control, validation, and valued direction. Online ERITA comprises 11 modules delivered over 12 weeks. In each module, participants read texts (ie, both psychoeducation and examples

from how fictive characters practiced skills), listen to audio files, watch short films, and get assignments for the upcoming week. In addition, the adolescents have access to a supplementary mobile app where they can (1) register NSSI acts or impulses, (2) register and engage in their skills practice, and (3) access their individual crisis list. Screenshots of the online treatment and mobile app are presented in Figure 2 and Figure 3, respectively.

Figure 2. Screenshots of interactive worksheets from online emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents [36].

BiP	Start			
STEP 3 OF 20 Which short-term consequences apply to you? Which consequences does self-harm have for you in the short-term? What basic needs does it help you with? Now, you are about to do an exercise in which you are asked to drag and drop the sentences that apply to you or do not apply to you. If a sentence applies to you, drag and drop to the box "Applies to me". If the sentence does not apply to you, drag and drop to the box "Does not apply to re".				
Give is a systematic set of the s	tapply to me ⊙ redom ⊙	STEP 6 OF 20 Avoid - Distract - As we have already discussed, there primary emotions. We can avoid, dis On the next page, we will take a clos	Approach are several ways that we might respond to our tract from, or approach our emotions. er look at what this means!	Start
It decreases my feelings of emptiness ⊚ It makes me feel something at all ⊚ It helps me express encolors ⊚ It confirm to myself that I am in pain ⊗ It decreases my feelings of being overwhelmed ⊗	punish (and therefore nal pain to others ③	AVOIDANCE Turn off the emotion Act destructively Be unwilling	DISTRACTION Take a break from the emotion	AppRoacti Notice the emotion Label the emotion Express the emotion
		Back		Next



Figure 3. Screenshot of the mobile app from online emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents [36].



Moreover, online ERITA includes a parallel online course for the caregivers, which consists of 6 modules, with the aim to teach the caregivers emotion regulation strategies to better support and understand adolescents. The caregiver course includes skills training in validation, emotional awareness, and behavioral activation. The caregivers also have access to the module texts from the adolescent's treatment, to learn what the adolescent is taught and encouraged to assist in their skills practice. The family meets their assigned online therapist for a face-to-face assessment before starting the treatment. During the treatment, both adolescents and caregivers have regular contact with the therapist on the online platform as well as by telephone if needed. In the secure online platform, the therapist has access to all interactions by adolescents and caregivers with the online system (eg, answered worksheets, registrations, and reflections on content, video, or audio) and data from the mobile app from adolescents (eg, daily registrations on destructive

RenderX

behavior and number of skills training sessions). The information is used by the therapist to assist in skills training, explain content if needed, monitor symptoms, and contact the family immediately in case any information indicates that the safety or well-being of adolescents is at risk.

Participant Safety and Confidentiality

Both adolescents and caregivers received information on how confidentiality would be handled in case any information indicated that the safety or well-being of adolescents was at risk (ie, contacting adolescents and/or caregivers) before consenting, and this was also discussed when developing the individual crisis list. Furthermore, the online platform was on a secure server, and log-in required 2-factor authentication (ie, both password and mobile code) for both the therapist and the participants. The mobile app was password-protected and locked to 1 phone. Adolescents were automatically logged out of the

mobile app in case of inactivity, and data from the mobile app were saved on a secure server. The mobile app was designed to be discrete; the mobile app icon is neutral and cannot be associated with mental health. Moreover, participants could have initiated or did initiate treatment contacts outside of online ERITA based on their needs.

Data Collection

Interviews were conducted between February and September 2017. The interviewers were 2 female psychology master students (OS and JS) educated in the theory and method of online ERITA, but they had no prior relation to the participants before the interviews. The interviews were conducted either at a child and adolescent mental health clinic (9 interviews), in the home of the families (6 interviews), or over telephone (5 interviews).

The interviews were conducted with the adolescents and caregivers in separate rooms, without nonparticipants. Before starting the interviews, the participants were informed about the purpose of the study; the occupation and experience of the interviewer; their right to terminate at any time; and how the material would be processed, stored, anonymized, and presented. Written informed consent (ie, caregivers and adolescents aged ≥15 years provided own written consent, and caregivers provided written consent on behalf of adolescents aged ≤14 years, according to Swedish law) was obtained before the interviews started. The duration of the interviews ranged from 13-41 minutes. To decrease the potential risk of the negative impact from talking about mental health issues and experiences of treatment, participants could choose the location of the interview, and all participants were asked before and after the interview if the situation induced distress. Interviewers were prepared to assist in case of reported or observed adverse events. However, no adverse events were reported before, during, or after the interviews.

Semistructured interviews were chosen based on the research questions and allowed for diverse experiences [49]. A total of

2 interview guides, 1 for the adolescents and 1 for the caregivers (Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2), were developed based on previous research (ie, on structure [49] and content [25,26,37,40]) and clinical experience and reviewed by the authors. The interview guide was pilot-tested on the first participant and evaluated with the supervisor (HE); no changes were deemed necessary. All interviews were audio recorded and later transcribed verbatim by the interviewers. The audio recording was erased immediately after the completion of the transcription.

Data Analysis

Thematic analysis was used for data analysis, according to the steps recommended by Braun and Clarke [50]. Data analysis included a constant movement back and forth between the steps described below. In the first step, all transcripts were reread to gain familiarity with the data. In the second step, initial codes were generated; OS and JS coded 5 interviews together, and HE reviewed the coding as a verification step. After the verification step, OS coded the rest of the interviews and consulted HE throughout the process. All codes were reviewed several times by HE and OS. Examples of codes are listed in Table 1. In the third step, possible themes were investigated. Codes were clustered into categories and possible themes, and OS and HE reviewed different clustering opportunities and looked for negative cases. Data were split between adolescents and caregivers and compared in terms of both content and structure. In the fourth step, the themes were reviewed until they were deemed exclusive and fit the material. In the final step, the themes were labeled and the materials belonging to each theme were summarized. Discussions were ongoing in the research group throughout the process, and the final results were approved by all authors. Original quotes from the transcripts were chosen to show the relationship between the data and themes. For the qualitative analysis, the data program Open Code version 4.03 was used [51].



Table 1. Illustration of the resulting model.

Overarching themes and subthemes	Example of codes		
Support can come in different shapes			
Support from the therapist despite distance	 Free in what one could say to the therapist Lonelier without the therapist Therapist cared 		
Finding support within the family	Work separatelyCaregivers more aware nowBetter communication		
Finding support in the format	 Could relate to the fictional characters Good to know you are not alone The app contributes with control 		
Self-responsibility can be empowering as well as distressing			
Flexibility and empowerment	Treatment was no big dealAccording to your needsHelped myself		
Distress as a consequence of treatment	 Hard to manage to support Pressure of constant accessibility Guilt when not following the treatment 		
Acquiring new skills and treatment effects			
Learning and using new skills	 Use the skill that works in the situation Difficult to manage during emotional distress Too much to think about 		
Benefits in everyday life	 Increased awareness Can use skills in everyday life Dare to express emotions 		

Results

A total of 3 overarching themes were identified. Each theme, their respective subthemes, and examples of codes in the themes are presented in Table 1.

Support Can Come in Different Shapes

Overview

The overarching theme *support can come in different shapes* describes the diversity of how support can be attained, as defined by the separate subthemes. Although adolescents experienced support from several sources, caregivers focused more on support from the therapist.

Support From the Therapist Despite Distance

There was consensus that therapist support was an essential part of the treatment, among both adolescents and caregivers. The therapist was perceived as available, caring, supportive, personal, helpful, and pedagogical:

You could just ask anything, also questions that I thought were stupid, but still. Otherwise [without the therapist] it would have felt lonelier, as if you were just doing it by yourself, like nobody cared. Now there was someone who was there that wrote to you, after all. You got the response quickly when you sent a message, it felt good. [Adolescent #5]

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e17910

RenderX

In addition, caregivers stressed the need for an initial face-to-face meeting to build trust. The initial meeting was also important as it decreased some caregivers' worries about a somewhat lower level of caretaking in the online format compared with face-to-face treatment. Several caregivers wished for a face-to-face meeting halfway through the treatment period to assure the therapist was still there and to discuss problems that had emerged as treatment had progressed. According to most caregivers, the therapist was crucial—it felt as if somebody would take them on and wanted to help them:

It has been very important to have the therapist there, so you don't feel that this is just digital. You need to have a real person there. The therapist has been very generous with the amount of contact. Both me and my adolescent have felt that the therapist aspect has been very important. [Caregiver #11]

Adolescents appreciated the online communication with the therapist, and many preferred it to talking face-to-face. Nevertheless, telephone calls were appreciated as problem solving went quicker and the therapist could explain the treatment material that was hard to understand. For adolescents, the physical distance to the therapist seemed to increase their willingness to share sensitive personal information:

I simply find it easier to write, to get more time to think about exactly how to formulate myself...it can

be easier to say things I don't like to say aloud. [Adolescent #5]

Finding Support Within the Family

Adolescents experienced the involvement of caregivers as reasonable and relevant, and some saw the advantages of caregivers getting their own support. Caregivers' awareness of what the adolescent was going through (ie, through reading the adolescent's material) facilitated communication and increased support. However, a few families expressed that they did not talk among each other about what they were going through:

They are more aware of what I do, that is, what assignments I get. And they can solve situations, kind of. But we haven't talked so much about it. We have rather done it individually.... But now they have helped themselves and I have helped myself and it is like, I have not had to push them away in the same way [as before]. [Adolescent #3]

Caregivers were appreciative that they were more involved in online ERITA compared with previous treatments. Some requested more interactive parts with the adolescent for a natural starting point to communicate around the treatment material. Both adolescents and caregivers stated a better and more supportive relationship exemplified as talking more, having a common language, being more honest with each other, and having fewer arguments:

It feels like we've come closer. Before, she was in her room and you didn't get any contact. And it may well happen that she does that now too, but it's not that often. She is seeking much more social contact. [Caregiver #8]

Finding Support in the Format

Adolescents found the treatment format and content to be supportive. The fictional characters in the modules were perceived as relatable and created a sense of normalization for some:

There were always examples of four people, and I could always recognize myself in at least one of them. Sometimes you might not recognize yourself up to a hundred percent, but there was always something you could recognize that made you feel less alone and "all right, it's not just me who has this problem." [Adolescent #4]

Moreover, adolescents who used the supplementary mobile app appreciated it. Practicing skills in the mobile app and getting suggestions of what to do made the treatment more present and supported everyday skills training. The reasons mentioned for not using the mobile app were not experiencing the need or technical issues (eg, not being able to log in):

I think the app was the best. I probably logged in to it more times than I really needed. More as a reminder to me.... Sometimes it was hard to remember what to do in a situation when I was feeling very, very bad. If I logged in to the app, I had more control. Otherwise, I find it very difficult to come up with it [strategies] myself. [Adolescent #9]

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e17910

Self-Responsibility Can Be Empowering as Well as Distressing

Overview

The overarching theme *self-responsibility can be empowering as well as distressing* describes the positive and negative aspects of the perceived self-responsibility of initiating and following through with the treatment. The subthemes reflect the positive aspects, such as you could engage in treatment according to your preferences and attribute accomplishments to your own ability, and the possible negative aspects, such as feeling distressed and insecure.

Flexibility and Empowerment

Adolescents and caregivers appreciated that the material was always accessible and that one could engage in treatment wherever it felt comfortable. Furthermore, flexibility in how to engage with the material (eg, text, audio files, videos, and mobile app) and freedom to write to the therapist whenever you have a question were similarly mentioned as positive consequences of self-responsibility:

It didn't become such a big deal as to go somewhere, meet someone and talk. Rather it was more like sitting at home on the couch, just filling out some questions.... You could get a question, feeling it was tough, get up and go and grab a sandwich, talk it through with a parent and then go back and work on an answer. [Adolescent #1]

Other positive aspects of self-responsibility, mentioned by adolescents, were connected to empowerment; feeling that you have the treatment to yourself and help yourself (rather than just receive help) and to not burden anyone else:

It didn't feel like I was troubling anyone else in any way with my mental health problems. It was just me trying to get better. [Adolescent #3]

Distress as a Consequence of Treatment

Engaging in and experiencing the responsibility of the treatment was, at times, connected to aversive emotions and unhelpful behaviors. The sense of failing assignments and expectations was associated with elevated levels of shame and guilt and decreased self-confidence. Being aware of one's problems (ie, NSSI and difficulties in regulating emotions) was difficult for some, and the treatment was a reminder of those problems. When adolescents felt that they did not meet expectations, some ended up procrastinating and avoiding treatment; still, it was hard to mentally let go of the treatment. However, such aversive emotions were also described by some as manageable, transient, and acceptable because the treatment was important:

When I felt that I would not be able to do as many homework assignments as I wanted to do, then I did nothing instead, and finally I felt more stressed because I did nothing.... It wasn't just a meeting; it was all the time. And sometimes it felt good because then it was like, you helped yourself all the time and you got help all the time. But at the same time, it was really hard because a meeting with a psychologist is usually really exhausting. And now it was like it went

on all the time, that you had to think about all the stuff and all the questions, so it was just as hard, but good. [Adolescent #3]

Both adolescents and caregivers experienced insecurities about what was *right* and *enough* in terms of how to answer homework assignments and what was expected of them. Rarely did adolescents or caregivers mention such concerns to their therapists:

One problem was that I had a hard time formulating answers to the questions in the module, so I don't really know if I...came through with all my thoughts to the therapist. I thought the messages worked well, but I was always unsure how much I should write in the questions in modules-How deep should I go? [Adolescent #1]

Some caregivers expressed doubts about their own capabilities, especially trusting the adolescent with responsibility and encouraging independence. The responsibility to motivate and remind adolescents was challenging for some:

Some days we felt that the adolescent did not manage to do the assignments and she received quite a lot of reminders, and we got a lot of reminders to remind her and so on. And it was very difficult to push her. [Caregiver #5]

Acquiring New Skills and Treatment Effects

Overview

The overarching theme *acquiring new skills and treatment effects* describes the outcome of participating in online ERITA. The subthemes reflect both learning skills and the positive effects of using such skills.

Learning and Using New Skills

Adolescents mentioned several different skills as helpful. The particular skills that were most helpful differed between adolescents and over time. Learning how to combine skills during this delimited time period was challenging for some, especially how to use the skill set in challenging situations:

I thought it was a little difficult in the moment, when I was feeling bad, to try to focus on all these different steps because there were so many different things you can do. So, it got a little confusing. I couldn't really use the whole thing as a package. [Adolescent #6]

Regarding the less helpful skills, some mentioned mindfulness as unimportant. Others were unable to specify in retrospect if anything was less helpful. In cases where participants perceived specific content as nonrelevant, they did not indicate that this content had had an overall negative impact on the experience of the treatment. Moreover, some experienced that some skills (particularly distraction skills) were insufficient, not solving problems in life:

It felt more like all skills became like distractions to me, more like I was postponing problems, instead of...I mean, I understand that it is a way of handling one's problems, and that it is perhaps better than just

ignoring it, but it didn't feel like it helped a lot at the time. [Adolescent #2]

Caregivers appreciated the fact that they received their own skills training and discovered that they could benefit from the same skills as adolescents. Learning about primary and secondary emotions and validation was perceived as particularly useful. Validation was defined as a eureka moment and a breaking point. Furthermore, the caregivers did not perceive any treatment content as less helpful, and several caregivers made the spontaneous reflection that everyone should learn these types of skills.

Benefits in Everyday Life

The improvements reported were both overt behavioral changes as well as changes in attitude toward internal experiences. Specifically, the improvements expressed by adolescents were increased emotional awareness and acceptance, courage to be who you are, skillful communication of emotions, and reaching out for help before making the situation worse:

I have become very much more aware of how I really work and how emotions and thoughts work and...I don't know, just a lot of knowledge. It's been amazing! And can help friends a little bit too, so it's cool. [Adolescent #1]

When discussing changes, the adolescents mentioned but were less focused on changes in the frequency of NSSI (although most of them had decreased their frequency of NSSI from before treatment to the time of the interview). Reasons for decreased or ceased NSSI described by adolescents were that they felt less trapped and dared to express their emotions and that they had other strategies to handle impulses/emotions now. Moreover, some adolescents reported that they did not experience positive changes until after several weeks after treatment termination.

The caregivers experienced similar improvements in adolescents. In addition, the caregivers observed that adolescents were more present in the family and forgiving toward oneself and easier to talk to and seemed happier. The caregivers perceived their own improvements as increased self-awareness and emotional awareness—being more aware of their adolescents' mood—and increased self-efficacy in handling possible setbacks. Moreover, they mentioned that they were teaching the skills to other people around them.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study conveys the experiences of online ERITA for those with NSSI and their caregivers. The main findings were that online ERITA is experienced as offering several means of support (eg therapist, the mobile app) and that the caregiver involvement in this format is acceptable and beneficial. The perceived self-responsibility in online ERITA had both positive (ie, sense of empowerment) and negative aspects (ie, increased distress) connected to it. Several different skills seem to facilitate emotion regulation ability, and having access to such skills could hinder NSSI. Finally, decreased emotion regulation difficulties seemed to be an important treatment outcome for adolescents.

Interestingly, although several treatment effects were described, the most important changes identified by adolescents were improvements in emotion regulation and how that affected functions in daily life. This may not be surprising, given that NSSI per se is seldom the main concern for the individual but rather the emotional distress triggering NSSI [52]. Access to emotion regulation skills was mentioned as a reason for decreased NSSI, illustrating the potential mediating role that emotion regulation has in decreasing NSSI [30,36,53]. Furthermore, the results are in line with those of previous studies [24,30,36], indicating that interventions that are designed specifically for NSSI and target emotion regulation difficulties can affect other symptoms and the overall function. This is expected, as emotion regulation deficits seem to be important to a wide range of psychopathologies [54]. Altogether, these results highlight the importance of measuring several outcomes when evaluating treatment for NSSI to capture the processes through which the treatment works and the changes that are connected to decreased distress and increased function.

Our results indicate that adolescents used several different skills to regulate their emotions. Given that several different subscales of difficulties in emotion regulation have been strongly connected to NSSI (eg, nonacceptance of emotional responses, impulse control difficulties, and difficulties engaging goal-directed behavior) [23], several different emotion regulation skills could be useful to target these different difficulties. Therefore, it does not need to be concerning that no single emotion regulation skill was identified as of certain importance from the interviews with adolecents. Investigating whether it is possible to predict what skills the individual would benefit the most from, based on reports of difficulties in different emotion regulation subscales, could be an important next step to identify potent skills and components and further tailor the treatment to the individual. Online treatment could provide a useful framework for dismantling studies (eg, testing the effectiveness of a specific treatment component) [55] as treatment content could be controlled and modules can be easily added or removed.

In this study, therapist support was perceived as essential and therapeutic alliance was continually developed through the online format. The question has been raised if the online format can facilitate therapeutic alliance when treating self-injury [37]. Our results indicate that the online format facilitated self-disclosure, in line with the experiences of other pediatric clinical groups who have received online treatment [38]. In general, our results validate the importance of therapeutic alliance for this target group [26], which seems to be facilitated by both online, telephonic, and face-to-face contact in this context. The availability of frequent and flexible online and telephonic contact was important for the participants, in line with previous findings [25,27].

The importance of family involvement for this population [25,40] was also underscored from the results of this study. Involving caregivers in a parallel online course was highly appreciated by the caregivers and experienced as positive, or at least not negative, by the adolescents. Involving family members in this online format could be a valuable addition to traditional face-to-face family sessions. The importance of providing a

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e17910

sufficient dose of caregiver or family component has been emphasized [25], and the online format could be a time-efficient method for the therapist to increase such dose. Conversely, face-to-face meetings, as a complement to the online treatment, were requested by caregivers in this study, implying the importance of flexibility in format. Moreover, caregivers' own skills training in emotion regulation was appreciated and helpful, and this is important as youth NSSI could affect the well-being of caregivers negatively [56].

Several advantages of the supplementary mobile app were described by the adolescents, both as an easy and flexible way to engage in treatment and a means of support. These results, together with the previous promising results on the utility of mobile apps for self-injury [39], indicate the usefulness of supplementary add-on formats for both online and face-to-face treatments. However, not all adolescents used the mobile app, and the reasons mentioned involved not needing it and technical issues. The technical issues are unfortunate but are difficult to avoid in complex apps. The report from some of the adolescents that the technical issues prevented them from using the app underline the need for thorough pretesting of the app and also conducting pilot trials, such as this study, before the app is used in a large-scale clinical trial or implemented within health care. Nevertheless, whenever an app is used, continuous efforts should be made to detect and handle any issues because technical problems could have negative consequences on treatment credibility, adherence, and effectiveness.

Furthermore, difficulties in fulfilling assignments and adhering to treatment [57] and feeling worse on occasions [38] have been stated as possible negative effects of online treatment before. Such distress can be challenging for individuals with NSSI, as difficulties in regulating emotions are especially prominent within this group [23]. Detecting participants experiencing distress because of the self-responsibility inherent in the online format and offer support is therefore important. The findings could be interpreted as a need for more individual tailoring in online treatments for NSSI to facilitate successful treatment outcomes and identify patients in need of adaptions or potentially more extensive treatment first hand. This means of treatment may not be suitable for the most severely affected; although online treatment offers frequent contact that could facilitate detection of deterioration in some cases, there may be dimensions of a face-to-face contact (eg, nonverbal communication) that are lost in online treatment, which could possibly make it more difficult to detect deterioration in other cases. Nevertheless, online treatment could serve important functions; the results from this study indicate that some prefer online contact, and a third of the adolescents in this study (and a fifth in the overall pilot trial [36]) identified as nonbinary, which could indicate that the online format may facilitate treatment-seeking among gender minority groups.

Strengths and Limitations

Although our study provides important information on how skills training, caregiver involvement, and the online format can be experienced, it is not without limitations. Irrespective of sample size, sampling from a single pilot study limits the transferability of the results [58]. Nevertheless, by including

XSL•FO RenderX

adolescents of different ages, genders, and NSSI frequencies, we could collect rich data, hopefully making the findings transferable in the sense that they speak for more than the individuals interviewed. However, although we strived for variability in the sample, we have no adolescents who identified themselves as male, and none of them were aged 13 years. Moreover, some families were interviewed months after ending the treatment, possibly introducing recall bias but also introducing the possibility of capturing late effects.

Future Work

Our results indicate the potential development of online ERITA. Primarily, it is important to systematically detect those at risk of distress because of the self-responsibility inherent in the online format. As online treatment generally offers structured treatment content, questions regarding treatment engagement and feelings of increased distress can easily be incorporated into the treatment modules. Accordingly, modifying and evaluating the efficacy of online ERITA is warranted, and a randomized controlled trial is currently being conducted and is registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (trial number: NCT03353961).

If online ERITA is proven to be efficacious, steps have already been taken to prepare for a large-scale implementation trial within Swedish child and adolescent mental health services. In this phase, we will not only monitor treatment effectiveness and potential adverse events but also study patient as well as caregiver experiences and evaluate the intervention from an organizational perspective.

Conclusions

The findings from this qualitative study exploring the experiences of online ERITA for those with NSSI and their caregivers provide some important insights. First, decreased emotion regulation difficulties were an important outcome for adolescents, implying the importance of targeting emotion regulation and measuring several outcomes when evaluating treatment for NSSI. In addition, several different skills seem to facilitate emotion regulation ability and having access to such skills could hinder NSSI. Second, involving caregivers through a parallel online course seems to be an accepted and beneficial format to deliver family interventions for this patient group. Third, it is possible to learn and practice skills training in online format, with several means of support, from both the mobile app and the therapist. Finally, although online treatment could be empowering, there is a risk of distress because of the self-responsibility inherent in the online format that needs to be addressed.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the participants for their willingness and bravery to share their experiences. This project was supported by the National Self Injury Project in Sweden and the Swedish Research Council under grant 2014-1008. The funder had no role in the study design or the writing of the manuscript.

Authors' Contributions

All authors were involved in designing the study. JB and HS served as therapists. OS and JS interviewed participants. All authors were involved in the data analysis at different steps (as described in the *Methods* section). OS drafted the initial manuscript, and all authors revised it critically for important intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

CH, JB, HS, and BL were involved in the development of online ERITA but declare no financial interests. JB receives book royalties from Natur & Kultur. BL is a shareholder of DahliaQomit AB, a company specializing in online psychiatric symptom assessment, and Hedman-Lagerlöf och Ljótsson psykologi AB, a company that licenses cognitive behavior therapy manuals. The other authors report no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide for adolescents. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 45 KB - formative_v5i7e17910_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Interview guide for caregivers. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 44 KB - formative v5i7e17910 app2.pdf]

References

- Nock MK. Self-injury. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2010;6:339-363. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131258</u>] [Medline: <u>20192787</u>]
- Glenn CR, Klonsky ED. Nonsuicidal self-injury disorder: an empirical investigation in adolescent psychiatric patients. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2013;42(4):496-507 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1080/15374416.2013.794699</u>] [Medline: <u>23682597</u>]

- 3. Selby EA, Bender TW, Gordon KH, Nock MK, Joiner TE. Non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) disorder: a preliminary study. Personal Disord 2012 Apr;3(2):167-175. [doi: 10.1037/a0024405] [Medline: 22452757]
- 4. Nock MK, Joiner TE, Gordon KH, Lloyd-Richardson E, Prinstein MJ. Non-suicidal self-injury among adolescents: diagnostic correlates and relation to suicide attempts. Psychiatry Res 2006 Sep 30;144(1):65-72. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2006.05.010] [Medline: 16887199]
- 5. Bentley KH, Cassiello-Robbins CF, Vittorio L, Sauer-Zavala S, Barlow DH. The association between nonsuicidal self-injury and the emotional disorders: a meta-analytic review. Clin Psychol Rev 2015 Apr;37:72-88. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.006</u>] [Medline: <u>25771494</u>]
- Klonsky ED, Oltmanns TF, Turkheimer E. Deliberate self-harm in a nonclinical population: prevalence and psychological correlates. Am J Psychiatry 2003 Aug;160(8):1501-1508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.8.1501] [Medline: 12900314]
- Plener PL, Schumacher TS, Munz LM, Groschwitz RC. The longitudinal course of non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm: a systematic review of the literature. Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregul 2015;2:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40479-014-0024-3] [Medline: 26401305]
- Swannell SV, Martin GE, Page A, Hasking P, St John NJ. Prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury in nonclinical samples: systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2014 Jun;44(3):273-303. [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12070] [Medline: 24422986]
- 9. Wester K, Trepal H, King K. Nonsuicidal self-injury: increased prevalence in engagement. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2018 Dec;48(6):690-698. [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12389] [Medline: 28846813]
- McManus S, Gunnell D, Cooper C, Bebbington PE, Howard LM, Brugha T, et al. Prevalence of non-suicidal self-harm and service contact in England, 2000-14: repeated cross-sectional surveys of the general population. Lancet Psychiatry 2019 Jul;6(7):573-581 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30188-9] [Medline: 31175059]
- Wilkinson PO, Qiu T, Neufeld S, Jones PB, Goodyer IM. Sporadic and recurrent non-suicidal self-injury before age 14 and incident onset of psychiatric disorders by 17 years: prospective cohort study. Br J Psychiatry 2018 Apr;212(4):222-226. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.2017.45] [Medline: 29514726]
- 12. Bjureberg J, Ohlis A, Ljótsson B, D'Onofrio BM, Hedman-Lagerlöf E, Jokinen J, et al. Adolescent self-harm with and without suicidality: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses of a Swedish regional register. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2019 Mar;60(3):295-304. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12967] [Medline: 30207392]
- Mars B, Heron J, Crane C, Hawton K, Lewis G, Macleod J, et al. Clinical and social outcomes of adolescent self harm: population based birth cohort study. Br Med J 2014 Oct 21;349:g5954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.g5954] [Medline: 25335825]
- Sahlin H, Kuja-Halkola R, Bjureberg J, Lichtenstein P, Molero Y, Rydell M, et al. Association between deliberate self-harm and violent criminality. JAMA Psychiatry 2017 Jun 01;74(6):615-621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0338] [Medline: 28384711]
- Jacobson CM, Muehlenkamp JJ, Miller AL, Turner JB. Psychiatric impairment among adolescents engaging in different types of deliberate self-harm. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2008 Apr;37(2):363-375. [doi: <u>10.1080/15374410801955771</u>] [Medline: <u>18470773</u>]
- 16. Asarnow JR, Porta G, Spirito A, Emslie G, Clarke G, Wagner KD, et al. Suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in the treatment of resistant depression in adolescents: findings from the TORDIA study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2011 Aug;50(8):772-781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2011.04.003] [Medline: 21784297]
- 17. Muehlenkamp JJ, Gutierrez PM. Risk for suicide attempts among adolescents who engage in non-suicidal self-injury. Arch Suicide Res 2007;11(1):69-82. [doi: 10.1080/13811110600992902] [Medline: 17178643]
- Baetens I, Claes L, Muehlenkamp J, Grietens H, Onghena P. Non-suicidal and suicidal self-injurious behavior among Flemish adolescents: a web-survey. Arch Suicide Res 2011;15(1):56-67. [doi: <u>10.1080/13811118.2011.540467</u>] [Medline: <u>21294000</u>]
- Hamza CA, Stewart SL, Willoughby T. Examining the link between nonsuicidal self-injury and suicidal behavior: a review of the literature and an integrated model. Clin Psychol Rev 2012 Aug;32(6):482-495. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2012.05.003</u>] [Medline: <u>22717336</u>]
- 20. Ribeiro JD, Franklin JC, Fox KR, Bentley KH, Kleiman EM, Chang BP, et al. Self-injurious thoughts and behaviors as risk factors for future suicide ideation, attempts, and death: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Psychol Med 2016 Jan;46(2):225-236 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291715001804] [Medline: 26370729]
- 21. Koenig J, Brunner R, Fischer-Waldschmidt G, Parzer P, Plener PL, Park J, et al. Prospective risk for suicidal thoughts and behaviour in adolescents with onset, maintenance or cessation of direct self-injurious behaviour. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2017 Mar;26(3):345-354. [doi: 10.1007/s00787-016-0896-4] [Medline: 27558490]
- 22. Asarnow JR, Ougrin D. Editorial: Suicide and self-harm: advancing from science to preventing deaths. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2019 Oct;60(10):1043-1045. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13131] [Medline: 31512762]
- 23. Wolff JC, Thompson E, Thomas SA, Nesi J, Bettis AH, Ransford B, et al. Emotion dysregulation and non-suicidal self-injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Psychiatry 2019 Jun;59:25-36. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.03.004</u>] [Medline: <u>30986729</u>]

- 24. Gratz KL, Tull MT, Levy R. Randomized controlled trial and uncontrolled 9-month follow-up of an adjunctive emotion regulation group therapy for deliberate self-harm among women with borderline personality disorder. Psychol Med 2014 Jul;44(10):2099-2112. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291713002134] [Medline: 23985088]
- Glenn CR, Esposito EC, Porter AC, Robinson DJ. Evidence base update of psychosocial treatments for self-injurious thoughts and behaviors in youth. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2019;48(3):357-392. [doi: 10.1080/15374416.2019.1591281] [Medline: <u>31046461</u>]
- 26. Turner BJ, Austin SB, Chapman AL. Treating nonsuicidal self-injury: a systematic review of psychological and pharmacological interventions. Can J Psychiatry 2014 Nov;59(11):576-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/070674371405901103] [Medline: 25565473]
- Glenn CR, Franklin JC, Nock MK. Evidence-based psychosocial treatments for self-injurious thoughts and behaviors in youth. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2015;44(1):1-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15374416.2014.945211] [Medline: 25256034]
- Ougrin D, Tranah T, Stahl D, Moran P, Asarnow JR. Therapeutic interventions for suicide attempts and self-harm in adolescents: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2015 Feb;54(2):97-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2014.10.009] [Medline: 25617250]
- 29. Hawton K, Witt KG, Taylor ST, Arensman E, Gunnell D, Townsend E, et al. Interventions for self-harm in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Dec 21(12):CD012013. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD012013</u>] [Medline: <u>26688129</u>]
- 30. Bjureberg J, Sahlin H, Hellner C, Hedman-Lagerlöf E, Gratz KL, Bjärehed J, et al. Emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents with nonsuicidal self-injury disorder: a feasibility study. BMC Psychiatry 2017 Dec 28;17(1):411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1527-4] [Medline: 29282024]
- Sahlin H, Bjureberg J, Gratz KL, Tull MT, Hedman E, Bjärehed J, et al. Emotion regulation group therapy for deliberate self-harm: a multi-site evaluation in routine care using an uncontrolled open trial design. BMJ Open 2017 Oct 05;7(10):e016220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016220] [Medline: 28982814]
- 32. Andersson G, Titov N. Advantages and limitations of internet-based interventions for common mental disorders. World Psychiatry 2014 Feb;13(1):4-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20083] [Medline: 24497236]
- Vigerland S, Lenhard F, Bonnert M, Lalouni M, Hedman E, Ahlen J, et al. Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2016 Dec;50:1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.09.005] [Medline: 27668988]
- Rowe SL, French RS, Henderson C, Ougrin D, Slade M, Moran P. Help-seeking behaviour and adolescent self-harm: a systematic review. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2014 Dec;48(12):1083-1095. [doi: <u>10.1177/0004867414555718</u>] [Medline: <u>25335872</u>]
- 35. Wallin E, Maathz P, Parling T, Hursti T. Self-stigma and the intention to seek psychological help online compared to face-to-face. J Clin Psychol 2018 Jul;74(7):1207-1218. [doi: 10.1002/jclp.22583] [Medline: 29315545]
- 36. Bjureberg J, Sahlin H, Hedman-Lagerlöf E, Gratz KL, Tull MT, Jokinen J, et al. Extending research on Emotion Regulation Individual Therapy for Adolescents (ERITA) with nonsuicidal self-injury disorder: open pilot trial and mediation analysis of a novel online version. BMC Psychiatry 2018 Oct 11;18(1):326 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1885-6] [Medline: 30305103]
- Arshad U, Farhat-Ul-Ain, Gauntlett J, Husain N, Chaudhry N, Taylor PJ. A systematic review of the evidence supporting mobile- and internet-based psychological interventions for self-harm. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2020 Feb;50(1):151-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12583] [Medline: 31448847]
- McCashin D, Coyle D, O'Reilly G. Qualitative synthesis of young people's experiences with technology-assisted cognitive behavioral therapy: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 12;21(11):e13540 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13540] [Medline: 31714251]
- 39. Grist R, Porter J, Stallard P. Acceptability, use, and safety of a mobile phone app (blueice) for young people who self-harm: qualitative study of service users' experience. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Feb 23;5(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8779] [Medline: 29475823]
- Brent DA, McMakin DL, Kennard BD, Goldstein TR, Mayes TL, Douaihy AB. Protecting adolescents from self-harm: a critical review of intervention studies. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2013 Dec;52(12):1260-1271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2013.09.009] [Medline: 24290459]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- 42. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). 5 Ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013:1-991.
- 43. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods: Integrating Theory and Practice. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: Sage Publications Inc; 2014:1-832.
- 44. Malterud K, Siersma VD, Guassora AD. Sample size in qualitative interview studies: guided by information power. Qual Health Res 2015 Nov 27:1753-1760. [doi: 10.1177/1049732315617444] [Medline: 26613970]

- 45. Galvin R. How many interviews are enough? Do qualitative interviews in building energy consumption research produce reliable knowledge? J Build Eng 2015 Mar;1:2-12. [doi: 10.1016/j.jobe.2014.12.001]
- Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How many interviews are enough?: an experiment with data saturation and variability. Field Methods 2016 Jul 21;18(1):59-82. [doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903]
- 47. Guest G, Namey E, Chen M. A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. PLoS One 2020 May 5;15(5):e0232076 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0232076] [Medline: 32369511]
- Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant 2018;52(4):1893-1907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8] [Medline: 29937585]
- 49. Kallio H, Pietilä A, Johnson M, Kangasniemi M. Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. J Adv Nurs 2016 Dec;72(12):2954-2965. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.13031</u>] [Medline: <u>27221824</u>]
- 50. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 51. ICT Services and System Development and Division of Epidemiology and Global Health.: Open Code 4.03; 2015. URL: https://www.umu.se/en/department-of-epidemiology-and-global-health/research/open-code2/
- 52. Odelius CB, Ramklint M. Clinical utility of proposed non-suicidal self-injury diagnosis a pilot study. Nord J Psychiatry 2014 Jan;68(1):66-71. [doi: 10.3109/08039488.2013.775340] [Medline: 23527788]
- Gratz KL, Bardeen JR, Levy R, Dixon-Gordon KL, Tull MT. Mechanisms of change in an emotion regulation group therapy for deliberate self-harm among women with borderline personality disorder. Behav Res Ther 2015 Feb;65:29-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2014.12.005] [Medline: 25557395]
- McLaughlin KA, Hatzenbuehler ML, Mennin DS, Nolen-Hoeksema S. Emotion dysregulation and adolescent psychopathology: a prospective study. Behav Res Ther 2011 Sep;49(9):544-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2011.06.003] [Medline: 21718967]
- 55. Andersson G, Carlbring P, Berger T, Almlöv J, Cuijpers P. What makes internet therapy work? Cogn Behav Ther 2009;38 Suppl 1:55-60. [doi: 10.1080/16506070902916400] [Medline: 19675956]
- 56. Arbuthnott AE, Lewis SP. Parents of youth who self-injure: a review of the literature and implications for mental health professionals. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health 2015;9:35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13034-015-0066-3] [Medline: 26421058]
- 57. Rozental A, Boettcher J, Andersson G, Schmidt B, Carlbring P. Negative effects of internet interventions: a qualitative content analysis of patients' experiences with treatments delivered online. Cogn Behav Ther 2015;44(3):223-236. [doi: 10.1080/16506073.2015.1008033] [Medline: 25705924]
- 58. Given L. The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: Sage Publications Inc; 2008:1-1072.

Abbreviations

DBT: dialectical behavior therapy **ERGT:** emotion regulation group therapy **ERITA:** emotion regulation individual therapy for adolescents **NSSI:** nonsuicidal self-injury

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.06.20; peer-reviewed by L McCann, S Thomas; comments to author 06.08.20; revised version received 01.10.20; accepted 16.03.21; published 23.07.21.

Please cite as:

Simonsson O, Engberg H, Bjureberg J, Ljótsson B, Stensils J, Sahlin H, Hellner C Experiences of an Online Treatment for Adolescents With Nonsuicidal Self-injury and Their Caregivers: Qualitative Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e17910 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e17910 doi:10.2196/17910 PMID:34297001

©Olivia Simonsson, Hedvig Engberg, Johan Bjureberg, Brjánn Ljótsson, Julia Stensils, Hanna Sahlin, Clara Hellner. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 23.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is

properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.
Mobile Delivery of Mindfulness-Based Smoking Cessation Treatment Among Low-Income Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Josephine Mhende¹, MPH; Sharrill A Bell¹, MPH; Cherell Cottrell-Daniels¹, MPH; Jackie Luong¹, BS; Micah Streiff¹, MPH; Mark Dannenfelser², MA; Matthew J Hayat¹, PhD; Claire Adams Spears¹, PhD

¹Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA, United States

²Mindfulness Center of Atlanta, Atlanta, GA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Claire Adams Spears, PhD Georgia State University 140 Decatur Street, Suite 400 Atlanta, GA, 30303 United States Phone: 1 404 413 9335 Email: cspears@gsu.edu

Abstract

Background: Smoking is the leading cause of premature death, and low-income adults experience disproportionate burden from tobacco. Mindfulness interventions show promise for improving smoking cessation. A text messaging program "iQuit Mindfully" was developed to deliver just-in-time support for quitting smoking among low-income adults. A pilot study of iQuit Mindfully was conducted in spring 2020, during the COVID-19 pandemic, among low-income and predominantly African American smokers.

Objective: This pilot study examined the acceptability and feasibility of delivering Mindfulness-Based Addiction Treatment via mHealth during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: Participants were adult cigarette smokers (n=23), of whom 8 (34.8%) were female, 19 (82.6%) were African American, and 18 (78.3%) had an annual income of <US \$24,000. They were randomly assigned to either 8 weeks of iQuit Mindfully as a fully automated standalone intervention or iQuit Mindfully in combination with therapist-led in-person group treatment. For participant safety, in-person mindfulness groups were transitioned to the internet and assessments also took place over the internet. Survey questions asked participants about changes in their stress, smoking habits and quit attempts, and their perceptions of the mindfulness and text messaging intervention in the context of the pandemic.

Results: Most participants (n=15 of 21, 71.4%) indicated a change in stress due to the pandemic, of whom 14 (93.3%) indicated higher stress. Participants shared concerns about finances, homelessness, health, and social isolation. Most (n=17 of 21, 80.9%) believed that smoking increases the risk of contracting COVID-19, and although that was motivating for some, others expressed lower motivation to quit smoking because of higher stress. Most (n=18 of 21, 85.7%) stated that practicing mindfulness was helpful during the pandemic. Mean ratings of the helpfulness of text messages and the extent to which they would recommend the program to others were 7.1 (median 8 on a 10-point scale, SD 2.9) and 8.2 (median 9, SD 2.5), respectively. Through open-ended program evaluations, participants shared details about how mindfulness practices and the text messages helped them manage stress and feel a sense of social support during the pandemic. Moreover, 10 of 19 (52.6%) of participants achieved 7-day abstinence from smoking, with no differences between conditions.

Conclusions: This study supports the promise of text messaging and the use of teleconferencing to provide mindfulness and smoking cessation services to underserved populations during a pandemic.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e25926) doi:10.2196/25926

KEYWORDS

RenderX

acceptability; addiction; African American; cessation; COVID-19; feasibility; income; low socioeconomic status; mHealth; mindfulness; minority; smoking; SMS; text messaging; treatment

Introduction

Background

Smoking continues to be the leading cause of premature death in the United States [1]. In 2015, two-thirds of cigarette smokers were motivated to quit smoking, and over half had attempted to quit in the past year [2]. However, only 7.4% of adult smokers were able to quit successfully [2]. Moreover, low-income adults and members of certain racial and ethnic minority groups (eg, African American individuals) are less likely to quit compared to those with a higher socioeconomic status (SES) and White individuals [2,3]. These priority populations also experience a higher prevalence of tobacco-related illnesses and associated mortality [3]. Barriers to quitting smoking among low-SES populations include high stress as well as low social support and self-efficacy [3-5]. Accessible interventions that directly target these barriers among underserved populations are critically needed, and mindfulness-based approaches might be useful in this regard.

Mindfulness-Based Interventions for Diverse Populations

Mindfulness is defined as "paying attention in a particular way: on purpose, in the present moment, and nonjudgmentally" [6]. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials reported that 25.2% of participants receiving mindfulness interventions for smoking cessation were abstinent 4 months after the intervention as compared to 13.6% of participants who received usual care [7]. Mindfulness interventions have been shown to reduce stress [8], improve social relationship functioning [9], and promote self-efficacy for coping with negative emotions without smoking [10]. Furthermore, mindfulness appears to target addiction by weakening associations of stress and cravings with addictive behavior [11-14]. That is, through mindfulness training, people learn to purposefully respond to stress, cravings, and other unpleasant sensations rather than impulsively reacting by smoking. Mindfulness is also speculated to buffer the negative mental and physical health consequences of stress [15]. This is particularly relevant for marginalized populations who disproportionately experience both acute and chronic stressors [16].

Although the majority of mindfulness studies have included relatively affluent and non-Latino White individuals [17], recent studies support the use of mindfulness-based smoking cessation for socioeconomically and racially or ethnically diverse populations [18-20]. There is still much work to be done to extend the reach and cost-effectiveness of mindfulness interventions. For example, Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction [21], Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy [22], and Mindfulness-Based Addiction Treatment (MBAT) [20] involve 8 weekly in-person group sessions, each lasting at least 2 hours. mHealth could be useful for increasing access to mindfulness interventions. In particular, text messaging can provide tailored, just-in-time interventions at relatively low cost. Hence, a mindfulness intervention for smoking cessation "iQuit Mindfully" was implemented with strong feasibility and acceptability among low-income, predominantly African American adults [23]. Text messages were developed and

iteratively refined on the basis of feedback from the target population [24]. They were designed to be personalized and interactive and could be implemented as a standalone program or as a between-session enhancement to in-person MBAT.

Our team conducted an additional pilot study of iQuit Mindfully, both as a standalone intervention and as an enhancement to MBAT, in spring 2020 to further improve the program. Participants were enrolled in January and February 2020 and began the 8-week treatment intervention on February 13, 2020, in Atlanta, Georgia. During this time, the COVID-19 pandemic began to significantly impact the United States. By mid-March 2020, all 50 states reported confirmed COVID-19 cases [25]. At that time, the governor of Georgia declared a Public Health State of Emergency due to COVID-19 and a few weeks thereafter, a mandatory shelter-in-place order was issued statewide. For participant safety, the in-person mindfulness group sessions transitioned on the internet (via WebEx, although participants chose to join via audio only), and all assessments were conducted on the internet.

Health Disparities During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Although the pandemic has impacted people worldwide in countless ways, it introduced public health concerns that uniquely affected our participants, who were predominantly African American smokers from low-SES backgrounds. For example, smoking increases the severity of respiratory illnesses, and the World Health Organization summarized the current evidence by stating that "smokers are more likely to develop severe disease with COVID-19, compared to non-smokers' [26]. Furthermore, low-SES and African American populations have experienced disproportionate burden from COVID-19. African American people have contracted COVID-19 at higher rates and had higher rates of COVID-19-related mortality [27]. For example, African American people with COVID-19 in Chicago were 6-fold more likely to die than their White counterparts [28]. The majority (68%) of COVID-19-related deaths in Chicago were of African American individuals, although they comprised only 30% of Chicago's population [28]. Louisiana reported similar numbers, with African American people representing 70.5% of COVID-19 deaths, although they only accounted for 32.2% of the state's population [29]. In New York City, the initial epicenter in the United States, The Bronx (which had the highest percentage of racial and ethnic minorities and lowest SES of all 5 of the New York City boroughs) had the highest rates of hospitalization (634 per 100,000 population) and COVID-19 deaths (224 per 100,000 population) [30].

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on smoking behavior is still unclear. On one hand, smokers might be more likely to quit owing to concerns of an increased risk of illness with COVID-19. On the other hand, increased stress related to the pandemic could present serious barriers to quitting. For many, the shelter-in-place order meant unemployment, home-schooling, and social isolation. Based on an April 2020 nationally representative survey in the United States, 52% of lower-income adults indicated that they or someone in their household experienced unemployment or a pay reduction because of the outbreak (compared to 32% of those with a higher

income) [31]. Only 23% of lower-income adults had an emergency fund to cover illness, loss of employment, or an economic recession, compared to 48% of middle-income adults and 75% of higher-income adults [31]. Women, African American adults, Hispanic adults, those under 65 years of age, and those without a bachelor's degree were more likely to report financial concerns as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic [31]. Yancy [27] noted that the pandemic will end, but the associated health disparities will continue to be a public health priority.

The Current Study

In efforts to understand participants' experiences with the pandemic (and with the iQuit Mindfully intervention during this time), we added measures to assess their experiences specifically during the COVID-19 pandemic. Survey questions asked participants about changes in their smoking habits and quit attempts as well as their perceptions of the mindfulness and text messaging intervention in the context of the pandemic. Given that mindfulness training has been shown to promote more adaptive responses to stress, and that treatment could be offered through mobile technology during shelter-in-place orders, iQuit Mindfully was expected to be acceptable and feasible during the COVID-19 pandemic. Although this was not the original purpose of the study, the timing of our study and COVID-19-specific assessments provide insights into the experiences of low-income, racial and ethnic minority smokers during this time and could inform future intervention efforts.

Methods

Participants

This study aimed to recruit a racially and ethnically diverse sample of predominantly low-income adult cigarette smokers who were interested in quitting smoking and lived in Greater Atlanta, Georgia. Inclusion criteria were the following: ages 18-65 years; able to speak, read and write in English; smoking at least 5 cigarettes per day; expired carbon monoxide >6 ppm; motivated to quit smoking within 30 days; and at least sixth-grade health literacy (Rapid Estimate of Adult Literacy in Medicine) [32]. Exclusion criteria were as follows: contraindication for nicotine patches, which were provided to them during the study; problematic substance use (Severity of Dependence Scale score >4) [33,34] or a positive response on at least 2 of the 5 Patient Health Questionnaire Alcohol Abuse/Dependence Scale items [35]; clinically significant depressive symptoms (a 2-item Patient Health Questionnaire

score of >3 [36,37]; self-reported diagnosis of schizophrenia or bipolar disorder or the use of antipsychotic medications; and pregnancy or lactation. Individuals currently using tobacco cessation medications and regular (at least weekly) users of tobacco products other than cigarettes were also excluded, although participants were not excluded for the use of e-cigarettes. Individuals did not have to own a mobile phone to participate; they were provided the choice of using their own mobile phone or the one provided to them during the study. This study was approved by the institutional review board of Georgia State University (H19243), and all participants provided written informed consent. This pilot feasibility study was funded by the US National Institutes of Health and is not considered a clinical trial in accordance with the National Institutes of Health's definition [38].

Procedures

Recruitment involved the distribution of study flyers in the metro-Atlanta area (eg, downtown Atlanta, near train and bus stops, in the local community health centers) and posted on the internet (eg, Craigslist and neighborhood listservs). Although eligibility was not determined on the basis of income, low-income adults were targeted for recruitment in the study. Interested individuals completed an initial telephone screening, followed by in-person screening (expired CO and assessment of health literacy, mental health, and alcohol or drug use). After informed consent was obtained and baseline assessment was carried out, participants were randomized into 1 of 2 treatment groups (in-person MBAT treatment + iQuit Mindfully text messages [n=12] or iQuit Mindfully alone [n=11]). Figure 1 shows the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) flow diagram. Stratified block randomization was implemented with block sizes of 4 and stratification by race and poverty status. Coauthor MJH generated the random allocation sequence, using SAS software system (version 9.4, SAS Institute). A research staff member (blinded to the size of the blocks) assigned participants to interventions with opaque sealed envelopes marked in accordance with the allocation schedule. Apart from members of the research team who were unmasked to handle randomization and delivery of the interventions, other study personnel were blinded to the treatment conditions. Participants completed in-person assessments at baseline. Remote assessments were carried out on the internet at weeks 8 (end of treatment), 9 (follow-up), and 10 (COVID-19 survey) owing to shelter-in-place restrictions.



Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram for recruitment, enrollment, and follow-up assessments. CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials, CPD: cigarettes per day, MBAT: Mindfulness-Based Addiction Treatment, NRT: nicotine replacement therapy, REALM: Rapid Estimate of Adult Literacy in Medicine.



Interventions

All participants received self-help material, nicotine patch therapy, and the iQuit Mindfully text messaging program. Participants assigned to the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully condition also received MBAT treatment for 8 weeks. All participants were asked to set a quit date between 7 and 30 days from the start of treatment. Participants were recruited to begin the interventions all at once (rather than on a rolling basis), and the 8-week treatment began on February 13, 2020.

Self-help Material

RenderX

All participants received the National Cancer Institute's "Clearing the Air" smoking cessation booklet, including the

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25926
```

recommendation to call the Tobacco Cessation Quitline (1-800-QUIT-NOW).

Nicotine Patch Therapy

In accordance with the original MBAT protocol [20], all participants were provided nicotine patch therapy for 6 weeks, regardless of treatment condition. Patch therapy for participants who smoked more than 10 cigarettes per day consisted of 21-mg patches for 4 weeks, 14-mg patches for 1 week, and 7-mg patches for 1 week. Patch therapy for participants who smoked 5-10 cigarettes per day consisted of 14-mg patches for 4 weeks and 7-mg patches for 2 weeks. Patch dispensation occurred upon in-person assessment visits. Participants were instructed to apply a new patch each day when they woke up, starting on

their quit date, and they were provided detailed paper-based and verbal instructions on the proper use of the nicotine patch. At week 8, 11 of 18 (61%) participants with complete data reported having used nicotine patches in the past week (6 of 9 [67%] of those in the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully intervention and 5 of 9 [56%] in the iQuit Mindfully intervention alone).

iQuit Mindfully

iQuit Mindfully text messages [23,24] were sent to all participants each day during the 8-week treatment and 1 week of follow-up. The Upland Mobile Messaging platform was used to generate the automated text message system and send and receive text messages. Text messages were based on the MBAT protocol described below and encouraged participants to practice mindfulness (eg, reminders for informal practice, such as awareness of breath throughout the day, and reminders for formal practice such as the body scan and sitting meditation). They also reminded participants to use specific strategies to aid in cessation (eg, removing cues to smoke, reaching out for social support, and trying other coping techniques from the MBAT protocol [20]). The messages were designed to be interactive; that is, participants were asked questions through a series of flow logic, and they could also text the keywords "CRAVE," "STRESS," "SLIP," or "FACT" at any point to receive an immediate response. Participants could also text keywords (including "MIND," "BODY," and "3MIN") to receive a phone call with a short recording of a mindfulness practice.

Messages were personalized on the basis of first names, personal reasons for quitting, and the amount of money to be saved based on individual smoking habits and price paid per pack. Based on feedback from our previous message testing, participants were able to choose the timing and frequency of text messages. Participants chose from several frequency options (ranging from 1-2 to 5-6 per day) as well as a 12-hour time slot of their choice (either 7 AM to 7 PM or 10 AM to 10 PM). Participants were able to change both the frequency and timing at any point throughout the study. Messages were also personalized on the basis of participants' chosen quit dates. Each week they were asked whether they had smoked; if they had smoked and their quit date had passed, participants were encouraged to set a new quit date, which was then updated in the text messaging platform. After the initial set-up on the Upland Mobile Messaging platform, the text message intervention was fully automated.

MBAT

Participants in the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully condition also received 8 weekly 2-hour group sessions, by a certified Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction instructor and licensed professional counselor. The MBAT protocol closely follows Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy procedures but replaces depression material with information on nicotine dependence and quitting smoking [20]. MBAT emphasizes personal mindfulness practice in several forms, including sitting meditation, body scan meditation, walking meditation, eating meditation, and gentle yoga or stretching. The program teaches present-focused awareness of moment-to-moment experiences and promotes the ability to purposefully respond to thoughts, feelings, and situations rather than automatically reacting by smoking. For example, MBAT enables mindful awareness of stress, craving, and challenging situations so that participants can more skillfully respond to unpleasant sensations. The first 5 weekly sessions were delivered in person. Because of shelter-in-place orders due to COVID-19, sessions 6, 7, and 8 were delivered through the WebEx teleconference platform.

Measures

The a priori outcomes for this feasibility study were treatment attendance, retention, and participant feedback on the interventions. Because of the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and our shift to remote intervention and assessment, this study also focuses on participants' experiences specifically in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Program Evaluations

At week 8, participants completed program evaluations to provide their feedback and suggestions for improving the iQuit Mindfully intervention. They were asked the following: "Of all of the text messages that you received as part of this program, how many did you read?" (response options were "None," "Some," "Most," or "All"); "Overall, how helpful were the text messages in getting you to try to quit smoking?" (rated from 1="Not at all helpful" to 10="Extremely helpful"); and "On the scale below, please circle the number that best represents whether you would recommend that other people receive the text messages that you received in this program (or similar texts) as a way to help them quit smoking" (rated from 1="Would not recommend" to 10="Would definitely recommend"). MBAT participants were similarly asked about the extent to which they would recommend the MBAT group sessions to others.

Smoking Abstinence

At weeks 8 and 9, participants were asked, "In the last 7 days, have you smoked even a puff?" Although biochemical confirmation of smoking behavior had been planned for in-person assessments, this was self-reported owing to web-based or telephone surveys. Missing data were not coded as smoking because of the bias often associated with this "missing=smoking" assumption [39].

COVID-19 Survey

At week 10, participants completed a survey of their experiences with stress, smoking, mindfulness practice, and iQuit Mindfully text messages during the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants were asked whether (and how) their level of stress had changed because of the pandemic, with an open-ended follow-up question, "Why do you think your stress level changed?" They were also asked whether their motivation to quit smoking had changed, with a follow-up question of "Why do you think your motivation changed?" Similarly, they were asked about changes in their smoking behavior specifically because of the pandemic, and if so, why. They then answered the following question with a "yes" or "no" response: "Do you think that smoking cigarettes increases a person's chances of getting sick with coronavirus?" The survey also asked whether mindfulness practice was helpful during the pandemic (and if so, how), whether their mindfulness practice had changed since the pandemic, and which mindfulness practices (if any) they had implemented in the past week. Finally, they were asked whether the text messages were helpful

during the pandemic (with responses of "yes" or "no"), and, if so, how.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study sample as well as indicators of feasibility, acceptability, and experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. Illustrative participant quotes were selected from open-ended responses on the program evaluations and the COVID-19 survey.

Results

Participant Characteristics

As shown in Table 1, participants were 23 adult cigarette smokers with a mean age of 52 (SD 9.3) years. Slightly over one-third (n=8, 34.8%) were female, and the majority (n=19, 82.6%) were African American. Most (n=18, 78.3%) reported an annual household income of \langle US \$24,000, and 12 (52.2%) were living below the federal poverty level. At baseline, participants smoked 20.7 (SD 12.2) cigarettes per day, and 10 (43.5%) reported smoking their first cigarette within 5 minutes of waking.



Table 1. Characteristics of the study participant in the 2 intervention groups (N=23).

Cha	racteristics	Overall	MBAT ^a + iQuit Mindfully (n=12)	iQuit Mindfully (n=11)
Age (years), mean (SD)		52.0 (9.3)	51.3 (12.0)	52.7 (5.4)
Fen	nales, n (%)	8 (34.8)	6 (50.0)	2 (18.2)
Race, n (%)				
	African American or Black	19 (82.6)	10 (83.3)	9 (81.8)
	White	3 (13.0)	2 (16.7)	1 (9.1)
	Other	1 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (9.1)
Eth	nicity (Hispanic or Latino), n (%)	1 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (9.1)
An	nual income (US \$), n (%)			
	0-2400	4 (17.4)	3 (25.0)	1 (9.1)
	2401-12,000	9 (39.1)	4 (33.3)	5 (45.5)
	12,001-18,000	3 (13.0)	1 (8.3)	2 (18.2)
	18,001-24,000	2 (8.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (18.2)
	24,001-36,000	2 (8.7)	2 (16.7)	0 (0.0)
	36,001-54,000	3 (13.0)	2 (16.7)	1 (9.1)
Bel	ow the US federal poverty level, n (%)	12 (52.2)	7 (58.3)	5 (45.5)
Edu	ication level, n (%)			
	Less than a high school degree	5 (21.7)	2 (16.7)	3 (27.3)
	High school degree or GED ^b	2 (8.7)	1 (8.3)	1 (9.1)
	Some college or technical school	7 (30.4)	4 (33.3)	3 (27.3)
	Associate degree	3 (13.0)	1 (8.3)	2 (18.2)
	Bachelor's degree	5 (21.7)	4 (33.3)	1 (9.1)
	Some graduate school	1 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (9.1)
Em	ployment status, n (%)			
	Regular full-time work (≥40 hours/week)	3 (13.0)	3 (25.0)	0 (0.0)
	Regular part-time work	2 (8.7)	1 (8.3)	1 (9.1)
	Student	1 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (9.1)
	Unemployed	6 (26.1)	4 (33.3)	2 (18.2)
	Retired	4 (17.4)	1 (8.3)	3 (27.3)
	Unable to work or disabled	6 (26.1)	3 (25.0)	3 (27.3)
	Other (self-employed)	1 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (9.1)
Cig	arettes smoked per day, mean (SD)	20.6 (12.2)	23.2 (15.5)	17.9 (6.8)
Pas	t experience with meditation or yoga, n (%)			
	Yes	11 (47.8)	7 (58.3)	4 (36.4)
	Missing	1 (4.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (9.1)

^aMBAT: Mindfulness-Based Addiction Treatment.

^bGED: General Educational Development.

Retention and Treatment Attendance

Assessment completion rates for the week 8, week 9, and week 10 surveys (all conducted remotely) were 82.6% (n=19), 95.6% (n=22), and 91.3% (n=21), respectively. Among those in the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully intervention, on average participants attended 75% of the first 5 in-person sessions. The median

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25926

XSL•FO

number of in-person sessions attended was 4 of 5. Once treatment transitioned to the internet, participants attended 67% of virtual MBAT sessions (median 2 of 3 virtual sessions attended). Although participants were invited to turn on video mode during the live WebEx sessions, all participants joined via audio only. Participants reported benefits to meeting in this

format, particularly in terms of continued social support and community practice time.

Experiences With Stress in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Most (n=15 of 21, 71.4%) participants indicated a change in stress because of the pandemic, 14 (93.3%) of whom indicated increased stress. Participants stated that heightened stress was related to concerns about finances, housing, health, and social isolation. One participant reported feeling "isolated and worried about the future" [Participant #214, male], and 2 others stated the following:

I became unemployed, uninsured, and homeless. Moving into homelessness with everything shutting down. Needing to find a place to stay. [Participant #215, female]

I was very concerned about catching the virus and how it would [affect] me economically. [Participant #220, male]

Smoking Cessation in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic

At week 8, 10 of 19 (52.6%) participants reported that they had not smoked for the past 7 days (7 of 10 [70.0%] in the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully group and 3 of 9 [33.3%] in the iQuit Mindfully group). At week 9, 11 of 21 (52%) participants reported past 7-day abstinence (6 of 11 [54.5%] in the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully group and 5 of 10 [50.0%] in the iQuit Mindfully group). The majority of participants (n=17 of 21, 80.9%) indicated that they believed that smoking increases the risk of contracting COVID-19.

When asked about their motivation to quit smoking, 8 of 21 (38.1%) participants reported that their motivation had changed specifically because of the pandemic. Of them, 4 (50.0%) indicated higher motivation and 4 (50.0%) indicated lower motivation to quit smoking. The other 13 respondents indicated that they were still motivated to quit but had not done so because of COVID-19. For those whose motivation increased, reasons included the following: "my risk of catching the virus. Smoking weakens my immune system" [Participant #203, female] and "because I am concerned about my health.... Smoking in a stressful situation will make it worse" [Participant #212, male]. Among those who indicated lower motivation to quit because of the pandemic, reasons included the following: "the stress has caused me to buy cigarettes" [Participant #220, male] and "my focus needs to be directed to other things first" [Participant #215, female].

Similarly, 8 of 21 (38.1%) participants indicated that their smoking behavior had changed because of the pandemic. Of them, 2 (25%) reported they "quit smoking because of the virus outbreak" [Participant #219, female; Participant #210, male], 4 (50%) reported that they smoked less, and 2 (25%) reported that they smoked more. Reasons for quitting or reducing their smoking because of the pandemic included "money reasons and health reasons" [Participant #201, male] and the following:

Looking at the larger picture, there is a blessing. Smoking will make the virus worse. I have a positive

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25926
```

mindset that I will overcome any adversity. [Participant #212, male]

It played into quitting. Being sick, not being able to socialize, stress, and coronavirus outbreak played into me wanting to quit smoking. [Participant #210, male]

It's helping my immune system stay strong. [Participant #203, female]

For those who reported smoking more or the same amount during the pandemic, explanations included "stress" [Participant #218, female; Participant #221, female; Participant #220, male] and the following:

I'm trying to quit because I can't keep going out like this. I don't trust this virus. I can't smoke with my asthma, it is dangerous. But when I was not stressed I [did] good with not smoking. [Participant #221, female]

In the past I was able to channel my energy with work. Once the work was gone I was left with no distraction for my efforts to quit smoking. [Participant #220, male]

I'm still trying to slow down. With all that's going on it's not a big priority right now. [Participant #214, male]

Experiences With Mindfulness in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The majority of participants (n=18 of 21, 85.7%) indicated that practicing mindfulness was helpful during the pandemic. Participants shared details about how mindfulness was helpful for them during the pandemic, including "taking a deep breath and thinking about what you want to do" [Participant #204, male] and the following:

It gives me a chance to be with myself. I can get away from what's going on in this house and focus just on me. [Participant #208, male]

At first I did not know how that was going to fit into my everyday life. It has been extremely helpful. I have more time to think about it. The body scan and other mindfulness practices. That stuff is powerful. [Participant #210, male]

Takes me to a quiet place where stress is alleviated. I feel calmer. I feel stronger and more peaceful. Even like my blood pressure has gone down. [Participant #203, female]

Sometimes when I was having racing thoughts, I would take me a walk and some deep breaths. [Participant #219, female]

I've smoked less per day and with more awareness. I've been able to better deal with stress than I thought I would have been able to by practicing breathing and meditation. [Participant #215, female]

When asked about whether their frequency of mindfulness practice had changed since the pandemic, more than half (n=12 of 21, 57.1%) indicated that they practiced mindfulness more, while 5 (23.8%) and 4 (19.1%) practiced mindfulness less. At

XSL•FO RenderX

the week 10 assessment, 21 of 23 (91.3%) participants indicated having practiced mindfulness in the past week. Of the specific practices, the most commonly used ones were sitting meditation (n=13 of 23, 56.5%) and awareness of breath (n=12 of 23, 52.2%). Among participants in the MBAT + iQuit Mindfully group, the average rating of whether they would recommend MBAT to others was 9.1 (median 10 on a 10-point scale, SD 2.0).

Experiences With the Text Messaging Intervention in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Based on the program evaluation, 15 of 19 (78.9%) participants indicated reading most or all the text messages. The average rating of the helpfulness of the text messages for quitting smoking was 7.1 (median 8.0 on a 10-point scale, SD 2.9), and the average rating of the extent to which people would recommend the text messaging program to others was 8.2 (median 9.0 on a 10-point scale, SD 2.5). When they were asked whether the text messages were helpful specifically during the COVID-19 pandemic, 14 of 20 (70.0%) replied with "yes." Example responses describing how the texts were helpful during this time include the following:

I felt like I wasn't alone. I still felt like you all were here to support me. The quick keyword responses helped a lot because I didn't have to wait for a response. [Participant #203, female]

Reminded me not to pick up a cigarette early in the morning. I reach for my cigarette as soon as I wake up so that text was helpful. [Participant #221, female]

Yes, I looked forward to them. It gave me something to look forward to. It helped me feel less stressed. [Participant #202, male]

It was my inspiration that I could go another day without buying a pack of cigarettes. I have some of the messages. [Participant #219, female]

In terms of engagement with the text messages over the course of the study, all participants interacted with the program by either replying to texts, using keywords, or both. Over the course of 9 weeks, the median number of times participants texted the system was 37 (range 10-261). In addition, 14 of 23 (60.9%) participants used at least 1 keyword (eg, "CRAVE," "STRESS," "SLIP," or "FACT") to interact with the program.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Lower-income and African American populations are faced with a disproportionate burden due to the COVID-19 pandemic [40,41]. Moreover, cigarette smoking is more common in low-income communities [3,42] and has been linked with an increased likelihood of contracting severe disease [26,43]. Low-income adults have already had lower health care access before the COVID-19 pandemic, and this is likely exacerbated during the pandemic owing to issues including loss of employment or health insurance; limited access to telemedicine, and other barriers. In this study on low-income, predominantly African American adult smokers, most participants reported

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25926
```

heightened stress because of the pandemic. Specific stressors included homelessness, unemployment, financial concerns, isolation, and worry about the virus. Most participants believed that smoking increased their risk of becoming sick with COVID-19. While this increased motivation among some participants to quit smoking, others indicated lower motivation to quit because of heightened stress during the pandemic.

Our results support the acceptability and feasibility of remotely delivered mindfulness training to address stress and smoking during the pandemic. The retention rate of the web-based assessment time points ranged from 82.6% to 95.6%. Engagement with the mindfulness-based text messaging intervention was high. For those who were receiving group-based mindfulness treatment, attendance was slightly lower in web-based sessions than in the in-person sessions (67% vs 75%, respectively). In program evaluations, participants highlighted the benefits of both mindfulness practice and support from the text messaging intervention in their daily lives. Moreover, at least half of the participants in both treatment arms (mindfulness-based text messaging intervention with or without group treatment) reported achieving 7-day smoking abstinence. Overall, this study supports the promise of text messaging and the use of teleconferencing to provide mindfulness and smoking cessation services to underserved populations during the pandemic. These methods could increase access to evidence-based treatment for underserved populations regardless of pandemic circumstances.

Comparison With Prior Work

Several studies support the utility of both mindfulness and text messaging interventions for smoking cessation before the pandemic [7,44]. Evidence also supports the efficacy of smartphone apps that advocate mindful acceptance for smoking cessation [45]. Moreover, extant research suggests that mHealth smoking cessation interventions are promising among low- and middle-income countries [46,47], bolstering the notion that mHealth is a viable strategy for targeting smokers with lower socioeconomic resources. While our feasibility study is limited by its small sample size, the rates of self-reported smoking cessation were adequately high. Nine weeks after the start of treatment, 5 of 11 (45.5%) iQuit Mindfully participants and 6 of 11 (54.5%) MBAT participants (all of whom received the iQuit Mindfully text messaging intervention) reported complete abstinence from smoking for the past 7 days. Although not directly comparable because of methodological differences, self-reported 7-day abstinence rates for other text messaging smoking cessation programs have ranged from 20% to 33% [48,49]. For reference, approximately 7% of adult smokers in the United States successfully quit smoking in 2015 [2].

As with our study participants, other studies have reported high levels of stress and distress during the COVID-19 pandemic [50,51]. In particular, African American people have reported higher health concerns related to COVID-19 compared to White people [52]. Low-income and African American communities have already been experiencing a higher prevalence of financial strain, racism, discrimination, and numerous other stressors before the pandemic. Preexisting inequities including lower health care access, higher prevalence of chronic illnesses,

low-wage jobs with fewer opportunities to work from home, and lower access to telehealth services have increased during the COVID-19 pandemic [53,54]. Accordingly, community leaders in collaboration with other stakeholders are seeking solutions to help address and process trauma and stress for communities of color. For example, researchers in Michigan have implemented mindfulness and other wellness programs to reduce stress and promote resilience in African American communities during the COVID-19 pandemic [55].

Participants' descriptions of their experiences with mindfulness and text messaging dovetail with findings from qualitative studies conducted before the pandemic. In previous iterations of the iQuit Mindfully program, participants similarly noted that mindfulness helped them cope with stress, and that the text messages provided important reminders and social support [23,24]. In other text messaging programs for smoking cessation, participants have also highlighted a sense of emotional support [56,57]. In addition, several studies support the utility of mindfulness for addressing mental health among low-income and African American communities [58,59]. Such interventions could be especially relevant in the context of heightened stress during the pandemic.

Digital health interventions involving mindfulness are now being developed and evaluated to address mental health challenges during the pandemic. For example, a web-based intervention is being developed to include mindfulness and cognitive-behavioral skills for addressing COVID-19–related stress [60]. Another study aims to implement a web-based version of a breathing and yoga program for health care workers to reduce anxiety, depression, and insomnia as a result of the pandemic [61]. As this research area grows, it will be important to ensure that effective technologies are accessible to low-income and racial or ethnic minority populations.

Limitations

This pilot study is limited by its small sample size, lack of biochemical confirmation of smoking status, and short follow-up period (1 week after the end of the program or 9 weeks after the start of treatment). Subgroup analyses could not be conducted owing to the small sample size, but future larger studies might examine whether income or other sociodemographic variables moderate the effectiveness of the intervention. In-person expired carbon monoxide assessment was conducted at baseline but could not be conducted once all procedures became remote owing to the implemented social distancing measures. Nonetheless, this is a timely study on strategies to reach underserved populations when participants experienced heightened stress but were not able to access in-person services. This study could help inform clinicians and researchers working under similar circumstances.

Conclusions

This study supports the feasibility of a remotely delivered mindfulness intervention to address stress and smoking among low-income adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study adds to the relatively small but growing body of research supporting the utility of mindfulness training among low-income and racial or ethnic minority populations. Moreover, mHealth tools could greatly enhance the accessibility of mindfulness interventions for diverse populations. Well-established mindfulness programs typically involve substantial costs and resources (eg, 8 weekly 2-2.5–hour in-person sessions). Text messaging appears to be a low-cost way to provide in-the-moment support to promote well-being in high-stress contexts. This approach could increase treatment access among populations at a higher risk of experiencing adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and other difficult contexts.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the National Cancer Center (R01CA237004442). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. The authors are grateful to the study participants for their time and feedback throughout the study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Editorial Notice

This randomized study was not registered; the study was funded by the US National Institutes of Health (National Cancer Institute), and NCI provided specific guidance for why this study does not fit the clinical trial definition (ie, the focus is on acceptability/feasibility). The editor granted an exception from ICMJE rules mandating prospective registration of randomized trials because the risk of bias appears low and the study was considered formative. However, readers are advised to carefully assess the validity of any potential explicit or implicit claims related to primary outcomes or effectiveness, as retrospective registration does not prevent authors from changing their outcome measures retrospectively.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 3584 KB - formative v5i7e25926 app1.pdf]

References

XSL•	FO
Rend	erX

- National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (US) Office on Smoking and Health. The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General. US Public Health Services 2014:1-943. [Medline: <u>24455788</u>]
- Babb S, Malarcher A, Schauer G, Asman K, Jamal A. Quitting Smoking Among Adults United States, 2000-2015. MMWR Morbidity Mortality Weekly Report 2017 Jan 06;65(52):1457-1464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6552a1] [Medline: 28056007]
- A Socioecological Approach to Addressing Tobacco-Related Health Disparities. National Cancer Institute: Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences. 2017. URL: <u>https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/sites/default/files/2020-08/</u> <u>m22_complete.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-27]
- 4. Hiscock R, Bauld L, Amos A, Fidler JA, Munafò M. Socioeconomic status and smoking: a review. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2012 Feb;1248:107-123. [doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06202.x] [Medline: 22092035]
- Businelle MS, Kendzor DE, Reitzel LR, Costello TJ, Cofta-Woerpel L, Li Y, et al. Mechanisms linking socioeconomic status to smoking cessation: a structural equation modeling approach. Health Psychology 2010 May;29(3):262-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0019285] [Medline: 20496980]
- 6. Kabat-Zinn J. Wherever You Go, There You Are: Mindfulness Meditation in Everyday Life. New York, NY: Hachette Books; 1994.
- Oikonomou MT, Arvanitis M, Sokolove RL. Mindfulness training for smoking cessation: A meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. Journal of Health Psychology 2017 Dec;22(14):1841-1850. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316637667] [Medline: 27044630]
- 8. Gotink RA, Chu P, Busschbach JJV, Benson H, Fricchione GL, Hunink MGM. Standardised mindfulness-based interventions in healthcare: an overview of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs. PLoS One 2015;10(4):e0124344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124344] [Medline: 25881019]
- Lindsay EK, Young S, Brown KW, Smyth JM, Creswell JD. Mindfulness training reduces loneliness and increases social contact in a randomized controlled trial. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2019 Feb 26;116(9):3488-3493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1813588116] [Medline: 30808743]
- Spears CA, Hedeker D, Li L, Wu C, Anderson NK, Houchins SC, et al. Mechanisms underlying mindfulness-based addiction treatment versus cognitive behavioral therapy and usual care for smoking cessation. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 2017 Nov;85(11):1029-1040 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000229] [Medline: 28650195]
- Brewer JA, Elwafi HM, Davis JH. Craving to quit: psychological models and neurobiological mechanisms of mindfulness training as treatment for addictions. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors 2013 Jun;27(2):366-379 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0028490] [Medline: 22642859]
- 12. Elwafi HM, Witkiewitz K, Mallik S, Thornhill TA, Brewer JA. Mindfulness training for smoking cessation: moderation of the relationship between craving and cigarette use. Drug Alcohol Dependence 2013 Jun 01;130(1-3):222-229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.11.015] [Medline: 23265088]
- Adams CE, Cano MA, Heppner WL, Stewart DW, Correa-Fernández V, Vidrine JI, et al. Testing a Moderated Mediation Model of Mindfulness, Psychosocial Stress, and Alcohol Use among African American Smokers. Mindfulness (N Y) 2015 Apr;6(2):315-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-013-0263-1] [Medline: 25848408]
- Spears CA, Li L, Wu C, Vinci C, Heppner WL, Hoover DS, et al. Mechanisms linking mindfulness and early smoking abstinence: An ecological momentary assessment study. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors 2019 May;33(3):197-207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/adb0000451] [Medline: 30829517]
- 15. Creswell JD, Lindsay EK. How Does Mindfulness Training Affect Health? A Mindfulness Stress Buffering Account. Current Directions in Psychological Science 2014 Dec 16;23(6):401-407. [doi: 10.1177/0963721414547415]
- Myers HF. Ethnicity- and socio-economic status-related stresses in context: an integrative review and conceptual model. Journal of Behavioral Medicine 2009 Feb;32(1):9-19. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-008-9181-4</u>] [Medline: <u>18989769</u>]
- Waldron E, Hong S, Moskowitz J, Burnett-Zeigler I. A Systematic Review of the Demographic Characteristics of Participants in US-Based Randomized Controlled Trials of Mindfulness-Based Interventions. Mindfulness 2018 Mar 12;9(6):1671-1692 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-018-0920-5]
- Davis JM, Goldberg SB, Anderson MC, Manley AR, Smith SS, Baker TB. Randomized trial on mindfulness training for smokers targeted to a disadvantaged population. Substance Use and Misuse 2014 Apr;49(5):571-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/10826084.2013.770025] [Medline: 24611852]
- Davis JM, Manley AR, Goldberg SB, Smith SS, Jorenby DE. Randomized trial comparing mindfulness training for smokers to a matched control. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 2014 Sep;47(3):213-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsat.2014.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>24957302</u>]
- 20. Vidrine JI, Spears CA, Heppner WL, Reitzel LR, Marcus MT, Cinciripini PM, et al. Efficacy of mindfulness-based addiction treatment (MBAT) for smoking cessation and lapse recovery: A randomized clinical trial. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 2016 Sep;84(9):824-838 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000117] [Medline: 27213492]
- 21. Kabat-Zinn J. Full Catastrophe Living: Using the Wisdom of Your Body and Mind to Face. New York, NY: Delta; 1990.
- 22. Segal Z, Williams J, Teasdale J. Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy for Depression, Second Edition. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; 2013.

- Spears CA, Abroms LC, Glass CR, Hedeker D, Eriksen MP, Cottrell-Daniels C, et al. Mindfulness-Based Smoking Cessation Enhanced With Mobile Technology (iQuit Mindfully): Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jun 24;7(6):e13059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13059] [Medline: 31237242]
- 24. Spears CA, Bell SA, Scarlett CA, Anderson NK, Cottrell-Daniels C, Lotfalian S, et al. Text Messaging to Enhance Mindfulness-Based Smoking Cessation Treatment: Program Development Through Qualitative Research. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 07;7(1):e11246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11246] [Medline: 30617043]
- CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Geographic Differences in COVID-19 Cases, Deaths, and Incidence United States, February 12-April 7, 2020. MMWR Morbidity Mortality Weekly Report 2020 Apr 17;69(15):465-471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6915e4] [Medline: 32298250]
- 26. WHO statement: Tobacco use and COVID-19. World Health Organization. 2020 May 11. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/11-05-2020-who-statement-tobacco-use-and-covid-19</u> [accessed 2021-04-06]
- 27. Yancy CW. COVID-19 and African Americans. JAMA 2020 May 19;323(19):1891-1892. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.6548</u>] [Medline: <u>32293639</u>]
- 28. Reyes C, Husain N, Gutowski C, St. Clair S. Chicago's coronavirus disparity: Black Chicagoans are dying at nearly six times the rate of white residents, data show. Chicago Tribune. 2020 Apr 07. URL: <u>https://www.chicagotribune.com/</u> <u>coronavirus/</u>

<u>ct-coronavirus-chicago-coronavirus-deaths-demographics-lightfoot-20200406-77nlylhiavgjzb2wa4ckivh7mu-story.html</u> [accessed 2021-05-27]

- 29. Deslatte M. Louisiana data: Virus hits blacks, people with hypertension. The Associated Press. 2020 Apr 07. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/cde897293f88f788d3f3bfdb3d46c466#:~:text=BATON%20ROUGE%2C%20La.</u> <u>suffered%20from%20high%20blood%20pressure</u> [accessed 2021-05-27]
- Wadhera RK, Wadhera P, Gaba P, Figueroa JF, Joynt Maddox KE, Yeh RW, et al. Variation in COVID-19 Hospitalizations and Deaths Across New York City Boroughs. JAMA 2020 Jun 02;323(21):2192-2195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.7197] [Medline: 32347898]
- 31. Parker K, Horowitz J, Brown A. About Half of Lower-Income Americans Report Household Job or Wage Loss Due to COVID-19. Pew Research Center. 2020 Apr 21. URL: <u>https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2020/04/21/</u> <u>about-half-of-lower-income-americans-report-household-job-or-wage-loss-due-to-covid-19/#fn-28372-1</u> [accessed 2021-04-06]
- 32. Davis TC, Crouch MA, Long SW, Jackson RH, Bates P, George RB, et al. Rapid assessment of literacy levels of adult primary care patients. Family Medicine 1991 Aug;23(6):433-435. [Medline: <u>1936717</u>]
- Gossop M, Best D, Marsden J, Strang J. Test-retest reliability of the Severity of Dependence Scale. Addiction 1997 Mar;92(3):353. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1360-0443.1997.tb03205.x</u>] [Medline: <u>9219397</u>]
- 34. Gossop M, Darke S, Griffiths P, Hando J, Powis B, Hall W, et al. The Severity of Dependence Scale (SDS): psychometric properties of the SDS in English and Australian samples of heroin, cocaine and amphetamine users. Addiction 1995 May;90(5):607-614. [doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.1995.9056072.x] [Medline: 7795497]
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. JAMA 1999 Nov 10;282(18):1737-1744. [doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737] [Medline: 10568646]
- 36. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The Patient Health Questionnaire-2: validity of a two-item depression screener. Medical Care 2003 Nov;41(11):1284-1292. [doi: 10.1097/01.MLR.0000093487.78664.3C] [Medline: 14583691]
- 37. Löwe B, Kroenke K, Gräfe K. Detecting and monitoring depression with a two-item questionnaire (PHQ-2). Journal of Psychosomatic Research 2005 Feb;58(2):163-171. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.09.006</u>] [Medline: <u>15820844</u>]
- 38. NIH Definition of Clinical Trial Case Studies. National Institutes of Health. URL: <u>https://grants.nih.gov/policy/clinical-trials/</u> <u>case-studies.htm</u> [accessed 2021-04-06]
- 39. Hedeker D, Mermelstein RJ, Demirtas H. Analysis of binary outcomes with missing data: missing = smoking, last observation carried forward, and a little multiple imputation. Addiction 2007 Oct;102(10):1564-1573. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01946.x] [Medline: 17854333]
- Laurencin CT, McClinton A. The COVID-19 Pandemic: a Call to Action to Identify and Address Racial and Ethnic Disparities. Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 2020 Jun;7(3):398-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00756-0] [Medline: 32306369]
- 41. Wang Z, Tang K. Combating COVID-19: health equity matters. Nature Medicine 2020 Apr;26(4):458. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0823-6] [Medline: 32284617]
- 42. Drope J, Liber AC, Cahn Z, Stoklosa M, Kennedy R, Douglas CE, et al. Who's still smoking? Disparities in adult cigarette smoking prevalence in the United States. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 2018 Mar;68(2):106-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21444] [Medline: 29384589]
- 43. Liu W, Tao Z, Wang L, Yuan M, Liu K, Zhou L, et al. Analysis of factors associated with disease outcomes in hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus disease. Chinese Medical Journal (Engl) 2020 May 05;133(9):1032-1038 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CM9.00000000000775] [Medline: 32118640]

- 44. Whittaker R, McRobbie H, Bullen C, Rodgers A, Gu Y, Dobson R. Mobile phone text messaging and app-based interventions for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019 Oct 22;10:CD006611 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006611.pub5] [Medline: 31638271]
- Bricker JB, Watson NL, Mull KE, Sullivan BM, Heffner JL. Efficacy of Smartphone Applications for Smoking Cessation: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Internal Medicine 2020 Nov 01;180(11):1472-1480. [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.4055] [Medline: <u>32955554</u>]
- 46. Liao Y, Wu Q, Kelly BC, Zhang F, Tang Y, Wang Q, et al. Effectiveness of a text-messaging-based smoking cessation intervention ("Happy Quit") for smoking cessation in China: A randomized controlled trial. PLoS Medicine 2018 Dec;15(12):e1002713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002713] [Medline: 30562352]
- Durmaz S, Ergin I, Durusoy R, Hassoy H, Caliskan A, Okyay P. WhatsApp embedded in routine service delivery for smoking cessation: effects on abstinence rates in a randomized controlled study. BMC Public Health 2019 Apr 08;19(1):387
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6727-z] [Medline: 30961557]
- 48. Abroms LC, Boal AL, Simmens SJ, Mendel JA, Windsor RA. A randomized trial of Text2Quit: a text messaging program for smoking cessation. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2014 Sep;47(3):242-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.04.010] [Medline: 24913220]
- Augustson E, Cole-Lewis H, Sanders A, Schwarz M, Geng Y, Coa K, et al. Analysing user-reported data for enhancement of SmokefreeTXT: a national text message smoking cessation intervention. Tobacco Control 2017 Nov;26(6):683-689. [doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-052945] [Medline: 27852892]
- 50. Droit-Volet S, Gil S, Martinelli N, Andant N, Clinchamps M, Parreira L, COVISTRESS network, et al. Time and Covid-19 stress in the lockdown situation: Time free, «Dying» of boredom and sadness. PLoS One 2020;15(8):e0236465 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236465] [Medline: 32776990]
- Park CL, Russell BS, Fendrich M, Finkelstein-Fox L, Hutchison M, Becker J. Americans' COVID-19 Stress, Coping, and Adherence to CDC Guidelines. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2020 Aug;35(8):2296-2303 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05898-9] [Medline: 32472486]
- 52. Pew RC. Health Concerns from COVID-19 Much Higher Among Hispanics and Blacks than Whites: Methodology. Pew Research Center. 2020 Apr 14. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2020/04/14/</u> coronavirus-health-impact-methodology/ [accessed 2021-04-06]
- 53. Fortuna LR, Tolou-Shams M, Robles-Ramamurthy B, Porche MV. Inequity and the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on communities of color in the United States: The need for a trauma-informed social justice response. Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy 2020 Jul;12(5):443-445. [doi: 10.1037/tra0000889] [Medline: 32478545]
- 54. Henry Akintobi T, Jacobs T, Sabbs D, Holden K, Braithwaite R, Johnson LN, et al. Community Engagement of African Americans in the Era of COVID-19: Considerations, Challenges, Implications, and Recommendations for Public Health. Preventing Chronic Disease 2020 Aug 13;17:E83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd17.200255] [Medline: 32790605]
- Sneed RS, Key K, Bailey S, Johnson-Lawrence V. Social and psychological consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic in African-American communities: Lessons from Michigan. Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy 2020 Jul;12(5):446-448. [doi: 10.1037/tra0000881] [Medline: 32525371]
- Grau LE, Pham T, O'Leary T, Weiss J, Toll B, Bernstein SL. Smokers' Perspectives on Texting for Tobacco Dependence Treatment: A Qualitative Analysis. Nicotine & Tobacco Research 2017 Mar 01;19(3):307-313. [doi: <u>10.1093/ntr/ntw184</u>] [Medline: <u>27613935</u>]
- Douglas N, Free C. 'Someone batting in my corner': experiences of smoking-cessation support via text message. British Journal of General Practice 2013 Nov;63(616):e768-e776 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp13X674459] [Medline: 24267860]
- Burnett-Zeigler IE, Satyshur MD, Hong S, Yang A, T Moskowitz J, Wisner KL. Mindfulness based stress reduction adapted for depressed disadvantaged women in an urban Federally Qualified Health Center. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice 2016 Nov;25:59-67. [doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2016.08.007] [Medline: 27863611]
- 59. Szanton SL, Wenzel J, Connolly AB, Piferi RL. Examining mindfulness-based stress reduction: perceptions from minority older adults residing in a low-income housing facility. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine 2011 May 31;11:44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-11-44] [Medline: 21627807]
- 60. Bäuerle A, Graf J, Jansen C, Musche V, Schweda A, Hetkamp M, et al. E-mental health mindfulness-based and skills-based 'CoPE It' intervention to reduce psychological distress in times of COVID-19: study protocol for a bicentre longitudinal study. BMJ Open 2020 Aug 13;10(8):e039646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039646] [Medline: 32792455]
- 61. Lai KSP, Watt C, Ionson E, Baruss I, Forchuk C, Sukhera J, et al. Breath Regulation and yogic Exercise An online Therapy for calm and Happiness (BREATH) for frontline hospital and long-term care home staff managing the COVID-19 pandemic: A structured summary of a study protocol for a feasibility study for a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2020 Jul 14;21(1):648 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04583-w] [Medline: 32665041]

Abbreviations

RenderX

MBAT: Mindfulness-Based Addiction Treatment



SES: socioeconomic status

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.11.20; peer-reviewed by Y Liao, N Guo; comments to author 03.02.21; revised version received 24.02.21; accepted 19.05.21; published 23.07.21.

Please cite as:

Mhende J, Bell SA, Cottrell-Daniels C, Luong J, Streiff M, Dannenfelser M, Hayat MJ, Spears CA Mobile Delivery of Mindfulness-Based Smoking Cessation Treatment Among Low-Income Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e25926 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e25926 doi:10.2196/25926 PMID:34033580

©Josephine Mhende, Sharrill A Bell, Cherell Cottrell-Daniels, Jackie Luong, Micah Streiff, Mark Dannenfelser, Matthew J Hayat, Claire Adams Spears. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 23.07.2021. This is an distributed open-access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Acceptability and Feasibility of the Transfer of Face-to-Face Group Therapy to Online Group Chats in a Psychiatric Outpatient Setting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Longitudinal Observational Study

Julia Scholl¹; Elisabeth Kohls^{1,2}, PhD; Frauke Görges², PhD; Marc Steinbrecher², MSc; Sabrina Baldofski¹, PhD; Markus Moessner³, PhD; Christine Rummel-Kluge^{1,2}, MD

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Faculty, Leipzig University, Leipzig, Germany

²Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Universitätsklinikum Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany

³Center for Psychotherapy Research, Universitätsklinikum Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Christine Rummel-Kluge, MD Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy Universitätsklinikum Leipzig Semmelweisstraße 10 Haus 13 Leipzig, 04103 Germany Phone: 49 3419724464 Email: <u>Christine.Rummel-Kluge@medizin.uni-leipzig.de</u>

Abstract

Background: At the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, several mental health care providers were obliged to shut down outpatient services, including group therapy and psychoeducational sessions. The lockdown in many countries is a serious threat to people's mental well-being, especially for individuals with severe mental illnesses. Discontinued outpatient treatments and disruption of daily routines are considered to be risk factors for destabilization of patients with mental illness.

Objective: The aim of this study was to evaluate the acceptability, usability, and feasibility of a group chat program to replace cancelled face-to-face group sessions in an outpatient psychiatric department.

Methods: Participants (N=33) were recruited in the outpatient department of a large university medical center in Leipzig, Germany. Former face-to-face group participants were invited to take part in a therapist-guided group-chat for 4 weeks (8 sessions) and were asked to evaluate the program via self-administered standardized questionnaires at baseline (T0, preintervention), after every chat session (T1), and posttreatment (T2, after 4-6 weeks). The chat groups were specific to the following mental disorder diagnoses and based on the same therapeutic principles and techniques as the former face-to-face groups: anxiety, depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Sociodemographic measures, attitudes toward the COVID-19 pandemic, depressive symptoms (Patient Health Questionnaire-9), quality of life (abbreviated World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment), treatment credibility/expectancy (Credibility Expectancy Questionnaire), and participants' satisfaction (Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8 [ZUF-8]) were measured.

Results: Participants joined an average of 5 out of 8 offered chat sessions. Participation rates in the respective groups were highest in the ADHD group (8.6/11, 78%) and lowest in the anxiety group (3.7/9, 41%). The overall preintervention level of depressive symptoms was moderate and showed a slight, nonsignificant improvement at posttreatment (T0: mean 10.7, SD 5.5; T2: mean 10.2, SD 5.5). A similar result was observed regarding quality of life (T0: median 41.7-68.8; T2: median 50-70.3). Treatment credibility and expectancy scores were medium-high (T0: mean_{credibility} 18.1, SD 3.8; mean_{expectancy} 11.2, SD 5.1; T2: mean_{credibility} 17.1, SD 4.8; mean_{expectancy} 10.3, SD 5.8). Further, significant correlations were detected between posttreatment expectancy score and posttreatment PHQ-9 score (r=-0.41, P=.02), posttreatment physical quality of life (r=0.54, P=.001), and posttreatment psychological quality of life (r=0.53, P=.002). Overall, participants' satisfaction with the program was very high, both after chat sessions and at posttreatment (ZUF-8: mean score 20.6, SD 1.0). Of all participants, a majority (27/31, 87%) rated the program as excellent/good and indicated they would recommend the group chat program to a friend in need of similar help (23/31, 74%).

Conclusions: A therapist-guided group chat program to substitute outpatient group setting treatment during the COVID-19 lockdown was shown to be feasible, usable, and highly acceptable for participants. Web-based programs such as this one provide an easy-to-implement tool to successfully stabilize participants during a difficult time, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Trial Registration: German Clinical Trials Register DRKS00021527; https://tinyurl.com/3btyxc2r

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27865) doi:10.2196/27865

KEYWORDS

online; group chats; COVID-19 pandemic; psychiatric outpatient setting; online interventions; e-mental health; COVID-19; pandemic; mental health; psychoeducation; online chat

Introduction

E-mental health and web-based interventions, as in, the provision of psychosocial or psychotherapeutic support through information and communication technologies, have emerged as an important area in psychotherapy service and research over the past decade [1-3]. The worldwide COVID-19 pandemic was an unexpected situation for most health care providers. In an attempt to reduce the risk of infections and due to governmental restrictions, many health care providers in afflicted countries drastically reduced outpatient treatment options for patients who were in need of outpatient face-to-face therapy, increasing the need to quickly implement other treatment options to support patients [4-6].

This need to find rapid solutions was further amplified by other problems caused by the pandemic and by government restrictions, such as fear and "lockdown loneliness," which may increase the likelihood of deterioration and crises among individuals with impaired mental health [7,8]. Lockdown loneliness occurs because of required physical distancing, social isolation, and quarantine. For individuals with mental illnesses, it was necessary to discontinue many stabilizing factors during the pandemic, such as social contacts, group therapy, and face-to-face psychotherapy, leaving this group particularly vulnerable.

To address these challenges, an urgent need arose for treatment options that incorporated both therapeutic interventions and social interaction. Due to the extensive government restrictions, e-mental health interventions appeared to be the most promising approach.

Various web-based solutions had already been developed and thoroughly researched before the pandemic; however, these solutions encountered certain barriers when being implemented in routine care [9,10], especially due to the lack of acceptance by health care professionals themselves [11]. Because professionals were now forced to apply web-based technologies, it was predicted that the COVID-19 pandemic could be a turning point for e-mental health care [5].

During the pandemic lockdown, the face-to-face therapist-guided self-management groups in our psychiatric outpatient department were transformed into online group chats, similar to online support groups. These groups have been shown to be accessible and popular [12,13] and have potential to provide valuable support to individuals with depression as well as other common mental disorders [14]. Recent studies suggest that such support groups may improve mental health outcomes [15,16] and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27865

increase users' sense of empowerment, self-esteem, and perceived quality of life [17].

The aim of this study is to investigate the acceptability, usability, feasibility, and user satisfaction of a therapist-guided online group-chat program as a substitute treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic. The mental state of the participants and their behavior regarding the use of support offers were assessed. The program was intended to stabilize patients' mental condition during the high-risk situation of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

Study Design

This longitudinal, observational prospective study evaluates a therapist-guided group chat intervention that was developed to replace face-to-face therapist-guided self-management group sessions during the lockdown phase of the COVID-19 pandemic. Groups were diagnosis-specific for participants with anxiety, depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), and adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), respectively. The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig (133/20-ek, 03/2020) and is registered in the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00021527).

Participants and Recruitment

Recruitment of participants started after the psychiatric outpatient department was forced to close and the face-to-face self-management group sessions could no longer take place due to governmental regulations in Germany during the COVID-19 pandemic in April and May 2020. Patients who were receiving treatment at the outpatient department and were part of the established diagnosis-specific psychoeducation and support groups were asked by their therapist whether they wanted to participate in online group chat sessions as a substitute treatment during the lockdown. The inclusion criteria were age 18 years or older, current treatment in the psychiatric outpatient department, former participation in group sessions, adequate understanding of the German language, sufficient sight and reading ability, internet access, and an e-mail address. There were no exclusion criteria. Participants were informed via telephone by their therapist about the group chat program and gave consent via telephone, followed by written informed consent. Paper-and-pencil questionnaires were sent as a small booklet via regular mail to all participants before the start of the intervention. After completing the intervention, participants sent back the questionnaires by prepaid return envelope. An

XSL•FO RenderX

e-mail reminder system to ensure the return of the completed assessments was implemented.

Through this process, 38 participants were included in the study, with an age range of 19-66 years and a mean age of 39.44 years (SD 12.28). The sample comprised an even gender distribution (female: 20/38, 53%; male: 18/38, 47%). The data of N=33 participants was analyzed (n=3 missing data; n=2 dropouts). Additionally, the posttreatment evaluation of 2 participants was filled in insufficiently, and therefore their data could not be analyzed.

Chat Intervention

The intervention consisted of 8 chat sessions over a duration of 4 weeks. Sessions were scheduled twice a week at fixed times during April and May 2020 and lasted between 60 and 90 minutes. Sessions were moderated by psychotherapists from the outpatient department, who were experienced in administering group therapy and psychoeducation and who had also led the respective face-to-face group sessions before the lockdown. The website and general program for the chats already existed and was customized for our study. Participants needed to log in with a username and secure password to ensure data security. Screenshots of the interface can be seen in Multimedia Appendix 1. As the participants and therapists knew each other personally from the former face-to-face group sessions, chat sessions were (after agreement by all participants) not held anonymously. There were 4 chat groups by diagnosis: anxiety (n=9), depression (n=10), OCD (n=8), and ADHD (n=11). The same classification was used as in the preexisting groups. During chat sessions, participants and therapists were able to communicate by written messages and basic emojis. Therapists were asked to apply techniques equivalent to those they would apply in a face-to-face setting. There was a concrete and manualized psychoeducational theme schedule, although the therapists adapted the topics in the individual chats to participant suggestions or current problems. Additionally, the therapists moderated the exchanges between participants about their own experiences with their disorder as well as coping strategies for everyday life. The main objective of the chats was to stabilize and monitor participants' mental situation and behavior. In cases of severe crisis or suicidal ideation, therapists were asked to perform the standard operating procedure from the outpatient department, adapted to the remote situation. It was not mandatory to participate in all 8 chat sessions.

Measures

Outcomes were measured through self-report questionnaires (paper-and-pencil in a booklet) filled in by participants and sent back via regular mail. Assessments were conducted at baseline (T0, preintervention), after every chat session (T1), and posttreatment (T2, after 4-6 weeks).

Sociodemographic Measures

Participants were asked questions about basic sociodemographic characteristics, such as marital status, living situation, parenthood, employment status, and changes in employment due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Satisfaction

After each chat session, the participants were asked to fill out an adapted 5-item version of the Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8 (ZUF-8) [18,19] to measure their satisfaction with the sessions. A full 8-item version of the ZUF-8 was administered at the posttreatment evaluation. All items were measured on 4-point Likert scales. The total sum scores at the posttreatment evaluation ranged from 8 to 32, with higher scores indicating higher satisfaction. The reliability of the ZUF-8 is generally high, and its internal consistency is sufficient [18].

Depressive Symptoms

The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) [20-22] was administered at baseline evaluation and posttreatment to assess symptoms of depression. Symptoms were rated by 9 items on a 4-point Likert scale from 0, not at all, to 3, nearly every day. The total sum score ranges from 0 to 27, with higher scores indicating higher levels of depressive symptoms. The scores were categorized by levels of severity. Reliability and validity studies of the tool have indicated that it has sound psychometric properties. The internal consistency of the PHQ-9 has been shown to be high [20].

Quality of Life

The abbreviated World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment (WHOQOL-BREF) [23,24] was used to measure the participants' quality of life at baseline and posttreatment. The 26 items on satisfaction with certain areas of life were rated on 5-point Likert scales from 1, not at all, to 5, extremely. The questions were divided into 4 different domains of quality of life: physical, psychological, social, and environmental. For each of those domains, an index was calculated, ranging from 0 to 100, with higher index scores representing higher quality of life. The WHOQOL-BREF has shown good discriminant validity, content validity, test-retest reliability, and internal consistency [23].

Treatment Expectancy and Credibility

To measure treatment credibility, participants completed the Credibility Expectancy Questionnaire (CEQ) [25] at baseline and posttreatment. The CEQ was translated using a back-translation procedure, and the wording was adapted slightly to the online format of the intervention. The questionnaire includes a credibility factor (3 items) and an expectancy factor (3 items). For the credibility factor, all items were measured on a rating scale of 1 to 9. Items 1 and 3 of the expectancy factor used an 11-point scale, from 0% to 100%, and item 2 also used a 1-9 rating scale. After transforming the percentage scales, the total sums of the scores for credibility and expectancy ranged from 3 to 27, with higher scores indicating a higher credibility/expectancy. The CEQ has demonstrated high test-retest reliability and adequate internal consistency [25].

Use of Other Support Services

In the posttreatment questionnaire, several items were included to inquire as to which supportive offers were used by the participants other than the group chat sessions (eg, offers by the psychiatric outpatient department, social media, or other internet-based support forums). The outpatient department



additionally offered a hotline for patients with severe mental crises.

The primary outcome measure was defined as the participants' satisfaction measured by the ZUF-8 at posttreatment as well as after every chat session. Secondary outcome measures were defined as the participants' quality of life (WHOQOL-BREF), depressive symptoms (PHQ-9), and treatment credibility and expectancy (CEQ).

Statistical Analysis

First, descriptive statistics were determined for socioeconomic variables, changes in employment due to the COVID-19 pandemic, symptoms of depression, quality of life, treatment expectancy/credibility, and participants' satisfaction. Second, potential differences between depressive symptoms at baseline and posttreatment were tested with a t test for paired samples. For the different domains of quality of life (WHOQOL-BREF), Wilcoxon tests (nonparametric paired groups) were administered, because the tests for normal distribution (Shapiro-Wilks test) showed that the values of this outcome were not distributed normally. Finally, the correlations between treatment credibility/expectancy at baseline and posttreatment (credibility and expectancy factors of the CEQ) and posttreatment outcome (depressive symptoms of the PHQ-9 and quality of life of the WHOQOL-BREF) were analyzed using the Pearson correlation coefficient. All statistical testing was two-tailed at an level of .05. Analyses were performed using SPSS, version 25.0 (IBM Corporation).

Results

Sample Characteristics

A total of 33 participants were included in the final sample. Half of the 33 participants (n=16, 49%) were single, and 42% (n=14) were either married or in a relationship. A majority of the 33 participants (n=22, 67%) lived with other people (partner, children, roommates, etc). Approximately three-quarters were childless (24/33, 73%) and lived without children in their household (n=25, 76%). Only 39% (13/33) of the participants were currently employed, approximately 20% (6/33, 18%) were retired, and 15% (5/33) were unemployed. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, more than half (9/16, 56%) of the working participants indicated that their work time had not changed, while one-quarter (4/16, 25%) indicated that their work time had decreased. Only 13% (2/16) lost their job due to the pandemic. A majority of 67% of the working participants (8/12) were working from home during the pandemic, and approximately one-quarter (3/12, 25%) were still working at their regular workplace.

Participation

Participants joined an average of 5 of the scheduled 8 chat sessions (anxiety, mean 3.7; depression, mean 3.4; OCD, mean 5.3; ADHD, mean 6.2). The participation rates were highest in the ADHD group, with an average of 8.6 out of 11 participants (78%) joining the chat sessions. The lowest participation rates were detected in the anxiety group, with only 40% participation on average (3.7/9, 41%). In the depression group, approximately half of the participants joined on average (4.25/8, 53%), and in the OCD group, around 60% joined (5.3/8, 66%; see Table 1).

Table 1. Chat participation for each chat session per group; data are based on log-ins to the chatroom from n=36 participants.

Group	Participants in each chat, n									
	1 (mean 7)	2 (mean 4.5)	3 (mean (7)	4 (mean 6.7)	5 (mean 6.5)	6 (mean 4.3)	7 (mean 5)	8 (mean 5)		
Depression (n=8, mean 4.3)	7	1	5	5	4	3	5	4		
ADHD ^a (n=11, mean 8.6)	11	9	9	9	9	8	7	7		
Anxiety (n=9, mean 3.7)	2	4	7	5	5	4	2	4		
OCD ^b (n=8, mean 5.4)	8	4	7	3	8	2	6	5		

^aADHD: adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder.

^bOCD: obsessive compulsive disorder.

Satisfaction

In the postsession evaluations, a majority of participants (66%-87%) indicated that they thought the respective chat was excellent/good. Most of the participants received the support they wanted (59%-78%) and would recommend such a group chat program to a friend in need of similar help (70%-87%).

The highest scores were achieved for the question of how the participants liked the therapeutic chat. A range of 81%-100% of participants indicated they thought it was excellent/good. The posttreatment evaluation showed a mean sum score of 20.6 (SD 1.0), which indicates a moderately high overall satisfaction with the program (see Table 2).



Variable	T0 (n=33)	T2 (n=31)	P value
Depressive symptoms (PHQ-9 ^a score)			
0-4, n (%)	3 (9)	6 (19)	
5-9, n (%)	10 (30)	7 (23)	
10-14, n (%)	12 (36)	12 (39)	
15-19, n (%)	6 (18)	5 (16)	
20-27, n (%)	2 (6)	1 (3)	
Sum score, mean (SD)	10.7 (5.5)	10.2 (6)	.93
Quality of life (WHOQOL-BREF ^b score), median (IQR)			
Physical	55.4 (21.4)	57.1 (25.0)	.62
Psychological	41.7 (29.2)	50.0 (24.0)	.52
Social	58.3 (25.0)	58.3 (31.3)	.62
Environment	68.8 (20.3)	70.3 (14.8)	.14
Treatment credibility/expectancy (CEQ ^c score), mean (SD)			
Credibility factor	18.1 (3.8)	17.1 (4.8)	N/A ^d
Expectancy factor	11.2 (5.1)	10.3 (5.8)	N/A
Satisfaction (ZUF-8 ^e sum score), mean (SD)	N/A	20.6 (1.0)	N/A

^aPHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9.

^bWHOQOL-BREF: abbreviated World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment.

^cCEQ: Credibility/Expectancy Questionnaire.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eZUF-8: Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8.

Depressive Symptoms and Quality of Life

In this sample, baseline and posttreatment evaluation of the PHQ-9 scores showed an average of moderate depressive symptoms (T0: mean 10.7, SD 5.5; T2: mean 10.2, SD 5.5). In a calculation of the respective categories, a majority of participants (T0: 20/33, 61%; T2: 18/31, 58%) showed moderate to severe symptoms (see Table 2). At the baseline evaluation of the WHOQOL-BREF for quality of life, participants reached the lowest index scores in psychological health (median 41.7, IQR 29.2) and the highest scores in environmental quality of life (median 68.8, IQR 20.3). Overall, scores showed a medium level of quality of life at baseline. In the posttreatment evaluation, the scores were slightly higher; again, psychological health received the lowest score (median 50.0, IQR 24.0) and environmental quality of life received the highest score (median 70.3, IQR 14.8; see Table 2). There was no statistically significant difference in depressive symptoms (PHQ-9 scores) before and after the intervention (t_{30} =.89, P=.93). There was also no statistically significant difference in the scores for quality of life on the WHOQOL-BREF (P_{phys}=.62; P_{psych}=.52; P_{soc}=.62; P_{env} =.14) (see Table 2).

Treatment Credibility and Expectancy

In the baseline evaluation, the participants achieved high credibility scores (mean 18.1, SD 3.8) but lower expectancy scores (mean 11.2, SD 5.1). In the posttreatment evaluation,

RenderX

both scores slightly decreased (credibility: mean 17.1, SD 4.8; expectancy: mean 10.3, SD 5.8) (see Table 2). A correlation analysis showed a significant negative correlation between the posttreatment PHQ-9 sum score (r=-0.41, P=.02). In addition, a significant positive correlation was found between the posttreatment expectancy factor and the posttreatment physical quality of life score (r=0.54, P=.001), while the correlation between the posttreatment credibility score and the posttreatment physical quality of life score was not significant (r=0.35, P=.06). Lastly, significant correlations were shown between posttreatment psychological quality of life scores and expectancy factors at baseline as well as posttreatment (r=0.36, P=.046, and r=0.53, P=.002, respectively).

Use of Other Support Services

In the posttreatment evaluation, use of other support services was assessed. In this evaluation, we could also include one of the insufficiently completed posttreatment questionnaires; therefore, the percentages were calculated with n=32. A majority of these 32 participants (n=19, 59%) indicated having had contact via telephone with their treating psychiatrist, while one-third (n=9, 28%) had contact with their treating psychotherapist. One-fifth of the participants used other offers, such as contact with the department's social worker (6/32, 19%). Most of the participants (29/32, 91%) stated having had social contacts in the last few weeks, and approximately half (n=17, 53%) used social media on a daily basis. The most commonly

used social media platform by the participants was the messaging platform WhatsApp, with 82% (14/17), followed by Facebook, with 47% (8/17). On average, social media platforms were used for 2.5 hours per day (mean 2.4, SD 1.7). Around half (n = 9, 52.9%) of the participants also used other social

media, like other messaging services (Telegram, Threema, Discord), Twitter or YouTube (see Table 3). Other offers that provided support to participants were indicated by 21.9% (n=7, going for a walk, reading, having company, etc).

Table 3.	Use of other	support	services by	y the study	participants	(n=32).
						<hr/>

Question and answer choices	Value, n (%)						
Which offers by the psychiatric outpatient department helped you particularly well in the last few weeks?							
Telephone contact with treating psychiatrist	19 (59)						
Telephone contact with treating psychotherapist	9 (28)						
Contact in group chat	22 (69)						
Others	6 (19)						
Which other offers did you use in the last few weeks and thought to be especially helpful?							
Social contacts (eg, calls with friends and family)	29 (91)						
Social media							
Instagram users, n (%)	5 (29)						
Time spent on Instagram (hours/day), mean (SD)	0.5 (0.3)						
WhatsApp users, n (%)	14 (82)						
Time spent on WhatsApp (hours/day), mean (SD)	0.9 (0.5)						
Facebook users, n (%)	8 (47)						
Time spent on Facebook (hours/day), mean (SD)	1.1 (0.8)						
Other social media platform users, n (%)	9 (3)						
Time spent on other platforms (hours/day), mean (SD)	1.7 (1.5)						
Total social media users, n (%)	17 (53)						
Total time on social media (hours/day), mean (SD)	2.4 (1.7)						
Other online offers	5 (16)						
Contact with treating therapist (outside psychiatric outpatient department)	5 (16)						
Other contacts	7 (2)						

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study was conducted under the circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on individuals with mental health problems, which appear to be substantial [26]. During the lockdown in Germany in March and April 2020, psychiatric patients were confronted with the closure of outpatient departments and the suspension of support offers. Therefore, the program in this study was mainly designed to offer help and support to patients during this difficult time. The opportunity presented by this situation was used to investigate the acceptability and feasibility of the implementation of a therapist-guided group chat program in psychiatric outpatient care.

The transfer of face-to-face group therapies into online group chats in a psychiatric outpatient setting during the COVID-19 pandemic has been successful, as indicated by the results regarding the program feasibility, user satisfaction, and mental health status for all participants. First, the program was shown to be highly satisfactory for the participants, which indicates

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27865

RenderX

that the participants received the support that was intended to be given. Second, the program is feasible, as the depressive symptoms of the participants were successfully stabilized; these symptoms were initially at a moderate level and even showed a slight nonsignificant decrease at posttreatment. Similar results were observed regarding the participants' perceived quality of life, which was stable at a medium level in all domains. Although the increase in quality of life scores was not statistically significant, the stabilization and lack of a significant decrease can be seen as successes, especially during the pandemic. The results are comparable to those of previous studies [27,28]. Because only approximately 40% of participants were employed at the time, all others lost their structured daily appointments at the psychiatric outpatient department, which are important in the treatment of mental illnesses. This program was seemingly able to support patients and stabilize their mental health.

The high satisfaction rates with the program after every chat and posttreatment show that the program is highly acceptable for patients experiencing severe mental illnesses. A majority of participants stated they would recommend the program to a

friend in need of similar help, and the participants particularly liked the therapeutic chat. Compliance was good; on average, each participant joined 1 of 2 group chats per week, and more than half of the participants joined every chat.

Overall treatment credibility was medium-high; however, expectancy of improvement was rather low. Our results indicate that a high treatment expectancy correlates significantly with better outcome scores in posttreatment symptoms of depression and perceived quality of life, as patients with a higher treatment expectancy after the intervention had significantly lower PHQ-9 sum scores posttreatment. These findings are in line with previous research, which showed a strong association between treatment expectancy/credibility and outcome scores in different fields of research [29-32] as well as in mental health care [33].

In the last part of our evaluation, we observed that most participants used social contacts for support and found them to be the most helpful. Furthermore, a majority of participants were still in contact with their treating psychiatrist. In line with previous research [34], social media also proved to be an important part of participants' support during this phase of isolation in our study. It can be concluded that additional internet-based treatment offers seem to be a feasible treatment option for most patients, especially during this pandemic.

Limitations

It is important to emphasize that this is not a randomized controlled study and therefore should not be considered as a validation of the effectiveness of online group chat programs. However, preceding research has shown that online or web-based treatments are as effective as or even more effective than face-to-face interventions [35-43]. The aim of this study was to show that such programs are implementable if needed, and this is possible according to our results. Furthermore, online group chats seem to be highly acceptable for patients.

As this study was conducted during an exceptional situation for both patients and mental health care providers, this different environment must be considered when evaluating our results. Participants may have evaluated the program differently because they had no alternative therapy options for comparison at the time.

Participation notably differed between the diagnosis-specific groups, which may have been caused by different habits and behaviors that occur due to the respective illnesses. This finding may also have depended on how well the group members got along before the shift to online treatment.

Conclusion

Online chat programs as a substitute for face-to-face group therapy sessions for patients with severe mental illnesses are feasible, usable, and can be implemented in clinical routine care under pandemic circumstances. They are also highly satisfactory and may have a stabilizing influence on patients' symptom burden. Therefore, they can be considered as a substitute treatment for group therapy sessions during a pandemic, and they may be a helpful tool for future e-mental health offers in routine clinical care.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge support from Leipzig University for Open Access Publishing.

Authors' Contributions

JS, EK, SB, MM, and CRK designed the study protocol. JS and EK performed the analysis; JS, EK, and CRK wrote this manuscript. FG and MS were the administrators of the chat groups. MM developed the implemented chat program. All authors approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Screenshots of the chat program. [PPTX File, 359 KB - formative_v5i7e27865_app1.pptx]

References

- 1. Kazdin AE, Blase SL. Rebooting psychotherapy research and practice to reduce the burden of mental illness. Perspect Psychol Sci 2011 Jan 03;6(1):21-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1745691610393527] [Medline: 26162113]
- 2. Mohr DC, Riper H, Schueller SM. A solution-focused research approach to achieve an implementable revolution in digital mental health. JAMA Psychiatry 2018 Feb 01;75(2):113-114. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.3838] [Medline: 29238805]
- 3. Simon GE, Ludman EJ. It's time for disruptive innovation in psychotherapy. Lancet 2009 Aug;374(9690):594-595. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(09)61415-x]
- Kopelovich SL, Monroe-DeVita M, Buck BE, Brenner C, Moser L, Jarskog LF, et al. Community mental health care delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic: practical strategies for improving care for people with serious mental illness. Community Ment Health J 2021 Apr;57(3):405-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00662-z] [Medline: 32562033]

- Wind TR, Rijkeboer M, Andersson G, Riper H. The COVID-19 pandemic: The 'black swan' for mental health care and a turning point for e-health. Internet Interv 2020 Apr;20:100317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2020.100317] [Medline: 32289019]
- 6. Andersson G, Titov N, Dear BF, Rozental A, Carlbring P. Internet-delivered psychological treatments: from innovation to implementation. World Psychiatry 2019 Feb;18(1):20-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20610] [Medline: 30600624]
- Asmundson GJG, Taylor S. How health anxiety influences responses to viral outbreaks like COVID-19: What all decision-makers, health authorities, and health care professionals need to know. J Anxiety Disord 2020 Apr;71:102211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102211] [Medline: 32179380]
- Shah SGS, Nogueras D, van Woerden HC, Kiparoglou V. The COVID-19 pandemic: a pandemic of lockdown loneliness and the role of digital technology. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 05;22(11):e22287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22287] [Medline: 33108313]
- Tuerk PW, Keller SM, Acierno R. Treatment for anxiety and depression via clinical videoconferencing: evidence base and barriers to expanded access in practice. Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ) 2018 Oct;16(4):363-369 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20180027] [Medline: <u>31975928</u>]
- Vis C, Mol M, Kleiboer A, Bührmann L, Finch T, Smit J, et al. Improving implementation of eMental health for mood disorders in routine practice: systematic review of barriers and facilitating factors. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Mar 16;5(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9769] [Medline: 29549072]
- Topooco N, Riper H, Araya R, Berking M, Brunn M, Chevreul K, E-COMPARED consortium. Attitudes towards digital treatment for depression: a European stakeholder survey. Internet Interv 2017 Jun;8:1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.01.001] [Medline: 30135823]
- 12. Dosani S, Harding C, Wilson S. Online groups and patient forums. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2014 Nov 2;16(11):507 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11920-014-0507-3] [Medline: 25273668]
- 13. Parikh SV, Huniewicz P. E-health: an overview of the uses of the Internet, social media, apps, and websites for mood disorders. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2015 Jan;28(1):13-17. [doi: 10.1097/YCO.0000000000123] [Medline: 25420193]
- Griffiths KM, Reynolds J, Vassallo S. An online, moderated peer-to-peer support bulletin board for depression: user-perceived advantages and disadvantages. JMIR Ment Health 2015;2(2):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4266] [Medline: 26543919]
- Ali K, Farrer L, Gulliver A, Griffiths KM. Online peer-to-peer support for young people with mental health problems: a systematic review. JMIR Ment Health 2015 May 19;2(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4418] [Medline: 26543923]
- 16. Griffiths KM, Mackinnon AJ, Crisp DA, Christensen H, Bennett K, Farrer L. The effectiveness of an online support group for members of the community with depression: a randomised controlled trial. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e53244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053244] [Medline: 23285271]
- 17. Crisp D, Griffiths K, Mackinnon A, Bennett K, Christensen H. An online intervention for reducing depressive symptoms: secondary benefits for self-esteem, empowerment and quality of life. Psychiatry Res 2014 Apr 30;216(1):60-66. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.01.041] [Medline: 24534125]
- 18. Schmidt J, Lamprecht F, Wittmann WW. Satisfaction with inpatient management. Development of a questionnaire and initial validity studies. Article in German. Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol 1989 Jul;39(7):248-255. [Medline: <u>2762479</u>]
- 19. Attkisson CC, Zwick R. The client satisfaction questionnaire. Psychometric properties and correlations with service utilization and psychotherapy outcome. Eval Program Plann 1982;5(3):233-237. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(82)90074-x] [Medline: 10259963]
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 21. Maske UE, Busch MA, Jacobi F, Beesdo-Baum K, Seiffert I, Wittchen H, et al. Current major depressive syndrome measured with the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) and the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI): results from a cross-sectional population-based study of adults in Germany. BMC Psychiatry 2015 Apr 10;15:77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0463-4] [Medline: 25884294]
- 22. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. JAMA 1999 Nov 10;282(18):1737-1744. [doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737] [Medline: 10568646]
- 23. Skevington SM, Lotfy M, O'Connell KA, WHOQOL Group. The World Health Organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: psychometric properties and results of the international field trial. A report from the WHOQOL group. Qual Life Res 2004 Mar;13(2):299-310. [doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00] [Medline: 15085902]
- 24. Angermeyer M, Kilian R, Matschinger H. WHOQOL-100 und WHOQOL-BREF: Handbuch für die deutschsprachigen Versionen der WHO-Instrumente zur internationalen Erfassung von Lebensqualität. Göttingen, Germany: Hogrefe; 2000.
- 25. Devilly GJ, Borkovec TD. Psychometric properties of the credibility/expectancy questionnaire. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2000 Jun;31(2):73-86. [doi: 10.1016/s0005-7916(00)00012-4] [Medline: 11132119]
- 26. Flygare O, Ivanov V, Säll R, Malaise H, Rück C, Jayaram-Lindström N, et al. Subjective mental health and need for care among psychiatric outpatients during the COVID-19 pandemic: results from an outreach initiative in Sweden. medRxiv. Preprint posted online on November 13, 2020. [doi: 10.1101/2020.11.10.20229039]

- 27. Shumye S, Belayneh Z, Mengistu N. Health related quality of life and its correlates among people with depression attending outpatient department in Ethiopia: a cross sectional study. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2019 Nov 08;17(1):169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12955-019-1233-7] [Medline: 31703701]
- Pieh C, Budimir S, Humer E, Probst T. Comparing mental health during the COVID-19 lockdown and 6 months after the lockdown in Austria: a longitudinal study. Front Psychiatry 2021;12:625973 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.625973] [Medline: 33859579]
- Goossens MEJB, Vlaeyen JWS, Hidding A, Kole-Snijders A, Evers SMAA. Treatment expectancy affects the outcome of cognitive-behavioral interventions in chronic pain. Clin J Pain 2005;21(1):18-26; discussion 69. [doi: 10.1097/00002508-200501000-00003] [Medline: 15599128]
- 30. Groeneveld IF, Goossens PH, van Braak I, van der Pas S, Meesters JJL, Rambaran Mishre RD, SCORE-study group. Patients' outcome expectations and their fulfilment in multidisciplinary stroke rehabilitation. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 2019 Jan;62(1):21-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2018.05.1321] [Medline: 30053628]
- 31. Haanstra TM, Tilbury C, Kamper SJ, Tordoir RL, Vliet Vlieland TPM, Nelissen RGHH, et al. Can optimism, pessimism, hope, treatment credibility and treatment expectancy be distinguished in patients undergoing total hip and total knee arthroplasty? PLoS One 2015;10(7):e0133730 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133730] [Medline: 26214176]
- 32. Smeets RJEM, Beelen S, Goossens MEJB, Schouten EGW, Knottnerus JA, Vlaeyen JWS. Treatment expectancy and credibility are associated with the outcome of both physical and cognitive-behavioral treatment in chronic low back pain. Clin J Pain 2008 May;24(4):305-315. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e318164aa75] [Medline: 18427229]
- 33. Papadatou-Pastou M, Campbell-Thompson L, Barley E, Haddad M, Lafarge C, McKeown E, et al. Exploring the feasibility and acceptability of the contents, design, and functionalities of an online intervention promoting mental health, wellbeing, and study skills in Higher Education students. Int J Ment Health Syst 2019;13:51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13033-019-0308-5] [Medline: 31367229]
- 34. Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Marsch LA, Bartels SJ. The future of mental health care: peer-to-peer support and social media. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2016 Apr;25(2):113-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S2045796015001067] [Medline: 26744309]
- 35. Andrews G, Cuijpers P, Craske MG, McEvoy P, Titov N. Computer therapy for the anxiety and depressive disorders is effective, acceptable and practical health care: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2010 Oct 13;5(10):e13196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013196] [Medline: 20967242]
- Barlow JH, Ellard DR, Hainsworth JM, Jones FR, Fisher A. A review of self-management interventions for panic disorders, phobias and obsessive-compulsive disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2005 Apr;111(4):272-285. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00499.x] [Medline: 15740463]
- Bauer S, Wolf M, Haug S, Kordy H. The effectiveness of internet chat groups in relapse prevention after inpatient psychotherapy. Psychother Res 2011 Mar;21(2):219-226. [doi: <u>10.1080/10503307.2010.547530</u>] [Medline: <u>21347978</u>]
- Farrer LM, Gulliver A, Katruss N, Fassnacht DB, Kyrios M, Batterham PJ. A novel multi-component online intervention to improve the mental health of university students: randomised controlled trial of the Uni Virtual Clinic. Internet Interv 2019 Dec;18:100276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2019.100276] [Medline: 31890625]
- Griffiths KM, Carron-Arthur B, Reynolds J, Bennett K, Bennett A. User characteristics and usage of an open access moderated internet support group for depression and other mental disorders: a prospective study. Internet Interv 2017 Mar;7:9-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.11.003] [Medline: 30135821]
- 40. Karyotaki E, Ebert DD, Donkin L, Riper H, Twisk J, Burger S, et al. Do guided internet-based interventions result in clinically relevant changes for patients with depression? An individual participant data meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2018 Jul;63:80-92. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.007] [Medline: 29940401]
- 41. Klein JP, Berger T, Schröder J, Späth C, Meyer B, Caspar F, et al. Effects of a psychological internet intervention in the treatment of mild to moderate depressive symptoms: results of the EVIDENT study, a randomized controlled trial. Psychother Psychosom 2016;85(4):218-228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000445355] [Medline: 27230863]
- 42. Richards D, Murphy T, Viganó N, Timulak L, Doherty G, Sharry J, et al. Acceptability, satisfaction and perceived efficacy of "Space from Depression" an internet-delivered treatment for depression. Internet Interv 2016 Sep;5:12-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.06.007] [Medline: 30135802]
- Spek V, Cuijpers P, Nyklícek I, Riper H, Keyzer J, Pop V. Internet-based cognitive behaviour therapy for symptoms of depression and anxiety: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2007 Mar;37(3):319-328. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291706008944</u>] [Medline: <u>17112400</u>]

Abbreviations

ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder OCD: obsessive-compulsive disorder PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 ZUF-8: Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8



Edited by J Torous; submitted 13.02.21; peer-reviewed by R Maatoug, A Sharma; comments to author 26.04.21; revised version received 17.05.21; accepted 08.06.21; published 23.07.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Scholl J, Kohls E, Görges F, Steinbrecher M, Baldofski S, Moessner M, Rummel-Kluge C Acceptability and Feasibility of the Transfer of Face-to-Face Group Therapy to Online Group Chats in a Psychiatric Outpatient Setting During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Longitudinal Observational Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27865 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27865 PMID:34161252

©Julia Scholl, Elisabeth Kohls, Frauke Görges, Marc Steinbrecher, Sabrina Baldofski, Markus Moessner, Christine Rummel-Kluge. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 23.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Development of a Mobile App for Ecological Momentary Assessment of Circadian Data: Design Considerations and Usability Testing

Thomas B Woolf¹, PhD; Attia Goheer², MHS, PhD; Katherine Holzhauer³, BA; Jonathan Martinez³, BSc; Janelle W Coughlin⁴, PhD; Lindsay Martin³, MSc; Di Zhao⁵, MHS, PhD; Shanshan Song⁶, PhD; Yanif Ahmad⁷, PhD; Kostiantyn Sokolinskyi⁸, BSc, MSc; Tetyana Remayeva⁸, BSc, MSc; Jeanne M Clark³, MD, MPH; Wendy Bennett³, MD, MPH; Harold Lehmann⁶, MD, PhD

¹Department of Physiology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁶Division of Health Sciences Informatics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁷Department of Computer Science, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁸SROST, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Thomas B Woolf, PhD Department of Physiology Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 725 N Wolfe St Baltimore, MD, 21205 United States Phone: 1 410 416 2643 Email: <u>twoolf@jhu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Collecting data on daily habits across a population of individuals is challenging. Mobile-based circadian ecological momentary assessment (cEMA) is a powerful frame for observing the impact of daily living on long-term health.

Objective: In this paper, we (1) describe the design, testing, and rationale for specifications of a mobile-based cEMA app to collect timing of eating and sleeping data and (2) compare cEMA and survey data collected as part of a 6-month observational cohort study. The ultimate goal of this paper is to summarize our experience and lessons learned with the Daily24 mobile app and to highlight the pros and cons of this data collection modality.

Methods: Design specifications for the Daily24 app were drafted by the study team based on the research questions and target audience for the cohort study. The associated backend was optimized to provide real-time data to the study team for participant monitoring and engagement. An external 8-member advisory board was consulted throughout the development process, and additional test users recruited as part of a qualitative study provided feedback through in-depth interviews.

Results: After \geq 4 days of at-home use, 37 qualitative study participants provided feedback on the app. The app generally received positive feedback from test users for being fast and easy to use. Test users identified several bugs and areas where modifications were necessary to in-app text and instructions and also provided feedback on the engagement strategy. Data collected through the mobile app captured more variability in eating windows than data collected through a one-time survey, though at a significant cost.

Conclusions: Researchers should consider the potential uses of a mobile app beyond the initial data collection when deciding whether the time and monetary expenditure are advisable for their situation and goals.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26297) doi:10.2196/26297



²Department of Health Policy and Management, Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

³Division of General Internal Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁴Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁵Department of Epidemiology, Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States

KEYWORDS

mhealth; circadian; sleep; ecological momentary assessment; timing of eating; mobile applications; habits; body weight; surveys and questionnaires

Introduction

Establishing the impact of daily habits on long-term health is an important but challenging goal [1-3]. It is well-established that poor daily habits, continued over many years, can lead to adverse health outcomes [4-6]. Less clear is how to collect individuals' daily habits in a way that encourages accurate and comprehensive reporting. We present our experience in developing a research environment for collecting data to explore associations between sleep and eating patterns (the daily habits) and weight (the health outcome) [4,7-10].

This type of app falls into the category of research tools used for ecological momentary assessment (EMA) [11-14]. Since the behaviors are daily and repetitive, we use the term "circadian EMA" (cEMA) and label all similar apps as a particular cEMA app. In general, all EMA apps address circadian problems: For example, how does a participant's mood change over multiple days [15] and how much exercise has a participant been getting and does that correlate with sleep [16]? These are both examples of measures that are changing (or have the potential to change) within and across days, and so finding the correlations between daily habits and some measure of long-term change is common to much of the EMA literature. Many EMA apps have been developed with different research foci than ours. Other intermittent behaviors, such as exercise and alcohol or drug use, call for a different app design.

This paper sets out the requirements and design choices for mobile-based cEMAs that we faced during the creation of the Daily24 app. We note that others have addressed requirements for EMA, and we endeavor to add our experience without repeating previous observations [14,17-32]. The environment we describe consists of a user-facing smartphone-based app

(Daily24), a back-end server to receive the data, and a research dashboard that enables management of the research process. We highlight the new challenges and opportunities provided through the ability to interact with study participants in real time for a period of months. We describe our design, testing, and key revisions to the app and the associated back end and present our design choices for automated messaging to participants and our real-time dashboards to monitor participant engagement. We then summarize the feedback collected through our user testing protocol and present a comparison of data collected through the app with recall data collected through a one-time, web-based survey. We end with additional considerations when deciding whether to use a mobile app in other research settings.

Methods

Parent Study Design

The overall study for which the mobile app was developed aimed to electronically recruit 1000 app users from the outpatient population at 3 major medical centers. Participants were expected to use the app periodically over the 6-month study period, specifically daily during the first 4 weeks (referred to as the "Power28"), then for 1 week in each of the remaining 5 months (the "PowerWeeks"). Participants were also asked to complete periodic online surveys and to grant permission to access their electronic medical record (EMR) data. A mobile app was considered the optimal data collection modality for this study given the long duration and emphasis on capturing daily variability (Figure 1). Inclusion criteria included being 18 years of age or older, English-speaking, and a patient of the sponsoring institutions and with access to a smartphone with data or Wi-Fi connection to transmit app data.



Figure 1. Comparing paper-based, web form-based, and smartphone app-based survey approaches. Note that paper-based surveys can be sent to more than one population or re-used, but often require manual data entry.



User Testing Study Design

The study team recognized the essential need to gather input from test users outside of the team to inform acceptability and usability of the app throughout the development process (Figure 2). During the initial development process, an advisory board of 8 individuals identified as patient advocates for the population we hoped to recruit from was assembled to provide feedback on design, usability, and ease of use. The advisory board was convened 3 times during the app development period. The first was during the design process to share the goals of the app and solicit feedback on the visual presentation. Board members then downloaded the first minimal version of the app and provided initial reactions at the next meeting, with additional feedback provided by phone after 2 weeks of use. At the final meeting, members were consulted about the recruitment and consent strategies for the cohort study, which was atypical in being conducted entirely online with no person-to-person interaction.

Figure 2. The agile development methodology used to stage the release and use of the app for the parent study.



After the initial app development was complete, we conducted a qualitative study to elicit feedback on the usability of the app from target potential users and also to test the back-end linkages between app data and the individual participant's EMR. Qualitative study participants were asked to complete a baseline online questionnaire, then download and use the test app for at least 4 days before meeting with a member of the study team for a 1-hour in-depth interview [33]. Inclusion criteria were the same as for the parent study, with the exception that participants had to be patients of the sponsoring institution.

Development of the Mobile App Front End

Based on participant characteristics from previous studies enrolling electronically from a similar population, we created

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26297
```

a persona of the demographic most likely to enroll for the purposes of designing the app: a woman in her mid-50s, with at least a high-school education, and with an interest in contributing research data for the greater good since there was no monetary compensation provided for participation. We did not expect all participants to be health-conscious or tech-savvy. We also imagined our participants as being concerned about their weight, but not self-managing multiple other chronic conditions or severe acute illness.

We wanted to enable a design that could be reused for other similar studies and that could scale up or down depending on the study size and population. We specifically conducted a multicenter study to establish the generalizability of both our app and our results. Additionally, to avoid selection bias implicit in limiting to a single operating system and to accommodate as many participants as possible, we developed for both iOS and Android using React Native [19], a JavaScript-based, cross-platform development environment. This platform choice brought with it some slower responses within the app and also meant that some user interface items that users on each platform take for granted were not readily available.

The most basic requirement for the mobile app was that the data could be collected on a daily basis, as part of the user's regular routine. For Daily24, the behaviors of interest were sleeping and eating, including wake time, sleep time, start and end time of eating, and an estimate of amount eaten. Our goal was to design the interface to be as simple as possible and to encourage minimal time investment for each participant in the daily logging of information. We had developed an earlier version (Metabolic Compass) of our final app that drew praise from about 50 users for its ability to present data back to participants; however, for this study, we wanted to limit the data shared back with users to keep from influencing their daily patterns.

An additional tradeoff and design decision was to forgo collecting detailed dietary data, choosing instead to collect estimated size of the eating occasion. There are many currently popular apps (for example, MyFitnessPal, MyPlate) that capture caloric information. However, the entry of detailed dietary data takes significant time and would add complexity to the simple interface we wanted and would overwhelm the user's altruism in providing data for research purposes. Additionally, the support required for the large lookup tables for calorie management was beyond both our budget and our developer team. We elected to include 6 broad categories of eating episodes: large, medium, and small meals; large and small snacks; and drinks (except water) without food.

Our budget did not permit the study coordination team to have frequent interactions with all participants and to encourage involvement with a high-touch modality. Therefore, we designed automated reminders and real-time dashboards to let our study coordination team identify those participants most in need of encouragement to stay actively involved. Users received reminders at sign-up and during their POWER28 and Power Weeks. Examples of the initial signup email, reminders, and update emails regarding data contributions are shown in Figures 3 and 4.



Figure 3. Daily24 registration screens.

Figure 4. Examples of SMS and emails from a larger set of Amazon Web Services step function-controlled messages to participants.

Hello, Mercy Yoga!

Welcome to the Daily24 Study! We're excited that you joined...

Your Power28 starts TODAY!

We have created a schedule for your Power28 and Power Weeks. In particular, your Power28 starts today,

December 21, 2018 and goes until January 18, 2019.

December						
					1	2
3	4	5	6	7	8	9
10	11	12	13	14	15	16
17	18	19	20	21	22	23
24	25	26	27	28	29	30
31						

After your Power28, you will have one Power Week each month, starting on a Monday.

Here are the start dates for your scheduled Power Weeks:

Your 1st	Power Week is scheduled for February 04, 2019
Your 2nd	Power Week is scheduled for March 04, 2019
Your 3rd	Power Week is scheduled for April 01, 2019
Your 4th	Power Week is scheduled for April 29, 2019
Your 5th	Power Week is scheduled for May 27, 2019

Given the research context, we designed the app to protect participant privacy and to encourage competition between participants without any sharing of identifiable information. To create usernames, we tested, refined, and ultimately used 2 large tables of uplifting and nonobjectionable adjectives, nouns, and verbs to create names that users could select and identify with, without having to directly craft the names themselves. Example usernames like "YoungWinter" were fully separated from identifiable information. We used a universally unique identifier (for example "7beb5648a909a16fa39281e0ee1b564b") to link our data used for messaging with the data being collected on cEMA.

Development of the Back End for Messaging and Data Management

Continuous engagement was crucial. We had to design a real-time ability into our app and its back end to enable our study team to see how participants were responding to the app and to give us the opportunity to reach out to participants who might be in danger of leaving the study. We used Amazon Web Services (AWS) to support actions based on participants' responses or their relative time within the study. We chose to use AWS step functions and lambda functions to enable data to be placed within a DynamoDB structure and then processed by queries against a PostgreSQL database and with resulting values for display placed on S3. The step functions supported us in designing a logical series of actions based on a timer associated with when they signed up as a participant in the study.

Lastly, we gamified the participant's actions within the app, to encourage their continued involvement. Tactics included virtual trophies for different stages of completion and a real-time leaderboard that displayed where each anonymous individual stood relative to others contributing to the project. Our goal was to encourage a feeling among participants that they were contributing to biomedical research, that it was being logged, and that they could do still more, relative to their peers. The back end additionally was set up to send reminders via SMS, emails, and alerts to encourage a sense of belonging, along with value, and to support continued awareness of the need to enter data.

Comparisons Between Daily24 and Survey Data

Survey data collected as part of the parent study at baseline allowed a comparison to eating and sleeping windows reported through Daily24 to explore the accuracy and comprehensiveness of data entered through the app. Daily24 events are best viewed as an approximate daily entry to the weekly, monthly, and yearly habits of the participant. This approach to analysis may not reflect those with highly variable schedules (for example, Monday is always quite different than Wednesday). However, it provides a unified framework for approaching the very large number of individual data lines for each user.

Results

The full application development process, including user testing and revisions, along with development of the back end, took approximately 2 years. The final requirements and decisions are summarized in Table 1, while the costs associated with each stage and product are detailed in Table 2. Figure 5 displays the final Daily24 mobile app screens.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 1. Requirements, decisions, and considerations in the design of Daily24, a circadian ecological momentary assessment (cEMA) app.

Requirement	Daily24 design decisions	Additional considerations
Front and		
Collect recurring, circadian data, but limit collection to essential data	Focus on sleep and diet (and not activity)	Should be fast and easy to enter data; specif- ic variables based on core (causal) model of the research hypothesis
Rely on recurring user data entry	Sleep times, times of eating occasions, meal and snack sizes eaten	There are no passive entry approaches at this point in time
Balance need for more research data against loss of engagement	Use categories of food size rather than spe- cific foods and their calorie count	A simplified interface means that we gain from more daily interactions, but do lose some details
Minimize labeling bias in data entry and minimize feedback	App does not communicate judgment	Avoid feeding back data (eg, summary graphs); avoid guiding users towards a par- ticular change in behavior
Maximize use over multiple days, minimize use within a day	Focus on data entry; simple interface	Target time frame was at least several weeks of daily input over 6 months
Maximize user engagement	Gamify to encourage fun interactions with the app and to reward those that track leaderboards, virtual trophies, "Power28," "PowerWeek"	A specific challenge for a data collection app that does not offer any direct benefits (as research is not supposed to)
Maximize pool of potential research participants	Develop both for iOS and for Android; na- tional + recruited	Used React Native to maximize developer time; trade off on national, beta-testing, commercial licensing, one-to-one distribu- tion; national reviews might have decreased participation; loss of inter-app interoperabil- ity
Maintain privacy	Nonidentifiable usernames selected using random word-pairing generator	Avoids concern about users creating identi- fiable usernames
Manage expectations in comparison with commercial Apps (fitness trackers)	Address limited functionality up front dur- ing signup	None
Balance research-data feedback among research needs, user expectations, and research ethics	N/A ^a	Users of commercial apps expect feedback; research argues against feedback; ethics argues in favor of research
Involve target users in design	Stakeholder advisory board and user testing, iteration over options and discussions on what to take out and to leave in	None
Support multiple types of users	"Super users" that want to enter multiple times each day vs "once-a-day" interaction for a short window of time	None
Back end		
Minimize high-touch engagement costs	Real-time dashboards (updated hourly) and SMS and email messages	None
Minimize development cost	Re-used our initial backend for Metabolic Compass and added dashboards	As an academic use case, revenue genera- tion is not expected, and therefore develop- ment costs are not recovered
Support the research process: Recruitment, Execution, Data Analysis	N/A	(Differs from commercial)
Protect participant privacy	Designed in strongly from the beginning: used a UUID ^b to link study data with mes- saging and created random usernames	HIPAA ^c and IRB ^d are major drivers of this desideratum
Support multi-institutional recruitment and data collec- tion	Designed in strongly from the beginning	We collected REDCap survey data and re- cruited from multiple institutions
Continuous debugging and improvement of user expe- rience	Used InstaBug to collect user feedback as well as technical issues	None

^aN/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26297

^bUUID: universally unique identifier.

^cHIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.

^dIRB: institutional review board.

Table 2. Time to develop Daily24 as an example circadian ecological momentary assessment (cEMA) app.

Pro	gramming or study need	Personnel involved	Time estimate
Fre	ont end		
	Initial design workshop and planning	Study PI ^a , study co-PI, project coordinator, designer, summer student	1-2 months
	Design and stakeholder feedback	Designer, summer student, project coordinator, study PI, study co-PI	3-5 months
	Initial MVP ^b rollout	Study coordinator, front end developer part-time, masters level part-time	6-9 months
	Iteration for design changes and bug tracking	Front end developer, study coordinator	3-4 months
	Near final with more bug reporting and testing	Front end developer, study coordinator	3-4 months
	Released version with bug tracking and iterations	Study coordinator, front end developer part-time	12 months or more
	AWS ^c or other cloud provider charges	May also include Github, Instabug, and other expenses	12 months or more
Ba	ck end: real-time dashboards and automated reminders to particip	ants	
	Lambda functions for analysis of incoming data	Back-end developer, masters-level part-time	1-2 months
	SMS via AWS step functions	Back-end developer	1-2 months
	Emails via AWS step functions	Back-end developer	1-2 months
	Initial design of dashboard	Study coordinator, back-end developer	1-2 months
	Iterative design to identify participants at risk of dropping out of study	Study coordinator, back-end developer	6 months or more
	AWS or other cloud provider charges	Will vary with usage	12 months or more
Ba	ck end: datastores and analysis		
	PostgreSQL tables	Back-end developer	3-5 months
	DynamoDB table	Back-end developer	3-5 months
	Trophy feedback	Back-end developer	1-2 months
	Leaderboard feedback	Back-end developer	1-2 months
	S3 backups and storage	Back-end developer	1-2 months
	Maintaining back end for blacklist updates	Bachelors level part-time	12 months or more
	SQL queries for analysis	Masters level part-time	12 months or more
	AWS or other cloud provider charges	Partially fixed, but then increases with more data	12 months or more

^aPI: principal investigator.

^bMVP: minimum viable product (meaning that it is functional, but only minimally).

^cAWS: Amazon Web Services.



Woolf et al

Figure 5. Daily24 mobile app screens.



User Testing Recommendations

We enrolled 37 test users through the qualitative study (mean age, 46.1 years; 26/37, 70% female; 19/37, 51% White) in addition to the 8-member advisory board. Overall, the advisory board and qualitative study participants agreed that the app was fast and easy to use, that the 24-hour wheels were an appropriate way to display the data collected, and that they appreciated the broad meal and snack size categories over needing to enter

specific foods consumed. However, several participants identified bugs in the sleep wheel and calendar features, which demonstrated that the app was operating differently on different operating systems and phone models despite using React Native. The extra users were instrumental in identifying these differences and addressing the problems.

The advisory board highlighted a major area of concern: the best way to visually represent the meal and snack size options. The initial icons depicted different foods at the various size

XSL•FO RenderX

options. Advisory board members expressed a desire to select the icon that represented the type of food they had eaten rather than the size of the meal or snack. The icons were thus revised to show different portions of the same food (pizza pie) as a simple solution to address this concern (Figure 5). Advisory board members also shared ideas to make the calendar feature more visually engaging. Though they expressed a preference for entering interrupted sleep rather than a single sleep window, this feature was beyond the scope of this version of the app. They additionally identified bugs in the app and provided thoughts on the structure of prompts or reminders to enter data.

Qualitative study participants identified 2 main areas of concern in the design of the app. First, several users commented on their inability to record both a meal and a drink occurring at the same time, making it clear to the study team that the app did not clearly convey that the meal and snack icons encompassed drinks as well and that the drink only icon was to be used only in instances where a drink was consumed without food. The icon labels were reworded to more clearly convey this meaning, and the revised wording was tested with the remaining participants. A secondary concern regarding the inability to enter multiple sleep windows to capture interrupted night sleep or naps was also raised, as with the advisory board. The team used this feedback to clarify the app instructions to make it clear that only a single sleep window was to be entered.

App usage feedback highlighted the differences in usage patterns, with a split between participants who used the app throughout the day and those who used the app to enter all eating occasions one time per day. When asked to reflect on the times they did not use the app, participants were close to unanimous in requesting in-app reminders. They differed in their frequency preference, with some requesting multiple reminders per day to align with typical mealtimes and others requesting reminders only when a day passed without them entering data. This feedback was critical in the team's design of the app reminders to be useful without irritating users who wanted less frequent reminders.

In addition, we elicited, through the advisory board and our qualitative study, what would motivate a long-term, 6-month research engagement with the app and how to structure that time. We expected that 6 months of continuous entry would be too burdensome for many users, particularly across our hoped-for population of 500 or more participants. We considered as a study team the optimal schedule for collecting data that spanned a 6-month period, taking into consideration the need to not overburden participants but to also not go so long between uses that re-engagement would be difficult, and shared ideas with the qualitative study participants for feedback. The final decision to use the Power28 and 5 PowerWeeks resulted from these discussions.

Parent-Study Daily24 Usage Patterns

Our app met the goal of multiple, short sessions daily, with 70% of interactions with the app lasting less than 1 minute and with most users interacting with the app approximately 1 to 3 times during each day that they entered data. We found that roughly 25% of individuals used the app at least twice per day on days they entered data.

Comparisons Between Daily24 and Survey Data

Overall, the median values for sleep duration using the 2 modalities (Figure 6) are consistent, though there is more variability captured through the app data. The median length of the eating window reported through Daily24 is approximately 1 hour longer than that reported through a one-time survey recall, and the tail extends an additional hour. Similarly, the comparison between meal and snacks counts during the day (Figure 7) indicates that Daily24 captured more variability throughout the study period.



Figure 6. Comparison of (A) sleeping duration and (B) eating duration reported through the Daily24 mobile app and online survey.







Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

Overwhelmingly, we heard from users that entering data into the app was extremely efficient, presumably faster than other data collection platforms, and the app was obviously tailored for use on smartphones, which is often not the case for other data collection methods. Additionally, by the careful design of our reminders and by structuring our expectations for logging,

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26297

we found that engaging and retaining participants without personal contact was possible. However, there were expectedly many bugs in the app that were difficult for our single programmer (during the support stage) to address, and users who encountered these bugs were frustrated that the app did not function as smoothly as commercial apps even after our attempts to mitigate their expectations.

The research context and goal of this type of app bring multiple challenges that are not present in the commercial realm. For example, there is no expectation for reclaiming any development costs when moving to production. At the outset, we recognized that users will be comparing the final product with commercial products from commercial development teams with much greater resources and larger engineering teams. Consequently, we designed our app with a tight range of objectives, a limited budget, and for a very special purpose. Others taking on this type of development, testing, and continued production and analysis costs.

Though we attempted to communicate, through our recruitment materials and onboarding process, that this is a data collection app and not an app for losing weight, and further, that as a research app, this app would not have the features associated with commercially available apps, we found this message did not land with many participants. This most likely reflects the fact that most apps used daily are of extremely high quality and are supported by very large teams of programmers, data scientists, graphic artists, and advertising (or psychology-based) experts. Furthermore, as a health app associated with a renowned medical institution, users may have been predisposed to assume a health benefit of using the app. In retrospect, we needed to be clearer in our messaging to potential users of what they could - and could not - expect to gain personally from using the app and the difference between research and commercial apps to enable our participants to feel comfortable, rather than critical, at an early stage. Furthermore, we used our small incentives budget to purchase gift card prizes for weekly raffles, but in the future would try to find a larger incentives budget to compensate all participants who reach data entry milestones to provide additional incentive to use the app.

The value of the added accuracy and variability captured through the app depends on the goals of the individual project. Survey data reflect a perception of average daily behavior across many days or weeks and, as shown in the comparison of survey and app data, did not capture as much variability during the week or over a longer time span. For some studies, the extra effort and high cost to capture that additional variability may not be worth it, or perhaps other EMA approaches such as collecting data through instant messaging would capture sufficient variability at significantly lower cost. However, other projects might find that the story lies within that captured variability and may find the costs worthwhile. The potential for the app to evolve for use in other studies may additionally factor into the cost-benefit analysis. The long-term benefits of app development become more apparent in projects that aim to build off initial results to study other populations or to develop behavior modification interventions. Several adjustments that the Daily24 architecture could accommodate are evident. For instance, the system of reminders and game rewards can be repurposed to support a shorter eating window. It would be easy for a participant to choose a time window for eating and then from that choice, both front end and back end could be working together to help reinforce that behavior. If a participant elected to start meals at a particular hour in the morning, a reminder could prompt them to enter whether they met that goal and to adjust their time entry for when they started their first meal. In a similar way, a prompt could readily be included to ask whether a participant has ended their meals for the day based on a time-based window for eating. The participant could then adjust the window to be smaller or larger based on their behavior. Game-like rewards for adhering to a time-based schedule would be easy to adjust from the current reward system for logging. This ability to adjust the app from a purely observational mode to a tool for behavior adjustment is a major benefit of the time and expense invested into the app.

Our experience is valuable for others considering cEMA apps and their associated back ends for clinical trials. We found that the development of an app and its associated back end was challenging, expensive, yet fully achievable in an academic setting. Like other research endeavors, we found that we could meet our major goals by carefully and iteratively identifying the data that we had to have and data or interactions we could live without. Our experience highlights the importance of a diverse and talented team, regardless of actual size, with an ability to be flexible and to listen to the participants. We believe that the future of this type of observational (and eventual interventional) study is with apps that encourage feedback from the participants, that enable the research team (often small and time-limited) to identify the participants most at risk of dropping out, and with an ability to collect, process, and display (subsets for the participants and all for the study team) real-time data. However, we suggest that anyone budgeting for this type of app be prepared for the long-term costs and the ups and downs associated with development and debugging and to expect that not all participants will "love the app."

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the following organizations: American Heart Association (AHA), Institute for Data Intensive Engineering and Science, AWS, Gnar.

Conflicts of Interest

TBW helped found DaiWare, which developed the software under a service contract with Johns Hopkins University and with funding from the AHA. There are no current plans to commercialize the app and this project was not initiated with any funds from DaiWare.

References

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26297

- 1. Davis TL, DiClemente R, Prietula M. Taking mHealth Forward: Examining the Core Characteristics. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Aug 10;4(3):e97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5659] [Medline: 27511612]
- Gordon WJ, Landman A, Zhang H, Bates DW. Beyond validation: getting health apps into clinical practice. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0212-z] [Medline: 32047860]
- Jim HSL, Hoogland AI, Brownstein NC, Barata A, Dicker AP, Knoop H, et al. Innovations in research and clinical care using patient-generated health data. CA Cancer J Clin 2020 May;70(3):182-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21608] [Medline: 32311776]
- 4. Gill S, Panda S. A Smartphone App Reveals Erratic Diurnal Eating Patterns in Humans that Can Be Modulated for Health Benefits. Cell Metab 2015 Nov 03;22(5):789-798 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.005] [Medline: 26411343]
- Allman-Farinelli M, Chen J, Chevance G, Partridge SR, Gemming L, Patrick K, et al. The efficacy of electronic health interventions targeting improved sleep for achieving prevention of weight gain in adolescents and young to middle-aged adults: A systematic review. Obes Rev 2020 Jun;21(6):e13006 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.13006] [Medline: 32037672]
- 6. Brannon EE, Cushing CC, Crick CJ, Mitchell TB. The promise of wearable sensors and ecological momentary assessment measures for dynamical systems modeling in adolescents: a feasibility and acceptability study. Transl Behav Med 2016 Dec;6(4):558-565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0442-4] [Medline: 27678501]
- Chow LS, Manoogian ENC, Alvear A, Fleischer JG, Thor H, Dietsche K, et al. Time-Restricted Eating Effects on Body Composition and Metabolic Measures in Humans who are Overweight: A Feasibility Study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2020 May;28(5):860-869 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oby.22756] [Medline: 32270927]
- Gabel K, Hoddy KK, Haggerty N, Song J, Kroeger CM, Trepanowski JF, et al. Effects of 8-hour time restricted feeding on body weight and metabolic disease risk factors in obese adults: A pilot study. Nutr Healthy Aging 2018 Jun 15;4(4):345-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3233/NHA-170036] [Medline: 29951594]
- 9. Longo VD, Panda S. Fasting, Circadian Rhythms, and Time-Restricted Feeding in Healthy Lifespan. Cell Metab 2016 Jun 14;23(6):1048-1059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.06.001] [Medline: 27304506]
- Melkani GC, Panda S. Time-restricted feeding for prevention and treatment of cardiometabolic disorders. J Physiol 2017 Jun 15;595(12):3691-3700 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1113/JP273094] [Medline: 28295377]
- Schwartz JE, Stone AA. Strategies for analyzing ecological momentary assessment data. Health Psychol 1998 Jan;17(1):6-16. [doi: <u>10.1037//0278-6133.17.1.6</u>] [Medline: <u>9459065</u>]
- 12. Maugeri A, Barchitta M. A Systematic Review of Ecological Momentary Assessment of Diet: Implications and Perspectives for Nutritional Epidemiology. Nutrients 2019 Nov 07;11(11):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu1112696] [Medline: 31703374]
- Dunton GF, Atienza AA, Castro CM, King AC. Using ecological momentary assessment to examine antecedents and correlates of physical activity bouts in adults age 50+ years: a pilot study. Ann Behav Med 2009 Dec;38(3):249-255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9141-4] [Medline: 20052568]
- 14. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008;4:1-32. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415] [Medline: 18509902]
- Asselbergs J, Ruwaard J, Ejdys M, Schrader N, Sijbrandij M, Riper H. Mobile Phone-Based Unobtrusive Ecological Momentary Assessment of Day-to-Day Mood: An Explorative Study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Mar 29;18(3):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5505] [Medline: 27025287]
- Kanning M, Schlicht W. Be active and become happy: an ecological momentary assessment of physical activity and mood. J Sport Exerc Psychol 2010 Apr;32(2):253-261. [doi: <u>10.1123/jsep.32.2.253</u>] [Medline: <u>20479481</u>]
- Ni M, Borsci S, Walne S, Mclister AP, Buckle P, Barlow JG, et al. The Lean and Agile Multi-dimensional Process (LAMP) a new framework for rapid and iterative evidence generation to support health-care technology design and development. Expert Rev Med Devices 2020 Apr;17(4):277-288. [doi: 10.1080/17434440.2020.1743174] [Medline: 32167800]
- Hoffman JM, Dunnenberger HM, Kevin Hicks J, Caudle KE, Whirl Carrillo M, Freimuth RR, et al. Developing knowledge resources to support precision medicine: principles from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC). J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jul;23(4):796-801 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw027] [Medline: 27026620]
- Barrow M. Constructing validated clinical tools to enable the development of a new evidence base for personalised nutrition practice in obesity management. Middlesex University. 2019 Aug 16. URL: <u>http://eprints.mdx.ac.uk/26408/</u> [accessed 2021-04-17]
- 20. Coravos A, Doerr M, Goldsack J, Manta C, Shervey M, Woods B, et al. Modernizing and designing evaluation frameworks for connected sensor technologies in medicine. npj Digit. Med 2020 Mar 13;3(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0237-3]
- 21. Hernández-Reyes A, Cámara-Martos F, Molina Recio G, Molina-Luque R, Romero-Saldaña M, Moreno Rojas R. Push Notifications From a Mobile App to Improve the Body Composition of Overweight or Obese Women: Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Feb 12;8(2):e13747 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13747] [Medline: 32049065]
- 22. Park J, Park S, Kim G, Kim K, Jung J, Yoo S, et al. Reliable Data Collection in Participatory Trials to Assess Digital Healthcare Applications. IEEE Access 2020;8:79472-79490. [doi: 10.1109/access.2020.2985122]
- 23. Aoyama S, Shibata S. Time-of-Day-Dependent Physiological Responses to Meal and Exercise. Front Nutr 2020 Feb 28;7:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00018] [Medline: 32181258]
- 24. Kannan V, Basit MA, Bajaj P, Carrington AR, Donahue IB, Flahaven EL, et al. User stories as lightweight requirements for agile clinical decision support development. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Nov 01;26(11):1344-1354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz123] [Medline: 31512730]
- 25. Kuntsche E, Labhart F. Using Personal Cell Phones for Ecological Momentary Assessment. European Psychologist 2013 Jan;18(1):3-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000127]
- 26. Gonda I. What kind of emphasis do we need in clinical research to enable personalised respiratory medicine? Eur Respir J 2020 Jan 16;55(1):1901866. [doi: 10.1183/13993003.01866-2019] [Medline: 31949101]
- 27. Dunton G, Ke W, Dzubur E, O'Connor SG, Lopez N, Margolin G. Within-Subject Effects of Stress on Weight-Related Parenting Practices in Mothers: An Ecological Momentary Assessment Study. Ann Behav Med 2019 Mar 28;53(5):415-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay053] [Medline: 31222228]
- 28. Juengst SB, Graham KM, Pulantara IW, McCue M, Whyte EM, Dicianno BE, et al. Pilot feasibility of an mHealth system for conducting ecological momentary assessment of mood-related symptoms following traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj 2015;29(11):1351-1361. [doi: 10.3109/02699052.2015.1045031] [Medline: 26287756]
- 29. Cohn AM, Hunter-Reel D, Hagman BT, Mitchell J. Promoting behavior change from alcohol use through mobile technology: the future of ecological momentary assessment. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2011 Dec;35(12):2209-2215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01571.x] [Medline: 21689119]
- Spook JE, Paulussen T, Kok G, Van Empelen P. Monitoring dietary intake and physical activity electronically: feasibility, usability, and ecological validity of a mobile-based Ecological Momentary Assessment tool. J Med Internet Res 2013 Sep 24;15(9):e214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2617] [Medline: 24067298]
- Bruening M, van Woerden I, Todd M, Brennhofer S, Laska MN, Dunton G. A Mobile Ecological Momentary Assessment Tool (devilSPARC) for Nutrition and Physical Activity Behaviors in College Students: A Validation Study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 27;18(7):e209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5969] [Medline: 27465701]
- Burke LE, Shiffman S, Music E, Styn MA, Kriska A, Smailagic A, et al. Ecological Momentary Assessment in Behavioral Research: Addressing Technological and Human Participant Challenges. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 15;19(3):e77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7138] [Medline: 28298264]
- Goheer A, Holzhauer K, Martinez J, Woolf T, Coughlin JW, Martin L, et al. What influences the "when" of eating and sleeping?A qualitative interview study. Appetite 2021 Jan 01;156:104980. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.appet.2020.104980</u>] [Medline: <u>32980457</u>]

Abbreviations

AWS: Amazon Web Services **cEMA:** circadian EMA **EMA:** ecological momentary assessment **EMR:** electronic medical record

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.12.20; peer-reviewed by M Sobolev, R Krukowski, S Liu; comments to author 15.01.21; revised version received 12.03.21; accepted 04.04.21; published 23.07.21.

Please cite as:

Woolf TB, Goheer A, Holzhauer K, Martinez J, Coughlin JW, Martin L, Zhao D, Song S, Ahmad Y, Sokolinskyi K, Remayeva T, Clark JM, Bennett W, Lehmann H Development of a Mobile App for Ecological Momentary Assessment of Circadian Data: Design Considerations and Usability Testing JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e26297 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e26297 doi:10.2196/26297 PMID:34296999

©Thomas B Woolf, Attia Goheer, Katherine Holzhauer, Jonathan Martinez, Janelle W Coughlin, Lindsay Martin, Di Zhao, Shanshan Song, Yanif Ahmad, Kostiantyn Sokolinskyi, Tetyana Remayeva, Jeanne M Clark, Wendy Bennett, Harold Lehmann. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 23.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Feasibility, Efficacy, and Efficiency of eHealth-Supported Pediatric Asthma Care: Six-Month Quasi-Experimental Single-Arm Pretest-Posttest Study

Mattienne van der Kamp^{1,2}, MSc; Pamela Reimering Hartgerink¹, MSN; Jean Driessen^{1,3}, MD, PhD; Bernard Thio¹, MD, PhD; Hermie Hermens^{2,4}, Prof Dr; Monique Tabak^{2,4}, PhD

¹Department of Pediatrics, Medisch Spectrum Twente, Enschede, Netherlands

²Biomedical Signals and Systems, University of Twente, Enschede, Netherlands

³Department of Sports Medicine, Orthopedisch Centrum Oost Nederland, Hengelo, Netherlands

⁴Department of eHealth, Roessingh Research and Development, Enschede, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Mattienne van der Kamp, MSc Department of Pediatrics Medisch Spectrum Twente Koningsplein 1 Enschede, 7512KZ Netherlands Phone: 31 534872310 Email: <u>mattienne@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Early detection of loss of asthma control can effectively reduce the burden of the disease. However, broad implementation in clinical practice has not been accomplished so far. We are in need of research investigating the operationalization of eHealth pediatric asthma care in practice, which can provide the most potential benefits in terms of adoption, efficiency, and effectiveness.

Objective: The aim of this study was to investigate the technical and clinical feasibility, including an exploration of the efficacy and cost-efficiency, of an eHealth program implemented in daily clinical pediatric asthma practice.

Methods: We designed an eHealth-supported pediatric asthma program facilitating early detection of loss of asthma control while increasing symptom awareness and self-management. In the 6-month program, asthma control was monitored by 4 health care professionals (HCPs) by using objective home measurements and the web-based Puffer app to allow timely medical anticipation and prevent treatment delay. Technical feasibility was assessed by technology use, system usability, and technology acceptance. Clinical feasibility was assessed by participation and patient-reported health and care outcomes and via a focus group with HCPs regarding their experiences of implementing eHealth in daily practice. The efficacy and cost-efficiency were explored by comparing pretest-posttest program differences in asthma outcomes (asthma control, lung function, and therapy adherence) and medical consumption.

Results: Of 41 children, 35 children with moderate-to-severe asthma volunteered for participation. With regard to technical feasibility, the Puffer app scored a good usability score of 78 on the System Usability Scale and a score of 70 for technology acceptance on a scale of 1 to 100. Approximately 75% (18/24) of the children indicated that eHealth helped them to control their asthma during the program. HCPs indicated that home measurements and real time communication enabled them to make safe and substantiated medical decisions during symptom manifestations. With an average time commitment of 15 minutes by patients, eHealth care led to a 80% gross reduction (from \notin 71,784 to \notin 14,018, US \$1= \oplus 0.85) in health care utilization, 8.6% increase (from 18.6 to 20.2, *P*=.40) in asthma control, 25.0% increase (from 2.8 to 3.5, *P*=.04) in the self-management level, and 20.4% improved (from 71.2 to 76.8, *P*=.02) therapy adherence.

Conclusions: eHealth asthma care seems to be technically and clinically feasible, enables safe remote care, and seems to be beneficial for pediatric asthma care in terms of health outcomes and health care utilization. Follow-up research should focus on targeted effectiveness studies with the lessons learned, while also enabling individualization of eHealth for personalized health care.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e24634) doi:10.2196/24634

KEYWORDS

telemedicine; feasibility studies; child; self-management; asthma; patient acceptance of health care; ambulatory care; remote sensing technology; cost-benefit analysis; health care costs

Introduction

Asthma is one of the most common chronic diseases in childhood with an estimated prevalence of 7%-10% [1]. Pediatric asthma is an episodic obstructive airway disease leading to attacks, which can hamper physical and emotional well-being [2-4]. The organization of long-term pediatric asthma care currently consists of scheduled periodical hospital visits during which children are clinically evaluated, while being usually symptom-free [5]. Parents and children are also educated during these visits to recognize loss of asthma control and instructed how to manage their symptoms when they occur at home. This, however, relies on an accurate symptom perception of parents and children, which is inaccurate one-third of the times [6,7]. Sears et al [8] showed that inadequate assessment of severity and failure of the family to call for help when required are the major risk factors for serious exacerbations and deaths due to pediatric asthma. Asthma attacks are still one of the main causes of emergency department visits and hospitalizations, thereby imposing a great burden on the pediatric health care system [9-11].

Previous studies have shown that the implementation of strategies aimed at the early detection of asthma, thereby providing access to proper and timely treatment, effectively reduced the burden of the disease [5,9,12]. However, these strategies have not been implemented on a large scale in clinical practice [13]. Health care professionals (HCPs), children, and parents may lack reliable and affordable tools, which can unobtrusively assist disease monitoring and improve health outcomes. eHealth pediatric asthma care supported by home-monitoring technology such as hand-held spirometers or smart inhalers could be such a strategy as it can provide (1) quantitative insight into the dynamics of chronic disease progression; (2) insight into the severity, dynamics, and perception of asthma symptoms, as it exploits repeated measurements of asthma status during symptomatic periods, thereby enabling self-assessment and self-management [14,15] and building symptom perception [16]; and (3) early detection of loss of control and identification of cues and causes of asthma control deterioration [17], which could facilitate timely and targeted medical anticipation and rapid regain of the control of asthma, preventing asthma attacks. Combining these aspects, eHealth strategies may optimize and increase compliance to treatment regimens and may be beneficial in improving health outcomes [18].

Existing evidence on the impact of eHealth in the management of asthma has high heterogeneity in the study endpoints and designs [19]. To date, the largest proportion of eHealth research zeros in on either improving therapy adherence [20-22] or boosting self-management [23-25] and is often not specifically tailored to the pediatric population. The research gap, therefore, lies in the development and evaluation of an eHealth strategy

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e24634

for children with asthma that is based on real-time communication with HCPs and a multi-parameter monitoring approach that facilitates timely anticipation in case of worsening of disease progression. Reaching optimal effects of eHealth care is conditional upon the (1) readiness, acceptance, and engagement of the technology, (2) reliability of the clinical content, and (3) adoption and implementation in clinical practice [26-29]. Only if these 3 conditions are met, optimal efficacy can be expected and options for permanent embedding in practice can be properly evaluated. Currently, the evaluations of eHealth interventions are often executed within either a short pilot or a larger controlled research setting, both lacking to fulfil condition 3 (adoption and implementation in clinical practice) and therefore, not resembling daily care practice. Many of these studies indicate that more research is needed to evaluate the barriers and facilitators for the implementation of an eHealth program in daily practice outside a study setting [30]. Therefore, in this study, we used an exploratory study design adopted in daily clinical care to investigate the operationalization of an eHealth pediatric asthma care program, supported by home-monitoring technology. This study investigates the technical feasibility, that is, technology use, usability, and acceptance, and clinical feasibility, that is, where we can expect the greatest effects and under what conditions we can expect these. The clinical feasibility includes an exploration of the efficacy (in terms of self-reported asthma outcomes, therapy adherence, and inhalation technique combined with lung function) and cost-efficiency (ie, health care utilization). The lessons learned from this study can lay the foundation for targeted effectiveness studies [30].

Methods

Study Design

This exploratory study had a quasi-experiment single arm pretest-posttest design to assess the feasibility of an eHealth program implemented in pediatric asthma care. To explore the efficacy and efficiency of the eHealth program compared to those of regular care, historical data were used for comparison.

Subjects

In total, 41 children (age 4-18 years) with moderate-to-severe pediatrician-diagnosed asthma were asked to participate. They were recruited from the pediatric department of Medisch Spectrum Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands between July 2018 and May 2019 by using consecutive sampling. Children with comorbid chronic diseases or children/parents unable to understand or speak Dutch were not eligible to participate. Offline written informed consent from parents and children >12 years was obtained prior to enrolment. During the exploratory eHealth program, both the HCPs and children and parents could restore regular outpatient follow-up if desired or medically justified.

The eHealth Program

The eHealth program (Multimedia Appendix 1) was designed to detect the loss of asthma control in daily life timely and accurately [17], to increase awareness of the severity of asthma symptoms, and to improve the safety of care for both physicians and patients by using objective measurements as the basis for joint decision making. The development and content of the eHealth program was frozen during this study and consisted of the Puffer app and a set of 2 monitoring devices:

 Monitoring of lung function was performed using the hand-held Spirobank advanced II (MIR Inc). Spirometer flow-volume loops were classified by the HCPs based on self-reported events (regular, pre-exercise, postexercise, symptom, after reliever use). Incorrectly performed spirometer measurements were excluded, according to the American Thoracic Society and European Thoracic Society criteria for standardization of lung function testing [31]. Single spirometry outcome measures (such as forced expiratory volume in 1 second [FEV₁], FEV₁/forced vital capacity [FVC], FEF₂₅₋₇₅ [mean forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% of the FVC], and peak expiratory flow) and combined measures (pre-post exercise FEV_1 differences, pre-post reliever use FEV_1 differences and FEV_1 variation) were monitored. Children were asked to perform a spirometry measurement once a week and during symptom occurrence.

2. Medication adherence and inhalation techniques were electronically tracked with the Amiko Respiro smart inhalers (Amiko Inc). This information is essential as many studies have shown that adherence and inhaler technique in children with asthma is poor [32,33]. Moreover, Chrystyn et al [34] recently indicated that smart inhaler studies need to be carried out to demonstrate their potential to improve disease control, prevent exacerbations, and justify their costs. Controller adherence was calculated by dividing the amount of controller medication taken by the amount of medication prescribed (%). Inhalation technique data consisted of the inhalation flow, inhalation duration, and device orientation and were visualized with respect to the regulative values per inhalation device.

The web-based Puffer app (Figure 1) consists of the following functionalities:

Figure 1. An overview of the Puffer app. A: image of the logo and design of log-in screen with username and password; B: overview of the functionalities (the red words indicate the functionalities); C: chat screen. ACT: asthma control test; VAS: visual analog scale.



- Share photos, videos, and sound recordings: Sharing symptom recordings (ie, allergic reactions, wheeze, cough, and dyspnea) allowed the assessment of asthma severity, especially in younger children [35]. These children have little capacity to compensate for hypoxia and a compliant chest wall; therefore, videos may reveal multiple observational signs (eg, tachypnea, retractions, nasal flaring, speaking in words) [36]. The video option could also be used, as needed, to assess the adequate use of the inhaler and spirometer [37].
- 2. Chat function: The chats were stamped with a date and time label and the messages receive a checkmark when read by the HCPs and vice versa.
- 3. Emergency button: It provides the emergency action plan.

 Share monitoring data: Children could indicate their daily dyspnea symptoms using the visual analog scale (VAS) [38] indicated by emojis, 1 (worst dyspnea ever: sad crying emoji) and 10 (no dyspnea at all: happy face emoji). Asthma control was monitored via the childhood asthma control test (C-ACT) questionnaire [39].

The program was offered for 6 months. Before start, children and parents received the monitoring devices and app, instruction materials, and were instructed on site by the HCPs. A self-made animation (Multimedia Appendix 2) was shared with the participants to illustrate the purpose of the program. Participants were in contact from home with their HCPs (nurse practitioners, technical physician, and pediatric pulmonologist) via a web-based app (Puffer app). Within the 6-month program period, children and parents were free to use the Puffer app

whenever they felt to but were encouraged to update the HCPs at least weekly. Moreover, children and parents were instructed to contact the HCPs as soon as possible when symptoms occur but were also explicitly instructed to not wait for web-based communication in case of emergency asthma exacerbations by pursuing the regular paths within the health care system. HCPs checked the Puffer app daily for new content and data and provided personalized advice via the chat based on the communication and monitored data. All data were visible to both the participants and HCPs. Moreover, once a week, the HCPs came together for a multidisciplinary consultation, in which the data trends and the communications of all patients were discussed.

Outcome Measures

Demographic characteristics (ie, age, gender, inhaled corticosteroid use, long-acting beta-agonist use, and inhalation allergy) were retrieved from the electronic patient record. The health care utilization of the patient was categorized (light ambulatory, middle ambulatory, and clinical) according to the Dutch healthcare registration system of the Dutch Health Care Authority.

Technical Feasibility

Technical feasibility was assessed by technology use, system usability, and technology acceptance. Technology use was determined continuously by the number of chat messages, time spent using the Puffer app (minutes/week), and the adherence (%) of the spirometry data uploads (assuming 1 lung function measurement per week). System usability and technology acceptance were assessed using the System Usability Scale and Technology Acceptance Model [40,41] at the end of the eHealth program (T_{end}), and in addition, by means of a nondirective interview (with an average duration of 5 min) in which the children and parents were asked to provide their experiences of using the technology as part of the eHealth program. From the interview, an overview of the issues was made by grouping similar issues and those were converted into categorical codes (0=negative, 1=positive) to allow for statistical analyses. Moreover, the issues were categorized as minor, serious, or critical based on the frequency and consequences as described by Duh et al [42] and verified by the involved HCPs.

Clinical Feasibility

Clinical feasibility was assessed by participation rate, patient-reported health and care outcomes, and implementation experiences of the HCPs by exploring efficacy and efficiency. The participation rate was the proportion of children who volunteered to participate after being approached for participation. The patient-reported outcomes were quality of care (client satisfaction questionnaire-8 items [CSQ-8]), self-management level (patient activation measure-13 items questionnaire), and quality of life (EuroQol-5D) [43-45]. In addition, participants were also asked whether the proposed eHealth care could support them to control their asthma and whether it could help to prevent emergency department visits and admissions to the hospital (with the answer options: yes absolutely, I don't know, and no). All patient-reported outcomes were assessed on paper prior to the start of the eHealth program

XSL•FO RenderX (T_{start}) and at the end of the eHealth program (T_{end}) . To assess the experiences of HCPs with the eHealth program, 4 HCPs that were part of the eHealth care team were asked to verbalize their thoughts and practical experiences of the eHealth care in a focus group of approximately 60 minutes. The primary aim of the focus group was to identify the barriers and facilitators of pediatric eHealth care, to investigate to what extent the eHealth care program is implementable in their pediatric asthma care center, and to yield pragmatic recommendations. The outcomes were structured under the themes: technical innovations, eHealth asthma care, and implementation considerations [46].

The efficacy of the eHealth care was assessed by lung function tests at home, therapy adherence, inhalation technique, and self-reported asthma outcomes (C-ACT scores and VAS scores of dyspnea) [38,39]. Efficacy was explored by investigating the change in asthma outcomes between the start (first 3 measurements within the first month) and end of the eHealth care (last 3 measurements within the last month of the eHealth care). Health care utilization data consisted of all asthma-related medical procedures (diagnostics, therapy, admissions, emergency department visits, consultations) and were retrieved from the hospital registration system. The unit cost prices of these procedures were determined according to the cost price model guideline of the Dutch Health Care Authority [47]. The costs of the eHealth care program were evaluated by combining the depreciation costs of the equipment and the additional workhours of all HCPs. Research-related costs were excluded. The efficiency of the care was then explored by a within-subjects paired comparison between (1) the historical health care utilization data from a half year prior to the inclusion till the moment of inclusion and (2) the health care utilization data during the eHealth program.

Statistical Analysis

This explorative study used a per-protocol analysis as the dropout rate was low, causing the analysis to better reflect the effects of eHealth when used adherently and without complications in the majority of the asthmatic children. Missing data of children who finished the eHealth program were handled by pairwise deletion. Descriptive statistics were used to examine all the continuous outcome measures and were expressed in mean (SD) for normally distributed variables and in median (IOR) for not normally distributed variables. Univariate analyses were performed on the pretest-posttest differences of the patient-reported outcomes, asthma outcomes, and care utilization with SPSS statistics (IBM Corp). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to determine whether the variables were normally distributed. The variables that did not have a normal distribution were tested for paired differences with the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. Normally distributed variables were tested with a paired two-tailed t test. P values less than or equal to .05 were considered as significant.

Results

Demographic Characteristics

Of the 35 children who participated, 30 children (mean age 11.1

Table 1. Patient characteristics (n=30).

[SD 4.1] years, 22 boys) finished the half-year eHealth care period. Table 1 shows an overview of the characteristics of the children. The majority (25/30) of these children had a high health care utilization.

Patient characteristics	Value
Age (years), mean (SD)	11.1 (4.1)
Gender (male), n (%)	22 (73)
BMI z-score, mean (SD)	0.52 (0.87)
Inhaled corticosteroid use, n (%)	30 (100)
Long-acting beta-agonist use, n (%)	24 (80)
Inhalation allergy, n (%)	27 (90)
Childhood asthma control test score, mean (SD)	18.6 (5.0)
Asthma care registration (in half year prior to inclusion), n (%)	
Light ambulatory ^a	5 (17)
Middle ambulatory ^b	15 (50)
Clinical ^c	10 (33)

^aLight ambulatory is defined as having 1 or 2 outpatient visits for pediatric asthma without additional care utility.

^bMiddle ambulatory is defined as having 3 or more outpatient visits or day treatment or diagnostic testing or any combination of these.

^cClinical is defined as having a hospital admission for pediatric asthma.

Technical Feasibility

With regard to technology use, on average, 103 (SD 71) chat messages were sent and received per patient within the half year eHealth care, which is approximately 2 messages per patient per week. The median time spent on using the Puffer app by the participants was 15 minutes per week (IQR 10-26.25 minutes per week). The spirometry adherence was on average 55.7% (SD 9.5%), with week 4 as their median first week for skipping the data upload and week 10 as their median time to have skipped 3 weeks of spirometry data. The system usability score was 78 (SD 17), which indicated good usability. The technology acceptance score was 70 (SD 18) on a scale from 0 to 100. The specific components that made up the technology acceptance showed the highest scores on intention to use (81 [SD 17%]) and ease of use (77 [SD 24%]) and lowest on control over the system (64 [SD 25%]). No critical issues were identified from the nondirective interview with children and parents. Six participants indicated the serious issue that "it would be useful if you were notified if there was a new message from the doctor," 3 participants preferred a native app instead of a web-based app, and 2 participants indicated that they would like a graphical overview for inspection of their own data.

Clinical Feasibility

Participation rate was high, as 85% (35/41) of the eligible children were willing to participate in the eHealth program. Of these 35 children, 2 dropped out as they indicated to prefer regular care because the eHealth care required "too much effort"

from their side. The other 3 excluded participants were prematurely excluded on indication of the HCPs as they felt that the responsibility of care came at stake owing to insufficient good quality home-monitoring data, repeated technology issues that could not be solved remotely, or late responses of the participants to symptoms. Table 2 shows the patient-reported health and care outcomes at the start and at the end of the eHealth program. It reveals that the self-management score and the associated self-management level (patient activation measure-13 item questionnaire) significantly increased through participation in the eHealth care program (P=.02). The quality of care (CSQ-8) was significantly lower at the end of the program (P=.03). The quality of life showed no significant paired differences. Prior to the start of the project, 77% (10/13) of the participants indicated that eHealth could help to control the disease compared to 75% (18/24) afterwards. Prior to the start of the project, 69% (9/13) of the participants indicated that eHealth could help to prevent admissions and emergency department visits compared to 92% (22/24) afterwards.

The focus group was attended by 4 HCPs (a pediatric pulmonologist, a technical physician, a nurse practitioner, and an asthma nurse), who were all part of the eHealth asthma team. Table 3 shows an overview of the barriers, facilitators, and recommendations mentioned, categorized into 3 main domains: technical innovations, eHealth asthma care, and implementation considerations. An elaborate written collection of the experiences of the HCPs can be found in Multimedia Appendix 3.



van der Kamp et al

Table 2. Patient-reported outcomes.

Outcome	Patients (n)	Start of eHealth care intervention, mean (SD)	End of eHealth care intervention, mean (SD)	Relative difference (%)	P value
Quality of care (client satisfaction questionnaire-8 items) (0%-100%)	9	94.4 (4.9)	84.7 (10.6)	-10	.03
Self-management score					
Patient activation measure-13 items (13-52)	10	40.8 (4.3)	44.2 (5.0)	+8	.02
Patient activation measure level ^a (1-4)	10	2.8 (0.9)	3.5 (0.7)	+25	.04
Quality of life (EuroQol-5D, 0-100) ^b	10	94.8 (8.4)	93.0 (10.8)	-2	.50

^aLevel 1: start taking on a role, level 2: building knowledge and trust, level 3: take action, level 4: sustain behavior. ^bEuroQol-5D: European Quality of Life-5 dimension scale.

Table 3. An overview of the barriers, facilitators, and recommendations of the health c	are professio	onals.
---	---------------	--------

Theme, subtheme	Barriers	Facilitators	Recommendations	
Technical innovati	ons			
General	• Technical difficulties for chil- dren/parents learning to operate new diagnostic devices	Objective assessmentVisualization of trend data	Create help deskExpand instruction with run-through on own devices	
Smart inhaler	 Nuisance of device updates Limited compatibility to iPhone operating system Limited number of inhalers compatible 	 Ability to track therapy compliance real-time Gain insight into medication use behav- ior Assessing inhalation technique to se- lect appropriate inhaler type for child 	 Expand range of compatible (pediatric) inhalers Automatic synchronization 	
Puffer app	 No integration with electronic health record Absence of real-time reminding system 	 Video assessment of symptoms Assessment of symptom perception by combining subjective and objective measures 	 Include pop-up reminders Connect data trend log to electronic health record 	
eHealth asthma ca	ire			
General	 Risk of missing symptoms in case of noncompliance to eHealth Lack of physical examination 	 Individualized care plan Safe "substantiated by data" medical decision making Ability to step-wise learn for children/parents to self-manage asthma Shared care responsibility between health care professionals and children/parents 	 Children with uncontrolled moderate- to-severe asthma are primarily suited for eHealth Discuss the overlapping disease man- agement goals at start of eHealth peri- od The extent of eHealth care should be adaptable and confined to the individ- ual needs. 	
Implementation co	onsiderations			
Time invest- ment	 Difficult to schedule time for eHealth care due to its varying character Increased time expenditure per patient 	• Parents/children admire the additional time effort	 Regional cooperation to enable scheduled shifts No fixed eHealth period; option to quickly de-escalate eHealth care and option to easily restart. 	
Health care professionals	Requires reorganization of per- sonnel	Efficient task reallocationMultidisciplinary approach	 Weekly multidisciplinary consultation Include a technical oriented care professional to the eHealth team. 	
Compliance	• Less compliance to eHealth in times when symptoms are not perceived	• Ability to automatically track compli- ance to care tasks	 Create a weekly routine of measurements Transparent noncompliance flowchart to protocolize reminders and eventual exclusion 	



Efficacy Outcomes

This eHealth program led to an improvement in asthma outcomes, as shown in Table 4. It is noticeable that lung function (+10%), self-interpreted dyspnea (VAS) (+8%), and therapy

Table 4. Asthma outcomes.

compliance (+20%) increased significantly. Moreover, an average increase of 1.7 points in the C-ACT score was noticeable after eHealth care, shifting the average from uncontrolled asthma (\leq 19) to controlled asthma (>20); however, this difference was not statistically significant.

Outcome measure	Patients (n)	Start of eHealth care, mean (SD)	End of eHealth care, mean (SD)	Relative difference (%)	P value
Lung function (forced expiratory volume in 1 second % predicted)	24	82.2% (18.1)	90.1 (18.1)	+10	<.001
Dyspnea score (visual analog scale 1-10) ^a	17	7.8 (1.5)	8.4 (1.0)	+8	.01
Childhood asthma control test	9	18.6 (5.0)	20.2 (4.0)	+9	.40
Therapy adherence (% of prescribed)	16	59.9 (33.3)	72.1 (20.3)	+20	.02
Inhalation technique (% correct intake)	16	71.2 (27.4)	76.8 (18.9)	+8	.09

^aScore1: most severe imaginable dyspnea symptoms; score 10: no symptoms of dyspnea at all.

Efficiency Outcomes

The asthma care registration before and after eHealth care changed as follows: clinical T_{start} , n=10, T_{end} , n=2; middle ambulatory T_{start} , n=15, T_{end} , n=2; and light ambulatory T_{start} , n=5, T_{end} , n=26. Moreover, Table 5 shows that eHealth care resulted in a reduction of care utilization in all aspects, with 85% (from 13 to 2 admissions, 11/13) fewer hospital admissions, 81% (from 21 to 4 emergency visits, 17/21) fewer emergency

Table 5. Health care utilization.

department visits, and 83% (from 116 to 20 outpatient visits, 96/116) fewer outpatient visits. The reduction in care utilization ensured an average cost reduction per patient of 1925.52 (US \$1=0.85) per half year (80%). Of this, 38.2% (735.55/1925.52) is covered by outpatient savings and therefore 61.8% (1189.97/1925.52) by savings on clinical care. The average program cost was 1291.50 consisting of $\Huge{120}$ for the monitoring devices and $\vcenter{150}$ for the additional hours of the HCPs. Therefore, the net cost reduction was 26.3% (634.02/1925.52).

Care utilization	Six months prior to inclusion	Six months in eHealth care	Difference (relative difference in %)
Hospital admissions (n)	13	2	-11 (-85)
Emergency visits (n)	21	4	-17 (-81)
Outpatient visits (n)	116	20	-96 (-83)
Diagnostic tests (n)	20	1	-19 (-95)
Telephonic consultation (n)	21	9	-12 (-57)
Total health care costs (euro) ^a	€71,784	€14,018	-€7,766 (-80)
Program costs (euro)	N/A ^b	€38,745	+€38,745
Net cost reduction	€71,784	€2,763	-€19,021 (-26)

^aUS \$1=€0.85.

^bN/A: not applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This exploratory study revealed a high feasibility for the use of eHealth-supported pediatric asthma care to monitor and manage children with moderate-to-severe asthma. The exploratory findings showed an increase in self-management, lung function, and therapy adherence and a gross reduction in health care utilization of 80% compared to the historical medical utilization in the same patients. With regard to the technical feasibility, the eHealth system showed good usability and good technology acceptance. No critical issues were identified, but improvements

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e24634
```

RenderX

were suggested by patients and HCPs to increase compatibility, enable reminders, and work toward a higher technology readiness level. The technology use of participants was sufficient but became less adherent over time and were mainly adherent to the instructed monitoring frequency in periods with increasing asthma symptoms, consistent with the "law of attraction" as previously described by Eysenbach [48] and comparable to other asthma telehealth tools [49]. Participants indicated that the lack of time and lack of pop-up reminders made them forget to share data/communications. Moreover, participants may grow into "e-attainers," thereby receiving what was needed (eg, experienced symptom reduction) from this program, even if not from the HCPs, and they would become less adherent [13,50].

This study showed that eHealth-supported asthma care can be beneficial for patients, HCPs, and care organizations. With a participation rate of 85.4%, our eHealth program compared well to other pediatric eHealth initiatives, especially considering the half year time span of the study [51-53]. The high willingness to participate in eHealth care could be due to strengthened position of the children and parents by engaging in their own health care [54]. This provided an opportunity for them to express themselves, measure their symptoms, discuss their insecurities, and enabled them to participate in decision making [55]. Moreover, 75% of the participating children/parents were convinced that this type of eHealth care could help control the disease. In line with this, our study revealed a significant increase in self-management, which is in line with the meta-analytic review of Cushing and Steele [56] who stated, "eHealth interventions that incorporate behavioral methods (eg, self-monitoring, goal setting, immediate feedback, contingency management) produce larger effect sizes for health behaviors and their associated outcomes than interventions that rely solely on education." Moreover, de Jongh et al [57] reported that mobile phone messaging may facilitate self-management of long-term illnesses, emphasizing the importance of direct communication between HCPs and patients. In particular, communication substantiated by self-monitoring data can build up the confidence of children and parents and enhance understanding and self-management of disease. The C-ACT score did not show a significant improvement. However, the average increase from 18.6 (which reflects uncontrolled asthma) to 20.2 (which is clinically interpreted as controlled asthma) indicates a fair margin of improvement in the moderate-to-severe asthma in the population included in this study [5].

This study showed a 80% gross reduction in health care utilization, which was also reflected by the beliefs of the participants themselves; 77% (23/30) of the parents at the start of the program and 92% (24/26) after participating in the program claimed that eHealth in children with asthma could help prevent admissions and emergency department visits. The eHealth care provided a platform for transparent knowledge transfer about the course of individual asthma symptoms and how to manage these. This may have undermined a common belief in patients that asthma is an acute rather than a chronic condition [58], leading to improved therapy compliance and better asthma outcomes in a majority of the children and parents.

Implications For Future Research and Daily Care Practice

Although most eHealth interventions report improved patient outcomes, there still is skepticism about the use of eHealth [59-61]. What is the balance between obtrusiveness of home measurements versus the relevance for disease monitoring? How does eHealth adapt to the individual needs of a patient? Does continuous data collection at home compete with privacy rights and how are data securely managed, processed, and stored? These aforementioned barriers combined with the contextual obstacles (such as workplace reorganization and changes in employment and work priorities) contribute to the conservative attitude of HCPs toward eHealth [59,60]. In contrast, this proof-of-concept study and the study of Simpson et al [62] show legitimate support of mHealth to assist with asthma self-management by both individuals with asthma and HCPs. The HCPs who participated in this study's focus group were confident and enthusiastic about the potential of eHealth care and indicated that current barriers in the organizational and technological aspects are solvable. Specific future focus should be on the safety aspects of eHealth care so that noncompliance to eHealth cannot lead to missing crucial disease information. HCPs also expressed that the ever-expanding data-driven community combined with the increasing amount and quality of available eHealth technologies will slowly occupy a permanent place within the pediatric asthma care. Nonetheless, there is still a lot to gain in bringing these interventions to practice. Next to technological and contextual improvements, HCPs indicated that follow-up research should focus on investigating the adoption of eHealth within the medical guidelines, individualization of eHealth interventions, and protocolization of eHealth use for specific subissues (ie, poor adherence, at risk for exacerbations, and low self-management level). Although cost-effectiveness is particularly important in health care, only few eHealth systems have demonstrated economic advantage, which makes investments in technology by commissioners of services unlikely and implementation even harder [61]. This exploratory study investigated the economic effect and revealed a marked reduction in health care costs by secondary and tertiary prevention with the use of objective monitoring and direct communication. Taking into account the task reallocation of the HCPs and the additional costs of eHealth care resulted in an estimated net cost reduction of 26%, enabling further steps for financial coverage.

Strengths and Limitations

The eHealth program incorporated combined sensing technologies, which could be used to monitor and estimate the disease course, enabling HCPs to anticipate early by medical interventions. This has not been explored in the field of pediatric eHealth care effect studies before and builds upon existing evidence of improved asthma outcomes in eHealth studies using questionnaire-based asthma monitoring or digital self-management support [63-66]. Moreover, our program focused on the development of self-management by using quick, substantiated (by data), and personalized communication by the HCPs in periods of symptoms. Another strength of this program was that children with moderate-to-severe asthma were included and that the baseline characteristics reflect this population well. This population is eminently the group at risk for exacerbations and hospitalizations, and therefore, the first target group for eHealth interventions to enable more effective and efficient pediatric asthma care [67].

This study was limited by the amount of missing questionnaire data. Questionnaires that were not filled completely or incorrectly (multiple answers given in multiple choice) were excluded from the analysis to retain the validity of the questionnaire scores. Moreover, some participants returned the questionnaires by post, which additionally contributed to missing data. Web-based survey systems may help to overcome these issues [68]. The EuroQol-5D quality of life questionnaire showed to be prone to ceiling effects in the pediatric asthma population, as the questions do not really correspond to the burden of asthma on children. Therefore, specific quality-of-life

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

questionnaires for pediatric asthma such as the pediatric asthma quality of life questionnaire are recommended [69,70].

Although this program strongly suggests that eHealth asthma care might enhance asthma outcomes with a reduction in hospital care utilization, this study was not designed as a randomized controlled trial. At the start of the program, the development of the Puffer app was frozen, but the knowledge, skills, and expertise of HCPs for applying eHealth technology in the pediatric asthma care was expected to progress, which made it better suited for a quality improvement methodology [13]. This study, therefore, demands replication and validation with a control group.

Conclusions

This study revealed a high feasibility for the use of ambulatory pediatric asthma care supported by combined sensing technology that monitors moderate-to-severe asthma and provides timely and substantiated medical anticipation. Future research should focus on investigating adoption of eHealth within the medical pediatric asthma guidelines and individualization of eHealth interventions to reach maximal adoption. These studies can contribute to the development and implementation of feasible ambulatory pediatric asthma interventions, which may help reducing the health burden by increasing long-term respiratory health outcomes.

Acknowledgments

This study was financially supported by the innovation fund "Samenwerken aan Waarde" 2018 of Medisch Spectrum Twente hospital and Menzis health care provider. We thank the innovation fund "Samenwerken aan Waarde" of Medisch Spectrum Twente and Menzis for the unrestricted grant to be able to perform this explorative eHealth program. We also thank J Pierik for her advice and help to set up this program in her hospital. Moreover, we would like to acknowledge the eHealth asthma team of the Medisch Spectrum Twente hospital in Enschede for their continuous effort to provide the best quality remote asthma care.

Authors' Contributions

MvdK designed and performed the study, processed the study data, performed the analysis, and wrote the draft of the manuscript. PRH performed the study and codirected the project in the hospital. BT conceived the presented idea, directed the project in the hospital, and contributed substantially to the final manuscript. JD contributed substantially to the final manuscript and supervised the project. All authors discussed the results, commented on the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

MvdK, JD, and BT contributed to the conceptualization, development, and implementation of the web-based Puffer app. None of the authors declare any other conflict of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Flowchart showing the overview of the eHealth program. [PNG File, 102 KB - formative v5i7e24634 app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2 eHealth program animation. [<u>MP4 File (MP4 Video), 59620 KB</u> - <u>formative_v5i7e24634_app2.mp4</u>]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Summary document of the focus group: the experiences of the health care professionals. [DOCX File , 17 KB - formative_v5i7e24634_app3.docx]

References

- Wijga AH, Kerkhof M, Gehring U, de Jongste JC, Postma DS, Aalberse RC, et al. Cohort profile: the prevention and incidence of asthma and mite allergy (PIAMA) birth cohort. Int J Epidemiol 2014 Apr;43(2):527-535. [doi: 10.1093/ije/dys231] [Medline: 23315435]
- 2. Kirkby RJ, Whelan TA. The Effects of Hospitalisation and Medical Procedures on Children and Their Families. Journal of Family Studies 2014 Dec 17;2(1):65-77. [doi: 10.5172/jfs.2.1.65]
- Rolfsjord LB, Skjerven HO, Bakkeheim E, Carlsen K, Hunderi JOG, Kvenshagen BK, et al. Children hospitalised with bronchiolitis in the first year of life have a lower quality of life nine months later. Acta Paediatr 2015 Jan;104(1):53-58. [doi: 10.1111/apa.12792] [Medline: 25169812]
- 4. Bonn M. The effects of hospitalisation on children: a review. Curationis 1994 Jun;17(2):20-24. [doi: 10.4102/curationis.v17i2.1384] [Medline: 8044881]

- 5. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention. Global Initiative for Asthma. URL: <u>https://ginasthma.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/GINA-2019-main-report-June-2019-wms.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-11-02]
- 6. Yoos HL, Kitzman H, McMullen A, Sidora K. Symptom perception in childhood asthma: how accurate are children and their parents? J Asthma 2003 Mar;40(1):27-39. [doi: 10.1081/jas-120017204] [Medline: 12699209]
- Banzett RB, Dempsey JA, O'Donnell DE, Wamboldt MZ. Symptom perception and respiratory sensation in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000 Sep;162(3 Pt 1):1178-1182. [doi: <u>10.1164/ajrccm.162.3.9909112</u>] [Medline: <u>10988151</u>]
- 8. Sears MR, Rea HH, Fenwick J, Beaglehole R, Gillies AJ, Holst PE, et al. Deaths from asthma in New Zealand. Arch Dis Child 1986 Jan;61(1):6-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.61.1.6] [Medline: 3954419]
- 9. Ferrante G, La Grutta S. The Burden of Pediatric Asthma. Front Pediatr 2018;6:186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00186] [Medline: 29988370]
- Karaca-Mandic P, Jena AB, Joyce GF, Goldman DP. Out-of-pocket medication costs and use of medications and health care services among children with asthma. JAMA 2012 Mar 28;307(12):1284-1291 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2012.340</u>] [Medline: <u>22453569</u>]
- 11. Pearson WS, Goates SA, Harrykissoon SD, Miller SA. State-based Medicaid costs for pediatric asthma emergency department visits. Prev Chronic Dis 2014 Jun 26;11:E108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd11.140139] [Medline: 24967830]
- Asher I, Haahtela T, Selroos O, Ellwood P, Ellwood E, Global Asthma Network Study Group. Global Asthma Network survey suggests more national asthma strategies could reduce burden of asthma. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 2017;45(2):105-114. [doi: 10.1016/j.aller.2016.10.013] [Medline: 28161283]
- Wu YP, Steele RG, Connelly MA, Palermo TM, Ritterband LM. Commentary: pediatric eHealth interventions: common challenges during development, implementation, and dissemination. J Pediatr Psychol 2014 Jul;39(6):612-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsu022] [Medline: 24816766]
- Kupczyk M, Hofman A, Kołtowski, Kuna P, Łukaszyk M, Buczyłko K, et al. Home self-monitoring in patients with asthma using a mobile spirometry system. J Asthma 2021 Apr;58(4):505-511. [doi: <u>10.1080/02770903.2019.1709864</u>] [Medline: <u>31877056</u>]
- McClure N, Seibert M, Johnson T, Kannenberg L, Brown T, Lutenbacher M. Improving Asthma Management in the Elementary School Setting: An Education and Self-management Pilot Project. J Pediatr Nurs 2018;42:16-20. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2018.06.001</u>] [Medline: <u>30219294</u>]
- Janssens T, Harver A. Effects of Symptom Perception Interventions on Trigger Identification and Quality of Life in Children with Asthma. Pulm Med 2015;2015:825137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/825137] [Medline: 26605084]
- van der Kamp MR, Klaver EC, Thio BJ, Driessen JMM, de Jongh FHC, Tabak M, et al. WEARCON: wearable home monitoring in children with asthma reveals a strong association with hospital based assessment of asthma control. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Aug 14;20(1):192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01210-1] [Medline: 32795352]
- Lancaster K, Abuzour A, Khaira M, Mathers A, Chan A, Bui V, et al. The Use and Effects of Electronic Health Tools for Patient Self-Monitoring and Reporting of Outcomes Following Medication Use: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 18;20(12):e294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9284] [Medline: 30563822]
- 19. Bonini M. Electronic health (e-Health): emerging role in asthma. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2017 Jan;23(1):21-26. [doi: 10.1097/MCP.0000000000336] [Medline: 27763999]
- Ramsey RR, Plevinsky JM, Kollin SR, Gibler RC, Guilbert TW, Hommel KA. Systematic Review of Digital Interventions for Pediatric Asthma Management. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2020 Apr;8(4):1284-1293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.12.013] [Medline: <u>31870809</u>]
- Jeminiwa R, Hohmann L, Qian J, Garza K, Hansen R, Fox BI. Impact of eHealth on medication adherence among patients with asthma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Respir Med 2019 Mar;149:59-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2019.02.011] [Medline: 30803887]
- 22. Chan AHY, Reddel HK, Apter A, Eakin M, Riekert K, Foster JM. Adherence monitoring and e-health: how clinicians and researchers can use technology to promote inhaler adherence for asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2013;1(5):446-454. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2013.06.015] [Medline: 24565615]
- 23. Al-Durra M, Torio M, Cafazzo JA. The use of behavior change theory in Internet-based asthma self-management interventions: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Apr 02;17(4):e89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4110] [Medline: 25835564]
- 24. Marcano Belisario JS, Huckvale K, Greenfield G, Car J, Gunn LH. Smartphone and tablet self management apps for asthma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Nov 27(11):CD010013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010013.pub2] [Medline: 24282112]
- 25. Morrison D, Wyke S, Agur K, Cameron EJ, Docking RI, Mackenzie AM, et al. Digital asthma self-management interventions: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Feb 18;16(2):e51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2814] [Medline: 24550161]
- 26. van Gemert-Pijnen JEWC, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 05;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]

- Larbi D, Randine P, Årsand E, Antypas K, Bradway M, Gabarron E. Methods and Evaluation Criteria for Apps and Digital Interventions for Diabetes Self-Management: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 06;22(7):e18480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18480] [Medline: 32628125]
- 28. Jurkeviciute M, van Velsen L, Eriksson H, Lifvergren S, Trimarchi PD, Andin U, et al. Identifying the Value of an eHealth Intervention Aimed at Cognitive Impairments: Observational Study in Different Contexts and Service Models. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 08;22(10):e17720 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17720] [Medline: 33064089]
- 29. Oliveira T, Martins M. Literature review of information technology adoption models at firm level. Electron J Inf Syst Eval. 2011 Jan 1. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u>
- 258821009 Literature Review of Information Technology Adoption Models at Firm Level [accessed 2021-07-08]
 30. Enam A, Torres-Bonilla J, Eriksson H. Evidence-Based Evaluation of eHealth Interventions: Systematic Literature Review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 23;20(11):e10971 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10971] [Medline: 30470678]
- Miller MC, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, ATS/ERS Task Force. Standardisation of spirometry. Eur Respir J 2005 Aug;26(2):319-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00034805] [Medline: 16055882]
- 32. Gillette C, Rockich-Winston N, Kuhn JA, Flesher S, Shepherd M. Inhaler Technique in Children With Asthma: A Systematic Review. Acad Pediatr 2016;16(7):605-615. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acap.2016.04.006</u>] [Medline: <u>27130811</u>]
- Klok T, Kaptein AA, Brand PLP. Non-adherence in children with asthma reviewed: The need for improvement of asthma care and medical education. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2015 May;26(3):197-205. [doi: <u>10.1111/pai.12362</u>] [Medline: <u>25704083</u>]
- 34. Chrystyn H, Audibert R, Keller M, Quaglia B, Vecellio L, Roche N. Real-life inhaler adherence and technique: Time to get smarter!. Respir Med 2019;158:24-32. [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2019.09.008] [Medline: 31563027]
- 35. Cane RS, McKenzie SA. Parents' interpretations of children's respiratory symptoms on video. Arch Dis Child 2001 Jan;84(1):31-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.84.1.31] [Medline: 11124780]
- Ortiz-Alvarez O, Mikrogianakis A, Canadian Paediatric Society, Acute Care Committee. Managing the paediatric patient with an acute asthma exacerbation. Paediatr Child Health 2012 May;17(5):251-262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pch/17.5.251] [Medline: 23633900]
- Chan DS, Callahan CW, Sheets SJ, Moreno CN, Malone FJ. An Internet-based store-and-forward video home telehealth system for improving asthma outcomes in children. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2003 Oct 01;60(19):1976-1981. [doi: 10.1093/ajhp/60.19.1976] [Medline: 14531243]
- Lammers N, van Hoesel MHT, van der Kamp M, Brusse-Keizer M, van der Palen J, Visser R, et al. The Visual Analog Scale detects exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. J Asthma 2020 Dec;57(12):1347-1353. [doi: 10.1080/02770903.2019.1652640] [Medline: <u>31482747</u>]
- Liu AH, Zeiger R, Sorkness C, Mahr T, Ostrom N, Burgess S, et al. Development and cross-sectional validation of the Childhood Asthma Control Test. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007 Apr;119(4):817-825. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaci.2006.12.662</u>] [Medline: <u>17353040</u>]
- 40. Tullis T, Albert B. Measuring the User Experience: Collecting, Analyzing, and Presenting Usability Metrics. Waltham, MA: Elsevier Inc; Jan 1, 2013.
- 41. Davis FD. Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology. MIS Quarterly 1989 Sep;13(3):319. [doi: 10.2307/249008]
- 42. Duh H, Tan G, Chen V. Usability evaluation for mobile device: A comparison of laboratory and field tests. : ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Vol 159, ACM Press; 2006 Presented at: MobileHCI06: Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services; September 12-15, 2006; Helsinki, Finland.
- 43. Attkisson C, Greenfield T. The UCSF Client Satisfaction Scales: I. The Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8. M. E. Maruish (Ed.), The use of psychological testing for treatment planning and outcomes assessment: Instruments for adults 2004 Jan 1;3:799-811. [doi: 10.1037/t50119-000]
- 44. Rademakers J, Nijman J, van der Hoek L, Heijmans M, Rijken M. Measuring patient activation in The Netherlands: translation and validation of the American short form Patient Activation Measure (PAM13). BMC Public Health 2012 Jul 31;12:577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-577] [Medline: 22849664]
- 45. Willems DCM, Joore MA, Nieman FHM, Severens JL, Wouters EFM, Hendriks JJE. Using EQ-5D in children with asthma, rheumatic disorders, diabetes, and speech/language and/or hearing disorders. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2009 Jul;25(3):391-399. [doi: 10.1017/S0266462309990171] [Medline: 19619359]
- 46. Corbin J, Strauss A. Basics of Qualitative Research Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications; Dec 1, 2008.
- 47. Kostprijsmodel Zorgproducten Medisch-Specialistische Zorg. URL: <u>https://puc.overheid.nl/nza/doc/PUC_21693_22/</u> [accessed 2020-11-02]
- Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- Ahmed S, Ernst P, Bartlett SJ, Valois M, Zaihra T, Paré G, et al. The Effectiveness of Web-Based Asthma Self-Management System, My Asthma Portal (MAP): A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 01;18(12):e313
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5866] [Medline: 27908846]

- 50. Sieverink F, Kelders SM, van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Clarifying the Concept of Adherence to eHealth Technology: Systematic Review on When Usage Becomes Adherence. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 06;19(12):e402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8578] [Medline: 29212630]
- 51. Gustafson D, Wise M, Bhattacharya A, Pulvermacher A, Shanovich K, Phillips B, et al. The effects of combining Web-based eHealth with telephone nurse case management for pediatric asthma control: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012 Jul 26;14(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1964] [Medline: 22835804]
- 52. Whittemore R, Jaser SS, Faulkner MS, Murphy K, Delamater A, Grey M, TEENCOPE Research Group. Type 1 diabetes eHealth psychoeducation: youth recruitment, participation, and satisfaction. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jan 29;15(1):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2170] [Medline: 23360729]
- Carlsen K, Jakobsen C, Houen G, Kallemose T, Paerregaard A, Riis LB, et al. Self-managed eHealth Disease Monitoring in Children and Adolescents with Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2017 Mar;23(3):357-365. [doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001026] [Medline: 28221247]
- 54. Gilljam B, Arvidsson S, Nygren JM, Svedberg P. Promoting participation in healthcare situations for children with JIA: a grounded theory study. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being 2016;11:30518 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/qhw.v11.30518] [Medline: 27172512]
- 55. Jeremic V, Sénécal K, Borry P, Chokoshvili D, Vears DF. Participation of Children in Medical Decision-Making: Challenges and Potential Solutions. J Bioeth Inq 2016 Dec;13(4):525-534. [doi: 10.1007/s11673-016-9747-8] [Medline: 27654498]
- 56. Cushing CC, Steele RG. A meta-analytic review of eHealth interventions for pediatric health promoting and maintaining behaviors. J Pediatr Psychol 2010 Oct;35(9):937-949. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsq023</u>] [Medline: <u>20392790</u>]
- 57. de Jongh T, Gurol-Urganci I, Vodopivec-Jamsek V, Car J, Atun R. Mobile phone messaging for facilitating self-management of long-term illnesses. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Dec 12;12:CD007459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007459.pub2] [Medline: 23235644]
- 58. van Dellen QM, van Aalderen WMC, Bindels PJE, Ory FG, Bruil J, Stronks K, PEACE study group. Asthma beliefs among mothers and children from different ethnic origins living in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. BMC Public Health 2008 Nov 03;8:380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-380] [Medline: 18980690]
- 59. Svedberg P, Arvidsson S, Larsson I, Carlsson I, Nygren JM. Barriers and Enablers Affecting Successful Implementation of the Electronic Health Service Sisom: Multicenter Study of Child Participation in Pediatric Care. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 15;21(11):e14271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14271] [Medline: 31730040]
- 60. Granja C, Janssen W, Johansen MA. Factors Determining the Success and Failure of eHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of the Literature. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 01;20(5):e10235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10235] [Medline: 29716883]
- 61. Morton RW. Monthly virtual asthma care at least as efficacious as routine visits. J Pediatr 2018 May;196:324-327. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.02.056] [Medline: 29703367]
- 62. Simpson AJ, Honkoop PJ, Kennington E, Snoeck-Stroband JB, Smith I, East J, et al. Perspectives of patients and healthcare professionals on mHealth for asthma self-management. Eur Respir J 2017 May;49(5):1601966 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/13993003.01966-2016] [Medline: 28461291]
- 63. Wiecha JM, Adams WG, Rybin D, Rizzodepaoli M, Keller J, Clay JM. Evaluation of a web-based asthma self-management system: a randomised controlled pilot trial. BMC Pulm Med 2015 Feb 25;15:17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12890-015-0007-1] [Medline: 25885418]
- Johnson KB, Patterson BL, Ho Y, Chen Q, Nian H, Davison CL, et al. The feasibility of text reminders to improve medication adherence in adolescents with asthma. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 May;23(3):449-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv158] [Medline: 26661717]
- 65. Burbank AJ, Lewis SD, Hewes M, Schellhase DE, Rettiganti M, Hall-Barrow J, et al. Mobile-based asthma action plans for adolescents. J Asthma 2015;52(6):583-586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2014.995307] [Medline: 25494553]
- 66. van den Wijngaart LS, Roukema J, Boehmer ALM, Brouwer ML, Hugen CAC, Niers LEM, et al. A virtual asthma clinic for children: fewer routine outpatient visits, same asthma control. Eur Respir J 2017 Oct;50(4):1700471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/13993003.00471-2017] [Medline: 28982775]
- Engelkes M, Janssens HM, de Jongste JC, Sturkenboom MCJM, Verhamme KMC. Medication adherence and the risk of severe asthma exacerbations: a systematic review. Eur Respir J 2015 Feb;45(2):396-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00075614] [Medline: 25323234]
- 68. Ebert JF, Huibers L, Christensen B, Christensen MB. Paper- or Web-Based Questionnaire Invitations as a Method for Data Collection: Cross-Sectional Comparative Study of Differences in Response Rate, Completeness of Data, and Financial Cost. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jan 23;20(1):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8353] [Medline: 29362206]
- Juniper EF, Gruffydd-Jones K, Ward S, Svensson K. Asthma Control Questionnaire in children: validation, measurement properties, interpretation. Eur Respir J 2010 Dec;36(6):1410-1416 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00117509] [Medline: 20530041]
- Austin PC, Brunner LJ. Type I Error Inflation in the Presence of a Ceiling Effect. The American Statistician 2003 May;57(2):97-104. [doi: <u>10.1198/0003130031450</u>]

Abbreviations

C-ACT: childhood asthma control test CSQ-8: client satisfaction questionnaire-8 items FEF: forced expiratory flow FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in 1 second FVC: forced vital capacity HCP: health care professional VAS: visual analog scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.10.20; peer-reviewed by R Krukowski, H Mehdizadeh; comments to author 11.11.20; revised version received 28.12.20; accepted 16.05.21; published 26.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> van der Kamp M, Reimering Hartgerink P, Driessen J, Thio B, Hermens H, Tabak M Feasibility, Efficacy, and Efficiency of eHealth-Supported Pediatric Asthma Care: Six-Month Quasi-Experimental Single-Arm Pretest-Posttest Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e24634 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e24634</u> doi:10.2196/24634 PMID:34309568

©Mattienne van der Kamp, Pamela Reimering Hartgerink, Jean Driessen, Bernard Thio, Hermie Hermens, Monique Tabak. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 26.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Use of Telemedicine in Depression Care by Physicians: Scoping Review

Jean-François Echelard¹, MD

Faculty of Medicine, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Jean-François Echelard, MD Faculty of Medicine Université de Montréal 2900 Edouard Montpetit Blvd Montreal, QC, H3T 1J4 Canada Phone: 1 (514) 343 6111 Email: jfechelard@hotmail.com

Abstract

Background: Depression is a common disorder, and it creates burdens on people's mental and physical health as well as societal costs. Although traditional in-person consultations are the usual mode of caring for patients with depression, telemedicine may be well suited to psychiatric assessment and management. Telepsychiatry can be defined as the use of information and communication technologies such as videoconferencing and telephone calls for the care of psychopathologies.

Objective: This review aims to evaluate the extent and nature of the existing literature on the use of telemedicine for the care of depression by physicians. This review also aims to examine the effects and perceptions regarding this virtual care and determine how it compares to traditional in-person care.

Methods: The Arksey and O'Malley framework and the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines were followed. Relevant articles were identified through a search of three databases (MEDLINE, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, and PsycArticles) on October 11, 2020. The search terms were "(*virtual* OR *telemedicine* OR *teleconsultation** OR *telehealth* OR *phone** OR *webcam** OR *telepsychiatry*) AND (*depress**)". Eligibility criteria were applied to select studies about the use of telemedicine for the care of patients with depression specifically by physicians. An Excel file (Microsoft Corporation) was used to chart data from all included articles.

Results: The search resulted in the identification of 28 articles, and all 13 nonreview studies were analyzed in detail. Most nonreview studies were conducted in the United States during the last decade. Most telemedicine programs were led by psychiatrists, and the average study population size was 135. In all applicable studies, telepsychiatry tended to perform at least as well as in-person care regarding improvement in depression severity, patient satisfaction, quality of life, functioning, cost-effectiveness, and most other perceptions and variables. Cultural sensitivity and collaborative care were part of the design of some telemedicine programs.

Conclusions: Additional randomized, high-quality studies are recommended to evaluate various outcomes of the use of telemedicine for depression care, including depression variables, perceptions, health care outcomes and other outcomes. Studies should be conducted in various clinical contexts, including primary care. Telepsychiatry is a promising modality of care for patients suffering from depression.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e29159) doi:10.2196/29159

KEYWORDS

telemedicine; telepsychiatry; depression; mental health; videoconferencing

Introduction

The Burdens of Depression

Depression is a very common disorder and thus represents a heavy mental health burden. Although estimates vary widely, the lifetime and 12-month prevalence of depression may be close to 10% and 5%, respectively, and these values are higher in high-income countries [1]. Suicidal risk and ideations have a high incidence among patients with depression. Although estimates vary widely, the incidence of suicide among patients with depression may be as high as 15%, while up to 70% of patients with acute depression may experience suicidal ideas [2]. Unfortunately, depression is associated with an elevated risk of early death. This is partly due to suicidal risk but also to the heavy physical health burden of this psychopathology. Indeed, depression is a predictor of many physical diseases, including coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction, stroke, diabetes, and various cancers. Certain physical disorders also tend to be more severe among patients with depression. There is a reciprocal relationship between depression and physical pathologies. Biologically plausible mechanisms include behaviors such as smoking, drinking alcohol, obesity, low compliance with treatment regimens, and a variety of hormonal and immune dysregulations. Unsurprisingly, depression is also associated with lower perceived overall health [1]. Caring for mentally and often physically sick patients is expensive and requires resources. Thus, the health care burden of depression is heavy. The costs of this disease have been increasing in recent decades and amount to hundreds of billions of dollars in the United States [3]. Depression is highly socially burdensome in several other ways. It is associated with termination of education, lower probability of marrying, marital dissatisfaction, negative parenting behaviors, adolescent childbearing, unemployment, work disability, absenteeism, low work performance, lower personal earnings, and lower household income [1]. Approximately half of all costs associated with depression are workplace costs [3].

Approaches to Depression Care

Although traditional in-person consultations are the usual modality of caring for patients with depression, telemedicine may be well suited to psychiatric assessment and management. This modality of care may also offer many advantages, such as improving access to care in rural areas [4]. In fact, medicine as a whole is becoming increasingly digitalized as competencies required to provide health care are evolving [5]. Other components of depression care include collaborative care and culturally sensitive approaches. Collaborative care is an integrated model in which many health care professionals work together with the patient to better manage the patient's disease in a synergic manner [6]. Cultural aspects must also be considered, as beliefs regarding depression and mood influence how patients perceive their psychological health [7].

Defining Telepsychiatry

For the scope of this review, telepsychiatry is defined as the use of information and communication technologies such as videoconferencing and telephoning for the diagnosis and management of psychopathologies. Telepsychiatry is thus a synonym of telemedicine for mental health. Psychiatrists, general practitioners, and other physicians can practice telepsychiatry. Other health care professionals, including psychologists, social workers, and nurses, can use telemedicine for mental health as well. Broader or narrower definitions of telepsychiatry could be used by other authors. Various technologies could also be included in other definitions, including artificial intelligence, augmented or virtual reality, mobile apps, and the Internet of Things. Other terms such as telemental health, e-mental health, and connected mental health could also be used to describe related concepts [8].

Goal of This Study

Telepsychiatry is a broad concept, and it has many applications. This results in heterogeneity in the literature. One key aspect of telepsychiatry is its use by physicians for various aspects of depression care, including assessment, evaluation, diagnosis, management, and follow-up. This review therefore aims to evaluate the extent and nature of the existing literature on telemedicine for the care of depression by physicians. This review also aims to examine the effects and perceptions of virtual care and how it compares to traditional in-person care.

Methods

Theoretical Framework

This scoping review was conducted by following the Arksey and O'Malley framework as well as the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews) guidelines. The five methodological stages were the identification of the research question, the identification of relevant articles, the study selection, the data extraction, and the collating, summarizing, and reporting of the results [9].

Identification of the Research Question

As described above, this review's main objectives are to map the literature on telemedicine in the diagnosis and management of depression by physicians and to examine the effects of telemedicine and how it is perceived. In other words, this review examines the virtual care of patients with depression by physicians. The identification of this research question is closely related to the burdens of depression and the potential of innovative psychiatric care.

Identification of Relevant Articles

A systematic literature search was performed in MEDLINE, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews and PsycARTICLES. These databases were chosen based on their relevance and specificity for peer-reviewed articles on medical and psychiatric topics. No search for gray literature was performed because the scope of this review did not extend to articles that had not been peer-reviewed. The list of keywords used was developed through a preliminary search on PubMed, and the keywords were selected based on their sensitivity and specificity for relevant articles. The search terms used for the database searches in this review are listed in Textbox 1. The literature search was performed on October 11, 2020, and it yielded 4782 articles.

Textbox 1. Search string with the keywords used for the database searches.

(virtual OR telemedicine OR teleconsultation* OR telehealth OR phone* OR webcam* OR telepsychiatry) AND (depress*)

Study Selection

Following removal of all 532 duplicates, the remaining 4250 articles were screened based on the eligibility criteria detailed

Textbox 2. Eligibility criteria for study selection.

Inclusion criteria

- Directly related to telemedicine
- Directly related to the evaluation or treatment of depression
- Care provided by physicians (eg, general practitioners, psychiatrists)

Exclusion criteria

- Mobile health apps as the primary focus
- Texting and emails as the primary focus
- Psychotherapy as the main intervention (eg, articles about web-based cognitive behavioral therapy)
- Psychotherapy or care provided by health care professionals other than physicians
- Depressive symptomatology from bipolar disorder, anxiety disorder, or schizoaffective disorder
- Depressive symptomatology as an outcome of telemedicine for diseases other than depression (eg, multiple sclerosis, heart failure, cognitive impairment)
- Data from patients with depression mixed with data of patients without depression (eg, telepsychiatry in general, anxiety and depression)
- Not peer-reviewed
- Published research protocols that had not yet been completed
- Conference proceedings
- Supported neither by empirical data nor by a formal literature review (eg, editorials)
- Published in a language other than English or French
- Full article could not be obtained

Data Extraction

An Excel file (Microsoft Corporation) was used to chart the data from all included articles. Throughout the charting process, the extraction grid was iteratively revised to refine its components.

Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting the Results

Results regarding the study characteristics for both the included review and nonreview articles are reported below. However, analysis of the outcomes and results of the included articles was limited to nonreview articles because the included reviews had high heterogeneity and their aims tended to differ significantly from the scope of this scoping review. In-depth analysis of outcomes and results was also limited to the scope of this review. Tables were used to report relevant data comprehensively. Figures were produced using Excel.

Results

Selection Process

A total of 28 articles were included in this review. The study selection process is detailed in Figure 1 [10-37].



in Textbox 2. Articles were initially screened based on their title and abstract, and full text articles were obtained when more information was needed for screening. The final count of studies included in this review is 28.

Figure 1. Study selection flow diagram.



Characteristics of the Included Articles

Although all the articles were published in peer-reviewed journals, an absence of conflicts of interest was clearly and explicitly declared in only a small majority (17/28).

All included papers were published between 1998 and 2020. The great majority had been published since 2010 (24/28), and more than half had been published since 2015 (17/28). The publication years of the papers are illustrated in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Histogram of the numbers of review and nonreview articles published per year.



A total of 13 studies were conducted using a nonreview methodology, while 15 articles were reviews. Most nonreview studies (9/13) compared a virtual intervention group and a nonvirtual group, and almost all of these comparative studies (8/9) included a randomization process.

Most nonreview studies were conducted in the United States. Locations represented in nonreview articles are displayed in Table 1. Another notable characteristic of the populations of these studies was their size, which ranged from 1 to 309 patients. The average study population size was 135 patients. The intervention in almost all these studies included a psychiatrist (12/13) instead of a primary care provider or as well as one. Collaborative care was part of most interventions (7/13). A nonvirtual comparison group was included in nine studies. Characteristics of the populations, virtual interventions, and nonvirtual comparisons of the nonreview studies are detailed further in Table 2 [10-22].

Echelard

Table 1. Study locations with the associated numbers of nonreview articles (n=13).

Location	Nonreview articles, n (%)
United States	10 (76.9)
Europe	1 (7.7)
Brazil	1 (7.7)
Columbia	1 (7.7)



Table 2. Population, virtual intervention, nonvirtual comparison, outcomes and results relevant to the scope of this review for the included nonreview articles.

Authors (year)	Population	Intervention (virtual)	Comparison (nonvirtual)	Outcomes and results
Amirsadri et al (2017) [15]	1 patient; United States; comorbid schizophrenia	Videoconferencing with a telepsychia- trist; home visits by a social worker and a nurse	None	 Diagnosis: Detecting undiagnosed depression. Treatment: Development of a treatment plan. Function: Improved. Quality of life: Improved. Longitudinal history: Discovery of trauma history. Patient satisfaction: Very happy with the service. Wanted it to be available for others. Caregiver satisfaction: Very convenient. Good care.
Barrera-Valencia et al (2017) [12]	106 patients; Colombia; in- mates	2 interventions: asynchronous care by the telepsychia- trist, who receives clinical information from the general practitioner's evalua- tion; synchronous care by the telepsy- chiatrist through videoconferencing	None	 Depression severity: Significant improvement in the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale scores for both telepsychiatry modalities. Higher effectiveness for the asynchronous modality. Consultation time: No difference between the two telepsychiatry modalities. Consultation costs: Higher for the synchronous modality. Cost-effectiveness: Higher for the asynchronous modality. Patient satisfaction: A dependent variable for the prediction of the cost of care.
Choi Yoo et al (2014) [11]	309 patients; United States; pa- tients with cancer	INCPAD ^a trial; cen- tralized telecare management; auto- mated home-based symptom monitor- ing; collaborative care by an oncolo- gist, a nurse depres- sion-pain care man- ager, and a supervis- ing psychiatrist	Treatment as usual; screening results provid- ed to their oncologist	 DFDs^b: 227.38 for the intervention group during the 12-month follow-up compared with 167.08 for the usual care group. This is an increase of 60.30 DFDs (<i>P</i><.01) compared to the usual-care group. QALYs^c: With 0.2 to 0.4 QALYs per additional DFD, there was a gain of between 0.033 and 0.066 QALYs. By other metrics, the intervention resulted in a gain of between 0.013 and 0.088 QALYs. Physician time cost^d: \$43,226 total and \$281 per patient. Nurse care manager costs: \$61,906 total and \$402 per patient. Automated monitoring system cost: \$506 per patient. Sum of the physician, nurse care manager and monitoring cost: \$1189 per patient. Post-start-up automated monitoring maintenance cost over the 3 years of the trial: \$20,000 total and \$813 per patient. Cost per DFD: Between \$19.72 and \$26.95. Cost per QALY: \$10,826 to \$73,286. Post-start-up incremental cost per DFD gained: \$13.48. Post-start-up incremental cost per QALY gained: Between \$7564 and \$51,199.



Authors (year)	Population	Intervention (virtual)	Comparison (nonvirtual)	Outcomes and results
Chong and Moreno (2012) [13]	167 patients; United States; Hispanic partici- pants; low-in- come, uninsured, and underinsured	Videoconferencing with a telepsychia- trist	Treatment as usual; pri- mary care setting	 Appointment keeping: Same for both groups. Visit satisfaction: Higher for the intervention group Patient rating of the working alliance with their provider: Higher for the intervention group Use of antidepressant medication: Higher for the intervention group. Depression severity: Both groups showed a decrease in symptoms. Depression severity improvement rate: Higher for the intervention group. Number of days in which their symptoms rendered them less productive or worse, unable to carry out their normal responsibilities: Decrease for both groups. Whether the project helped or made them better: 84% of both groups indicated that it did help them or make them better. Satisfaction with provided support: 50% of both groups indicated that the project and staff provided much-appreciated support. Satisfaction with session length: 12% of the comparison group patients wanted longer sessions. Satisfaction with the webcam sessions: 22% of the intervention group patients mentioned that they liked the webcam sessions. Need for time to adapt: 14% of the intervention group patients reported that they needed some time to adapt. Willingness to pay for mental health services: High for both groups.
Christensen et al (2020) [22]	199 patients; 11 European coun- tries; mild to moderate depres- sion.	MasterMind pro- gram; videoconfer- encing facilitating collaborative care interventions; telepsychiatrists, general practitioners, and other health care professionals	None	• Patient satisfaction: High. Scores varied significantly between regions, but there was no correlation with age and gender.
Emery-Tiburcio et al (2017) [16]	131 patients; United States; aged ≥60 years	BRIGHTEN ^e pro- gram; telepsychia- trists and other health care profes- sionals	None	 Depression severity: Significant improvements in Geriatric Depression Scale rating and 12-Item Short Form Survey Mental Health Composite at 6-month follow-up. Equal benefit from the program for individ- uals with different ethnic, educational, and income characteristics. 12-Item Short Form Survey Physical Health Composite: No differences observed at 6-month follow-up.
Hilty et al (2007) [10]	121 patients; United States; ru- ral	Intensive disease management mod- ule; videoconferenc- ing with a telepsychi- atrist; training for the primary care physician	Usual care; disease man- agement module	



Echelard

Authors (year)	Population	Intervention (virtual)	Comparison (nonvirtual)	Outcomes and results
				 Depression severity: Significant reduction at 3, 6, and 12 months for both groups, with no significant difference between the groups. According to a post-hoc analysis, the score for one depression subscale score was nearly significantly higher in the intervention group when those in the comparison group with an initial telepsychiatric consultation were removed from the analysis. There was a relationship between depression and health functioning scores. No relationship was found between depression scores and satisfaction. Health functioning: No significant change or significant difference between groups. There was a relationship between depression and health functioning scores. No relationship was found between depression and health functioning scores. No relationship was found between satisfaction and health functioning. Patient satisfaction: Significantly higher in the intervention group at 6 and 12 months. No relationship between depression scores and satisfaction; no relationship between satisfaction and health functioning. Study retention: Significantly higher in the intervention group; higher in older patients. Comorbid somatization, phobia, and anxiety: Significantly higher improvement in the intervention group
Hungerbuehler et al (2016) [14]	107 patients; Brazil; 3 hours of mean traveling time to psychi- atric hospital	Videoconferencing with a telepsychia- trist; significantly higher baseline de- pression severity	Treatment as usual; in- person consultations with a psychiatrist	 Depression severity: Significant decrease in severity for both groups. No significant difference in severity between groups at 6 and 12 months. Significant interaction between treatment and time regarding severity. Medication: Most of the participants continued taking antidepressants at 6 and 12 months within the recommended dosages, often combined with sedatives. No significant difference between groups for the type and dosage of medication at 6 and 12 months. Low adherence in both groups. No significant difference in adherence between groups. Treatment adherence validated by the number of missed appointments and dropouts: Significantly more dropouts in the nonvirtual group at 6 months, but no significant difference at 12 months. A significant increase was observed during the first 6 months and then remained stable until the end of the study. No significant changes over the entire study period. No significant interaction between groups as 6 and 12 months. A significant interaction between group assignment and time. Working alliance: Significant increase over 12 months for both groups. No significant difference between groups assignment and time.
Moreno et al (2012) [20]	167 patients; United States; Hispanic	Videoconferencing with a telepsychia- trist	Treatment as usual; com- munity health center	 Depression symptoms: Significant reduction in both groups. Significantly higher reduction in the virtual group. Significant effect of time. Depression response (50% or greater decrease in severity ratings): More than half of the study population. No significant difference between groups, but tendency for higher rate in the virtual group. Depression remission (75% or greater decrease in severity ratings): Less than half of the study population. No significant difference between groups, but tendency for a higher rate in the virtual group. Quality of life: Significant increase for both groups. Significantly higher increase in the virtual group. Significant effect of time. Health-related functional ability: Significant increase in the virtual group. Significantly higher increase in the virtual group.

Echelard

Authors (year)	Population	Intervention (virtual)	Comparison (nonvirtual)	Outcomes and results
Norden et al (2020) [21]	114 visits; United States; Stanford's Accountable Care Organization's patient popula- tion (younger, healthier, more tech-savvy)	Stanford ClickWell Care, a novel virtual primary care clinic; videoconferencing or telephone visits with a primary care provider	In-person visits at the Stanford ClickWell Care clinic with a primary care provider	 Number of visits: Significantly higher in the virtual setting than in-person. Number of labs ordered: No significant difference between groups. Number of images ordered: No significant difference between groups.
Ruskin et al (1998) [17]	30 patients; Unit- ed States; psychi- atric inpatients	l in-person consulta- tion with a psychia- trist; l videoconfer- encing consultation with a telepsychia- trist	2 in-person consultations with a psychiatrist	 Interrater reliability for results from the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R^f: High for both groups. No significant difference between groups. Patient satisfaction: High for both groups. No significant difference between groups. For the intervention group, "Overall, which did you prefer?": Most preferred the in-person consultation. For the intervention group, "Would you rather have a video examination with a psychiatrist or an in-person examination by a general practitioner who might know a little less about psychiatry?": Most preferred the vir- tual consultation. For the intervention group, "If you lived two hours away from the hospital, would you rather travel to the hospital to see the psychiatrist in person or go to a place close to your home and see the psychiatrist by video?": Most preferred the virtual consultation.
Ruskin et al (2004) [19]	119 patients; United States; veterans	Videoconferencing with a telepsychia- trist	In-person consultations with a psychiatrist	 Depression severity: Significant reduction in both groups. No significant difference between groups. Depression response (50% improvement from the first to the last visit): Similar rate in both groups. Depression remission (17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale score ≤7): Similar rate in both groups. Treatment adherence in terms of dropout rates, time course of dropouts, number of session appointments kept, and pill counts: No significant difference between groups. Patient satisfaction: High for both groups. No significant difference between groups. Psychiatrist satisfaction: High for both modalities of care. Significantly higher for nonvirtual care. Resource consumption or "cost effects" through persession cost with or without factoring psychiatrist travel time and total Veterans Affairs health care resource consumption: \$86.16 for a telepsychiatry session and \$63.25 for an in-person session. Equal cost if the psychiatrist had to travel 22 miles to the clinic. Modality of care was not associated with significantly different consumption of health care.
Yeung et al (2016) [18]	190 patients; United States; monolingual Chi- nese American immigrants	T-CSCT ^g ; T-CSCT involving culturally sensitive psychiatric assessment, and col- laborative care; videoconferencing with a bilingual telepsychiatrist; pri- mary care provider, bilingual telepsychi- atrist, and bilingual care manager	Treatment as usual; in- person consultations with a primary care provider; a single videoconferenc- ing evaluation with a telepsychiatrist; treat- ment recommendations from the telepsychiatrist	 Depression severity: Significantly higher reduction for the intervention group. Depression response rate (Hamilton Depression Rating Scale score improvement of ≥50%): Significantly higher for the intervention group. Depression remission rate (Hamilton Depression Rating Scale score ≤7): Significantly higher for the intervention group. Quality of life: No significant difference between groups.

^aINCPAD: Indiana Cancer Pain and Depression.

^bDFD: depression-free day.

^cQALY: quality-adjusted life year.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29159

^dAll monetary values are reported in US dollars.

^eBRIGHTEN: Bridging Resources of an Interdisciplinary Geriatric Health Team via Electronic Networking.

^fDSM-III-R: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Third Edition, Revised).

^gT-CSCT: Telepsychiatry-based culturally sensitive collaborative treatment.

Main Results for Nonreview Articles

Of the 13 nonreview papers, 11 included results regarding depression variables, 8 included results with regard to perceptions, and 11 included results regarding other variables. Outcomes and results relevant to the scope of this review for the included nonreview articles are detailed in Table 2 [10-22].

Regarding depression outcomes and variables, all 11 studies resulted in improvement in depression with the use of virtual care, and studies that compared the virtual intervention group with a nonvirtual comparison group either obtained equivalent improvement or better results with virtual care. Studied depression outcomes and variables include depression severity, severity improvement rate, depression-free days (DFDs), response rate, remission rate, treatment aspects such as adherence, and depression interrater reliability for diagnosis.

Perceptions regarding virtual care were favorable to virtual care or equivalent to in-person care according to almost every metric studied. Examined perceptions include patient satisfaction, caregiver satisfaction, psychiatrist satisfaction, working alliance, need for time to adapt, willingness to pay for mental health services, and care preferences.

Other variables were significantly improved with virtual care. Studied variables included quality of life, quality-adjusted life years (QALYs), functioning, appointment keeping, number of visits, number of complementary tests ordered, physical health, and comorbid somatization, phobia, and anxiety.

It was also proven that telepsychiatry can be more cost-effective than in-person psychiatry. Examined costs and related variables include consultation time, consultation cost, cost-effectiveness, per-session costs, physician time cost, nurse care manager cost, system cost, system maintenance costs, cost per DFD or QALY, and post-start-up incremental cost per DFD or QALY gained.

Discussion

Overview of the Literature

This review aimed to map the literature on use of telepsychiatry to treat depression by physicians as well as to examine the effects and perceptions regarding telepsychiatry and how it compares to traditional in-person care. A total of 28 articles were included [10-37], and all 13 nonreview articles were analyzed further [10-22]. The generalizability of the findings may be modulated by the fact that most studies were recent, but it may be limited for primary care populations and countries other than the United States. Although quality appraisal of the studies was not part of the methodology of this study, bias risk may be modulated by the high proportion of randomized studies, the low proportion of clear and explicit declared absence of conflicts of interest, and the average study size, which may arguably be considered sufficiently small or large. The analyzed articles contained measured outcomes related to depression

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29159

variables, perceptions, and other variables. All applicable studies resulted in improvement in depression with the use of telepsychiatry, which was always measured to be equivalent or better for virtual care compared with in-person psychiatry. Patient satisfaction and other perceptions were examined, and telepsychiatry again performed at least as well as in-person care according to almost every metric studied. Quality of life, functioning, and similar variables were significantly improved with virtual care. Telepsychiatry also tended to perform better than in-person care. Cultural sensitivity and collaborative care were also part of some studied telemedicine programs.

Gaps in the Literature

Additional research should be conducted on themes already covered in the articles included in this review. These themes include depression outcomes, perceptions such as patient satisfaction, cost-efficiency, and other outcomes. However, stakeholders would benefit from larger study populations, more studies conducted outside the United States, and more studies about general practitioners, as well as fewer potential conflicts of interest and more transparency.

Research should also be conducted on aspects of telepsychiatric care of patients with depression that are not covered as extensively in the included articles. These aspects include effects on suicide risk, suicidal ideation incidence, evolution of comorbid diseases, health behaviors, societal productivity, work productivity and absenteeism, personal and household income, marital outcomes, and parenthood outcomes, as well as the well-being of caregivers and relatives. Many perceptions could be studied, including those of patients, physicians, health care professionals, caregivers, and relatives. Studies should also be conducted regarding medical student training in telepsychiatry [5].

Research themes could be explored through various methodologies, including systematic reviews and randomized clinical trials.

Limitations

The results of this review are subject to limitations. As definitions of telepsychiatry may differ, the scope of this review might also be considered too narrow in various ways, such as its focus on physicians, its exclusion of psychotherapy as the main intervention, its exclusion of patients with anxiety disorders, and other eligibility criteria that may be considered limited or firm. The chosen search terms may have further influenced the identification of relevant articles in this direction or may have hindered the identification of relevant articles such as studies about telephone medicine, asynchronous telemedicine, pediatricians, or special patient populations. The selected databases may have also influenced the results of this review; however, this decision was supported by the characteristics of the selected databases as well as the preliminary search. Arguably, other databases could have been considered.

Similarly, not searching the gray literature may have influenced the results; however, it was decided that this review would be limited to peer-reviewed articles. Backward and forward reference searching has not been conducted. Including other professions may have better covered some research themes, such as quality of work life, quality of personal life, health behaviors, and other aspects. Some may also disapprove of the use of the PRISMA-ScR guidelines or the Arksey and O'Malley framework [9]. The choice to include a case study may be criticized, as the study population consists of only 1 patient [15]. Finally, the generalizability of the findings may be limited for certain locations, medical specialties, patient subsets, and other clinical environment characteristics not represented among the included articles.

Conclusions

This review examines the literature on telemedicine in the care of depression by physicians, as well as its related effects and perceptions. More research is recommended to fully understand the current and potential roles of telepsychiatry when used by physicians caring for patients with depression. This research should examine various outcomes, including depression variables such as symptom severity and suicidal risk, perceptions such as stakeholder satisfaction and working alliance, health care outcomes such as cost-effectiveness, and other outcomes such as quality of life and work productivity. Studies should be conducted in various clinical contexts, such as urban or rural primary care, and in developing countries.

This review suggests that telemedicine tends to be at least as effective for depression care compared with in-person care, and it may be more cost-effective. Patient satisfaction tends to be high and perceptions tend to be favorable.

As depression is a highly prevalent and burdensome disease, its toll on patients' mental and physical health as well as its health care burden can probably be reduced by improving and implementing virtual psychiatric care of depression by physicians.

Acknowledgments

The author personally conducted and funded the whole review. The author acknowledges having had many enriching discussions about virtual psychiatric care of patients with depression with the resident and attending physicians from the Groupe de médecine de famille universitaire (GMF-U) du Marigot clinic. He also acknowledges discussing the identification of the research question with the scientific affairs team at the GMF-U du Marigot clinic.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kessler RC. The costs of depression. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2012 Mar;35(1):1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2011.11.005] [Medline: 22370487]
- Möller HJ. Suicide, suicidality and suicide prevention in affective disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 2003(418):73-80. [Medline: <u>12956819</u>]
- Greenberg PE, Fournier A, Sisitsky T, Pike CT, Kessler RC. The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). J Clin Psychiatry 2015 Feb;76(2):155-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09298] [Medline: 25742202]
- 4. Guaiana G, Mastrangelo J, Hendrikx S, Barbui C. A systematic review of the use of telepsychiatry in depression. Community Ment Health J 2021 Jan;57(1):93-100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00724-2] [Medline: 33040191]
- Echelard J, Méthot F, Nguyen H, Pomey M. Medical student training in eHealth: scoping review. JMIR Med Educ 2020 Sep 11;6(2):e20027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20027] [Medline: 32915154]
- 6. Unützer J, Katon W, Callahan CM, Williams JW, Hunkeler E, Harpole L, et al. Collaborative care management of late-life depression in the primary care setting: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002 Dec 11;288(22):2836-2845. [Medline: 12472325]
- 7. Yeung A, Chang D, Gresham RL, Nierenberg AA, Fava M. Illness beliefs of depressed Chinese American patients in primary care. J Nerv Ment Dis 2004 Apr;192(4):324-327. [doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000120892.96624.00] [Medline: 15060408]
- 8. Drissi N, Ouhbi S, Janati Idrissi MA, Fernandez-Luque L, Ghogho M. Connected mental health: systematic mapping study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 28;22(8):e19950. [doi: 10.2196/19950]
- 9. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Hilty DM, Marks S, Wegelin J, Callahan EJ, Nesbitt TS. A randomized, controlled trial of disease management modules, including telepsychiatric care, for depression in rural primary care. Psychiatry (Edgmont) 2007 Feb;4(2):58-65 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20805900]
- Choi Yoo SJ, Nyman JA, Cheville AL, Kroenke K. Cost effectiveness of telecare management for pain and depression in patients with cancer: results from a randomized trial. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2014;36(6):599-606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2014.07.004] [Medline: 25130518]

- Barrera-Valencia C, Benito-Devia AV, Vélez-Álvarez C, Figueroa-Barrera M, Franco-Idárraga SM. Cost-effectiveness of synchronous vs. asynchronous telepsychiatry in prison inmates with depression. Article in Spanish. Rev Colomb Psiquiatr 2017;46(2):65-73. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.rcp.2016.04.008</u>] [Medline: <u>28483175</u>]
- Chong J, Moreno F. Feasibility and acceptability of clinic-based telepsychiatry for low-income Hispanic primary care patients. Telemed J E Health 2012 May;18(4):297-304. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2011.0126</u>] [Medline: <u>22424078</u>]
- Hungerbuehler I, Valiengo L, Loch AA, Rössler W, Gattaz WF. Home-based psychiatric outpatient care through videoconferencing for depression: a randomized controlled follow-up trial. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Aug 03;3(3):e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5675] [Medline: 27489204]
- 15. Amirsadri A, Burns J, Pizzuti A, Arfken CL. Home-based telepsychiatry in US urban area. Case Rep Psychiatry 2017;2017;6296423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/6296423] [Medline: 28634565]
- Emery-Tiburcio EE, Mack L, Lattie EG, Lusarreta M, Marquine M, Vail M, et al. Managing depression among diverse older adults in primary care: the BRIGHTEN program. Clin Gerontol 2017;40(2):88-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/07317115.2016.1224785] [Medline: 28452672]
- Ruskin PE, Reed S, Kumar R, Kling MA, Siegel E, Rosen M, et al. Reliability and acceptability of psychiatric diagnosis via telecommunication and audiovisual technology. Psychiatr Serv 1998 Aug;49(8):1086-1088. [doi: 10.1176/ps.49.8.1086]
 [Medline: 9712219]
- Yeung A, Martinson MA, Baer L, Chen J, Clain A, Williams A, et al. The effectiveness of telepsychiatry-based culturally sensitive collaborative treatment for depressed Chinese American immigrants: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry 2016 Aug;77(8):e996-e1002. [doi: <u>10.4088/JCP.15m09952</u>] [Medline: <u>27561153</u>]
- Ruskin PE, Silver-Aylaian M, Kling MA, Reed SA, Bradham DD, Hebel JR, et al. Treatment outcomes in depression: comparison of remote treatment through telepsychiatry to in-person treatment. Am J Psychiatry 2004 Aug;161(8):1471-1476. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.8.1471] [Medline: 15285975]
- Moreno FA, Chong J, Dumbauld J, Humke M, Byreddy S. Use of standard Webcam and Internet equipment for telepsychiatry treatment of depression among underserved Hispanics. Psychiatr Serv 2012 Dec;63(12):1213-1217. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201100274] [Medline: 23026854]
- Norden JG, Wang JX, Desai SA, Cheung L. Utilizing a novel unified healthcare model to compare practice patterns between telemedicine and in-person visits. Digit Health 2020;6:2055207620958528 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207620958528] [Medline: <u>32995039</u>]
- Christensen LF, Gildberg FA, Sibbersen C, Skjoeth MM, Nielsen CT, Hansen JP. Videoconferences and treatment of depression: satisfaction score correlated with number of sessions attended but not with age. Telemed J E Health 2020 Jul;26(7):898-904. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2019.0129] [Medline: 31670614]
- Dorstyn DS, Saniotis A, Sobhanian F. A systematic review of telecounselling and its effectiveness in managing depression amongst minority ethnic communities. J Telemed Telecare 2013 Sep;19(6):338-346. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X13501767</u>] [Medline: <u>24163298</u>]
- 24. Hilty DM, Rabinowitz T, McCarron RM, Katzelnick DJ, Chang T, Bauer AM, et al. An update on telepsychiatry and how it can leverage collaborative, stepped, and integrated services to primary care. Psychosomatics 2018;59(3):227-250. [doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2017.12.005] [Medline: 29544663]
- 25. Kaonga NN, Morgan J. Common themes and emerging trends for the use of technology to support mental health and psychosocial well-being in limited resource settings: A review of the literature. Psychiatry Res 2019 Nov;281:112594. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112594] [Medline: 31605874]
- Naslund JA, Mitchell LM, Joshi U, Nagda D, Lu C. Economic evaluation and costs of telepsychiatry programmes: A systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2020 Aug 03:1357633X20938919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X20938919] [Medline: 32746762]
- Olden M, Cukor J, Rizzo AS, Rothbaum B, Difede J. House calls revisited: leveraging technology to overcome obstacles to veteran psychiatric care and improve treatment outcomes. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2010 Oct;1208:133-141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05756.x] [Medline: 20955335]
- Jiménez-Molina Á, Franco P, Martínez V, Martínez P, Rojas G, Araya R. Internet-based interventions for the prevention and treatment of mental disorders in Latin America: a scoping review. Front Psychiatry 2019;10:664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00664] [Medline: 31572242]
- 29. Fletcher TL, Hogan JB, Keegan F, Davis ML, Wassef M, Day S, et al. Recent advances in delivering mental health treatment via video to home. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2018 Jul 21;20(8):56. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11920-018-0922-y</u>] [Medline: <u>30032337</u>]
- Hubley S, Lynch SB, Schneck C, Thomas M, Shore J. Review of key telepsychiatry outcomes. World J Psychiatry 2016 Jun 22;6(2):269-282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5498/wjp.v6.i2.269] [Medline: 27354970]
- Lopez A, Schwenk S, Schneck CD, Griffin RJ, Mishkind MC. Technology-based mental health treatment and the impact on the therapeutic alliance. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2019 Jul 08;21(8):76. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11920-019-1055-7</u>] [Medline: <u>31286280</u>]
- 32. García-Lizana F, Muñoz-Mayorga I. Telemedicine for depression: a systematic review. Perspect Psychiatr Care 2010 Apr;46(2):119-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6163.2010.00247.x] [Medline: 20377799]

- Chan S, Parish M, Yellowlees P. Telepsychiatry today. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2015 Nov;17(11):89. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-015-0630-9] [Medline: 26384338]
- 34. Massoudi B, Holvast F, Bockting CLH, Burger H, Blanker MH. The effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of e-health interventions for depression and anxiety in primary care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2019 Feb 15;245:728-743. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.050] [Medline: 30447572]
- 35. Hailey D, Roine R, Ohinmaa A. The effectiveness of telemental health applications: a review. Can J Psychiatry 2008 Nov;53(11):769-778 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/070674370805301109] [Medline: 19087471]
- 36. Chakrabarti S. Usefulness of telepsychiatry: a critical evaluation of videoconferencing-based approaches. World J Psychiatry 2015 Sep 22;5(3):286-304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5498/wjp.v5.i3.286] [Medline: 26425443]
- Boydell KM, Hodgins M, Pignatiello A, Teshima J, Edwards H, Willis D. Using technology to deliver mental health services to children and youth: a scoping review. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2014 May;23(2):87-99 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>24872824</u>]

Abbreviations

DFD: depression-free day

GMF-U: groupe de médecine de famille universitaire (university family medicine group) **PRISMA-ScR:** Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews

QALY: quality-adjusted life year

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.03.21; peer-reviewed by A Naser; D Hilty; comments to author 03.05.21; revised version received 15.05.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 26.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Echelard JF Use of Telemedicine in Depression Care by Physicians: Scoping Review JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e29159 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29159</u> doi:<u>10.2196/29159</u> PMID:<u>34309571</u>

©Jean-Francois Echelard. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 26.07.2021. This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution open-access License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Conceptualizing Usability for the eHealth Context: Content Analysis of Usability Problems of eHealth Applications

Marijke Broekhuis^{1,2}, MSc; Lex van Velsen^{1,2}, PhD; Linda Peute³, PhD; Meilani Halim⁴, BSc; Hermie Hermens^{1,2}, Prof Dr, IR

¹Roessingh Research and Development, Enschede, Netherlands

²Biomedical Signals and Systems, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics and Computer Science (EEMCS), University of Twente, Enschede, Netherlands

³Center for Human Factor Engineering of Health Information technology, Department of Medical Informatics, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁴Communication Sciences, Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences (BMS), University of Twente, Enschede, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Marijke Broekhuis, MSc Roessingh Research and Development Roessinghsbleekweg 33b Enschede, 7522 AH Netherlands Phone: 31 0880875728 Email: <u>m.broekhuis@rrd.nl</u>

Abstract

Background: Usability tests can be either formative (where the aim is to detect usability problems) or summative (where the aim is to benchmark usability). There are ample formative methods that consider user characteristics and contexts (ie, cognitive walkthroughs, interviews, and verbal protocols). This is especially valuable for eHealth applications, as health conditions can influence user-system interactions. However, most summative usability tests do not consider eHealth-specific factors that could potentially affect the usability of a system. One of the reasons for this is the lack of fine-grained frameworks or models of usability factors that are unique to the eHealth domain.

Objective: In this study, we aim to develop an ontology of usability problems, specifically for eHealth applications, with patients as primary end users.

Methods: We analyzed 8 data sets containing the results of 8 formative usability tests for eHealth applications. These data sets contained 400 usability problems that could be used for analysis. Both inductive and deductive coding were used to create an ontology from 6 data sets, and 2 data sets were used to validate the framework by assessing the intercoder agreement.

Results: We identified 8 main categories of usability factors, including basic system performance, task-technology fit, accessibility, interface design, navigation and structure, information and terminology, guidance and support, and satisfaction. These 8 categories contained a total of 21 factors: 14 general usability factors and 7 eHealth-specific factors. Cohen κ was calculated for 2 data sets on both the category and factor levels, and all Cohen κ values were between 0.62 and 0.67, which is acceptable. Descriptive analysis revealed that approximately 69.5% (278/400) of the usability problems can be considered as general usability factors and 30.5% (122/400) as eHealth-specific usability factors.

Conclusions: Our ontology provides a detailed overview of the usability factors for eHealth applications. Current usability benchmarking instruments include only a subset of the factors that emerged from our study and are therefore not fully suited for summative evaluations of eHealth applications. Our findings support the development of new usability benchmarking tools for the eHealth domain.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e18198) doi:10.2196/18198

KEYWORDS

usability benchmarking; eHealth systems; content analysis; usability framework; summative evaluation; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Usability tests of eHealth applications can be either formative (where the aim is to detect usability problems) or summative (where the aim is to benchmark usability). Formative usability tests use qualitative methods, think aloud protocols [1,2], interviews [3], cognitive walkthrough [4], heuristic evaluation [5], or quantitative methods, such as user task performance [6]. Formative tests are mainly used to track usability problems, which are crucial for optimizing a system. However, they do not provide an absolute score of a system's usability. Instead, this can be achieved via usability benchmarking methods during summative evaluations. A usability benchmark is a clear indicator of when the usability of an eHealth application is considered sufficient or insufficient. Furthermore, benchmarking makes it easy to compare the usability of an eHealth application with that of competitors, or to compare scores of new and old versions of the same system to determine whether usability has dropped, improved, or stayed the same. Benchmarking the usability of an eHealth application is most frequently done using questionnaires [7], such as the Poststudy System Usability Questionnaire (PSSUQ) [8], the questionnaire for user interface satisfaction [9], and the system usability scale (SUS) [10]. In addition, there are dedicated eHealth-specific usability benchmarking instruments, such as the Health Information Technology Usability Evaluation Scale (Health-ITUES) [11] and the Mental Health App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ) [12]. The SUS is currently the most popular usability benchmarking tool for eHealth applications [13]. However, a recent examination of the suitability of the SUS to the eHealth context found that this instrument was not sufficient [14]. All of these questionnaires provide a verdict on usability based on the outcomes of the average scores of user-rated items. Each of these items is related to overarching factors that make up the construct of usability. Traditionally, usability is broken down into three factors: effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction [15]. However, each questionnaire proposes a different set of factors and thus, provides a different interpretation of usability. For example, the PSSUQ assesses usefulness, information quality, and interface quality, whereas the Health-ITUES measures the quality of work life, perceived usefulness, ease of use, and user control. Finally, the SUS has no constructs, only items that result in a single score for overall usability without defining what this score means. Thus, the proper benchmarking of usability should start by defining which factors make up the usability of a particular type of system [16].

It has been argued that usability should be considered from the perspective of the system domain [17]. eHealth applications are designed to inform about, prevent, diagnose, treat, or monitor health conditions. This requires users to, for example, understand the health information the system offers, need to be able to keep track of their progress, or need to be able to correctly perform exercises or fill out questionnaires based on the information that is available in the system. These activities can be complicated if patients have low health literacy [18] or if there are health impairments that are common for the intended patient group, which could hinder user-system interaction [19,20].

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e18198
```

Furthermore, eHealth applications that are designed for a large audience, such as preventative healthy aging systems, need to consider an extremely diverse user group in terms of motivation and educational level [21].

The problems with current usability benchmarking tools for the eHealth context stem from a general lack of understanding of usability within the eHealth context [12]—eHealth usability. Many studies that attempt to classify usability factors for eHealth do so via a theoretical reclassification of earlier, traditional models [22-27]. This means that we merely rephrase or recategorize the same factors for eHealth instead of eliciting domain-specific usability factors. In order to gain insights into the factors that make up eHealth usability, we need to go back to the drawing board: analyzing problems end users experience when interacting with eHealth applications. The proper usability of eHealth applications is not just about smooth navigation, clear understanding of used language, or prevention of system errors but also involves the patient's perspective and focuses on understanding how a system supports them in prevention, diagnosis, treatment, or monitoring of their health condition [28-30]. However, chronic illnesses can increase patients' feelings of stress and anxiety [31], which can affect the manner in which they interact with an eHealth application and thus the perceived usability. In contrast, for health professionals, for example, nurses, proper usability could mean an entirely different thing. For them, it is important that the system fits within their daily work routine. The study by Ash [32] describes how digital patient care information systems, while implemented with good intentions to make work easier for health professionals, can have unforeseen negative consequences (eg, additional workload or information overload of overfragmentation of data), making it unusable for the intended user group. A thorough understanding of eHealth usability supports formative evaluation methods that aim to elicit lists of usability problems, as well as supporting benchmarking tools.

Objectives

By analyzing multiple data sets of usability problems found in contemporary eHealth applications, we propose a conceptualization of usability for the eHealth domain from the patient's perspective. An overview of eHealth-specific usability factors helps usability practitioners to link usability problems to an overarching classification that is tailored to the specific medical context in which these applications are embedded.

Methods

Data sets of usability tests were collected to conduct a content analysis of usability problems found in eHealth usability tests.

Data Source Collection

We analyzed 8 data sets from different usability tests conducted at institutions affiliated with the researchers. The data sets were strategically chosen to reflect a wide range of eHealth applications with different end-user groups, devices, and health goals. A data set was included if the eHealth application was recently developed; usability problems were elicited via at least one qualitative data collection method (eg, thinking aloud,

interviews, and observations); and the participants of the usability tests consisted of patients.

The following eHealth applications were included in this study: (1) Stranded, a web-based gamification application in which users can progress in the game by regularly performing physiotherapeutic exercises that are scheduled by a physiotherapist [14]; (2) a web-based screening module provided by a tablet and a care robot (NAO, a humanoid robot from SoftBanks Robotics), in which older adults completed a frailty test and performed physical exercises [33]; (3) cVitals, a home-monitoring module for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease to monitor their health, which consists of a web application that is connected to a blood pressure monitor and weight scale monitor; (4) Council of Coaches, a web-based multi-agent virtual coaching platform for older adults to support a healthy lifestyle via dialogues, web-based coaching, and exercises from multiple virtual coaches that represent various health dimensions (eg, social and physical and mental health); (5) Pandit, a web application for patients with diabetes that provides insulin dosing advice using a clinical decision support system [34]; (6) Pregnancy and Work application (in Dutch: Zwangerschap en Werk) a mobile app for pregnant women to inform them about the rules and regulations on the work floor with regard to pregnancy; (7) FatSecret, a mobile food diary app for diabetes patients; and (8) Hospitality app, a mobile app that provides valet navigation service for out-clinic patients to heighten hospitality toward patients and facilitate hospital attendance [35].

Usability Problems and Severity

The data sets had a total of 486 usability problems. We excluded usability problems that had unclear formulation, were duplicated,

or were unrelated to usability (eg, user experience and motivation). For example, the problem *User presses the home button of the iPad for too long, after which Siri comes up instead of home screen* (from data set 3) is a problem with the device (tablet) and not with the eHealth application. Another problem, *Not willing to watch the video and starts practicing* (from data set 2), is a problem with user motivation and not with the eHealth application. In addition, the problem, *It took users a long time to find the correct functions* (from data set 7) does not specify what functions are difficult to find. Finally, the problem *Does not like the music* (from data set 1) is not a usability problem but a user experience problem.

A total of 86 usability problems were eliminated from the data set, resulting in 400 usability issues that were suitable for the analyses. Each usability problem was assigned to a severity category. Most data sets included severity ratings based on the severity index of Duh et al [36]. This categorization differentiates among minor, serious, and critical usability problems. A minor usability problem occurs infrequently among the participants or the problem only increases the task completion time slightly. A serious usability problem frequently occurs among the participants or the problem severely increases the task completion time. A critical usability problem occurs when all participants have the same problem or the problem prevents participants from completing tasks. In case a data set consisted of different severity index, this index was transposed to the index of Duh et al [36].

 Table 1 presents a complete overview of the characteristics of the eHealth applications, the end-user group, and the evaluation method per system.



Table 1. Overview of data sets (N=8).

Data set	eHealth appli- cation	Description of app	Main health goal	Device plat- form	Target end- user group	Participants, n	Evaluation method	Length of session (minutes)	Usability problems, n
1	Stranded	Web-based gami- fied app	Offers fall preven- tion training via video instructions in a gamified en- vironment	Computer	Prefrail ^a and frail older adults (aged ≥65 years)	19	Concurrent think aloud and screen capture recordings	60	66
2	N/A ^b	Web-based screening module	Identifies frailty levels among old- er adults and sup- ports physical ex- ercising	Tablet and social robot	Prefrail and frail older adults (aged ≥70 years)	20	Video observa- tion	50	64
3	cVitals	Home-monitor- ing tool	Allows self-man- agement of health by providing and supporting health measurements at home	Smartphone	Patients with heart failure or COPD ^c (aged ≥65 years)	10	Concurrent think aloud and observa- tions	60	39
4	Council of Coaches	Web-based coaching plat- form with virtual coaches	Supports a healthy lifestyle for older adults	Computer	Older adults (aged ≥55 years)	18	Think aloud and observa- tions	60	60
5	Pandit	Web-based application	Allows self-man- agement of health by providing in- sulin dosing ad- vice	Computer	Patients with type 2 diabetes (aged 40- 64 years)	5	Concurrent think aloud and observa- tions	15	28
6	Pregnancy and Work	Informational application	Provides informa- tion on health risks and regula- tions during preg- nancy	Smartphone	Pregnant women (aged 25- 40 years)	12	Concurrent think aloud and observa- tions	45	84
7	FatSecret	Calorie counter application	Provides nutrition- al information	Smartphone	Older adults with type 2 dia- betes (aged ≥55 years)	10	Concurrent think aloud and observa- tions	15	41
8	Hospitality app	Patient hospitali- ty app	Provides informa- tion on how to prepare for a visit to medical facili- ties	Smartphone	Prefrail and frail older adults (aged ≥65 years)	8	Concurrent think aloud and observa- tions	30	18

^aPrefrail refers to the initial state of a health condition called *frailty*. This condition entails a gradual decline in physical and cognitive functions, mostly occurring among older adults, that can lead to recurrent falls, hospitalization, and even death [37].

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cCOPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Data Analysis

RenderX

A content analysis was conducted according to the methods of Bengtsson [38], which consists of four stages: decontextualization, recontextualization, categorization, and compilation. Below, we describe the process for each phase. The content analysis was performed by 3 people, all with a background in behavioral sciences, but with different degrees of expertise in coding qualitative data, namely novice (MH), experienced (MB), and expert (LVV).

First, in the decontextualization phase, 2 researchers (MB and MH) familiarized themselves with the data sets. Then, they independently started an inductive coding process. Each usability problem was assigned a code that represents the usability factor. On the basis of data sets 1, 2, and 3, each researcher developed their own codebook. These two codebooks

were discussed and merged in one mutually agreed upon codebook, consisting of 9 main categories and 32 factors. Second, in the recontextualization phase, 2 researchers (MB and MH) independently recoded data sets 1-3 using the new codebook. If they found a usability problem that they could not classify using the codebook, a new code was added to the codebook. The resulting codebooks were then compared and discussed, leading to an updated codebook. These steps were performed several times until no new codes emerged. Third, in the categorization phase, definitions for each factor in the updated codebook were formulated, which now consisted of 10 categories and 28 factors. Then, a third independent researcher (LVV) familiarized himself with the data, codebook, and definitions. On the basis of triangular findings, alterations were made to the codebook, resulting in 9 categories and 24 factors. Finally, in the compilation phase, data sets 4, 5, and 6 were independently recoded by two researchers (MB and LVV) using the codebook (deductive coding). Discussions revealed that, although no new categories or factors emerged, there was some overlap in the definitions of some categories and factors that caused confusion about which factor to assign to the usability problem. Therefore, the codebook and definitions were adjusted. The final codebook consisted of 8 categories and 22 factors. The intercoder agreement between researchers MB and LVV

was determined by coding data sets 7 and 8 and calculating Cohen κ values for both the category and variable levels.

Cohen κ is the most widely used means for measuring the intercoder agreement. However, it has its limitations, especially for nondichotomous variables, a measure of relative rather than absolute agreement [39]. One of the main problems with Cohen κ is that the higher the number of categories, the less likely there is chance for strong intercoder agreement when using the Cohen κ [40]. Therefore, we supplemented Cohen κ with a percentage agreement. As a final part of the analysis, we compared the number of minor, serious, and critical usability problems between the usability factors and categories to analyze whether some factors or categories had a significantly higher number of severe usability problems than others.

Results

Intercoder Agreement

Validation of the analysis was performed by calculating Cohen κ values for both category and factor levels (Table 2). The resulting Cohen κ values were ≥ 0.62 , both on usability category and factor levels; all percentages were $\geq 66\%$. These scores can be interpreted as sufficient agreement between the researchers [41].

Table 2. Intercoder agreement expressed as Cohen κ and percent agreement for usability categories and factors.

Data set	Agreement level			
	Usability category	Usability factor		
Data set 8				
Usability problems, n	18	18		
Percent agreement (%)	72	67		
Cohen ĸ	0.62	0.63		
Data set 7				
Usability problems, n	41	41		
Percent agreement (%)	76	66		
Cohen ĸ	0.67	0.62		

Usability Factors for eHealth Applications

Overview

The ontology for usability problems for eHealth applications, which resulted from the coding process, consists of 8 overarching usability categories and 21 factors (Table 3). We differentiated between general usability factors (ie, design clarity, interface organization, and navigation) and eHealth-specific usability factors (ie, fit between system and health goals, accommodation to physical limitations, and procedural health-related information). The difference between these 2 types of usability factors (general and eHealth-specific) is that general factors are factors found in eHealth applications that we considered not unique to the eHealth domain (eg, system errors could occur regardless of the type of system), whereas eHealth-specific usability factors are factors related to the medical context in which eHealth applications are embedded (eg, health information, medical terminology, and health goals).



Table 3. Ontology for usability problems in eHealth applications.

Category of usability problem and usability factor	Type of usability factor			
Basic system performance				
Technical performance	General			
General system interaction	General			
Task-technology fit				
Fit between system and context of use	General			
Fit between system and user	General			
Fit between system and health goals	eHealth-specific			
Accessibility				
Accommodation to perceptual impairments or limitations	eHealth-specific			
Accommodation to physical impairments or limitations	eHealth-specific			
Accommodation to cognitive impairments or limitations	eHealth-specific			
Interface design				
Design clarity	General			
Symbols, icons, and buttons	General			
Interface organization	General			
Readability of texts	General			
Navigation and structure				
Navigation	General			
Structure	General			
Information and terminology				
System information	General			
Health-related information	eHealth-specific			
Guidance and support				
Error management	General			
Procedural system information	General			
Procedural health-related information	eHealth-specific			
Satisfaction				
Satisfaction with system	General			
Satisfaction with system's ability to support health goals	eHealth-specific			

Category 1: Basic System Performance

This category includes usability problems related to the system's technical stability and the user-system interaction. The factor *technical performance* describes usability problems related to the technical performance of the system, such as system errors, response times, and compatibility with external devices. An example of such a usability problem is the connection with a blood pressure monitor (Omron and Withings) does not work (data set 3, usability problem number 32). The factor *general system interaction* includes usability problems related to general system interaction elements (eg, use of buttons, scroll bars, swipes, and clicks) and concepts (eg, *the types of data entry are inconsistent through the app: String and integer entry, choices, scrolling through dates* [data set 7, usability problem number 1]).

Technical problems, such as nonresponsive buttons, can negatively affect efficient system interaction and perceived ease of use. These system errors can seriously hinder task completion and influence users' opinions of other usability aspects. For example, if page load time takes too long (data set 1, usability problem number 19), a user can also give low ratings to the system's ease of use, navigation, or satisfaction. Good technical performance of the system is essential to facilitate smooth and easy user-system interaction.

Category 2: Task-Technology Fit

Usability problems found in this category address the match between the system on the one hand, and the user, their context, and health goals, on the other hand. As such, this category is related to the model of Goodhue and Thompson [42], which defines task-technology fit as "the degree to which a technology assists an individual in performing his or her portfolio of tasks."

XSL•FO RenderX

The three factors describe usability problems that occur because the eHealth application is not considered suitable because of (1) the daily (clinical) context of use in which the app is to be implemented (eg, participant indicates that she could not print something from the phone easily [data set 6, usability problem number 86]), (2) the needs of the intended end-user group (eg, the default given for date of birth might not be optimal from the perspective of the average diabetic [data set 7, usability problem] number 3]), and (3) the intended health goals the app is designed to support (eg, the user did not take the system seriously, it was perceived more as a game than as a tool for living more healthily [data set 4, usability problem number 12]). When users perceive a good match between the system and the context, health goals, and themselves, it will lead to not only a more positive impression of the usability of an eHealth application but also a better understanding of its added value.

Category 3: Accessibility

The category accessibility addresses usability problems that stem from the system's inability to adequately consider or compensate for physical (eg, not able to do the exercise completely due to physical impairments [data set 2, usability problem number 15]), cognitive (eg, the explanation in the support video in the mailbox goes too fast for the user [data set 1, usability problem number 37]), or perceptual (eg, not able to hear NAO due to hearing impairment [data set 2, usability problem number 38]) limitations or impairments that are common to the identified patient groups. These impairments could affect how the user interacts with the system. Problems with moving one's wrist, or having tremors, could make it more difficult to move a mouse and click on objects or buttons. The system could make the buttons larger to make it easier for patients to click on it. Cognitive problems, such as concentration or memory problems, could make a person more forgetful of the things he or she has read. The system can accommodate this by repeating information. To address perceptual problems, for example, bad vision, the system could make the font size larger, so that texts are easier to read.

We were aware that the category *accessibility*, as the name indicates, is strongly linked to the concept of accessibility [43,44] or related concepts such as universal design [45] and user-sensitive inclusive design [46]. Although it is generally argued that these three concepts are not part of the system usability, previous studies [43-46] have acknowledged that there is a strong link. Our decision to include the category of accessibility hinges on three arguments. First, accessibility, as part of universal access, can promote usability [45]. Second, although accessibility is considered a functional and objective prerequisite for systems, user evaluation of these functionalities remains subjective and from a user perspective, cannot be perceived as separate from the general usability of a system. Third, eHealth applications are often designed for specific patient groups who can have physical, cognitive, or perceptual impairments or limitations. The user-friendly design of such systems therefore inherently provides access to people with such disabilities.

Category 4: Interface Design

The fourth category, interface design, focuses on the visibility of general user interface (GUI) elements. It has four variables. The first variable, design clarity, includes usability problems related to the size and clarity of a single GUI element (eg, buttons, icons, and graphics). One of the problems we found was that calendar (buttons) was too small, and the user accidentally tapped the field behind the calendar (data set 6, usability problem number 13). The variable symbols, buttons, or icons covers usability problems about the purpose of the GUI elements in the system. Does the user understand what these are for? For example, it is unclear what it means when the light of the Withings blood pressure monitor blinks (data set 3, usability problem number 1). The third variable, interface organization, concerns the placement and organization of GUI elements on a single screen, for example, the user had problems with the layout of the answering options with a 7 pt Likert scale (data set 4, usability problem number 3). The last variable, readability of texts, describes usability problems related to ease (eg, format, organization, and information density) with which a user can read a text, as well as typographic aspects (eg, font size and line height). For example, information overload in frequently asked question takes a long time to find answers (data set 8, usability problem number 19).

Category 5: Navigation and Structure

This category describes usability problems related to the simplicity and intuitiveness with which a user can move between different system components and a general understanding of the different system components. The factor *navigation* relates to the flow between multiple pages and is able to make correct predictions of what can be found in the system. An example of a navigational problem is that navigation with the game is unclear, and the user uses nongaming elements to navigate between the different screens (data set 1, usability problem number 30). Good navigation allows for efficient user-system interaction, that is, it takes less time to complete tasks, and it is easily understood how to perform the tasks [47]. Although system structure is often mentioned as a basic concept that users should be able to understand while using a system [48,49], there is little clarity with regard to the meaning of this concept. In our analysis, the usability factor structure emerged as one that relates to the user's understanding of the system components and the relationships between these different system components. An example of a structural issue is the connection between the beachcomber cabin (for storing stranded items) and the drift bottles (for receiving stranded items) is unclear (data set 1, usability problem number 59). A system structure in which users easily understand how different components relate to each other will positively affect the efficiency and effectiveness with which users can complete system and health-related tasks.

Category 6: Information and Terminology

This category consists of explanatory, nonaction-related system information and terminology in the app. Usability problems can include issues with understanding labels or terminology, the level of language, or the use of a foreign language. In this category, we made a distinction between system and

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e18198
```

health-related information. The first type includes information about the understandability of explanatory, nonaction-related information and terminology about the system, such as the use of nonnative language (eg, *chronic obstructive pulmonary disease questionnaire appears to be in English instead of Dutch* [data set 3, usability problem number 35]), whereas the latter includes information related to the understandability of explanatory, nonaction-related information about health, medical terminology, or achieving health goals (eg, *patient is not familiar with the word hypoglycemia* [*does not understand if this means a high or low blood sugar level*], *but he does understand hypo* [data set 5, usability problem number 18]). It is important for eHealth applications that are designed for patients to have medical terminology that is aligned with the patients' vocabulary.

Category 7: Guidance and Support

The guidance and support category describes usability problems that occur when the system does not provide sufficient support and feedback for tasks that the user has to perform and (potential) errors the user makes. The variable error management refers to the (lack of) feedback mechanisms that are incorporated within the system to prevent user errors. For example, "It was not clear that an incorrect blood sugar level was entered, the error pop-up only explained that there was insufficient information related to the field fasting blood sugar levels" [data set 5, usability problem number 12]. The other two variables in this category covered procedural information. Ummelen [50] describes procedural information as information that is related to conditions for actions, the manner in which actions are to be performed, and results and feedback from these actions. Next, a distinction is made between procedural system information and procedural health-related information. The first describes problems related to system actions (eg, "The system does not explain that the age of the user should be entered numerically, not alphabetically" [data set 4, usability problem number 6]). The second type of procedural information describes problems related to health-related tasks, such as performing physical exercises, filling in food diaries, and completing health questionnaires to measure physiological parameters. For example, it is unclear that the first time is to watch how NAO [a social robot] does the exercise (data set 2, usability problem number 44). These factors, such as error prevention and feedback, are embedded in general usability design principles and heuristics [51]. However, for eHealth applications, these factors are also important to support users in the self-management of their health. For example, being

unable to correctly perform physical exercises or not knowing if an exercise has been finished can be detrimental to perceived usability. Users do not know how to successfully complete health tasks and thus, do not know whether and how these tasks contribute to their health.

Category 8: Satisfaction

This final category concerns the user's satisfaction with the system and addresses the subjective opinion of the user on, or likeability of, an eHealth application. System satisfaction is one of the standard usability variables according to the ISO (International Organization for Standardization) definition [15] and includes usability problems related to the user's satisfaction with the system in general. In addition to this factor, we have identified a second type of satisfaction, namely satisfaction with the system's ability to support health goals. This second variable was added because although the user could believe that the system is nice or fun to use, this does not mean that the system also satisfactorily supports them in their intended health goals. The difference between these two variables is illustrated as follows: the users did not like it when different virtual coaches contradict one another (data set 4, usability problem number 20). This is a system-satisfaction problem. Some users also mentioned that they did not like the background stories of the virtual coaches (data set 4, usability problem number 15). This is a satisfaction problem related to the potential of the system to support health goals.

Descriptive Analysis

The eHealth usability ontology includes a total of 21 usability factors, of which 7 are eHealth-specific and 14 are context-independent. Table 4 displays the distribution of 400 usability problems that were included in the analyzed data sets over the different factors. It shows that about 69.5% (278/400) of the identified issues were of a basic nature and 30.5% (122/400) were health specific. This distribution is also present when we focus on minor, serious, and critical usability problems.

Next, we determined the number of minor, serious, and critical usability problems across the 8 categories (Table 5). The guidance and support category contained the highest number of usability problems, followed by the interface design, basic system performance, and navigation and structure categories. Accessibility and satisfaction had the lowest number of usability problems. Interestingly, although the interface design category has a high number of usability problems, which is 24% (96/400) of the total number of usability problems, only 7 usability problems were marked as critical.

 Table 4.
 Number of basic and health usability problems according to severity category.

Factor type	Usability problems (n=400), n (%)	Severity category, n (%)		
		Minor (n=186)	Serious (n=147)	Critical (n=67)
Basic	278 (69.5)	130 (69.9)	101 (68.7)	47 (70.1)
Health	122 (30.5)	56 (30.1)	46 (31.3)	20 (29.9)



Broekhuis et al

Table 5. Number of usability problems of usability categories according to severity level.

Usability category	ity category Severity category			Total (n=400), n (%)
	Minor usability problems (n=186), n (%)	Serious usability problems (n=147), n (%)	Critical usability problems (n=67), n (%)	
Basic system performance	32 (17.2)	10 (6.8)	14 (20.9)	56 (14)
Task-technology fit	16 (8.6)	7 (4.8)	5 (7.5)	28 (7)
Accessibility	2 (1.1)	5 (3.4)	1 (1.5)	8 (2)
Interface design	51 (27.4)	38 (25.9)	7 (10.4)	96 (24)
Navigation and structure	12 (6.4)	18 (12.2)	12 (17.9)	42 (10.5)
Information and terminology	13 (6.9)	13 (8.8)	1 (1.5)	27 (6.7)
Guidance and support	56 (30.1)	55 (37.4)	25 (37.3)	136 (34)
Satisfaction	4 (2.1)	1 (0.7)	2 (3)	7 (1.7)

Discussion

Principal Findings

On the basis of the results of this study, we can reconceptualize the traditional concept of usability in the eHealth context. Our analysis of usability problems in eHealth applications identified 8 main categories for eHealth usability: (1) basic system performance, (2) task-technology fit, (3) accessibility, (4) interface design, (5) navigation and structure, (6) information and terminology, (7) guidance and support, and (8) satisfaction. In each usability category, we made distinctions between factors that were related to general usability (basic usability factors) and those related to the health goals of the system, the medical context, or the characteristics of the intended patient group (health usability factors). We identified 14 general factors and 7 eHealth-specific factors from the analysis. Further examination of the number of usability problems between general and eHealth-specific usability factors revealed that 69.5% (238/400) of all usability problems were related to general factors and 30.5% (122/400) to eHealth-specific factors. When looking at the severity categories (minor, serious, and critical), we observed the same distribution (70:30) between these two types of factors. This implies that when one applies a general usability benchmarking instrument for evaluating eHealth applications, such as the SUS [10] or the PSSUQ [8], the final score cannot fully cover all usability problems (ie, eHealth-related ones), as eHealth-specific attributes of usability are not taken into account in these instruments. In other words, these general instruments can only explain a maximum of 70% of the app's usability. To fully assess the usability of eHealth applications, it is necessary to consider these additional eHealth-specific factors.

Comparison With Prior Work

The finding that the context, be it eGovernment, eCommerce, or eHealth affects usability is, of course, not surprising. Context has been a prominent factor in the definition of usability since the emergence of this construct [52]. However, no studies have yet identified the factors that comprise the usability construct in the eHealth context. In contrast, much research has been conducted to create generic instruments to obtain a rapid and very general assessment of the status of usability of systems, regardless of the system domain or context. Our results showed

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e18198
```

XSL•F() RenderX that the factors related to the medical context influence approximately 30.5% (122/400) of the usability problems that users encounter in eHealth applications, which is a substantial part. Interestingly, several usability evaluation studies of eHealth applications implicitly mentioned how the medical or health context affects the usability of these systems [53-55]. However, these health-related problems are often inadequately categorized under broad concepts, such as usefulness, ease of use, and layout. Our study ties together these findings by providing a fine-grained ontology to which all these health usability problems can be linked. This allows for a better understanding of the usability of eHealth applications. We have provided several examples found in recent literature of why this is necessary.

First, Voncken-Brewster et al [53] found that users, that is, people with a chronic illness, believed that the feedback of the system was not suitable for them because of the progressive physical limitations they experienced. In this study, they classified their usability problems into three main categories: layout, navigation, and content. Although their article did not describe the category under which this problem fell, it feels that none of these three would be a good match. Our ontology provides an alternative option, as this problem can be categorized under accessibility or guidance and support, depending on the specific formulation of the usability problem. Second, Mirkovic et al [54] evaluated the usability of an eHealth application that has two health goals: (1) patient-centered care and (2) self-management of a chronic illness. Their study found that users' evaluation of the usefulness of system modules is based on the need for these modules within their phase of illness. Self-management modules were mostly useful for users who were recently diagnosed. For users who are in a more advanced phase of the illness, patient-doctor communication modules were more important. Although Mirkovic et al [54] categorized this problem as a useful problem, our ontology would suggest the category task-technology fit, as it illustrates how the health goals of a user depend on their phase of illness, which influences the users' opinions on the usability of the evaluated system. Third, Stinson et al [55] found that users had difficulty understanding the labels of the classification of medication types. Although they classified this as a presentation error, our analysis revealed similar problems related to the understanding
of medical information and terminology. In addition to problems related to the health context, Hattink et al [56] showed that experiencing technical problems is also a major reason for not using systems. Although it seems logical that system errors can affect user friendliness, many benchmarking instruments or heuristics [57,58] do not mention this aspect. In contrast, it was a frequent problem that was identified in our content analysis of usability problems.

With regard to the similarities between, on the one hand, our conceptualization of usability for eHealth and, on the other hand, usability questionnaires, such as the PSSUQ [8], SUS [10], Health-ITUES [11], and MAUQ [12], we observed that each questionnaire measures some of the usability factors we identified in our ontology. For example, the PSSUQ contains items on general system interaction, error management, interface organization, and procedural system information. The SUS contains items on general system interaction, interface organization, and structure. Both of these general usability questionnaires do not consider other general usability factors, such as technical performance, task-technology fit, design clarity, navigation, and health usability factors. eHealth usability benchmarking instruments, such as Health-ITUES and MAUQ, are more suited to measure how an eHealth application can support users in self-managing their health or be applied in a medical context. The Health-ITUES focuses on how the system fits to the daily clinical setting but neglects factors such as navigation, understandability of medical terminology, or interface organization. The MAUQ includes items on how a mobile health app supports users in managing their health and receiving health care or services, in addition to some general usability items such as navigation and interface organization. Each of these four questionnaires covered a handful of the usability factors identified in this study. Our ontology provides a more detailed and thorough overview of the most common usability factors that could hinder the usability of eHealth applications. Therefore, the currently available questionnaires are limited in their predictive value for determining the actual usability of an eHealth application.

Limitations

This study had two main limitations. First, we intended to include data sets from a wide variety of eHealth application designed for different end-user groups. This was deemed necessary, as we wanted to develop a framework for eHealth applications in general. However, the eHealth applications that we included were, although quite diverse in nature, largely intended for middle-aged or older adults (aged \geq 40 years). eHealth applications for other age groups, such as adolescents, could have specific usability problems that are underrepresented in this framework. Future research should determine if these other target groups have other common usability problems that need to be included in the eHealth usability ontology. Second, the Cohen κ values of the intercoder agreement were, although sufficient, not strong. One reason for the low Cohen κ scores is that usability problems were often ambiguously formulated. Although we excluded many of these problems beforehand, during coding it became notable that the researchers had different opinions about the origins of some problems. This is not completely avoidable in qualitative research but does highlight the common problem in usability evaluation studies: the evaluator effect [59]. The usability researcher has a large influence on the output of usability evaluation studies (and thus the formulation of usability problems). A means to establish a more uniform approach for formulating usability problems was provided by Khajouei et al [60]. It describes a framework for high-quality reporting of usability problems that mentions the underlying causes, severity, and impact on task performance. Furthermore, the use of a standardized framework for coding usability problems can provide support against the evaluator effect, as it helps create a common ground between researchers.

Conclusions

The current set of usability benchmarking instruments only provides a limited overview of the usability of eHealth applications, as they do not consider eHealth-specific factors. Our reconceptualization of usability in the eHealth context will help practitioners and researchers better understand the usability problems they encounter in their evaluations and develop suitable benchmarking tools.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Poppe L, Van der Mispel C, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Verloigne M, Shadid S, Crombez G. Users' thoughts and opinions about a self-regulation-based eHealth intervention targeting physical activity and the intake of fruit and vegetables: a qualitative study. PLoS One 2017 Dec 21;12(12):e0190020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190020] [Medline: 29267396]
- 2. Canter KS, Deatrick JA, Hilgart MM, Myers J, Vega G, Ritterband LM, et al. eSCCIP: A psychosocial ehealth intervention for parents of children with cancer. Clin Pract Pediatr Psychol 2019 Mar;7(1):44-56. [doi: 10.1037/cpp0000264]
- Stinson JN, Petroz GC, Tait G, Feldman BM, Streiner D, McGrath PJ, et al. e-Ouch: usability testing of an electronic chronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. Clin J Pain 2006;22(3):295-305. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.ajp.0000173371.54579.31</u>] [Medline: <u>16514331</u>]
- 4. van Velsen L, Evers M, Bara C, den Akker OH, Boerema S, Hermens H. Understanding the acceptance of an eHealth technology in the early stages of development: an end-user walkthrough approach and two case studies. JMIR Form Res 2018 Jun 15;2(1):e10474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10474] [Medline: 30684434]

- 5. Walsh L, Hemsley B, Allan M, Adams N, Balandin S, Georgiou A, et al. The e-health literacy demands of Australia's my health record: a heuristic evaluation of usability. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2017;14(Fall):1f [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29118683]
- Georgsson M, Staggers N. Quantifying usability: an evaluation of a diabetes mHealth system on effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction metrics with associated user characteristics. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jan;23(1):5-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv099] [Medline: 26377990]
- 7. Peute LW, Spithoven R, Bakker PJ, Jaspers MW. Usability studies on interactive health information systems; where do we stand? Stud Health Technol Inform 2008;136:327-332. [Medline: <u>18487752</u>]
- 8. Lewis JR. Psychometric evaluation of the post-study system usability questionnaire: the PSSUQ. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors Society 36th Annual Meeting. 1992 Presented at: HFES Annual The Human Factors Society Annual Meeting; 1992; Atlanta, GA, USA p. 1259-1263.
- Chin J, Diehl V, Norman K. Development of an instrument measuring user satisfaction of the human-computer interface. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1988 Presented at: CHI88: Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 15 - 19, 1988; Washington D.C. USA p. 213-218. [doi: 10.1145/57167.57203]
- 10. Brooke J. SUS: A 'Quick and Dirty' usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Boca Raton, Florida, United States: CRC Press; 1996:194.
- 11. Yen PY, Wantland D, Bakken S. Development of a customizable health IT usability evaluation scale. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2010 Nov 13;2010:917-921 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21347112]
- 12. Zhou L, Bao J, Setiawan IM, Saptono A, Parmanto B. The mHealth App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ): development and validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 11;7(4):e11500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11500] [Medline: 30973342]
- 13. Maramba I, Chatterjee A, Newman C. Methods of usability testing in the development of eHealth applications: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2019 Jun;126:95-104. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.03.018] [Medline: 31029270]
- 14. Broekhuis M, van Velsen L, Hermens H. Assessing usability of eHealth technology: a comparison of usability benchmarking instruments. Int J Med Inform 2019 Aug;128:24-31. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.05.001</u>] [Medline: <u>31160008</u>]
- 15. Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 11: Usability: definitions and concepts. International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO). 2018. URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:9241:-11:ed-2:v1:en</u> [accessed 2021-07-07]
- Linek S, Tochtermann K. Assessment of usability benchmarks: combining standardized scales with specific questions. In: Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Interactive Collaborative Learning. 2011 Presented at: 14th International Conference on Interactive Collaborative Learning; Sept. 21-23, 2011; Piestany, Slovakia p. 67-75. [doi: 10.1109/icl.2011.6059549]
- 17. Borsci S, Federici S, Malizia A, De Filippis ML. Shaking the usability tree: why usability is not a dead end, and a constructive way forward. Behav Inf Technol 2018 Nov 02;38(5):519-532. [doi: 10.1080/0144929x.2018.1541255]
- Kim H, Xie B. Health literacy in the eHealth era: a systematic review of the literature. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Jun;100(6):1073-1082. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2017.01.015</u>] [Medline: <u>28174067</u>]
- Hoogendam YY, van der Lijn F, Vernooij MW, Hofman A, Niessen WJ, van der Lugt A, et al. Older age relates to worsening of fine motor skills: a population-based study of middle-aged and elderly persons. Front Aging Neurosci 2014 Sep 25;6:259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00259] [Medline: 25309436]
- Flores E, Tobon G, Cavallaro E, Cavallaro F, Perry J, Keller T. Improving patient motivation in game development for motor deficit rehabilitation. In: Proceedings of the 2008 International Conference on Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology. 2008 Presented at: ACE2008: International Conference in Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology; December 3-5, 2008; Yokohama Japan p. 381-384. [doi: 10.1145/1501750.1501839]
- van Velsen L, Broekhuis M, Jansen-Kosterink S, den Akker HO. Tailoring persuasive electronic health strategies for older adults on the basis of personal motivation: web-based survey study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Sep 06;21(9):11759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11759] [Medline: 31493323]
- 22. Abran A, Khelifi A, Suryn W, Seffah A. Consolidating the ISO usability models. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Software Quality Management Conference and the 8th Annual INSPIRE Conference. 2014 Presented at: 11th International Software Quality Management Conference and the 8th Annual INSPIRE Conference; June 16-20, 2014; Aalborg Denmark URL: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/versions?doi=10.1.1.93.3969
- 23. Hasan L, Al-Sarayreh K. An integrated measurement model for evaluating usability attributes. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Intelligent Information Processing, Security and Advanced Communication. 2015 Presented at: IPAC '15: International Conference on Intelligent Information Processing, Security and Advanced Communication; November 23 - 25, 2015; Batna Algeria p. 1-6. [doi: 10.1145/2816839.2816861]
- 24. Zhang D, Adipat B. Challenges, methodologies, and issues in the usability testing of mobile applications. Int J Hum Comput Interact 2005 Jul;18(3):293-308. [doi: 10.1207/s15327590ijhc1803_3]
- 25. Seffah A, Donyaee M, Kline RB, Padda HK. Usability measurement and metrics: a consolidated model. Software Qual J 2006 Jun;14(2):159-178. [doi: 10.1007/s11219-006-7600-8]

- 26. van Welie M, van der Veer GC, Eliëns AP. Breaking down usability. In: Proceedings of Interact 99 Human Computer Interaction. 1999 Presented at: Human Computer Interaction Interact 99; August 30 September 3, 1999; Edinburgh, Scotland p. 613-620 URL: <u>https://research.vu.nl/en/publications/breaking-down-usability</u>
- 27. Folmer E, Bosch J. Architecting for usability: a survey. J Sys Soft 2004 Feb;70(1-2):61-78. [doi: 10.1016/s0164-1212(02)00159-0]
- 28. Sardi L, Idri A, Fernández-Alemán JL. A systematic review of gamification in e-Health. J Biomed Inform 2017 Jul;71:31-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2017.05.011] [Medline: 28536062]
- 29. Cabrita M, Tabak M, Vollenbroek-Hutten M. Mobile technology to monitor physical activity and wellbeing in daily life objective and subjective experiences of older adults. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health ICT4AWE. 2017 Presented at: 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health ICT4AWE. 2017 Presented at: 3rd International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health ICT4AWE; April 28-29, 2017; Porto, Portugal p. 164-171. [doi: 10.5220/0006321101640171]
- 30. Or C, Tao D. Usability study of a computer-based self-management system for older adults with chronic diseases. JMIR Res Protoc 2012 Nov 08;1(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2184] [Medline: 23612015]
- 31. Mackey LM, Doody C, Werner EL, Fullen B. Self-management skills in chronic disease management. Med Decis Making 2016 Apr 06;36(6):741-759. [doi: 10.1177/0272989x16638330]
- Ash JS, Berg M, Coiera E. Some unintended consequences of information technology in health care: the nature of patient care information system-related errors. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004;11(2):104-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1471] [Medline: 14633936]
- Keizer R, van Velsen L, Moncharmont M, Riche B, Ammour N, Signore S, et al. Using socially assistive robots for monitoring and preventing frailty among older adults: a study on usability and user experience challenges. Health Technol 2019 Apr 9;9(4):595-605. [doi: 10.1007/s12553-019-00320-9]
- Simon AC, Holleman F, Gude WT, Hoekstra JB, Peute LW, Jaspers MW, et al. Safety and usability evaluation of a web-based insulin self-titration system for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Artif Intell Med 2013 Sep;59(1):23-31. [doi: 10.1016/j.artmed.2013.04.009] [Medline: 23735522]
- 35. Wildenbos G, Jaspers M, Schijven M, Dusseljee-Peute LW. Mobile health for older adult patients: using an aging barriers framework to classify usability problems. Int J Med Inform 2019 Apr;124:68-77. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.01.006</u>] [Medline: <u>30784429</u>]
- 36. Duh H, Tan G, Chen V. Usability evaluation for mobile device: a comparison of laboratory and field tests. In: Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services. 2006 Presented at: MobileHCI06: Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services; September 12 15, 2006; Helsinki Finland p. 181-186. [doi: 10.1145/1152215.1152254]
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001 Mar 01;56(3):146-156. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.m146] [Medline: 11253156]
- 38. Bengtsson M. How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. NursingPlus Open 2016;2:8-14. [doi: 10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001]
- de Vet HC, Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Hoekstra OS, Knol DL. Clinicians are right not to like Cohen's κ. Br Med J 2013 Apr 12;346:f2125. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.f2125] [Medline: 23585065]
- 40. Strijbos J, Martens RL, Prins FJ, Jochems WM. Content analysis: what are they talking about? Comput Educ 2006 Jan;46(1):29-48. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2005.04.002]
- 41. Byrt T. How good is that agreement? Epidemiology 1996 Sep;7(5):561. [doi: <u>10.1097/00001648-199609000-00030</u>] [Medline: <u>8862998</u>]
- 42. Goodhue DL, Thompson RL. Task-technology fit and individual performance. MIS Q 1995 Jun;19(2):213. [doi: 10.2307/249689]
- Iwarsson S, Ståhl A. Accessibility, usability and universal design--positioning and definition of concepts describing person-environment relationships. Disabil Rehabil 2003 Jan 21;25(2):57-66. [doi: <u>10.1080/dre.25.2.57.66</u>] [Medline: <u>12554380</u>]
- 44. Queirós A, Silva A, Alvarelhão J, Rocha NP, Teixeira A. Usability, accessibility and ambient-assisted living: a systematic literature review. Univ Access Inf Soc 2013 Oct 5;14(1):57-66. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10209-013-0328-x</u>]
- 45. Stephanidis C, Savidis A. Universal access in the information society: methods, tools, and interaction technologies. Univers Access Inf Soc 2001 Jun;1(1):40-55. [doi: 10.1007/s102090100008]
- 46. Newell A, Gregor P. "User sensitive inclusive design"— in search of a new paradigm. In: Proceedings on the 2000 Conference on Universal Usability. 2000 Presented at: CUU00: ACM Conference on Universal Usability; November 16 - 17, 2000; Arlington Virginia USA p. 39-44. [doi: 10.1145/355460.355470]
- 47. Fang X, Holsapple CW. An empirical study of web site navigation structures' impacts on web site usability. Decis Support Syst 2007 Mar;43(2):476-491. [doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2006.11.004]
- 48. Nielsen J. The usability engineering life cycle. IEEE Compu 1992 Mar;25(3):12-22. [doi: 10.1109/2.121503]

- 49. Nielsen J. Usability metrics: tracking interface improvements. IEEE Softw 1996 Nov;13(6):1-2. [doi: 10.1109/ms.1996.8740869]
- 50. Farkas DK. Procedural and declarative information in software manuals: effects of information use, task performance, and knowledge. J Busi Tech Commun 2016 Jul 25;11(4):502-505. [doi: 10.1177/1050651997011004008]
- 51. Nielsen J. 10 usability heuristics for user interface design. Nielsen Norman Group. 1994. URL: <u>https://www.nngroup.com/</u> articles/ten-usability-heuristics/ [accessed 2021-07-07]
- 52. Shackel B. The concept of usability. In: Bennett J, Case D, Sandelin J, Smith M, editors. Visual Display Terminals. Hoboken, New Jersey, United States: Prentice-Hall; 1984:45-88.
- 53. Voncken-Brewster V, Moser A, van der Weijden T, Nagykaldi Z, de Vries H, Tange H. Usability evaluation of an online, tailored self-management intervention for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients incorporating behavior change techniques. JMIR Res Protoc 2013 Jan 16;2(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2246] [Medline: 23612363]
- 54. Mirkovic J, Kaufman DR, Ruland CM. Supporting cancer patients in illness management: usability evaluation of a mobile app. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Aug 13;2(3):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3359] [Medline: 25119490]
- 55. Stinson J, McGrath P, Hodnett E, Feldman B, Duffy C, Huber A, et al. Usability testing of an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Med Internet Res 2010 Jul 29;12(3):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1349] [Medline: 20675293]
- 56. Hattink B, Droes R, Sikkes S, Oostra E, Lemstra AW. Evaluation of the Digital Alzheimer Center: Testing usability and usefulness of an online portal for patients with dementia and their carers. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Jul 21;5(3):e144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5040] [Medline: 27444209]
- 57. Baumel A, Muench F. Heuristic evaluation of eHealth interventions: establishing standards that relate to the therapeutic process perspective. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Jan 13;3(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4563] [Medline: 26764209]
- 58. Elling S, Lentz L, de Jong M. Website Evaluation Questionnaire: Development of a Research-Based Tool for Evaluating Informational Websites. In: Electronic Government. Berlin: Springer; 2007:293-304.
- 59. Hertzum M, Jacobsen NE. The evaluator effect: a chilling fact about usability evaluation methods. Int J Hum-Comput Int 2003 Feb;15(1):183-204. [doi: 10.1207/s15327590ijhc1501_14]
- 60. Khajouei R, Peute L, Hasman A, Jaspers M. Classification and prioritization of usability problems using an augmented classification scheme. J Biomed Inform 2011 Dec;44(6):948-957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2011.07.002] [Medline: 21782036]

Abbreviations

GUI: general user interface Health-ITUES: Health Information Technology Usability Evaluation Scale ISO: International Organization for Standardization MAUQ: Mental Health App Usability Questionnaire PSSUQ: Poststudy System Usability Questionnaire SUS: system usability scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.02.20; peer-reviewed by J Kimmerle, CH Chang, A Coe, H Witteman; comments to author 29.06.20; revised version received 02.09.20; accepted 31.05.21; published 27.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Broekhuis M, van Velsen L, Peute L, Halim M, Hermens H Conceptualizing Usability for the eHealth Context: Content Analysis of Usability Problems of eHealth Applications JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e18198 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e18198</u> doi:10.2196/18198 PMID:34313594

©Marijke Broekhuis, Lex van Velsen, Linda Peute, Meilani Halim, Hermie Hermens. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 27.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Development of a Video-Observed Therapy System to Improve Monitoring of Tuberculosis Treatment in Thailand: Mixed-Methods Study

Ponlagrit Kumwichar¹, MD; Virasakdi Chongsuvivatwong¹, MD, PhD; Tagoon Prappre¹, BSc

Epidemiology Unit, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Songkhla, Thailand

Corresponding Author: Virasakdi Chongsuvivatwong, MD, PhD Epidemiology Unit Faculty of Medicine Prince of Songkla University Kanjanavanich Rd, Kho Hong, Hat Yai District Songkhla, 90110 Thailand Phone: 66 74451165 Email: cvirasak@medicine.psu.ac.th

Abstract

Background: Directly observed therapy programs for monitoring tuberculosis (TB) treatment in Thailand are unsustainable, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic. The current video-observed therapy (VOT) system, the Thai VOT (TH VOT), was developed to replace the directly observed therapy program.

Objective: This study aimed to describe the VOT system design and identify the potential for system improvements.

Methods: This pilot study was conducted in Na Yong district, a small district in Trang province, south of Thailand. The TH VOT system consists of a smartphone app for patients, a secured web-based platform for staff, items used, and standard operating procedures. There were three groups of users: observers who were TB staff, healthy volunteers as simulated patients, and patients with active TB. All participants were trained to follow the standard operating procedures. After 2-week usage, VOT session records were analyzed to measure the compliance of the patients and observers. The User Experience Questionnaire was used to lead the participant users to focus on 6 standard dimensions of usability, and was supplemented with an in-depth interview to identify potential system improvements from users' experience.

Results: Only 2 of 16 patients with currently active TB had a usable smartphone. Sixty of 70 drug-taking sessions among 2 patients and 3 simulated patients in 2 weeks were recorded and uploaded. Only 37 sessions were inspected by the observers within 24 hours. All participants needed a proper notification system. An audit system was also requested.

Conclusions: Before upscaling, the cost of smartphone lending, audit management, and notification systems should be elucidated.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e29463) doi:10.2196/29463

KEYWORDS

app; mixed-methods analysis; remote monitoring; therapy; tuberculosis; user experience; video directly observed therapy; video-enhanced therapy; video-observed therapy

Introduction

Thailand is currently one of 30 countries worldwide with the highest tuberculosis (TB) rate [1]. Directly observed treatment (DOT) has been implemented since 1996 [2]. Despite 2 previous studies showing the poor sustainability of DOT, the country has not made any change owing to a lack of alternative strategies [3,4]. As such, the National Tuberculosis Control Program Guideline has recommended health personnel as the first-choice

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29463

RenderX

observer [5]. However, family-based DOT is administered to 60%-75% of TB cases owing to the complacency of the health care system [6,7]. Family-based DOT is also complacent because of the nature of family relationships [8-10]. Ultimately, nobody has been formally accountable for DOT with regard to the patient. Consequently, the cumulative number of drug-resistant TB cases detected has increased from approximately 500 in 2014 to 1200 cases in 2019, which indicates the poor quality of DOT in the health care system [1].

Additionally, the health care situation has been worsened by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic [11,12]. Therefore, newer studies are needed to develop a new observed therapy method to mitigate the existing issues and accelerate the End TB Strategy of the World Health Organization [1].

Recently, with advancements in smartphone technology, internet penetration has increased the access of the whole population to mobile phones and other electronic devices. Consequently, a new technology called video-observed therapy (VOT) has been introduced to replace DOT [13]. VOT is a platform that allows health personnel to observe medical ingestion through a television system. There are two types of VOT: synchronous VOT (S-VOT) and asynchronous VOT (A-VOT). S-VOT is the live form of VOT in which the patient and health care personnel interact in real time. However, A-VOT is a platform on which the patient records and uploads a video to the health service, and the health care personnel review the video later [14]. Two randomized controlled trials in the United Kingdom and the United States reported that both S-VOT and A-VOT could lower health service costs compared to traditional DOT [15,16].

In Thailand, the "TH VOT" has been developed by our group. This is an A-VOT system with a smartphone app available on the Google Play Store. A-VOT has been selected because the internet bandwidth in rural areas where patients with TB live is still too deficient to allow for S-VOT on a real-time interface. In the background, a secured website platform was developed, which allowed only the approved HCP to review the video. With standard operating procedures (SOPs), the TH VOT platform was tested in Na Yong district, Trang province, southern Thailand. The objectives of this study were to describe how the VOT system was designed and to identify potential system improvements.

Methods

Overview of the Study and the TH VOT System

In Thailand, a patient with active TB would be transferred to be monitored by the DOT program of a primary care unit (PCU) close to the patient's home. Normally, 1 of the health care personnel at the PCU is assigned to be an observer to monitor medication adherence of the patient; this person is called the "TB staff." The TB staff could also assign his/her observation to a local village health volunteer or a family member owing to the inadequate labor force. The TH VOT system was specifically designed to replace the DOT program in the setting. In the VOT system, an observer must be a PCU staff member. This study consisted of two parts: the system design and identification of potential system improvements.

System Design

The TH VOT system included a smartphone app for patients, a secure web-based platform for staff, items used, and SOPs.

Smartphone App for Patients

The TH VOT app was programmed using Dart language and had the following features:

- 1. Login interface: the first page that requires a username and password to sync with our online Structured Query Language database.
- 2. Main interface: only 1 main interface of this app with an obvious button to turn on the camera.
- 3. Video recorder: using a smartphone-based camera feature to record a video.
- 4. Uploading feature: a back-end function to compress the size of the recorded video to accelerate the uploading process, considering the low internet speed in Thailand.
- 5. Notification system: push notification that pops up on a screen at any time set by the user.

Secure Website Platform for VOT Observers

The website interface was coded using Cascading Style Sheets and its features were programmed in JavaScript:

- 1. Login interface: the first page that requires a username and password to sync with the same Structured Query Language database as that of the TH VOT app.
- 2. Main interface: an interface of the platform to choose 1 of 3 menus—a review dashboard, a registration page, and a user settings page.
- 3. Review dashboard: a daily automatically updated spreadsheet with records of registered patients in rows and information including note-taking, the video file with a button for pop-up video verification, patient identification number, time when the video arrived, and approval status in columns (Figure 1).
- 4. Registration: a webpage to register a patient under the direct responsibility of the observer (Figure 2A).
- 5. Video verification: a window pop-up after pressing a play button on the dashboard. The video file can be inspected at various speeds to be approved (Figure 2B).
- 6. User settings: a page to edit user information and choose an option of notification.
- 7. Notification system: LINE application programming interface that pushes the notification to the observer when the video has already arrived. LINE token access from the observer must be activated to use this feature.

In this pilot study, the notification system was omitted owing to budget-related issues.



Figure 1. The review dashboard.

10	e entries	ID I	Date-Time	Status
Ø	•	12201-0740437	2020-10-06 1238 12	Not-viewed
Ø	•	12201-002	2020-30-06 13 18 21	Not-viewed
ø	•	12201-1223	2020-11-10 08 56 28	✓ Viewed
٥	° N	ote-taking	2020-11-18 10 34 29	Not-viewed
ø		pr001	No video sent	Not-viewed

Figure 2. Standard operation procedures of the video-observed therapy at the patients' end. SOP: standard operating procedure, TH VOT: Thai video-observed therapy.



https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29463

XSL•FO RenderX

Items Used

Essential items that must be provided to patients are listed in Textbox 1 and illustrated in Figure 3.

Textbox 1. A list of items delivered to the patients.

Items:

- A color board with drug labels (20×10 cm) (Figure 3A)
- A smartphone holder (Figure 3A).
- A clear glass (200 mL) (Figure 3A)
- 14 zipper medicine bags with a daily anti-TB dose packed inside (2 vitamin tablets per bag for a simulated patient) (Figure 3A).
- A position guideline for the patient (Figure 3B)

Figure 3. A set of items provided to a patient (A) and a position guideline for a patient (B). TB: tuberculosis.



SOPs

RenderX

SOPs were divided into two series: patient SOP and observer SOP.

SOPs of the VOT at the Patients' End (Patient SOP)

Instructions for the preparation process for patients with TB (Figure 4A) were as follows:

- 1. Place the given items on a table as shown in the position guideline (Figure 3B).
- 2. Open the TH VOT app and turn on the front camera.
- 3. Adjust the frame as appropriate. The upper half of the frame should contain a full-face image.
- 4. Remove all the anti-TB drugs from the daily zipper bag and place them on their color labels.
- 5. Wait for autofocus at the face and press the recording button.

Instructions for the recording process for patients with TB (Figure 4B) were as follows:

- 1. Depending on the condition:
 - If you are feeling unwell owing to the drugs, please report your adverse event through the app, call the TB staff, and temporarily stop taking the pills.
 - If you have any major side effects (vision changes, jaundice, confusion, vomiting, and skin rash), stop the medication and call the TB staff.
 - If you experience anaphylaxis, call the emergency department of Na Yong Hospital (Tel. +66-075-299-099)
 - Otherwise, continue to step 2.
- 2. Remove the pill from its label and place it on your tongue.
- 3. Protrude your tongue to show the tablet or capsule.

- 4. Swallow it. Note that multiple tablets or capsules can be placed on your tongue as convenient before swallowing in order to reduce water intake.
- 5. Raise your tongue to show your sublingual area.
- 6. Protrude your tongue to expose your palate area.
- 7. Repeat steps 2-6 until completion of the daily dose and stop recording.
- 8. Confirm your video and upload it to the TH VOT database.

Figure 4. Standard operation procedures of the video-observed therapy at the observers' end.



SOPs of the VOT at the Observers' End (Observer SOP)

Instructions for the registration process for the observers (Figure 2A) were as follows:

- 1. Request informed consent from the patient.
- 2. Provide the items listed in Textbox 1 to the patient.
- 3. Register the patient on the secure web-based platform and let the patient set his/her password privately.
- 4. Register the prescription for the patient.
- 5. Install the TH VOT app on the patient's smartphone.
- 6. Let the patient attempt to log into his/her account and use the smartphone to capture a photograph of his/her face and upload it to the system as proof for future facial identification.
- 7. Train the patient to use the TH VOT app in accordance with the patient SOP.

8. Appoint the time range for the patient's drug-taking and explain the reminding process.

Instructions for the reviewing process for the observers (Figure 2B) were as follows:

- 1. In the appointed time range, open the review dashboard of the secure web-based platform, check the rows of video sessions uploaded and consider the following:
 - If no video is sent, call the patient to provide him/her a reminder, and then continue to step 8.
 - Otherwise, click the eye button in the row with an unapproved status to pop up a window of video verification, and then continue to step 2.
- 2. Click "Play" to start the video.
- 3. Confirm the identity of the patient in the video.

- 4. Listen to any adverse event complaints and check the boxes of common side effects or type in other adverse events found in the video.
- 5. Identify the tablets or capsules of the anti-TB drugs taken by the patient by using the color board, and enumerate the consumed pills.
- 6. Use the checklist provided in Figure 4B. Assign 1 score to each correctly performed procedure (ranging 2-7). If there is any mistake, call the patient and provide advice to carry out the correct procedure in future.
- 7. Click "Save" to close the pop-up window.
- 8. Contact and respond to the patient if any adverse event or any other issue that occurs within 24 hours.
- 9. Take notes of any response in the record row of the dashboard.

Identification of Potential System Improvements

This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University (approval# 64-03618-9). The implementation was approved by the research team and the chief medical officer of Na Yong Hospital.

Study Design

A mixed-methods pilot study was conducted through users' experiences of 2-week usage. The potential for system improvement was identified on the basis of two aspects: user compliance and user suggestion.

Participants

In Na Yong district, 6 PCUs served a total of 16 patients with active TB. Only 3 patients from 3 different PCUs had a smartphone and were thus recruited in our study. One TB staff as an observer and 1 healthy volunteer as a simulated patient were then recruited to attempt using the TH VOT system in each of these 3 PCUs. All participants were trained to use the TH VOT system in accordance with the aforementioned SOPs.

Data Collection

After the 2-week usage, the system's data records were automatically collected in the database of the TH VOT system since the beginning of the observation period. The video session records in the TH VOT system were retrieved to assess the compliance levels of all participants.

The participants were assigned to score the validated Thai user experience questionnaire (UEQ) [17]. The UEQ contained six dimensional scales: attractiveness (6 items), perspicuity (4 items), efficiency (4 items), dependability (4 items), stimulation (4 items), and novelty (4 items). The items were developed on the basis of the shape of a semantic differential scale with 7-point scales. Two words with opposite meanings represented each item. The order of the itemized terms was randomized with half of the scale's items beginning with a positive term (+3) and the other half of the items beginning with a negative term (-3). The neutral point was always 0. Cronbach α coefficient values from the original paper were as follows: attractiveness=.86, perspicuity=.71, efficiency=.79, dependability=.69, stimulation=.88, and novelty=.84 [18].

When participants completed scoring, the scores were processed in the researcher's computer and individually revealed to the score raters, and each dimensional score was compared with the upper limit of the general thresholds [19]. Then, each participant was privately asked to explain why those scores were assigned. The reflections on the users' experiences and suggestions for further development were collected using unstructured in-depth interviews to clarify users' reasons and their compliance. Participant interviews lasted 30-45 minutes each.

Results

Results Overview

Of the 9 participants initially recruited, 8 completed the study and 1 patient with TB retreated after 1 day of use owing to crashing of the app. Data from the 8 remaining participants were used to identify the potential for system improvement.

User Compliance

Overall, 70 video sessions were expected (2 from real patients and 3 from simulated patients over 14 days). A total of 60 sessions were recorded and submitted. Of these, 37 sessions were inspected by the staff within 24 hours.

User Suggestion

UEQ scores were revealed to each participant before starting their in-depth interviews. As shown in Table 1, all patients and simulated patients assigned higher scores in all dimensions than the upper limit of the general thresholds. The observers assigned high scores on attractiveness and novelty but poor scores on other dimensions.

According to the in-depth interviews, the patients and simulated patients forgot to take medication on some days, and the observers did not make a phone call to remind them. The push notification of the app was sometimes not seen as well. The observers requested to have the automatic notification system and suggested the need for auditing by their supervisors.

Table 1. The users' experience scores.

Kumwichar et al

Participant group and #	User Experience Questionnaire score						
	Attractiveness	Perspicuity	Efficiency	Dependability	Stimulation	Novelty	
Good benchmark ^a	1.41	1.84	1.43	1.53	1.10	0.87	
Observer							
01	2.17	1.25	0.75	1.50	-0.25	1.00	
O2	1.67	0.25	0.50	1.25	-0.75	1.00	
O3	1.67	0.75	0.75	1.25	-1.00	1.00	
Simulated patient							
S1	2.67	2.25	1.75	1.75	1.00	1.00	
S2	1.50	2.00	1.75	2.00	1.50	1.25	
S 3	2.17	2.50	1.50	2.00	1.50	1.25	
Real patient							
P1	1.67	2.5	1.75	1.75	1.50	1.25	
P2	2.17	2.00	1.50	2.00	1.50	1.00	
Р3	N/A ^b	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

^aUpper limit of the general thresholds [19].

^bN/A: not available; this patient withdrew from the trial because the app crashed.

Discussion

Principal Findings

According to the participant recruitment requirements, possession of a smartphone was the main problem of the A-VOT system, as only 2 patients owned a usable smartphone in this study. However, this problem could be resolved by providing smartphones with public cellular internet to patients who did not have a smartphone or their caretakers. An Android smartphone compatible with the TH VOT system could be purchased for approximately 900-1200 Baht (US \$27.44-36.59), which was less than the total cost of drugs for standard TB treatment per patient: 1300-1800 Baht (US \$39.63-54.88) [20]. After the patient was cured, the smartphone would be returned to the health service for use by the next patient with TB.

For user compliance, the level of use was not high on the patients' end and low on the observers' end compared to those in the United States and the United Kingdom [15,16]. Two more system elements would be needed: the audit and notification systems. The chief of the TB staff should be assigned to audit the quality of the VOT used by the patients and observers. A notification should be set up to provide feedback and notify the evaluation to the patients and observers.

Potential system improvements indicated by all users included the notification system, which was inactivated owing to budget-related problems. A largely well-known notification system, such as SMS or LINE, may be more effective to stimulate users than the current push notification. To overcome this problem, the option of an application programming interface of LINE notifications must be activated in further studies.

Limitations

This pilot study was limited by its small budget. Our findings indicate the need for adequate financial preparation to cover smartphone lending, audit management, and notification systems. The UEQ scores of this study could not be interpreted to conclusively determine usability levels owing to the small sample size of our study. Two weeks of observation may not be long enough to assess the burnout effect on users. Furthermore, simulated patients who did not take TB medication could not appropriately represent the side effect detection process.

Conclusions

To improve the TH VOT system, smartphones should be lent to patients with TB who do not own a smartphone. An audit system and web-based notification system to remind the observers and patients must be set up.

Acknowledgments

This study and the system development were funded by the Prince of Songkla University, Thailand. The researchers would like to sincerely thank all the TB staff in Na Yong district for their engagement in the implementation of the TH VOT system. Research reported in this publication was supported by the Fogarty International Center and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number D43 TW009522. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Global Tuberculosis Report. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336069/9789240013131-eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-07-16]
- Kamolratanakul P, Sawert H, Lertmaharit S, Kasetjaroen Y, Akksilp S, Tulaporn C, et al. Randomized controlled trial of directly observed treatment (DOT) for patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in Thailand. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1999;93(5):552-557. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0035-9203(99)90379-6</u>] [Medline: <u>10696421</u>]
- 3. Pungrassami P, Johnsen SP, Chongsuvivatwong V, Olsen J. Has directly observed treatment improved outcomes for patients with tuberculosis in southern Thailand? Trop Med Int Health 2002 Mar;7(3):271-279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3156.2002.00849.x] [Medline: 11903990]
- 4. Pungrassami P, Chongsuvivatwong V. Are health personnel the best choice for directly observed treatment in southern Thailand? A comparison of treatment outcomes among different types of observers. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2002;96(6):695-699. [doi: 10.1016/s0035-9203(02)90354-8] [Medline: 12625153]
- 5. National Tuberculosis Control Programme Guideline, Thailand. Ministry of Public Health. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.tbthailand.org/download/Manual/NTP2018.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-07-16]
- Pungrassami P, Johnsen S, Chongsuvivatwong V, Olsen J, Sørensen HT. Practice of directly observed treatment (DOT) for tuberculosis in southern Thailand: comparison between different types of DOT observers. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2002 May;6(5):389-395. [Medline: 12019914]
- Anuwatnonthakate A, Limsomboon P, Nateniyom S, Wattanaamornkiat W, Komsakorn S, Moolphate S, et al. Directly observed therapy and improved tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Thailand. PLoS One 2008 Aug 28;3(8):e3089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003089] [Medline: 18769479]
- 8. Yamamura M, Martinez TR, Popolin MP, Rodrigues LBB, de Freitas IM, Arcêncio RA. [The families and directly observed treatment of tuberculosis: senses and prospects to the production of care]. Rev Gaucha Enferm 2014 Jun;35(2):60-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1983-1447.2014.02.42741] [Medline: 25158462]
- 9. Pradipta I, Houtsma D, van Boven JFM, Alffenaar J, Hak E. Interventions to improve medication adherence in tuberculosis patients: a systematic review of randomized controlled studies. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med 2020 May 11;30(1):21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41533-020-0179-x] [Medline: 32393736]
- 10. Ilongo I. Tuberculosis health belief gaps of tuberculosis and suspected tuberculosis cases in New York City. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2004:4 [FREE Full text]
- Katewongsa P, Widyastari DA, Saonuam P, Haemathulin N, Wongsingha N. The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the physical activity of the Thai population: Evidence from Thailand's Surveillance on Physical Activity 2020. J Sport Health Sci 2021 May;10(3):341-348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2020.10.001] [Medline: 33039655]
- McQuaid CF, McCreesh N, Read JM, Sumner T, CMMID COVID-19 Working Group, Houben RMGJ, et al. The potential impact of COVID-19-related disruption on tuberculosis burden. Eur Respir J 2020 Aug;56(2):2001718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/13993003.01718-2020] [Medline: 32513784]
- Guo X, Yang Y, Takiff HE, Zhu M, Ma J, Zhong T, et al. A Comprehensive App That Improves Tuberculosis Treatment Management Through Video-Observed Therapy: Usability Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 31;8(7):e17658 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17658] [Medline: 32735222]
- Garfein RS, Doshi RP. Synchronous and asynchronous video observed therapy (VOT) for tuberculosis treatment adherence monitoring and support. J Clin Tuberc Other Mycobact Dis 2019 Dec;17:100098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jctube.2019.100098] [Medline: <u>31867442</u>]
- 15. Story A, Aldridge RW, Smith CM, Garber E, Hall J, Ferenando G, et al. Smartphone-enabled video-observed versus directly observed treatment for tuberculosis: a multicentre, analyst-blinded, randomised, controlled superiority trial. Lancet 2019 Mar 23;393(10177):1216-1224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32993-3] [Medline: 30799062]
- Beeler Asay GR, Lam CK, Stewart B, Mangan JM, Romo L, Marks SM, et al. Cost of Tuberculosis Therapy Directly Observed on Video for Health Departments and Patients in New York City; San Francisco, California; and Rhode Island (2017-2018). Am J Public Health 2020 Nov;110(11):1696-1703. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305877] [Medline: 32941064]
- 17. User Experience Questionnaire. Team UEQ. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.ueq-online.org/</u> [accessed 2020-10-08]
- Laugwitz B, Held T, Schrepp M. Construction and Evaluation of a User Experience Questionnaire. 2008 Presented at: 4th Symposium of the Workgroup Human-Computer Interaction and Usability Engineering of the Austrian Computer Society; November 20-21, 2008; Graz. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-89350-9_6]
- 19. Schrepp M, Hinderks A, Thomaschewski J. Construction of a Benchmark for the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ). IJIMAI 2017;4(4):40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9781/ijimai.2017.445]
- 20. National Drug Policy Group. URL: <u>http://ndi.fda.moph.go.th/</u> [accessed 2021-05-07]

Abbreviations

A-VOT: asynchronous video-observed therapy
DOT: directly observed therapy
PCU: primary care unit
SOP: standard operating procedure
S-VOT: synchronous video-observed therapy
TB: tuberculosis
TH VOT: Thai video-observed therapy
UEQ: user experience questionnaire
VOT: video-observed therapy

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.04.21; peer-reviewed by R Garfein, H Takiff; comments to author 30.04.21; revised version received 15.05.21; accepted 05.07.21; published 27.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kumwichar P, Chongsuvivatwong V, Prappre T Development of a Video-Observed Therapy System to Improve Monitoring of Tuberculosis Treatment in Thailand: Mixed-Methods Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e29463 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29463</u> doi:<u>10.2196/29463</u> PMID:<u>34313602</u>

©Ponlagrit Kumwichar, Virasakdi Chongsuvivatwong, Tagoon Prappre. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 27.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Biofeedback App for Migraine: Development and Usability Study

Sigrid Hegna Ingvaldsen¹, MSc; Erling Tronvik^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Eiliv Brenner^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Ingunn Winnberg², MD; Alexander Olsen^{3,4}, PhD; Gøril Bruvik Gravdahl^{1,2}, MSc; Anker Stubberud^{1,2}, MD, PhD

¹Department of Neuromedicine and Movement Science, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

²National Advisory Unit on Headaches, Department of Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

³Department of Psychology, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

⁴Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

Corresponding Author:

Sigrid Hegna Ingvaldsen, MSc Department of Neuromedicine and Movement Science Norwegian University of Science and Technology Edvard Griegs Gate 8 Trondheim Norway Phone: 47 73 59 20 20 Email: sigrid.h.ingvaldsen@ntnu.no

Abstract

Background: Biofeedback is effective in treating migraines. It is believed to have a beneficial effect on autonomous nervous system activity and render individuals resilient to stressors that may trigger a migraine. However, widespread use of biofeedback is hampered by the need for a trained therapist and specialized equipment. Emerging digital health technology, including smartphones and wearables (mHealth), enables new ways of administering biofeedback. Currently, mHealth interventions for migraine appear feasible, but development processes and usability testing remain insufficient.

Objective: The objective of this study was to evaluate and improve the feasibility and usability of an mHealth biofeedback treatment app for adults with migraine.

Methods: In a prospective development and usability study, 18 adults with migraine completed a 4-week testing period of self-administered therapist-independent biofeedback treatment consisting of a smartphone app connected to wearable sensors (Cerebri, Nordic Brain Tech AS). The app included biofeedback training, instructions for self-delivery, and a headache diary. Two wearable sensors were used to measure surface electromyographic voltage at the trapezius muscle and peripheral skin temperature and heart rate at the right second fingertip. Participants were instructed to complete a daily headache diary entry and biofeedback session of 10 minutes duration. The testing period was preceded by a preusability expectation interview and succeeded by a postusability experience interview. In addition, an evaluation questionnaire was completed at weeks 2 and 4. Adherence was calculated as the proportion of 10-minute sessions completed within the first 28 days of treatment. Usability and feasibility were analyzed and summarized quantitatively and qualitatively.

Results: A total of 391 biofeedback sessions were completed with a median of 25 (IQR 17-28) per participant. The mean adherence rate was 0.76 (SD 0.26). The evaluation questionnaire revealed that functionality and design had the highest scores, whereas engagement and biofeedback were lower. Qualitative preexpectation analysis revealed that participants expected to become better familiar with physical signals and gain more understanding of their migraine attacks and noted that the app should be simple and understandable. Postusability analysis indicated that participants had an overall positive user experience with some suggestions for improvement regarding the design of the wearables and app content. The intervention was safe and tolerable. One case of prespecified adverse events was recorded in which a patient developed a skin rash from the sticky surface electromyography electrodes.

Conclusions: The app underwent a rigorous development process that indicated an overall positive user experience, good usability, and high adherence rate. This study highlights the value of usability testing in the development of mHealth apps.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e23229) doi:10.2196/23229

KEYWORDS mHealth; headache; wearables; smartphone

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e23229

Introduction

Migraine is a very common disorder [1] and the leading cause for disability in people aged 15 to 55 years [2]. Frequent migraine attacks warrant preventive treatment, and nonpharmacological prophylaxes are a valid option, with few adverse events and a potential adjunctive effect to medication [3-5]. Several nonpharmacological interventions are proven to be effective, and among these, behavioral interventions are the most widely used [6]. Specifically, biofeedback is one of the most prominent behavioral approaches, and meta-analytical evidence suggests that it is effective in treating migraines [7].

During biofeedback, individuals learn to voluntarily modify their bodily reactions through feedback from their own physiological processes. The most frequently used modalities are peripheral skin temperature, blood volume pulse, and surface electromyography (SEMG) [8]. The exact mechanisms of the biofeedback training effect in migraine treatment are not known. It is believed to have a beneficial effect on autonomous nervous system activity, render individuals resilient to stressors, and possibly mediate a beneficial afferent vagus nerve stimulation [9]. Through regular training, individuals may learn a long-lasting reduction in muscle tension, rise in peripheral skin temperature, and lower heart rate. These measures are believed to be beneficial in reducing the migraine burden and are associated with increased parasympathetic tone [10,11]. Biofeedback treatment typically requires a trained therapist and specialized equipment measuring the chosen physiological parameter [8]. Today, biofeedback is primarily available in clinic-based formats, and to some extent in electronically delivered formats, and there is no clear evidence if the latter is inferior [12]. However, the need for a trained therapist and suitable equipment is costly and time-consuming, hampering the widespread use of biofeedback as a migraine prophylaxis.

Nevertheless, new digital technologies, including wearable sensors and smartphones for medical purposes (mHealth), provide new possibilities [13-15]. Recent research suggests that behavioral mHealth interventions for headaches are feasible, but development processes and usability testing remain insufficient [16]. Specifically, there is a lack of collaboration with health care professionals in the development process of pain apps [17-19]. Also, few existing mHealth pain apps use physiological and behavioral components that are often important factors for self-management interventions [20]. In addition to the limited development processes, efficacy measures are uncertain [12]. This study aimed to investigate the feasibility, usability, safety, and tolerability of a biofeedback treatment app and wearable sensors among adults with migraine.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

The study was designed as a prospective development and usability study at St. Olavs University Hospital in Trondheim, Norway, from December 2019 to March 2020. Adults with migraine were recruited from the outpatient headache clinic and the municipality using the hospital intranet and an advertisement in the news. A total of 18 participants were included in the study. We did not conduct a formal a priori sample size calculation. The sample size was based on recommended guidelines for a sample size of usability studies [21,22]. All diagnoses were confirmed by a consultant neurologist with headache expertise. Because there were only 10 pairs of sensors available for the study, participants were divided into two groups before completing a 4-week period of app testing at home (10 participants in the first group and 8 participants in the second group). The 4-week period was preceded by a preusability expectations interview and succeeded by a postusability experience interview. Participants also completed an evaluation questionnaire at weeks 2 and 4 of the test period. The study was approved by the regional committee for medical and health research ethics (REK Midt 7166) and the Norwegian Medicines Agency for trials of medical equipment (19/11730-9).

Inclusion criteria were aged 18 to 65 years; migraine with or without aura diagnosed according to the International Classification of Headache Disorders, Third Edition [23]; 2 to 8 attacks per month; experience with using a smartphone; and signed written informed consent. Exclusion criteria were lack of proficiency in the Norwegian language; reduced vision, hearing, or sensibility to a degree that hampered study participation; or any severe neurological or psychiatric disorders.

Biofeedback Setup

The Cerebri (Nordic Brain Tech AS) biofeedback setup consisting of a smartphone app connected to wearables was used for self-administered biofeedback treatment. The setup was developed based on similar equipment used in 2 previous studies at St. Olavs University Hospital. In the first of these studies, a biofeedback treatment app was developed in an iterative and incremental fashion, in which adolescents completed 3 cycles of usability testing, and improvements and changes to the app interface were completed between cycles [24,25]. A small compact SEMG sensor was used for measuring muscle tension from the upper trapezius muscle fibers. A combined device including 2 sensors was attached to the right index finger to measure peripheral skin temperature and heart rate (Figure 1 displays the sensors). Both devices transmitted signals to the app via Bluetooth Smart.



Ingvaldsen et al

Figure 1. Photos of the wearable sensors. Top left: Combined sensor, measuring peripheral skin temperature and heart rate from the right index finger. Top right: Muscle tension sensor measuring surface electromyographic voltage from the upper trapezius muscle fibers. Bottom: Both sensors in use during a biofeedback session.



The app included biofeedback training, instructions for self-delivery, and a headache diary. Participants were given a push reminder daily to complete a headache diary entry and biofeedback session of 10 minutes. Prior to commencing treatment, participants were provided with a brief explanation of how biofeedback treatment works and how to complete the biofeedback training sessions. One of the investigators helped participants run through a trial session using both sensors and the app. Participants were encouraged to try to relax and sit comfortably during the sessions. No detailed instructions on how to perform the biofeedback were given. Figure 2 displays screenshots of the app. All participants were provided with a box containing both sensors, a power charger, and additional SEMG electrode patches. Participants used their own smartphones throughout the trial.

Figure 2. App screenshots. Left: Sample question in the headache diary where users are asked to rate headache intensity (On average, how intense was your headache during the day?). Center left: Instructions on how to connect the sensors. Center right: Visualization during the biofeedback session. Each of the three parameters is displayed as a horizontal column increasing in width with increasing score and correspondingly changing color. Right: Headache diary overview allowing for easy visualization of previous headache diary entries.



https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e23229

Usability Evaluation

Upon inclusion, participants met with one of the researchers to download and start using the app. A semistructured preusability expectations interview was completed (Multimedia Appendix 1) before starting a 4-week period using the app and sensors.

During the 4 weeks, participants were prompted to complete daily biofeedback sessions and daily headache diary entries (Multimedia Appendix 2). Participants were given an evaluation questionnaire at 2 weeks and 4 weeks after commencing use (Multimedia Appendix 3). The evaluation questionnaire was similar to the one used in a recent adolescent usability study of a similar biofeedback setup [25]. The evaluation questionnaire included the following 5 main domains, engagement, functionality, design, information, and biofeedback, corresponding to the mobile app rating scale [26]. Questions were answered on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 =completely disagree to 5 = completely agree. Also, participants were encouraged to take notes of any adverse events and discomforts during the treatment period.

At the end of the 4-week home use period, participants met with one of the researchers to return the equipment and complete a semistructured postusability experience interview (Multimedia Appendix 1). At this point, participants were explicitly asked to report any skin reactions, dizziness, and nausea and openly questioned on other adverse events. All adverse events were recorded with their seriousness and the potential grade of causality.

Data Analytic Strategy

We reported the number of completed sessions and calculated the adherence rate as the proportion of sessions completed within the first 28 days. Only sessions in which the full 10 minutes of biofeedback training was finished were considered as completed sessions. Sessions were automatically marked as completed within the app software, and the information was transferred to the database. No self-reported measure of adherence was made. We also described what weekdays and what time of the day sessions were completed.

Self-reported overall hours of phone use and familiarity with apps and sensors were averaged over the 2 evaluation questionnaires for each participant. Scores were averaged over each domain for all participants for the week 2 and week 4 evaluation questionnaires and summarized with medians and interquartile ranges. We only used complete data in the evaluation questionnaire analyses.

All usability interviews were recorded on an Olympus WS-853 recorder (Olympus America Inc). All recordings were transcribed and coded using NVivo 12 (QSR International) and stored in the software for qualitative analyses. A general inductive method was used to code transcripts. The transcripts were read repeatedly, and text segments were coded for potential themes. We used thematic content analysis to assess both preusability expectations and postusability experience [27]. We performed an inductive thematic content analysis for the expectations usability interview by generating codes that emerged naturally based on the participant responses to the semistructured interview guide. For the postuse usability interview, we conducted a problem-based deductive thematic content analysis to assess patterns of experience with the app and sensors and potential technical difficulties with the equipment. As the coding framework developed, transcripts were reanalyzed in light of new themes that emerged. Finally, we derived and summarized major themes that were relevant to the usability experience.

This is the primary analysis of data collected in this study. A priori, we planned for exploratory descriptive and qualitative analyses of usability data. No a priori hypothesis testing was planned, and none were conducted. Data were reported as means, standard deviations, medians, and interquartile ranges. Normality assumptions were based on visual inspection of histograms. Descriptive statistics were calculated, and figures were made using Python v3.7.7 (Python Software Foundation) with the following open-source packages: matplotlib 3.1.1, NumPy 1.17.2, pandas 0.20.3, and seaborn 0.9.0.

Results

Participants and Demographics

A total of 18 participants were recruited, attended, and completed the preusability and postusability evaluations. All participants had prior experience using health or wellness apps (such as headache diaries or meditation apps). Patient demographics are summarized in Table 1. Headache diary entry and biofeedback session data were not successfully transmitted to the data storage server for one participant and were thus not available for analyses.



Table 1. Patient baseline demographics.

Characteristic	Value (n=18)
Age (years), mean (SD)	40.6 (9.8)
Gender, female, n (%)	17 (95)
Migraine subtype (n=17)	
Migraine with aura, n (%)	7 (41)
Chronic migraine, n (%)	3 (18)
Comorbid headache disorders	
Tension type headache, n (%)	7 (39)
Trigeminal autonomic cephalalgias, n (%)	1 (6)
Self-reported monthly headache attacks, median (IQR)	4 (3.3-5)
Hours of daily smartphone use, mean (SD)	2.9 (1.0)
Familiarity with apps scored on a 5-point scale, median (IQR)	4 (4.0-4.25)
Familiarity with sensors scored on a 5-point scale, median (IQR)	1 (1-3)

Usability Metrics

Use Patterns

A total of 391 biofeedback sessions for 17 individuals were completed, with a median of 25 (IQR 17-28) per participant. The mean adherence rate was 0.76 (SD 0.26). Session completion was evenly spread through the week with 50, 56, 54, 62, 57, 56, and 56 sessions completed on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, Saturday, and Sunday, respectively. More than 90% (358/391, 91.56%) of sessions were completed between 4 PM and 11 PM, and 52.43% (205/391) were completed between 7 PM and 10 PM.

Preusability Expectations Interview

Coding of the preusability expectation interviews revealed 3 distinct major themes: becoming more familiar with physical signals, reducing migraine burden, and user-friendly app. Figure 3 is a diagram with an overview of themes and subthemes.

Almost all participants expressed a desire for the biofeedback sessions to help them become more familiar with bodily signals to understand what influenced their migraine and headache. Several participants had previously tried various relaxation and mindfulness exercises and reckoned the benefit of visualized feedback alongside such exercises. They expected that the explicit feedback in the app would enhance their motivation to use the equipment every day because it would show progress over time. Additionally, participants recognized the impact of stress on their migraine and thought the training would help them control and reduce stress levels.

All participants expressed that the main expectation of participating in the study was to reduce the migraine burden and improve their quality of life. Participants expressed that they wanted to understand their migraine better, learn to predict migraine attacks, and understand what triggered attacks. Some participants also noted that it would be interesting to see differences in the measurements on headache days compared to headache-free days.

Finally, as the third major theme, participants expressed the importance of a user-friendly app. The simplicity of use was essential if they were to use it while experiencing a headache so that the app would not worsen their headache. Some participants mentioned that short sessions would be beneficial due to the time constraints of a busy everyday life and the fact that the disease already consumes large amounts of their time.



Figure 3. Inductive thematic content analysis of preusability expectations. Three major themes with several subthemes were found: becoming more familiar with physical signals, reducing migraine burden, and user-friendly app.



Postusability Experience Interview

To assess postusability experience from a deductive problem-based approach, we used 3 major themes: sensor shortcomings, app shortcomings, and technical difficulties. The themes were based on the usability evaluation questionnaire (Multimedia Appendix 3) and interview answers. Inductive coding within each major theme revealed several subthemes (Figure 4).

Several of the participants felt that the temperature measurement did not reflect their skin temperature accurately. They also had difficulties understanding the association between finger temperature and stress/relaxation. Next, some participants had difficulties attaching the EMG sensor and found it too bulky to lie down and relax while performing the biofeedback sessions. Finally, some participants noted that the sensor design appeared prototype-like and that it might be easier to commercialize the sensors with a slimmer design.

Some participants wished for additional questions in the headache diary, such as associated symptoms and details on medication, to identify patterns in their migraine. Next, the app included limited information on biofeedback scores, and some participants found this information insufficient to understand the association between biofeedback performance and migraine burden. Some wanted an explicit overview of their scores and the direct association with headache occurrences, and one participant suggested an illustrative graph of score progression for each physiological measurement. Next, the app did not include specific instructions on biofeedback training, but several participants expressed a wish for relaxation techniques and/or tips to be included in the app. Finally, several participants said that the measures were inaccurate compared to how they felt. Some participants experienced that the measurements showed low scores on migraine-free days but high scores on days with migraine.

Some of the participants experienced technical difficulties. They had difficulties connecting the sensors to the app via Bluetooth and had to repeatedly switch sensors on and off during a session, which reduced the quality of the sessions. Additionally, several participants experienced that the session terminated early as their smartphone went into hibernation mode.

In addition to the thematic content analysis, results from the evaluation questionnaire illustrated postusability experience. The themes functionality and design showed the highest scores, whereas engagement and biofeedback scores were lower (Figure 5). A detailed visual presentation of the biofeedback ratings is provided in Multimedia Appendix 4.



Figure 4. Deductive thematic content analysis of postusability experience. Three major themes with several subthemes were defined: sensor shortcomings, app shortcomings, and technical difficulties.



Figure 5. Boxplot of evaluation questionnaires. Horizontal lines represent medians, upper and lower box limits represent IQR, whiskers represent IQR*1.5, and diamonds represent outliers. Each pair of boxes shows the usability domain score after 2 (light blue) and 4 (dark blue) weeks of use. Note that functionality and design have the highest scores, whereas engagement and biofeedback scores are lower.





Safety and Tolerability

One case of prespecified adverse events was recorded, in which a patient developed a skin rash from the sticky SEMG electrodes. The rash was mildly painful and lasted for a week. No other adverse events were detected. Based on the evaluation questionnaire and qualitative analysis, some of the participants raised a discomfort concern regarding the bulkiness of the SEMG sensor when trying to lay down.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study explored the usability and feasibility of a biofeedback app treatment for migraine using a mixed methods approach

XSL•FO

with both quantitative and qualitative data. The preusability assessment indicated that all participants were positively attuned to the biofeedback app and expected to learn more about their bodily signals and how these affect their migraine. On the other hand, the problem-based postusability analysis revealed that the setup had several shortcomings, including technical difficulties and inaccurate measurements. Most participants had some recommendations for specific improvements to the setup but reported an overall positive user experience and good adherence rates.

Interpretation of Findings

Three main findings in this study illustrate the usefulness of usability testing when developing mHealth interventions. First, qualitative analysis revealed that participants felt they had difficulties with increasing their skin temperature. This is noteworthy because peripheral skin temperature appears to be one of the most effective biofeedback parameters for migraine [7,10] and is believed to provide an indirect measure of activity in the sympathetic nervous system, partially explaining the treatment effect of biofeedback [9,10,28]. A reduction in arousal and autonomic tone leads to increased peripheral blood flow and skin temperature, while increased arousal increases sympathetic outflow, thereby constricting peripheral blood flow and lowering skin temperature [29]. Migraine patients seem to have an interictal sympathetic impairment and ictal adrenoreceptor hypersensitivity [30], which suggest that regular training in reducing sympathetic tone could lower migraine burden [9]. Therefore, the importance of finger temperature in biofeedback training indicates that the perceived lack of influence over temperature lies in the app/sensor itself and not in the choice of the physiological parameter. An explanation for the mentioned difficulties with raising their finger temperature could be that the biofeedback sessions were completed during the cold winter in Norway. Thereby, the participants' index finger might have been colder than the average body temperature prior to the biofeedback sessions.

Second, our mixed methods approach revealed that participants required more guidance to understand the association between biofeedback and the app's illustration of the physiological measurements. The quantitative evaluation questionnaires revealed high scores for functionality and design but low scores for engagement and biofeedback, both in line with qualitative findings. Preexpectation analysis indicated that participants wished for the app to be simple and understandable. However, the postexperience analysis revealed that participants had difficulties perceiving how biofeedback is associated with migraine and better health outcomes. This suggests that upcoming iterations of the treatment should be focused on ensuring a tight correlation between users' perception of the biofeedback training and true physiological measurements. This is likely to increase motivation and potentially treatment effect further [31].

The third significant usability finding was the desire for relaxation training and stress management techniques to be included in the app. We decided not to include such features to investigate if a therapist might be omitted from the usual treatment and see if the app itself may replace the therapist [25].

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e23229
```

However, both qualitative and quantitative findings indicated that more guidance would have improved user experience and adherence. On the other hand, previous studies investigating the use of minimal therapist contact treatments have discovered that they often generate results equivalent to therapist-led treatment [32] and are more cost-effective [33]. Andersson and colleagues [34] investigated the role of therapist-initiated contact in a telephone study where adults suffering from headaches were randomized to either a web-based self-help program or the same program with additional therapist-initiated telephone calls. They found that therapist-initiated phone calls did not influence the dropout rate or improvements in headache index. This indicates that therapist-assisted treatment is not necessarily superior to pure self-management. The immediate idea to counteract this uncertainty in app-based biofeedback treatment is to implement a combination of home training and therapist contact. The problem, however, with such an approach is that it is not much different from traditional treatment and will not ensure the desired cost-benefit and widespread distribution. To keep in line with trends of mHealth development, we propose a program where minimal to no guidance is included in the app for the first few sessions, and then specific tips and techniques are progressively included for participants who have problems with achieving improvement in their biofeedback scores.

As the mHealth approach to pain treatment has grown over the past year, several shortcomings in development processes have been identified. Lalloo and colleagues [16] found that only 8.2% of pain self-management apps included a health care professional in the development and the majority of the apps (58.5%) implemented only a single self-management function. Similarly, Rosser and Eccleston [20] found that 86% reported no involvement of health care professionals in the development process. This could explain some of the general deficiencies they found, such as a lack of psychological and behavioral components underlying many self-management interventions, thereby causing an absence of validated expertise and content underpinning the available pain apps [20]. We took several measures to combat these limitations by including a wide range of health care professionals, including medical doctors and psychologists, in the development process.

Even though there are no similar studies of biofeedback for migraine, development studies of biofeedback for other purposes highlight the importance of a thorough development processes. A study of a sensor-based exercise biofeedback system found that using a systematic combined quantitative and qualitative assessment improved the system [35]. Another study of a mHealth biofeedback device for borderline personality disorder was also significantly improved through user-centered design with usability assessment [36]. Together with this study, both of these studies demonstrate that meticulous usability and feasibility assessments can mitigate the unwanted effects of poor development processes that often hamper mHealth apps [37].

Limitations and Strengths

Several limitations should be considered when interpreting the results of this study. First, participants used the equipment over a relatively short period, whereas the International Headache

Society recommends 3 months for clinical trials [38]. Second, each group of participants only completed one cycle of usability testing. The study could have benefitted from iterative cycles with several rounds of testing for each individual to identify the effect of improvements in the app directly [39]. This was not possible at the time because there were only 10 available sensors for the study. Finally, the semistructured interview guide and evaluation questionnaire used in the study have not been systematically validated, which decreases confidence in usability findings. Nevertheless, the interview guide was based on recommended guidelines for the development of mHealth apps [18], and the evaluation questionnaire was based on a validated mHealth app rating scale [40].

The study also has several strengths. The greatest strength is the rigorous usability and feasibility development process. As discussed above, we believe this will mitigate the unwanted effects of poor development processes. In addition, the study was designed based on recommended guidelines for the development of mHealth apps and known shortcomings in existing mHealth usability studies. Finally, although the sample size was seemingly small, the authors feel that the study reached a level of data saturation with the high adherence rate and collecting quantitative and qualitative data from all participants. We believe this study has uncovered the majority of essential usability issues.

Conclusion

In this study, we performed usability and feasibility testing of a new biofeedback treatment app targeted at adults with migraine. The treatment underwent a rigorous development process specifically for the target population. Participants were overall satisfied with the treatment, had a high adherence rate, and provided several suggestions worthy of inclusion in future iterations. Our findings highlight the importance of usability testing, revealed shortcomings with the intervention that would otherwise have been difficult to discover, and built a solid foundation for future efficacy trials. Future research should assess the efficacy of the proposed biofeedback treatment app among adults with migraine.

Acknowledgments

The study received funding for cooperative projects between the Department of Neuromedicine and Movement Science and the Department of Psychology at Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU).

Conflicts of Interest

NTNU and St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, may benefit financially from the commercialization of the proposed treatment through future possible intellectual properties. This may include financial benefits to the authors of this article. ET, AO, AS are cofounders of the Nordic Brain Tech AS, a spin-off company that was established based on the proposed treatment in this and previous studies at NTNU. In addition, ET, AO, AS are coinventors of the proposed treatment in this study and may benefit financially from a license agreement between Nordic Brain Tech AS and NTNU. No conflicts were declared for SHI, EB, IW, and GBG.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Semistructured interview guide for preusability and postusability (translated to English). [DOCX File, 23 KB - formative_v5i7e23229_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Headache diary questions. [DOCX File , 23 KB - formative v5i7e23229 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Usability evaluation questionnaire. [DOCX File , 26 KB - formative v5i7e23229 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Boxplot of evaluation questionnaires in the biofeedback domain. Horizontal lines represent medians, upper and lower box limits represent IQR, whiskers represent IQR*1.5 and diamonds represent outliers. Each pair of boxes show the score the usability domains after 2 (light blue) and 4 (dark blue) weeks of use. [DOCX File, 73 KB - formative_v5i7e23229_app4.docx]

References

- 1. Stovner LJ, Andree C. Prevalence of headache in Europe: a review for the Eurolight project. J Headache Pain 2010 Aug;11(4):289-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10194-010-0217-0] [Medline: 20473702]
- 2. Stovner LJ, Steiner TJ. Headache in the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) studies. In: Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, editors. Societal Impact of Headache: Burden, Costs, and Response. Cham: Springer; 2019:105-125.

- Silberstein SD. Preventive migraine treatment. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 2015 Aug;21(4 Headache):973-989 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/CON.0000000000199] [Medline: 26252585]
- 4. Kropp P, Meyer B, Dresler T, Fritsche G, Gaul C, Niederberger U, et al. [Relaxation techniques and behavioural therapy for the treatment of migraine: guidelines from the German Migraine and Headache Society]. Schmerz 2017 Oct;31(5):433-447. [doi: 10.1007/s00482-017-0214-1] [Medline: 28364171]
- Stubberud A, Varkey E, McCrory DC, Pedersen SA, Linde M. Biofeedback as prophylaxis for pediatric migraine: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2016 Aug;138(2):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2016-0675</u>] [Medline: <u>27462067</u>]
- Kondo K, Noonan KM, Freeman M, Ayers C, Morasco BJ, Kansagara D. Efficacy of biofeedback for medical conditions: an evidence map. J Gen Intern Med 2019 Dec;34(12):2883-2893 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s11606-019-05215-z</u>] [Medline: <u>31414354</u>]
- Nestoriuc Y, Martin A. Efficacy of biofeedback for migraine: a meta-analysis. Pain 2007 Mar;128(1-2):111-127. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2006.09.007] [Medline: 17084028]
- 8. Schwartz MS, Andrasik F. Biofeedback: A Practitioner's Guide. 4th Edition. New York: Guilford Publications; 2017.
- 9. Lehrer P, Eddie D. Dynamic processes in regulation and some implications for biofeedback and biobehavioral interventions. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback 2013 Jun;38(2):143-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10484-013-9217-6] [Medline: 23572244]
- 10. Penzien DB, Irby MB, Smitherman TA, Rains JC, Houle TT. Well-established and empirically supported behavioral treatments for migraine. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2015 Jul;19(7):1-7. [doi: 10.1007/s11916-015-0500-5] [Medline: 26065542]
- Lisspers J, Ost LG. BVP-biofeedback in the treatment of migraine. The effects of constriction and dilatation during different phases of the migraine attack. Behav Modif 1990 Apr;14(2):200-221. [doi: <u>10.1177/01454455900142006</u>] [Medline: <u>2331243</u>]
- 12. Minen MT, Torous J, Raynowska J, Piazza A, Grudzen C, Powers S, et al. Electronic behavioral interventions for headache: a systematic review. J Headache Pain 2016;17:51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s10194-016-0608-y] [Medline: 27160107]
- 13. Stubberud A, Linde M. Digital technology and mobile health in behavioral migraine therapy: a narrative review. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2018 Jul 31;22(10):66. [doi: 10.1007/s11916-018-0718-0] [Medline: 30066141]
- 14. Kay M, Santos J, Takane M. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/goe/publications/goe_mhealth_web.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-07-13]
- 15. Pantelopoulos A, Bourbakis N. A survey on wearable sensor-based systems for health monitoring and prognosis. IEEE Trans Syst Man Cybern C 2010 Jan;40(1):1-12. [doi: 10.1109/tsmcc.2009.2032660]
- Lalloo C, Jibb LA, Rivera J, Agarwal A, Stinson JN. "There's a pain app for that": review of patient-targeted smartphone applications for pain management. Clin J Pain 2015 Jun;31(6):557-563. [doi: <u>10.1097/AJP.000000000000171</u>] [Medline: <u>25370138</u>]
- 17. Hundert AS, Huguet A, McGrath PJ, Stinson JN, Wheaton M. Commercially available mobile phone headache diary apps: a systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(3):e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3452] [Medline: 25138438]
- Chatzipavlou IA, Christoforidou SA, Vlachopoulou M. A recommended guideline for the development of mHealth Apps. Mhealth 2016;2:21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2016.05.01] [Medline: 28293597]
- 19. Reynoldson C, Stones C, Allsop M, Gardner P, Bennett MI, Closs SJ, et al. Assessing the quality and usability of smartphone apps for pain self-management. Pain Med 2014 Jun;15(6):898-909. [doi: 10.1111/pme.12327] [Medline: 24422990]
- 20. Rosser BA, Eccleston C. Smartphone applications for pain management. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(6):308-312. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2011.101102] [Medline: 21844177]
- Hwang W, Salvendy G. Number of people required for usability evaluation: the 10±2 rule. Commun ACM 2010 May;53(5):130-133. [doi: 10.1145/1735223.1735255]
- 22. Macefield R. How to specify the participant group size for usability studies: a practitioner's guide. J Usability Stud 2009;5(1):34-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5555/2835425.2835429]
- 23. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS). The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd Edition. Cephalalgia 2018 Jan;38(1):1-211. [doi: 10.1177/0333102417738202] [Medline: 29368949]
- 24. Stubberud A, Omland PM, Tronvik E, Olsen A, Sand T, Linde M. Wireless surface electromyography and skin temperature sensors for biofeedback treatment of headache: validation study with stationary control equipment. JMIR Biomed Eng 2018 Feb 23;3(1):e1. [doi: 10.2196/biomedeng.9062]
- 25. Stubberud A, Tronvik E, Olsen A, Gravdahl G, Linde M. Biofeedback treatment app for pediatric migraine: development and usability study. Headache 2020 May;60(5):889-901. [doi: 10.1111/head.13772] [Medline: 32052871]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 27. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]

- Siniatchkin M, Hierundar A, Kropp P, Kuhnert R, Gerber WD, Stephani U. Self-regulation of slow cortical potentials in children with migraine: an exploratory study. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback 2000 Mar;25(1):13-32. [doi: 10.1023/a:1009581321624] [Medline: 10832507]
- 29. Andrasik F, Carla R. Biofeedback. In: Waldman SD, editor. Pain Management. Philadelphia: Saunders/Elsevier; 2011:1010-1020.
- 30. Miglis MG. Migraine and autonomic dysfunction: which is the horse and which is the jockey? Curr Pain Headache Rep 2018 Feb 23;22(3):19. [doi: 10.1007/s11916-018-0671-y] [Medline: 29476276]
- Bregman NJ, McAllister HA. Motivation and skin temperature biofeedback: Yerkes-Dobson revisited. Psychophysiology 1982 May;19(3):282-285. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-8986.1982.tb02564.x</u>] [Medline: <u>7100377</u>]
- 32. Kroener-Herwig B, Denecke H. Cognitive-behavioral therapy of pediatric headache: are there differences in efficacy between a therapist-administered group training and a self-help format? J Psychosom Res 2002 Dec;53(6):1107-1114. [doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(02)00345-8] [Medline: 12479993]
- Haddock CK, Rowan AB, Andrasik F, Wilson PG, Talcott GW, Stein RJ. Home-based behavioral treatments for chronic benign headache: a meta-analysis of controlled trials. Cephalalgia 1997 Apr;17(2):113-118. [doi: 10.1046/j.1468-2982.1997.1702113.x] [Medline: 9137849]
- 34. Andersson G, Lundström P, Ström L. Internet-based treatment of headache: does telephone contact add anything? Headache 2003 Apr;43(4):353-361. [Medline: <u>12656706</u>]
- 35. O'Reilly MA, Slevin P, Ward T, Caulfield B. A wearable sensor-based exercise biofeedback system: mixed methods evaluation of formulift. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 31;6(1):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8115] [Medline: 29386171]
- 36. Derks YP, Klaassen R, Westerhof GJ, Bohlmeijer ET, Noordzij ML. Development of an ambulatory biofeedback app to enhance emotional awareness in patients with borderline personality disorder: multicycle usability testing study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Oct 15;7(10):e13479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13479] [Medline: 31617851]
- Zapata BC, Fernández-Alemán JL, Idri A, Toval A. Empirical studies on usability of mHealth apps: a systematic literature review. J Med Syst 2015 Feb;39(2):1. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10916-014-0182-2</u>] [Medline: <u>25600193</u>]
- Tfelt-Hansen P, Pascual J, Ramadan N, Dahlöf C, D'Amico D, Diener H, International Headache Society Clinical Trials Subcommittee. Guidelines for controlled trials of drugs in migraine: third edition. A guide for investigators. Cephalalgia 2012 Jan;32(1):6-38. [doi: 10.1177/0333102411417901] [Medline: 22384463]
- 39. Jacobs MA, Graham AL. Iterative development and evaluation methods of mHealth behavior change interventions. Curr Opin Psychol 2016 Jun;9:33-37. [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.09.001]
- 40. Zhou L, Bao J, Setiawan IMA, Saptono A, Parmanto B. The mHealth App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ): development and validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 11;7(4):e11500. [doi: <u>10.2196/11500</u>] [Medline: <u>30973342</u>]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health
NTNU: Norwegian University of Science and Technology
SEMG: surface electromyography

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.12.20; peer-reviewed by P Knapp, M Connelly; comments to author 16.02.21; revised version received 17.03.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 28.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ingvaldsen SH, Tronvik E, Brenner E, Winnberg I, Olsen A, Gravdahl GB, Stubberud A A Biofeedback App for Migraine: Development and Usability Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e23229 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e23229</u> doi:<u>10.2196/23229</u> PMID:<u>34319243</u>

©Sigrid Hegna Ingvaldsen, Erling Tronvik, Eiliv Brenner, Ingunn Winnberg, Alexander Olsen, Gøril Bruvik Gravdahl, Anker Stubberud. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 28.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Clinical Utility and Functionality of an Artificial Intelligence–Based App to Predict Mortality in COVID-19: Mixed Methods Analysis

Ahmed Abdulaal¹, MBBS, MRCS; Aatish Patel¹, MBChB, MRCP; Ahmed Al-Hindawi¹, MBBS, MRCA; Esmita Charani², MPharm, PhD; Saleh A Alqahtani^{3,4}, MD; Gary W Davies¹, MD, FRCP; Nabeela Mughal^{1,2,5}, BSc, MSc, MRCP, FRCPath; Luke Stephen Prockter Moore^{1,2,5}, MBChB, DTM&H, MSc, MPH, PhD, MRCP, FRCPath

¹Chelsea and Westminster NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

³Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁴King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

⁵North West London Pathology, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Luke Stephen Prockter Moore, MBChB, DTM&H, MSc, MPH, PhD, MRCP, FRCPath National Institute for Health Research Health Protection Research Unit in Healthcare Associated Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance Imperial College London Commonwealth Building 8th Floor Du Cane Road London, W12 0NN United Kingdom Phone: 44 2033158273 Email: <u>Lmoore@imperial.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: The artificial neural network (ANN) is an increasingly important tool in the context of solving complex medical classification problems. However, one of the principal challenges in leveraging artificial intelligence technology in the health care setting has been the relative inability to translate models into clinician workflow.

Objective: Here we demonstrate the development of a COVID-19 outcome prediction app that utilizes an ANN and assesses its usability in the clinical setting.

Methods: Usability assessment was conducted using the app, followed by a semistructured end-user interview. Usability was specified by effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction measures. These data were reported with descriptive statistics. The end-user interview data were analyzed using the thematic framework method, which allowed for the development of themes from the interview narratives. In total, 31 National Health Service physicians at a West London teaching hospital, including foundation physicians, senior house officers, registrars, and consultants, were included in this study.

Results: All participants were able to complete the assessment, with a mean time to complete separate patient vignettes of 59.35 (SD 10.35) seconds. The mean system usability scale score was 91.94 (SD 8.54), which corresponds to a qualitative rating of "excellent." The clinicians found the app intuitive and easy to use, with the majority describing its predictions as a useful adjunct to their clinical practice. The main concern was related to the use of the app in isolation rather than in conjunction with other clinical parameters. However, most clinicians speculated that the app could positively reinforce or validate their clinical decision-making.

Conclusions: Translating artificial intelligence technologies into the clinical setting remains an important but challenging task. We demonstrate the effectiveness, efficiency, and system usability of a web-based app designed to predict the outcomes of patients with COVID-19 from an ANN.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27992) doi:10.2196/27992



²National Institute for Health Research Health Protection Research Unit in Healthcare Associated Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

KEYWORDS

app; artificial intelligence; coronavirus; COVID-19; development; function; graphical user interface; machine learning; model; mortality; neural network; prediction; usability; utility

Introduction

Clinical big data that are being collated in many health care settings have enabled prognostic scores to be developed on the basis of classical regression analysis, but these models frequently rely on laboratory parameters (which are not available in many primary care settings and in some low- and middle-income settings) [1]. Furthermore, because of a priori assumptions, these regression models may fail to leverage the data fully to create accurate prognostic models. Artificial intelligence (AI) techniques represent a potential solution [2], allowing more comprehensive use of big data, including the potential identification of proxy indicators (such as symptomatology and comorbidities) for laboratory parameters that may predict COVID-19 outcomes. Such systems have been shown to be accurate and reliable when compared to traditional regression models [3,4]. However, one of the principal challenges in leveraging AI clinically for COVID-19 has been in translating systems to the clinical setting [5].

Developing systems to accurately predict COVID-19 outcomes has several potential benefits at the patient, departmental, and organizational levels. At the patient level, predictive models would allow for early critical care reviews of high-risk patients and early discussions regarding treatment escalation plans. Medical departments could estimate bed requirements and account for intensive care unit (ICU) resource allocation issues more accurately. In turn, health care organizations could better manage staffing levels and health care resource procurement and distribution.

We describe here the clinical operationalization of an artificial neural network (ANN) that produces patient-specific mortality predictions for patients with COVID-19 [3,4] and explore the development of a graphical user interface (GUI) to facilitate the use of the system at the bedside. Subsequently, we assessed the utility and functionality (measuring effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction) of the GUI, which leverages this ANN, and analyzed the translational pathway for its integration and use in a clinical setting.

Methods

Development of the ANN

An ANN was developed, as previously described [3,4], to prognosticate for patients with COVID-19. A multilayer perceptron was trained and validated with 398 patients from a single London hospital, with an input of 22 features selected in accordance with previous studies [6-8], in turn developed after a review of existing evidence of contributory factors [9,10]. Demographics included gender and age. Smoking history was also included. Comorbidities included the presence or absence of asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, or chronic respiratory disease; hypertension; diabetes; congestive cardiac failure; ischemic heart disease; chronic kidney disease; hepatic cirrhosis; or a history of cerebrovascular events. Symptom data included the presence of absence of fever, cough, dyspnea, myalgia, abdominal pain, diarrhea, vomiting, altered mentation, collapse, and olfactory change or ageusia, as well as the duration of symptoms prior to hospital admission. Data were anonymized at the point of extraction and encoded from patient electronic health records by 3 health care practitioners (EC, AP, and A Abdulaal).

The model weights were initialized with Xavier normal initialization, and a dropout of 20% and 40% were used on the 2 hidden layers. Euclidean (L2) regularization was further added to the hidden layers to further prevent overfitting. The model was trained with 318 patients, and model hyperparameters were optimized on the basis of 10-fold cross-validation of the training set. The ANN was then trained on the full training set and validated on a held-out test set of 80 patients. For each patient input, the model produces a single output by using a sigmoid activation function (which demarcates results between 0 and 1). This output represents the probability of death during the current hospital admission for the patient. Discriminative ability was measured using the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve, and calibration was assessed both visually and by using the Brier score.

Data were collected as part of routine care by the responsible clinical team. No patient-identifiable data were used in this analysis. The study protocol was approved by the antimicrobial stewardship group at Chelsea & Westminster NHS Foundation Trust. The need for written informed consent was waived by the Research Governance Office of Chelsea & Westminster NHS Foundation Trust. The study was conducted in accordance with the tenets of the Helsinki declaration.

Development of GUI

A web-based app was developed using Node.js, an open-source, cross-platform, javascript runtime environment [11]. Express [12], a web-based framework for Node.js, which provides a set of tools for app development, was used to build the backend of the app. A combination of Nielsen and Shneiderman heuristics of user interface design were used to generate the initial GUI [13]. An iterative development process based on usability assessments throughout the design cycle was used to develop the interface further, thus ensuring its intuitiveness and ease of use. The app is currently developed as an English-language app.

The app collects patient demographics, comorbidities, and symptomatology data [4]. The data are then converted into a normalized tensor (a multidimensional array of data, which can be read by a machine learning algorithm [14]) in the browser. On the backend, these data are fed into the ANN [4] (the deep learning library Tensorflow.js [15] was used to transfer the data to the Node.js server), which makes a patient-specific mortality prediction, and the result is then returned to the user (Figure 1). The relative importance of patient-level factors with respect to the mortality prediction are displayed as a static figure on the results page. No patient data are stored by the app after a

XSL•FO RenderX

prediction is made, and the app can be used for a new patient by navigating to the home screen.

Figure 1. Screenshots of the initial artificial neural network (ANN)–based COVID-19 prognostication app. (A) The introductory screen with a hyperlink to access more data on the ANN and its development. (B) The data input process with examples of numerical and categorical features. Selected categorical features are color-coded and labeled. Numerical features have input instructions above the data collection field. (C) A portion of the results screen. Patient mortality data are presented as a human-readable percentage.



Study Design

This was a between-subjects study with 1 condition: all participants used the app to predict the mortality risk for several patients. Effectiveness was defined as successful completion of a task. This was measured by assessing whether participants were able to insert a complete patient data set into the app GUI and successfully navigate to the results screen. Efficiency was defined as the duration to complete a task, which was measured by timing participants for each patient-specific data set that they inserted into the app. This time period was measured from when participants finished reading the introductory paragraphs until successful navigation to the results screen. Satisfaction was defined as a participant's perception of the effectiveness and efficiency of the app. Satisfaction was measured using the System Usability Scale (SUS) [16]. A semistructured interview format was used after the SUS assessment to gather additional feedback on the app. This allowed for flexible data collection with open-ended responses while ensuring that relevant topics were covered [17,18].

Participants

RenderX

Several key informants [19] were selected across different clinical settings and seniority levels to represent the varied roles in managing patients with COVID-19. For example, initial

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27992
```

assessment of the patient might be carried out by a junior physician in the emergency department, while a senior physician could be involved in critical decision-making, such as the establishment of treatment escalation plans.

Data saturation, defined as the point at which additional data would not add new information or require changes to be made to the developed findings, was estimated to occur at 30-35 interviews [20]. Participants were recruited in person at a single hospital site. We used maximum variation and snowball sampling to increase the likelihood that findings represent a wide range of perspectives with regard to the semistructured interviews [18,21].

Materials and Procedure

Informed written consent was obtained from all participants. Participants were made aware of their right to withdraw from the study at any point during data collection. Data were anonymized for all participants, except for designation and age because these data were considered important for contextualizing findings.

Demographic data and experience with electronics were recorded verbally, including baseline computer and smartphone app experience scores (on a scale of 1 representing novice experience, to 10 representing expert experience). Three

fictitious patient data sets in the form of clerking sheets (medical histories) were provided to each participant. Participants then entered the data into the app to generate a patient-specific mortality prediction on a computer device. This section of the assessment was timed.

While participants used the app, effectiveness and efficiency measures were collected. Once the tasks were completed, participants were provided with the SUS assessment on a web-based survey data collection platform, and the semistructured interview was then conducted. Audio recordings of the interviews were stored on a mobile device and transcribed using Otter.ai and then analyzed.

Ethical Approval and Consent to Participate

Data were collected, as part of service development work, by the responsible clinical team. Data were anonymized at the point of extraction by the care team. The analysis protocol was approved by the Antimicrobial Stewardship Group at Chelsea & Westminster NHS Foundation Trust and this was confirmed as a service development.

Data Analysis

Usability, as measured by effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction, was reported with descriptive statistics. Interview data were analyzed with a thematic framework method (by A Al-Hindawi, AP, and EC), which allowed for the development of themes from the interview narratives [22].

Availability of data and materials

The data sets analyzed during the current study and further details on gaining access to the intervention reported within this study are available from author AA on reasonable request, as long as the local ethics and research governance criteria are met. The app is currently available in the alpha version [23].

Results

Results Overview

In total, 31 health care workers were recruited from a single West London teaching hospital between June and August 2020; these included 5 (16.13%) foundation physicians (year 1-2 postgraduate), 5 (16.13%) senior house officers (years 3-4 postgraduate), 15 (48.39%) registrars or equivalent (year 5-10 postgraduate), 5 (16.13%) consultants (approximately >10 years postgraduate), and 1 (3.2%) primary care general practitioner (GP). None of them were excluded from the data analysis owing to equipment failure or withdrawal from the study. Of them, 12 (38.71%) participants were female. The mean participant age was 33.06 (SD 5.59) years. The mean baseline computer experience score was 7.71 (SD 2.07), and the mean baseline smartphone experience score was 8.58 (SD 1.70).

Effectiveness

All participants were able to complete the task. In total, 78 of 93 (83.9%) vignettes (3 vignettes provided to each participant) were completed correctly, which yielded the expected prediction results by the algorithm. The failure of participants to enter clinical parameters correctly into the GUI in 15 (16.1%) encounters was explored in the qualitative analysis explained below.

Efficiency

The mean time to complete each vignette was 59.35 (SD 10.35) seconds. Figure 2 shows the average duration of task completion for each patient vignette; participants completed the task more rapidly with each sequential attempt.



Figure 2. Efficiency of clinicians in using the artificial neural network-based COVID-19 prognostication app.



Satisfaction

The mean SUS assessment score was 91.94 (SD 8.54). This corresponds to a grade of "A" on the University Grading Scale that was used to help interpret SUS scores [16]. This score also corresponds to an adjective rating of "excellent" on the adjective rating scale [24].

Thematic Analysis of Semistructured Interviews

Uncertainty Over COVID-19 Prognostication Underpin Clinician Concerns

Regarding the management of patients with COVID-19, the physicians interviewed expressed a range of clinical concerns. Most concerns were about patient care, with the majority "worried about the deterioration of patients and their treatment escalation plan" [Participant #9, foundation physician]. Frontline physicians found themselves asking "is this the correct setting for the patient?" and "found [themselves] predicting where to manage patients" [Participant #4, consultant]. This highlighted a difference in focus depending on specialty. Physicians working in the emergency department or community were more focused on whether the patients "needed hospital admission" [Participant #18, registrar] or if they could "be managed at home"

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27992
```

RenderX

[Participant #31, GP]. In contrast, intensive care physicians were focused on "the mode of oxygen delivery needed" [Participant #25, foundation physician] and "which patients were likely to need intubation" [Participant #20, senior house officer].

In a group of physicians, there was uncertainty regarding communicating of prognoses with patients and their relatives: "Communicating that risk to the family and to the patient themselves is my biggest concern" [Participant #30, registrar].

Several physicians highlighted the fact that there was "a large amount of uncertainty in management and unpredictability in patient outcomes" [Participant #7, registrar] among patients with COVID-19. This was thought to arise from the fact that "current knowledge [of COVID-19] was poorly understood" [Participant #31, GP], and that this made "risk stratification in an unknown disease extremely difficult" [Participant #23, senior house officer].

Along with concerns about the general care of the patient and being in the appropriate care setting, there were some more specific questions that the physicians had regarding "renal, thromboembolic, and cardiac events secondary to COVID-19" [Participant #27, consultant].

Experience With the ANN-Based COVID-19 Prognostication App

Most physicians provided positive feedback, commenting that the app was "very well designed" [Participant #3, registrar], and "easy to pick up given I had never seen it before" [Participant #16, registrar] and that "the [GUI] is very intuitive" [Participant #1, registrar]. Many found it simple to navigate the GUI and input patient data, with the app being "not too wordy, easy to use" [Participant #9, senior house officer]. One participant liked that the application did not "need biochemical parameters," which rendered it more "useful in [the] ED setting" [Participant #22, foundation physician], as it negated the need to wait for the results of blood tests and allowed for more rapid quantification of the patient's risk. One clinician commented that the application allows you to "cut through noise" [Participant #24, senior house officer] when faced with a complicated case and helped to "pull different aspects together." The result was useful, as it was "nice to have numbers that are patient-specific" [Participant #24, senior house officer].

Interpretation of the Predictions of the ANN-Based COVID-19 Prognostication App

Mortality risk predictions for the different vignettes elicited a range of reactions from participants. In total, 29% of physicians felt surprised by the app's predictions. "I was surprised by how high the first mortality prediction was" [Participant #16, senior house officer]. Some clinicians felt that the app's mortality risk prediction was lower than they clinically expected. "I was surprised by some of the results, one lower than I thought" [Participant #2, registrar].

Other participants felt that the scores reflected their experience with patients with COVID-19: "Those numbers were relatively reasonable to what I have seen" [Participant #10, registrar]. One participant commented that "despite 2 of the scenarios appearing fairly similar, they had significantly different mortality predictions" [Participant #31, GP]. Overall, 6 participants felt that the mortality predictions were higher than expected, while 1 physician speculated that the app's predictions were lower than expected. Four physicians felt that the predictions were closely aligned to their clinical judgement.

Impact of the ANN-Based COVID-19 Prognostication App on Clinical Practice

In cases with a clear prognosis according to the clinician, the app positively reinforced clinical decision-making. Some physicians noted that "in clinical practice, it's quite obvious who's going to go off" [Participant #3, registrar]. Nonetheless, some underscored the potential benefit of concordance between their clinical decision-making and the app's predictions:

If I was planning to admit someone to ICU, this app might be useful in helping me make that decision. I'd base my management on my clinical judgement, but this might be a useful adjunct. [Participant #6, consultant]

Other participants felt that the app provided them a sense of positive reinforcement:

I think it gives reassurance regarding your clinical judgement, especially if the app is roughly in agreement with your inclination. [Participant #7, registrar]

Several critical care physicians focused on integrating [the score] into their own clinical judgement, and if the tool then validates [their] suspicion, it gives [them] a good positive predictive value. [Participant #17, registrar]

With strong disparities, most physicians commented that they would revisit the case:

It would help you take a step back and look at the patient again irrespective of the score; I think that's the main use of predictive calculators to me. [Participant #13, registrar]

Many participants explained that when they strongly disagreed with the algorithm, they would base their management on their personal clinical judgement:

If I looked at the tool and it said to me 'okay, she's got a 4% chance of mortality', but I look at the patient at the end of the bed and they appear incredibly frail, in that instance my judgement would overrule the application's prediction. [Participant #17, registrar]

When a case was speculated to be borderline, the app helped as an "adjunct to the doctor" [Participant #25, registrar], to aid in forming a general impression of the case. Furthermore, some participants felt that the app could actively "help with clinical decision-making in more complicated or borderline patients" [Participant #23, senior house officer].

Several physicians commented that the app would act as an additional tool in their decision-making process, thereby complementing their clinical judgement. In total, 14 physicians explained that the app's results may help them stratify the risk to their patients more effectively, thus ensuring the right care setting. For example, one physician indicated that "It would allow me to risk stratify patients who are coming in; I might contact ICU earlier on" [Participant #16, registrar], and "it would be good as a screening tool to risk-stratify patients" [Participant #19, foundation physician], and "it would help me stratify future risk in an unknown disease" [Participant #20, registrar].

Many physicians felt that the app's predictions could be used to "better communicate patient outcomes" [Participant #24, foundation physician] to the patient and their family members, as well as "between medical colleagues" [Participant #26, registrar]. Topics that physicians felt would benefit from the app's results included "communicating disease severity" [Participant #27, consultant] and "the need for intensive care" [Participant #30, registrar] to the patient and their relatives.

Five physicians felt that the use of this app would not impact their clinical management, and one was unsure of the utility of the app:

It's tricky; I'm not sure whether it would alter my decision making in any appreciable way, but the numbers are interesting to see. [Participant #11, consultant]

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27992
```

However, most agree that given COVID-19 is a "new disease, having any source of prediction would be useful for guiding management, and might help as an adjunct to decide on escalation" [Participant #8, senior house officer].

User-Driven Evolution of the ANN-Based COVID-19 Prognostication App

Many participants noted that it would be more intuitive to elicit symptoms before comorbidities, as this workflow more closely aligns with the clinical practice of many physicians: "I found myself scrolling down to fill in some details and then scrolling up to fill in the rest" [Participant #1, registrar]. However, other participants tended to prefer inserting comorbidity data prior to symptomatology: "The flow makes more sense for my clinical practice" [Participant #2, registrar]. Two physicians felt that there were many required variables for use of the app:

It might be easier to reduce the number of variables from 20 without reducing the model's predictive power too dramatically. This might make it easier to use. [Participant #3, registrar]

However, one participant explained that this was not an important issue as the data were easy to accrue from the initial clerking:

There are a lot of yes/no boxes relative to other medical calculators, but that was alright because they were very easy to answer; data entry is elicitable from the clinical history. [Participant #4, consultant]

One physician expressed being unable to find a disclaimer to explain that the app should only be used for patients with confirmed COVID-19. Similarly, 1 physician suggested the inclusion of a "disclaimer regarding the use of the app on first use" [Participant #17, registrar] and noted that the app should not be used in "isolation." Another physician suggested the "addition of ethnicity in future" [Participant #6, consultant] iterations of the model as an important prognostic factor. Another physician suggested "linking trust-based guidelines for COVID-19 management" on the results page of the app, or "integrating the results into the patient's electronic health records" [Participant #13, registrar].

Two physicians noted that it should be made clear that duration of symptoms is always recorded from the onset of first symptom by the app: "I think you should specify that the duration of symptoms is from the first symptom, as sometimes symptoms develop at different time points" [Participant #16, registrar]. Finally, being able to predict "intensive care requirements" [Participant #6, consultant] and "prolonged hospital stay" [Participant #4, consultant] were considered useful improvements to the algorithm.

User-Derived Concerns Regarding the ANN-Based COVID-19 Prognostication App

The principal concern expressed by users was the use of the predictions as an exclusive decision-making tool by, for example, making "management setting and treatment escalation decisions based solely on the results" [Participant #5, senior house officer] of the app.

I think a discussion may be required with ICU before deciding on ward-based care, and I'd worry if a high mortality prediction led to an automatic decision to not admit to ICU. [Participant #2, registrar]

There were concerns that "generalizability would be difficult" [Participant #1, registrar] since the data are accrued from admissions to a single center: "Different patients in the UK will have different cohorts and so it should be generalized with caution" [Participant #8, senior house officer].

The model underlying this app was trained with patients during the first wave of COVID-19 in the United Kingdom. There were no established management guidelines or prognostic scoring system relating to this disease. Several physicians noted the importance of retraining the model with more recent data from patients with COVID-19 to reflect recent developments in the management of this condition: "The guidelines are changing, and so the data itself may change" [Participant #14, consultant]; therefore, "the application may not be calibrated to new waves, given newer treatments" [Participant #29, registrar]. The same physician indicated that "there is little concern if this is used as part of the big picture but shouldn't be used in a binary sense" [Participant #29, registrar]. This sentiment was echoed by several other physicians who felt that "you have to be responsible and realize no predictive calculator is a substitute for clinical judgement- I don't think anyone should be under the impression that a calculator can replace their judgement entirely" [Participant #7, registrar].

Discussion

Principal Findings

We tested the clinical utility of a responsive web-based app or GUI, which interfaces to an ANN to predict the outcomes of patients with COVID-19 at the bedside. All clinician-users were able to use the GUI with a mean time of 59.35 (SD 10.35) seconds to derive a mortality prediction. We found that clinician-users assigned a mean SUS score of 91.94 (SD 8.54), which corresponds to an adjective rating of "excellent." Clinician-users found the app intuitive and easy to use, and the majority described its predictions as a useful adjunct to their clinical practice. The main concerns were related to the use of the app in isolation rather than in conjunction with other clinical parameters. However, most clinicians felt that the app could positively reinforce or validate their clinical decision-making. Effectiveness and efficiency measures indicated that the app could be used easily with little technical support or prior explanation with respect to system function. The app is therefore highly productive, while maintaining low costs and learnability times. No participant took longer than 2.2 minutes to successfully input all required patient data and retrieve a prediction.

Thematic framework analysis provided further insight into the implications of the use of this app. The identification of deteriorating patients with COVID-19 was a key concern for most physicians. From a clinical perspective, accurate risk stratification underpins hospital admission decisions, as well as appropriate ceilings of patient management. Furthermore, an understanding of risk allows physicians to better communicate

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27992
```

XSL•FO RenderX

prognoses to the patient and their relatives. Hence, a large majority of participants in this study felt that a scoring system can be a useful as an adjunct to their clinical workflow and could aid in communicating risk to patients and their families. However, most physicians agreed that the use of a predictive scoring system alone cannot surmount the decision-making by a clinician.

The spectrum of opinions regarding mortality risk predictions when faced with the same clinical scenario highlighted variations among clinicians. This emphasizes the potential role of an easy-to-use, widely accessible predictive system in minimizing biases such as experiential bias and the availability heuristic in prognostication.

Strengths and Limitations

A strength of this study is that both usability assessments and a qualitative framework were used to evaluate the app, thereby providing a deeper insight into all aspects of its use and implications. In addition, multiple researchers analyzed the thematic framework data, ensuring consensus with regard to the results and their interpretation.

However, there are limitations to consider in this analysis. The study participants had high self-reported levels of expertise in using computers and smartphones. If this app were to be used in settings where users had limited experience in using clinical decision-making tools, it may impact usability, and subsequently affect results and result interpretation. Furthermore, the underlying algorithm is trained with patients from a single West London hospital site during the first wave of COVID-19 in the United Kingdom. The generalizability of its predictions is therefore reduced among other populations, and further studies need to evaluate the app in other health care settings.

Comparison With Prior Studies and Future Prospects

Given that treatment for COVID-19 has progressed—for example, a recent study reported that dexamethasone reduces mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 [25]—it is important to retrain or update the algorithm with new data to maximize the prognostic accuracy of the app. The adaptive nature of ANNs with their ease of retrainability, and the continued deposition of clinical big data for patients with COVID-19, implies that these latter limitations can be mitigated with future iterations.

The principal challenges in deploying AI technologies in a pandemic include the rapidly shifting clinical needs that the models need to address, and in translating these models to local environments [5]. While numerous recent studies have been using machine learning processes for aspects of COVID-19 clinical care in various settings [26-30], few use co-design, as we have in this study, to optimize the utility of the app among clinicians. Furthermore, beyond user interface and utility challenges lie ethical and legal issues that are inherent when smartphone apps are used as health care decision support systems [31]. The ethical aspects of integrating computerized decision support systems in to the management of infectious diseases remain unclear, but the importance in co-design with clinician-users early on in the preimplementation phase (as in this study) takes precedence to ensure that clinicians use them as part, rather than the entirety, of their overarching clinical assessment [32,33].

Based on our development of the ANN [4] and the clinical utility and feasibility assessment undertaken in this analysis, we propose an adaptive translational pathway for predictive systems for COVID-19 (Figure 3). This workflow recognizes the need for feedback mechanisms in the development and deployment of both the GUI and its underlying AI algorithm. As management strategies shift, new data must be incorporated through web-based learning or retraining of the algorithm to maintain accurate predictions. The new models then require further validation on test data sets to ensure reliability. In tandem, the application must be actively monitored for usability and security issues and updated as appropriate. Utilizing interconnected feedback mechanisms in this way can ensure that both the algorithm and the interface to it remain robust to changing trends in patient cohorts and the management of COVID-19.



Figure 3. Proposed translational network for the artificial neural network and web-based app, including model training, validation, and adaptation, as well as app development, testing, and deployment. AI: artificial intelligence.



Following this framework, because of the usability assessment and thematic framework analysis, our current app was modified to include several of the suggested improvements. These included, but were not limited to, the addition of a disclaimer on the index page and retraining the algorithm to estimate mortality, probability of admission to an intensive care unit, and probability of a prolonged hospital stay (defined as a stay of at least 1 week). These changes are shown in Figure 4. Future improvements include model retraining from patient samples across multiple hospital sites, and the potential integration of the app to patient electronic health records to facilitate its use in the context of clinicians' workflow, although the barriers to integration into electronic medical records are numerous [34].



Abdulaal et al

Figure 4. Screenshots of the matured artificial neural network–based COVID-19 prognostication app. (A) The introductory screen and an added disclaimer for use. (B) and (C) A portion of the results screen. Predictions regarding mortality, intensive care unit, and prolonged hospital stay are presented as human-readable percentages and are color-coded to reflect retraining of the underlying algorithm.



Conclusions

Developing, validating, and deploying AI technologies in health care is associated with a variety of challenges. In this single hospital study, we tested a responsive web-based app, which leverages an ANN to produce multiple outcome predictions for patients with COVID-19 without the need for laboratory parameters. It demonstrates potential utility among patients with an initial presentation of COVID-19 and for those without diagnostic capability in the community. The application is intuitive and requires minimal training for use. Clinicians interviewed in this study found that the system represents a useful adjunct to their daily clinical practice, and we propose a translational workflow for future predictive systems that leverage similar technologies. We demonstrate that both model and interface adaptation can be used to meet the developing needs of clinicians in the context of a pandemic.

Acknowledgments

EC is supported by Economic and Social Science Research Council and the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Protection Research Unit (HPRU) in Healthcare Associated Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance, UK Department of Health [HPRU-2012-10047], in partnership with Public Health England. LSPM acknowledges support from the NIHR Imperial Biomedical Research Centre and the NIHR HPRU in Healthcare Associated Infection and Antimicrobial Resistance at Imperial College London in partnership with Public Health England. The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National health Service, the NIHR, or the UK Department of Health. This study did not receive any grant from funding agencies in the public or commercial sectors.

Authors' Contributions

A Abdulaal, AP, and LSPM conceptualized the study. A Abdulaal, AH, AP, and EC curated the data. A Abdulaal, AP, and LSPM carried out formal analysis. A Abdulaal, AP, and LSPM designed the study methodology. A Abdulaal, AP, and LSPM were responsible for study validation. A Abdulaal and AP were responsible for data visualization. A Abdulaal and AP drafted the manuscript. A Abdulaal, AP, AH, EC, NM, and LSPM critically reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors have read and approved this manuscript and agree as to its contents.

Conflicts of Interest

All authors have completed the ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors) form to disclose potential conflicts of interest and declare the following: EC has received speaker fees from bioMerieux (2019). NM has received speaker fees from Beyer (2016) and Pfizer (2019) and received educational support from Eumedica (2016) and Baxter (2017). LSPM has consulted for and received honoraria from DNAelectronics (2015-2018), Dairy Crest (2017-2018), Profile Pharma (2018-2019), Umovis Lab (2020), bioMerieux (2013-2021), Pfizer (2018-2021), Eumedica (2016-2021), and Shionogi (2021) and received research grants from Leo Pharma (2016), NIHR (2013-2020), and CW+ Charity (2018-2021). A Abdulaal and AP declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Knight SR, Ho A, Pius R, Buchan I, Carson G, Drake TM, ISARIC4C investigators. Risk stratification of patients admitted to hospital with covid-19 using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol: development and validation of the 4C Mortality Score. BMJ 2020 Sep 09;370:m3339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3339] [Medline: 32907855]
- Wynants L, Van Calster B, Collins GS, Riley RD, Heinze G, Schuit E, et al. Prediction models for diagnosis and prognosis of covid-19: systematic review and critical appraisal. BMJ 2020 Apr 07;369:m1328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1328] [Medline: 32265220]
- Abdulaal A, Patel A, Charani E, Denny S, Alqahtani SA, Davies GW, et al. Comparison of deep learning with regression analysis in creating predictive models for SARS-CoV-2 outcomes. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Nov 19;20(1):299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01316-6] [Medline: 33213435]
- Abdulaal A, Patel A, Charani E, Denny S, Mughal N, Moore L. Prognostic Modeling of COVID-19 Using Artificial Intelligence in the United Kingdom: Model Development and Validation. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 25;22(8):e20259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20259] [Medline: 32735549]
- 5. Hu Y, Jacob J, Parker GJM, Hawkes DJ, Hurst JR, Stoyanov D. The challenges of deploying artificial intelligence models in a rapidly evolving pandemic. Nat Mach Intell 2020 May 22;2(6):298-300. [doi: <u>10.1038/s42256-020-0185-2</u>]
- Shi Y, Yu X, Zhao H, Wang H, Zhao R, Sheng J. Host susceptibility to severe COVID-19 and establishment of a host risk score: findings of 487 cases outside Wuhan. Crit Care 2020 Mar 18;24(1):108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-2833-7] [Medline: 32188484]
- 7. Caramelo F, Ferreira N, Oliveiros B. Estimation of risk factors for COVID-19 mortality preliminary results. medRxiv. Preprint posted online February 25, 2020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2020.02.24.20027268]
- Patel A, Charani E, Ariyanayagam D, Abdulaal A, Denny S, Mughal N, et al. New-onset anosmia and ageusia in adult patients diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Clin Microbiol Infect 2020 Sep;26(9):1236-1241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.05.026] [Medline: 32502645]
- Syeda HB, Syed M, Sexton KW, Syed S, Begum S, Syed F, et al. Role of Machine Learning Techniques to Tackle the COVID-19 Crisis: Systematic Review. JMIR Med Inform 2021 Jan 11;9(1):e23811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23811] [Medline: 33326405]
- Pairo-Castineira E, Clohisey S, Klaric L, Bretherick AD, Rawlik K, Pasko D, GenOMICC Investigators, ISARIC4C Investigators, COVID-19 Human Genetics Initiative, 23andMe Investigators, BRACOVID Investigators, Gen-COVID Investigators, et al. Genetic mechanisms of critical illness in COVID-19. Nature 2021 Mar;591(7848):92-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-03065-y] [Medline: <u>33307546</u>]
- 11. Node. URL: https://nodejs.org/en/ [accessed 2020-11-08]
- 12. Express. URL: <u>https://expressjs.com/</u> [accessed 2020-11-08]
- Miller K, Capan M, Weldon D, Noaiseh Y, Kowalski R, Kraft R, et al. The design of decisions: Matching clinical decision support recommendations to Nielsen's design heuristics. Int J Med Inform 2018 Sep;117:19-25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.05.008] [Medline: 30032961]
- 14. Introduction to Tensors. TensorFlow. URL: https://www.tensorflow.org/guide/tensor [accessed 2020-11-08]
- 15. TensorFlow.js is a library for machine learning in JavaScript. TensorFlow. URL: <u>https://www.tensorflow.org/js</u> [accessed 2021-01-17]
- 16. Xiong J, Ziegler C, Kortum P. SUSapp: A Free Mobile Application That Makes the System Usability Scale (SUS) Easier to Administer. J Usability Stud 2020;15(3):135-144 [FREE Full text]
- 17. Britten N. Qualitative interviews in medical research. BMJ 1995 Jul 22;311(6999):251-253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.6999.251] [Medline: 7627048]
- Heath G, Cameron E, Cummins C, Greenfield S, Pattison H, Kelly D, et al. Paediatric 'care closer to home': stake-holder views and barriers to implementation. Health Place 2012 Sep;18(5):1068-1073. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.05.003</u>] [Medline: <u>22687749</u>]
- 19. Marshall M. The key informant technique. Fam Pract 1996 Feb;13(1):92-97. [doi: <u>10.1093/fampra/13.1.92</u>] [Medline: <u>8671109</u>]
- 20. Morse JM. Determining Sample Size. Qual Health Res 2016 Jul 01;10(1):3-5. [doi: 10.1177/104973200129118183]

- 21. Creswell JW, Poth CN. Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches Internet. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2016.
- 22. Rapport F, Doel MA, Elwyn G. Snapshots and snippets: general practitioners' reflections on professional space. Health Place 2007 Jun;13(2):532-544. [doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2006.07.005] [Medline: 16996775]
- 23. A prognostic model for COVID-19. Infectious Diseases Department, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital. URL: <u>http://desolate-springs-37403.herokuapp.com/</u> [accessed 2021-06-21]
- 24. Bangor A, Kortum P, Miller J. Determining What Individual SUS Scores Mean: Adding an Adjective Rating Scale. J Usability Stud 2009;4(3):114-123 [FREE Full text]
- 25. Matthay MA, Thompson BT. Dexamethasone in hospitalised patients with COVID-19: addressing uncertainties. Lancet Respir Med 2020 Dec;8(12):1170-1172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30503-8] [Medline: 33129421]
- Pan P, Li Y, Xiao Y, Han B, Su L, Su M, et al. Prognostic Assessment of COVID-19 in the Intensive Care Unit by Machine Learning Methods: Model Development and Validation. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 11;22(11):e23128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23128] [Medline: 33035175]
- Domínguez-Olmedo JL, Gragera-Martínez Á, Mata J, Pachón Álvarez V. Machine Learning Applied to Clinical Laboratory Data in Spain for COVID-19 Outcome Prediction: Model Development and Validation. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 14;23(4):e26211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26211] [Medline: 33793407]
- 28. Quiroz JC, Feng Y, Cheng Z, Rezazadegan D, Chen P, Lin Q, et al. Development and Validation of a Machine Learning Approach for Automated Severity Assessment of COVID-19 Based on Clinical and Imaging Data: Retrospective Study. JMIR Med Inform 2021 Feb 11;9(2):e24572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24572] [Medline: 33534723]
- 29. Patrício A, Costa RS, Henriques R. Predictability of COVID-19 Hospitalizations, Intensive Care Unit Admissions, and Respiratory Assistance in Portugal: Longitudinal Cohort Study. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 28;23(4):e26075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26075] [Medline: 33835931]
- Schwab P, DuMont Schütte A, Dietz B, Bauer S. Clinical Predictive Models for COVID-19: Systematic Study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 06;22(10):e21439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21439] [Medline: 32976111]
- Charani E, Castro-Sánchez E, Moore LS, Holmes A. Do smartphone applications in healthcare require a governance and legal framework? It depends on the application!. BMC Med 2014 Feb 14;12:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-29] [Medline: 24524344]
- 32. Peiffer-Smadja N, Poda A, Ouedraogo A, Guiard-Schmid J, Delory T, Le Bel J, et al. Paving the Way for the Implementation of a Decision Support System for Antibiotic Prescribing in Primary Care in West Africa: Preimplementation and Co-Design Workshop With Physicians. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 20;22(7):e17940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17940] [Medline: 32442155]
- Bezemer T, de Groot MC, Blasse E, Ten Berg MJ, Kappen TH, Bredenoord AL, et al. A Human(e) Factor in Clinical Decision Support Systems. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 19;21(3):e11732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11732] [Medline: 30888324]
- 34. Jung SY, Hwang H, Lee K, Lee H, Kim E, Kim M, et al. Barriers and Facilitators to Implementation of Medication Decision Support Systems in Electronic Medical Records: Mixed Methods Approach Based on Structural Equation Modeling and Qualitative Analysis. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Jul 22;8(7):e18758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18758] [Medline: 32706717]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence ANN: artificial neural network GP: general practitioner GUI: graphical user interface HPRU: Health Protection Research Unit ICU: intensive care unit NIHR: National Institute for Health Research SUS: system usability score

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.02.21; peer-reviewed by M Sayed, K Braune; comments to author 26.02.21; revised version received 19.03.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 28.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Abdulaal A, Patel A, Al-Hindawi A, Charani E, Alqahtani SA, Davies GW, Mughal N, Moore LSP Clinical Utility and Functionality of an Artificial Intelligence–Based App to Predict Mortality in COVID-19: Mixed Methods Analysis JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27992 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27992</u> doi:10.2196/27992 PMID:34115603



https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27992
©Ahmed Abdulaal, Aatish Patel, Ahmed Al-Hindawi, Esmita Charani, Saleh A Alqahtani, Gary W Davies, Nabeela Mughal, Luke Stephen Prockter Moore. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 28.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Determining Acceptance of e-Mental Health Interventions in Digital Psychodiabetology Using a Quantitative Web-Based Survey: Cross-sectional Study

Mirjam Damerau¹, MSc; Martin Teufel¹, Prof Dr; Venja Musche¹, MSc; Hannah Dinse¹, MD; Adam Schweda¹, MSc; Jil Beckord¹, BSc; Jasmin Steinbach¹, MSc; Kira Schmidt¹, MSc; Eva-Maria Skoda¹, MD; Alexander Bäuerle¹, PhD

Clinic for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, LVR-University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg Essen, Essen, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Mirjam Damerau, MSc Clinic for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy LVR-University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg Essen Virchowstr. 174 Essen, 45147 Germany Phone: 49 201 438755 228 Email: mirjam.damerau@uni-due.de

Abstract

Background: Diabetes is a very common chronic disease that exerts massive physiological and psychological burdens on patients. The digitalization of mental health care has generated effective e-mental health approaches, which offer an indubitable practical value for patient treatment. However, before implementing and optimizing e-mental health tools, their acceptance and underlying barriers and resources should be first determined for developing and establishing effective patient-oriented interventions.

Objective: This study aims to assess the acceptance of e-mental health interventions among patients with diabetes and explore its underlying barriers and resources.

Methods: A cross-sectional study was conducted in Germany from April 9, 2020, to June 15, 2020, through a web-based survey for which patients were recruited via web-based diabetes channels. The eligibility requirements were adult age (18 years or older), a good command of the German language, internet access, and a diagnosis of diabetes. Acceptance was measured using a modified questionnaire, which was based on the well-established Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) and assessed health-related internet use, acceptance of e-mental health interventions, and its barriers and resources. Mental health was measured using validated and established instruments, namely the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7, Patient Health Questionnaire-2, and Distress Thermometer. In addition, sociodemographic and medical data regarding diabetes were collected.

Results: Of the 340 participants who started the survey, 261 (76.8%) completed it and the final sample comprised 258 participants with complete data sets. The acceptance of e-mental health interventions in patients with diabetes was overall moderate (mean 3.02, SD 1.14). Gender and having a mental disorder had a significant influence on acceptance (P<.001). In an extended UTAUT regression model (UTAUT predictors plus sociodemographics and mental health variables), distress (β =.11; P=.03) as well as the UTAUT predictors *performance expectancy* (β =.50; P<.001), *effort expectancy* (β =.15; P=.001), and *social influence* (β =.28; P<.001) significantly predicted acceptance. The comparison between an extended UTAUT regression model (13 predictors) and the UTAUT-only regression model (*performance expectancy*, *effort expectancy*, *social influence*) revealed no significant difference in explained variance ($F_{1,2,24}$ =1.567; P=.12).

Conclusions: This study supports the viability of the UTAUT model and its predictors in assessing the acceptance of e-mental health interventions among patients with diabetes. Three UTAUT predictors reached a notable amount of explained variance of 75% in the acceptance, indicating that it is a very useful and efficient method for measuring e-mental health intervention acceptance in patients with diabetes. Owing to the close link between acceptance and use, acceptance-facilitating interventions focusing on these three UTAUT predictors should be fostered to bring forward the highly needed establishment of effective e-mental health interventions in psychodiabetology.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27436) doi:10.2196/27436



KEYWORDS

e-mental health; acceptance; UTAUT; mental health; diabetes; e-mental health intervention; psychodiabetology

Introduction

Background

Diabetes is a common chronic disease that exerts a heavy physiological and psychological burden on patients. In 2017, approximately 451 million adult patients were affected worldwide, and the number is steadily increasing [1]. As diabetes is considered to be "one of the most psychologically demanding of chronic medical illnesses" [2], the integration of psychological care in the management of diabetes is crucial [3,4].

Living with diabetes means facing day-to-day challenges and complications resulting in considerable emotional distress [5], which can lead to a higher risk of psychological disorders. Indeed, patients with diabetes show disproportionately higher rates of psychological disorders than those without diabetes [5], including depression and anxiety [6,7]. Considering psychological comorbidity, diabetes mellitus is often accompanied by depression (18.8%-24%) [8-10]. They occur twice as frequently together as predicted by chance alone and worsen each other because of underlying biological and behavioral mechanisms such as diabetes-related symptoms and sleep disorders [11,12]. A meta-analysis including more than 50,000 participants confirmed the major role of depression as a comorbidity of diabetes, and found that participants with type 2 diabetes had significantly higher depression rates than those without diabetes (17.6% vs 9.8%; odds ratio 1.6, 95% CI 1.2-2.0) [13]. Regarding the prevalence of anxiety, a systematic review found that 14% of patients with diabetes who participated in clinical studies with generalized anxiety disorder and 27% with subsyndromal anxiety disorder [14]. Considering that 40% of their participants expressed the elevated symptoms of anxiety (N=1283 in 7 studies), anxiety turned out to be a major mental health threat to people with diabetes.

The psychological vulnerability of people with diabetes manifests itself in the heightened risks of psychological disorders; for example, the risk of developing depression is 24% higher in patients with type 2 diabetes than in individuals without diabetes [15]. However, diabetes and mental health appear to exert a bidirectional effect on each other because poor mental health is associated with an increased risk of developing 2 diabetes [16]. Psychological support and type self-empowerment are crucial, as diabetes impairs the psychological well-being and quality of life [17]. Although diabetes-related self-management education programs can reduce diabetes-related as well as emotional distress [5,18], help foster self-efficacy [18] and have proven their effectiveness [19] and cost-effectiveness [20] as demonstrated by web-based structured education programs, they are still not implemented to a sufficient extent in routine diabetes care [21]. Therefore, improving diabetes-related knowledge and self-care practices should be a major goal in diabetes management to reduce the risks of developing and chronifying psychological disorders [5,22].

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27436
```

XSL•FO

The digitalization of mental health care has generated effective e-mental health approaches, which have an indubitable practical value for patient treatment [23-26]. The effects of e-mental health interventions for some mental disorders are comparable with those of a traditional face-to-face therapy [26]. Nonetheless, web-based interventions offer several advantages that cannot be provided by offline interventions, for example, offering an anonymous, low-threshold, cost-effective, timeand location-flexible alternative [27]. However, limited accessibility, negative treatment expectancies, and concerns about anonymity create serious challenges in the implementation of e-mental health approaches. To date, existing e-mental health interventions have mainly focused on psychosomatic inpatients and provide information and interactive tasks based on cognitive behavioral, psychodynamic, or acceptance and commitment therapy [28]. Unfortunately, clinical e-mental health interventions are still scarce and are not well known among patients in Germany [29]. Although patients with diabetes can make use of several apps and at least some (web-based) diabetes education programs that help in disease management [30,31], only a few web-based e-mental health interventions exist. A recent systematic review from 2021 found 9 studies offering digital interventions for psychological comorbidities in patients with diabetes [32]. Two of these studies were conducted in Germany [33,34] and both offered the guided self-help web-based intervention GET.ON Mood Enhancer Diabetes for depression in people with diabetes. Furthermore, 7 out of these 9 studies found the offered e-mental health intervention to be effective in terms of improvements in depressive symptoms [33-39] and 4 found the intervention effective with respect to diabetes (specific emotional) distress [34,37-39]. Given the current situation concerning the COVID-19 pandemic, the need for innovative and easily accessible approaches in psychological care is evident and has also increased. There is a scientific consensus that depression, anxiety, sleeping problems, and stress have increased over the course of the ongoing pandemic [40-45]. With the knowledge of the vulnerability of people with diabetes and in light of the pandemic and its mental health implications, we conducted a study to investigate the acceptance of e-mental health interventions in patients with diabetes.

As previous research suggests that patients with diabetes having depression symptoms might have a low motivation to participate in a screening program or psychological care [46], the acceptance of (future) interventions is a major variable that research should be considered. Thus, before implementing and optimizing e-mental health tools, their acceptance and underlying barriers and resources should first be examined and understood. In terms of usefulness, even the best intervention can only be beneficial to those patients using it. Therefore, the determinants of acceptance and uptake of e(-mental) health interventions need to be further analyzed. The research on eHealth acceptance has harnessed the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) for assessing the predictors of behavioral intention and acceptance [28,47-51]. The UTAUT model contributed to the analysis of factors that

influence the acceptance of e-mental health interventions in patients with diabetes [52]. This model and its e-mental health specific extensions [28,52] enabled researchers to tailor interventions properly to specific patient groups, because acceptance-influencing determinants were known from analysis with the UTAUT. Unfortunately, barely any validation of the UTAUT has been investigated in e-mental health programs for patients with diabetes. However, there is some evidence in disease management programs. For example, a survey of 116 patients with diabetes used the UTAUT model to identify the factors that influence the acceptance of telemedicine services. Researchers have found that performance expectancy (PE), effort expectancy (EE), and social influence (SI) are significant factors that contribute to the acceptance of telemedicine services for diabetes management. In addition, gender and age were identified as moderators between PE and acceptance as predicted by the UTAUT model [53].

The UTAUT postulates four core predictors: PE, EE, SI, and facilitating conditions (FC) [54]. Acceptance itself is operationalized as behavioral intention, which is predicted by the first three core predictors, whereas actual use is predicted by behavioral intention and FC. PE describes the degree to which an individual believes that using a system will be helpful. EE is defined as the degree of ease associated with the use of a system. SI describes the degree to which an individual perceives that important other, such as family or friends, would approve of the use of the system. FC are defined as the degree to which an individual believes that an organizational and technical infrastructure exists to support the use of a system. By applying UTAUT as a method of measuring acceptance, the notable values of explained variance (70%) can be achieved [54]. To prove external validity and generalizability, UTAUT needs to be explored in different target groups. Given the massive physiological and psychological burdens caused by diabetes, this study focused on investigating the acceptance of e-mental health interventions in a sample of patients with diabetes.

Objectives

This study aims to determine the acceptance of e-mental health interventions among patients with diabetes and explore the underlying factors influencing patients' intentions to use such interventions. The acceptance of e-mental health interventions is associated with sociodemographic characteristics such as gender, age, and education [28,55] and mental health, such as anxiety and current or past mental disorders [48,55]. Therefore, we extended the UTAUT model and added sociodemographic, medical, and validated mental health variables as the direct predictors of acceptance. In addition, this study aims to examine the viability of the UTAUT model with its three predictors of acceptance (PE, EE, and SI) in assessing patients with diabetes' acceptance of e-mental health interventions and to investigate whether this extended UTAUT model proves to be superior and more effective. Furthermore, an additional goal is to examine whether age and gender modulate the relationship of PE, EE, SI and acceptance, respectively, as postulated by the UTAUT [54]. Thus, the following research questions are addressed:

1. To what extent do patients with diabetes accept e-mental health interventions and does acceptance differ significantly

regarding sociodemographic or medical characteristics of the participants?

- 2. Is the proposed extended UTAUT model suitable to predict the acceptance of e-mental interventions in patients with diabetes and which factors are significant predictors?
- 3. Is the proposed extended UTAUT model superior to the UTAUT model and do age and gender modulate the relationship between each UTAUT predictor and acceptance?

Answers to the research questions above might contribute to the process of implementing and improving e-mental health interventions. Especially during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, these results may be beneficial to individuals with mental health problems or those at a higher risk of developing psychological disorders.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

A cross-sectional study was conducted to assess the acceptance of e-mental health interventions and its underlying predictors in patients with diabetes. The Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys was used to report the methods and results of our web-based open survey [56]. From April 9 to June 15, 2020, participants were recruited via web-based diabetes channels and social media. The eligibility requirement was adult age (18 years or older), a good command of the German language, internet access, and a diagnosis of diabetes. All participants gave electronic informed consent before the survey began and were told about the length of time of the survey, which took approximately 15 minutes to complete. Participation was anonymous and voluntary, and the participants could withdraw from it at any time without harm. No financial compensation was offered, and no personal information was collected or stored. Of the 340 participants, 261 (76.8%) completed the survey, thereby forming the total sample of 261 participants. Three participants who stated not to have diabetes were excluded; hence, the final sample comprised 258 participants (192/258, 74.4% female and 66/258, 26.6% male) with complete cases. Multiple entries from the same individual were prevented by using cookies. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the ethics committee of the medical faculty of the University Duisburg-Essen (19-89-47-BO).

Measures

Overview

The web-based survey contained items on sociodemographic, medical, and mental health data. In addition, we used the validated and well-established UTAUT questionnaire, which assesses health-related internet use, acceptance of eHealth interventions, and barriers and resources of eHealth use [54], and modified it to our research questions based on previous adaptations (Textbox 1). To assess mental health, validated measures were used, such as the Patient Health Questionnaire-2 (PHQ-2) [57], the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7 (GAD-7) [58], and the Distress Thermometer (DT) [59].

XSL•FO RenderX

Textbox 1. Adapted items of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology model and references of original studies. Italicized verbalizations have been adapted.

Behavioral Intention (=acceptance)

- "I would like to try a *psychological web-based intervention*." [52,60,61]
- "I would use a psychological web-based intervention if offered to me." [52,60,61]
- "I would recommend a *psychological web-based intervention* to *my* friends." [48]

Social Influence

- "People close to me would approve the use of a psychological web-based intervention." [52,54,60,61]
- "My general practitioner would approve the *application* of a *psychological web-based intervention*." [52,60,61]
- "My friends would approve a psychological web-based intervention." [28]

Performance Expectancy

- "A psychological web-based intervention could improve my general well-being." [52,60,61]
- "A psychological web-based intervention could help me with distress." [52,60,61]
- "A psychological web-based intervention could help me improve my personal (psychological) health." [52,60,61]

Effort Expectancy

- "The use of a psychological web-based intervention would not be an additional burden to me." (Self-constructed)
- "A psychological web-based intervention would be easy to operate and comprehend." [49,52,54,60,61]
- "I could arrange using a psychological web-based intervention in my everyday life." [28]

Sociodemographic and Medical Data

Sociodemographic and medical data were assessed using items on gender, age, marital status, having children (aged<18 years), educational level, occupational status, and community size. Age was measured in six categories (18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, and 65 or above). Regarding their medical condition, participants were asked whether they had a mental disorder, diabetes type, how well their diabetes was controlled, how their diabetes was treated, and since when they knew of their diabetes diagnosis. In terms of diabetes treatment, participants could state whether their diabetes was treated with oral medication, insulin, other treatment methods, or not treated, and multiple answers were possible.

Acceptance and UTAUT Predictors

Acceptance was operationalized as behavioral intention in accordance with the UTAUT and was measured using three items (Textbox 1). In terms of its specific content, acceptance was defined as the acceptance of a general psychological web-based intervention, which had neither been specified and tailored to patients with diabetes nor offered during this study or later. The underlying UTAUT predictors *PE*, *EE*, and *SI* were measured using three items each (Textbox 1). Answers were indicated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (totally disagree) to 5 (totally agree). As *FC* are based on the UTAUT just as a predictor of use (*use behavior*) and not acceptance itself [54], *FC* have not been included in the statistical analyses. Cronbach α values in this study were .87 for acceptance, .96 for *PE*, .81 for *EE* and .87 for *SI*, proving a high internal consistency.

GAD-7 Anxiety

The GAD-7 comprises seven items measuring the frequency of anxiety symptoms over the past 2 weeks on a 4-point Likert scale (0=never to 3=nearly every day). According to previous validation samples, a sum score of \geq 5, \geq 10, and \geq 15 points to mild, moderate, and severe generalized anxiety symptoms, respectively. This assessment instrument has demonstrated high reliability and validity in health care and research [58]. Cronbach α in this study was .91, indicating a high internal consistency.

PHQ-2 Depressive Symptoms

The PHQ-2 comprises two items that screen the frequency of depressive symptoms over the past 2 weeks on a 4-point Likert scale (0=never to 3=nearly every day). A sum score of \geq 3 serves as a cutoff for major depressive symptoms [57]. In our study, the internal consistency was sufficient, with Cronbach α =.84.

DT Distress

The DT [59] involves one visual analog scale from 0 (no distress) to 10 (extreme distress) experienced in the past week. A score of \geq 4 indicated increased psychological distress [62].

The items were not randomized or alternated among individuals. The participants were able to change and review their responses while answering. Only completely answered questionnaires could be sent off and were analyzed.

Statistical Analyses

Overview

Data analysis was performed using SPSS 26 (IBM), the macro process by Andrew F Hayes (version 3.3) [63] and the software R [64] (version 3.6.3; R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

The level of significance was set at α =.05 (two-sided tests) except for two-tailed *t* tests and analysis of variances (ANOVAs; see *Research Question 1*). First, the internal consistencies and descriptive statistics were calculated. Second, general acceptance was computed and its distribution was assessed (research question 1). In accordance with previous research [28], acceptance (1-5) was categorized by mean in low (1-2.34), moderate (2.35-3.67), and high (3.68-5) acceptance, and the respective frequencies were calculated.

Research Question 1: Acceptance and Its Differences by Sociodemographic and Medical Data

Next, the means of acceptance were compared between groups regarding sociodemographic and medical data using *t* tests and ANOVAs to include variables with multiple categories (research question 1). Bonferroni correction was applied to keep the α error low for multiple pairwise comparisons. To prevent the inflation of the α error caused by multiple *t* tests and ANOVAs, we adjusted the respective α level for each *t* test and each ANOVA. For each *t* test, the level of significance was .017 and .007 for each ANOVA.

The normal distribution of acceptance was examined with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, skewness, and kurtosis and graphically via a histogram including a normal distribution curve. All these measures detected violations against a normal distribution. Parametric tests were still performed for two reasons. First, according to the central limit theorem, the sampling distribution of the mean of a variable can be safely assumed to be normal if the variable and its mean are normally distributed in the population and the sample size is sufficiently large. We consider our sample size of 258 to be sufficient, because some literature suggests that such an effect already emerges with a sample size of n=30 [65]. In addition, other researchers found acceptance distributions that did not seem to differ from the normal distribution [48], thereby indicating that variable acceptance might be normally distributed in the population. Second, t tests and ANOVAs are considered to be robust against violations assuming normal distribution [66].

Research Question 2: Predictors of Acceptance

Using multiple hierarchical regression analyses, the predictive models of acceptance were tested and compared (research question 2). The following predictors were included blockwise: (1) sociodemographic and medical variables, (2) mental health variables, and (3) UTAUT predictors. The categorical variable age was dummy coded before being included in the regression analyses; the category with the highest n (age 45-54, n=70) was used as a reference. In addition, the full model was tested against a restricted model (UTAUT predictors only) (research question 3). No multicollinearity could be detected, because all values of the variance inflation factor were <5. To examine the normality of residuals, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was computed (P=.20) and q-q plots were visually inspected; both showed no signs of violations against normality. Homoscedasticity was proven based on a scatter plot of the standardized residuals and adjusted predicted values.

Research Question 3: UTAUT Versus Full Regression Model and Moderator Analyses

In the final step, bootstrapped moderation analyses (model 1) were performed with acceptance as the dependent variable; UTAUT predictors *PE*, *EE*, and *SI* as the respective independent variable; and age or gender as a potential moderator (research question 3). The number of bootstrap samples was set to 10,000. Independent variables were centered, because the value 0 was not defined on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (totally disagree) to 5 (totally agree).

Results

Sociodemographic and Medical Data

Of the 258 participants, 192 (74.4%) women and 66 (25.6%) men participated in the study. Most participants (n=234, 90.7%) were middle age (25-64 years), whereas the most frequent age category was 45-54 years (70/258, 27.1%). Marital status was classified as either mostly *married* or *in a relationship* (174/258, 67.4%). The majority (200/258, 77.5%) had no children aged <18 years. Our sample was highly educated, because 62.5% (162/258) had higher education entrance qualifications or university education; most were employed (160/258, 62%). The community size was nearly balanced, meaning that none of the four community size categories occurred predominantly. Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 provides a comprehensive summary of sociodemographic information.

A mental disorder was present in 27.5% (71/258) participants. Regarding the type of diabetes, 67.4% (174/258) participants had type 1 diabetes, 28.7% (74/258) patients had type 2 diabetes, and 3.9% (10/258) had other types of diabetes. In total, 49.6% (128/258) participants rated their diabetes control as being *good* and 5.4% (14/258) as *not good*. In terms of medical treatment for diabetes, 76% (196/258) used oral medication, 84.1% (217/258) injected insulin, 3.9% (10/258) had other treatment, and 3.5% (9/258) had no treatment. On average, patients had known of their diabetes disease for approximately 17 years (mean 16.98, SD 13.64).

The GAD-7 (mean 6.12, SD 5.20) measures revealed that 29.1% (75/258) of participants had mild, 16.6% (43/258) had moderate, and 7.8% (20/258) had severe anxiety symptoms (Tables S2-S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The analyses of measures of PHQ-2 (mean 1.52, SD 1.75) and DT (mean 4.72, SD 2.90) resulted in 21.7% (56/258) and 65.9% (170/258) participants, respectively, reaching the cutoff values of 3 and 4, respectively (Tables S2-S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Further information about GAD-7, PHQ-2, and DT measures stratified by gender, age, and diabetes type are displayed in the Multimedia Appendix 1 (Tables S2-S7).

Research Question 1: Acceptance and Its Differences by Sociodemographic and Medical Data

The general acceptance of e-mental health interventions was moderate, with a mean of 3.02 (SD 1.14). Its distribution can be roughly estimated as one-third for each category; 34.1% (88/258) participants showed low, 37.2% (96/258) showed moderate, and 28.7% (74/258) showed high acceptance.

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27436
```

XSL•FC

Acceptance differed significantly between female and male participants (t_{256} =4.21; *P*<.001), with a higher acceptance in women than in men. Having a psychological illness was also significantly associated with higher acceptance ratings (t_{256} =-4.47; *P*<.001). No differences in acceptance regarding age groups, marital status, having children aged under 18 years, educational status, occupational status, community size, diabetes type, and diabetes control were observed. Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 illustrates acceptance scores as a function of sociodemographic and medical data.

Research Question 2: Predictors of Acceptance

The multiple hierarchical regression analysis revealed that the sociodemographic and medical variables included in the first step explained 14.2% of the variance in acceptance (R^2 =0.142; $F_{7,250}$ =5.903; P<.001). Therefore, gender (β =-.20; P=.001) and

Table 1.	Hierarchical	regression	model of	f acceptance.	N=258.4
----------	--------------	------------	----------	---------------	---------

having a mental disorder (β =.24; P<.001) significantly predicted acceptance. The mental health variables included in the second step (*R*²=0.204; *F*_{10,247}=6.347; *P*<.001) significantly increased the explained variance ($\Delta R^2 = 0.063$; $F_{3,247} = 22.166$; P<.001), even though none of these variables were significant predictors of acceptance. However, generalized anxiety (GAD-7) was very close to statistical significance (P=.05). The UTAUT predictors included in the last step ($R^2=0.770$; $F_{13,244}=62.966$; P<.001) changed the explained variance significantly by 56.6% $(\Delta R^2 = 0.566; F_{3,244} = 200.451; P < .001)$, further resulting in a total percentage of explained variance of 77%. PE (β=.50; P<.001), *EE* (β =.15; *P*=.001), and *SI* (β =.28; *P*<.001) significantly predicted acceptance. In addition, the DT was a significant predictor of acceptance in the full regression model (β =.11; P=.03). Table 1 presents the regression parameters of the hierarchical regression model of acceptance.

Pre	dictor	Standardized coefficient β	Unstandardized coefficient β , B	Т	Determination coefficient, R ²	Changes in \mathbb{R}^2 , $\Delta \mathbb{R}^2$	P value
Step 1: sociodemographic and medical predictors					0.142	0.142	
	Gender	204	533	-3.368			.001
	Age ^b	053, .083	327, .260	-0.696, 1.193			.42
	Mental disorder	.240	.612	4.056			<.001
Step 2: mental health variables					0.204	0.063	
	GAD-7 ^c	.216	.047	1.934			.05
	PHQ-2 ^d	028	018	-0.273			.76
	Distress Thermometer [59]	.119	.047	1.383			.17
Step 3: UTAUT ^e predictors					0.770	0.566	
	Performance expectancy	.503	.487	10.340			<.001
	Effort expectancy	.150	.181	3.366			.001
	Social influence	.282	.328	6.268			<.001

^aIn Steps 2 and 3, only the newly included variables are presented.

^bAge was measured in categories and therefore has been included as a dummy variable. The category with the highest n (age: 45-54 years, n=70) was used as a reference. For β , B, and T minima, the maxima of each group contrast are presented. The *P* value was aggregated using the statistical software R; no single *P* value of each contrast reached statistical significance.

^cGAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7 [58].

^dPHQ-2: Patient Health Questionnaire-2 [57].

^eUTAUT: Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology.

Research Question 3: UTAUT Versus Full Regression Model and Moderator Analyses

The comparison between our extended UTAUT model (13 predictors) and the UTAUT-only model (three predictors) revealed no significant difference in explained variance in acceptance ($F_{10.244}$ =1.567; P=.12).

Several moderation analyses have been computed to prove whether age and gender work as moderators, as postulated by the UTAUT [54]. None of them turned out to be statistically significant. Thus, neither gender nor age moderated the relationship between acceptance and the respective UTAUT

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27436

predictor *PE* (gender: *P*=.61, $F_{1,254}$ =0.269; age: *P*=.34, $F_{1,254}$ =0.922), *EE* (gender: *P*=.33, $F_{1,254}$ =0.962; age: *P*=.28, $F_{1,254}$ =1.162), or *SI* (gender: *P*=.10, $F_{1,254}$ =2.726; age: *P*=.53, $F_{1,254}$ =0.400).

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study examined the acceptance of e-mental health interventions among patients with diabetes and explored factors influencing patients' intention to use such interventions. The overall acceptance of e-mental health interventions was

XSL•FO RenderX

moderate. Acceptance was associated with gender and mental illness, because women and participants with mental illness had a significantly higher acceptance than men and participants without a stated mental disorder. No difference in acceptance regarding other sociodemographic and medical data were observed, whereas diabetes type only failed to show a statistical significance based on an adapted level of significance (see Statistical Analyses section). In the full regression model, the acceptance of e-mental health interventions was significantly predicted by mental health variable distress (DT) as well as the UTAUT predictors PE, EE, and SI. The UTAUT predictors (restricted model with UTAUT predictors only) reached a similar explained variance (75%) in acceptance as the full regression model (13 predictors). Neither gender nor age were moderators of the relationship between each UTAUT predictor and acceptance, which contradicts one postulation of the UTAUT [54].

Comparison With Previous Work

Our results confirm the high psychological vulnerability of patients with diabetes, which previous studies had emphasized [5-15], as approximately 21.7% (56/258) and 65.9% (170/258) of our participants expressed indications of major depression (PHQ-2 \geq 3) and elevated distress (DT \geq 4), respectively. Measures of the GAD-7 showed that 16.7% (43/258; GAD-7 \geq 10) and 7.8% (20/258; GAD-7 \geq 15) had moderate and severe levels of anxiety, respectively.

Despite the proven high psychological vulnerability of patients with diabetes, for example, the increased risk of developing depressive symptoms caused by, for example, heavy demands and major distress or medical complications and constraints this disease and its treatment poses [67,68], research on determining the acceptance of e-mental health interventions, which could have provided help flexibly, and its underlying barriers and resources have been scarce. In particular, research using validated measures (eg, UTAUT) assessing the acceptance of e-mental health interventions in people with diabetes has been lacking. To our knowledge, only one study took on this major research subject [52] and conducted important research groundwork by doing so. Nevertheless, our study was imperative and is of great significance for the following reasons. First, their focus was on determining acceptance and examining the effectiveness of an offered acceptance-facilitating intervention (AFI) and not on assessing acceptance and its predictors and testing the viability of the UTAUT model. Second, the sample size of patients with diabetes was smaller, and the study was conducted 7 years ago. Third, their measurement methods implied noteworthy deficiencies; although relying on the UTAUT, FC were regarded as a predictor of acceptance, and not just a predictor of use [54]. In addition, behavioral intention as an operational construct of acceptance is measured using four items instead of three, which is also discordant to the UTAUT [54]. In particular, by deviating in this matter and adding a fourth self-generated item covering willingness to pay for e-mental health interventions, the authors diverge from previous research and respective UTAUT adaptations [28,47,49], not taking advantage of the viability and validity of the UTAUT and its adaptations to the field of e-(mental) health acceptance.

As stated above, the research group investigated patients with diabetes' behavioral intention to use internet-based interventions for depression [52]. The measured acceptance ratings differed from our results (mean 3.02, SD 1.14). Transforming their acceptance scale (4-20) to our acceptance scale (1-5), the average acceptance was lower than that observed in our diabetes sample (control group: mean 2.42, SD 1.07; intervention group: mean 2.64, SD 1.18), but the variance was comparable. Different selection methods may have contributed to these differences. In contrast to the recruitment in the aforementioned study, recruitment was conducted via the internet, resulting in a sample of patients with diabetes that may have been more open to and interested in e-mental health interventions. On the other hand, the passage of time and increasing digitalization and experiences with and knowledge of e(-mental) health tools may also have accounted for these differences. In addition, by adding a fourth finance-based self-generated item of behavioral intention, acceptance ratings might not be comparable. Contrary to the expectations of the researchers, their AFI had no significant effect on acceptance and its predictors. However, subgroup analyses revealed a significant effect for female participants and yielded a trend for younger (<59), depressed, diabetes-related distressed participants, and for those with a low frequency of internet usage to benefit from their AFI [52]. Therefore, future AFIs should probably be tailored to the specific needs of the respective subpopulations.

Studies assessing the acceptance of e-mental health interventions in general found the following variables to be significantly associated with acceptance: gender [55], age [55], education [55], anxiety [48], internet anxiety [48], prior e-mental health use [55,69], and current or past mental disorders [55]. An investigation of acceptance of a web-based aftercare in a mixed inpatient sample with subgroups from different medical clinics revealed that acceptance was significantly associated with (younger) age, (higher) education, stress due to permanent availability, private internet access, and prior eHealth use [28]. With regard to a diabetes-specific web-based platform for patients with type 2 diabetes, stating interest was significantly associated with being male, younger age, higher education, and shorter duration of type 2 diabetes [70].

In line with previous research, acceptance ratings in this study were significantly associated with gender and current or past mental illness. However, contrary to previous studies [25,52], acceptance ratings in this study were significantly higher for women than for men. Age and educational background were not significantly associated with acceptance. Nevertheless, acceptance in this study showed a descriptive trend toward a higher acceptance in younger participants.

Exploring the underlying predictors of eHealth acceptance, previous research adapted the UTAUT and identified the following significant predictors: the UTAUT predictors *PE* [28,50,51,71], *EE* [28,50,51,71] and *SI* [28,50,51] and other predictors namely *perceived reliability* [51], *stress due to permanent availability* [28], *perceived security* [71], *technology anxiety* [50], and *resistance to change* [50]. *FC* are the fourth core predictors of UTAUT, which is supposed to significantly predict the actual usage, but not the behavioral intention (=acceptance) [54]. However, some studies incorporated *FC* as

XSL•FO

a fourth UTAUT predictor of acceptance [28,50,51,71], generating inconsistent results. In 2 studies, *FC* was a significant predictor of acceptance, whereas others were not. In case of significance, its predictive value can be regarded as rather low, for example, reaching correlations of r=0.12 with acceptance [71].

Our results support the viability of UTAUT in determining e-mental health acceptance. The proportion of explained variance by *PE*, *EE*, and *SI* was high in this study (75%) and comparable with those of the original UTAUT validation study (70%) [54]. Confirming previous research, in this study *PE* was the key predictor of acceptance [28,49,50,54,72].

Acceptance operationalized as behavioral intention can be regarded as a significant and highly valid predictor of actual usage behavior. According to the UTAUT, behavioral intention is a significant predictor of actual use, and both correlate with r=0.59 [54]. In addition, prior eHealth research emphasized the major role of acceptance regarding a valid prediction of the actual eHealth usage: predicting the usage of mobile health services, behavioral intention had a significant effect and reached notable standardized regression coefficients of β =.415 [50] and β =.372 [51] in the respective structural model. Moreover, acceptance can predict the future use of eHealth interventions, as higher ratings of acceptance led to higher use of an unguided web-based intervention for chronic pain [48]. Nevertheless, the majority of studies on e(-mental) health acceptance do not measure its actual use (eg, uptake rate of an offered intervention), and if so, usage behavior was assessed retrospectively. To prove the prospective validity of acceptance, future research should include actual use and uptake rates as an outcome measure and assess acceptance in advance.

Comparing the acceptance and use of eHealth in terms of significant associations with sociodemographic variables, the findings appear to be similar. For both age and education, significant associations are generated, as younger age and higher educational level are associated with higher acceptance and higher use [28,55,70,73-75]. In contrast to acceptance, eHealth use was found to be associated with income and living conditions, finding that not living alone and higher income were associated with higher usage behavior [73,74]. Gender with regard to eHealth use has resulted in inconsistent results. A recent review found 8 studies with no significant association between gender and eHealth use and 5 studies stating a significant association between gender and eHealth use in patients with chronic diseases [73]. Increasing the heterogeneity of these results, 3 of the 5 studies found that being female is associated with an increased usage behavior, whereas 2 studies revealed that males showed a higher use of eHealth services.

These heterogeneous findings are of central importance, as they are a valid reminder of the limitations of research on eHealth acceptance and eHealth use and the variety of (unknown) underlying factors. In our understanding, the following factors may influence the acceptance and use of eHealth and should be regarded in terms of interpreting research results: measurement method (eg, UTAUT or not), recruitment method (web-based or not), sociodemographic characteristics (gender, age, education, income, and living conditions), duration of illness,

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27436
```

user type (inpatient, outpatient, staff, and public), technical type of delivery (app, mobile, tablet, and laptop), guidance (unguided vs guided), target population (healthy, type of illness, and chronic disease), type of eHealth service (intervention program, education, communication, and technical devices), and the specificity of the eHealth service (general health, general mental health, and specific for current disease).

Limitations

The following limitations should be considered while interpreting the results. First, because our study was a web-based survey, patients were required to have internet access. As the probability of internet access declines with age [76], we received a younger diabetes sample than that present in the general population. Consequently, we had more patients with type 1 diabetes (174/258, 67.4%) than patients with type 2 diabetes (74/258, 28.7%), because type 2 is an acquired form of diabetes in older age. Therefore, our sample does not reflect the typical distribution of 90% of patients with type 2 diabetes [77]. The composition of the investigated sample was mostly female (approximately 192/258, 75%). Owing to this selection bias, the generalizability of our results may be reduced.

Second, these compositional specifications may not only limit generalizability, but also bias acceptance ratings, because participants recruited via the internet may be more open to and interested in e-mental health interventions. In addition, female patients had significantly higher acceptance ratings than male patients. Furthermore, in a descriptive view, younger patients had higher acceptance ratings than older patients. In addition, acceptance may be overestimated, because patients with type 1 diabetes showed a higher acceptance than patients with type 2 diabetes, but only in a descriptive view based on our adapted level of significance of 0.007 (see *Statistical Analyses*).

Third, all data were self-reported. This method is prone to the *common method* bias because of the shared method variance [78]. Counteracting this limitation, the instruments used had a sufficient internal reliability, the survey had a short length, and the patients were well-educated because these points are known to mitigate the *common method* bias.

Fourth, we measured acceptance as the *behavioral intention*, which corresponds to previous studies [28,48,49,51,54,79-81]. However, direct conclusions from the intention to use an e-mental health intervention to its actual usage cannot be drawn because of the intention-behavior gap [82]. Thus, acceptance can be assessed as a predictive function of behavioral intention, and previous studies have proven its validity [48,50,51,54].

Fifth, our study design was based on assessing mental health only through symptom-based measures, which were oriented on diagnostic criteria. Although we used established and validated measures, which is one strength of our study (PHQ-2, DT, and GAD-7), it could also be beneficial to include the mental health–related quality of life measures.

Sixth, the cross-sectional study design is not suited to identify and account for factors and predictors of acceptance and use of eHealth interventions that may interact or change over time and depend on technological progress. In addition, because of the

XSL•FO RenderX

cross-sectional design, no statements can be made regarding causality.

To overcome these limitations, future research should add the uptake rate as an outcome measure and focus on assessing acceptance and its barriers and resources in a longitudinal design with different target groups and a balanced composition of gender and age. Furthermore, future research should add health-related quality of life measures to investigate how predictive these measures can be regarding e-mental health acceptance and if those might be even more predictive than symptom-based validated measures of mental health. Moreover, qualitative or mixed methods research could help identify the unknown predictors of e-mental health acceptance and therefore add richness to the understanding of underlying barriers and resources of e-mental health acceptance in general, particularly for e-mental health interventions in patients with diabetes.

Conclusions

This study supports the viability of the UTAUT model and its predictors in assessing the acceptance of e-mental health interventions in patients with diabetes. The UTAUT model, comprising the predictors *of PE, EE*, and *SI*, reached a notable amount of explained variance in the acceptance of 75%. This UTAUT model was compared with a full model including 13 predictors including sociodemographic, medical, and mental health variables and explained a similar variance in acceptance.

To conclude, the UTAUT model (here, 9 items) turned out to be a very useful and efficient method for measuring the e-mental health acceptance of patients with diabetes. Due to the close link between acceptance and use, AFIs should be fostered to bring forward the establishment of effective e-mental health interventions in psychodiabetology. These AFIs should focus on *PE*, *EE*, and *SI* to increase the acceptance of easily accessible and location-flexible e-mental health interventions, which are even more vitally needed these days given the ongoing pandemic and in light of the high (psychological) vulnerability of patients with diabetes.

However, future research should also include the actual use behavior as an outcome measure to test the (prospective) validity of acceptance predictions for the actual use of e-mental health interventions.

Authors' Contributions

AB initiated and conceptualized the study. MD, JB, and JS performed the statistical analyses, interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript. Data acquisition and statistical analyses were performed by AS, KS, JB, and JS. AS, KS, HD, and VM actively participated in the interpretation of the data and edited the manuscript. AB, MT, and EMS made major contributions to the study's conception and design, actively participated in the interpretation of data, and revised the manuscript critically for important subject-specific content. All authors contributed to the study and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Statistical data tables of differences in acceptance and prevalence of anxiety, depressive symptoms, and distress. [DOC File , 184 KB - formative v5i7e27436 app1.doc]

References

- Cho N, Shaw J, Karuranga S, Huang Y, da Rocha Fernandes J, Ohlrogge A, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2018 Apr;138:271-281. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023</u>] [Medline: <u>29496507</u>]
- Cox DJ, Gonder-Frederick L. Major developments in behavioral diabetes research. J Consult Clin Psychol 1992;60(4):628-638. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-006x.60.4.628</u>]
- Snoek FJ, Skinner TC. Psychological counselling in problematic diabetes: does it help? Diabet Med 2002 Apr;19(4):265-273. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00678.x</u>] [Medline: <u>11942996</u>]
- 4. Ivbijaro GO. Mental health and chronic physical illnesses: the need for continued and integrated care World Mental Health Day 2010. Ment Health Fam Med 2010 Sep;7(3):127 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22477933]
- 5. Rubin RR, Peyrot M. Psychological issues and treatments for people with diabetes. J Clin Psychol 2001 Apr;57(4):457-478. [doi: 10.1002/jclp.1041] [Medline: 11255202]
- 6. Tan K, Chan G, Eric H, Maria A, Norliza M, Oun B, et al. Depression, anxiety and stress among patients with diabetes in primary care: a cross-sectional study. Malays Fam Physician 2015;10(2):9-21 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27099657]
- Kruse J, Schmitz N, Thefeld W, German National Health Interview and Examination Survey. On the association between diabetes and mental disorders in a community sample: results from the German National Health Interview and Examination Survey. Diabetes Care 2003 Jun;26(6):1841-1846. [doi: <u>10.2337/diacare.26.6.1841</u>] [Medline: <u>12766120</u>]
- 8. Goldney RD, Phillips PJ, Fisher LJ, Wilson DH. Diabetes, depression, and quality of life: a population study. Diabetes Care 2004 May;27(5):1066-1070. [doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.5.1066] [Medline: 15111522]
- 9. Semenkovich K, Brown ME, Svrakic DM, Lustman PJ. Depression in type 2 diabetes mellitus: prevalence, impact, and treatment. Drugs 2015 Apr;75(6):577-587. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40265-015-0347-4</u>] [Medline: <u>25851098</u>]

- van Steenbergen-Weijenburg KM, de Vroege L, Ploeger RR, Brals JW, Vloedbeld MG, Veneman TF, et al. Validation of the PHQ-9 as a screening instrument for depression in diabetes patients in specialized outpatient clinics. BMC Health Serv Res 2010 Aug 12;10:235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-235] [Medline: 20704720]
- 11. Reddy P, Philpot B, Ford D, Dunbar JA. Identification of depression in diabetes: the efficacy of PHQ-9 and HADS-D. Br J Gen Pract 2010 Jun;60(575):e239-e245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp10X502128] [Medline: 20529487]
- 12. Holt RI, de Groot M, Golden SH. Diabetes and depression. Curr Diab Rep 2014 Jun;14(6):491 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11892-014-0491-3] [Medline: 24743941]
- 13. Ali S, Stone MA, Peters JL, Davies MJ, Khunti K. The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2006 Nov;23(11):1165-1173. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01943.x] [Medline: 17054590]
- 14. Grigsby AB, Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, Clouse RE, Lustman PJ. Prevalence of anxiety in adults with diabetes. J Psychosom Res 2002 Dec;53(6):1053-1060. [doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(02)00417-8]
- 15. Nouwen A, Winkley K, Twisk J, Lloyd CE, Peyrot M, Ismail K, European Depression in Diabetes (EDID) Research Consortium. Type 2 diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for the onset of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia 2010 Dec;53(12):2480-2486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00125-010-1874-x] [Medline: 20711716]
- Smith KJ, Deschênes SS, Schmitz N. Investigating the longitudinal association between diabetes and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2018 Jun;35(6):677-693 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dme.13606] [Medline: 29460506]
- 17. Debono M, Cachia E. The impact of diabetes on psychological well being and quality of life. The role of patient education. Psychol Health Med 2007 Oct;12(5):545-555. [doi: 10.1080/13548500701235740] [Medline: 17828675]
- Poduval S, Marston L, Hamilton F, Stevenson F, Murray E. Feasibility, acceptability, and impact of a web-based structured education program for type 2 diabetes: real-world study. JMIR Diabetes 2020 Jan 6;5(1):e15744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15744] [Medline: 31904580]
- 19. Murray E, Sweeting M, Dack C, Pal K, Modrow K, Hudda M, et al. Web-based self-management support for people with type 2 diabetes (HeLP-Diabetes): randomised controlled trial in English primary care. BMJ Open 2017 Sep 27;7(9):e016009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016009] [Medline: 28954789]
- 20. Li J, Parrott S, Sweeting M, Farmer A, Ross J, Dack C, et al. Presence-teleop virtcost-effectiveness of facilitated access to a self-management website, compared to usual care, for patients with type 2 diabetes (help-diabetes): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 8;20(6):e201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9256] [Medline: 29884608]
- 21. Zhou Y, Liao L, Sun M, He G. Self-care practices of Chinese individuals with diabetes. Exp Ther Med 2013 Apr;5(4):1137-1142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3892/etm.2013.945] [Medline: 23599736]
- 22. Beck J, Greenwood DA, Blanton L, Bollinger ST, Butcher MK, Condon JE, 2017 Standards Revision Task Force. 2017 national standards for diabetes self-management education and support. Diabetes Educ 2018 Feb;44(1):35-50. [doi: 10.1177/0145721718754797] [Medline: 29346744]
- Barak A, Hen L, Boniel-Nissim M, Shapira N. A comprehensive review and a meta-analysis of the effectiveness of internet-based psychotherapeutic interventions. J Technol Hum Serc 2008 Jul 3;26(2-4):109-160. [doi: 10.1080/15228830802094429]
- 24. Andrews G, Cuijpers P, Craske MG, McEvoy P, Titov N. Computer therapy for the anxiety and depressive disorders is effective, acceptable and practical health care: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2010 Oct 13;5(10):e13196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013196] [Medline: 20967242]
- 25. Andersson G. Internet-delivered psychological treatments. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2016;12:157-179. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093006] [Medline: 26652054]
- 26. Andersson G, Cuijpers P, Carlbring P, Riper H, Hedman E. Guided Internet-based vs. face-to-face cognitive behavior therapy for psychiatric and somatic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World Psychiatry 2014 Oct;13(3):288-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20151] [Medline: 25273302]
- 27. Hedman E, Andersson E, Ljótsson B, Andersson G, Rück C, Lindefors N. Cost-effectiveness of Internet-based cognitive behavior therapy vs cognitive behavioral group therapy for social anxiety disorder: results from a randomized controlled trial. Behav Res Ther 2011 Nov;49(11):729-736. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2011.07.009] [Medline: 21851929]
- Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Drivers and barriers to acceptance of web-based aftercare of patients in inpatient routine care: a cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 23;18(12):e337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6003] [Medline: 28011445]
- 29. Eichenberg C, Ott R. Klinisch-psychologische Intervention im internet. Psychotherapeut 2011 Jun 10;57(1):58-69. [doi: 10.1007/s00278-011-0832-5]
- 30. Pal K, Eastwood SV, Michie S, Farmer AJ, Barnard ML, Peacock R, et al. Computer-based diabetes self-management interventions for adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Mar 28(3):CD008776 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008776.pub2] [Medline: 23543567]
- 31. Tang PC, Overhage JM, Chan AS, Brown NL, Aghighi B, Entwistle MP, et al. Online disease management of diabetes: engaging and motivating patients online with enhanced resources-diabetes (EMPOWER-D), a randomized controlled trial.

J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013 May 1;20(3):526-534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001263] [Medline: 23171659]

- Maisto M, Diana B, Di Tella S, Matamala-Gomez M, Montana JI, Rossetto F, et al. Digital interventions for psychological comorbidities in chronic diseases-a systematic review. J Pers Med 2021 Jan 6;11(1):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm11010030] [Medline: 33418971]
- 33. Schlicker S, Weisel KK, Buntrock C, Berking M, Nobis S, Lehr D, et al. Do nonsuicidal severely depressed individuals with diabetes profit from internet-based guided self-help? Secondary analyses of a pragmatic randomized trial. J Diabetes Res 2019;2019:2634094 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2019/2634094] [Medline: 31218230]
- 34. Ebert DD, Nobis S, Lehr D, Baumeister H, Riper H, Auerbach RP, et al. The 6-month effectiveness of Internet-based guided self-help for depression in adults with Type 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 2017 Jan;34(1):99-107. [doi: 10.1111/dme.13173] [Medline: 27334444]
- 35. Wayne N, Perez DF, Kaplan DM, Ritvo P. Health coaching reduces hba1c in type 2 diabetic patients from a lower-socioeconomic status community: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 5;17(10):e224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4871] [Medline: 26441467]
- 36. Naik AD, Hundt NE, Vaughan EM, Petersen NJ, Zeno D, Kunik ME, et al. Effect of telephone-delivered collaborative goal setting and behavioral activation vs enhanced usual care for depression among adults with uncontrolled diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Aug 2;2(8):e198634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8634] [Medline: 31390035]
- 37. Clarke J, Sanatkar S, Baldwin PA, Fletcher S, Gunn J, Wilhelm K, et al. A web-based cognitive behavior therapy intervention to improve social and occupational functioning in adults with type 2 diabetes (the springboard trial): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 21;21(5):e12246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12246] [Medline: 31115345]
- van Bastelaar KM, Pouwer F, Cuijpers P, Riper H, Snoek FJ. Web-based depression treatment for type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients: a randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes Care 2011 Feb;34(2):320-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-1248] [Medline: 21216855]
- Bond GE, Burr RL, Wolf FM, Feldt K. The effects of a web-based intervention on psychosocial well-being among adults aged 60 and older with diabetes: a randomized trial. Diabetes Educ 2010;36(3):446-456. [doi: <u>10.1177/0145721710366758</u>] [Medline: <u>20375351</u>]
- 40. Bäuerle A, Teufel M, Musche V, Weismüller B, Kohler H, Hetkamp M, et al. Increased generalized anxiety, depression and distress during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study in Germany. J Public Health (Oxf) 2020 Nov 23;42(4):672-678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdaa106] [Medline: 32657323]
- 41. Forte G, Favieri F, Tambelli R, Casagrande M. The enemy which sealed the world: effects of covid-19 diffusion on the psychological state of the Italian population. J Clin Med 2020 Jun 10;9(6):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm9061802] [Medline: 32531884]
- 42. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (covid-19) epidemic among the general population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 6;17(5):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729] [Medline: 32155789]
- Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. Psychiatry Res 2020 Jun;288:112954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112954] [Medline: 32325383]
- 44. Rajkumar RP. COVID-19 and mental health: a review of the existing literature. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Aug;52:102066 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102066] [Medline: 32302935]
- 45. Teufel M, Schweda A, Dörrie N, Musche V, Hetkamp M, Weismüller B, et al. Not all world leaders use Twitter in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: impact of the way of Angela Merkel on psychological distress, behaviour and risk perception. J Public Health (Oxf) 2020 Aug 18;42(3):644-646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdaa060] [Medline: 32393966]
- 46. Fleer J, Tovote KA, Keers JC, Links TP, Sanderman R, Coyne JC, et al. Screening for depression and diabetes-related distress in a diabetes outpatient clinic. Diabet Med 2013 Jan;30(1):88-94. [doi: <u>10.1111/dme.12001</u>] [Medline: <u>22924587</u>]
- 47. IJzerman RV, van der Vaart R, Evers AW. Internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy among psychologists in a medical setting: a survey on implementation. J Med Internet Res 2019 Aug 9;21(8):e13432 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13432] [Medline: 31400101]
- 48. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A web-based acceptance-facilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Aug 21;20(8):e244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925] [Medline: 30131313]
- Liu L, Miguel Cruz A, Rios Rincon A, Buttar V, Ranson Q, Goertzen D. What factors determine therapists' acceptance of new technologies for rehabilitation – a study using the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT). Disabil Rehabil 2015;37(5):447-455. [doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.923529] [Medline: 24901351]
- 50. Hoque R, Sorwar G. Understanding factors influencing the adoption of mHealth by the elderly: an extension of the UTAUT model. Int J Med Inform 2017 May;101:75-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.002] [Medline: 28347450]
- 51. Alam M. Using the utaut model to determine factors affecting acceptance and use of mobile health (mhealth) services in bangladesh. Journal of studies in social sciences. Journal of Stud Soc Sci 2018;17(2):137-172.

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27436

- 52. Baumeister H, Nowoczin L, Lin J, Seifferth H, Seufert J, Laubner K, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on diabetes patients' acceptance of Internet-based interventions for depression: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014 Jul;105(1):30-39. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.04.031] [Medline: 24862240]
- 53. Rho MJ, Kim HS, Chung K, Choi IY. Factors influencing the acceptance of telemedicine for diabetes management. Cluster Comput 2014 Mar 12;18(1):321-331. [doi: 10.1007/s10586-014-0356-1]
- 54. Venkatesh, Morris, Davis, Davis. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Q 2003;27(3):425. [doi: <u>10.2307/30036540</u>]
- 55. Crisp DA, Griffiths KM. Participating in online mental health interventions: who is most likely to sign up and why? Depress Res Treat 2014;2014:790457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/790457] [Medline: 24804089]
- 56. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of web surveys: the checklist for reporting results of internet e-surveys (cherries). J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 29;6(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34] [Medline: 15471760]
- 57. Löwe B, Kroenke K, Gräfe K. Detecting and monitoring depression with a two-item questionnaire (PHQ-2). J Psychosom Res 2005 Feb;58(2):163-171. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.09.006] [Medline: 15820844]
- 58. Löwe B, Decker O, Müller S, Brähler E, Schellberg D, Herzog W, et al. Validation and standardization of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Screener (GAD-7) in the general population. Med Care 2008 Mar;46(3):266-274. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e318160d093] [Medline: 18388841]
- 59. Mehnert A, Müller D, Lehmann C, Koch U. Die deutsche Version des NCCN Distress-Thermometers. Zeitschrift für Psychiatrie, Psychologie und Psychotherapie 2006 Jan;54(3):213-223. [doi: <u>10.1024/1661-4747.54.3.213</u>]
- 60. Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2015 May 1;176:9-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.056] [Medline: 25682378]
- 61. Baumeister H, Seifferth H, Lin J, Nowoczin L, Lüking M, Ebert D. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on patients' acceptance of internet-based pain interventions: a randomized controlled trial. Clin J Pain 2015 Jun;31(6):528-535. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000118] [Medline: 24866854]
- 62. Hinz A, Mitchell AJ, Dégi CL, Mehnert-Theuerkauf A. Normative values for the distress thermometer (DT) and the emotion thermometers (ET), derived from a German general population sample. Qual Life Res 2019 Jan;28(1):277-282. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-018-2014-1] [Medline: 30284181]
- 63. Hayes A. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: a Regression-based Approach. Second Edition. New York, London: The Guilford Press; 2018.
- 64. R: a Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u> [accessed 2021-01-02]
- 65. The Assumption(s) of Normality. URL: <u>http://www2.psychology.uiowa.edu/faculty/mordkoff/GradStats/part%201/I.</u> 07%20normal.pdf [accessed 2021-01-02]
- 66. Wilcox R. Introduction to Robust Estimation and Hypothesis Testing. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2012.
- 67. Fisher L, Skaff MM, Mullan JT, Arean P, Glasgow R, Masharani U. A longitudinal study of affective and anxiety disorders, depressive affect and diabetes distress in adults with Type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 2008 Sep;25(9):1096-1101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02533.x] [Medline: 19183314]
- Golden SH, Lazo M, Carnethon M, Bertoni AG, Schreiner PJ, Diez Roux AV, et al. Examining a bidirectional association between depressive symptoms and diabetes. J Am Med Assoc 2008 Jun 18;299(23):2751-2759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.299.23.2751] [Medline: 18560002]
- 69. Gun SY, Titov N, Andrews G. Acceptability of Internet treatment of anxiety and depression. Australas Psychiatry 2011 Jun;19(3):259-264. [doi: 10.3109/10398562.2011.562295] [Medline: 21682626]
- 70. Roelofsen Y, Hendriks SH, Sieverink F, Landman GW, Groenier KH, Bilo HJ, et al. Differences between patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus interested and uninterested in the use of a patient platform (e-vitadm-2/zodiac-41). J Diabetes Sci Technol 2014 Mar;8(2):230-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296814524496] [Medline: 24876572]
- Cimperman M, Makovec Brenčič M, Trkman P. Analyzing older users' home telehealth services acceptance behavior-applying an Extended UTAUT model. Int J Med Inform 2016 Jun;90:22-31. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>27103194</u>]
- 72. Taiwo A, Downe A. The theory of user acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): A meta-analytic review of empirical findings. J Theor Appl Inf Technol 2013;49(1):- [FREE Full text]
- Reiners F, Sturm J, Bouw LJ, Wouters EJ. Sociodemographic factors influencing the use of ehealth in people with chronic diseases. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Feb 21;16(4):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16040645] [Medline: 30795623]
- 74. Drewes C, Kirkovits T, Schiltz D, Schinkoethe T, Haidinger R, Goldmann-Posch U, et al. Ehealth acceptance and new media preferences for therapy assistance among breast cancer patients. JMIR Cancer 2016 Sep 14;2(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.5711] [Medline: 28410189]
- 75. Duplaga M. The acceptance of e-health solutions among patients with chronic respiratory conditions. Telemed J E Health 2013 Sep;19(9):683-691 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2012.0306] [Medline: 23734700]

- 76. Morris A, Goodman J, Brading H. Internet use and non-use: views of older users. Univ Access Inf Soc 2006 Nov 18;6(1):43-57. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-006-0057-5]
- 77. Deutscher Gesundheitsbericht Diabetes 2020: Die Bestandsaufnahme 2019. Deutsche Diabetes Gesellschaft (DGD). URL: https://www.deutsche-diabetesgesellschaft.de/fileadmin/user_upload/06_Gesundheitspolitik/03_Veroeffentlichungen/ 05_Gesundheitsbericht/2020_Gesundheitsbericht_2020.pdf [accessed 2021-02-01]
- 78. Conway JM, Lance CE. What reviewers should expect from authors regarding common method bias in organizational research. J Bus Psychol 2010 May 22;25(3):325-334. [doi: 10.1007/s10869-010-9181-6]
- 79. Hoogenbosch B, Postma J, de Man-van Ginkel JM, Tiemessen NA, van Delden JJ, van Os-Medendorp H. Use and the Users of a Patient Portal: Cross-Sectional Study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Sep 17;20(9):e262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9418] [Medline: 30224334]
- Senft N, Abrams J, Katz A, Barnes C, Charbonneau DH, Beebe-Dimmer JL, et al. Ehealth activity among african american and white cancer survivors: a new application of theory. Health Commun 2020 Mar;35(3):350-355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2018.1563031] [Medline: 32013612]
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Menzel M, Hennemann S, Salewski C. Acceptance of mobile health apps for disease management among people with multiple sclerosis: web-based survey study. JMIR Form Res 2018 Dec 12;2(2):e11977 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11977] [Medline: 30684408]
- 82. Bhattacherjee A, Sanford C. The intention–behaviour gap in technology usage: the moderating role of attitude strength. Behav Info Technol 2009 Jul;28(4):389-401. [doi: 10.1080/01449290802121230]

Abbreviations

AFI: acceptance-facilitating intervention
ANOVA: analysis of variance
DT: Distress Thermometer
EE: effort expectancy
FC: facilitating conditions
GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7
PE: performance expectancy
PHQ-2: Patient Health Questionnaire-2
SI: social influence
UTAUT: Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 25.01.21; peer-reviewed by S Liu, N Subedi, S Skovlund; comments to author 30.03.21; revised version received 21.05.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 30.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Damerau M, Teufel M, Musche V, Dinse H, Schweda A, Beckord J, Steinbach J, Schmidt K, Skoda EM, Bäuerle A Determining Acceptance of e-Mental Health Interventions in Digital Psychodiabetology Using a Quantitative Web-Based Survey: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27436 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27436</u> doi:10.2196/27436 PMID:<u>34328429</u>

©Mirjam Damerau, Martin Teufel, Venja Musche, Hannah Dinse, Adam Schweda, Jil Beckord, Jasmin Steinbach, Kira Schmidt, Eva-Maria Skoda, Alexander Bäuerle. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 30.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Prioritization of Features for Mobile Apps for Families in a Federal Nutrition Program for Low-Income Women, Infants, and Children: User-Centered Design Approach

Summer J Weber¹, PhD, RD; Elyse Shearer², PhD, RD; Shelagh A Mulvaney³, PhD; Douglas Schmidt⁴, PhD; Chris Thompson⁵, BSc; Jessica Jones⁶, MSc; Haseeb Ahmad¹; Martina Coe²; Pamela C Hull¹, PhD

¹Markey Cancer Center, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

²College of Agriculture, Tennessee State University, Nashville, TN, United States

³School of Nursing, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States

⁴School of Engineering, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States

⁵233 Analytics, Nashville, TN, United States

⁶Meharry-Vanderbilt Alliance, Meharry Medical College, Nashville, TN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Pamela C Hull, PhD Markey Cancer Center University of Kentucky 2365 Harrodsburg Rd Suite A230 Lexington, KY, 40504-3381 United States Phone: 1 859 323 9965 Email: <u>Pam.Hull@uky.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: The Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) is a federal nutrition program that provides nutritious food, education, and health care referrals to low-income women, infants, and children up to the age of 5 years. Although WIC is associated with positive health outcomes for each participant category, modernization and efficiency are needed at the clinic and shopping levels to increase program satisfaction and participation rates. New technologies, such as electronic benefits transfer (EBT), online nutrition education, and mobile apps, can provide opportunities to improve the WIC experience for participants.

Objective: This formative study applies user-centered design principles to inform the layout and prioritization of features in mobile apps for low-income families participating in the WIC program.

Methods: To identify and prioritize desirable app features, caregivers (N=22) of the children enrolled in WIC participated in individual semistructured interviews with a card sorting activity. Interviews were transcribed verbatim and analyzed using constant comparative analysis for themes. App features were ranked and placed into natural groupings by each participant. The sum and average of the rankings were calculated to understand which features were prioritized by the users. Natural groupings of features were labeled according to participant descriptions.

Results: Natural groupings focused on the following categories: clinics/appointments, shopping/stores, education/assessments, location, and recipes/food. Themes from the interviews triangulated the results from the ranking activity. The priority app features were balance checking, an item scanner, and appointment scheduling. Other app features discussed and ranked included appointment reminders, nutrition training and quizzes, shopping lists, clinic and store locators, recipe gallery, produce calculator, and dietary preferences/allergies.

Conclusions: This study demonstrates how a user-centered design process can aid the development of an app for low-income families participating in WIC to inform the effective design of the app features and user interface.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e30450) doi:10.2196/30450



KEYWORDS

WIC; mobile technology; maternal-child health; childhood obesity; nutrition; government programs; mobile app; user-centered design; low income; women; infant; child; formative; development

Introduction

The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (commonly known as WIC) is one of the most successful [1] and cost-effective [2,3] nutrition programs aimed at improving maternal, infant, and child health in the United States. WIC is a federal program that provides nutritious food (eg, fresh and frozen produce, whole grains, milk, eggs), nutrition education, and health care referrals to low-income women during pregnancy and the postpartum period and to their children from birth up until their fifth birthday. WIC's services have been monitored and researched for decades and its contribution has been attributed to a myriad of positive health outcomes for its participants.

For example, better birth outcomes with WIC are well documented [4] and include beneficial interaction effects on birth weight [5-7] and significantly reduced probability of highly premature births [5]. Nutrition-related outcomes include—but are not limited to—positive changes in dietary intake [8], healthy food purchases [9], and reductions in obesity [10]. WIC has also been associated with improvements in household food security [10], childhood immunizations [11,12] and health care utilization [11].

Despite all the positive effects of WIC, barriers to the usage of the program and participation exist at the interpersonal (eg, family support), institutional (eg, prohibitive work schedules), clinical (eg, long wait times), shopping (eg, WIC items that are hard to find, not in stock, and inconsistent within and between vendors), and administrative/systems levels (eg, restrictive benefits and stigma surrounding government assistance) [13-17]. Addressing the issue of early exits from the WIC program has been identified as one of the key areas in a research needs assessment put forth by the National WIC Association (NWA) [18], and a national program retention campaign was rolled out in 2018 [19].

Technologies to improve and streamline the WIC experience for participants have been offered as a solution at the clinic and shopping level. These technologies have become particularly essential after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. In many states, participants can complete web- or app-based nutrition education in their own time, rather than attending in-person classes at the clinic to fulfill some of their nutrition education requirements [20-22].

At the shopping level, WIC state agencies were mandated to switch from a paper voucher system to an electronic benefits transfer (EBT) system for WIC by 2020, with some waivers of extension [23] in which participants make WIC purchases using an EBT card that resembles a debit card. Implementation of WIC EBT (or electronic WIC [eWIC]), as many state agencies refer to it) is a considerably large administrative undertaking that stands to benefit participants considerably owing to increased ease of use at checkout, elimination of the risk of theft or loss of paper vouchers, increased redemption of benefits, and

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30450
```

XSI-FC

decreased stigma associated with purchasing food using a discreet benefit card rather than cumbersome paper vouchers that can cause difficulties for customers and cashiers [14,24-26].

Although beneficial, modernization of the redemption process by eWIC comes with certain challenges for the participants in lieu of paper voucher usage. In the recent past, participants could utilize their paper vouchers (also called food instruments) to view and keep track of itemized WIC benefits, quantities, and sizes according to their food prescription. Without a source of guidance, shoppers may feel unclear about their eWIC benefit balance, especially if they are new to the program and unfamiliar with WIC foods and prescription changes that occur as children age or when women transition from pregnancy to the postpartum period. WIC families also face the same barriers when choosing the correct items while shopping.

A potential solution to the challenges outlined above are mobile apps that provide WIC families with balance checking features and barcode scanners to verify eligible WIC items [27-29]. The study described in this paper builds off a project that informed the development of a prototype mobile app called Children Eating Well (CHEW) designed to support WIC families prior to eWIC transition [28]. The objective of the current study was to conduct interviews with caregivers of WIC- enrolled children (referred to as "WIC caregivers") to inform the design and prioritization of the features for an enhanced version of the CHEW mobile app and other mobile apps for low-income families participating in the WIC program.

Although apps for WIC participants exist in many states [27], research studies on WIC apps are relatively sparse. A recent study found that usage of the most widely available commercial WIC app (WICShopper) was associated with higher levels of WIC benefit redemptions among WIC households in West Virginia [29]. Literature searches revealed only one previously published study that employed user-centered design principles to inform the development of WIC apps; that study focused on nutrition education and health behavior [30]. The objective of the current study was to conduct formative research applying user-centered design principles to inform the layout and prioritization of the features in mobile apps for low-income families participating in the WIC program that could target outcomes such as WIC family benefit redemption, diet quality, and obesity risk factors among preschool-aged children [31-33].

Methods

Recruitment

Caregivers/parents of children aged 2-4 years enrolled in WIC were recruited via fliers and posters at WIC clinics and health departments throughout Nashville, Tennessee, to participate in a 30-to-60–minute interview about mobile phone apps for WIC families. Participants were screened for eligibility via telephone. Eligible participants were 18 years or older, had a child aged

2-4 years enrolled in WIC, were the primary WIC shoppers in their households, and used a smartphone.

The interviews took place during July-August 2018, prior to the transition of the Tennessee WIC program to eWIC. Interviewees were informed at the beginning of the interview that WIC would be changing to eWIC over the course of the coming year. Therefore, the questions were framed around what features they would like to have in an app to use with eWIC.

Study Procedures

A semistructured interview protocol was developed based on a multilevel model of factors influencing the perceived value of WIC [14], as well as formative research [28] and a review of existing WIC apps and features [27]. Using the semistructured

interview protocol, participants were asked to speak about their experiences using WIC services, shopping for WIC foods, and using mobile phone technology. Participants were also asked to form mental models about using recipes, shopping lists, using WIC benefits, and checking their WIC balance.

Potential in-app features were printed on 14 activity cards with icons to represent their function, as Figure 1 shows. Using a sorting activity, participants were first asked to sort the features by importance. They were then asked to place the cards into natural groupings of similar features. To record the prioritization of features and the natural groupings of features, photographs were taken during the card- sorting activity and labeled immediately following each interview.

Figure 1. App feature activity cards given to WIC caregivers for sorting by level of importance and placing into natural groupings. WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children.





Quantitative Analysis

For the feature prioritization task, a numerical ranking from 1 to 14 (1 being most important and 14 being least important) was applied to each feature description for each participant. To comprehensively analyze the rankings, the sum and mean of each ranking were calculated. For the natural groupings task, the card groups in each photograph were circled and labeled according to the participants' own descriptions, if any. A table of the card groupings and labels was created to track how participants would like to display and organize these features within an app.

Qualitative Analysis

Interviews were transcribed verbatim, read several times to obtain a clearer understanding, coded, and then analyzed by constant comparative analysis [34] to identify themes, using the ATLAS.ti qualitative data analysis software (version 8.0, ATLAS.ti Scientific Software Development GmBH). A list of codes and code groups was updated and maintained throughout the analysis. Codes and code groups were queried via like groupings and then compared within and between transcripts.

The identification of themes was informed by previous research on barriers and facilitators to using WIC in general (eg, difficulties while shopping, clinic location) [13-17]. Analysis also focused on themes that were based on potential app features and tools for families who use WIC (eg, scanner, balance checking, recipes). Participants were recruited until the data reached saturation and no new information resulted from the interviews. The main themes were summarized, and sample quotes were selected that illustrated the themes.

Interrater reliability was determined according to the procedures of Gough and Conner [35]. Three additional coders completed code allocations to all 429 quotations, which were then checked to ensure a high level of correspondence (96.5%, 94.1%, and 92.3%, respectively). Lincoln and Guba's criteria for

trustworthiness of qualitative research [36] were applied to ensure credibility of the findings, which included the following:

- prolonged engagement (iterative interviews and correspondence with participants)
- persistent observation (staff and client interactions)
- peer debriefing (meetings and correspondence with the state agency and WIC site coordinators)
- triangulation of data (quantitative card sorting activity alongside qualitative interviews)
- negative case analysis (discussion of elements that contradicted patterns from the data)
- referential adequacy (archiving a portion of the data to be analyzed later to test the validity of the preliminary findings)
- member checks (verbal confirmations of accurate understanding conducted throughout the interviews and during follow-up interviews as part of the iterative process).

Results

Participant Characteristics

Table 1 shows the participant characteristics. All the interview participants were female except for 2 (WIC families' primary shoppers are predominantly female). Of the 22 participants, 11 identified their race as Black or African American, 8 White, 1 Asian Indian, and 2 selected "other race." Hispanic ethnicity was selected by 2 participants, and 6 participants reported that they were born in another country, which included Iraq (2), the Democratic Republic of Congo (2), Egypt (1), and India (1).

Just over half (12/22, 55%) of the participants were not married and had 1 or 2 children under the age of 18 years (13/22, 59%). Nearly one-third (7/22, 32%) of the participants also had an infant child aged below 2 years in addition to having 1 or more 2-to-4-year-old children. Most participants had high school degree or some college education (15/22, 68%).



Weber et al

Table 1. Characteristics of the Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children participants in Nashville, Tennessee, United States, determined via interviews (N=22).

Variable	Values, n (%)	
Gender		
Female	20 (91)	
Male	2 (9)	
Race		
Black or African American	11 (50)	
White	8 (36)	
Asian Indian	1 (5)	
Other	2 (9)	
Hispanic ethnicity		
Yes	2 (9)	
No	20 (91)	
Born in the United States		
Yes	2 (9)	
No ^a	20 (91)	
Marital status		
Married	10 (45)	
Single-never married	5 (23)	
Single-never married-lives with partner	4 (18)	
Single-divorced	1 (5)	
Refused to state	2 (9)	
Number of children under 18		
1	3 (14)	
2	10 (45)	
3	6 (27)	
4	1 (5)	
5	1 (5)	
9	1 (5)	
Employment		
Full-time	8 (36)	
Part-time	4 (18)	
Not employed	10 (45)	
Type(s) of WIC ^b packages received		
Pregnant woman	1 (5)	
Breastfeeding woman	2 (9)	
Partially breastfeeding woman	1 (5)	
Postpartum (not breastfeeding) woman	2 (9)	
Infant (0-23 months old)	7 (32)	
Child (2-4 years old) ^c	26 (100)	
SNAP ^d recipient		
Yes	9 (41)	

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30450

XSL•FO RenderX

Var	iable	Values, n (%)
	No	13 (59)
Type of smartphone		
	Android	13 (59)
	iPhone	9 (41)
How often do you have your smartphone with you?		
	Almost all the time	19 (86)
	Often	2 (9)
	Some of the time	1 (5)

^a Participants not born in the United States were from Iraq (21 and 22 years in US), Egypt (9 years in US), the Democratic Republic of Congo (4 and 8 years in US), and India (23 years).

^bWIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^c Some participant households (4/22) had 2 children aged between 2 and 4 years.

^dSupplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

Card Sorting Activity

Among the 22 participants, 4 did not complete the card sorting activity, 1 could not participate owing to literacy issues, and the last 3 participants reviewed these features in an app prototype with these features embedded to review instead of the card sorting activity. Figure 2 depicts the card sorting activity performed by 1 participant. Part way through the study (after 7 participant interviews), 1 app feature card "Estimated EBT or cash total of shopping list" was removed from the card-sorting activity owing to participant confusion.

Most participants (9/22) placed the app features into 3 or 4 natural groupings focused on "clinic/ appointments" (15/22), "shopping/store" (15/22), followed by "education/assessments" (6/22), "location" (4/22), and "recipes/food" (3/22). Some participants (4/22) did not label some of their groupings,

whereas others (3/22) did not place the features into any natural groupings.

Prioritization of the app features resulting from the card sorting activity is summarized in Table 2. Card rankings were scored from 1 (highest priority) to 13 (lowest priority), then summarized as sums and means. For the sum and average scores, lower scores represent higher priority, and higher scores represent lower priority. The top 5 features ranked as the highest priority ones were closely tied to their WIC benefits, namely current balance (mean 2.9), item scanner to validate WIC (mean 4.1), make appointment with WIC clinic (mean 4.8), appointment reminders (mean 6.3), and required nutrition training (mean 7.2). The next group of moderately ranked features included shopping list (mean 8.1), estimated WIC total of shopping list (mean 8.9), and take Healthy Child Quiz (mean 9.1).



Figure 2. Card sorting activity in progress: sample prioritization (top) and natural groupings (bottom) of potential features in a smartphone app for WIC families by WIC caregivers. WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children.







Weber et al

Rank ^a	App features listed on cards	Sum	Mean
1	Current balance	52	2.9
2	Item scanner to validate WIC ^b	74	4.1
3	Make appointment with WIC Clinic	86	4.8
4	Appointment Reminders	113	6.3
5	Nutrition training (WIC Required)	130	7.2
6	Shopping list	141	7.8
7	Location of WIC shopping store	144	8.0
8	See recipe gallery	146	8.1
9	Estimated WIC total of shopping list	161	8.9
10	Take healthy child quiz	163	9.1

Table 2. Prioritization of potential features in a smartphone app for Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children families by caregivers (N=18).

^a Card rankings were scored from 1 (highest priority) to 13 (lowest priority). For the sum and mean scores, lower scores represent higher priority, and higher scores represent lower priority.

^bWIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

In-Depth Interview Results

Themes from the qualitative interview portion of the study mainly aligned with and confirmed the results from the card sorting activity. These themes provided deeper insights into the participants' reasoning, daily activities, and experiences with respect to the WIC program, which guided their opinions about the need for an app and app features designed for their use.

Balance Checker

Of the participants who expounded about this feature in the interviews to check their WIC balance (18/22), all described the feature positively saying that it was important, useful, and necessary for keeping track of their benefits.

My current WIC balance would be very important and something I would use all the time. [Breastfeeding WIC Participant, mother of 3: 1 child and 1 infant enrolled in WIC]

Most participants were puzzled about how they would keep track of their benefits without an app. However, some (6/22) anticipated how they might try to keep track, citing that they would be able to "call a number" or view it on their receipts or "on a website." All these participants agreed that these alternatives would be less preferable to a detailed app feature displaying their balance with pictures. Many participants (7/22) described their preferred on-screen appearance of the balance feature, what details should be displayed about the foods, and which items they would want to see at the top of their balance.

Fewer participants expressed as much interest in a subfeature within the balance tracker that would help them calculate their fruit and vegetable balance. Although some described such a feature as potentially helpful (9/22), others (4/22) said the feature might be a "waste of time" or "not very useful" because they either calculated their fruit and vegetable costs themselves, or because it did not really seem important to keep close tabs on the small amount they were allowed (\$8-\$12 per month) by WIC. Participants (2/10) did describe the difficulty or hassle of

RenderX

trying to tabulate the correct amounts of certain WIC items other than fruits and vegetables (eg, cereal) for going over (or in some cases under) the amount allowed by WIC. Sometimes, participants described choosing cereal that comes in the largest boxes to avoid having to calculate ounces or lose the maximum benefit.

It's literally like playing, playing cards in the aisle with the kids and other people that are trying to get their cereal too. That's how you end up in the routine of getting the same over and over again. Because you're like ok, I know I can get the big box of (Brand Name A) and the smaller box of (Brand Name B) and just... Let's just go. So, they don't get to try the other things. I've literally always wanted to try (Brand Name C) and it's covered (by WIC) and I never incorporate it because the math will be off. I've heard it's like a really good cereal and really good for fiber and things of that nature. [Mother of 2: 1 child enrolled in WIC]

Two participants mentioned the desirability of a feature, perhaps within the balance tracker that could show them which cereals and cereal combinations they could choose based on the remaining ounces of cereal in their WIC balance.

Scanner to Verify WIC Items

Most participants (17/22) felt a barcode scanner would be useful to verify whether an item is WIC-eligible and available on their WIC balance, especially "in the beginning" of their WIC enrollment. Some (4/22) were already familiar with using barcode scanners in shopping-related apps. Shopping for WIC was described as generally confusing, frustrating, and difficult by most participants (21/22) because WIC items must meet specific size, brand, and nutritional criteria.

Stores lacking labeling or clear labeling of WIC products posed a barrier even for experienced participants (8/22), who stated that stores would change their inventories and WIC-eligible brands. Participants (18/22) described problems at store

checkouts including bringing up the wrong item, items not present in the stores' systems, contentious cashiers, length of checkout time, and stigma from other customers. Conflicting information regarding the eligibility of WIC items was a common theme, where participants (10/22) mentioned that their WIC food brochure did not reflect what the store deems eligible or other instances where one store allows an item, whereas another does not.

The study participants described various strategies to make WIC shopping easier, including going to the store at specific non-busy times (2/22), shopping without children (2/22), separating WIC items from the rest of the groceries for a faster check-out (6/22), shopping with someone who has experience with WIC (2/22), asking store employees for help (3/22), and taking photographs of WIC-eligible items at the store to facilitate the next shopping trip (1/22).

The item scanner to validate WIC, that's pretty important because stores are always introducing new things and like I said, even when you have the ounces or you think you know what you're supposed to get on your voucher, it would always be good just to scan it, double-check it before you get up to the counter and then they tell you no, that's not WIC eligible. [Breastfeeding WIC Participant, mother of 3: 1 child and 1 infant enrolled in WIC]

Oh, I like that right there- the item scanner to validate WIC- to make sure it is a WIC item. So, like if somebody said no this is not (eligible) then I'm like, "uhuh, watch this then. I'm gonna scan it. [Mother of 2: 2 children enrolled in WIC]

Clinic-Related Features

Participants (11/22) were enthusiastic about a feature that would allow them to view, make, or change a WIC appointment online via an app. Although participants clearly valued the health benefits and information their families receive through WIC, most (11/22) considered the WIC clinic experience as an inefficient but a necessary burden. Long wait times and difficulties in contacting the WIC clinic (5/22) to enroll and make or reschedule an appointment were recurring themes among the interviewees.

Despite these clinic barriers, one area in which WIC has improved its efficiency over the years is the option for patients to complete the required nutrition education classes online. Most participants said they preferred the online option out of convenience (10/22), although some (2/22) did prefer in-person classes. Participants said they would use an in-app link to meet this requirement, although this feature was not rated high priority unless it allowed them to skip the sign-in process.

Shopping List Feature

Of those participants who expounded beyond the card sorting activity (12/22), most (7/12) commented positively about a shopping list feature that would allow them to add WIC and non-WIC items to a shopping list that was linked to their WIC benefits via the app , though some (5/12) remained indifferent to this feature . Most participants (12/22) mentioned that they already use apps or similar features in their smartphones to

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30450

make shopping lists, whereas others said they prefer to use a pen and paper only for making lists (8/22).

Location Features

Participants commented positively (10/22) about a feature that would allow them to find a WIC store, whereas others said the feature was not important, citing that they "already know" where the WIC stores are (one participant even expressed concerns about allowing an app to access her location to enable these features). Participants (7/22) mentioned visiting the same store or stores often. Although proximity was deemed important (8/22), factors other than location were often considered in choosing a WIC store.

Many participants (11/22) said the store environment and customer service were more important than the location because certain stores are often crowded, making it hectic and frustrating to redeem WIC benefits. Participants talked about preferring to go "out of the way" to do their WIC shopping in a less stressful environment (9/22), where they can find better deals (6/22), and where they know that the items will be in stock (1/22).

I think this (WIC store locator) will help because if someone first time will use it he don't know where he will go. [Mother of 5: 1 child and 2 infants (twins) enrolled in WIC]

Participants were also asked to provide their opinions about the inclusion of a WIC clinic locator. Although participants mentioned hypothetical situations in which a WIC clinic locator could be useful (eg, first-time patients, when someone moves), no participant regarded a clinic locator as an important feature. Participants said they "know where their WIC clinic is and where they are going."

However, WIC clinic proximity was regarded as a facilitator to participants' enrollment and ability to attend appointments. Participants (5/22) described the convenience of attending WIC appointments close to their home or at a location that temporarily—but regularly—serves as a "Mobile WIC Clinic" (eg, community center, library). Interviews revealed that in-app notifications about these types of services could serve participants better than a general clinic locator feature.

Recipes, Meal Planning, and Dietary Preferences

To gauge interest in a recipe feature within the app, participants were asked to describe their cooking routines. Most participants said they do use recipes (15/22) primarily sourced from the Internet (13/22). However, some participants (inside and outside of the recipe-using group) claimed they were mostly autonomous cookers (8/22) that already "knew how to cook" without relying on recipes for meal ideas.

Many participants described food traditions (10/22), such as learning to cook from a family member or preparing culture-specific foods. However, the most frequently mentioned influence on daily meals was what children wanted to eat (9/22). Health (3/22) and simplicity (3/22) were also factors that participants said influenced their cooking.

Most participants (15/22) said they were interested, would use, or would like to try recipes featured within an app. Some (2/22) mentioned they would not use such a feature, citing that they

already knew how to cook what their children liked to eat. Participants who liked the idea of a recipe feature said they would be interested in filtering or pushing recipes based on preparation time (9/22), WIC foods (6/22), keywords (eg, ingredient or recipe name) (5/22), dietary preferences (eg, vegetarian, food allergens) (5/22), kid-friendly recipes (1/22), and meal type (1/22).

Participants (3/22) also mentioned the importance of an attractive layout and photographs within a recipe feature. Although a feature to set dietary preferences and allergies in their family profile was not ranked as high priority, many participants acknowledged that being able to do so would be a "good thing" (10/22).

I would want the recipe gallery because while I'm shopping, if I am trying to be creative and think, "well what else can I get to put with this to actually make a meal?"- go to the quick gallery and you know, see what I already have and you know, see what else I could pick up to make a different meal. [Mother of 2: 1 child enrolled in WIC]

I'm visual. If I have a list of food, what to do, yeah-I love to look, and the steps they do. It helps me. I'm like okay. I go back, oh, well I need to put this in. You know? I'm visual. I don't know. Yeah, I like to look, to get pictures, or the video of it. [Mother of 1: 1 child enrolled in WIC]

Health Assessments and Goal Tracking

All participants expressed that they valued health (either their own, their child's, or their family's), and many participants (7/22) described WIC as a program that promotes health and nutrition. Many of these participants (6/22) expressed interest in receiving health information, tips, and child-feeding advice through the CHEW app. Picky eating was a theme among many participants (11/22) and some expressed a desire to address this issue in their children (6/22) either through the app or otherwise.

Participants were divided on whether they deemed a "child health quiz" as an important feature in the app. Those who said they would use the feature (5/22) described themselves as

curious and interested in finding out new information, whereas others (5/22) said the feature was good but not a priority. Others said such a feature would not be something they would use, citing their busy schedules with children and that it was not necessary for redeeming WIC benefits. Certain participants (3/22) said they would consider a quiz feature important if its use counted toward their required WIC nutrition education.

To take healthy child quiz, if they want it to be a priority, they should do it like nutrition training-like required. [Mother of 2: 2 children enrolled in WIC]

Ancillary Themes Related to App Usefulness

It was apparent from the participant interviews that an app designed to help WIC participants shop should be easier and clearer, as well as contain better information, than existing paper food brochures given at the clinic. Participants (5/22) emphasized that such an app should be straightforward and easy to use.

In general, I just kind of do pretty simple things. Yeah, and I think the pictures is a good way, too (...) make sure the pictures are there. (...) It would make you feel like you're doing something elaborate, but it would be simple and quick, so that's good. [Mother of 1: 1 child enrolled in WIC]

Others (6/22) described the existence of language barriers, native languages other than English, and the importance of supporting several languages in the app. A desire to make the app easy to use for those with limited or low literacy was also mentioned (6/22).

Regarding participants' smartphones and data issues, some (8/22) described barriers to usage, such as having limited data or experiencing slow data speeds. Connecting to available Wi-Fi networks to limit data usage costs was a common strategy for addressing these data issues. Participants mentioned several reasons for deleting an app from their smartphone, the most frequent reasons being infrequent usage (10/22) and limited space/memory (6/22) on their phones. Additional reasons that the participants cited for deleting an app are presented in Table 3.

Table 3. Reasons for deleting an app from a smartphone mentioned by Special Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program for Women, Infants, andChildren (WIC) caregivers (N=22) during qualitative interviews about an app for such families.

Reason for deleting an app	Frequency of participant mentions (n)		
Do not use it often enough	10		
App takes up too much space on phone	6		
Children misuse the app	3		
App drains battery life of the phone	2		
App crashes	2		
App is slow to load	1		
App is not user friendly/ presents hassles during usage	1		



Discussion

Principal Results and Comparison With Prior Work

The participants in this study acknowledged the need for a smartphone app with features that would help WIC families keep track of their food benefits and make shopping for WIC easier, especially following the program transition from paper-based food vouchers to EBT cards for redemption of benefits. For the participants in this study, the balance checker and barcode scanner were the most important app features to include in an app for WIC families. This finding confirmed our observations in a previous review [27] of apps and app features for participating WIC families, where these shopping management features were the most commonly present features, and the importance of these features was demonstrated in positive user reviews.

In a previous study that surveyed WIC participants' current technology usage and preferred methods for interacting with the program, access to the EBT balance (6678/8144, 82%) was reported as highly useful [20]. Nationwide support of EBT for WIC was mandated by 2020 and this technology is not new for some states, although the rollout in most states began within the last 5 years. Wyoming was the earliest adopter of offline EBT for WIC almost 2 decades ago in 2002, whereas New Mexico adopted it in 2007 [23].

A study conducted by the Altarum Institute on behalf of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Economic Research Service that examined the impact of EBT in Kentucky, Michigan, and Nevada (three early adopter states) found positive effects for vendors (less responsibility in policing WIC items for eligibility and quicker receipt of payment) and participants (faster and more discreet checkouts) [25,37]. Focus group participants in the same study expressed that they would like to receive alerts when their benefits are about to expire and would like to access their WIC benefit balance on their smartphones [37]. Similar to the desire for app simplicity and availability in languages other than English among the participants in the current study, the ability to check the WIC balance was notably important for the Spanish-speaking participants in the Altarum study owing to communication barriers with the cashiers when there was an error [37].

The barcode scanning feature was considered important to the participants in this study mainly owing to their negative experiences with WIC item eligibility. Bensley et al also demonstrated that WIC participants would find universal product code (UPC) scanning and verification of WIC items useful (5782/8144, 71%) [20]. Issues at checkout and conflicting information regarding WIC item eligibility remains a barrier to using WIC [13] and is one of the key factors that decrease participants' perceived value of the program [14]. A barcode scanning feature to verify item eligibility and confirm whether or an item remains on the WIC balance could provide a solution to this common barrier to redeem WIC benefits.

Clinic management features, such as receiving appointment reminders, and viewing, requesting, or making a WIC appointment, were popular options among the participants of

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30450
```

his study. In a review of WIC apps, the ability to view an upcoming appointment was an available feature in 8 apps and 3 apps could provide appointment reminders. However, only 1 app at the time of the review provided a feature where participants could request an appointment change through the app [27].

Clinic management features like those outlined above require synchronization with participant information within the clinic's management information system (MIS) and efforts from the scheduling staff in the clinics. Access to these systems can pose hurdles for third-party providers of digital tools (such as mobile apps) owing to interface design issues, the inability of an older MIS to support secure communication, or WIC agency data security standards [38]. Guidelines from the NWA put forth for WIC agencies wishing to adopt new technologies urges consideration for interoperability between systems or software before adopting or procuring digital tools and mobile apps [38].

In a review of WIC apps available in other states, vendor location or "Find a WIC Store" features were common in 7 WIC apps, and clinic locators were available in 5 apps [27]. Participants in the current study were more enthusiastic about vendor location features than clinic location features, and those that did respond favorably to having a vendor locator did not consider rate it as high priority in the card sorting activity. This result was perhaps due to the participants' experience with WIC in that none of the participants were new to the program.

Mediocre prioritization of the vendor locator feature may have also been due to the way participants in this study and others did their shopping. Most participants in this study kept their WIC shopping to one or two stores, especially if they received good customer service at a particular store. This finding aligns with Altarum's EBT transition study [37] that reported participants generally shopped at between one and three major stores.

The clinic locator feature was among the lowest prioritized feature by the participants in this study, which was likely because the participants do not change their home WIC clinic unless they move or choose to recertify elsewhere. Recertification is a lengthy process compared to a typical WIC visit, which has been viewed as a burden by some participants [13]. Participants must recertify their eligibility for WIC every 6-12 months depending on the participants 'household incomes fluctuate, placing them in and out of WIC eligibility, they must recertify each time they become eligible for WIC if they desire to remain in the program.

The recipe gallery, meal planning, and dietary preference setting features in a WIC app were received positively in the qualitative interviews but were ranked with medium priority in the card sorting activity among participants in the current study. Searching for and using online recipes were not novel concepts to the participants, especially compared to the shopping management features for WIC. Similar results were found in the study by Bensley et al, where more participants rated the possibility of EBT balance checking and UPC scanning as useful compared to web-based recipes and cooking demos [20].

In a 2018 review of WIC apps, only 2 other apps (WICShopper and Alabama WIC) included a recipe feature. However, user reviews of other apps in the review did voice a desire for a "healthy eating" section [27]. Medium prioritization of this recipe feature in the current study may have also stemmed from the fact that participants were not yet able to see an actual gallery of recipe photographs during the interviews. Healthy recipe ideas and recipes using WIC foods are not new to the WIC program and are often utilized by WIC nutritionists to share with their clientele or posted on local agency websites [39].

NWA newsletters and reports frequently feature testimonials from WIC participants, exclaiming the positive impacts of the WIC program, staff, and services, including healthy recipe ideas [40]. Cooking Matters [41] and EatFresh [42] are resources that gather cooking ideas, recipes, food budgeting, meal planning, and healthy eating information for low-income families online. Incorporating recipes from resources such as these—along with WIC staff knowledge—into a shared space that WIC participants can access through their smartphones could significantly benefit low-income families.

As with the recipes, health assessments and goal tracking features received lower prioritization and enthusiasm compared to shopping management features from our participants. Engagement with the target audience remains a challenge with respect to nutrition education [43]. Introducing an intervention or health tool through a reputable program such as WIC is thus desirable not only for the ability to reach its eligible audiences, but also for the potential impact it can provide to public health [44].

A 2010 workshop summary entitled Planning a WIC Research Agenda cites that most WIC nutrition education research targets the needs of pregnant or postpartum women, and few studies target the needs of preschool children [44]. Other digital tools and apps focusing solely on WIC nutrition education exist [22,30], as do validated web and paper tools targeting preschool children [45,46]. However, delivering nutrition education–based features paired with an app that participants primarily download to help them with their WIC shopping has the potential to impact more participants than a stand-alone tool.

The participants in this study emphasized the importance of delivering a WIC app that is easy to use, hassle free, and available in many spoken languages. Publicly available user reviews of current WIC apps also demonstrate the desire for simplicity, seamlessness, and ease [27]. Although WIC is a federal program, it is administered at the state level, as are the apps available to participants in each state [27]. WIC is multifaceted at the administrative, vendor, and clinic levels, so an app to help participants is only useful if these systems are well integrated, as noted in a recent WIC app study by Zhang et al [29].

In the current study, the participants mentioned the need to delete apps that required too much storage space on their phones or apps that were "slow to load." Although several low-income households have access to smartphone technology [47], many remain underconnected in that they are only able to access the Internet via their mobile devices [48]. This study highlights

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30450
```

many barriers to the successful usage of WIC in its current form and the opportunity to overcome many of these with the transition to an efficient and a useful digital program. However, as revealed by the participant who could not complete the task owing to literacy issues, there might be a risk that some program participants could be left behind owing to low information technology (IT) literacy or limited access to appropriate or suitable devices and the Internet. App developers must be mindful of these issues when designing tools meant to help low-income families.

As our current and ever-changing health care landscape becomes increasingly dependent on technology, the five A's of access (affordability, availability, accessibility, accommodation, and acceptability) must be considered when implementing these systems to ensure equitable care for those who need it the most [49].

Limitations

The current study is not without limitations. Owing to the lack of research on apps that reduce the risk factors of childhood obesity among preschool children, only caregivers of WIC children aged 2 to 4 were recruited, which restricted the enrollment of those newer to the program (ie, pregnant women enrolling for the first time or those enrolling with their first infant). This limitation could have altered the prioritization and desire for certain shopping features (eg, scanner or store locator), though this effect was partially remedied by participants' reflections on the difficulties of being new to the program, compared to navigating the program with experience.

Although all the interview participants spoke English, this was the secondary language for some (6/22) participants in the study. Language barriers that may result from conversing in participants' secondary language can limit the understanding, intention, and interaction between the interviewer and interviewee. As this study was conducted with WIC families in Tennessee, participant responses may not be empirically generalizable for the WIC population in other states or at the national level.

Conclusions

By combining in-depth interviewing with a card sorting activity to prioritize features, this study demonstrates how user-centered design can aid the development of an app for low-income families participating in WIC. As WIC continues to modernize, digital tools (such as mobile apps) are becoming increasingly available to streamline WIC services and improve participant experience [38].

The participants in this study were interested in (1) health and nutrition information (they want to eat nutritious food), (2) a modern and graphic-heavy app (eg, something that feels familiar), and (3) app features that increase the accessibility of the program. WIC agencies in states are tasked with procuring and providing digital tools that are user-friendly for participants, supported by staff, affordable, and cost-effective [38].

The following are a summary of recommendations we identified as a result of conducting this study:

XSL•FO RenderX

- To increase WIC program participation, states should endeavor to work with vendors that provide user-friendly software applications with user-focused features.
- States should attempt to meet users where they are [50] by considering what will drive value for their users, rather than just meeting the requirements of the program.
- Agencies must consider what long-term maintenance and upgrades their digital tools require, as well as their

interoperability between systems [38] (eg, EBT vendor or client information systems).

As WIC is an evidence-based federal nutrition program, WIC agencies should strive to partner with researchers, developers, and vendors that support apps and other digital tools providing avenues to evaluate their potential impact on public health.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a grant from the USDA (grant 2017-68001-26352). The authors would like to acknowledge Vanderbilt University's Qualitative Core and Maureen Nwizu for assisting with interview transcriptions, Healthmade Design for the consultation work on the card sorting activities and interview protocol, and Calvin Harris for assisting with survey data entry.

Authors' Contributions

SJW, ES, SAM, DS, CT, JJ, and PCH contributed to the study design, interpretation of results. SJW, JJ, and PCH conducted participant interviews. SJW developed the qualitative coding structure, conducted the analyses, and wrote the main draft of the article. ES, HA, and MC conducted secondary coding to assure interrater reliability. PCH oversaw the study. All authors contributed to editing and approve the manuscript for publication.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Chock LR, Hayes DK, Tomiyasu DW. Insights in public health: The Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children: strengthening families for 40 years. Hawaii J Med Public Health 2014 Sep;73(9):295-300 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25285258]
- Gregory PM, de Jesus ML. Racial differences in birth outcomes and costs in relation to prenatal WIC participation. N J Med 2003 Mar;100(3):29-36. [Medline: <u>12674810</u>]
- 3. Nianogo RA, Wang MC, Basurto-Davila R, Nobari TZ, Prelip M, Arah OA, et al. Economic evaluation of California prenatal participation in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC) to prevent preterm birth. Prev Med 2019 Jul;124:42-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.04.011] [Medline: 30998955]
- 4. Bitler MP, Currie J. Does WIC work? The effects of WIC on pregnancy and birth outcomes. J Policy Anal Manage 2005;24(1):73-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pam.20070] [Medline: 15584177]
- 5. Gai Y, Feng L. Effects of federal nutrition program on birth outcomes. Atl Econ J 2011 Dec;40(1):61-83. [doi: 10.1007/s11293-011-9294-y]
- Blakeney EL, Herting JR, Zierler BK, Bekemeier B. The effect of women, infant, and children (WIC) services on birth weight before and during the 2007-2009 great recession in Washington state and Florida: a pooled cross-sectional time series analysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2020 Apr;20(1):252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-020-02937-5] [Medline: 32345244]
- Hoynes H, Page M, Stevens AH. Can targeted transfers improve birth outcomes? J Public Econ 2011 Aug;95(7-8):813-827. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpubeco.2010.12.006</u>]
- Whaley SE, Ritchie LD, Spector P, Gomez J. Revised WIC food package improves diets of WIC families. J Nutr Educ Behav 2012 May;44(3):204-209. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2011.09.011</u>] [Medline: <u>22406013</u>]
- Ng SW, Hollingsworth BA, Busey EA, Wandell JL, Miles DR, Poti JM. Federal nutrition program revisions impact low-income households' food purchases. Am J Prev Med 2018 Mar;54(3):403-412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.12.003] [Medline: 29455757]
- 10. Metallinos-Katsaras E, Gorman KS, Wilde P, Kallio J. A longitudinal study of WIC participation on household food insecurity. Matern Child Health J 2011 Jul;15(5):627-633. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-010-0616-5] [Medline: 20455015]
- 11. Bersak T, Sonchak L. The impact of WIC on infant immunizations and health care utilization. Health Serv Res 2018 Aug;53 Suppl 1:2952-2969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12810] [Medline: 29194615]
- 12. Cortese MM, Diaz PS, Samala U, Mennone JZ, Mihalek EF, Matuck MJ, et al. Underimmunization in Chicago children who dropped out of WIC. Am J Prev Med 2004 Jan;26(1):29-33. [Medline: <u>14700709</u>]
- Woelfel ML, Abusabha R, Pruzek R, Stratton H, Chen SG, Edmunds LS. Barriers to the use of WIC services. J Am Diet Assoc 2004 May;104(5):736-743. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jada.2004.02.028</u>] [Medline: <u>15127057</u>]
- 14. Weber SJ, Wichelecki J, Chavez N, Bess S, Reese L, Odoms-Young A. Understanding the factors influencing low-income caregivers' perceived value of a federal nutrition programme, the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women,

Infants and Children (WIC). Public Health Nutr 2019 Apr;22(6):1056-1065. [doi: 10.1017/S1368980018003336] [Medline: 30522548]

- Liu CH, Liu H. Concerns and structural barriers associated with WIC participation among WIC-eligible women. Public Health Nurs 2016 Dec;33(5):395-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/phn.12259] [Medline: 26956356]
- 16. Panzera A, Bryant, Hawkins F, Goff R, Napier A, Schneider T, et al. Mapping a WIC mother's journey. Soc Mar Q 2017 Feb;23(2):137-154. [doi: 10.1177/1524500417692526]
- 17. Sekhobo JP, Peck SR, Byun Y, Allsopp MAK, Holbrook MK, Edmunds LS, et al. Use of a mixed-method approach to evaluate the implementation of retention promotion strategies in the New York State WIC program. Eval Program Plann 2017 Aug;63:7-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.03.002] [Medline: 28319784]
- 18. NWA Research Needs Assessment. URL: <u>https://www.nwica.org/RNA</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 19. NWA's efforts to recruit and tetain WIC participants; 2019. National WIC Association. URL: <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/</u> <u>aws.upl/nwica.org/caseload-one-pager.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 20. Bensley RJ, Hovis A, Horton KD, Loyo JJ, Bensley KM, Phillips D, et al. Accessibility and preferred use of online Web applications among WIC participants with Internet access. J Nutr Educ Behav 2014;46(3 Suppl):S87-S92. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2014.02.007] [Medline: 24810002]
- 21. WIC Online Nutrition Education. URL: <u>https://www.wichealth.org/</u> [accessed 2021-07-28]
- 22. Mobile WIC education. WIC Smart Nutrition Education. URL: <u>http://www.wicsmart.com/</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 23. WIC EBT detail status report; 2021. United States Department of Agriculture. URL: <u>https://www.fns.usda.gov/wic/</u> wic-ebt-activities [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 24. Summary of WIC state agency strategies for increasing child retention; 2014. United States Department of Agriculture Food and Nutrition Service. URL: <u>https://wicworks.fns.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/document/</u> ChildRetentionStrategiesReport.pdf [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 25. Modernizing and streamlining WIClectronic benefit transfer (EBT/eWIC) By 2020; 2019. National WIC Association. URL: https://s3.amazonaws.com/aws.upl/nwica.org/2019-wic-ebt.pdf [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 26. Hanks A, Gunther C, Lillard D, Scharff R. From paper to plastic: Understanding the impact of EBT on WIC recipient behavior. United States: Allied Social Sciences Association; 2017 Presented at: Allied Social Sciences Association (ASSA) Annual Meeting; January 6-8, 2017; Chicago, Illinois. [doi: <u>10.22004/ag.econ.251834</u>]
- 27. Weber SJ, Dawson D, Greene H, Hull PC. Mobile phone apps for low-income participants in a public health nutrition program for women, infants, and children (WIC): review and analysis of features. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov;6(11):e12261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12261] [Medline: 30455172]
- 28. Hull P, Emerson JS, Quirk ME, Canedo JR, Jones JL, Vylegzhanina V, et al. A smartphone app for families with preschool-aged children in a public nutrition program: prototype development and beta-testing. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug;5(8):e102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7477] [Medline: 28768611]
- 29. Zhang Q, Zhang J, Park K, Tang C. Association between usage of an app to redeem prescribed food benefits and redemption behaviors among the special supplemental nutrition program for women, infants, and children participants: cross-sectional study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Oct;8(10):e20720 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20720] [Medline: 33052133]
- 30. Biediger-Friedman L, Crixell SH, Silva M, Markides BR, Smith KS. User-centered design of a Texas WIC app: a focus group investigation. Am J Health Behav 2016 Jul;40(4):461-471. [doi: <u>10.5993/AJHB.40.4.8</u>] [Medline: <u>27338993</u>]
- 31. Hull P, Shearer E, Weber S, Schmidt D, Jones J, Harris C, et al. NP22 development of the Children Eating Well (CHEW) mobile application for WIC Families in Tennessee. J Nutr Educ Behav 2019 Jul;51(7):S20. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2019.05.346]
- 32. Hull P. Children eating well (CHEW) smartphone application for WIC families. AFRI Competitive Grant. URL: <u>https://reeis.usda.gov/web/crisprojectpages/1011962-children-eating-well-chew-smartphone-application-for-wic-families.html</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 33. Golley RK, Hendrie GA, Slater A, Corsini N. Interventions that involve parents to improve children's weight-related nutrition intake and activity patterns what nutrition and activity targets and behaviour change techniques are associated with intervention effectiveness? Obes Rev 2011 Feb;12(2):114-130. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00745.x] [Medline: 20406416]
- 34. Corbin J, Strauss A. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. 4th Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc; 2014.
- 35. Gough B, Conner MT. Barriers to healthy eating amongst men: a qualitative analysis. Soc Sci Med 2006 Jan;62(2):387-395. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.05.032</u>] [Medline: <u>16011867</u>]
- 36. Lincoln YS, Guba EG, Pilotta JJ. Naturalistic inquiry. Int J Intercult Relat 1985 Jan;9(4):438-439. [doi: 10.1016/0147-1767(85)90062-8]
- Phillips D, Bell L, Morgan R, Pooler J. Transition to EBT in WIC: Review of Impact and Examination of Participant Redemption Patterns. Washington D.C: Altarum Institute; 2014. URL: <u>https://altarum.org/sites/default/files/</u> uploaded-publication-files/Altarum Transition%20to%20WIC%20EBT Final%20Report 071614.pdf [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 38. Dockray H, Silas J, Eppes E, Machell G, Neuberger Z. Launching New Digital Tools for WIC Participants: A Guide for WIC Agencies. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cbpp.org/research/food-assistance/launching-new-digital-tools-for-wic-participants</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]

- 39. Gateway WIC Recipe Cards & Poster. URL: <u>https://thewichub.sfo2.digitaloceanspaces.com/2017/12/</u> <u>Gateway-Recipe-Poster-copy.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 40. National WIC Association. The WIC Hub: Research, Policy, Practice. 2020. URL: <u>https://thewichub.org./</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 41. Cooking Matters. 2019. URL: https://cookingmatters.org/ [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 42. California Department of Social Services. EatFresh.org: Tasty Recipes on Your Budget. 2020. URL: <u>https://eatfresh.org/</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- Black AP, D'Onise K, McDermott R, Vally H, O'Dea K. How effective are family-based and institutional nutrition interventions in improving children's diet and health? A systematic review. BMC Public Health 2017 Oct;17(1):818 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4795-5] [Medline: 29041899]
- 44. Institute of Medicine. Planning a WIC Research Agenda Workshop Summary (2011). Washington DC: The National Academies Press; 2011.
- 45. Townsend MS, Shilts MK, Styne DM, Drake C, Lanoue L, Ontai L. An obesity risk assessment tool for young children: validity with BMI and nutrient values. J Nutr Educ Behav 2018;50(7):705-717. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2018.01.022</u>] [Medline: <u>29567008</u>]
- 46. Ontai LL, Sitnick SL, Shilts MK, Townsend MS. My child at mealtime: a visually enhanced self-assessment of feeding styles for low-income parents of preschoolers. Appetite 2016 Apr;99:76-81. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.appet.2015.12.029</u>] [Medline: <u>26743352</u>]
- Serrano KJ, Thai CL, Greenberg AJ, Blake KD, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Progress on broadband access to the Internet and use of mobile devices in the United States. Public Health Rep 2017;132(1):27-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0033354916679365] [Medline: 28005473]
- 48. Pew Internet and American Life Project. Demographics of mobile device ownership and adoption in the United States. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/Internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 49. Sieck CJ, Rastetter M, Hefner J, Glover A, Magaña C, Gray DM, et al. The five A's of access for TechQuity. J Health Care for the Poor Underserved 2021;32(2S):290-299. [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2021.0064]
- 50. Berger L. Meeting Users Where They Are: Design Together With Engagement Paths.: Medium; 2018. URL: <u>https://medium.</u> <u>com/mule-design/meeting-users-where-they-are-624bc0caa83a</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]

Abbreviations

CHEW: Children Eating Well
EBT: electronic benefits transfer
eWIC: WIC electronic benefits transfer
IT: information technology
MIS: management information system
NWA: National WIC Association
SNAP: Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
UPC: universal product code
USDA: United States Department of Agriculture
WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.05.21; peer-reviewed by L Tully, Q Zhang; comments to author 09.06.21; revised version received 14.06.21; accepted 16.06.21; published 30.07.21.

Please cite as:

Weber SJ, Shearer E, Mulvaney SA, Schmidt D, Thompson C, Jones J, Ahmad H, Coe M, Hull PC Prioritization of Features for Mobile Apps for Families in a Federal Nutrition Program for Low-Income Women, Infants, and Children: User-Centered Design Approach JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e30450 URL: <u>https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30450</u> doi:<u>10.2196/30450</u> PMID:<u>34328432</u>

©Summer J Weber, Elyse Shearer, Shelagh A Mulvaney, Douglas Schmidt, Chris Thompson, Jessica Jones, Haseeb Ahmad, Martina Coe, Pamela C Hull. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 30.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

An Avatar-Led Digital Smoking Cessation Program for Sexual and Gender Minority Young Adults: Intervention Development and Results of a Single-Arm Pilot Trial

Jaimee L Heffner¹, PhD; Noreen L Watson¹, PhD; Edit Serfozo¹, MPH; Megan M Kelly^{2,3}, PhD; Erin D Reilly^{2,3}, PhD; Daniella Kim⁴, PhD; Kelsey Baker¹, MS; N F N Scout⁵, PhD; Maria Karekla⁶, PhD

¹Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, United States

²Veterans Affairs Bedford Healthcare System, Bedford, MA, United States

³University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA, United States

⁴University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

⁵National LGBT Cancer Network, Providence, RI, United States

⁶University of Cyprus, Nicosia, Cyprus

Corresponding Author:

Jaimee L Heffner, PhD Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center 1100 Fairview Ave N, M3-B232 Seattle, WA, 98109 United States Phone: 1 2066677314 Email: jheffner@fredhutch.org

Abstract

Background: Sexual and gender minority young adults have a high prevalence of smoking and unique barriers to accessing tobacco treatment.

Objective: To address these challenges as well as their preferences for sexual and gender minority–targeted interventions and digital programs, we developed and evaluated the acceptability, preliminary efficacy, and impact on theory-based change processes of an acceptance and commitment therapy–based digital program called Empowered, Queer, Quitting, and Living (EQQUAL).

Methods: Participants (n=22) of a single-arm trial conducted to evaluate the program were young adults, age 18 to 30 years, who self-identified as sexual and gender minority individuals and smoked at least one cigarette per day. All participants received access to the EQQUAL program. Participants completed web-based surveys at baseline and at a follow-up 2 months after enrollment. We verified self-reported smoking abstinence with biochemical testing; missing data were counted as smoking or using tobacco.

Results: For young adults who logged in at least once (n=18), the mean number of log-ins was 5.5 (SD 3.6), mean number of sessions completed was 3.1 (SD 2.6), and 39% (7/18) completed all 6 sessions. Overall, 93% of participants (14/15) were satisfied with the EQQUAL program, 100% (15/15) found it easy to use, and 100% (15/15) said it helped them be clearer about how to quit. Abstinence from smoking or using tobacco was confirmed with biochemical testing for 23% of participants (5/22). Both quantitative and qualitative results suggested a positive overall response to the avatar guide, with areas for future improvement largely centered on the avatar's appearance and movements.

Conclusions: Treatment acceptability of EQQUAL was very promising. The rate of abstinence, which was biochemically confirmed, was 3 times higher than that of the only other digital program to date that has targeted sexual and gender minority young adults and 6 to 13 times higher than those of nontargeted digital smoking interventions among sexual and gender minority young adults. Planned improvements for the next iteration of the program include making the avatar's movements more natural; offering multiple avatar guides with different on characteristics such as race, ethnicity, and gender identity from which to choose; and providing a support forum for users to connect anonymously with peers.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e30241) doi:10.2196/30241



KEYWORDS

LGBT; embodied agent; tobacco cessation; nicotine dependence; user-centered design; avatar; digital health; minority; young adult; teenager; smoking; cessation; intervention; development; pilot trial

Introduction

The prevalence of tobacco use among sexual and gender minority young adults is twice as high as that among non-sexual and gender minority young adults across all tobacco products: 29% vs 15% for cigarettes and 8% vs 4% for both electronic nicotine delivery systems and noncigarette tobacco, respectively [1]. Compounding their risk for tobacco-related diseases, sexual and gender minority young adults also encounter unique barriers to accessing treatment. Almost half of sexual and gender minority young adults lack health insurance to pay for traditional treatments such as counseling and pharmacotherapy [2], and there is substantial underuse of existing public health interventions such as tobacco quitlines among this group [3]. There is tremendous unrealized opportunity to reach these young tobacco users via digital means, because they are high adopters of technology [4] and would benefit from the availability of a high-reach, no-cost intervention due to the multiple barriers they face in accessing traditional forms of treatment. However, only one study [5], published recently, tested a targeted digital intervention-a professionally moderated intervention delivered via Facebook-that was specifically for sexual and gender minority young adults. Although the study showed low biochemically confirmed quit rates overall, it demonstrated the potential efficacy of sexual and gender minority-targeted content, with quit rates for the targeted social media intervention (7%) almost double that of the nontargeted social media intervention (4%) [5].

To address the need for an engaging, effective, and accessible treatment approach for sexual and gender minority young adult tobacco users, we engaged in a user-centered design process to develop a digital cessation program targeted for this group and subsequently conducted a single-arm pilot trial to evaluate its acceptability (primary outcome) and preliminary efficacy (secondary outcome) for motivating and supporting smoking cessation. Acceptability, as well as intervention impact on change processes and outcomes (ie, efficacy), are standard benchmarks in intervention development [6]. Together, they help provide proof-of-concept evidence that users will engage with the intervention and that it can impact theory-based change mechanisms and, ultimately, the outcome of interest. The purpose of this study was to evaluate components of the novel program requiring further refinement and to plan a future randomized clinical trial as a next step in treatment development and evaluation.

Methods

 $XSI \bullet F($

Part 1: User-Centered Design of EQQUAL

The Empowered, Queer, Quitting, and Living (EQQUAL) program is a cultural, linguistic, and sexual and gender minority-targeted adaptation of Flexiquit, a web-based acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) program designed for young adults at all stages of readiness to quit tobacco use

[7]. In addition to focusing on increasing acceptance of smoking triggers and facilitating values-guided action as cessation treatment mechanisms, ACT also teaches generalizable emotion regulation skills that can increase resilience and buffer minority stress [8] among sexual and gender minority young adults. This generalizability stems from a transdiagnostic focus on building psychological flexibility-defined as willingness to experience the full range of emotional, physical, and cognitive experiences without trying to change them and to do things that are difficult in service of one's values [9,10]. EQQUAL also employs another exciting innovation in digital tobacco treatment: an avatar guide designed to make the program more engaging and effective. The original avatar-led Flexiquit program (not sexual and gender minority-targeted) showed great promise in motivating cessation in a pilot randomized controlled trial with young adults in Cyprus, with a 29% posttreatment quit rate for Flexiquit versus 11% for the waitlist [7]. Importantly, the majority (65%) of participants were in the precontemplation or contemplation stages of change, demonstrating the program's utility for smokers who are at lower levels of quit readiness [7].

To adapt the original version of the program, which was created for the general population of young adults in Cyprus, to one for a US young adult population self-identifying as sexual and gender minority, 3 major modifications were needed: (1) translation from Greek to English, (2) adaptation of content for US culture (eg, providing examples and metaphors that are more relevant to life in the US), and (3) adaptation of content to sexual and gender minority young adults. After translation, which occurred from August to September 2018, we followed a user-centered design process to adapt the program for the US culture and to a sexual and gender minority young adult population. This included 2 rounds of preliminary user testing (n=7 participants; 2 self-identified as female, 4 self-identified as male, and 1 did not self-identify as male, female, or transgender; 3 self-identified as bisexual and 4 self-identified as gay or lesbian; 2 self-identified as non-Hispanic White, 1 self-identified as non-Hispanic Asian, 1 as self-identified as non-Hispanic Asian and White, and 3 did not provide their race and ethnicity) and a diary study in which participants used the program for 1 week and provided feedback about it via daily diary entries and a final interview (n=8; 2 self-identified as female, 1 self-identified as male; 5 self-identified as transgender or nonbinary; 1 self-identified as bisexual, 2 self-identified as gay, 2 self-identified as queer, and 2-who self-identified as gender minority-did not provide their sexual orientation; 3 self-identified as non-Hispanic White, 2 self-identified as non-Hispanic Asian, and 3 did not provide their race and ethnicity).

A major focus of the user-centered design work to create EQQUAL was updating the appearance, voice, and persona of the avatar guide. The most recent version of the avatar used in the original, nontargeted Flexiquit program was presented as a young woman (Figure 1). As part of the testing, we evaluated users' reactions to this avatar as well as to several other potential

program guides, including both human and nonhuman representations. Users unanimously preferred a human guide, with desired qualities being inspiring, fun, and sensitive. Users also indicated that they preferred having a visual representation of the program guide, rather than just a voice, as something concrete that they could count on consistently while they completed the program. Visually, users preferred cartoon-like over realistic-looking avatars. They also preferred avatars that appeared to be androgynous or gender ambiguous. Among the possible human representations presented to users, the previous Flexiquit avatar was not preferred. Users agreed that the avatar should have a backstory and share it and that the tone of the avatar should be conversational and informal. Participants wanted to be able to hear and read the content simultaneously. Several options for voices of the avatar were presented, and a preferred voice was selected on the basis of user testing, which was the voice of a young adult woman. Participants also expressed a desire for an avatar that could be customized or selected based on their ability to identify with it or be inspired by it. With the exception of the customizable avatar, which was cost-prohibitive for this phase of development, all of these user preferences were incorporated into the design of the EQQUAL program.

Aside from the new appearance and backstory of the EQQUAL avatar (Figure 2), user-centered design for sexual and gender minority targeting included development of user stories about sexual and gender minority young adults sharing their motivations and successes in quitting smoking. These stories were written by the research team and evaluated during user testing. During the interviews, users also noted a preference for a social component to the program that would allow users to connect anonymously, such as a quit buddy or support group, as well the ability to give and receive kudos for reaching smoking-related milestones. Similar to avatar customization, this functionality was outside of the scope for this phase but is a planned direction for future versions.

In accordance with stated user preferences of accessing the program on a mobile device, we developed EQQUAL as a responsive mobile-optimized website designed to be used primarily on mobile and tablet devices. Programming was completed in May 2020, at which point we launched a single-arm pilot trial to evaluate its acceptability and preliminary efficacy for cessation and impact on theory-based change mechanisms.



Figure 2. New sexual and gender minority-targeted Empowered, Queer, Quitting, and Living (EQQUAL) program avatar.



Part 2: Single-Arm Pilot Trial

Participants

Eligibility criteria were individuals (1) between 18 and 30 years of age who (2) self-identified as sexual or gender minority (ie, a sexual orientation other than straight, gender that doesn't match sex assigned at birth, or both); (3) resided in the United States; (4) smoked at least 1 cigarette per day over the past 30 days; (5) had at least weekly internet access and were willing and able to stream video online during the 2-month study period; (6) used text messaging; (7) were not engaged in any other smoking cessation treatment at the time of screening, including pharmacotherapies or behavioral counseling, but excluding e-cigarettes or other vaping devices, which are not approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for smoking cessation; and (8) were comfortable reading, writing, and speaking in English.

Procedures

All study procedures were reviewed and approved by the Scientific Review Committee and the Institutional Review Board of the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center.

Participants were recruited online between May and June 2020 via Facebook and Craigslist advertisements and directed to a screening survey administered via REDCap (Vanderbilt University). To prevent potential fraudulent participation, study staff reviewed the responses of individuals who were potentially eligible for duplicate entries and email addresses were verified. Individuals who were eligible were sent an email indicating their eligibility that required a reply. Individuals who did not reply after 3 attempts (2 reminders were sent over a 14-day period) were no longer contacted for potential recruitment and were sent an email with alternative quit-smoking resources (eg, referrals to 1-800-QUIT-NOW to reach their state quitline and the National Cancer Institute's Smokefree web and mobile app programs).

Individuals who responded to the email were sent another email (and up 2 reminders over a 14-day period, as needed) inviting them to complete a confidential, secure online survey to provide informed consent and complete the baseline assessment. After submitting the baseline assessment, participants received an email indicating that they were enrolled in the study that provided log-in credentials for EQQUAL and information about technical support, study payment, and the follow-up survey. Individuals who did not consent or complete the online enrollment process within 14 days were sent an email notifying them that they were not enrolled; the email provided them with the smoking cessation resources mentioned above.

Two months after enrollment, participants were sent an email inviting them to complete a web-based follow-up survey. A text message was sent on the same day as the email survey invitation to alert participants that the survey would be arriving via email that day. To maximize data retention, participants were sent up to 2 email reminders within 9 days indicating that the follow-up survey was available. Participants who did not complete the survey were called once daily for 5 days and were given the opportunity to complete the follow-up survey by phone. A final attempt was made—a postcard with just 2 follow-up questions

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30241
```

(ie, the primary acceptability and efficacy outcome questions) was sent out to those who had not responded by the fifth phone call. Baseline and follow-up survey data were collected and stored in a secure REDCap database.

Participants were compensated US \$25 for completing the follow-up survey. To maximize data retention, respondents received a \$10 bonus if they completed the survey online within 24 hours of the initial email. Participants who self-reported smoking abstinence were asked to submit saliva cotinine test results and received an additional \$25 for doing so. Thus, participants could receive up to \$60 in total.

Assessments

The baseline survey collected information on demographic characteristics, use of alcohol and electronic cigarettes, and smoking history and current smoking behaviors, including the Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence score [11]. To assess sexual and gender minority identity, we used 3 items based on consensus recommendations [12-14]. Two gender minority items focused on sex and gender identity: "What was your assigned sex at birth, on your original birth certificate?" (response options: male, female); "What is your current gender identity (check all that apply)?" (response options: man/male, woman/female, trans male/trans man, trans female/trans woman, genderqueer/gender nonconforming, different identity, not sure). To assess sexual minority identity, participants were asked: "Do you think of yourself as: (check all that apply):" (response options: straight (heterosexual), bisexual, gay, lesbian, queer, different than listed, not sure). We considered participants whose current gender identities differed from their birth sex or who answered that they were trans male/man, trans female/woman, genderqueer/gender nonconforming, different, or not sure as gender minority. We considered participants who gave any response to the sexual orientation question other than straight/heterosexual as sexual minority. Since recruitment occurred during the early period of the COVID-19 pandemic, we also included 1 question on the baseline survey (ie, "Since learning about the coronavirus-also known as COVID-19-has your smoking decreased, increased, or stayed the same?") and 1 question on the follow-up survey (ie, "Since you started this study, to what extent has the coronavirus-also known as COVID-19—played a role in motivating you to reduce or quit smoking?" Response options were "not at all," "slightly," "somewhat," "moderately, and "extremely") to assess the impact of COVID-19 on baseline smoking and motivation to quit during the treatment period.

Primary treatment acceptability endpoints were (1) server-recorded number of log-ins and number of sessions completed during the 2-month study period, and (2) treatment satisfaction, which was assessed using 12 study-specific items on the follow-up survey (eg, "Overall, how satisfied were you with EQQUAL?"). Secondary endpoints were (1) biochemically confirmed 7-day point prevalence smoking abstinence at 2 months, and (2) changes in readiness to quit smoking from baseline to follow-up 2 months later assessed via the 11-point Contemplation Ladder [15], which ranges from 0 ("No thought about quitting") to 10 ("Taking action to quit (eg, cutting down, enrolling in a program)". Self-reported 7-day point prevalence

abstinence (PPA) from smoking was assessed via the question: "When was the last time you smoked, or even tried, a cigarette?" Responses of "8-30 days ago" and "over 30 days ago" were classified as 7-day PPA. All participants who self-reported 7-day PPA at follow-up and no other nicotine use in the past 7 days were sent Alere iScreen saliva kits via overnight mail to verify their smoking status. The iScreen offers qualitative detection of cotinine in saliva at a cut-off level of 30 ng/mL. Participants were sent instructions to complete the test at home and submit test results via a photo of the completed test uploaded in a REDCap form.

Changes in psychological flexibility, as the theory-based mechanisms of change, from baseline to 2 months were exploratory endpoints. This included (1) changes in acceptance of smoking triggers (emotional and physical subscales of the adapted Avoidance and Inflexibility Scale [16,17], 18 items), (2) overall psychological flexibility (24-item short version of the Multidimensional Psychological Flexibility Inventory [18], which has 2 composite scores representing psychological flexibility and psychological inflexibility), and (3) valued living (10-item Valuing Questionnaire [19], which has 2 subscales representing values progress, 5 items, and values obstruction, 5 items).

We also explored acceptability of the EQQUAL avatar, called Jen, at follow-up 2 months after enrollment using the Agent Persona Inventory [20], which contains 25 items rated on a 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) scale, with 4 subscales: facilitating learning (10 items; eg, "Jen kept my attention"), credible (5 items; eg, "Jen was knowledgeable"), human-like (5 items; eg, "Jen showed emotion"), and engaging (5 items; eg, "Jen was expressive"). We also included a set of items assessing the avatar's attributes, drawing in part from items on the Robotic Social Attributes Scale [21]. On these items, the avatar's attributes were rated on a 1 (definitely does not describe Jen) to 9 (definitely describes Jen) scale and included the following: pleasant, likable, agreeable, trustworthy, sincere, supportive, relatable, credible, scary, strange, awkward, and judgmental. We also included 4 open-ended, study-specific questions to assess acceptability of the avatar: (1) "Based on your experiences, what were the least important or least useful parts of Jen?" (2) "Based on your experiences, what were the most important or most useful parts of Jen?" (3) "What, if anything, would you change about Jen? Why?" (4) "What additional feedback would you like to provide us about the avatar in the program?"

EQQUAL intervention

Consistent with the original, nontargeted program, EQQUAL contained 6 sessions designed to be completed in order, with a minimum of 3 days between sessions and automated pacing and prompting from the program. Sessions took approximately 10 to 30 minutes to complete. A single text message reminder was used to prompt availability of the next session. Session 1 PDF handouts were emailed to participants 2 days after enrollment, along with instructions for requesting technical

support. At the end of the program, participants were sent an email with session handouts.

Content followed the ACT treatment model [9,22]. Session 1 introduced the avatar guide Jen who provided an overview of the program and shared their own story of quitting. Users completed an interactive game to identify personal values guiding quitting and reviewed stories from other sexual and gender minority young adults who quit smoking. Session 2 focused on trigger awareness through interactive questions, graphs, pictures, and experiential exercises and metaphors, and it introduced the ACT concept of creative hopelessness-recognizing that efforts to control thoughts, feelings, or sensations related to smoking can be counterproductive. Session 3 completed the topic of creative hopelessness and introduced cognitive defusion-psychological distancing from thoughts-as an alternative to thought control as a means of achieving goals and living a valued life. Session 4 completed the topic of cognitive defusion, encouraged setting a quit date in the subsequent week, and prompted users to practice defusing from thoughts (eg, "I won't be able to quit") as part of quit planning. Session 5 started with a reflection on the past week's successes and difficulties, introduced acceptance and willingness to have unwanted thoughts and emotions as a means of handling smoking triggers, and covered relapse prevention via self-compassion and recommitment to quitting. Session 6 also started with a reflection on the past week's successes and difficulties, reviewed content from previous sessions, and ended with a video emphasizing the importance of letting go of the need to control internal experiences such as feelings, sensations, and thoughts as a means to achieve goals. EQQUAL also included information about US Food and Drug Administration-approved smoking cessation medications and encouraged users to consider using a medication to support quitting. EQQUAL was accompanied by daily text messages that provided (1) motivational messages, (2) new session availability prompts, and (3) reminders of information discussed in the program.

The sexual and gender minority-targeted treatment content in EQQUAL focused on (1) unique motivations for quitting among sexual and gender minority individuals, such as the desire for freedom to live one's life openly (eg, not having to hide smoking from family, as sexual and gender identity may have been hidden); (2) tools for coping with minority stress and its mental health sequelae (eg, evidence-based ACT skills for depression and anxiety); (3) self-compassion exercises focused on managing internalized shame, which can serve as a trigger for tobacco use; and (4) targeted videos and infographics describing the impact of tobacco use on the LGBTQ+ community. The appearance and backstory of the EQQUAL avatar guide was also designed to suggest that the avatar identified as a sexual and gender minority young adult (Figure 2). Figure 3 shows the program home screen (desktop view), along with examples of the sexual and gender minority-targeted quit stories (Figure 4) and interactive games to promote engagement with the program (Figure 5).



Figure 3. Home page screenshot.



About

Sessions

I'm so glad you're back!

Remember, a new session of EQQUAL–Empowered, Queer, Quitting, and Living—will be available every 3 days. You'll receive a text when one becomes available.



Let Your Values Be Your Guide



SESSION 2 Get to Know Your Triggers - 19 min experience



Home

B
SESSION 3
Oh, the Stories Our Minds Tell..
- 11 min experience



SESSION 4

SESSION 1

~ 32 min experience

Resume

Reduce the Power of Negative Thoughts - 25 min experience



B SESSION 5

It's About Willingness, Not Willpower - 30 min experience



SESSION 6 The Road to Freedom - 33 min experience



If you quit smoking today, in 5 years you'd save \$1,825.00.


Figure 4. Sexual and gender minority-targeted quit story.



Figure 5. Interactive exercise screenshot.

Choose Your Direction and Throw Some Darts

~7 min experience

Throw a dart at each pie piece of the dart board one at a time, starting with the "family" section, based on **how important that area is to you currently in your life.** Closer to the center means more important.



Analysis

RenderX

Sample Size

Because pilot trials differ from efficacy trials in their aims and scope, techniques that are employed for sample size determination in an efficacy trial (ie, power analysis) are not appropriate for a Stage 1 pilot trial [23]. The stage model of behavioral treatment development suggests that pilot treatment development trials should include approximately 15 to 30 participants per arm to test feasibility [23]. A sample size of 25 was chosen on the basis of this recommendation. Because this is a single-arm pilot trial, this study is not designed for power to detect statistically significant changes in response to treatment. However, we planned to preliminarily and

descriptively assess the outcomes of the intervention to inform further refinements of EQQUAL and obtain the information necessary to optimize the study design in preparation for a subsequent Stage 2 efficacy trial.

Statistical Analysis Plan

Given the pilot nature of the study, all statistical analyses are descriptive. Frequencies (for categorical variables) or means and standard deviations (for continuous variables) are reported for all endpoints, including change scores. Categorical ratings for treatment satisfaction questions were dichotomized as useful ("somewhat," "mostly," or "very") versus lower ratings based on a priori analysis plans (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT04194918). For smoking abstinence outcomes, we report results (1)

including only participants who provided data on smoking abstinence at follow-up (complete-case) and (2) including all participants and imputing missing smoking data as nonabstinence.

Results

General

As planned, we enrolled 25 participants, but we excluded 3 participants postenrollment due to suspected fraudulent behavior (eg, providing different dates of birth at baseline and follow-up), leaving a final sample of 22 (Multimedia Appendix 1). Of these 22 participants, all identified as sexual minority (n=22, of whom 13 self-identified as bisexual, 3 self-identified as gay, and 6 self-identified as lesbian; 5 selected "queer" in addition to one of the other options) and a portion also self-identified as gender minority (n=7, of whom 3 self-identified as a trans man, 3 self-identified as genderqueer, and 1 self-identified as not sure). Over half (12/22; 55%) reported vaping as well as smoking. Ages ranged from 18 to 30, with a mean of 23.5 (SD 3.9). Over one-quarter (6/22; 27%) self-identified as racial minorities (n=1 self-identified as American Indian/Alaska Native, n=3 self-identified as Asian, n=2 self-identified as more than one race). The majority were employed (16/22; 73%) or in school (4/22; 18%) and were in a committed relationship (14/22; 64%). Average number of cigarettes smoked per day was 7.6 (SD 9.5), with a mean Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence score of 3.9 (SD 2.3). Baseline readiness to quit smoking ranged from 0 to 10 on the Contemplation Ladder, with a mean of 6.2 (SD 2.7). Regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on participants' smoking, at baseline, the majority of participants (12/22; 54.5%) indicated that their smoking had stayed the same, 7/22 (31.8%) indicated that it increased, and 3/22 (13.6%) indicated that it had decreased. At follow-up, participants reported the extent to which COVID-19 played a role in motivating them to reduce or quit smoking as not at all (3/17;17.6%), slightly (6/17; 35.3%), somewhat (2/17; 11.8%), moderately (3/17; 17.6%), or extremely (3/17; 17.6%).

Design Feasibility

We screened 118 individuals over a 1-month period to enroll 22 participants. Recruitment occurred via Facebook (61% of those screened) and Craigslist advertisements (39%). Seventeen participants completed the follow-up survey (77% data retention). All 17 completed the survey online; 8 participants completed the survey within 24 hours of receiving the link, 3 participants completed the survey after 1 or 2 email reminders, and 6 participants completed the survey after 2 email reminders and 1 or more phone call reminders. Six participants who self-reported 7-day PPA from smoking and indicated using no other sources of nicotine during those 7 days were sent a cotinine kit, and all 6 (100% adherence) submitted a photo of the completed test as requested. One participant reported abstinence from cigarettes but use of other nicotine-containing products and was not sent a cotinine test kit.

Primary Endpoint

Among those with at least 1 log-in (n=18), the mean number of log-ins was 5.5 (SD 3.6), mean sessions completed was 3.1

(SD 2.6), and 39% of participants (7/18) completed all 6 sessions. Among follow-up respondents who provided satisfaction ratings (n=15), 93% (14/15) rated EQQUAL as useful, 93% (14/15) reported being satisfied with the program, and 87% (13/15) said they would recommend it to a friend. Considering specific program components, 71% (10/14) felt that text messages were useful and 93% (14/15) reported that PDF handouts (eg, health benefits of quitting, smoking and the LGBTQ+ community) were useful. All but 1 participant (93%; 14/15) said they felt as though the program was made for them. All participants (15/15; 100%) said the program was easy to navigate, 100% (15/15) reported that they felt more clear about how they might quit as a result of using the program, and 93% (14/15) said it gave them new ways of looking at quitting.

Secondary Endpoints

Biochemically confirmed 7-day PPA was 22.7% (5/22) with missing data imputed as continued smoking (missing=smoking), and 31.3% (5/16) using the complete-case method. Self-reported 7-day PPA was 31.8% (7/22) in the missing=smoking analysis and 41% (7/17) in complete-case analyses. Participants also showed an overall increase in readiness to quit, averaging a 2.1-point increase (SD 3.0) on the 11-point Contemplation Ladder from baseline to 2 months.

To understand the relationship between smoking abstinence and "dosage" received of the EQQUAL program, we descriptively examined, as a post hoc analysis, differences in program usage between those participants who achieved biochemically confirmed, missing=smoking 7-day PPA (n=5) to those who didn't (n=17). Smoking abstainers had numerically higher program usage metrics than nonabstainers, including number of log-ins (mean 7.2, SD 3.9 for abstainers; mean 3.7, SD 3.6 for nonabstainers), number of sessions completed (mean 4.8, SD 2.7 for abstainers; mean 1.8, SD 2.3 or nonabstainers), and completion of all 6 sessions (80% of abstainers; 18% of nonabstainers).

Exploratory Endpoints

Exploration of changes in values-based action on the Valuing Questionnaire [19]) showed a modest increase in Values Progress (mean +2.9, SD 4.4) and decrease in Values Obstruction (mean -3.3, SD 7.3). Acceptance of smoking triggers on the Avoidance and Inflexibility Scale [16] showed minimal average change from baseline to follow-up (mean +0.2, SD 0.8 for the emotions subscale score, mean -0.03, SD 0.9 on the physical sensations scale). On the Multidimensional Psychological Flexibility Inventory, the change in the psychological flexibility composite score from baseline to follow-up was + 0.3 (SD 0.8), and the change in the psychological inflexibility composite score was -0.3 (SD 1.2). In sum, the mean changes in the ACT-based measures of psychological flexibility were almost all in the hypothesized direction (ie, representing increased psychological flexibility and decreased inflexibility), albeit with low overall magnitude.

On the Agent Persona Inventory, all subscale scores suggested positive overall impressions of the avatar: facilitating learning (mean 41.9, SD 9.8, on a scale of 10-50), credible (mean 20.7, SD 5.2, on a scale of 5-25), human-like (mean 19.7, SD 5.1, on

a scale of 5-25), and engaging (mean 20.4, SD 5.1, on a scale of 5-25). On items where participants rated the avatar's attributes on a 1 to 9 scale from "definitely does not describe Jen" to "definitely describes Jen," all of the positive attributes were rated highly: pleasant (mean 7.4, SD 2), likable (mean 7.5, SD 2), agreeable (mean 7.5, SD 2), trustworthy (mean 7.3, SD 2.1), sincere (mean 7.7, SD 2), supportive (mean 7, SD 2), relatable (mean 7, SD 2.3), and credible (mean 7, SD 2). Negative attributes all had lower scores: scary (mean 1.8, SD 1.4), strange (mean 2.4, SD 2), awkward (mean 2.5, SD 2.3), and judgmental (mean 2.3, SD 2.6).

Qualitative responses confirmed and extended the quantitative findings as well as suggesting specific areas for avatar improvement. Overall, we saw evidence that efforts to present Jen as human-like, supportive, nonjudgmental, and credible were effective. For example,

She encouraged me when I thought I couldn't quit smoking.

...[I liked] how she seemed very intelligent.

She made it feel like a real person was there.

...[I liked] her approachable, nonjudgmental tone.

One participant even reported of Jen,

I'm in love with her.

When asked what they would change about Jen, 2 dominant themes emerged: (1) making the body movements more natural

She just kinda moved a little awkwardly

and (2) the need for the participant to be able to see themselves in the avatar's appearance and voice

She should be a person of color so I can relate to her more.

Discussion

The aim of this work was to develop and evaluate the acceptability and preliminary efficacy of an avatar-led digital smoking cessation program targeted for sexual and gender minority young adults. The product of our user-centered design work, the EQQUAL program, demonstrated strong acceptability and efficacy in a single-arm pilot trial with 22 sexual and gender minority young adults. For example, 93% of participants (14/15) were satisfied with the EQQUAL program, 100% (15/15) found it easy to use, and 100% (15/15) said it helped them be clearer about how to quit. Both quantitative and qualitative results suggested a positive overall response to the avatar, with areas for future improvement largely centered on the avatar's appearance and movements. Regarding treatment utilization, including only those who logged in at least once (n=18), participants logged in an average of 6 times and completed an average of 3 sessions, with 39% completing all 6 sessions. This suggests that there is room for improvement in keeping users engaged with the program as a means of enhancing outcomes [24]. Indeed, our post hoc analysis suggested that there may be a relationship between engagement and outcomes given that 80% (4/5) of the participants who quit smoking completed all 6 sessions compared with only 18% (3/17) of the participants

XSL•FO

who did not quit. In addition to avatar improvements (eg, making the avatar's body movements more natural) and customization options (eg, offering choice of avatars with varying gender expression, race, ethnicity, etc), in future iterations of the program, we also plan to implement a social feature that was suggested by users in the initial user-centered design work but was out of scope for the present work. Social connectedness has been demonstrated to increase engagement in other digital programs [25] and was associated with better engagement and abstinence outcomes in an online tobacco treatment program [26,27]. In addition, to prompt continued program use, we plan to include multiple session availability reminders rather than relying on a single reminder when a new session becomes available.

Compared to the only other targeted digital intervention for sexual and gender minority young adults-a professionally moderated Facebook intervention-the self-guided EQQUAL program's biochemically confirmed quit rate was over 3 times higher (22.7% vs 7.1%) [5]. It is also 6 to 10 times higher than biochemically confirmed quit rates for the nontargeted Facebook intervention (3.7%) and the Smokefree website (1.7%) arms in the same study [5]. It is worth noting that study participants' readiness to quit smoking at baseline spanned the full range of the Contemplation Ladder, from 0 to 10, suggesting that even sexual and gender minority young adults with very low motivation to quit may be willing to engage with, and may benefit from, an intervention that is designed for smokers at all levels of quit readiness. This was the case in the original Flexiquit trial, where a 29% quit rate was obtained even though 65% of the sample reported low readiness to quit at baseline [7].

In order to understand the impact of the EQQUAL program on ACT's key theory-based change mechanisms, we included several measures of psychological flexibility, which generally showed modest theory-consistent improvements. The largest improvements were observed for the Values Questionnaire. Greater change on the Values Questionnaire may be due to the heavy emphasis on values in the first 2 sessions, with the treatment dosage of later acceptance-based content limited by less engagement with the latter sessions. Alternatively, it could be that the values-based action component of psychological flexibility precedes changes in other processes that take longer to develop in this new context of ACT for smokers across all stages of quit readiness, as has been observed in studies of ACT for other conditions [28].

This study had a number of limitations that should be considered when interpreting the results. Primary limitations stem from the small sample size and that causality cannot be determined from a single-arm pilot trial; therefore, conclusions about EQQUAL's efficacy or impact on theory-based change mechanisms are tentative and require evaluation in a larger, controlled clinical trial. Due to the small sample size, representativeness and generalizability are limited. For example, although 25% of the sample identified as a racial or ethnic minority, not every race and ethnicity could be represented. Another limitation concerning the generalizability of findings is that the data were collected during the early period of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may have impacted participants' perceptions of the

EQQUAL program and their willingness and ability to quit smoking. Based on the COVID-19-related questions that we included in the baseline and follow-up surveys, there were mixed findings regarding the pandemic's impact on smoking and motivation to reduce or quit, with some participants reporting little or no impact, some increasing their smoking, and some decreasing their smoking or experiencing increased motivation to reduce or quit smoking. Overall, the reported intensity of smoking at baseline (ie, averaging 7.6 cigarettes per day) is not atypical, as a majority of young adults smoke less than one-half pack (ie, less than 10 cigarettes) per day [29]. Another limitation is that it was not feasible in this pilot trial to conduct the testing that would allow us to biochemically verify smoking abstinence among participants who used other nicotine and tobacco products (eg, e-cigarettes). In future work, we plan to use a multimethod approach combining remote carbon monoxide monitoring with cotinine testing to address this limitation.

In spite of the study's limitations, this work is significant and innovative in 5 key respects: (1) It focuses on a tobacco-related

health disparities group that has been underserved in health-related research to date and in tobacco treatment research in particular. (2) It is the first evaluation of a self-guided digital cessation treatment for sexual and gender minority young adults, maximizing scalability and addressing sexual and gender minority youths' desire for a program targeted to their unique needs and challenges. (3) It applies a novel treatment approach and advances the science of ACT for tobacco cessation by testing its effectiveness for tobacco users at all stages of readiness to quit rather than only among those who are ready to quit. (4) The self-guided, digital format makes EQQUAL readily accessible to sexual and gender minority young adults who lack health insurance and who have low engagement and quit rates with currently available public health interventions for cessation. (5) Using avatars and interactive games as engagement strategies is substantially different than existing treatments. These strengths warrant continued development and evaluation of the EQQUAL program in a randomized controlled pilot trial.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Artemis Theofanous, Masters Candidate, at the University of Cyprus, for translating the Flexiquit program into English; Claudia Rice, BA, for assisting with treatment development; and Melissa Gasser, MS, for providing input into the program design and evaluation. The project also benefitted from the design and development work completed by Cyprus-based Silversky3D Virtual Reality Ltd, as well as Seattle-based Moby Inc. We also thank AsapSCIENCE for permitting us to use their whiteboard video, called What Happens When You Stop Smoking, in the EQQUAL intervention. Finally, we wish to thank the study participants who gave feedback in both the user-centered design and clinical trial phases of the project.

Conflicts of Interest

JLH has received research support from Pfizer.

Multimedia Appendix 1 EQQUAL participant flow diagram. [DOCX File , 40 KB - formative v5i7e30241 app1.docx]

References

- Ganz O, Johnson AL, Cohn AM, Rath J, Horn K, Vallone D, et al. Tobacco harm perceptions and use among sexual and gender minorities: findings from a national sample of young adults in the United States. Addict Behav 2018 Jun;81:104-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.01.032] [Medline: 29454177]
- Macapagal K, Bhatia R, Greene GJ. Differences in healthcare access, use, and experiences within a community sample of racially diverse lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning emerging adults. LGBT Health 2016 Dec;3(6):434-442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2015.0124] [Medline: 27726496]
- 3. Burns EK, Deaton EA, Levinson AH. Rates and reasons: disparities in low intentions to use a state smoking cessation quitline. Am J Health Promot 2011;25(5 Suppl):S59-S65. [doi: 10.4278/ajhp.100611-QUAN-183] [Medline: 21510788]
- Heffner JL, Mull KE. Smartphone ownership among US adult cigarette smokers: 2014 Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) data. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 31;19(8):e305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7953] [Medline: 28860108]
- Vogel EA, Ramo DE, Meacham MC, Prochaska JJ, Delucchi KL, Humfleet GL. The Put It Out Project (POP) Facebook intervention for young sexual and gender minority smokers: outcomes of a pilot, randomized, controlled trial. Nicotine Tob Res 2020 Aug 24;22(9):1614-1621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntz184] [Medline: 31562765]
- Hallingberg B, Turley R, Segrott J, Wight D, Craig P, Moore L, et al. Exploratory studies to decide whether and how to proceed with full-scale evaluations of public health interventions: a systematic review of guidance. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2018;4:104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-018-0290-8] [Medline: 29854417]
- 7. Karekla M, Savvides SN, Gloster A. An avatar-led intervention promotes smoking cessation in young adults: a pilot randomized clinical trial. Ann Behav Med 2020 Oct 01;54(10):747-760. [doi: <u>10.1093/abm/kaaa013</u>] [Medline: <u>32383736</u>]

- 8. Singh RS, O'Brien WH. The impact of work stress on sexual minority employees: could psychological flexibility be a helpful solution? Stress Health 2020 Feb;36(1):59-74. [doi: <u>10.1002/smi.2913</u>] [Medline: <u>31755638</u>]
- 9. Hayes SC, Luoma JB, Bond FW, Masuda A, Lillis J. Acceptance and commitment therapy: model, processes and outcomes. Behav Res Ther 2006 Jan;44(1):1-25. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2005.06.006] [Medline: 16300724]
- 10. Hayes SC. Acceptance and commitment therapy, relational frame theory, and the third wave of behavioral and cognitive therapies republished article. Behav Ther 2016 Nov;47(6):869-885. [doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2016.11.006] [Medline: 27993338]
- 11. Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerström KO. The Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerström Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991 Sep;86(9):1119-1127. [Medline: <u>1932883</u>]
- 12. Dermody SS, Heffner JL, Hinds JT, McQuoid J, Quisenberry AJ, Tan ASL, et al. We are in This Together: promoting health equity, diversity, and inclusion in tobacco research for sexual and gender minority populations. Nicotine Tob Res 2020 Dec 12;22(12):2276-2279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntaa070] [Medline: 32335682]
- 13. The Gender Identity in U.S. Surveillance Group. Best practices for asking questions to identify transgender and other gender minority respondents on population-based surveys. The Williams Institute. 2014. URL: <u>https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/Survey-Measures-Trans-GenIUSS-Sep-2014.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-30]
- SMART Research Team. Best practices for asking questions about sexual orientation on surveys. Los Angeles, CA: The Williams Institute. 2009. URL: <u>https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/</u> <u>Best-Practices-SO-Surveys-Nov-2009.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-31]
- 15. Biener L, Abrams DB. The Contemplation Ladder: validation of a measure of readiness to consider smoking cessation. Health Psychol 1991;10(5):360-365. [Medline: <u>1935872</u>]
- 16. Gifford EV, Kohlenberg BS, Hayes SC, Antonuccio DO, Piasecki MM, Rasmussen-Hall ML, et al. Acceptance-based treatment for smoking cessation. Behavior Therapy 2004;35(4):689-705. [doi: 10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80015-7]
- Bricker J, Wyszynski C, Comstock B, Heffner JL. Pilot randomized controlled trial of web-based acceptance and commitment therapy for smoking cessation. Nicotine Tob Res 2013 Oct;15(10):1756-1764 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntt056] [Medline: 23703730]
- Rolffs JL, Rogge RD, Wilson KG. Disentangling components of flexibility via the hexaflex model: development and validation of the Multidimensional Psychological Flexibility Inventory (MPFI). Assessment 2018 Jun;25(4):458-482. [doi: 10.1177/1073191116645905] [Medline: 27152011]
- 19. Smout M, Davies M, Burns N, Christie A. Development of the Valuing Questionnaire (VQ). J Contextual Behav Sci 2014 Jul;3(3):164-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.06.001]
- 20. Baylor A, Ryu J. The API (Agent Persona Instrument) for assessing pedagogical agent persona. In: Proceedings of the Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education. 2003 Presented at: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education; June 23-28; Honolulu, Hawaii, USA p. 448-451.
- Carpinella C, Wyman A, Perez M, Stroessner S. The Robotic Social Attributes Scale (RoSAS): development and validation. 2017 Presented at: ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction; March 6-9; Vienna, Austria. [doi: 10.1145/2909824.3020208]
- 22. Hayes SC, Strosahl KD, Wilson KG. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: An Experimental Approach to Behavior Change. New York: Guilford Press; 1999.
- 23. Rounsaville BJ, Carroll KM, Onken LS. A stage model of behavioral therapies research: Getting started and moving on from stage I. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice 2001;8(2):133-142. [doi: <u>10.1093/clipsy.8.2.133</u>]
- 24. Richardson A, Graham AL, Cobb N, Xiao H, Mushro A, Abrams D, et al. Engagement promotes abstinence in a web-based cessation intervention: cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(1):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2277] [Medline: 23353649]
- 25. Borghouts J, Eikey E, Mark G, De Leon C, Schueller SM, Schneider M, et al. Barriers to and facilitators of user engagement with digital mental health interventions: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 24;23(3):e24387. [doi: 10.2196/24387] [Medline: <u>33759801</u>]
- Graham AL, Zhao K, Papandonatos GD, Erar B, Wang X, Amato MS, et al. A prospective examination of online social network dynamics and smoking cessation. PLoS One 2017;12(8):e0183655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183655] [Medline: 28832621]
- 27. Meacham MC, Liang OS, Zhao M, Yang CC, Thrul J, Ramo DE. Connectedness based on shared engagement predicts remote biochemically verified quit status within smoking cessation treatment groups on Facebook. Nicotine Tob Res 2021 Jan 07;23(1):71-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntz193] [Medline: 31593592]
- Gloster AT, Klotsche J, Ciarrochi J, Eifert G, Sonntag R, Wittchen HU, et al. Increasing valued behaviors precedes reduction in suffering: findings from a randomized controlled trial using ACT. Behav Res Ther 2017 Apr;91(3):64-71. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2017.01.013] [Medline: <u>28160720</u>]
- 29. Committee on the Public Health Implications of Raising the Minimum Age for Purchasing Tobacco Products, Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice, Institute of Medicine. Patterns of tobacco use by adolescents and young adults. In: Bonnie RJSK, Kwan LY, editors. Public Health Implications of Raising the Minimum Age of Legal Access to Tobacco Products. Washington DC: National Academies Press; Jul 23, 2015.

RenderX

Abbreviations

ACT: acceptance and commitment therapy COVID-19: coronavirus disease 2019 EQQUAL: Empowered, Queer, Quitting, and Living program PPA: point prevalence abstinence

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.05.21; peer-reviewed by O Ganz, R Paz Castro; comments to author 28.05.21; revised version received 09.06.21; accepted 06.07.21; published 30.07.21.

Please cite as:

Heffner JL, Watson NL, Serfozo E, Kelly MM, Reilly ED, Kim D, Baker K, Scout NFN, Karekla M An Avatar-Led Digital Smoking Cessation Program for Sexual and Gender Minority Young Adults: Intervention Development and Results of a Single-Arm Pilot Trial JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e30241 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e30241 doi:10.2196/30241 PMID:34328430

©Jaimee L Heffner, Noreen L Watson, Edit Serfozo, Megan M Kelly, Erin D Reilly, Daniella Kim, Kelsey Baker, N F N Scout, Maria Karekla. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 30.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Improving Diabetes Self-management by Providing Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Treatment to Patients With Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Type 2 Diabetes: Qualitative Exploratory Interview Study

Ditte Hjorth Laursen^{1*}, BA, MSc, PhD; Gitte Rom^{1*}, BA; Anne Margareta Banghøj^{2*}, MD, PhD; Lise Tarnow^{2,3*}, MD, DMSc; Lone Schou^{1*}, BA, MPH, PhD

¹Institute of Nursing, University College Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

²Department of Endocrinology and Nephrology, Hillerød Hospital, Hillerød, Denmark

³Steno Diabetes Center Sjælland, Holbæk, Denmark

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Ditte Hjorth Laursen, BA, MSc, PhD Institute of Nursing University College Copenhagen Tagensvej 86 Copenhagen, 2200 Denmark Phone: 45 61303770 Email: <u>dittehjorth@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: There is a high prevalence of unexplained and unexplored obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) among patients with type 2 diabetes. The daytime symptoms of OSA include severe fatigue, cognitive problems, a decreased quality of life, and the reduced motivation to perform self-care. These symptoms impair the management of both diabetes and daily life. OSA may therefore have negative implications for diabetes self-management. Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) therapy is used to treat OSA. This treatment improves sleep quality, insulin resistance, and glycemic control. Although the benefits of using CPAP as a treatment for OSA are clear, the noncompliance rate is high, and the evidence for the perceived effect that CPAP treatment has on patients with type 2 diabetes and OSA is poor.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to analyze the impacts that comorbid diabetes and OSA have on the daily lives of older adults and to investigate the perceived effect that CPAP treatment for OSA has on patients' diabetes self-management.

Methods: A qualitative follow-up study that involved in-depth, semistructured dyad interviews with couples before and after CPAP treatment (N=22) was conducted. Patients were recruited from the Hilleroed Hospital in Denmark and were all diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, aged >18 years, and had an apnea-hypopnea index of \geq 15. All interviews were coded and analyzed via thematic analysis.

Results: The results showed that patients and their partners did not consider OSA to be a serious disorder, as they believed that OSA symptoms were similar to those of the process of aging. Patients experienced poor nocturnal sleep, took frequent daytime naps, exhibited reduced cognitive function, and had low levels of physical activity and a high-calorie diet. These factors negatively influenced their diabetes self-management. Despite the immediate benefit of CPAP treatment, most patients (11/12, 92%) faced technical challenges when using the CPAP device. Only the patients with severe OSA symptoms that affected their daily lives overcame the challenges of using the CPAP device and thereby improved their diabetes self-management. Patients with less severe symptoms rated CPAP-related challenges as more burdensome than their symptoms.

Conclusions: If used correctly, CPAP has the potential to significantly improve OSA, resulting in better sleep quality; improved physical activity; improved diet; and, in the end, better diabetes self-management. However, there are many barriers to undergoing CPAP treatment, and only few patients manage to overcome these barriers and comply with correct treatment.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27062) doi:10.2196/27062

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062
```

RenderX

KEYWORDS

diabetes; diabetes self-management; obstructive sleep apnea; continued positive airway pressure; sleep patterns; sleepiness in daily life; sleep apnea; elderly; sleep

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes is one of the most prevalent chronic diseases worldwide and is a lifelong condition with many complications [1,2] that affect the physical, psychological, and social aspects of everyday life [3]. Effective self-management by patients is an important part of diabetes care [4], but poor sleep reduces their motivation to perform self-care and thus impairs their management of both diabetes and daily life [5-7].

A high prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) has been documented among patients with diabetes; prevalence estimates range from 23% to 60% [5,8]. This range is much higher than the estimated prevalence rates of OSA in the general population, which are 6% in men and 4% in women [9]. Patients with OSA are often not aware of the nocturnal apneic events that they experience and the fact that daytime symptoms reflect an underlying disorder; thus, they do not seek help [9]. OSA is of great concern for people with diabetes [10]. Further, OSA can result in many complications that affect diabetes self-management. Some of these complications include impaired short-term memory, dietary challenges, and a lack of energy for performing physical activities and taking medicine [11]. Moreover, both OSA and diabetes substantially increase the risk of cardiovascular diseases [12].

OSA is characterized by recurrent episodes of apnea and hypopnea during sleep. It has varying levels of severity, which range from a few to several hundred apneic events per night [13]. Daytime symptoms vary from none to severe fatigue, cognitive problems, a decreased quality of life, and the reduced motivation to perform self-care [5-7]. Medication management, which is critical to diabetes self-management, can also be influenced by daytime sleepiness. The prevalence of OSA increases with age [14], and OSA increases the risk of mortality [13]. A large gap exists in literature related to the potential negative impact that comorbid OSA and diabetes have on daily life. Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) therapy is used to treat OSA. In CPAP therapy, a CPAP device is used to deliver air to a mask that patients wear over their nose and mouth and to help patients breathe consistently. Using CPAP as a treatment for OSA can improve sleep quality, mood, and functional status [6]. Furthermore, CPAP reduces the rate of nocturnal urination, cardiovascular disease risk, and the incidence of daytime sleep problems and car accidents among patients with OSA [6]. In addition, adequate CPAP therapy may improve insulin resistance and glycemic control in the long term [7,14]. However, although there are many benefits to CPAP treatment, in some studies, noncompliance rates reach up to 56%, and many patients stop using the CPAP machine during the first month [15]. There is poor evidence on the perceived effect of CPAP treatment and whether CPAP could be related to an improvement in diabetes management among patients with OSA.

The purpose of this study was to analyze the impacts that comorbid diabetes and OSA have on the daily lives of older adults and to investigate the perceived effect that CPAP treatment for OSA has on patients' diabetes self-management.

Methods

Study Design

This was a qualitative follow-up study in which dyad interviews with couples were conducted before and after CPAP treatment. Dyadic interviews draw on the interdependence of two informants as a source of data. Patients with diabetes and OSA and their partners were interviewed simultaneously via joint interviews before and after the intervention [16,17]. Conducting joint dyadic interviews prompts couples to inspire, contrast with, or support each other when exploring their situation [16] because patients often do not even register that they have sleep apnea. This qualitative study was conducted from 2016 to 2017.

Participants

Participants were recruited from Nordsjællands Hospital, wherein they were a part of a randomized controlled trial—the DiaBOSA (Diabetes and Obstructive Sleep Apnoea) trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02482584) [18].

The DiaBOSA trial analyzed different disease-related aspects of patients with type 2 diabetes and newly diagnosed OSA. Our qualitative study was a substudy of the DiaBOSA study, which used the same population.

The patient characteristics for this study were a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes; an age of >18 years; and OSA, which was defined as having an apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) \geq 15 (measured using ResMed's ApneaLink Air). An AHI of >15 indicates moderate OSA, and an AHI of >30 indicates severe OSA, according to the American Academy of Sleep Medicine guidelines [19]. All participants thus had OSA, even though they were not aware of the diagnosis prior to this study.

During patients' enrollment in the DiaBOSA trial (N=70), the physician informed the participants about the qualitative study. The authors (DHL and GR) invited the participants, seeking to enroll as many as possibly while also seeking diversity among participants in terms of sex and age. More men than women were enrolled in the DiaBOSA trial. This reflected the proportions of men and women with OSA in general. These proportions were also represented in our qualitative study.

Data Collection and Analysis

Participants were included until the interviews revealed no new information and the criteria for information power were met. The criteria included a high quality for all interviews and sufficient data for carrying out the analytical strategy [20]. The semistructured question guide covered sleep-related issues that occurred during daily living, the impact that OSA had on participants' and partners' lives, an exploration of patients' sleeping schedules with a special focus on nightly activities,

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062
```

XSL•FC RenderX

the limitations of daily living resulting from both OSA and diabetes, and the correlation between OSA and diabetes. The questions also broadly focused on all of the concerns surrounding CPAP treatment. In the data analysis, the perspective of the patients was our primary focus; the partners' perspectives were used to support the statements of the patients.

All interviews took place in patients' homes, were conducted by 1 or 2 authors, and lasted approximately 60 minutes (range 35-80 minutes). Interviews were recorded, transcribed, and coded using Nvivo version 11 (QSR International).

For the thematic analysis [21], all interviews were read in their entirety and subjected to a systematic coding process. By using Nvivo version 11, a sample of the data was coded individually by the first or second author, after which a coding manual was developed. All interviews were coded by using the manual, which was refined throughout the coding process until all data were organized into meaningful codes. During analyses, the authors discussed any coding uncertainties, and additional codes were developed. Afterward, detailed coded text segments were reviewed and condensed into potential themes [21], and content

Table 1. Patient characteristics (N=12).

within themes was reviewed to ensure that they were internally consistent and mutually exclusive.

Ethical Approval

This study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (journal number: 2012-58-0004). All participants provided written consent after being informed about anonymity and their ability to withdraw from the interview at any time without consequences for future care (in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration).

Results

Participants' Characteristics

The recruited patients—9 men and 3 women—were aged 56 to 75 years; their partners were aged 59 to 75 years. AHIs ranged from 16 to 64; 7 patients had moderate OSA with an AHI of 15 to 29, and 5 had severe OSA with an AHI of >30. The average number of years since type 2 diabetes mellitus diagnosis was 17 years (range 1-44 years), and all patients had elevated hemoglobin A_{1c} levels (range 54-85 mmol/mol; Table 1).

Characteristics	Values
Male, n	9
Patient age (years), mean (range)	67 (56-75)
Partner age (years), mean (range)	66 (59-75)
Duration of diabetes (years), mean (range)	17 (1-44)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (range)	33.9 (28.6-39.1)
HbA _{1c} ^a level (mmol/mol), mean (range)	67 (54-85)
Patients with retinopathy, n	2
Patients experiencing elevated urinary albumin excretion ^b , n	4
Vibrations perception threshold (V), mean (range)	25 (10-50)
Patients with cardiovascular disease ^c , n	4
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg), mean (range)	142 (114-174)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg), mean (range)	79 (70-91)
Apnea-hypopnea index (number of events per hour), mean (range)	31 (16-64)

^aHbA_{1c}: hemoglobin A_{1c}.

^bA urinary albumin excretion level of above 30 mg/g (albuminuria).

^cCardiovascular diseases include myocardial infarction, stroke, and coronary artery bypass graft disease.

Semistructured interviews were conducted with 22 ethnic Danes—12 patients and 10 partners—before they started CPAP treatment. A total of 16 participants (representing both patients and partners) participated in follow-up interviews 3 months after CPAP treatment. Further, 1 patient died during the follow-up period, and 2 patients did not want to participate in the follow-up interviews.

There were large differences in how the participants experienced OSA. Of the 12 patients, 6 had been affected by symptoms of OSA in their everyday lives, while 6 had never anticipated that they would be diagnosed with OSA. Depending on how they

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062

RenderX

experienced their sleep problems, there were differences in how they approached CPAP treatment. These differences had an impact on the structure of the themes for the thematic analysis. A total of 4 overall themes were identified; they are presented in the following sections: *Experiencing Sleep Apnea in Daily Living, Changing Sleep Patterns, Technical Difficulties in Using the CPAP Device*, and *Part 2: Implications for Diabetes Self-management.* The following results have thus been divided into 2 parts. Part 1 explains the impact that OSA has on daily living and the difficulties in using the CPAP device. Part 2 describes how CPAP treatment has the potential to improve participants' diabetes self-management.

All 9 follow-up patients were treated with CPAP. The time spent using the CPAP machine varied from 3 days to 3 months.

Part 1

Experiencing Sleep Apnea in Daily Living

There was a clear lack of knowledge about OSA among patients with diabetes. When being diagnosed with OSA, all participants expressed surprise about their diagnosis. One patient said:

I did not think this sleep apnea was serious, but now I can see how serious it is and how many comorbidities that follow. [Patient #1]

Both patients and partners frequently commented that they had never anticipated an OSA diagnosis. One patient said:

I had no idea that I had sleep apnea. I have never, ever thought about it. [Patient #5]

Some participants thought that being tired was simply part of becoming older. One patient stated:

I have simply interpreted it as old age beginning to present itself. [Patient #4]

Although they were told that they stopped breathing during the night, the patients had never taken it seriously or considered it to be a symptom of a disease.

A characteristic feature of OSA is constant sleepiness. Although some patients did not recognize a pattern of persistent sleepiness, it was prominently featured in the experiences of others. This was described by a female patient, as follows:

I'm tired when I get up and I'm tired when I go to bed, right, and I don't really do anything, because I'm a senior citizen. [Patient #6]

Many patients explained that when they are awake at night, they spend their time by using the computer while eating unhealthy snacks.

Changing Sleep Patterns

One of the major challenges of sleep apnea is a lack of consistent sleep; patients sleep in short intervals. One patient said:

If I sleep three hours straight, it's a lot. But it's usually two hours. [Patient #6]

Patients did not feel rested when they woke up in the morning after many short intervals of sleep during the night. This often resulted in napping during the day, and up to 4 naps were not uncommon among the study participants. The common belief among patients and partners was that napping was a natural part of becoming older. One partner stated:

When you are 67 years old, you have the right to take a nap, right? [Partner #7]

None of the patients viewed napping as a burden. Some of the partners did express concern about their nightly situations and explained what they did to make the patient breathe again. A partner said:

Well, it is not so fun to know that he is lying there not breathing...what if he does not wake up again, right? [Partner #5]

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062

The patients who were motivated to continue CPAP treatment did not have more than 1 to 2 hours of continuous sleep for a long period before starting treatment. This had had a major impact on their quality of life. Thus, they were motivated to use the CPAP device. They used the CPAP device every night for 4 to 6 hours and experienced immediate beneficial effects. A patient stated:

Then in the months I've had CPAP I've been sleeping 5-6 hours every night. The first night I slept for seven hours, uninterrupted. [Patient #5]

Another benefit that patients experienced was waking up less frequently, and if they did wake up, it was only for a short period. One patient said that before CPAP treatment, he was awake for 2 to 3 hours every night. However, after CPAP treatment, he was only awake for half an hour. Several patients indicated that after CPAP treatment, the quality of their sleep changed; they slept better, quieter, and deeper at night.

Technical Difficulties in Using the CPAP Device

Despite the immediate benefit of CPAP treatment, most of the patients experienced technical challenges when using the CPAP mask and machine. The patients who were motivated to undergo CPAP treatment quickly became accustomed to using the CPAP device. One of the typical difficulties that patients experienced was finding the mask that best fit them. Patients who experienced persistent technical challenges typically used the CPAP device for 1 to 2 hours per night if they could make it work at all. Patient #12 had to try 4 different masks before he found one that worked. A small proportion of patients (2/12, 17%) opted to stop CPAP therapy because they could not make the device work properly. Furthermore, some of the patients only tried using the mask and machine a few times before stopping CPAP therapy. For example, one patient said:

Well, I had it one night and I took it off. I could not rest at all. [Patient #7]

The main technical challenge was that the mask did not fit the shape of patients' faces. The CPAP mask did not fit tightly; therefore, air blew into patients' eyes, which made them very uncomfortable. Patients were also concerned about the hose, which can be too short or too long; they were worried that the hose would crack. Some of the partners felt annoyed by the sound of air and noise from the machine. Further, some patients found that they could not draw air and breathe freely and thus felt like they were being suffocated. One patient stated:

Yes, I did [panic], because I wasn't fully awake, and I couldn't get the mask off. It was awful. [Patient #7]

When using the CPAP device, one must breathe with their mouth shut and exhale with resistance. This was a challenge for most patients, but some became accustomed to it. One patient said:

I feel I need to adjust my breathing to the machine, but I shouldn't, it does it for me. But I'm getting used to it and it's getting better and better. And then I learned how to slow down the blowing from the machine which helped. [Patient #5]

Part 2: Implications for Diabetes Self-management

All participants reported a decline in their memory over the previous few years. This decline in short-term memory was of great concern to all patients and their partners. As several couples were very worried about this, several patients underwent testing for dementia; all tests were negative.

As shown in Table 1, all patients were receiving treatment for diabetes. Nearly all patients had developed daily routines for taking their medications on time, such as placing small notes on a table or using an alarm. Unfortunately, the notes were often misplaced, and patients often forgot to take their medicine. Additionally, two patients reported struggling with medication management due to sleepiness. One patient was often asleep when she was supposed to take her medication and struggled to manage her blood glucose levels. All patients knew that they should have a healthier diet. However, in their daily lives, they ate what they wanted and did not focus on their diabetes. Other couples explained that they often did not plan dinner in advance, which frequently resulted in eating fast food.

Participants reported consuming large amounts of candy and cake. Despite knowing that they should not eat sweets, many could not help themselves. For example, one partner said:

He feels like an addict if there is a cake. [Partner #2]

Even though many participants reported that they ate many sweets, no one thought that this was related to OSA.

Several participants described being physically active during their youth. However, at the time of the baseline interviews, more than half of participating patients (9/12, 75%) did not exercise at all, and those who were still active had reduced their exercise intensity substantially. After initiating CPAP treatment, changes were observed in factors related to patients' diabetes self-management. First, several of the patients felt well rested and healthier in the morning, and this feeling had a direct influence on their memory. They missed fewer appointments with their health care provider and could more easily recall when to take the right medicine. Some of the patients also described having the energy to eat healthier, exercise, and manage work tasks that they were not been able to perform for several years. One of the patients lost 10 kg during the 3-month test phase due to experiencing better sleep, which was the result of no longer eating during the night and being less hungry for snacks during the day. Several participants also explained how they started exercising again due to having more energy and being less tired. A combination of regular medicine intake, a well-regulated diet, and an increase in activity levels also improved several of the participants' glucose levels. Due to improved sleep, patients needed fewer naps during the daytime, which improved their social relationships and had a positive impact on their partners.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Patients with OSA and diabetes and their partners did not consider OSA to be a serious disorder that affected daily living. Despite some patients' experiences with excessive sleepiness

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062

during the day, they interpreted sleepiness and napping as natural components of aging and organized their daily activities accordingly. Since the symptoms of OSA were not familiar to participants, they did not associate these symptoms with a disease. The main outcome from the baseline interviews was that these patients performed limited amounts of daily physical activity, experienced challenges with short-term memory, and had a high intake of sweets. These factors had implications for their diabetes self-management. After using the CPAP device for 3 months, wide variations appeared among the patients. Many patients experienced technical difficulties with using the CPAP machine, which made them stop the treatment. This was often related to the fact that the mask did not fit their faces. Only the patients who were motivated to change their sleeping patterns overcame the technical difficulties. The patients who adhered to CPAP treatment after 3 months lost weight, improved their level of physical activity, improved their food intake, and had more energy in their lives. These improvements all correlated with their diabetes self-management.

Disease Management as a Daily Routine

The results show that a chronic condition can become a natural part of everyday routines. Study participants did not make conscious changes to their daily living due to a disease. Rather, their symptoms were integrated into their routines. This has been described in other studies of chronic illness [22,23]. Previous research has shown that patients correlate their feelings of being sleepy with laziness and do not associate such feelings with a medical diagnosis. This may explain why our participants adjusted their daily lives around their symptoms. Moreover, symptoms of OSA are both nonspecific and similar to those of the natural process of becoming older [24]. This provides ample room for patients' personal explanations and interpretations.

Concerned Partners

Very few studies have analyzed partners' perspectives on OSA, and most findings have indicated that partners are afraid and that many partners monitor patients' breathing at night [25,26]. Partners have also indicated that although they consider snoring to be annoying, it also provides reassurance that the patient is still breathing. We observed notable differences in partners' experiences of nighttime disturbances. Some did not mind patients' snoring and could either turn off a hearing aid or use the snoring as a kind of meditative white noise for falling asleep. Others demonstrated the findings described above and were worried that their partner might not wake up after an apneic episode. A lack of worry could be related to ignorance about OSA and its consequences.

Changed Cognitive Function

Several participants experienced challenges with short-term memory and developed corresponding strategies to overcome these challenges. Some even took a dementia test. A review found that patients with OSA and excessive daytime sleepiness may have cognitive impairments related to attention, concentration, learning, memory, and executive functions [14]. The most likely reasons behind cognitive declines are sleep problems and hypoxia. Changes in cognition may negatively affect diabetes self-management behaviors, thereby influencing

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

self-care outcomes, planning, and problem solving [27-29]. Specifically, a review showed that poor cognitive function negatively influences diabetes-specific numeracy abilities, insulin adjustment skills, adherence to medications, the frequency of performing self-care activities, the number of missed appointments, the frequency of diabetes monitoring, and the accuracy of reported blood glucose levels [29]. It is therefore important to be aware of changes in cognitive function among patients with comorbid diabetes and OSA.

Perceptions of OSA Severity Determines the Use of CPAP

Patients who do not have symptoms of fatigue and a tendency to fall asleep during the day but experience many technical challenges in CPAP treatment are less likely to continue treatment. This may be related to the fact that they doubt their OSA diagnosis and the risk of complications, as they have no obvious symptoms [24]. This was also observed in a study by Sawyer et al [30], who found that perceptions and assessments of the risk of OSA, the recognition of symptoms, and expectations of improvement in sleep are different between patients who adhere to CPAP therapy and those who do not. It was also seen in our study that patients who adhered to CPAP treatment were prepared to cope with technical and breathing challenges if they slept well at night and had more energy during the day. Patients who did not adhere to CPAP treatment did not experience the benefit of the treatment. These results are in line with those of other studies that underline the importance of using the correct mask and machine to improve sleep [31,32]. Several studies have shown that patients' experiences and perceptions of symptoms and the assessment of OSA consequences are of great importance for accepting an OSA diagnosis and undergoing CPAP treatment. Therefore, these factors are also important for increasing patients' motivation to continue treatment and their commitment to the treatment [30,32].

In addition to sleeping better at night, many patients had higher energy levels during the day, resulting in the need for fewer and shorter naps as well as increased desires and energy for performing activities. These findings are supported by several studies that show that patients undergoing CPAP treatment report less snoring, longer coherent sleep, higher energy levels, fewer conflicts with family and others, better memory, and greater activity levels [33,34].

Some partners also experience the changes that patients exhibit, such as being in a better mood during the day as well as being awake for fewer and shorter periods at night. Studies that focus on couples' experiences with CPAP therapy have shown that partners can motivate and support patients both emotionally and practically in their use of a CPAP mask. Patients have shown consideration and do not interfere with their partners at night by using CPAP, thereby motivating patients to adhere to treatment [34,35].

Technical Challenges in Using the CPAP Device

Patients' challenges with mask customization often resulted in adverse consequences in the form of eye inflammation and clogged and runny noses [26,33,34,36-38], which may have

```
https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062
```

reduced their motivation to continue using the CPAP device. Some of the patients and partners also felt annoyed by the sound of "air leaking next to the mask" and noise from the machine. Findings from other studies have suggested that these disturbances in sleep, sleep routines, and intimacy are perceived as barriers, and partners may be concerned about patients' use of the mask and machine [34,35]. Some of the patients in our study had breathing difficulties associated with CPAP treatment and were afraid of being unable to breathe. Studies have shown that patients, especially at the beginning of CPAP treatment, are afraid of wearing the mask and are challenged by the lack of control over their breathing [39,40]. These technical and respiratory challenges present a high risk of discontinuing treatment among patients; CPAP treatment has a tendency to induce feelings of claustrophobia and anxiety, which may affect patients' adherence to CPAP therapy [30,41,42]. Interventions that focus on biomedical, psychological, and social factors in CPAP treatment have resulted in positive adherence to CPAP treatment [30,43].

Dietary Improvements After CPAP Treatment

The dietary implications of OSA are highly relevant to patients with diabetes. Patients with OSA prefer more calorically dense food with a higher fat content [44,45] and have verbalized the importance of maintaining their diet. However, they have also stated that they often feel too sleepy to do anything beyond the minimum for what is expected of them [6]. The increase in their intake of high-calorie foods may be related to the effects that interrupted sleep and apnea have on the secretion of the hormones leptin and ghrelin. These effects result in a resistance to leptin and an increased secretion of ghrelin [45]. Individuals with OSA often feel hungry and prefer high-calorie food. Experiencing wakeful periods several times per night increases the likelihood of nocturnal food intake, which negatively affects glucose balance and obesity and, in turn, negatively impacts both OSA and diabetes [46,47]. Obesity is a major risk factor for OSA. The prevalence of OSA is high among patients with obesity and vice versa [48]. Weight loss may result in an improvement in the severity of OSA and, perhaps, even its resolution [48], which would also improve diabetes.

In our study, some patients and partners benefitted from dietary changes and minor weight loss. This can be understood in the context that several of the patients undergoing CPAP treatment slept better at night and had higher levels of energy and activity during the day. In a study by Bakker et al [37], it was pointed out that improvements in OSA symptoms such as snoring, apnea, and a tendency to fall asleep during the day motivate patients during CPAP treatment, while increased energy levels per day motivate patients to change their lifestyles (eg, some patients change their diet and exercise habits).

One of the patients in our study lost 10 kg during the study period, and this had an immediate effect on his glucose levels. Consequently, dietary changes and weight reduction should be particularly emphasized in the treatment of both OSA and diabetes.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Physical Improvements After CPAP Treatment

With regard to physical functions, OSA has implications for physical activity levels and the experience of subjective vigor [7]. In our study, patients reported a decline in physical activity but did not associate this with sleepiness or OSA. Instead, they described this decline as a result of a lack of motivation, lack of energy, or other chronic diseases. However, patients who were using the CPAP device correctly immediately experienced improvements in their daily levels of activity. In addition to treatment via CPAP, OSA can be improved with physical exercise. Patients with OSA who were involved in a regular, predominantly aerobic exercise program exhibited reduced levels of disease severity and daytime sleepiness as well as increased sleep efficiency and peak oxygen consumption, regardless of weight loss [49,50]. This underscores the potential value of exercise in OSA management and the importance of providing information to patients about the value of physical activity to improve both OSA and diabetes.

Strengths and Limitations

The primary strength of this study lies in our use of qualitative methods. As there is a very high prevalence of undiagnosed OSA in the population [51], new study designs are needed to understand the correlation between the two diseases. By using a qualitative design, we revealed that most patients experienced OSA symptoms. However, such information would not be captured by a questionnaire. Another strength is that we conducted dyadic interviews with patients and partners. Dyadic interviews can inspire informants to provide more information than they would during two individual interviews; however, there is a risk that some things might be left unsaid to avoid confrontation or offense.

There are some limitations to this study. Patients were recruited from a randomized controlled trial study and via self-selected participation. Therefore, they may differ from comparable patients with OSA and diabetes who chose not to participate. Additionally, only patients with moderate or severe OSA (an AHI of >15) were included; they were the most likely to exhibit daily symptoms and feel restricted by OSA. Further, our findings may not be generalizable to patients with an AHI of 5 to 15, about whom little is known in terms of treatment and how they live with OSA during their daily lives. Finally, the OSA diagnoses were made via polygraphy, which probably underestimated the AHI and subsequently misclassified patients with OSA.

Conclusion

In this study, we analyzed a group of older adults with comorbid OSA and diabetes and found that their lives were disrupted due to the two diseases and were characterized by poor sleep and frequent naps. Most often, patients are unaware of their OSA and do not seek treatment. The implications of reduced cognitive function, low levels of physical activity, and a high-calorie diet affect diabetes management and result in exacerbated diabetes. If used correctly, CPAP has the potential to significantly improve OSA, resulting in better sleep quality; improved physical activity; improved diet; and, in the end, better diabetes self-management. Nevertheless, there are many barriers to undergoing CPAP treatment, and only few patients manage to overcome these barriers and comply with correct treatment. Patients' partners play a large role in promoting the correct use of the CPAP device, which can motivate patients to continue with the treatment. Patients who correctly use the CPAP device also exhibit improvements in their diabetes self-management. It is therefore important that CPAP-related barriers are prevented via thorough instruction and assistance from health care professionals.

It is also important that patients and their relatives acquire knowledge about the symptoms of and risk factors for OSA and understand the connection between OSA and diabetes. Patients and their relatives must be aware that changes in sleep patterns, increases in fatigue during the day, and the need for extra naps can be symptoms of OSA. Thus, there is also a great need for increasing OSA awareness among health care professionals, so that they can learn to identify affected individuals and develop skills for providing screening, education, and guidance based on the needs of patients and their partners. As a result, patients can gain an understanding of OSA and skills for managing symptoms in daily life.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all of the participants for taking the time to participate in this study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Bickenbach J. The world report on disability. Disabil Soc 2011 Aug;26(5):655-658. [doi: 10.1080/09687599.2011.589198]
- Dietrich UC. Factors influencing the attitudes held by women with type II diabetes: a qualitative study. Patient Educ Couns 1996 Oct;29(1):13-23. [doi: 10.1016/0738-3991(96)00930-5] [Medline: 9006218]
- 3. Debono M, Cachia E. The impact of diabetes on psychological well being and quality of life. The role of patient education. Psychol Health Med 2007 Oct;12(5):545-555. [doi: 10.1080/13548500701235740] [Medline: 17828675]
- 4. Laursen DH, Christensen KB, Christensen U, Frølich A. Assessment of short and long-term outcomes of diabetes patient education using the health education impact questionnaire (HeiQ). BMC Res Notes 2017 Jun 15;10(1):213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-017-2536-6] [Medline: 28619041]

- 5. Chasens ER. Obstructive sleep apnea, daytime sleepiness, and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Educ 2007;33(3):475-482. [doi: 10.1177/0145721707301492] [Medline: 17570878]
- Chasens ER, Olshansky E. The experience of being sleepy while managing Type 2 diabetes. J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc 2016 Jun 29;12(5):272-278. [doi: 10.1177/1078390306295086]
- Chasens ER, Luyster FS. Effect of sleep disturbances on quality of life, diabetes self-care behavior, and patient-reported outcomes. Diabetes Spectr 2016 Feb;29(1):20-23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diaspect.29.1.20] [Medline: 26912961]
- Storgaard H, Mortensen B, Almdal T, Laub M, Tarnow L. At least one in three people with Type 2 diabetes mellitus referred to a diabetes centre has symptomatic obstructive sleep apnoea. Diabet Med 2014 Nov;31(11):1460-1467. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12477] [Medline: 24766227]
- Franklin KA, Lindberg E. Obstructive sleep apnea is a common disorder in the population-a review on the epidemiology of sleep apnea. J Thorac Dis 2015 Aug;7(8):1311-1322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.06.11] [Medline: 26380759]
- 10. Hensley M, Ray C. Sleep apnoea. BMJ Clin Evid 2009 Jun 04;2009:2301 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21726484]
- Punjabi NM. The epidemiology of adult obstructive sleep apnea. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2008 Feb 15;5(2):136-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1513/pats.200709-155MG] [Medline: 18250205]
- Goodson BL, Wung S, Archbold KH. Obstructive sleep apnea hypopnea syndrome and metabolic syndrome: a synergistic cardiovascular risk factor. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2012 Dec;24(12):695-703. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1745-7599.2012.00771.x</u>] [Medline: <u>23190127</u>]
- 13. Victor LD. Treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in primary care. Am Fam Physician 2004 Feb 01;69(3):561-568 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14971838]
- 14. Zhou J, Camacho M, Tang X, Kushida CA. A review of neurocognitive function and obstructive sleep apnea with or without daytime sleepiness. Sleep Med 2016 Jul;23:99-108. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sleep.2016.02.008</u>] [Medline: <u>27288049</u>]
- Pépin JL, Krieger J, Rodenstein D, Cornette A, Sforza E, Delguste P, et al. Effective compliance during the first 3 months of continuous positive airway pressure. A European prospective study of 121 patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999 Oct;160(4):1124-1129. [doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.160.4.9802027] [Medline: 10508797]
- Eisikovits Z, Koren C. Approaches to and outcomes of dyadic interview analysis. Qual Health Res 2010 Dec;20(12):1642-1655. [doi: 10.1177/1049732310376520] [Medline: 20663940]
- 17. Morgan DL, Ataie J, Carder P, Hoffman K. Introducing dyadic interviews as a method for collecting qualitative data. Qual Health Res 2013 Sep;23(9):1276-1284. [doi: 10.1177/1049732313501889] [Medline: 23925406]
- Kristiansen MH, Banghøj AM, Laugesen E, Tarnow L. Impact of CPAP treatment on arterial stiffness in patients with T2DM and newly diagnosed obstructive sleep apnoea. ClinicalTrials.gov. 2015. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/</u> <u>NCT02482584</u> [accessed 2021-07-16]
- 19. Epstein LJ, Kristo D, Strollo PJ, Friedman N, Malhotra A, Patil SP, Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea Task Force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. Clinical guideline for the evaluation, management and long-term care of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. J Clin Sleep Med 2009 Jun 15;5(3):263-276 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19960649</u>]
- 20. Malterud K, Siersma VD, Guassora AD. Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. Qual Health Res 2016 Nov;26(13):1753-1760. [doi: 10.1177/1049732315617444] [Medline: 26613970]
- 21. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 22. Alonzo AA. Everyday illness behavior: a situational approach to health status deviations. Soc Sci Med 1979 Jun;13A(4):397-404. [Medline: <u>572993</u>]
- 23. Wind G. Implied stories: Living With Chronic Disease in an Anthrological Perspective. Aarhus, Denmark: ViaSystime; 2009.
- 24. Zarhin D. Contesting medicalisation, doubting the diagnosis: patients' ambivalence towards the diagnosis of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea. Social Health Illn 2015 Jun;37(5):715-730. [doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.12229] [Medline: 25683493]
- 25. Stålkrantz A, Broström A, Wiberg J, Svanborg E, Malm D. Everyday life for the spouses of patients with untreated OSA syndrome. Scand J Caring Sci 2012 Jun;26(2):324-332. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1471-6712.2011.00937.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22077540</u>]
- Henry D, Rosenthal L. "Listening for his breath:" the significance of gender and partner reporting on the diagnosis, management, and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea. Soc Sci Med 2013 Feb;79:48-56. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.05.021] [Medline: 22770968]
- Chaytor NS, Riddlesworth TD, Bzdick S, Odegard PS, Gray SL, Lock J, T1D Exchange Severe Hypoglycemia in Older Adults with Type 1 Diabetes Study Group. The relationship between neuropsychological assessment, numeracy, and functional status in older adults with type 1 diabetes. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2017 Jun;27(4):507-521. [doi: 10.1080/09602011.2015.1116448] [Medline: 26605669]
- Primožič S, Tavčar R, Avbelj M, Dernovšek MZ, Oblak MR. Specific cognitive abilities are associated with diabetes self-management behavior among patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012 Jan;95(1):48-54. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2011.09.004] [Medline: 21963107]
- 29. Tomlin A, Sinclair A. The influence of cognition on self-management of type 2 diabetes in older people. Psychol Res Behav Manag 2016 Jan 21;9:7-20. [doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S36238] [Medline: 26855601]

RenderX

- 30. Sawyer AM, Deatrick JA, Kuna ST, Weaver TE. Differences in perceptions of the diagnosis and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea and continuous positive airway pressure therapy among adherers and nonadherers. Qual Health Res 2010 Jul;20(7):873-892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732310365502] [Medline: 20354236]
- 31. Wang Y, Gao W, Sun M, Chen B. Adherence to CPAP in patients with obstructive sleep apnea in a Chinese population. Respir Care 2012 Feb;57(2):238-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4187/respcare.01136] [Medline: 21762553]
- 32. Drake CL, Day R, Hudgel D, Stefadu Y, Parks M, Syron ML, et al. Sleep during titration predicts continuous positive airway pressure compliance. Sleep 2003 May 01;26(3):308-311. [doi: 10.1093/sleep/26.3.308] [Medline: 12749550]
- 33. Hu S, Yu C, Lee P, Tsao L. Life experiences among obstructive sleep apnoea patients receiving continuous positive airway pressure therapy. J Clin Nurs 2014 Jan;23(1-2):268-278. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.12414] [Medline: 24313940]
- Luyster FS, Dunbar-Jacob J, Aloia MS, Martire LM, Buysse DJ, Strollo PJ. Patient and partner experiences with obstructive sleep apnea and CPAP treatment: A qualitative analysis. Behav Sleep Med 2016;14(1):67-84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15402002.2014.946597] [Medline: 25203283]
- Ye L, Antonelli MT, Willis DG, Kayser K, Malhotra A, Patel SR. Couples' experiences with continuous positive airway pressure treatment: a dyadic perspective. Sleep Health 2017 Oct;3(5):362-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2017.07.003] [Medline: 28923193]
- 36. Sawyer AM, Gooneratne NS, Marcus CL, Ofer D, Richards KC, Weaver TE. A systematic review of CPAP adherence across age groups: clinical and empiric insights for developing CPAP adherence interventions. Sleep Med Rev 2011 Dec;15(6):343-356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2011.01.003] [Medline: 21652236]
- 37. Bakker JP, O'Keeffe KM, Neill AM, Campbell AJ. Continuous positive airway pressure treatment for obstructive sleep apnoea: Maori, Pacific and New Zealand European experiences. J Prim Health Care 2014 Sep 01;6(3):221-228. [Medline: 25194249]
- 38. Weaver TE, Sawyer AM. Adherence to continuous positive airway pressure treatment for obstructive sleep apnoea: implications for future interventions. Indian J Med Res 2010 Feb;131:245-258 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20308750]
- 39. Broström A, Johansson P, Albers J, Wiberg J, Svanborg E, Fridlund B. 6-month CPAP-treatment in a young male patient with severe obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome a case study from the couple's perspective. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2008 Jun;7(2):103-112. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2006.11.004] [Medline: 17291832]
- 40. Broström A, Nilsen P, Johansson P, Ulander M, Strömberg A, Svanborg E, et al. Putative facilitators and barriers for adherence to CPAP treatment in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a qualitative content analysis. Sleep Med 2010 Feb;11(2):126-130. [doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2009.04.010] [Medline: 20004615]
- 41. Chasens ER, Pack AI, Maislin G, Dinges DF, Weaver TE. Claustrophobia and adherence to CPAP treatment. West J Nurs Res 2005 Apr;27(3):307-321. [doi: 10.1177/0193945904273283] [Medline: 15781905]
- 42. Means MK, Ulmer CS, Edinger JD. Ethnic differences in continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) adherence in veterans with and without psychiatric disorders. Behav Sleep Med 2010;8(4):260-273. [doi: 10.1080/15402002.2010.509255] [Medline: 20924838]
- 43. Crawford MR, Espie CA, Bartlett DJ, Grunstein RR. Integrating psychology and medicine in CPAP adherence--new concepts? Sleep Med Rev 2014 Apr;18(2):123-139. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.smrv.2013.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>23725820</u>]
- 44. Smith SS, Waight C, Doyle G, Rossa KR, Sullivan KA. Liking for high fat foods in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. Appetite 2014 Jul;78:185-192. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.appet.2014.03.019</u>] [Medline: <u>24699392</u>]
- 45. Spiegel K, Tasali E, Penev P, Van Cauter E. Brief communication: Sleep curtailment in healthy young men is associated with decreased leptin levels, elevated ghrelin levels, and increased hunger and appetite. Ann Intern Med 2004 Dec 07;141(11):846-850. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-141-11-200412070-00008] [Medline: 15583226]
- 46. Martínez Cerón E, Casitas Mateos R, García-Río F. Sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome and type 2 diabetes. A reciprocal relationship? Arch Bronconeumol 2015 Mar;51(3):128-139. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.arbres.2014.06.017</u>] [Medline: <u>25145320</u>]
- 47. Martins RC, Andersen ML, Tufik S. The reciprocal interaction between sleep and type 2 diabetes mellitus: facts and perspectives. Braz J Med Biol Res 2008 Mar;41(3):180-187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/s0100-879x2006005000194] [Medline: 18060321]
- Cowan DC, Livingston E. Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome and weight loss: review. Sleep Disord 2012;2012:163296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/163296] [Medline: 23471145]
- 49. Andrade FMDD, Pedrosa RP. The role of physical exercise in obstructive sleep apnea. J Bras Pneumol 2016;42(6):457-464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/S1806-37562016000000156] [Medline: 28117479]
- Iftikhar IH, Kline CE, Youngstedt SD. Effects of exercise training on sleep apnea: a meta-analysis. Lung 2014 Feb;192(1):175-184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00408-013-9511-3] [Medline: 24077936]
- 51. Westlake K, Polak J. Screening for obstructive sleep apnea in type 2 diabetes patients Questionnaires are not good enough. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2016 Sep 13;7:124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00124] [Medline: 27679608]

Abbreviations

RenderX

AHI: apnea-hypopnea index **CPAP:** continuous positive airway pressure

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062

DiaBOSA: Diabetes and Obstructive Sleep Apnoea **OSA:** obstructive sleep apnea

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.01.21; peer-reviewed by S Prior, I Bouloukaki; comments to author 07.02.21; revised version received 03.04.21; accepted 31.05.21; published 20.07.21.

Please cite as:

Laursen DH, Rom G, Banghøj AM, Tarnow L, Schou L Improving Diabetes Self-management by Providing Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Treatment to Patients With Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Type 2 Diabetes: Qualitative Exploratory Interview Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e27062 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e27062 doi:10.2196/27062 PMID:34283032

©Ditte Hjorth Laursen, Gitte Rom, Anne Margareta Banghøj, Lise Tarnow, Lone Schou. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 20.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Social Media as a Platform for Recruitment to a National Survey During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Feasibility and Cost Analysis

Heidi Green^{1,2}, BN, MPH; Ritin Fernandez^{1,2}, MN, PhD; Catherine MacPhail³, BA, PhD

¹School of Nursing, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia ²Centre for Research in Nursing and Health, St George Hospital, Kogarah, Australia

³School of Health and Society, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, Australia

Corresponding Author: Heidi Green, BN, MPH School of Nursing University of Wollongong Northfields Ave 2522 Wollongong Australia Phone: 61 0412108532 Email: <u>Heidi.Lord@health.nsw.gov.au</u>

Abstract

Background: With improved accessibility to social media globally, health researchers are capitalizing on social media platforms to recruit participants for research studies. This has particularly been the case during the COVID-19 pandemic, when researchers were not able to use traditional methods of recruitment. Nevertheless, there is limited evidence on the feasibility of social media for recruiting a national sample.

Objective: This paper describes the use of social media as a tool for recruiting a national sample of adults to a web-based survey during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: Between August and October 2020, participants were recruited through Facebook via two advertisement campaigns (paid option and no-cost option) into a web-based survey exploring the relationship between social determinants of health and well-being of adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. Data were analyzed using SPSS software and Facebook metrics that were autogenerated by Facebook Ads Manager. Poststratification weights were calculated to match the Australian population on the basis of gender, age, and state or territory based on the 2016 Australian census data.

Results: In total, 9594 people were reached nationally with the paid option and potentially 902,000 people were reached through the no-cost option, resulting in a total of 1211 survey responses. The total cost of the advertisement campaign was Aus \$649.66 (US \$489.23), resulting in an overall cost per click of Aus \$0.25 (US \$0.19).

Conclusions: Facebook is a feasible and cost-effective method of recruiting participants for a web-based survey, enabling recruitment of population groups that are considered hard to reach or marginalized. Recruitment through Facebook facilitated diversity, with participants varying in socioeconomic status, geographical location, educational attainment, and age.

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e28656) doi:10.2196/28656

KEYWORDS

social media; survey; online recruitment; COVID-19; pandemic; methodology

Introduction

RenderX

Numerous strategies such as newspaper advertisements, random mail out of surveys, and random digit dialing have been used to recruit participants into population health research. However, implementation of these traditional strategies in modern society has limitations due to the reduced use of landline phones and

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28656

increased postage costs [1,2], which make these recruitment methods less feasible. Additionally, these approaches have low participation rates ranging from 7.5% [3] to 30% [4]. With improved access to the internet globally, particularly through mobile phones, social media has become an active part of modern society [5]. Public health researchers have harnessed social media and web platforms as a modality for recruitment

into population health research [6,7]. Used as more than just a method to connect with friends and family, social media platforms are increasingly used for sharing content, engaging with news content, entertainment, and receiving health information. The most popular social media platforms globally are Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, and Instagram [8], with over 4 billion users. Social media platforms enable users to connect and share information through both traditional and interactive methods, with most platforms allowing free use [9].

According to the Australian Communications and Media Authority [10], in 2018-19, approximately 91% of all Australians had access to the internet. In 2016-17, 80% of Australians used the internet for social networking [11] compared with 66% in 2011 [12], with an average of 1.2 social media accounts per Australian [8]. Facebook is the most popular social media platform among Australians, with approximately 93% of Australian social media consumers using this platform, followed closely by Instagram at 73% [13]. Moreover, almost 60% of Australians use social media daily [8].

Given the increased prevalence of daily social media use among Australians, social media platforms have been increasingly used as a viable method for recruiting participants into health research [14]. More specifically, social media platforms allow researchers to access hard-to-reach populations as well as target recruitment through the use of advertising campaigns to specific users based on gender, geographical location, interests, and age [9]. Social media use has been harnessed by heath researchers to recruit participants into a range of studies, including cross-sectional studies, observational studies, and interventional studies [5], particularly due to the cost-effectiveness of this recruitment method. There is evidence in the literature that health researchers have recruited participants and delivered health behavior interventions on a variety of topics. The success of these interventions has demonstrated the efficacy of social media as a suitable method for accessing participants [1,5,15-17]. However, a substantial number of studies use a localized sample.

Our study engaged the use of social media with the purpose of generating a national sample of Australian adults to explore the relationship between the social determinants of health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. Currently, there is limited evidence available on the feasibility of social media for recruiting a national sample. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to describe the feasibility of using social media as a tool for recruiting a national sample of adults to a web-based survey during the COVID-19 pandemic. Feasibility was assessed in terms of reach, time invested in recruitment, number of surveys completed, cost-effectiveness, and recruitment of a diverse sample of participants.

Methods

Study Overview

The research study was undertaken to investigate the relationship between social determinants of health and well-being in Australian adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. Ethical approval to conduct this study was received from University of Wollongong Human Ethics Committee (2020/306). The inclusion criteria for the study were individuals aged 18 years and above, with the ability to read English and residing in any state or territory within Australia. Participants were recruited using Facebook over a 9-week period between August and October 2020. Participants were required to complete a web-based survey comprising 49 questions exploring social determinants of health. They were invited to enter a draw to win one of 10 Aus \$50 gift vouchers at the end of the survey with winners selected randomly using SPSS software (version 25). A currency exchange rate of Aus \$1=US \$0.75 is applicable.

Recruitment Strategy

Recruitment for this study using Facebook was achieved by the following two methods: (1) joining existing community noticeboard Facebook groups (ie, no-cost option), and (2) through a paid Facebook advertisement campaign (ie, paid option). Both methods enabled snowball sampling where users could like, share, and circulate the social media post among others.

Joining Existing Community Noticeboard Groups on Facebook (No-Cost Option)

A specific Facebook page was created for the study using a study image. To ensure national representation, the primary author (HG) identified existing Facebook community noticeboard groups, according to Australian states and territories as well as based on urban, regional, and remote areas. The author contacted the administrators of each individual community group for permission to join. Each week, if permitted by the administrators, the advertisement was reposted on each of the community noticeboard group pages. Posting on the existing community noticeboard groups began on August 20, 2020, and ended on October 14, 2020.

Facebook Advertising Campaign (Paid Option)

To supplement the no-cost Facebook community noticeboard group approach, a paid advertisement through Facebook, which included Instagram, was designed to recruit participants. Two consecutive advertisement campaigns were set up, with the first campaign used to establish the feasibility of this strategy.

The Facebook advertisement platform, Facebook Ads Manager, was used to create paid advertisements. The features available for a payment allows the advertisement to be customized based on objective (eg, links or clicks to a web-based survey), target audience (eg, location, age, gender, interests, and behaviors), budget, and schedule [18]. Selecting the "automatic placements" option when setting up the advertisement in Facebook Ads Manager allowed the advertisements to run across associated services such as Instagram, Messenger, and Facebook Audience Network (ie, off-Facebook in-app advertising network for mobile apps).

These Facebook advertisements comprised a main text (eg, "Tell us how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected your health and wellbeing. Take our survey and go in the draw to WIN 1 of 10 Aus \$50 gift vouchers"), an image (ie, the study image and university logo), and display link (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Paid Facebook and Instagram advertisements-example post.



Heidi Green Sponsored · @

Tell us how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected your health and wellbeing. Take our survey and go in the draw to WINsee more





A budget of Aus \$650 was set as the maximum recruitment spend for the paid campaigns, with a daily limit of Aus \$25. The cost per click can vary depending upon the number of clicks on the advertisement and the amount of the daily budget reached.

The first campaign was set as "engagement" (targeting people most likely to engage with the post through one of the following mechanisms: share, like, or click). The target audience for the first campaign was (1) people residing in Australia, (2) people aged 18-35 years inclusive, (3) people of all genders, and (4) people residing within certain postcodes. The primary researcher used the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Index of Relative Socio-Economic Advantage and Disadvantage (IRSAD) to set these specific postcodes. These postcodes were used to ensure the distribution of the ad campaign targeted potential participants in both relative advantaged and disadvantaged locations. The "automatic placements" option on Facebook was used, which allows the campaign to maximize the set budget and dissemination of the advertisement to a larger sample relevant to the inclusion criteria [18].

Next, the "post engagement" strategy was selected, enabling delivery to the people who are likely to share, like, and comment on the post at the lowest cost [18]. The first Facebook advertisement campaign ran from August 25, 2020, to September 1, 2020.

The second campaign employed the same strategies as the first advertisement campaign; however, the target audience locations were identified using suburbs set by ABS's IRSAD. This was undertaken as suburbs can contain multiple postcodes thus increasing the target audience. The use of the ABS's IRSAD suburbs allowed a general representation of both advantaged and disadvantaged locations, enabling diversity in targeting potential participants. The second campaign ran from September 6, 2020, to September 22, 2020.

Throughout the recruitment period, the Facebook posts were monitored daily to ensure that any comments, including individuals opportunistically using the advertisement to promote businesses, were hidden from other Facebook users. This was undertaken to ensure potential respondents were not influenced to either participate or be discouraged from participating in the survey. Additionally, monitoring the comments and hiding them from other potential participants was conducted for ethical reasons as a way of protecting any potential participants' identities. Automatic hiding of comments is not available as an option within Facebook's delivery system and, therefore, it had to be conducted manually.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS software (version 25). Poststratification weights were calculated to match the Australian population on the basis of gender, age, and state or



RenderX

territory based on the 2016 Australian census [19], to account for over- or underrepresentation of certain people.

Facebook metrics were collected through Facebook Ads Manager, which auto generates the engagement activity for each advertisement campaign [18]. Summary and descriptive statistics including reach, impressions, and cost per click were analyzed for each campaign and for the overall campaign. "Reached" refers to the number of people who were shown the advertisement, "impressions" refers to the number of times the advertisement was on-screen for the target audience and could include multiple views of the advertisement by the same individual. "Cost per click" is derived from the total advertisement campaign spend divided by the number of clicks on the advertisement or the link [18].

Results

Recruitment Through Facebook (No-Cost Option)

The primary researcher (HG) made a request to the administrators of 110 existing Facebook community noticeboard groups to join those groups. All community groups approached approved the author's request to join. Posts and reposts to the existing community noticeboard group Facebook pages were conducted 10 times over the 9-week period commencing on August 21, 2020, and the last repost made on October 14, 2020. Using this option implies that no data on the individuals reached or impressions recorded is available to researchers through Facebook Ads Manager; however, the number of members in each community noticeboard group were available with a potential reach of 902,000 individuals. Nationally, each community noticeboard group had an average of 8205 group members, with slightly higher than the national average seen for Queensland and Australian Capital Territory, at 11,097 and 12,230 average total members per noticeboard community group, respectively. In contrast, South Australia and Victoria had marginally lower average members per group than the national average, with 6480 and 6287 members, respectively. Additionally, a comparison between the no-cost and paid options to determine the most cost-effective option was not possible, as both recruitment methods sent participants to the same survey link; therefore, no there was disaggregation between the options the participants used to reach the survey page.

Recruitment Through Facebook (Paid Option)

An aggregated 9594 individuals were reached via the two paid advertisement campaigns; however, a total of 14,232 impressions were recorded. The Facebook advertisement campaign reached 5316 (55.4%) male, 4062 (42.3%) female, and 216 (2.3%) users with uncategorized gender. Using the automatic placements option, most placements were conducted through Instagram, reaching 5846 individuals, whereas Facebook reached 3856 individuals. The remainder of individuals were reached through Facebook Audience Network.

Strengths and Limitations of Facebook (No-Cost Option)

The greatest advantage in using the no-cost option is that there are no monetary costs associated with recruiting participants. However, it must be noted that the researchers had to continually repost the ad to the community noticeboard groups to ensure visibility, as the post would move down a user's feed once posts had been posted by another group or member; this in turn proved to be labor intensive. Additionally, during the first few days of recruitment, responses from the no-cost option were received predominantly from individuals aged 35 years and above. Therefore, to supplement this approach, the paid option was used and intentionally designed to target younger potential respondents.

Strengths and Limitations of Facebook (Paid Option)

The paid option allowed the researchers to specifically target younger potential respondents across not only Facebook but also Instagram, Messenger, and Facebook Audience Network. Furthermore, the paid option allows the researcher to customize the ad based on their objective and to create a specific schedule of when the ads will be seen [18]. This was particularly important to recruit a diverse national sample of participants. The drawback with using the paid option was the associated monetary costs, albeit being able to design the campaign to have a daily limit, the reach of potential participants did not guarantee actual respondents.

Overall Response to Survey

A total of 1211 individuals responded to the survey, with 100% meeting the eligibility criteria. The survey took respondents approximately 9 minutes to complete. Of the 1211 who commenced the survey, 1137 (93.89%) respondents completed it.

The number of responses received varied per day among the paid and no-cost recruitment options, with the highest number of responses (n=178) received on August 21, 2020, and the lowest (n=0), on October 21, 2020. In the first week the survey was live, a total of 326 responses were received, which was the most responses received over the 9-week period. Due to the no-cost and paid options running concurrently for the first 5 weeks, using the same survey link, the numbers of participants recruited through each option are unknown. Overall response to the survey per week for the no-cost and paid options are outlined in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Overall response to the survey (no-cost and paid options).



Cost Analysis

For the paid option, the total amount spent on the Facebook advertisement campaigns was Aus \$649.66, with the average overall cost per click (per post engagement) reported at Aus \$0.25. Individuals aged 18-24 years accounted for Aus \$419.79 (64.6%) of the total advertisement budget, whereas individuals in the 25-34 age group accounted for Aus \$192.49 (37.1%), those aged 35 years accounted for Aus \$37.38 (7.6%). The majority of the advertisement spend was using Instagram, with a total spend of Aus \$598.39. Facebook advertisement total spend was through Facebook Audience Network. The lowest cost per click day was on the 8 September 2020 at Aus \$0.16, with the highest cost per click of Aus \$0.32 on September 18, 2020.

More male participants engaged with the Facebook advertisement campaign compared to female participants, with the former accounting for 60.4% (Aus \$392.35) of the total spend. Women in the 25-34 age group account for the highest cost per click at Aus \$0.28.

Time

Economically, Facebook advertising campaigns are a feasible method to recruit participants into a web-based survey, requiring the use of a single researcher to create, manage, and maintain the recruitment strategy. The total number of hours spent by the researcher, including management of the no-cost option of posting on existing community noticeboard groups within Facebook, was a total of 30 hours over the 9-week period. The benefit of using Facebook's features of selecting a target audience, and posting on existing community noticeboard groups enabled recruitment of a large sample within a short timeframe, with a relatively low cost of Aus \$649.66. The cost-effectiveness and ability to recruit a large sample provides evidence to suggest that Facebook recruitment is a feasible option for public health researchers.

Distribution of Respondents

Participants from diverse geographic, education, and employment backgrounds were recruited through these two Facebook methods. Responses were received from all states (n=6) and territories (n=2) within Australia. Based on weighted data from 1211 participants, most responses received from New South Wales at 34.4% (n=387), whereas 0.4% (n=5) were received from the Northern Territory. Responses were received from 40.4% (n=447) participants living in locations classified as having the two lowest socioeconomic status brackets and 41.2% (n=646) participants living in locations classified as having two highest socioeconomic status brackets. Responses were received from 662 (58.8%) residents in major cities, 373 (23.1%) residents in inner or outer regional areas, and 70 (6.2%) residents in remote or very remote areas of Australia. Educational attainment varied among the respondents, with 36.1% (n=406) having at least a bachelor's degree, 20.2% (n=239) having a completed technical college, and 22.2% (n=250) had completed years 7 to 12 of high school. Responses received from those aged 25-39 years and 40-59 years was 30.2% (n=340) and 35.5% (n=40), respectively. The mean age of the respondents was 46.3 (SD 16.3) years. Responses received from female participants accounted for 51.7% (n=582) and that from male participants accounted for 48.3% (n=545). Unweighted data for transgender or nonbinary population was 2.6% (n=30). Weighted and unweighted distribution of respondents are detailed in Table 1.

Table 1. Distribution of respondents (nonweighted and weighted).

Green et al

Characteristic	Nonweighted data	Weighted data
Age (years), mean (SD)	43 (14.2)	46.3 (16.3)
Age range (years), n (%)		
18-24	118 (9.7)	101 (8.9)
25-40	413 (34.1)	340 (30.2)
41-60	464 (38.3)	400 (35.5)
61-75	135 (11.1)	227 (20.2)
>75	7 (0.6)	59 (5.2)
Gender, n (%)		
Women	938 (80.7)	582 (51.7)
Men	194 (16.7)	545 (48.3)
Nonbinary or transgender	30 (2.6)	N/A ^a
Education, n (%)		
Completed years 7 to 12 high school	240 (20.7)	250 (22.2)
Vocational	253 (21.8)	239 (21.2)
Bachelor's degree	437 (37.7)	406 (36.1)
Postgraduate degree	230 (19.8)	230 (20.4)
State or territory, n (%)		
New South Wales	695 (59.8)	387 (34.4)
Victoria	181 (15.6)	305 (27.0)
Queensland	127 (10.9)	219 (19.4)
Western Australia	91 (7.8)	118 (10.5)
South Australia	17 (1.5)	57 (5.1)
Northern Territory	19 (1.6)	5 (0.4)
Australian Capital Territory	19 (1.6)	18 (1.6)
Tasmania	13 (1.1)	19 (1.7)
Remoteness, n (%)		
Major cities	709 (62.1)	662 (58.8)
Inner regional	256 (22.4)	224 (19.9)
Outer regional	112 (9.8)	149 (13.2)
Remote	20 (1.8)	12 (1.1)
Very remote	45 (3.9)	58 (5.1)
Socioeconomic status, n (%)		
Lowest (most disadvantaged)	157 (13.8)	188 (16.6)
Low	252 (22.1)	259 (23)
Middle	210 (18.4)	194 (17.2)
High	193 (16.9)	182 (16.1)
Highest (most advantaged)	328 (28.8)	282 (25.1)

^aN/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study reports on the feasibility of using Facebook to recruit a national sample of participants. The findings demonstrate Facebook to be an efficient and effective method to recruit both a large and diverse sample of respondents. We recruited a total of 1211 respondents, with weighted data demonstrating recruitment was representative of the Australian population. The average cost per click for the paid option was Aus \$0.25 with 9594 people reached. The no-cost option potentially reached 902,000 people, with an average number of 8205 members in each community noticeboard group. The findings of this study have implications for public health researchers seeking to recruit study participants through social media sites such as Facebook and contribute to the emerging evidence regarding the ability of social media to reach diverse populations groups.

Overall, the no-cost and paid Facebook advertisements used in this study proved to be an effective method for recruiting a large national sample of the Australian population. Although concerns have been raised in the literature regarding the digital divide [20], the accessibility of Facebook and Instagram globally and nationally refutes this notion [8]. The literature confirms that social media advertisement is a viable method to recruit marginalized population groups and those considered hard to reach [21,22]. The focus of this recruitment strategy was a diverse national sample of adults. The targeted paid advertisements for this study were achieved using the ABS's IRSAD postcode and suburbs to target a diverse audience, which proved effective, with respondents varying in socioeconomic status, remoteness, educational attainment and age. The representation of regional and remote area-based participants shows the potential benefit of using social media to recruit a segment that traditionally has been quite difficult to reach [14]; this can also be said from those from low-socioeconomic backgrounds [17]. However, it must be noted that gender was not diverse in this study with participants identifying as female overrepresented. This similar to the experience of other studies, in which male, nonbinary, and transgender participants are underrepresented [23,24]. Traditionally, female participants have been overrepresented in surveys and interviews, suggested to be due to the gender differences in communication [25]. Surveys require a willingness to disclose some personal information and often having to express more socioemotional behaviors. These are traits that are historically characterized by females and may therefore contribute to their greater participation in survey research [25]. Moreover, when engaging on the internet, female users are more likely to communicate and exchange information, whereas male users prefer to information seek [26].

The advantage of using Facebook's paid advertisement campaigns is that it can be set to target a specific audience, and set a daily cost limit. This is especially useful for researchers who are working within limited funding arrangements. Minimizing research costs and maximizing recruitment opportunities can be achieved with the use of social media for

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28656

population health research. Social media recruitment desirability has also increased during the COVID-19 pandemic [27,28], with traditional methods unable to be used to recruit participants due to the public health measures used to combat the transmission of COVID-19.

Compared with the paid advertisement, the no-cost Facebook method of recruitment was time intensive, by virtue of having to contact administrators for permission to join groups and the ongoing posts and reposts to the group pages to ensure continued visibility. However, it can be said that traditional methods of participant recruitment such as mailed surveys are often more labor intensive and expensive [29]. A number of studies have been conducted comparing social media recruitment and traditional methods, suggesting that social media is more effective for cost and time [16,17,30]. Indeed, social media recruitment through both the paid and no-cost options, as demonstrated in this study, represent a cost-effective method of recruitment into a population health survey.

Surprisingly, in week 7, a total of 198 responses were received; this coincided with a long weekend in 3 Australian States (New South Wales, Queensland, and South Australia) and one territory (Australian Capital Territory) and may have increased the response rates in this week. This finding suggests that targeting social media recruitment over weekends and when people have spare time, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic when people may have been in lockdown over the long weekend, may provide a good opportunity for recruitment.

Limitations

Although this study used robust methods, there are some limitations that need to be acknowledged. First, there is potential for bias due to exposure to the advertisement being associated with time spent on Facebook (and therefore not the same for each user), especially with the community noticeboard groups where visibility of the post depended on when potential respondents were on Facebook.

Second, the feasibility of Facebook as a recruitment tool can be impacted by Facebook's automated advertising algorithms and metrics. Facebook sets advertising algorithms to determine the most appropriate advertisements to show to a specific audience. However, this is also impacted by Facebook as a business wanting to provide the user with a good experience. The metrics used by Facebook can be difficult to comprehend, which in turn can be challenging for researchers, particularly when they are not familiar with interpreting the metrics or following previously published social media recruitment protocols.

Third, only one online survey link was established for this study, which meant that being able to track respondents from each recruitment option was impossible. Future research employing both no-cost and paid options should use two separate links to enable a more robust comparison of the two options.

Despite male participants engaging with the Facebook advertisement campaigns more than women, they are underrepresented in this study. Approaches to increase male participation in online surveys needs to be explored.

XSL•FO RenderX

of health during the COVID-19 pandemic. The diversity of

participants recruited in this study, in terms of socioeconomic

status, remoteness, educational attainment, and age, promotes and confirms the feasibility of social media to recruit

hard-to-reach population groups as well as a diverse sample of

the national population. The benefits of using Facebook should

be considered by population health researchers when

implementing health research in the future.

Finally, further qualitative studies need to be conducted to understand why individuals choose or decline to participant in research advertised through social media.

Conclusions

Recruitment through social media, specifically Facebook, allowed for a cost-effective and efficient method for recruiting a national sample of participants for a web-based survey about the relationship between well-being and the social determinants

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Bennetts SK, Hokke S, Crawford S, Hackworth NJ, Leach LS, Nguyen C, et al. Using paid and free Facebook methods to recruit Australian parents to an online survey: an evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 06;21(3):e11206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11206] [Medline: 30839282]
- Shaver LG, Khawer A, Yi Y, Aubrey-Bassler K, Etchegary H, Roebothan B, et al. Using Facebook advertising to recruit representative samples: feasibility assessment of a cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 Aug 19;21(8):e14021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14021] [Medline: 31429409]
- Sinclair M, O'Toole J, Malawaraarachchi M, Leder K. Comparison of response rates and cost-effectiveness for a community-based survey: postal, internet and telephone modes with generic or personalised recruitment approaches. BMC Med Res Methodol 2012 Aug 31;12(1):132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-132] [Medline: 22938205]
- 4. Larson PD. A note on mail surveys and response rates in logistics research. Journal of Business Logistics 2005;26(2):211-222. [doi: 10.1002/j.2158-1592.2005.tb00212.x]
- Arigo D, Pagoto S, Carter-Harris L, Lillie SE, Nebeker C. Using social media for health research: methodological and ethical considerations for recruitment and intervention delivery. Digit Health 2018;4:2055207618771757 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207618771757] [Medline: 29942634]
- Nelson EJ, Loux T, Arnold LD, Siddiqui ST, Schootman M. Obtaining contextually relevant geographic data using Facebook recruitment in public health studies. Health Place 2019 Jan;55:37-42. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>30466814</u>]
- Yuan P, Bare MG, Johnson MO, Saberi P. Using online social media for recruitment of human immunodeficiency virus-positive participants: a cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2014 May 01;16(5):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3229] [Medline: 24784982]
- 8. Digital 2020 Global Digital Overview. We Are Social and Hootsuite. 2020. URL: <u>https://wearesocial-net.</u> <u>s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/common/reports/digital-2020/digital-2020-global.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- Khatri C, Chapman SJ, Glasbey J, Kelly M, Nepogodiev D, Bhangu A, STARSurg Committee. Social media and internet driven study recruitment: evaluating a new model for promoting collaborator engagement and participation. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0118899 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118899] [Medline: 25775005]
- 10. Communications report 2018–19. Australian Communications and Media Authority. 2020 Feb 27. URL: <u>https://www.acma.gov.au/publications/2020-02/report/communications-report-2018-19</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 11. Household use of information technology. Australian Bureau of Statistics. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/industry/</u> technology-and-innovation/household-use-information-technology/latest-release [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 12. Household Use of Information Technology, Australia, 2012-13. Australian Bureau of Statistics. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/lookup/8146.0Media%20Release12012-13</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 13. Trends in online behaviour and technology usage. Australian Communications and Media Authority. URL: <u>https://www.acma.gov.au/publications/2020-09/report/trends-online-behaviour-and-technology-usage</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- Russomanno J, Patterson JG, Jabson Tree JM. Social media recruitment of marginalized, hard-to-reach populations: development of recruitment and monitoring guidelines. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2019 Dec 02;5(4):e14886 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/14886</u>] [Medline: <u>31789598</u>]
- 15. O'Connor A, Jackson L, Goldsmith L, Skirton H. Can I get a retweet please? health research recruitment and the Twittersphere. J Adv Nurs 2014 Mar;70(3):599-609. [doi: 10.1111/jan.12222] [Medline: 23909740]
- Thornton L, Batterham PJ, Fassnacht DB, Kay-Lambkin F, Calear AL, Hunt S. Recruiting for health, medical or psychosocial research using Facebook: Systematic review. Internet Interv 2016 May;4:72-81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.02.001] [Medline: 30135792]

RenderX

- 17. Topolovec-Vranic J, Natarajan K. The use of social media in recruitment for medical research studies: a scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Nov 07;18(11):e286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5698] [Medline: 27821383]
- 18. Ads Manager Basics. Facebook. URL: <u>https://en-gb.facebook.com/business/help/</u> 282701548912119?id=649869995454285&ref=fbb_budgeting [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 19. 2016 Census QuickStats. Australian Bureau of Statistics. URL: <u>https://quickstats.censusdata.abs.gov.au/census_services/</u> <u>getproduct/census/2016/quickstat/036?opendocument</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 20. Stellefson M, Chaney B, Chaney D. The digital divide in health education. Am J Health Educ 2013 Jan 23;39(2):106-112. [doi: 10.1080/19325037.2008.10599023]
- Burgess JD, Kimble RM, Watt K, Cameron CM. The adoption of social media to recruit participants for the cool runnings randomized controlled trial in Australia. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Oct 24;6(10):e200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.8189] [Medline: 29066427]
- Pechmann C, Phillips C, Calder D, Prochaska JJ. Facebook recruitment using zip codes to improve diversity in health research: longitudinal observational study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 05;22(6):e17554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17554] [Medline: 32501274]
- 23. Smith WG. Does gender influence online survey participation? A record-linkage analysis of university faculty online survey response behavior. ERIC Document Reproduction Service No ED501717. 2008. URL: <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED501717</u> [accessed 2021-06-30]
- 24. Kwak N, Radler B. A comparison between mail and web surveys: Response pattern, respondent profile, and data quality. J Off Stat 2002;18(2):257-273.
- 25. Slauson-Blevins K, Johnson K. Doing gender, doing surveys? women's gatekeeping and men's non-participation in multi-actor reproductive surveys. Sociol Inq 2016 Jun 17;86(3):427-449. [doi: <u>10.1111/soin.12122</u>] [Medline: <u>22489612</u>]
- 26. Jackson L, Ervin K, Gardner P, Schmitt N. Gender and the internet: women communicating and men searching. Sex Roles 2001;44(5):363-379 [FREE Full text]
- Ali SH, Foreman J, Capasso A, Jones AM, Tozan Y, DiClemente RJ. Social media as a recruitment platform for a nationwide online survey of COVID-19 knowledge, beliefs, and practices in the United States: methodology and feasibility analysis. BMC Med Res Methodol 2020 May 13;20(1):116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-020-01011-0] [Medline: 32404050]
- Saberi P. Research in the time of coronavirus: continuing ongoing studies in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. AIDS Behav 2020 Aug 18;24(8):2232-2235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-020-02868-4] [Medline: 32303924]
- 29. Gaupp-Berghausen M, Raser E, Anaya-Boig E, Avila-Palencia I, de Nazelle A, Dons E, et al. Evaluation of different recruitment methods: longitudinal, web-based, Pan-European Physical Activity Through Sustainable Transport Approaches (PASTA) Project. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 09;21(5):e11492 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11492] [Medline: 31066715]
- 30. Whitaker C, Stevelink S, Fear N. The use of Facebook in recruiting participants for health research purposes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 28;19(8):e290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7071] [Medline: 28851679]

Abbreviations

ASB: Australian Bureau of Statistics

IRSAD: Index of Relative Socio-Economic Advantage and Disadvantage

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.03.21; peer-reviewed by S Fletcher-Lartey, Y Kim; comments to author 05.04.21; revised version received 17.04.21; accepted 19.05.21; published 06.07.21.

Please cite as: Green H, Fernandez R, MacPhail C Social Media as a Platform for Recruitment to a National Survey During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Feasibility and Cost Analysis JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e28656 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e28656 doi:10.2196/28656 PMID:34133315

©Heidi Green, Ritin Fernandez, Catherine MacPhail. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 06.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Measuring the Impact of COVID-19 on Siyan Mental Health Patients Using the Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory: Survey Study

Anish Shah¹, MD; Michele Darling², PhD; Olivia Arstein-Kerslake², BS; Tiffany Morgan¹, MHSA; Aubreen Vance Tovrea¹, LCSW; James Young¹, DO; Helen Laines¹

¹Siyan Clinical Corporation, Santa Rosa, CA, United States

²LPC Consulting Associates, Sacramento, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Anish Shah, MD Siyan Clinical Corporation 480 Tesconi Cir B Santa Rosa, CA, 95401 United States Phone: 1 707 206 7273 Email: ashah@siyanclinical.com

Abstract

Background: Recent research has shown that the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and social isolation on people's mental health are quite extensive, but there are limited studies on the effects of the pandemic on patients with mental health disorders.

Objective: The objective of this study was to assess the negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on individuals who have previously sought treatment for a mental health disorder.

Methods: This study uses the newly developed Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory (EPII) survey. This tool was designed to assess tangible impacts of epidemics and pandemics across personal and social life domains. From November 9, 2020, to February 18, 2021, a total of 245 adults recruited from a mental health clinic completed the consent form and responded to the survey link from the Siyan Clinical Corporation and Siyan Clinical Research practices located in Santa Rosa, California, USA.

Results: We found that the least affected age group included individuals aged 75 years or older. This was followed closely by the 65- to 75-year-old age group. People with children under the age of 18 years also reported both more negative indicators associated with the pandemic and more positive indicators compared to those without children at home. Gender queer, nonconforming, and transgender individuals may also be at higher risk for more negative impacts associated with the pandemic. When respondents were assessed with regard to their mental health diagnosis, no differences were noted. Substance use also increased during the pandemic.

Conclusions: In conclusion, the data collected here may serve as foundational research in the prevention, care, and treatment of mental health disorders during pandemics such as COVID-19. Populations such as those with previously diagnosed mental health disorders are particularly at risk for negative effects of pandemic-related stressors such as social isolation, especially if they have children in the household, are part of a younger age group, or have substance use disorder. Gender may also be a factor. Further, the EPII survey may prove to be a useful tool in understanding these effects. Overall, these data may be a critical step toward understanding the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on populations with a mental health diagnosis, which may aid mental health practitioners in understanding the consequences of pandemics on their patients' overall well-being.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04568135; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04568135

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e29952) doi:10.2196/29952

KEYWORDS

RenderX

COVID-19; coronavirus; pandemic; mental health; social isolation; wellness

Introduction

The World Health Organization announced that the COVID-19 outbreak had become a global pandemic on March 11, 2020. One year later, approximately 29.5 million people within the United States alone had been infected with the COVID-19 virus [1]. To combat this deadly infection, countries such as the United States took actions including social distancing, mask mandates, closures of schools and universities, remote or home-based working, and travel restrictions. However, although effective from a public health perspective, the potential impacts of the pandemic and social isolation on people's mental health and on the mental health care system are extensive.

Research published since the height of the COVID-19 pandemic demonstrates the deleterious effects of this event on psychological well-being. One cross-sectional study conducted across 34 hospitals in China demonstrated that among health care workers exposed to COVID-19, women, nurses, those in Wuhan, and frontline health care workers have a high risk of developing negative mental health outcomes and may need psychological support or interventions [2]. In the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers in China observed that 53.8% of survey respondents rated the psychological impact of the outbreak as moderate or severe, 16.5% reported moderate to severe depressive symptoms, and 28.8% reported moderate to severe anxiety symptoms [3]. Finally, another study conducted in China of about 18,000 social media users and their online posts demonstrated that COVID-19 was associated with an increase in negative emotions, such as anxiety, depression, and anger, and a decrease in positive emotions and life satisfaction [4].

The effects of COVID-19 have been far-reaching beyond China, however, and the impact of the virus has been felt across the globe. Within the United States, a survey conducted during the last week of March 2020 showed that 72% of Americans felt that their lives were impacted by the outbreak, a 32% increase from the survey conducted only 2 weeks earlier [5]. In the United Kingdom, the prevalence of clinically significant levels of mental distress rose from 18.9% in 2018-2019 to 27.3% in April 2020, one month into their own lockdown; further, these changes in mental health were greatest among young adults (aged 18 to 34 years), women, and people living with young children [6]. Problems with psychological well-being were also observed in Australia. For instance, during the first month of the stage 2 COVID - 19 restrictions, mental health problems were widespread among Australians; in addition, about one - quarter of survey respondents reported mild to moderate symptoms of depression or anxiety [7].

The primary goal of this study was to describe the impacts of COVID-19 on a population of residents in the United States who had previously sought psychiatric services at the Siyan Clinical Corporation and Siyan Clinical Research practices located in Santa Rosa, California. Our objective was to assess the impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic on participants with previously diagnosed psychiatric disorders to identify areas of needed support and services. We were interested in whether or not there were any differences in the impact of the COVID-19

pandemic based on features such as age, gender, and mental health diagnosis. The data collected may serve as foundational research in the prevention, care, and treatment of mental health disorders during pandemics such as COVID-19. We also used a newly developed tool, the Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory (EPII) survey, to assess tangible impacts of epidemics and pandemics across personal and social life domains.

Methods

Recruitment

Approximately 3500 adult patients in the Siyan Clinical Corporation and Siyan Clinical Research practices (Santa Rosa, California, USA) were invited to participate in a one-time anonymous survey to assess tangible impacts of epidemics and pandemics across personal and social life domains. Siyan staff derived a list of patients from the Siyan electronic health record system who met eligibility criteria and sent an email inviting them to participate in the survey, explaining the purpose of the survey, how Siyan will use the survey results, and how the survey will be administered. Interested patients signed and returned an informed consent form (ICF) and then received a link to the online survey. A total of 326 patients out of 3500 completed the consent form and received the survey link from Siyan, for a response rate of 9.3%. Of these 326 patients, a total of 245 people responded from November 9, 2020, to February 18, 2021, for a completion rate of 75.2% among those who had completed the consent form. Patients received a US \$10 eGift card from Starbucks upon completion of the survey.

These procedures were reviewed by the Advarra Institutional Review Board (IRB) and informed consent was obtained from all participants. The protocol, ICFs, principal investigator curriculum vitae, and all subject-facing and recruitment materials were submitted to the Advarra IRB for review in June 2020. A notice of intent was sent to the authors of the EPII survey prior to IRB submission. The ICF collection process was outlined in the approved protocol and most patients signed the ICFs via Adobe Sign. The data were collected through an approved process utilizing the Alchemer cloud-based integrated feedback platform. In September 2020, the protocol was determined to be IRB exempt by Advarra. This study was conducted using ethical principles derived from international guidelines including the Declaration of Helsinki and the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences International Ethical Guidelines.

This study was reviewed and published on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT04568135) on September 29, 2020.

The Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory

The EPII is a newly developed, 92-item tool designed to determine the impacts of epidemics and pandemics in personal and social life domains developed by Grasso and colleagues [8,9]. The EPII is divided into 10 subcategories, with a varying number of indicators in each subcategory: work and employment, education and training, home life, social activities, economic activities, emotional health and well-being, physical health problems, physical distancing and quarantine, infection history, and positive change. All domains except for *positive*

```
XSL•FO
```

change indicate negative or adverse experiences. Respondents were presented with indicators in each subcategory and asked, "Since the coronavirus disease pandemic began, what has changed for you or your family?" Participants then responded with *yes, me;yes, person in home;no*; or *N*/A (not applicable).

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion Criteria

A participant had to meet the following criteria to be eligible to participate in this study:

- 1. Voluntarily agreed to participate in the study under their own free will and was willing and able to agree to an e-ICF indicating that he or she understood the purpose of the study, he or she understood the procedures that were required for the study, and that he or she was willing to participate in the study.
- 2. Was female or male and between the ages of 18 and 80 years, inclusive, at the time of consent.
- 3. Was receiving or had previously received psychiatric services from Siyan Clinical Corporation and/or Siyan Clinical Research practices.
- 4. Was capable of understanding and complying with study requirements.
- 5. Had agreed to the e-ICF. No study-related procedures would be performed before the participant had agreed to the consent letter.

Exclusion Criteria

A participant who met any of the following criteria were excluded from this study:

- 1. Had a known diagnosis of dementia.
- 2. Was under the age of 18 years or over the age of 80 years.

Data Analysis

Following the analytic approach taken in a preliminary report [9] using the EPII, the two *yes* responses (*yes, me; yes, person*

in home) were collapsed, as were the *no* and *N/A* responses, to create dichotomous indicators. For the sake of this analysis, the nine *negative* subcategories were combined to form an overall *negative impacts* category, reporting the average number of indicators with *yes* responses. Results from the subcategories were also reported. Exploratory statistical analyses have also been performed. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post hoc tests, Student *t* tests, or chi-square tests were used, where appropriate. Results are reported as mean (SD) throughout the text, while figures show mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical significance was defined as *P*<.05.

Results

Sample Characteristics

Table 1 details the sociodemographic characteristics of the sample. Most of the sample self-identified as female (76.3%) and White (84.5%). About half (54.2%) of the sample reported being currently employed. The majority of the sample reported being diagnosed with mood disorders (76.3%) or anxiety disorders (76.3%). Note that individuals could select multiple mental health diagnoses on the survey. Additionally, nearly half (47.8%) of the sample reported earning a bachelor's degree or higher. We also compared the age and gender distributions in our sample against the population that sample was drawn from in chi-square analyses. We found no differences in the expected distribution of the age of the subjects (χ^2_2 =7.2, P=.33; N=245). However, we did find a significant effect of sex distribution between the sample and the population ($\chi^2_6=107.5$, P<.001; N=245). This large effect was likely driven by the disproportionate number of women that completed the survey (women comprised 76.3% of the sample but only 57.9% of the population).



Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the sample.

Variable		Respondents (N=245), n (%)		
Age (years)				
18 to 24		25 (10.2)		
25 to 34		39 (15.9)		
35 to 44		57 (23.3)		
45 to 54		40 (16.3)		
55 to 64		47 (19.2)		
65 to 74		24 (9.8)		
75 or old	ler	13 (5.3)		
Gender				
Female		187 (76.3)		
Male		52 (21.2)		
Other (g	ender queer, nonconforming, or transgender)	6 (2.4)		
Ethnicity				
America	n Indian or Alaska Native	7 (2.1)		
Asian		5 (2.0)		
Black or	African American	5 (2.0)		
Hispanio	e or Latino	24 (9.8)		
White		207 (84.5)		
Other		6 (2.4)		
Undisclo	osed	9 (3.7)		
Education				
Less that	n high school	3 (1.2)		
Graduat	ed high school	20 (8.2)		
Trade or	technical school	8 (3.3)		
Some co	ollege, no degree	62 (25.3)		
Associat	te degree	34 (13.9)		
Bachelo	r's degree	74 (30.2)		
Advance	ed degree (master's degree, PhD, or MD)	43 (17.6)		
Undisclo	osed	1 (0.4)		
Children un	der 18 years of age living at home			
Yes		80 (32.7)		
No		162 (66.1)		
Undiscle	osed	3 (1.2)		
Employmen	t status			
Employe	ed, full time	98 (40.0)		
Employe	ed, part time	35 (14.3)		
Unemple	oyed, disabled	22 (9.0)		
Unemple	oyed, looking for work	19 (7.8)		
Unemple	oyed, not looking for work	6 (2.4)		
Unemple	oyed, retired	32 (13.1)		
Unemple	oyed, volunteer work	1 (0.4)		
Other-	write in	29 (11.8)		

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29952



Variable	Respondents (N=245), n (%)	Respondents (N=245), n (%)	
Undisclosed	3 (1.2)		
Mental health diagnosis			
Anxiety disorders	187 (76.3)		
Eating disorders	50 (20.4)		
Mood disorders	187 (76.3)		
Personality disorders	8 (3.3)		
Psychotic disorders	2 (0.8)		
Substance abuse disorders	29 (11.8)		
Trauma-related disorders	75 (30.6)		
Other	19 (7.8)		
Undisclosed	7 (2.9)		
Marital status			
Divorced	33 (13.5)		
Married or domestic partner	135 (55.1)		
Separated	7 (2.9)		
Single or never married	58 (23.7)		
Widowed	9 (3.7)		
Other	1 (0.4)		
Undisclosed	1 (0.4)		

Overall Analysis

On average, respondents selected *yes* to 22.96 (SD 8.75) negative indicators, out of a total of 73 negative indicators. Respondents selected *yes* to 6.76 (SD 3.61) positive indicators on average, out of a total of 19 positive indicators.

Age

Overall, there was a significant effect of age ($F_{6, 238}$ = 5.292, P<.001) (Figure 1). The 75-years-or-older age group (n=13) had the lowest number of negative indicators, with an average of 14.92 (SD 5.45) across all negative categories (ie, work and employment, education and training, home life, social activities,

economic activities, emotional health and well-being, physical health problems, physical distancing and quarantine, and infection history). Tukey post hoc comparisons showed that the 75-years-or-older age group had significantly fewer negative indicators compared to the 18- to 24-year-old age group (P=.004), the 25- to 34-year-old age group (P=.03), the 35- to 44-year-old age group (P=.04). The 65- to 75-year-old age group (n=24) reported the next lowest number of negative indicators, with an average of 18.08 (SD 5.83) negative indicators. Specifically, they reported fewer negative indicators compared to the 18- to 24-year-old age group (P=.03) and the 35- to 44-year-old age group (P=.03).



Figure 1. Average number of negative indicators by age. Respondents who were 75 years of age or older reported the lowest number of negative indicators (mean 14.92) on the Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory. The 65- to 75-year-old respondents reported the next lowest number of negative indicators (mean 18.08). Results are shown as mean (displayed on the bars) \pm standard error of the mean (whiskers). *P* values were derived from a Tukey post hoc test.



Gender

We also analyzed the reported number of negative and positive indicators as a function of gender. In a one-way ANOVA analysis, the average negative indicators trended toward significance between men, women, and other gender queer, nonconforming, or transgender individuals ($F_{2, 242}$ =2.980,

P=.053) (Figure 2A). Tukey post hoc comparisons showed that men tended to report fewer negative indicators than gender queer, nonconforming, or transgender individuals (P=.052), while women also reported significantly fewer negative indicators than this group (P=.04). There was a nonsignificant effect of positive indicators across genders ($F_{2,242}$ =2.073, P=.13) (Figure 2B).



Figure 2. Negative (A) and positive (B) indicators were analyzed as a function of gender. Gender queer, nonconforming, and transgender individuals reported more negative indicators than men and women, on average. Results are reported as mean (displayed on the bars) \pm standard error of the mean (whiskers). *P* values are overlaid on the figure.



Stay at Home

An additional topic of interest was whether there would be any differences between respondents who completed the survey before, during, or after the stay-at-home order. Time frames aligned with the dates when the California regional stay-at-home order was implemented (December 3, 2020) and lifted (January 25, 2021). Therefore, the time frames before, during, and after the stay-at-home order were defined as follows, and surveys were aggregated along these dates:

- 1. Pre–stay-at-home order: surveys completed before December 3, 2020.
- 2. During stay-at-home order: surveys completed from December 4, 2020, to January 25, 2021.
- 3. Post-stay-at-home order: surveys completed on January 26, 2021, or after.

It is relevant to note that the sample size for the pre–stay-at-home order group was much smaller (n=17) than that of the during stay-at-home order group (n=135) and the post–stay-at-home order group (n=93). There were minimal differences across groups: the average number of negative indicators was 22.53 (SD 7.04) for the pre–stay-at-home order group, 23.3 (SD 8.93) for the during stay-at-home order group, and 22.54 (SD 8.83) for the post–stay-at-home order group ($F_{2,242}$ =0.2281, P=.80). The average number of positive indicators was 5.06 (SD 3.05) for the pre–stay-at-home order group, 7.07 (SD 3.89) for the during stay-at-home order group, and 6.61 (SD 3.20) for the post–stay-at-home order group ($F_{2,242}$ =2.491, P=.09).

XSL•FO RenderX

Having Children

Respondents with children under 18 years living at home (n=80) reported a significantly higher number of overall negative impacts (mean 27.84, SD 8.20), on average, compared to respondents without children under 18 years living at home (n=162) (mean 20.57, SD 7.95) (t_{240} =6.623, P<.001) (Figure 3A). However, respondents with children under 18 years living at home also had a significantly higher number of positive impacts (mean 7.51, SD 4.00), on average, compared to respondents without children under 18 years living at home (mean 6.32, SD 3.28) (t_{240} =2.465, P=.01) (Figure 3B). The difference between respondents with and without children was greatest in the home life subcategory, with an average number of impacts of 4.34 (SD 2.18) for respondents with children under 18 years living at home compared to 1.27 (SD 1.76) for respondents without children under 18 years living at home $(t_{240}=11.77, P<.001).$

Figure 3. Average number of negative indicators (A) and positive indicators (B) as a function of having children living at home. Respondents with children under 18 years of age living at home (n=80) reported higher numbers of overall negative and positive impacts compared to respondents without children under 18 years of age living at home (n=162). Results are shown as mean (displayed on the bars) \pm standard error of the mean (whiskers). P values were calculated from Student t tests.



Β 10 .01 Average # of Positive Indicators 8 6 4 Children 18 Living at Home Children 18 Living at Home No Children 18 Living at Home 2 6.32

Most Impacted Subcategories

Overview

The social activities subcategory showed the greatest impact from COVID-19. This category had 10 questions in total, with an average of 5.88 (SD 1.90) yes, me or yes, person in home responses. The next most impacted category was emotional health and well-being, with an average of 3.96 (SD 1.61) yes responses, followed by physical health and well-being, with an average of 3.93 (SD 1.55) yes responses.

Substance Abuse During COVID-19

About one-third (86/245, 35.1%) of the respondents reported an increase in the use of alcohol or substances.

Mental Health Diagnosis

The most prevailing mental health diagnosis in the data set was mood disorder (187/245, 76.3%) and anxiety disorders (187/245, 76.3%); the next most prevalent diagnosis was trauma-related disorder (75/245, 30.6%). However, there was no effect of mental health diagnosis on the number of negative indicators reported on the EPII ($F_{6, 531}$ =1.452, P=.19) (Figure 4).



RenderX

Figure 4. Average number of negative indicators as a function of mental health diagnosis. Results are shown as mean (displayed on the bars) \pm standard error of the mean (whiskers).



Positive Change

The most reported indicator in *positive change* was "More appreciative of things usually taken for granted" (192/245, 78.4%), followed by "More quality time with family or friends

in person or from a distance" (eg, on the phone, email, social media, video conferencing, and online gaming) (141/245, 57.6%) and "Paid more attention to personal health" (141/245, 57.6%) (Figure 5).

Figure 5. Top five positive indicators. The most reported indicator in positive change was "More appreciative of things usually taken for granted," followed by "More quality time with family or friends in person or from a distance".



Most Impacted Indicators

Table 2 outlines the top two indicators in each subcategory with the highest percentage of respondents reporting *yes, me* or *yes, person in home.*

RenderX

Table 2. The most impacted indicators.

Su	bcategory and survey items ^a	Respondents (N=245), n (%) ^b
W	ork and employment	
	Increase in workload or work responsibilities.	121 (49.4)
	Had to continue to work even though in close contact with people who might be infected (eg, customers, patients, and coworkers)	113 (46.1)
Ed	ucation and training (only two indicators in this subcategory)	
	Had a child in the home who could not go to school	91 (37.1)
	Adult unable to go to school or training for weeks or had to withdraw	48 (19.6)
He	ome life	
	Increase in verbal arguments or conflict with a partner or spouse	94 (38.4)
	Had to spend a lot more time taking care of a family member	68 (27.8)
So	cial activities	
	Family celebrations canceled or restricted	235 (95.9)
	Separated from family or close friends	218 (89.0)
Ec	onomic activities	
	Unable to pay important bills like rent or utilities	43 (17.6)
	Difficulty getting places due to less access to public transportation or concerns about safety	33 (13.5)
En	notional health and well-being	
	Spent more time on screens and devices (eg, looking at phone, playing video games, and watching TV)	228 (93.1)
	Increase in mental health problems or symptoms (eg, mood, anxiety, and stress)	223 (91.0)
Physical health problems		
	More time sitting down or being sedentary	227 (92.7)
	Less physical activity or exercise	206 (84.1)
Ph	ysical distancing and quarantine	
	Isolated or quarantined due to possible exposure to this disease	134 (54.7)
	Limited physical closeness with child or loved one due to concerns of infection	130 (53.1)
In	fection history	
	Death of close friend or family member from this disease	41 (16.7)
	Had symptoms of this disease but was never tested	18 (7.3)
Ро	sitive change	
	More appreciative of things usually taken for granted	192 (78.4)
	More quality time with family or friends in person or from a distance (eg, on the phone, email, social media, video conferencing, and online gaming)	141 (57.6)

^aThe top two indicators in each subcategory with the highest percentage of respondents reporting yes, me or yes, person in home are listed. ^bValues reported are the number of respondents combined who answered yes, me or yes, person in home.

Discussion

Overall, in this study, we showed that people who have previously sought mental health treatment reported many negative indicators associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. The least affected age groups included individuals who were 75 years or older and 65 to 75 years old. People with children under the age of 18 years living in the household also reported both more negative indicators and more positive indicators than those without minors living in the home. A marginal effect of gender was noted, but these results should be carefully

https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29952

XSL•FO RenderX interpreted, as the sample was not absolutely representative of the population. No effect of mental health diagnosis was noted. Furthermore, this study demonstrates the utility of Grasso and colleagues' [8] EPII survey in measuring the impacts of epidemics and pandemics in personal and social life domains. Surveys such as this one can help us determine which groups of patients are most at risk of experiencing deleterious effects during stressful situations, such as pandemic lockdowns.

The results of this study are largely in line with other recent findings. For instance, other survey-based research during the

COVID-19 pandemic has also shown that older adults appeared to have a more optimistic outlook and better mental health during the early stages of the pandemic [10]. Similarly, other work has shown that younger age predicted more concerns about the threat of COVID-19 across multiple life domains, lower positive affect, higher negative affect, and less frequent positive events [11]. Although we did not see any notable differences in the answers of respondents who completed the survey before, during, or after the stay-at-home orders in the state of California, one study conducted in New Zealand did, in fact, find that the countrywide lockdown had a significant psychological toll on a demographically representative sample of 2010 adult New Zealanders [12].

Our finding that people with minor children living at home experienced more negative indicators is also in line with other recent studies. For example, one survey of parents in the United States during the pandemic found that 27% of parents reported worsening mental health for themselves, and 14% reported worsening behavioral health for their children; further, this worsening of mental health for parents occurred alongside worsening behavioral health for children in nearly 10% of families, among whom 48% reported loss of regular child care, 16% reported change in insurance status, and 11% reported worsening food security due to the pandemic [13]. However, interestingly, these same individuals with children living at home also reported more positive indicators. Taken together with the results of our study, future policy decisions during pandemics, as well as decisions made by mental health practitioners, should keep in mind the special needs of families, particularly those with young children.

Other researchers have also observed, such as we did, that substance use increased during the COVID-19 pandemic, as

did other negative mental health outcomes. In one survey of Americans, 40.9% of respondents reported at least one adverse mental or behavioral health condition, including symptoms of anxiety disorder or depressive disorder (30.9%), symptoms of a trauma- and stressor-related disorder related to the pandemic (26.3%), and having started or increased substance use to cope with stress or emotions related to COVID-19 (13.3%) [14].

The data collected here may serve as foundational research in the prevention, care, and treatment of mental health disorders during pandemics such as COVID-19. Dissemination of this new tool, the EPII survey, may be a useful way of measuring the impacts of epidemic- and pandemic-level events not only in this country, but across the world. Understanding how individuals, particularly those individuals at risk due to mental illness, are impacted by events such as COVID-19 may be helpful for determining ways to mitigate the effects of this stress. Further dissemination of this knowledge could be achieved through additional papers, such as this one, that utilize the EPII and presentations or posters at mental health conferences. Without a doubt, more can be done.

In conclusion, we found that people with children under the age of 18 years were most affected by the pandemic. Older age also seemed to be associated with fewer indications of experiencing negative impacts of COVID-19. Gender queer, nonconforming, and transgender individuals may also be at higher risk for negative impacts of COVID-19. No effect of mental health diagnosis was noted. Substance use also tended to increase during the pandemic. Finally, the EPII survey can indeed assess tangible impacts of epidemics and pandemics across personal and social life domains, and it may be a useful tool for future studies that aim to examine the impact of stressful situations on at-risk populations.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded, in part, by a grant from SAMHSA (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration) Emergency Response for Suicide Prevention (grant 5 H79 TI081478-03).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. COVID Data Tracker. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker</u> [accessed 2021-03-20]
- Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Mar 02;3(3):e203976 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976] [Medline: 32202646]
- 3. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 06;17(5):1729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729] [Medline: 32155789]
- Li S, Wang Y, Xue J, Zhao N, Zhu T. The impact of COVID-19 epidemic declaration on psychological consequences: A study on active Weibo users. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 19;17(6):2032 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17062032] [Medline: 32204411]
- Hamel L, Lopes C, Muñana J, Kates M, Michaud J, Brodie M. KFF Coronavirus Poll: March 2020. San Francisco, CA: Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF); 2020 Mar 17. URL: <u>https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/poll-finding/kff-coronavirus-poll-march-2020/</u> [accessed 2020-03-17]
JMIR FORMATIVE RESEARCH

- Pierce M, Hope H, Ford T, Hatch S, Hotopf M, John A, et al. Mental health before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: A longitudinal probability sample survey of the UK population. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Oct;7(10):883-892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30308-4] [Medline: 32707037]
- Fisher JR, Tran TD, Hammarberg K, Sastry J, Nguyen H, Rowe H, et al. Mental health of people in Australia in the first month of COVID-19 restrictions: A national survey. Med J Aust 2020 Nov;213(10):458-464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5694/mja2.50831] [Medline: 33107063]
- Grasso DJ, Briggs-Gowan MJ, Ford JD, Carter AS. The Epidemic Pandemic Impacts Inventory (EPII). Farmington, CT: University of Connecticut School of Medicine; 2020. URL: <u>https://health.uconn.edu/psychiatry/wp-content/uploads/sites/</u>51/2020/05/EPII-Main-V1.pdf [accessed 2020-03-15]
- 9. Grasso DJ, Briggs-Gowan MJ, Carter AS, Goldstein B, Ford JD. A person-centered approach to profiling COVID-related experiences in the United States: Preliminary findings from the Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory (EPII). PsyArXiv. Preprint posted online on July 1, 2020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31234/osf.io/v36hj]
- Bruine de Bruin W. Age differences in COVID-19 risk perceptions and mental health: Evidence from a national US survey conducted in March 2020. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Jan 18;76(2):e24-e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa074] [Medline: 32470120]
- Klaiber P, Wen JH, DeLongis A, Sin NL. The ups and downs of daily life during COVID-19: Age differences in affect, stress, and positive events. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021 Jan 18;76(2):e30-e37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa096] [Medline: 32674138]
- Every-Palmer S, Jenkins M, Gendall P, Hoek J, Beaglehole B, Bell C, et al. Psychological distress, anxiety, family violence, suicidality, and wellbeing in New Zealand during the COVID-19 lockdown: A cross-sectional study. PLoS One 2020;15(11):e0241658 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241658] [Medline: 33147259]
- Patrick SW, Henkhaus LE, Zickafoose JS, Lovell K, Halvorson A, Loch S, et al. Well-being of parents and children during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national survey. Pediatrics 2020 Oct;146(4):e2020016824. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2020-016824</u>] [Medline: <u>32709738</u>]
- Czeisler M, Lane RI, Petrosky E, Wiley JF, Christensen A, Njai R, et al. Mental health, substance use, and suicidal ideation during the COVID-19 pandemic - United States, June 24-30, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Aug 14;69(32):1049-1057 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6932a1] [Medline: <u>32790653</u>]

Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance EPII: Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory ICF: informed consent form IRB: Institutional Review Board N/A: not applicable SAMHSA: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration SEM: standard error of the mean

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.04.21; peer-reviewed by M Vallis, M Jordan; comments to author 25.05.21; revised version received 05.06.21; accepted 25.06.21; published 29.07.21.

Please cite as:

Shah A, Darling M, Arstein-Kerslake O, Morgan T, Vance Tovrea A, Young J, Laines H Measuring the Impact of COVID-19 on Siyan Mental Health Patients Using the Epidemic-Pandemic Impacts Inventory: Survey Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e29952 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e29952 doi:10.2196/29952 PMID:<u>34323851</u>

©Anish Shah, Michele Darling, Olivia Arstein-Kerslake, Tiffany Morgan, Aubreen Vance Tovrea, James Young, Helen Laines. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 29.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included. Corrigenda and Addenda

Authorship Correction: A Clinician-Controlled Just-in-time Adaptive Intervention System (CBT+) Designed to Promote Acquisition and Utilization of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Skills in Bulimia Nervosa: Development and Preliminary Evaluation Study

Adrienne Juarascio¹, PhD; Paakhi Srivastava¹, PhD; Emily Presseller¹, BA; Kelsey Clark¹, MA; Stephanie Manasse¹, PhD; Evan Forman¹, PhD

Center for Weight, Eating and Lifestyle Science, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Paakhi Srivastava, PhD Center for Weight, Eating and Lifestyle Science Drexel University 3141 Chestnut Street, Stratton Hall, Suite 232 Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 2678156511 Email: <u>ps887@drexel.edu</u>

Related Article:

Correction of: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/5/e18261

(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e31964) doi:10.2196/31964

In "A Clinician-Controlled Just-in-time Adaptive Intervention
System (CBT+) Designed to Promote Acquisition and
Utilization of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Skills in Bulimia
Nervosa: Development and Preliminary Evaluation Study"
(JMIR Form Res 2021;5(5):e18261), one error was noted.In the corrected article, the authorship order was
ncorrect. The article was originally published with the following
authorship order:In the corrected article, the authorship order was
forman

Adrienne Juarascio, Paakhi Srivastava, Kelsey Clark, Emily Presseller, Stephanie Manasse, Evan Forman The correction will appear in the online version of the paper on the JMIR Publications website on July 29, 2021, together with the publication of this correction notice. Because this was made after submission to PubMed, PubMed Central, and other full-text repositories, the corrected article has also been resubmitted to those repositories.

Submitted 13.07.21; this is a non-peer-reviewed article; accepted 15.07.21; published 29.07.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Juarascio A, Srivastava P, Presseller E, Clark K, Manasse S, Forman E Authorship Correction: A Clinician-Controlled Just-in-time Adaptive Intervention System (CBT+) Designed to Promote Acquisition and Utilization of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Skills in Bulimia Nervosa: Development and Preliminary Evaluation Study JMIR Form Res 2021;5(7):e31964 URL: https://formative.jmir.org/2021/7/e31964 doi:10.2196/31964 PMID:34324426



JMIR FORMATIVE RESEARCH

©Adrienne Juarascio, Paakhi Srivastava, Emily Presseller, Kelsey Clark, Stephanie Manasse, Evan Forman. Originally published in JMIR Formative Research (https://formative.jmir.org), 29.07.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Formative Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://formative.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

